
 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
CABINET 

 
will meet on 

 
Thursday 30 March 2023 

 
at 7.00 pm 

 
in the 

 
Grey Room - York House - Windsor,  and on RBWM YouTube  

 
To: Members of Cabinet: Councillors:  
 
Andrew Johnson, Leader of the Council; Growth & Opportunity (Chairman) 

Stuart Carroll, Deputy Chairman of Cabinet; Children’s Services, Education, Health, Mental Health, & 
Transformation (Vice-Chairman) 

David Cannon, Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime, and Public Protection 

David Coppinger, Adult Social Care & Maidenhead 

Samantha Rayner, Deputy Leader of the Council; Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture 
& Heritage, & Windsor 

Phil Haseler, Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport 

David Hilton, Asset Management & Commercialisation, Finance, & Ascot 

Donna Stimson, Climate Action & Sustainability 

Ross McWilliams, Digital Connectivity, Housing Opportunity, & Sport & Leisure 

Gurpreet Bhangra, Environmental Services, Parks and Countryside 

 
Kirsty Hunt – Service Lead, Electoral & Democratic Services - Issued: Wednesday 22 March 2023 

 
Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 

web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact Oran Norris-Browne Oran.Norris-Browne@rbwm.gov.uk 
 

Recording of Meetings – In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the Part I (public) section of the virtual 
meeting will be streamed live and recorded via Zoom. By participating in the meeting by audio and/or video, you are 
giving consent to being recorded and acknowledge that the recording will be in the public domain. If you have any 

questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to Democratic Services or Legal representative at the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/WindsorMaidenhead
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


 

AGENDA 
 

Part I 
Item Subject Page no 

  
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
To receive any apologies for absence 
 

- 
 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
To receive any declarations of interest 
 

7 - 8 
 

 
3.   Minutes 

 
To consider the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 23 February 2023 
as a true and accurate record. 
  
  

9 - 14 
 

 
4.   Appointments 

 
 

- 
 

 
5.   Forward Plan 

 
To consider the Forward Plan for the period April 2023 – July 2023. 
 

15 - 24 
 

 
 

Cabinet Member Reports 
 
    
6.   Lower Mount Farm (Cannondown Road) Stakeholder Masterplan 

Document 
 
Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport  
 
To approve the Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document as an important material consideration for Development 
Management purposes. 
 

25 - 132 
 

 
7.   2022/23 Month 10 Budget Monitoring Report 

 
Asset Management & Commercialisation, Finance, & Ascot 
 
To note that the forecast revenue outturn for the year is an overspend on 
services of £0.795m which reduces to an underspend of £1.494m when 
considering unallocated contingency budgets and changes to funding 
budgets and also the forecast capital outturn is expenditure of £63.848m 
against a budget of £76.344m. 
 

133 - 166 
 

 
8.   Standards and Quality of Education in Royal Borough schools 

 
Children's Services, Education, Health, Mental Health, & Transformation  
  
To congratulate local schools on their continued success and endorse the 

167 - 272 
 



 

following key priorities:  
       Maintain school improvement focus on all schools.  
       Continued focus on disadvantaged pupil plans and outcomes.  
       Transform therapy services with health for additional needs.  
       Designated Schools Grant finance management.  
       Inclusion and Access for Pupils who may be vulnerable to missing 

education.  
       SEND Ofsted Inspection. 

  
9.   Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document 

 
Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport  
 
To approve the Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document as an 
important material consideration for Development Management purposes. 
 

273 - 348 
 

 
10.   New Shared Service Agreement for the commissioning of Joint Legal 

Services (JLT) 
 
Children's Services, Education, Health, Mental Health, & Transformation  
 
To agree the attached Heads of Terms to form the basis of a new Shared 
Service Agreement between all the Berkshire local authorities and delegate 
authority to the Executive Director of People Services in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Health and Mental Health, to 
negotiate the final version of the Shared Service Agreement, to agree and 
complete the same. 
 

349 - 386 
 

 
11.   Borough Wide Heritage Strategy and Action Plan Update 

 
Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport  
 
To approve the revised brief for a Borough Wide Heritage Strategy & 
Action Plan and to agree to the re-commencement of the project in 
accordance with the updated brief and timetable. 
 

387 - 400 
 

 
12.   Household Support Fund, Tranche 4 allocation 

 
Asset Management & Commercialisation, Finance, & Ascot  
Growth & Opportunity  
 
To agree the recommended approach for the allocation of Tranche 4 of 
the Household Support Fund and for payments to households to 
commence from 1st April 2023 and to delegate authority to the Director for 
Adults Services and Health, in consultation with the Section 151 officer 
and Lead Member for Finance, to submit a detailed Delivery Plan to DWP, 
by 17th May 2023. 
 

401 - 434 
 

 
13.   Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Alternative 

Provision (AP) Capital Strategy 
 
Children's Services, Education, Health, Mental Health, & Transformation  
 
To approve, in principle, the proposals for new Special Educational Needs 

435 - 694 
 



 

& Disabilities (SEND) provisions. 
  

14.   Customer Relationship Management procurement 
 
Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor  
 
To delegate authority to the Chief Executive or relevant Executive Director 
in consultation with the Deputy Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member 
for Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor to award the new Customer Relationship Management system to 
the successful tenderer following the conclusion of the procurement 
process. 
 

695 - 706 
 

 
15.   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

 
To consider passing the following resolution:- 
  

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the remainder of the meeting whilst discussion takes place 
on items 8-9 on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1-7 of part I of Schedule 12A of the Act" 
 

 
 

 
Part II 

 
 

Cabinet Member Reports 
 

 
Item Subject Page No 

  
16.   Business Rate Write Off  

 
Asset Management & Commercialisation, Finance, & Ascot 
  
(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972) 
 

707 - 716 

 
17.   Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Alternative 

Provision (AP) Capital Strategy  
 
Children's Services, Education, Health, Mental Health, & Transformation  
  
(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972) 
 

717 - 722 

 
18.   Customer Relationship Management Procurement  

 
Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor  
  
(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972) 
 

723 - 726 

 



 

19.   Award of RBWM Leisure Management Contract  
 
Digital Connectivity, Housing Opportunity, & Sport & Leisure 
  
(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972) 
 

To 
Follow 

 
 



 

 

 



Revised October 2022 

 

MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

Disclosure at Meetings 

If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration 
of interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI) or Other Registerable Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest 
in their Register of Interests they are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter 
being discussed. 

Any Member with concerns about the nature of their interest should consult the Monitoring Officer in 
advance of the meeting.  

Non-participation in case of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your DPIs (summary below, 
further details set out in Table 1 of the Members’ Code of Conduct) you must disclose the interest, 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by 
the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an 
interest. Dispensation may be granted by the Monitoring Officer in limited circumstances, to enable 
you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a DPI. 

Where you have a DPI on a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet 
Member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest 
and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to 
deal with it. 

DPIs (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 

• Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

• Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) made to the 
councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election expenses 

• Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has 
not been fully discharged. 

• Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the council. 

• Any licence to occupy land in the area of the council for a month or longer. 

• Any tenancy where the landlord is the council, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest in the securities of. 

• Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
a) that body has a place of business or land in the area of the council, and 
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class 
belonging to the relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.  

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other Registerable 
Interests (summary below and as set out in Table 2 of the Members Code of Conduct), you must 
disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on 
the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it 
is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

7

Agenda Item 2



Revised October 2022 

 

Other Registerable Interests: 

a) any unpaid directorships  

b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management 

and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority  

c) any body  

(i) exercising functions of a public nature  

(ii) directed to charitable purposes or  

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including 

any political party or trade union)  

 of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

Disclosure of Non- Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being (and is 
not a DPI) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, or a body included under 
Other Registerable Interests in Table 2 you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not 
take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you 

have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring 
Officer) you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a financial interest or well-being of a body included under Other Registerable 
Interests as set out in Table 2 (as set out above and in the Members’ code of 
Conduct) 

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after 

disclosing your interest the following test should be applied. 

Where a matter (referred to in the paragraph above) affects the financial interest or well-being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer, you do not have to disclose the nature of 
the interest. 

Other declarations 

Members may wish to declare at the beginning of the meeting any other information they feel should 

be in the public domain in relation to an item on the agenda; such Member statements will be included 

in the minutes for transparency. 

8



CABINET 
 

Thursday 23 February 2023 
 
Present: Councillors Andrew Johnson (Chairman), Stuart Carroll (Vice-Chairman), 
David Cannon, David Coppinger, Samantha Rayner, Phil Haseler, David Hilton, 
Donna Stimson, Ross McWilliams and Gurpreet Bhangra 
 
Also in attendance virtually: Councillor Julian Sharpe, Councillor Ewan Larcombe and 
Councillor Mandy Brar 
 
Officers: Kirsty Hunt, Tony Reeves, Andrew Durrant, Adele Taylor, Kevin McDaniel 
and Lucy Kourpas 
 
Officers in attendance virtually: Oran Norris-Browne, Emma Duncan, Ian Motuel, Chris 
Joyce, Garry Thornton and Dug Tremellen 
 
 
Apologies for Absence 
 
No apologies were received. 
  
 
Declarations of Interest 
 
No declations were made. 
  
 
Minutes 
 
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held 9 February 2023 as a 
true and accurate record. 
  
 
Appointments 
 
There were no new appointments to announce.  
  
 
Forward Plan 
 
Cabinet noted the Forward Plan for the next four months including the following additional 
changes: 

       A new item titled ‘Business rate write off’ would be considered by Cabinet in March 
2023. 

       A new item titled ‘Household Support Fund, Tranche 4 Allocation’ would be considered 
by Cabinet in March 2023. 

       The Sports & Leisure Strategy item that was to be considered by Cabinet in March 
2023, was delayed due to more work needing to be undertaken, with it now due to be 
considered by Cabinet in April 2023.  

       The item titled ‘the Datchet Neighbourhood Plan Referendum’ that was being 
considered by Cabinet tonight had also seen a change in recommendation from 
delegation to approval following the receipt of the Examiner’s Report.  

9

Agenda Item 3



  
 
Electric Vehicle ChargePoint Implementation Plan 
 
Cabinet considered the report that outlined the Electric Vehicle ChargePoint Implementation 
Plan for the borough. 
  
Councillor Haseler, Cabinet Member for Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport, introduced 
the plan, which set out the needs of the borough and the circumstances of those who were in 
need of Electric Vehicle Charging over the next 10-year period. The draft plan went out to 
public consultation between 1 December 2022 and 9 January 2023. 194 responses were 
received, with their being a huge amount of support shown towards the need of electric 
vehicle charge points and high-speed charging. 77% of respondents agreed that if 
implemented, the implemented plan would meet their needs. He noted that the plan was 
amended slightly following feedback received during the public consultation which were as 
followed: 
  

       Where grid connection works were required, passive provision would be introduced, 
wherever cost-effective to allow provision to potentially be expanded at a later date.  

       Ongoing trials that were currently occurring in other local authorities where wires and 
cables ran over pathways would be monitored to assess the implications. Councillor 
Haseler did confirm that the borough’s plan had no plans for wires or cables to run 
over any of its pavements or pathways.  

       The council would investigate whether off-peak charging tariffs could be offered in 
council car parks overnight. 

       The council would specify that all electric vehicle charge points would be compatible 
with ISO15118, which was the vehicle to grid standard. 

       The council would also identify a trial site for a taxi charging facility.  
  
It was recommended that Cabinet approved the plan, and that rollout would begin in the next 
financial year 2023/24. The Chair stated that he wished to second this proposal. 
  
Councillor Stimson expressed her support for the paper and welcomed what had been 
included following the public consultation. She commended Councillor Haseler and the officers 
for their work in delivering a fantastic plan. 
  
Councillor Haseler proposed officer’s recommendation, with this being seconded by Councillor 
Johnson. 
  
RESOLVED UNANIMOSULY: That Cabinet approved the Electric Vehicle Charge 
Point Implementation Plan. 
  
 
Vision for Windsor 
 
Cabinet considered the report that outlined the Vision for Windsor. 
  
Councillor Rayner, Deputy Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member for Business, Corporate 
& Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & Windsor, introduced the report and stated that it 
was a very exciting paper for Windsor as a town. She stated that the Vision for Windsor was a 
vibrant, thriving, and welcoming town for both the local and global economy. In the past few 
years especially, Windsor had held significant events such as the funeral of HM Queen 
Elizabeth II, where over 60% of the world’s population viewed the town on television. It was 
noted that the current administration had also formed a successful Windsor tourism 
partnership board, which was funded by key successes such as Access Able.  
  

10



Councillor Rayner stated that work with the Prince’s Foundation began around 18 months ago, 
where a paper was scoped and brought to Cabinet in March 2022, where they were 
commissioned to conduct an enquiry to design a placemaking project. Since this time there 
had been extensive public exposure including drop-in sessions, scoping workshops, and the 
World Cafes amongst others. The project aligned very well with the council’s corporate plan, 
which Councillor Rayner then outlined the individual goals that the project adhered too. She 
noted that just that day the Jubilee Fountain had been installed, the Castle Hill project was 
now underway, and the railway bridge project would also soon be commencing. She thanked 
Ben Bolgar, Prince’s Foundation Trust, for his hard work during this process. The Chair stated 
that he wished to second this proposal to move officer’s recommendation. 
  
Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place, thanked his team and all officers who had 
worked extremely hard on the Vision for Windsor over the last few months and also Councillor 
Rayner for her presentation.  
  
Ben Bolgar expressed his passion for Windsor and said that there were unbelievable assets 
on offer in Windsor. He stated that entering into Windsor on the train was a lovely view, 
however perhaps once you entered the town it may not be as such, and that is where the 
Vision for Windsor would come into its own. He stated that there was excellence engagement 
both online and in-person and that when all of these groups of persons come together, 
exciting initiatives were put on show. 
  
The Chair said that during the height of the Covid-19 pandemic, there was a great need to 
improve the economic development of Windsor as it was an international symbol. He thanked 
Ben Bolgar for all of his work and looked forward to working with him closely in the future on 
this. 
  
Councillor Rayner proposed officer’s recommendation, with this being seconded by Councillor 
Johnson. 
  
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That Cabinet noted the progress made within the report and 

i)               Approved and adopted the Vision for Windsor outline report produced 
independently by the Princes Foundation Trust and noted that there 
will be full preparation of a set of milestones and main objectives for 
the next 12 months. 

ii)             Authorised delegation to the Executive Director of Place, (in 
consultation, where relevant, with responsible Cabinet members) with 
responsibility for the Vision for Windsor Project to proceed with 
preparation of a full working plan and Programme Management 
including a set of task and finish groups. 

  
 
Achieving for Children (AfC) Reserved Ownership Decisions 
 
Cabinet considered the report on Achieving for Children’s Reserved Ownership Matters. 
  
Councillor Carroll, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Education, Health, Mental Health, 
& Transformation said that the borough owned 20% of the company Achieving for Children 
(AfC) and therefore were responsible for making reserved matter ownership decisions in 
relation to the strategic direction of the company, but also for other matters that the report 
seeked Cabinet approval for. 
  
Councillor Carroll then outlined the main elements of appendix A which included the following 
priorities: 
  

 Stronger Families, which focussed on safeguarding young persons. 

11



 A positive future, which focussed on investing and collaborating with schools to 
ensure young persons were ready for their future adult lives. 

 An excellent workforce, which focussed on recruiting the very best staff to deliver. 
 Financial stability, to ensure key services were delivered, despite external 

pressures made by the economy. 
 A successful organisation, to look at enhancing the operation of AfC and 

maximising its output. 
 Smarter ways of working, to look at being more innovative and inventive with 

everything moving forward.  

Lucy Kourpas, Chief Operating & Finance Officer for Achieving for Children, stated that the 
report outlined four different reserved matter decisions. She outlined these too Cabinet for 
clarity and explained that the detailed documents were reported within the appendices of the 
report.  
  
The first decision related to approval of AfC’s strategic direction for the next financial year.  
This was done through the annual approval of the Business Plan and the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy.  Next year would be the last year of this five-year Business Plan and a 
detailed programme of work was planned in 2023 to consult with stakeholders to review 
strategic direction.  The document included both projects that were specific to Windsor and 
Maidenhead to ensure synergy with local borough plans as well as ones that would be 
implemented across all three AfC Local Authority areas.  The programmes were outlined in 
the appendices and the key ones to note for next year were as followed:   
 

       AfC wide- placement sufficiency, recruitment and retention which had been a real 
struggle for AFC in recent years. 

       reviewing back-office services with ICT being the focus for 2023. 
       Equality Diversity and Inclusion and continuing to improve capacity and capability in 

relation to procurement and commissioning which had been identified as a weakness 
in AfC a couple of years ago. 

       Windsor and Maidenhead specific- Development of an embedded edge of care team.  
       Continuation of work to address areas in SEND Written Statement of Action, 

replacement of the case management software system. 
  
The second decision related to approval of the AfC annual budget for 2023/24.  Appendix C 
provided a detailed budget report and included information on Windsor and Maidenhead as 
well as AfC’s other two boroughs.  The information mirrored what had been approved by each 
council for children’s services. 
  
The third decision was approval of the annual Treasury Plan.  This plan was attached to the 
report and provided details of how AfC was allowed to invest and borrow for operational 
cashflow purposes. 
  
The last decision related to a significant procurement decision that was a reserved decision 
because the value would be over £10million.  AfC’s contract for the procurement of temporary 
staff would come to an end in 2023 and were asking that following a compliant procurement 
process that the final decision to appoint a provider be delegated to the Director of Children’s 
Services with the Cabinet Member. 
 
Councillor Hilton, Cabinet Member for Asset Management & Commercialisation, Finance, & 
Ascot, said that the goal of focussing on children and families was essential and that he 
admired the energy and effort that had been put into delivering this. He added that the 
recruitment and retention of staff was also key in delivering an excellent service.  
 
Councillor Hilton said that he had noticed a difference between the revenue budget that had 
been outlined for AfC in the council’s revenue budget papers and the one provided within the 
report. He then raised questions around the amount of agency staff that were being paid for 
and linked this with the key objective around the retention of staff. 

12



  
Lucy Kourpas, replied by saying that she had viewed the figures for AfC’s revenue budget and 
that from what she could see was that the borough’s figure was for the whole of the Children’s 
Services budget, whereas the figure within the report was just the AfC contract price. Lucy 
Kourpas committed to providing a full breakdown of the difference, but the main difference 
was in relation to Government Grant and school income which was receipted by the Royal 
Borough rather than AfC.  
  
With reference to agency staff, she admitted that AfC would love to have permanent staff 
filling all posts within their teams, however agency staff were inevitably required because of 
national and local shortages of suitable permanent staff. There was an ambition to reduce 
agency staff levels over time, but achieving 0% agency staff, would be very difficult. Agency 
staff usually received a greater amount of pay than that of permanent staff and there was a 
national trend of qualified staff choosing temporary rather than permanent contracts. The 
Chair thanked Lucy Kourpas for her comments and her paper. 
  
Councillor Carroll proposed officer’s recommendation, with this being seconded by Councillor 
Johnson. 
  
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That Cabinet 

i)               Approved the Business Plan including the Medium-Term Financial Strategy. 
ii)             Approved the detailed 2023/24 budget. 
iii)        Approved the Treasury Plan 
iv)            That authority is delegated to the Director of Children's Services in 

communication with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Education, 
Health, Mental Health, & Transformation to award the new contract for 
employment of temporary workers following a compliant procurement 
process and that the Treasury Plan be approved. 

  
  
 
Datchet Neighbourhood Plan Referendum 
 
Cabinet considered a paper that outlined the plan for a Datchet Neighbourhood Referendum. 
  
Councillor Haseler outlined the contents of the report to Cabinet. He stated that 
neighbourhood planning was currently being encouraged by the borough. There were 
currently six different neighbourhood plans which had been formally made and were a part of 
the development plan. These were as followed: 
  

       Ascot 
       Sunninghill & Sunningdale 
       Eton & Eton Wick 
       Hurley & the Walthams 
       Old Windsor 
       Windsor 
       Horton & Wraysbury 

Following publication of the draft neighbourhood plan, it was submitted to an independent 
examiner. The examiner’s report stated that subject to his recommendations, the 
Neighbourhood Plan would meet the basic requirements, and should proceed to referendum. 
Subject to the Steering Group’s agreement, the plan should be brought to a referendum, with 
some recommended changes being made. The referendum would be held on Thursday 4 May 
2023, alongside the local election, with a decision statement to be issued no later than 22 
March 2023. The question used would be “Do you want the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead to use the neighbourhood plan for Datchet to help it decide planning applications 

13



in the area?”. If more than 50% of respondents say yes, then this would be recommended to 
Full Council for adoption.  
  
Councillor Cannon, Cabinet Member for Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime, and Public Protection 
stated that he was very pleased as Ward Councillor for Datchet to second the motion to move 
officer’s recommendation and thanked officers for their hard work in moving this forward.  
  
Councillor Larcombe was then given the opportunity to speak by the Chair as a non-panel 
member where he stated that this had been an ongoing process for almost a decade and that 
he was pleased to see it come to an end. He then gave thanks to several members of the 
Datchet Parish Council and expressed his support for the paper. 
  
Councillor Haseler proposed officer’s recommendation, with this being seconded by Councillor 
Cannon. 
  
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That Cabinet noted the report and 

i)               Agreed to accept the Examiner’s suggested modifications, issue a 
Decision Statement, and progress the Datchet Neighbourhood Plan to 
referendum on May 4th, 2023. 

ii)             Delegated authority to the Head of Planning in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Planning, Parking, Highways and Transport to 
make minor non material amendments to the draft Neighbourhood 
Plan prior to the referendum being announced. 

  
 
 
The meeting, which began at 7.00 pm, finished at 7.47 pm 
 

Chair.……………………………………. 
 

Date……………………………….......... 
 

14



N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

FORWARD PLAN OF CABINET DECISIONS 
 

 
 
All enquiries, including representations, about any of the items listed below should be made in the first instance to Democratic Services, Town Hall, St 
Ives Road, Maidenhead. Email: democratic.services@rbwm.gov.uk 
 

 
 

FORWARD PLAN 
 

ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below. 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER 
(to whom 

representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of 
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

Disposal of Open 
Space Land, Land 
at Braywick Park, 
Maidenhead 
 

Open -  
 

To complete the 
delegation from 
Cabinet on 26 
November 2020 
which approved 
the release of land 
and delegated 
authority to 
Executive Director 
of Place, to 
negotiate draft 
agreement for 
lease, for 999 
years at a 
peppercorn rent. 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Parking, 
Highways & 
Transport (Councillor 
Phil Haseler) 

 
Andrew Durrant 

 

Public consultation 
under Section 
123(2A) of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 

Executive 
Director 
of Place 
Services 
30 Mar 
2023 

 

Award of RBWM 
Leisure 
Management 
Contract 
 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

To consider the 
appointment of the 
approved bidder in 
the re-tendering of 
the Borough’s 
Leisure 
Management 
Contract for the 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Digital Connectivity, 
Housing Opportunity, 
& Sport & Leisure 
(Councillor Ross 
McWilliams) 

 
Andrew Durrant, 
Alysse Strachan 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
30 Mar 
2023 

 

15

A
genda Item

 5



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

next contract 
period, which is a 
12 + 5 year term 
commencing with 
effect from 1 
August 2023. 

2023/24 School 
Condition Works 
Programme 
 

Open -  
 

This report 
proposes the 
schemes to be 
funded in 2023/24 
using the School 
Condition 
Allocation. This 
funding is used to 
maintain the sites 
and buildings of 
community and 
voluntary 
controlled schools. 

No Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet & Cabinet 
Member for 
Children's Services, 
Education, Health, 
Mental Health, & 
Transformation 
(Councillor Stuart 
Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
27 Apr 
2023 

 

Disabled Facilities 
Grant Policy 
 

Open -  
 

Disabled Facilities 
Grants (DFG’s) 
provide funding to 
improve 
accessibility and 
enable people to 
remain living 
independently in 
their own homes. 
This policy will set 
out the mandatory 
legal framework for 
DFGs, and how the 
Council intends to 

No Cabinet Member for 
Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime, 
and Public Protection 
(Councillor David 
Cannon), Cabinet 
Member for Digital 
Connectivity, Housing 
Opportunity, & Sport 
& Leisure (Councillor 
Ross McWilliams) 

 
Emma Congerton, 

Tracy Hendren 
 

Formal consultation 
with all partner 
agencies 

Cabinet 
27 Apr 
2023 

 

16



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

use its powers 
under the RRO to 
provide 
interventions to 
promote 
independent living 
and wellbeing. 

John West House 
Redevelopment 
 

Open -  
 

Requesting 
additional funds to 
redevelop the 
former warehouse 
at John West 
House to provide a 
place of change for 
former rough 
sleepers. £1.2m in 
funding is 
already agreed, 
however due to 
escalating costs a 
further £796k is 
required for the 
project to go 
ahead. 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Digital Connectivity, 
Housing Opportunity, 
& Sport & Leisure 
(Councillor Ross 
McWilliams) 

 
Emma Congerton, 

Tracy Hendren 
 

Internal process Cabinet 
27 Apr 
2023 

 

Building Height and 
Tall Buildings 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(SPD) 
 

Open -  
 

There is a 
requirement within 
the adopted 
Borough Local 
Plan for the 
preparation 
of a new Building 
Height and Tall 
Building 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Parking, 
Highways & 
Transport (Councillor 
Phil Haseler) 

 
Andrew Durrant, 

Adrien Waite 
 

Internal process Cabinet 
27 Apr 
2023 

 

17



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Supplementary 
Planning 
Document 
(SPD) to support 
Policy QP3a. This 
report seeks 
approval for the 
adoption of the 
draft Building 
Height and Tall 
Buildings SPD. 

RBWM Sport and 
Leisure Strategy - 
Update and 
Refresh 2022-23 
 

Open -  
 

To present the draft 
updated Sport and 
Leisure Strategy for 
RBWM, following the 
work undertaken with a 
range of stakeholders 
to inform the refresh 
strategy.  
  

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Digital Connectivity, 
Housing Opportunity, 
& Sport & Leisure 
(Councillor Ross 
McWilliams) 

 
Andrew Durrant 

 

TBC Cabinet 
27 Apr 
2023 

 

Broadband Digital 
Lines 
 

Open -  
 

The Royal Borough 
of Windsor and 
Maidenhead 
(RBWM) is seeking 
to replace its site to 
site broadband 
circuits and wide 
area network 
connections. 

Yes Deputy Leader of the 
Council & Cabinet 
Member for 
Business, Corporate 
& Residents 
Services, Culture & 
Heritage, & Windsor 
(Councillor Samantha 
Rayner) 

 
Nikki Craig 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
27 Apr 
2023 

 

Home to School 
Transport Policy 
 

Open -  
 

To seek approval 
for consultation on 
the policy 

No Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet & Cabinet 
Member for 
Children's Services, 
Education, Health, 
Mental Health, & 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

External 
consultation 

Cabinet 
27 Apr 
2023 

 

18



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Transformation 
(Councillor Stuart 
Carroll) 

Award of Contract 
for Adult Social 
Care Case 
Management 
system 
 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

Report to Cabinet 
requesting 
approval to award 
contract for the 
supply of a case 
management 
system 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care & 
Maidenhead 
(Councillor David 
Coppinger) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

Internal Cabinet 
27 Apr 
2023 

 

Contract for 
Parking 
Enforcement, 
Moving Traffic 
Enforcement, 
Environmental 
Enforcement and 
Highways 
Enforcement 
 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

A report to set out 
future options for 
the contracts 
across the 
Borough. 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime, 
and Public Protection 
(Councillor David 
Cannon), Cabinet 
Member for Planning, 
Parking, Highways & 
Transport (Councillor 
Phil Haseler) 

 
Alysse Strachan 

 

Internal Cabinet 
27 Apr 
2023 

 

Allocations Policy 
 

Open -  
 

The allocation 
policy sets out our 
priorities for how 
social rented 
housing in The 
Royal Borough will 
be allocated, and 
the guidelines 
which determine 
entitlement and 
eligibility to that 
housing for people 
living in the 
borough. It also 

No Cabinet Member for 
Digital Connectivity, 
Housing Opportunity, 
& Sport & Leisure 
(Councillor Ross 
McWilliams) 

 
Tracy Hendren 

 

Formal consultation 
with all partner 
agencies 

Cabinet 
25 May 
2023 

 

19



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

explains what help 
people can expect 
from us in meeting 
their housing 
needs and sets out 
the system and 
processes by 
which we make 
nominations for 
housing owned 
and managed by 
our partner 
registered 
providers. 

DFG New Build 
 

Fully exempt - 
1,2 
 

To request £210k 
in s106 funding to 
enable a 
contribution to be 
made to Housing 
Solutions for the 
development of a 
large disabled 
adapted property 
for a household 
with a severely 
disabled child 
whose current 
accommodation 
cannot be adapted 
and who 
alternative 
accommodation 
cannot be found 
for. 

No Cabinet Member for 
Digital Connectivity, 
Housing Opportunity, 
& Sport & Leisure 
(Councillor Ross 
McWilliams) 

 
Emma Congerton, 

Tracy Hendren 
 

Internal process - 
Presented at 
Capital Review 
Board on 
02/02/2023 

Cabinet 
25 May 
2023 

 

20



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

 
 

21



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

 
 
 
DESCRIPTIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND 
 
1 Information relating to any individual. 
 
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour 
relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 
 
5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 
6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 
 
7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

22



Cabinet Forward Plan - changes made since Cabinet meeting on 23.02.23: 

 

Item 
Scheduled 

date 
New date Reason for change 

Disposal of Open Space Land, Land at 
Braywick Park, Maidenhead 

09.03.23 30.03.23 Awaiting final consultees signoff 

2023/24 School Condition Works Programme 30.03.23 27.04.23 
To allow further time for the prioritisation of projects 
and investigation of options 

Building Height and Tall Buildings 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

30.03.23 27.04.23 
Further work is being undertaken on the SPD by an 
external consultant in response to feedback received 
during the public consultation 

Disabled Facilities Grant Policy 30.03.23 27.04.23 
Additional external professional opinion provided so 
amending draft 

John West House Redevelopment 30.03.23 27.04.23 Additional funding breakdown required 

DFG New Build 30.03.23 25.05.23 Additional funding breakdown required 

Allocations Policy 30.03.23 25.05.23 Still awaiting final external legal sign off 

 

23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: Land West of Cannondown Road Stakeholder 

Masterplan 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Phil Haseler, Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Parking, Highways and Transport 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 30 March 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place 
Services 
Adrien Waite, Head of Planning 

Wards affected:   Bisham and Cookham 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report outlines the Borough Local Plan requirement for the preparation of 
Stakeholder Masterplan Documents (SMD) and summarises the process and outcome 
in relation to the Stakeholder Masterplan Document for Land west of Cannondown 
Road in Cookham. 
 
The report recommends that Cabinet approves the Land west of Cannondown Road 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document as an important material consideration for 
Development Management purposes.    
 
1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves the Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document as an important material consideration for 
Development Management purposes. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
 
Option Comments 
Approve the Land west of Cannondown 
Road Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document for Development 
Management purposes. 
 

The site promoter, stakeholders, 
local residents and local planning 
authority have worked 
collaboratively on the Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document.  If 

25

Agenda Item 6



Option Comments 
This is the recommended option. approved for Development 

Management purposes, the 
document will help to ensure a 
high-quality development that 
takes into account the views of 
the local community and other 
stakeholders. 
 

Not approve the Land west of 
Cannondown Road Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document for Development 
Management purposes. 
 
This is not the recommended Option. 
 

Deciding not to approve the 
Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document would undermine the 
Stakeholder Masterplanning 
process set out in the Borough 
Local Plan. If there is a significant 
concern about an aspect (or 
aspects) of the Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document, Officers 
could review the Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document, and a 
revised version brought back to 
Cabinet for approval.   
 

 
2.1 The adopted Borough Local Plan (BLP) places great importance on ensuring 

that development is sustainable, and that it positively contributes towards the 
qualities and character of the Borough.  The Plan’s Spatial Vision states that: 
"...development will be expected to promote sustainability and add to the 
special qualities of the Borough through high quality design, effective and 
efficient use of land and protection of valued heritage, natural and other assets." 

2.2 To assist in implementing the Spatial Vision, BLP Policy QP1 (Sustainability and 
Placemaking) introduces a requirement for the preparation of ‘stakeholder 
masterplans’ for developments that will deliver 100 or more net new dwellings, 
or more than 5,000 sq. m of employment or mixed use floorspace. The 
supporting text to Policy QP1 explains that the stakeholder masterplanning 
process formalises good practice in relation to pre-application discussions, by 
requiring developers of larger sites to engage with the Council, local community, 
and other stakeholders at an early stage in the development process. 

2.3 The developer is responsible for preparing the Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document (SMD).  In summary, the process involves: 

• Engagement with the Council, local community and other stakeholders 
on key issues, priorities, and development options; 

• Preparation of the draft SMD; 
• Consultation on the draft document; 
• Consideration of the consultation responses, with amendments to be 

made to the draft SMD as appropriate/ necessary; and  
• Preparation of the final SMD.  

 

26



2.4 The last stage in the process is for the final SMD to be presented to Cabinet, 
with a recommendation that the document be approved as an important 
material consideration for Development Management purposes. 

2.5 The remainder of this Cabinet report addresses the process of preparing the 
SMD for Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan Document, 
the content of the SMD, and the next steps. 

2.6 The site allocation proforma for Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document (allocation AL37 ‘Land north of Lower Mount Farm, 
Cookham’ in the BLP) outlines the uses to be accommodated on the site, 
alongside a number of site-specific design requirements and considerations, 
including approximately 200 residential units. 

2.7 The site-specific design requirements and considerations address matters 
including the provision of family housing with gardens, 40% affordable housing 
and the importance of providing a strong green and blue infrastructure network 
across the site. 

2.8 The requirements for site AL37, as set out in the BLP, were the starting point for 
determining the matters to discuss with the local community and other 
stakeholders through the stakeholder masterplanning process. 

2.9 Bellway Homes (developer) and Turley (planning agent) set up a Working 
Group after liaising with local groups and key stakeholders. The Working Group 
comprised members of the local community, interest groups, elected 
Councillors and Council officers, as well as an urban design advisor working for 
the Council. 

2.10 Working Group meetings took place online on 3 March 2022, 24 March 2022 
and 25 May 2022, and Bellway/Turley organised an in-person resident 
workshop on 3 May 2022.Two leaflets were issued during this first phase of 
engagement and at different points, the project team were invited to attend 
specific meetings with stakeholders such as the Cookham Parish Council. 

2.11 Phase 2 of the engagement process involved a further Working Group meeting 
held online on 6 October 2022. 

2.12 A formal four-week community consultation on the draft SMD took place 
between 20 September and 19 October 2022. A dedicated project website 
(www.cannondownroad.co.uk) along with an email address and phoneline was 
set up to enable community members to engage with the project.  

2.13 The Bellway/Turley project team have also met with officers on several 
occasions over the course of the last 6 months, to discuss particular aspects of 
the project in more detail than could be accommodated at the Working Group 
sessions. 

2.14 The feedback at and following the Working Group meetings, the Borough Wide 
Design Guide and pre-application advice from officers and the Council’s urban 
design advisor all fed into the preparation of the draft SMD.  

2.15 The SMD produced provides a description of the site and a summary of the 
planning policy context; summarises the feedback received during the 

27

http://www.cannondownroad.co.uk/


engagement phase; sets out a series of development objectives for the site; 
identifies the principal opportunities and constraints associated with the site; 
and outlines the development/design principles that will guide the future 
development of the site. 

2.16 Some of the main SMD principles and approaches to highlight, include: 

• A commitment to deliver four street character types, delivering a mix of 
housing types and sizes. 

• A commitment to provide a strong, high quality green and blue 
infrastructure network across the site that is highly connected to the 
surrounding area and capable of supporting enhanced biodiversity, 
recreation. 

• A commitment to ensuring that a minimum of 10% Biodiversity Net Gain 
is achieved. 

• Retention and enhancement of existing woodland with additional native 
planting incorporating a 10m buffer with wildflower grassland and scrub 
planting 

• Newly created habitats, with species-rich native hedgerows and trees 
planted throughout the development. 

• The creation of a biodiversity corridor and a central green spine running 
south through the development, including a trim trail incorporating a mix 
of natural timber themed children’s play elements and adult exercise 
equipment.  

• A community orchard, and creation of a usable and interesting 
recreational space at the heart of the development. 

• Active and informal open spaces to encourage active lifestyles and 
people’s enjoyment of nature. 

• A network of pedestrian and cycle routes providing attractive routes to 
key facilities and links to the countryside. 

• Enhanced surface water attenuation to reduce flood risk. 

2.17 Through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and section 106 contributions, 
Bellway will make financial contributions towards upgrading and improving the 
local infrastructure. Bellway have committed to working with utility providers to 
ensure sufficient electricity, gas, telecommunication, and broadband services 
are provided to serve the development.  

2.18 Bellway/Turley received 24 responses to the consultation. Those responses 
have been summarised in the SMD. 

2.19 Some of the comments received related to matters that had also been raised at 
the Working Group meetings. Bellway/Turley and Council officers had therefore 
already had the opportunity to consider many of the issues in preparing the draft 
SMD. Some of the concerns being raised were in relation to matters of principle, 

28



which have been dealt with through the BLP examination (for example, the 
issue of increased traffic movements within and around Cookham).  Other 
matters are points of detail (too detailed for the SMD) that can be further 
considered at the planning application stage. 

2.20 A copy of the final SMD, as recommended for approval for Development   
Management purposes, is attached as Appendix B.  

2.21 The main changes made to the SMD, as a result of the consultation feedback, 
include: 

• Greater clarity given on biodiversity net gain (BNG), emphasising the 
importance of securing best biodiversity outcomes and the inclusion of a 
commitment to providing 10% BNG 
 

• The removal of the 6 ‘villages’ on site, replaced with 4 different types of 
character areas  
 

• Removal of all cul-de-sacs on site, resulting in increased connectivity 
across the site and between streets 

 
2.22 Overall, the Stakeholder Masterplanning process has been generally well 

received by local residents and other stakeholders. Whilst some remain 
opposed to the principle of development, many recognise that the process has 
enabled the local community and interested parties to be involved in the 
development process far earlier than would normally be the case.   

2.23 Moving forward, and subject to Cabinet approving the SMD for Development 
Management purposes, Bellway/Turley will prepare and submit a planning 
application later in 2023. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 2: Key Implications 
 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

The SMD helps 
to deliver a high-
quality scheme 
on Land west of 
Cannondown 
Road 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document, 
which meets the 
requirements of 
the BLP, is 
appropriate to 
context and 
respects its 
surroundings.  

The high-level 
design 
principles, 
developed with 
input from the 
local 
community, 
and set out in 
the SMD, are 
not taken 
forward/ are 
watered down. 

The high-level 
design 
principles, as 
set out in the 
SMD, are 
generally 
taken forward, 
and positively 
influence the 
planning 
application 
proposals/ 
development 
on the ground. 
  

The high-level 
design 
principles, as set 
out in the SMD, 
are mostly taken 
forward, and 
positively 
influence the 
planning 
application 
proposals/ 
development on 
the ground. 
 

The high-level 
design principles, 
as set out in the 
SMD, are taken 
forward and 
strengthened (with 
further community 
input at planning 
application stage) 
and positively 
influence the 
planning 
application 
proposals/ 
development on 
the ground. 
 

Upon 
determination 
of the 
Reserved 
Matters 
applications/ 
completion of 
the 
development.  

29



4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The hosting of the engagement sessions, publicity, drafting of the SMD, and 
organisation of the consultation, were all the responsibility of Bellway/Turley 
(albeit with guidance and input from Council officers and their advisors). 

4.2 A Planning Performance Agreement was agreed with Bellway at the start of the 
Stakeholder Masterplanning process. This Agreement provided funding to the 
Council to resource the input of specialist officers/ consultants including Stefan 
Kruczkowski (urban design advice). 

4.3 Funding for this work has therefore all been contained within existing resources 
and has not required additional funding from the Council.  

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The SMD for Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document will not form part of the Development Plan in the Royal Borough.  It 
would not have the same weight as a Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) produced in accordance with Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

5.2 SMDs are effectively the first stage in the development process on the larger 
housing sites within the Borough (in effect an expanded pre-application 
submission, but with added public engagement intended to allow residents to 
have an input into the development of the sites). We are therefore expecting the 
developer at Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document to come forward with a planning application(s) which would be based 
upon the SMD following the approval of the SMD by Cabinet. 

5.3 In light of the community engagement and consultation undertaken in relation to 
the SMD, some weight must already be attributed to the SMD, but in 
accordance with the process prescribed in the BLP, and to give the developer 
confidence that the Council is supportive of the design objectives and design 
principles in the SMD, Officers are recommending that Cabinet formally 
approves the SMD as an important material consideration for Development 
Management purposes. 

5.4 This is a process that will be repeated for other housing sites within the borough 
in order to comply with policy QP1. The Land West of Windsor site had its SMD 
adopted by Cabinet in October 2021, Spencer’s Farm in July 2022, and Land 
east of Woodlands Farm in January 2023. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT 

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or risk Impact 

with no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

30

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made


Local 
community 
concerns and 
issues are not 
taken into 
account at the 
planning 
application 
stage. 
 
 

Major   High 
 
 

The local 
community 
will have an 
opportunity 
to comment 
on the any 
proposed 
schemes at 
planning 
application 
stage. 

Approve the 
SMD for 
development 
management 
purposes, 
ensuring that 
the 
comments 
from the 
local 
community 
are 
considered 
at the 
planning 
application 
stage. 

Minor  Low 

Other 
developers and 
promoters of 
sites with 100+ 
housing units 
resist preparing 
Stakeholder 
Masterplans. 

Moderate Medium Any site 
with 100+ 
units will not 
comply with 
policy QP1 
of the BLP. 

Approve the 
SMD for 
development 
management 
purposes, 
ensuring that 
other 
developers 
will see the 
benefit of 
preparing 
and SMD. 

Minor  Low 

Design 
principles in the 
SMD are 
watered down 
in delivering the 
development 

Moderate Medium Any future 
planning 
application 
will need to 
comply with 
the relevant 
design 
policies in 
the BLP and 
the Borough 
Wide 
Design 
Guide. 

Approve the 
SMD for 
development 
management 
purposes, 
ensuring that 
the design 
principles 
agreed at 
this stage 
are carried 
forward into 
future 
planning 
applications. 

Minor  Low 

 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. Officers consider that the SMD for Land west of Cannondown Road 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document meets the Basic Conditions in relation to 
human rights requirements.   

The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council to ensure that when 
considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service, or 
procedure the impacts on particular groups, including those within the workforce 
and customer/public groups, have been considered. 

 

31



An EQIA screening form has been completed and signed by the relevant Head 
of Service. The recommendations in this report have no identified equality 
impacts. The EQIA screening form is available below in Appendix A. 

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. The SMD aligns with the policies and 
requirements of the BLP, which was subject to Sustainability Appraisal/ 
Strategic Environmental Assessment.  

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. The consultation on the draft SMD was undertaken by 
Bellway/Turley. Any sensitive information shared with Officers was handled in 
accordance with the GPDR regulations and the statement on the way the 
Planning Policy team handles personal data.  

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The process of engagement and consultation on the draft SMD for Land west of 
Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan Document is described above.  
Officers believe that the form and amount of engagement is as envisaged by 
the BLP (in relation to the preparation of SMDs) and accords with the principles 
set out in the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

Table 4: Implementation timetable 
 
Date Details 
30 March 2023  Subject to Cabinet’s approval, the SMD will become an 

important material consideration in the assessment 
and determination of planning applications on the Land 
west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document site.   
 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 3 appendices: 
 

• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment Screening  

• Appendix B – Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document Stakeholder Masterplan Document (Version for Approval for 
Development Management Purposes) 

• Appendix C – Stakeholder Masterplan Document Appendix: Stakeholder 
Presentations and Responses 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by 2 background documents: 
 
• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) -  

32

https://rbwm.sharepoint.com/:w:/s/intranet/our-council/comms/ERjGxJSqIstDrYDSRO7PqCUBvnFdPvZK4ORksP2HYA2_Cw?rtime=pSJakHMl10g


https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework 
• Adopted Borough Local Plan 

https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5883688 

12. CONSULTATION  

 
Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
17/02/23  

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

17/02/23 20/02/23 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
17/02/23 20/02/23 

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

17/02/23  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer 17/02/23  

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 
or agree an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 17/02/23 01/02/23 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 17/02/23 20/02/23 
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 17/02/23 22/02/23 
Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Adrien Waite  Head of Planning 17/02/23 28/02/23 
  
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted   

Cllr Phil Haseler Cabinet Member 
for Planning, Parking, Highways 
and Transport   

 Yes 

  

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Non-key decision.  
 

No No 

 
Report Author: Ian Motuel, Planning Policy Manager 
Garry Thornton, Principal Planning Policy Officer 

 

33

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5883688


Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 

 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document 

Service area: 
 

Planning 

Directorate: 
 

Place 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

 
The Stakeholder Masterplan Document (SMD) has been prepared to guide future development on 
Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan Document identified as Allocation AL37 
within the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead’s (RBWM) adopted Borough Local Plan (BLP). 
 
The Stakeholder Masterplan document aims to: 
 
• Inform the Development Management process; 
• Enable the local community and other stakeholders to engage with the planning and design 

process for the site far early than would normally be the case; 
• Improve the efficiency of the planning and development process, by providing greater certainty 

in advance of the planning application stage; and 
• Ensure that the new development framework delivers the sustainability and place-making 

aspirations of the BLP, thereby creating a high-quality environment. 
 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  
• If no, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming action 

plan) 
Yes, the SMD will directly impact people and the local community in Cookham. The principal 
purpose of the SMD is to inform the early stages of development of a housing allocation within 
the BLP. If approved by Cabinet, the document would become a material consideration when 
determining planning applications on the site. 

 

34

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 

Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
Predominantly, it will be residents of Cookham. 
 
Council Planning Officers will also be affected as they would have to take the Document into 
account during their decision-making process in relation to any planning applications received in 
relation to the site.  
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, disability, race, 
religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, marriage/civil 
partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
The adopted Borough Local Plan was subject to an Equality Impact Assessment in 2017, which did 
not identify any negative impacts for any group with protected characteristics. 
 
The Stakeholder Masterplan Document for Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document develops the policies and requirements set out in the Borough Local Plan. It 
does not create new policy. Borough Local Plan Policy ‘HO2 Housing Mix and Type’ recognises that 
new homes should support the changing needs of individuals and families at different stages of 
life, and the expectation is that a proportion of new housing should meet the higher accessibility 
standards of Requirement M4(2) (Building Regulations). The Stakeholder Masterplan Document 
recognises the need for different housing types and tenures to meet a range of local needs, 
particularly in relation to the design of new dwellings to be adaptable providing flexible, accessible 
and age friendly homes. In addition, provision of high-quality walking, cycling provision, and safe 
crossing points will provide links to existing neighbourhoods and facilities in Cookham that could 
benefit those with physical disabilities in particular. 
 
Future planning applications will need to comply with Borough Local Plan policy. There is nothing 
in the Stakeholder Masterplan Document which is considered to disproportionately impact on any 
particular individual or group. 
What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  

• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
Yes, engagement has taken place throughout the various previous stages of the production of the 
SMD, mainly by the developer Bellway/Turley. Several consultation and engagement events have 
been held with Local Stakeholders in the local area, including a dedicated website, leaflet 
distribution and working group events. After the draft SMD was submitted to the Royal Borough a 
formal process of consultation was undertaken by Bellway/Turley and the results of this have 
been incorporated into the final version of the SMD. 
What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible sources 
of information are in the Guidance document. 
 

35

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


The Council’s Cookham profile and the Council’s Equalities Evidence Grid. 
The Land west of Cannondown Road SMD (submission version). 

 

4. Equality Analysis 

Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences of individuals, in 
relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 
Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state ‘Not Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative impact 

Age 
 

The SMD develops the policies and 
requirements set out in the Borough Local 
Plan. It does not create new policy. 
 
Borough Local Plan Policy ‘HO2 Housing Mix 
and Type’ recognises that new homes should 
support the changing needs of individuals and 
families at different stages of life, and the 
expectation is that a proportion 
of new housing should meet the higher 
accessibility standards of Requirement M4(2) 
(Building Regulations). The Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document recognises the need 
for different housing types and tenures to 
meet a range of local needs, particularly in 
relation to the design of new dwellings to be 
adaptable providing flexible, accessible and 
age friendly homes. Future planning 
applications will need to comply with 
Borough Local Plan policy. 
 
There is nothing in the Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document which is considered to 
disproportionately impact on any particular 
individual or group. 

Not applicable.  

Disability 
 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person with a disability. 

Not applicable.  

Sex 
 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis of 
their sex.  

Not applicable.  

36



Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis of 
their race, ethnicity or religion. 

Not applicable.  

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis of 
their sexual orientation or gender. 

Not applicable.  

Pregnancy and maternity There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person who is pregnant 
or a mother.  

Not applicable.  

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis of 
their marital status. 

Not applicable.  

Armed forces community There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person who is in the 
armed forces community. 

Not applicable.  

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis of 
their socio-economic situation.  

Not applicable.  

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person who is in care 
or a care leaver.  

Not applicable.  

 

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  

If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not applicable, leave them 
blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics are able to 
benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
The SMD is subject to public consultation. The consultation ensures that the groups less likely to 
particate in developing the normal planning process had more opportunity to express their views.  
Where persons with protected characteristics are adversely affected, this would increase the 
likelihood of the consultation not picking up all issues within the local area. However, several 
engagement events were held on various platforms, so it is considered that this potential problem 
has been mitigated.  
Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in place to 
mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the target 
date for implementation. 

Where persons with protected characteristics are adversely affected, this would increase the 
likelihood of the consultation not picking up all issues within the local area. However, several 
engagement events were held on various platforms, so it is considered that this potential problem 
has been mitigated. 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 

37



See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 

If the SMD is approved, residents will have further opportunity to comment on future proposals as 
part of the normal planning application determination process.  

 

6. Sign Off 

 

Completed by: Garry Thornton 
 

Date: 16/02/2023 

Approved by: Adrien Waite 
 

Date: 01/03/2023 

 

 
 
 
 

38



 
 
 
 
Appendix C – Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document Stakeholder Masterplan Document (Version for Approval for 
Development Management Purposes) – attached as PDF 

39



This page is intentionally left blank



g

cannondown road

Stakeholder Masterplan Document

February 2023

062106-BEL-TV-SMD [21.02.23]

Cookham

Land West of

41



1seeking a shared vision

contents
the purpose of this document 2

document structure 2

seeking a shared vision 3

stakeholder & community engagement 4
bringing our shared vision to life 6
community benefits 7

background & context 8

planning context 9
site context 11
site characteristics 13
summary of thecommunity guidance & advice 14
agreeing the constraints & opportunities framework 18
heritage & sir stanley spencer 19
landscape & visual technical note 19
agreeing the key development principles 20

traffic & access 24

community guidance & advice 25
highways engineers’ response & access proposals 26

design objectives:  layout 29

public landscaped areas & sustainable drainage 30
ecological areas & connections 34
pedestrian, cycle & vehicle connections 35
underground services & easements 36
drainage strategy 37
streets & spaces with a village character 38
cycle & car parking 40
types & sizes of the new homes - private & housing 

association 41
energy & sustainability 42
infrastructure delivery 43

design objectives:  character 45

street scenes & houses which reflect cookham 46

next steps 47

appendices 48

the inspiring character of cookham village 49
stakeholder presentations & responses [separate volume]

Copyright © 2023 DHA Architecture Ltd.  All rights 
reserved.  Limited reproduction and distribution 
permitted for the sole purpose of the planning of 
this named development only.  

Ordnance Survey data © Crown Copyright.  All 
rights reserved.  Licence number 100042157.  

42



document structure
the purpose of this document

seeking a shared vision 3

 - A summary of the SMD process, the stages of 
consultation and the development objectives.

background & context 8

 - Introducing the site, and a summary of the 
planning policy context and the stages of 
community engagement which the Bellway 
team has undertaken.

traffic & access 24

 - The strategies for pedestrians, cycles and 
vehicles moving into, through and beyond the 
site, and a summary of the feedback received 
from the community engagement.

Document Structure
This SMD sets out the process that has been undertaken to 
inform the preparation of the Stakeholder Masterplan which 
will guide future development at AL37, the structure of which 
is summarised below:

design objectives:  layout 29

 - Key objectives and design principles for 
the development layout, which have been 
informed by local and national design 
guidance and technical assessments, and a 
summary of the feedback received from the 
community engagement.

design objectives:  character 45

 - General objectives for the townscape and 
architectural character, which have been 
informed by local and national design 
guidance, and a summary of the feedback 
received from the community engagement.

next steps 47

 - The subsequent stages of design and 
consultation, leading up to a planning 
application and beyond.

appendices 48

 - Photos of Cookham’s unique inspiring streets 
and spaces.

 - Details of the presentations and stakeholder 
responses at each stage of the process 
(provided in a separate volume).

NB:  the ‘design objectives’ described and shown 
diagrammatically in the chapters above will inform the 
future applications, but they are are illustrative only - they 
will be subject to detailed design review and consultation 
at application stage.

2seeking a shared vision

This Stakeholder Masterplan Document (SMD) has 
been prepared by Bellway Homes in collaboration 
with the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead (RBWM) to guide future development 
on Land West of Cannondown Road, identified as 
Allocation AL37 within the RBWM Borough Local 
Plan (BLP).

This SMD provides information on the site 
constraints and opportunities, the design objectives 
and the engagement process undertaken which 
in turn has informed the preparation of a series 
of design principles and a masterplan which 
subsequent planning application(s) will be expected 
to accord with.

The SMD has multiple aims:

 B Informing the development management 
process.

 B Enabling the local community and other 
stakeholders to fully engage with the planning 
and design of the site.

 B Improving the efficiency of the planning and 
development process by providing greater 
certainty at the planning application stage.

 B Ensuring that the new development framework 
delivers the sustainability and place-making 
aspirations of the BLP thereby creating a high 
quality environment.

The SMD has been approved by RBWM for 
Development Management purposes and so will 
represent an important material consideration 
in the determination of the subsequent planning 
application(s).

43



3seeking a shared vision

seeking a 
shared vision

A memorable
character

~
A network of public 

green spaces
~

Making the most of the 
site’s unique features

Reflecting
local identity

~
Direct, safe routes 

& connections
~

Biodiversity
enhancements

44



stakeholder & community 
engagement

4seeking a shared vision

Engagement Strategy 
Working with the local community and stakeholders is 
a key part of the evolution of the masterplan. Ahead 
of carrying out consultation with stakeholders and 
the Cookham community as part of the production 
of the Cannondown Road ‘stakeholder masterplan’ 
document, an engagement strategy was agreed with 
representatives of Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead.

To ensure that feedback is received as the masterplan 
progresses, it was agreed to carry out a two phased 
consultation programme.

The engagement process included both online and 
in person meetings, events and information sharing 
/ feedback opportunities to ensure the process was 
accessible for all.

Engagement Activities

Phase 1 
The Phase 1 engagement was focused on setting out 
and discussing the site’s constraints and opportunities, 
seeking inputs from the community based on their local 
experience. This process identified broad principles / 
parcels of development. 

Cannondown Road Working Group

A Cannondown Road working group was set up 
to ensure that the key stakeholders and interested 
residents were provided with an opportunity to view the 
project information early on, so as to allow them to feed 
into the plans at a point where they have most influence. 

Those invited to join the group included:

 B Member of Parliament 
 B Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead senior 

leadership 
 B Bisham and Cookham Ward Members 
 B Cookham Parish Council 
 B Cookham Neighbourhood Plan Working Party – 

which includes representatives from the Cookham 
Society, WildCookham and Save Cookham 

 B The Cookham residents 

During Phase 1, three meetings with the working group 
were held:

Session one, 3 March 2022, online meeting – 
introduction to the team and process. Understanding 
and gaining local feedback and experiences in regards 
to the existing conditions. Set out and gain inputs from 
group members on the site’s technical constraints and 
opportunities, and how this feeds into the next session.

Session two, 24 March 2022, online meeting – 
collectively identifying the framework elements of the 
masterplan including the access, open space, green 
and blue infrastructure etc. This will include identification 
of development parcels.

Session three, 25 May 2022, online meeting – present 
the findings of the engagement to date and issue 
the masterplan for stakeholder’s comment. Seeking 
a consensus on the draft stakeholder masterplan 
document and identifying and changes required.

Community Engagement 

In addition to the working group, the approach to 
engaging with the local residents included the following 
activities;

Project website – www.cannondownroad.co.uk 

The website included consultation material to download 
and feedback facilities. Alerts were issued to those 
subscribed when new information is released and the 
website will be used throughout the life of the project. 

To date, the website has had 602 unique views and has 
60 subscribers.

Resident Workshop – 3 May 2022, in person  

A workshop was held to develop the principles of the 
masterplan.

All of the detail provided at the event was also uploaded 
to the website and the same questions asked to 
give flexibility to residents for online or in-person 
engagement. As part of this event, it was be made clear 
what the site’s constraints and opportunities are and 

residents were asked to comment on the proposed 
development parcels.

Leaflets 

Two leaflets were issued during phase 1. This first to 
raise awareness of the proposals and invite people to 
join the working group and sign up to the website for 
alerts. And the second to invite residents to join the 
workshop. 

Meetings 

At different points the project team were invited to 
attend specific meetings with stakeholders, such as 
Cookham Parish Council, and individual members of the 
community.  The project team attended these meetings 
on an ad hoc basis. 

The feedback from Phase 1 is set out in the community 
guidance & advice chapter (page 14) and detailed 
feedback from meetings and events is set out in the 
appendix.

Phase 2
After the Phase 1 engagement with stakeholders and 
residents, the stakeholder masterplan document was 
provided to RBWM officers to view in draft form for 21 
days to provide comments ahead of the formal 4 week 
consultation taking place. This formal consultation 
formed Phase 2 of the process.

During this period the project team also fed back on 
how the response to the Phase 1 consultation informed 
the proposals and sought comments on the draft 
stakeholder masterplan document.

Cannondown Road Working Group

During Phase 2, a further meeting with the working 
group was held, as detailed below:

Session four, September 2022, online meeting - a final 
catch all meeting with the group to set out changes 
made since the previous meeting, to discuss any 
outstanding issues, agree the draft stakeholder 

masterplan document and set out the next steps on 
the preparation of the document for approval by the 
Council.

Community Engagement

To feedback to and engage with the local residents on 
the draft stakeholder masterplan document, the Phase 2 
engagement activities included:

 B Website: Updating the project website: 
www.cannondownroad.co.uk - and issuing a 
notification to website subscribers.

 B Resident event: Holding an in person event with 
residents to provide the opportunity to find out how 
the proposals had evolved and share feedback on 
the draft stakeholder masterplan document.

 B Webinar: Holding an online event with residents 
to provide the opportunity to find out how the 
proposals had evolved and share feedback on 
the draft stakeholder masterplan document. The 
webinar was recorded and uploaded to the project 
website for public viewing. 

 B Leaflet: Issuing an update leaflet inviting residents 
to take part in the 4 week consultation and 
advertise the in person and online events.

Stakeholder Engagement 

A meeting was held with Councillor Gerry Clark, Bisham 
and Cookham ward member who, together with Ward 
Councillor Mandy Brar, is a member of the Cannondown 
Road Working Group. Councillor Clark requested a 
meeting following the fourth working group session to 
further discuss themes including affordable housing 
provision, benefits that could be delivered for the 
community and timescales for planning and delivery of 
the site.

Information gathered during Phase 2 has 
been analysed and captured in this final 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document. This 
document will be submitted to Cabinet for 
approval.

45

http://www.cannondownroad.co.uk
http://www.cannondownroad.co.uk


Set up 
Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group and 
hold first 
session

Submit 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document 
for Council 
approval 

March / April September / October 

Formal 4 week consultation  
on Stakeholder Masterplan 

Document

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group second 
session

Hold online /  
in person 
community 
events to 
workshop  
the plans

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group third 
session

Draft 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document 
prepared for 
consultation

Hold online /  
in person 
community 
events on 
the proposed 
masterplan

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group fourth 
session

March April / May June / July January

Stakeholder Masterplan Programme

5seeking a shared vision

46



bringing our shared 
vision to life

The evolved masterplan is reproduced right, having been 
informed by the stakeholder process and the opportunities and 
parameters of the site and its setting within Cookham.

 B The main entrance is from Cannondown Road.  Arthur 
Close provides a pedestrian and cycle connection, and 
potentially vehicle access for about 5 homes only.  It also 
provides an access for emergency vehicles if the main 
access is blocked.  There is no access available via 
Lesters Road due to third party ownership.

 B Pedestrians can move freely through the site along well-
connected footpath routes which could also provide to the 
Public Right of Way to the northwest.

 B The site has a well-connected legible perimeter-block 
structure, with tree-lined streets punctuated by landscaped 
public green spaces.

 B Along the southern boundary will run an acoustic fence 
alongside a continuous ecology corridor, providing habitats 
for wildlife as well as softening the views of the timber 
fence.

 B The new homes are set well back from Cannondown 
Road behind a well-landscaped frontage and boundary 
hedgerow.

Main vehicular access - from 
Cannondown Road

Timber acoustic fence & landscaped 
ecology corridor along the southern 
boundary** Sustainable drainage system features

** **

**

**

6seeking a shared vision

Development along the 
Cannondown Road frontage 
set back behind a hedgerow & 
landscaped green space

Sinuous tree-lined “village streets”

A variety of greens and landscaped 
public spaces

No access via Lesters Road

Limited number of dwellings 
accessed via Arthur Close - 
emergency vehicle access allowed 
& pedestrian access encouraged

47



community benefits

 B Community orchard

 B Nature trails

 B Trim trails

 B Outdoor gym

 B Play facilities

 B Pedestrian links to the new sports pitches & pavilion

 B Pedestrian links to the Public Right of Way

7seeking a shared vision

48



background 
& context

background & context 8

49



The Borough Local Plan (BLP) for the Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead was adopted at the Extraordinary Council 
meeting on Tuesday 8 February 2022.  The BLP covers the 
period 2013 – 2033.  

Policy QP 1 (Sustainability and Placemaking) states that 
“Proposals for sites bringing forward developments of 100+ 
net new dwellings, or 5,000 sq. m of employment or mixed use 
floorspace (outside of the three defined placemaking areas 
of Maidenhead Town Centre, South West Maidenhead and 
Ascot), will be expected to be in conformity with the adopted 
stakeholder masterplan for the site.”

Policy HO 1 (Housing Development Sites) states that “The 
Borough Local Plan will provide for at least 14,240 new 
dwellings in the plan period up to 2033. The Spatial Strategy 
sets out that development will be focused on existing urban 
areas, primarily Maidenhead, but also Windsor and Ascot.”   
The Policy lists a series of site allocations, including the Land 
north of Lower Mount Farm, Long Lane, Cookham under site 
reference AL37, with an estimated capacity of 200 dwellings.

For the avoidance of doubt, AL37 is the subject of this 
SMD, now referred to as ‘Land West of Cannondown Road, 
Cookham’.

Criterion 4 of Policy HO 1 states that “Site specific requirements 
and considerations for each of the allocated housing sites 
are set out in individual site proformas which are located in 
Appendix C. The proformas form part of this policy and will 
be expected to help guide the design, decision making and 
delivery of the sites as they come forward for development. In 
meeting the proforma requirements, flexibility may be applied 
to allow for material changes in circumstance as a result of 
the passage of time or to enable alternative solutions that will 
deliver the same, or preferably, a better planning outcome”:

The site-specific proforma in Appendix C of the BLP 
indicates that this site is 8.78 hectares in site, with an 
approximate capacity of 200 dwellings.  The proforma 
sets out the following requirements:

“Development of the site will be required to: 

1.  Provide family housing with gardens 

2.  Provide a strong high quality green and blue 
infrastructure network across the site that is 
highly connected to the surrounding area and 
capable of supporting enhanced biodiversity, 
recreation, food production and leisure functions 

3.  Have appropriate edge treatment and transition 
to the countryside with a need to minimise the 
impact on long distance views from the south-
west, south and south-east 

4.  Connect to the Public Rights of Way network 

5.  Provide pedestrian and cycle links through the 
site to improve connectivity 

6.  Ensure that the development is well-served by 
public bus routes/demand responsive transport/
other innovative public transport solutions, 
with appropriate provision for new bus stop 
infrastructure, such that the bus is an attractive 
alternative to the private car for local journeys, 
including to nearby GP surgeries and leisure 
facilities 

7.  Provide appropriate mitigation measures to 
address the impacts of noise and air pollution to 
protect residential amenity 

8.  Ensure that the sewer systems including 
treatment works will be reinforced prior to the 
occupation and use of the housing 

9.  Be of high quality design which responds 
positively and sensitively to the character 
(including height) of the surrounding areas 

10. Provide 40% affordable housing 

11.  Provide 5% of market housing units for custom 
and self build opportunities 

12.  Address potential risks to groundwater 

13.  Consider flood risk as part of a Flood Risk 
Assessment as the site is larger than one hectare 

14.  Demonstrate the sustainable management 
of surface water runoff through the use of 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) in line with 
policy and best practice; any proposed surface 
water discharge must be limited to greenfield 
runoff rates 

15. Undertake a minerals assessment to assess the 
viability and practicality of prior extraction of 
the minerals resource, as the site falls within a 
Minerals Safeguarding Area.”

The site-specific proforma should also be read in 
the context that the BLP contains a number of other 
policies which will be relevant to this site and the 
proposals.  This document does not repeat each of 
those policies, but they have been taken into account 
in the evolution of this stakeholder masterplan.    

AL37:  Land north of Lower Mount Farm, Long Lane, Cookham

background & context 9

planning context

50



Adopted 8th February 2022 

Borough Local Plan 
2013 - 2033

 
 

 
ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD:  

 
OPEN SPACE STUDY  

 
 

 
FINAL REPORT 

May 2019 
 
 
 

SES LTD 

   
  Cookham 

Village Design Statement 

     Supplementary Planning Document 

   May 2013 

   Joint Sponsors: The Cookham Parish Council and The Cookham Society 

i

The National 
Design Guide

The recently introduced National Design Guide 
seeks to outline and illustrate the Government’s 
priorities for well-designed places, in the form of ten 
characteristics (opposite).  It is based on national 
planning policy, practice guidance and objectives 
for good design as set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework and supports paragraph 134 
which states that permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character 
and quality of an area and the way it functions:

CHARACTER
B Context - enhances the surroundings
B Identity - attractive & distinctive
B Built form 
  - a coherent pattern of development

COMMUNITY
B Movement 
  - accessible & easy to move around
B Nature - enhanced & optimised
B Public spaces - safe, social & inclusive
B Uses - mixed & integrated

CLIMATE
B Homes & buildings 
  - functional, healthy & sustainable
B Resources - efficient & resilient
B Lifespan - made to last

The National Design Guide seeks well-designed, 
characterful places, which carefully consider and 
positively respond to these ten characteristics in a 
mutually supporting way. 

RBWM Borough Wide 
Design Guide

The Design Guide supports Local Plan policies by 
setting out in detail what the Council considers to 
be design excellence in the Royal Borough. The 
Guide has two main purposes:

 B To help guide a major step change 
improvement in the quality of new development 
and places created across the Royal Borough.

 B To provide guidance to council members, 
officers, developers and local communities 
on how to ensure future development has the 
required high quality and inclusive design to 
create beautiful places that function well.

RBWM Borough 
Local Plan

The Borough Local Plan (BLP) is the key document 
that provides the framework to guide the future 
development of the Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead. The Plan looks at the scale 
and distribution of development and explains how 
the Council and its partners will deliver it in a 
sustainable manner that maintains and enhances 
the quality of the places that make up the Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead.

The BLP is supported by Planning Guidance 
Documents including parking, open space and 
affordable housing.

Cookham Village 
Design Statement

The Village Design Statement (VDS) for Cookham 
parish has been produced by residents. It 
describes the character and setting of Cookham’s 
three settlements, with particular reference to the 
physical and tangible qualities that residents most 
value. The VDS provides local guidance to those 
seeking to make planning applications, and assists 
the Borough Council in considering whether the 
proposes development is sympathetic to the local 
character.

The VDS provides guidance to support existing 
planning policy, and also assist the implementation 
of Section 7 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework which expects developments to respond 
to local character and history.

Building for 
a Healthy Life

Building for a Healthy Life is the latest edition 
of and new name for Building for Life 12.  It is a 
Design Code to help people improve the design 
of new and growing neighbourhoods, produced 
by Design for Homes in partnership with Homes 
England, NHS England and NHS Improvement.  It 
sets out 12 considerations to create successful 
places - from macro through to micro scale.  These 
considerations are addressed within every chapter 
of this document on the following pages:

INTEGRATED NEIGHBOURHOODS
B Natural connections
B Walking, cycling & public transport
B Facilities & services
B Homes for everyone

DISTINCTIVE PLACES
B Making the most of what’s there
B A memorable character
B Well defined streets & spaces
B Easy to find your way around

STREETS FOR ALL
B Healthy streets
B Cycle & car parking
B Green & blue infrastructure
B Back of pavement, front of home

Building for a Healthy Life
A Design Code for neighbourhoods, streets, homes and public spaces

Planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and successful places

National Design Guide

ROYAL BOROUGH OF  
WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD

Borough Wide
Design Guide

25 June 2020

Royal Borough of
Windsor and Maidenhead

Parking Strategy 

Planning Policy Unit 

May 2004

1 
 

 
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 
Affordable Housing Planning Guidance 

Document 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

background & context 10

51



background & context 11

site context

 B The site is approximately 8.78 hectares in size and is irregularly shaped.  The site is located to the 
west of Cannondown Road on the southern edge of Cookham Rise. It sits approximately 3 km north 
of Maidenhead Town Centre, where key shops, services and facilities are available.

 B Following the adoption of the Local Plan, the site has been removed from the Green Belt and is 
allocated for residential development.

 B To the north of the site are a number of residential properties located off Southwood Road, 
Whyteladyes Lane, Arthur Close and Lesters Road.  To the south east of the site, beyond 
Cannondown Road, are residential properties on Southwood Gardens.  To the south of the site is 
the Lower Mount Farm Industrial Estate whilst to the west the land is in agricultural use, with an area 
immediately adjacent to the site having planning permission for use as sports pitches.

 B A public right of way runs adjacent to the north western point of the site.

 B Parts of the site have been used for gravel extraction during the twentieth century.

 B The site is dissected (into four smaller parcels of land) by a series of hedgerows, but other than that 
the majority of vegetation is located along the site’s boundaries.

The SiteThe Site

Furze PlattFurze Platt

North TownNorth Town

Cookham Cookham 
DeanDean

Cookham Cookham 
RiseRise

Pinkneys Pinkneys 
GreenGreen

CookhamCookham

52



The SiteThe Site

Furze PlattFurze Platt

North TownNorth Town

Cookham Cookham 
DeanDean

Cookham Cookham 
RiseRise

Pinkneys Pinkneys 
GreenGreen

CookhamCookham

background & context 12

Site

Spencer’s Farm

400m Walking Isochrone

1000m Walking Isochrone

2000m Walking Isochrone

Bus Stop

National Rail Station

Footpath (PROW)

Bridleway (PROW)

Restricted Byway (PROW)

Byway Open to All Traffic (PROW)

National Cycle Network

Retail Amenity

Primary School

Future Primary School

Secondary School

Leisure Amenity

Future Leisure Amenity

Healthcare Amenity

NB:  Isochrones measured from location of proposed site access on Cannondown 
Road and do not take into account other pedestrian entrances into the site

Local Routes & Services

53



This part of the document focuses on the allocation site 
and its immediate neighbours, looking at the features 
which exist on and alongside the site, as well as the 
planning and design requirements which have a spatial 
component and the advice on these matters provided 
by the Stakeholders.

background & context 13

site characteristics

54



background & context 14

summary of the 
community guidance & advice

Please refer to the separate appendix document 
for full details of the presentation materials and 
responses received at each stage of consultation.

Feedback was provided on a number of topics at the 
various meetings and events. The summaries below 
highlight comments made in relation to the masterplan 
development.  

Throughout the process, 114 responses were received 
via email, Freephone call and the project website. 
Feedback was also provided in conversations held 
at community events, Working Group meetings and 
stakeholder meetings which has been included in this 
document.

To note, throughout the discussions held concerns 
were raised in relation to the impact of construction 
traffic, existing traffic problems in Cookham, noting 
specific issues, and questions about assessments – this 
is detailed in the appendix document. A summary of 
highways comments relating to the masterplan are 
included below. 

Cannondown Road Working Group 
Session One, 3 March 2022 
Site location 

 B The site is a gateway into Cookham and it is 
important for the development to be inviting. 

Environment 

 B Green and blue infrastructure is important to 
any future development – with the need to retain 
hedges to the east and a natural boundary 
to the west to give a countryside edge to the 
development. 

 B Retain the existing tree line, and as many trees as 
possible in general on site. 

Open Spaces 

 B Ease of access to green open spaces beyond the 
site for existing residents is important. 

 B Provide public open space at the western end of 
the site to provide a transition into the countryside. 

 B Preference for green open spaces to be included 
between the new and existing homes rather than 
near the farm. 

 B Include play spaces which are suitable for children 
of all ages and that spaces should support social 
interaction. 

Noise/Air Quality 

 B Adjacent industrial units and complaints about 
noise would need to influence the design.

 B Development should be away from the industrial 
units but not pushed up against the existing 
neighbours.

Sustainability 

 B The local community would like to see an 
environmental and economic sustainable build 
including a heat pump network and Passivhaus 
criteria, and providing above minimum space 
standards. 

Drainage 

 B There are existing drainage issues on Whyteladyes 
Lane and under Cannondown Bridge. 

 B Concerns were raised regarding water run off on 
the site and whether this would travel downhill and 
cause flooding off site. 

 B Would the community be able to access the open 
spaces on site if these were concentrated around 
the proposed drainage / ponds or would they 
become boggy. 

 B Where will the drainage under Cannondown bridge 
and Whyteladyes Lane be linked. 

Highways and Connectivity 

 B Pedestrian links / crossing at Whyteladyes Lane 
was suggested, noting this forms part of the route 
from the site to the green space and school to the 
north. 

 B Consideration to utilising Long Lane for the site 
access was encouraged. 

 B The safety of pedestrian travel was highlighted, 
specifically on Whyteladyes Lane. 

 B Pedestrian access via Arthur Close and Lesters 
Road (connecting the site via the existing public 
footpath) were identified as an option.  

Housing Need 

 B Affordable housing in Cookham is predominantly 
maisonettes and there was a preference for this to 
carry through into the design rather than flats. 

 B Family sized homes are required locally. 
 B It was felt that new homes should exceed minimum 

space standards.

Scale 

 B The scale of the development was discussed, with 
questions asked regarding housing numbers and 
whether this might be less than 200. 

 B Preference for a density that complements existing 
properties in Cookham. 

Character 

 B Cookham is a village and the character needs 
to remain as a village with separation between 
Cookham and Maidenhead key to this. 

 B The scheme should ‘integrate’ into the existing 
settlement. 

 B The scheme should be built as a series of smaller 
clusters, rather than one large development. 

 B Important to complement the character of 
Cookham through the development 

 B New buildings to be good quality and sustainable. 

Cannondown Road Working Group 
Session Two, 24 March 2022
Through the conversations held a list of key 
considerations for the development parcels was formed 
and confirmed with the group members. This included: 

 B Inclusion of family homes with gardens 
 B Inclusion of starter homes 
 B Going beyond minimum standards for new homes 
 B Splitting the site into three development parcels to 

retain a village character 
 B Avoiding the inclusion of exposed fences onto 

open spaces 
 B Consideration for the inclusion of more than one 

vehicular access into the site, including an access 
from Arthur Close. 

 B Avoid use of straight roads within the site improving 
the scheme's character and reducing speeding 

 B Design the layout to have a 20 mile per hour speed 
limit 

 B Keep building heights to 2 storeys 
 B Use design principles set out in the neighbourhood 

plan masterplan 

Cookham Parish Council 
Meeting, 29 March 2022
Character of Cookham

 B Importance of recognising and strengthening the 
character of Cookham 

 B Importance of the green setting of Cookham, along 
with the wider cultural reference to Stanley Spencer 
and how this related to the site. 

 B Preference for premium housing types to 
complement the village. 

 B The Village Design Statement for Cookham was 
referenced, which included features such as the 
organic feel of the design of the village. 

Site Location and Boundary Treatments 

 B Sensitive boundary treatment between the 
industrial land and future homes, may be required 
to the south of the site. 

 B The treatment of boundaries would need to be 
carefully considered, especially at the new junction 
with Cannondown Road. 

Pedestrian / Cycle Connectivity and Safety

 B Importance of safety of children on their way to 
school. 

 B Desire for more direct pedestrian routes and for 
further consideration to be given to the location of 
the off-site pedestrian crossing. 

 B Additional pedestrian / cycle links would 
encourage future residents to use active methods 
of travel. A safe link to the secondary school could 
be beneficial. 

Vehicular Access

 B It was highlighted that the masterplan for the 
emerging Neighbourhood Plan included three 
points of access (via Cannondown Road, Arthur 
Close and Lesters Road). 

 B Three points of vehicular access would help to 
retain the village character.

 B Three points of access on the parish council 
masterplan came from a place-making perspective 
and are high-level at this stage in terms of technical 
input. 

 B Request that the two additional points of access be 
assessed for feasibility. 

Vehicle Parking

 B There is a paragraph in the Village Design 
Statement to avoid car parking in front of homes. 

 B Electric Vehicle (EV) charge points provision 
needed for each home and, more generally, for 
visitor spaces throughout the site. 

55



background & context 15

Sustainability

 B Preference for Bellway Homes to exceed Building 
Regulations. 

 B PV panels - parish councillors keen to minimise 
their visual impact when taking the setting of the 
site into account. 

House Type and Size

 B Preference for flats not to be included on the site. 

Open Space 

 B Tension between the amount of green space and 
developable area / building space standards. 

 B Preference against exposed rear gardens and 
obscured parking to avoid security issues. 

Development Phasing

 B Preference for phased development to take place 
in three separate parcels to retain the village’s 
character, minimise construction impact and 
allow the local services to manage the increase in 
resident numbers. 

 B There are three distinct parcels (served by each 
point of vehicular access on the parish masterplan 
for the site). 

Resident Workshop – 3 May 2022 
Residents were asked to leave answers to the following 
questions. The summaries below highlight comments 
made in relation to the masterplan development only. 
Further details are set out in the Appendix document.

Question 1: Are there any further constraints or 
opportunities you’d like us to consider? 

 B The location of sewage discharge. 
 B The speed limit off Cannondown Road needs 

changing to 30 mph, if vehicular access is via this 
road. 

 B The frontage to Cannondown Road is very 
important. There is a need to keep a village feel – 
with trees and houses set back from road. 

 B Concerns regarding vehicular access via 
Cannondown Road. 

 B Concerns raised regarding flooding across the 
site and the rest of Cookham, specifically near the 
pumping station. 

 B Landscaping and the replacement of any trees 
that are removed would be important along with 
planting new trees. 

 B Landscaping and the countryside outlook currently 
enjoyed on Switchback Road should be preserved. 

 B Existing congestion on the local highway network, 
including speeding on Whyteladyes Lane and 
Cannondown Road.

Question 2: What should we know about Cookham?  

 B There is no pavement on Long Lane. 
 B There is a lack of parking locally, specifically 

Whyteladyes Lane. 
 B There are local issues with sewage and capacity of 

foul drainage. 
 B Need for retention of the separation between 

Cookham and Maidenhead. 
 B Flooding off the hill on the site onto neighbouring 

gardens. 
 B The bus route only serves the area once an hour 

and the train service is often unreliable. 
 B routes to school need to be safe for pedestrians. 
 B Pollution from extra vehicles. 
 B Impact of the development on the existing wildlife 

in the fields was raised including foxes, badgers, 
deer and owls. 

Question 3: What types of open space is needed?

 B Places for people to walk dogs. 
 B Places for children to play safely. 
 B Publicly accessible open space for those with 

disabilities – including flat pathways for ease of 
access. 

 B Allotments for existing and future residents. 

 B Inclusion of mature trees in the landscaping 
scheme. 

 B Public footpaths to Cookham Dean and the 
Greenbelt. 

 B Public and landscaped gardens. 
 B Front of the site to stay green and open. 
 B Planting and landscaping to filter views for existing 

residents of the new homes. 

Question 4: What types of homes do you think are 
needed in Cookham? (such as starter homes, family 
homes, affordable homes, number of bedrooms etc.) 

 B Need for new homes across the country and 
specifically in Cookham. 

 B Family homes. 
 B Homes for those downsizing. 
 B Starter homes for young professionals. 
 B Affordable homes that are truly affordable for those 

trying to buy their first home. 
 B Homes with adequate space for future residents 

to allow for various life events, including possible 
future restrictions as we experienced during 
Covid-19. 

 B Energy efficient homes, inspired by Passivhaus 
standards. Consideration for features such as 
shared boilers which generate their own electricity, 
use of local materials and local construction 
workers etc. 

Question 5: Is there any local building style/character 
that you think should be included in the new housing 
design? 

 B The village feel Is important. 
 B Cookham is built with traditional, local red brick 

and tile. It would be important for the homes to fit in 
and look weathered in 10 years. 

 B keep sense of community and reflect the character 
of Cookham. 

 B Housing design including character cottages to be 
incorporated to be in keeping with the village feel. 

 B The inclusion of adequate parking spaces was 
highlighted as important to prevent parking 
elsewhere offsite. 

 B Local materials and local tradespeople could be 
used to help mirror local design and character. 

 B Reflect the character of the attractive homes along 
the high street. 

Question 6: Do you have any comments on the 
proposed access for vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists? 

 B Traffic speeds, specifically along Switchback Road 
N (B4447) which could be a problem for vehicles 
leaving the site. 

 B Whyteladyes Lane is a busy road with existing 
trouble surrounding speeding vehicles. 

 B Headlights of vehicles at the new point of access 
could impact on existing properties the other side 
of Cannondown Road. 

 B Preference for vehicular access to be via 
Cannondown Road and not via Arthur Close. 

 B Departure access via Arthurs Close would have a 
dangerous bend for road users. 

 B Arthur Close would be appropriate for pedestrians 
but not for vehicles. 

 B Acceleration noise of cars accessing / leaving the 
site would impact existing residents. 

 B Lester Road is too narrow to allow through traffic 
from the development. 

 B The safety of vehicular access via Cannondown 
Road was questioned. There were concerns it 
could lead to traffic accidents. 

 B concern that there are too many existing junctions 
on Cannondown Road. 

 B Access could be via a roundabout on Cannondown 
to slow traffic down and ensure safety. 

 B There was existing difficulty with on-street parking 
in Cookham. 

 B No need for a footpath going west from the site, 
as it only leads to a single-track road with no 
pavement. 

 B Long lane could be too busy as it’s a single-track 
road. 

 B Include EV provision on site. 
 B Importance of the safety at the junction on 

Switchback Road. 

Question 7: From your local experience, is there 
anything else you’d like us to be aware of? (such as 
public transport, local roads in Cookham, additional 
walking routes etc.) 

 B It was noted that there are existing issues with 
congestion locally. 

 B It was questioned how the infrastructure would 
cope with additional residents and vehicles. 

 B Concerns were noted regarding road noise 
generated by the development. 

 B Safety of parents and children on the school run. 
 B Concerns were noted regarding impacts on 

pollution. 
 B Traffic calming measures and street lighting would 

be out of character. 
 B Existing public transport isn’t adequate and the bus 

service would need to improve. 
 B Provision of enough parking for new residents is 

important. 
 B Tactile paving and consideration for accessibility 

for those with disabilities was important through the 
site. 

 B There is a cycle path on Cannondown Road for 
children going to Furze Platt School. 

 B The pumping station on Lightland Lane was 
referenced, including the foul drainage south rising 
main into Maidenhead. 

Cannondown Road Working Group 
Session Three, 25 May 2022
Feedback was received by working group members 
both prior to and following the meeting, which is outlined 
below: 

 B There was support for the consultation undertaken 
to date, with one member noting that, whilst there 
was further work to do it was encouraging to see 
how far the plans had come. 

 B Highways was referenced in the feedback received 
including access, impacts on the wider highway 
network and ensuring safety on pinch points 
including the railway bridge and the High Street. 

56



background & context 16

 B Affordable housing was referenced, with 
members seeking clarity on the tenure and actual 
affordability. It was questioned whether there was 
demand for 4-bedroom homes from local housing 
providers. 

 B Pedestrian safety was referenced, with a working 
group member thinking the Arthur’s Close access 
would resolve pedestrian safety from the west 
of the site. It was questioned whether Bellway 
Homes could work with the Council to add further 
pedestrian safety measures along Cannondown 
Road. 

 B There was interest in seeing a pedestrian crossing 
delivered along Whyteladyes Lane for pedestrians 
coming through Arthurs Close. 

 B The open space within the site was discussed, 
including the landscaping that would front onto 
Cannondown Road. It was noted that the front of 
Broom Hill off Whyteladyes Lane could be a good 
example of how this can be delivered. 

 B It was questioned how the open space would be 
managed and who would be responsible for this. 

Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead, July 2022
The draft SMD was shared with RBWM for comment for 
a 21 day period. A summary of the feedback received is 
outlined below: 

 B Move energy and sustainability section to be 
incorporated into the main document 

 B Better integrate heritage into the main document
 B Move inspiration pages to Appendix
 B Urban design comments on:

 \ How the references have translated into the 
imagery and approach

 \ Materials and inclusion of the timber framed 
details

 \ Use of cul-de-sacs, hammerheads – impact on 
connectivity 

 B Update images to include solar PV on the roofs 
 B The location of the 6 ‘villages’ not clear in the 

masterplan 

 B Some of the requirements in the AL37 proforma 
do not get covered in the masterplan – air quality/
pollution from adjoining industrial site for example 

 B Not clear on how much of the affordable housing 
would be social rented 

 B Comments on presentation, i.e. font size and 
accessibility 

Resident Event, 27 September 2022 
and Webinar, 29 September 2022
Feedback received from conversations held during the 
in person and online events related to the SMD / layout 
is summarised below: 

Principle / Support 

 B Support for the proposals – noting need for new 
homes and how well the plans had responded to 
feedback 

 B Objection for the proposals – noting scale, traffic, 
drainage, and impact on public services 

Access 

 B Questions asked whether there would be 
pedestrian access through Arthur Close into the 
site

 B Support for pedestrian access through Arthur 
Close for people trying to get to the secondary 
school

 B Support for vehicular access through Arthur Close 
to a small number of homes only

 B Objection to vehicular access through Arthur Close 
due to safety of Whyteladyes Lane

 B It was felt that access through Lesters Road was 
desirable

 B Concern that the residents will use the emergency 
access at Lesters Road instead of driving down to 
Cannondown entrance/exit

Highways

 B Vehicle speeds off site are high at the rear of the 
station 

 B Need for a better bus service 

House type - Support for:

 B Affordable housing 
 B 2 bed homes
 B Smaller dwellings 
 B Homes for younger people
 B Self-build properties

Design

 B Happy to see that the suggestion to use Broom Hill 
as a precedent had been taken into consideration 

 B Consideration needed for boundary treatments for 
those at Lesters Road

 B Move the park proposed next to Cannondown 
Road further into the site

 B Frontage hedge needed to minimise visual impact
 B Homes to be kept under 3 storeys 
 B Include gardens 
 B Be sensitive of the Stanley Spencer setting 

Scale

 B Some felt that the number of homes was too large 
for the site / Cookham and the density proposed 
could impact on the character of Cookham 

Utilities and services 

 B It was questioned if there was enough capacity in 
the local network to provide the energy (electricity) 
for the new homes 

 B It was questioned how the sewerage would be 
discharged 

 B Concern about Thames Water and drainage for the 
site 

 B Concern about capacity of local education facilities 

Feedback forms and email 
responses received from 20th 
September – 19th October 
During the Phase 2 consultation a feedback from 
was provided for residents to leave answers to the 
following questions. A standalone email response was 
also provided, this has been included under Question 
5 ‘General comments’, followed by a summary of the 
parish council’s response to the consultation and details 
of further meetings held at this stage.  

24 responses were received to the formal consultation 
via email and digital feedback form on the project 
website.

Question 1: Landscape and greenspaces - Is there 
anything else you think we should consider regarding 
landscape and greenspaces? 

 B The plans have been thoughtfully considered and 
are satisfactory.   

 B The current existing mature tree on the north east 
corner of Cannondown Road / Southwood Road 
should be retained.

 B Consideration needs to be given on how to keep 
the ‘countryside’ feel for houses on Southwood 
Road. 

 B Use of hedges to keep development and green 
space separate and provide the ‘country feel’. 

 B Hedges need to be tall enough to mirror the 
majority of the gardens.

Question 2: Residential areas - Is there anything else 
you think we should consider regarding residential 
areas? 

 B The plans are satisfactory. 
 B Respect the rural nature of the village.
 B The proposals regarding density reflecting other 

Cookham residential areas are acceptable 
 B The total number of dwellings / residents should be 

reduced. 

 B Evidence of arrangements for infrastructure 
support needs to be provided to support the 
residential development.

 B Provide 1, 2 and 3 bedroom homes.
 B Development should be closer to the industrial 

units than existing neighbours.
 B Homes too close to Southwood Road.
 B A larger gap should be provided across the layout 

to enable the countryside feel to remain.

Question 3: Movement - Is there anything else you think 
we should consider regarding movement? 

 B Link up with the existing cycleway for school 
children on Cannondown Road. 

 B Provide a cycleway to Cookham Rise School and 
railway station.

 B Include speed bumps and a 20mph limits to 
reduce noise impacts. 

 B Discourage traffic from turning left out onto 
Cannondown Road.

 B Footpath access connecting to the path that runs 
from Lesters Road to Long Lane would be an asset.

 B Comments were made on bus services and 
existing and future road traffic concerns that fall 
outside of the masterplan area. 

Question 4: Streets and spaces with a village character 
- Is there anything else you think we should consider 
regarding the character of development? 

 B The architects employed by Shanley Homes at 
Payton House did a good job, something similar is 
required at Cannondown Road. 

 B Leafy and rural streetscapes.
 B The variety and grouping is reassuring. 
 B No yellow/white bricks.
 B Cookham need retirement apartments with facilities 

included, could this be included on site? 
 B Height of the building should be no greater than 

the average size of the houses which back onto the 
area.

57



background & context 17

Question 5: General comments - Are there any other 
comments or questions you have that you’d like to 
share with us? 

 B Support was given to the consultation approach 
undertaken and changes made in response to the 
community’s comments – a request was made to 
make paper copies available of the document in 
community buildings for people to view. 

 B It was suggested to carry out an archaeological 
survey.

 B Issues with the existing sewage disposal system 
was noted and a request was made for it to be 
upgraded.

 B Provide more specifics on how the development 
would minimise impacts on residential amenity.

 B Information needs to be provided on commitment to 
a carbon emission target such as net zero. Noting 
an expected 5-year number to be the equivalent to 
90% of Cookham rises annual footprint (looking at 
emissions etc from domestic energy).

 B Comments were made on issues that fall outside 
of the masterplan area which included potential 
impacts on traffic, schools and doctor’s surgery. 
This included a question on why the SMD is 
being progressed when traffic has not been fully 
assessed / is considered by the respondent to 
be severe with this development. In addition, that 
there is no objectively assessed need for the new 
development - as the 2018 analysis shows that no 
more homes are required in the Borough.

 B Suggested amends to specific pages of the SMD:
 \ No comments about input on traffic at working 
group meeting 1 or 2 on page 9. 

 \ Traffic mentions on page 18 and 19 are not 
sufficient. It should reference that the inspector 
in the BLP stated that BLP allocation will 
make Cookham frustrating for “residents and 
commuters”. As well as adding comments that 
traffic is gridlocked in a morning. 

 \ The comment on page 19 regarding 
traffic congestion and delaying cars is not 
accommodating the input that it is not just the 
delays by access but delays due to new cars 
from the site (i.e. increasing volume).

Cannondown Road Working Group 
Session Four, 6 October 2022
Feedback received related to the SMD / layout is 
summarised below, further questions and comments 
were made on traffic assessments, tenure provision, 
open space / road management, noise mitigation and 
the planning application approach are set out in the full 
note included in the Appendix document.  

Design 

 B More detail need on the ‘six villages’ approach - It 
was suggested that the areas be called “trente-
deux”. 

 B Provide a more detailed layout to better understand 
where homes would be located and the density of 
development. 

Highways 

 B Continue to assess whether there is an opportunity 
for a second access point to be integrated. 

 B It was questioned how the design would prevent 
people accessing the wider site from Arthurs 
Close.  

 B Comments regarding the Spencer’s Farm 
application and traffic assessment approach are 
included in the Appendix document. 

Landscaping 

 B Conceal access into the site and the development 
area behind high hedges and landscaping. 

Services and infrastructure 

 B Infrastructure (services and highways) needs to 
be addressed as part of the SMD with a dedicated 
section on infrastructure.

Energy and sustainability 

 B Provide detail on the effect of the homes over a 
5-year period and the equivalent of output carbon 
footprint excess to Cookham Rise. 

 B Could the homes include batteries for the PV 
panels and grey water features. 

Tall buildings SPD

 B 3 storey buildings on the site would be out of 
character and there was a preference to integrate 
design features that make buildings distinctive and 
not as tall.    

Meeting with RBWM Planning & Urban 
Design Officers,  27 October 2022
A meeting was held via Teams to discuss the draft SMD 
and for Officers to provide guidance on the design 
proposals and the content of the document.  The actions 
arising from this meeting were as follows:

 B Minimise cul-de-sacs & driveways on the layout - 
replace pedestrian-only routes alongside POS with 
connected vehicular lanes. Connected streets will 
need to be provided throughout.

 B Ensure tree lined streets are provided - introduce 
variety with different tree configurations.

 B Remove the character areas pages from the 
document and replace with 3 simple street 
characters based on street typologies, with cross 
sections.

 B Remove the architectural character images for this 
stage in the process.

 B Remove the schedule of accommodation for this 
stage in the process.

 B Provide information on drainage strategy in the 
document.

Meeting with Councillor Clark, 
1 November 2022
The meeting with Councillor Clark was a follow up to 
the final working group session.  A summary of this 
discussion is below:

 B Affordable housing – preference for priority to be 
given to local residents.

 B Benefits the development can deliver for the 
community.

 B Understanding of the process, including how 
the SMD fits into the wider planning process and 
expectations regarding level of detail.

 B Highways and congestion.
 B Safety of vehicular access point.
 B Capacity of local infrastructure.
 B Timescales for planning and delivery.

Cookham Parish Council response  
A summary of the Parish Council’s view is set out 
below – the full response is included in the Appendix 
document: 

 B The vision for the development is not reflected 
in the masterplan. It is unclear what is meant by 
‘six villages’ and how these relates to areas of 
character identified in the masterplan.

 B The block structure in the eastern part of the 
site appears unresolved, with disjointed and 
unconnected streets and building frontages.

 B The reference to ‘intimate lanes’ in the character 
section of the masterplan is confusing. It is unclear 
how these will help create successful, well defined 
streets and spaces.

 B There has been a missed opportunity to create a 
connected network of green infrastructure around 
and across the site.

 B Further information on the feasibility of providing 
a direct connection with Lesters Road is required, 
particularly for pedestrians and cyclists.

 B There is no evidence to justify why the housing mix 
diverges from that set out in the Local Plan.

 B There are too few plots for self-build properties and 
information on where these will be provided and 
the design parameters that will be applied to these 
(though use of plot passports) is lacking.

 B It is unclear how car parking will be accommodated 
on the site and how the visual impacts of parked 
cars can be minimised. This extends to include 
the provision of cabling and other infrastructure 
associated with electric vehicle charging points. 

 B Inclusion of street cross-sections with the 
masterplan will help indicate how parking will be 
provided and what the vision for the different street 
types is.

 B It is not clear how pedestrian access to bus 
stops on Cannondown Road will be provided and 
whether this is compatible with provision of SuDS.

 B The visualisations of proposed homes do not give 
confidence that the development responds to the 
best characteristics and qualities of traditional 
areas of homes in Cookham.

58



background & context 18

agreeing the constraints & 
opportunities framework

Advice received on this plan during the consultation 
process included:

 B The site is a gateway into Cookham and it is 
important for the development to be inviting. 

 B Adjacent industrial units and complaints about 
noise would need to influence the design.

 B Cookham is a village and the character needs 
to remain as a village with separation between 
Cookham and Maidenhead key to this. 

 B Avoiding the inclusion of exposed fences onto 
open spaces.

 B Need for retention of the separation between 
Cookham and Maidenhead. 

 B Further detail regarding services routes was 
requested by the Parish Council.

Glimpsed view of Cliveden on the skyline from the eastern part of the site

Allocation site boundary

Public Right of Way (PROW) alongside the site

Glimpsed views towards Cliveden (see above left)

Create attractive boundary buffers to the unsightly 
industrial park & pumping station

Underground gas services routes

Underground water services routes 

Overhead power services routes

Existing ecological links & field boundaries

Sensitive relationship with adjacent homes

Potential pedestrian connection to PROW

Higher ground & land alongside trees 
- potential areas for public greenspace
Possible short/mid range glimpsed views of the 
site

Scaffold yard within the industrial park...

...affecting this part of the site, unless acoustic 
screening is utilised
Cannondown Road frontage 
- the most visible area from the main road
Trees to be retained wherever possible and 
integrated into the development

Potential main access location in this vicinity

Cannondown Road - vehicular connections to 
Cookham centre and Maidenhead

 -may be 
designed 
around or 
rerouted59



Review of Heritage Assets
The site does not contain any designated heritage 
assets, as defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF, where there 
would be a presumption in favour of their retention. 
The designated heritage assets in the surrounding 
landscape have been considered in-line with the 5-step 
approach to settings assessment recommended in 
Historic England guidance (GPA3). 

It is concluded that none of these assets would 
be affected, such that would result in harm to their 
significance. 

In this regard, the proposed development positively 
addresses relevant legislation and national and local 
policy concerning designated heritage assets. 

With regard to non-designated heritage assets, the non-
designated building ‘The Gables’ (identified as requiring 
assessment by the Council’s conservation officer during 
pre-application discussions), located a short distance 
to the north of the Site, was also considered to identify 
whether there were any heritage setting affects. 

It was similarly concluded that the proposed 
development would not result in harm to the 
significance of this local heritage asset.

Review of the Potential for Archaeology
The Site has a moderate potential for late prehistoric 
and Roman period remains, and perhaps remains 
related to a post-medieval windmill in the west of the 
Site. However, it is also the case that the Site has been 
subject to farming activity from the medieval period 
onwards, as well as various impacts (such as mineral 
extraction and woodland planting/removal) that will have 
truncated any earlier underlying remains. 

Therefore, if present, any remains are likely to be of 
‘low’ value and not require retention. 

Therefore, any further archaeological fieldwork could 
be most appropriately addressed through a condition 
attached to the planning permission. 

Review of Sir Stanley Spencer Artworks
Following the guidance provided in the Cookham Village 
Design Statement (CVDS), the paintings by Sir Stanley 
Spencer (listed as Appendix B to the CVDS) were 
reviewed to identify if and how the views depicted could 
be affected by the proposed development. Through this 
review process, five paintings were identified as having 
the potential to be affected (these are not reproduced 
here due to copyright restriction). Of these, Field of Flax 
(1948) was identified as potentially being obscured by 
the existing light industrial estate at Lower Mount Farm 
or perhaps not including the site at all. In either case, 
the proposals could not result in any further changes 
to this viewpoint. Wheatfield at Starlings (1954) only 
includes the coppice at the north west end of the Site 
which would be retained within the proposals and thus 
unaffected.

The remaining three paintings (Garden View, Cookham 
Dene (1938); Rock Garden, Cookham Dene (1938); and 
The Mount, Cookham Dene (1938)) were composed 
from the highground of Cookham Dene to the west, 
looking east. In these, the site is represented by a 
coppice along its western edge, which was removed 
in the 20th century and then later replanted. As this 
planting is to be retained, these proposals would only 
have a negligible, if any, level of affect on these views.   

Therefore, there is every reason to believe that the 
proposed development of the site positively addresses 
and responds to the guidance provided in the CVDS 
regarding the paintings of Sir Stanley Spencer, and 
hence preserves the important elements in these views. 

Landscape and visual matters have been reviewed 
in order to identify any likely constraints and 
opportunities within the site. A desktop study and site 
visit have been undertaken alongside a high-level 
review of the landscape and visual situation in order to 
provide recommendations for developing the site and 
any necessary landscape mitigation. 

To the immediate south is the employment site 
associated with Lower Mount Farm which includes 
large scale agricultural, commercial and employment 
built form which extends the built presence to the 
south of the site. The residential built up area extends 
south along Cannondown Road meaning the site is 
surrounded by built form to the north, east and south 
and heavily influenced by the settlement edge and 
urbanising characteristics. 

The site is located in the Farmed Chalk Slopes 
LCT and 11c Cookham Rise sub character area 
of the RBWM Landscape Character Assessment. 
It is however noted that the site itself has better 
relationship with the existing settlement of 
Cookham than that of the wider landscape and key 
characteristics of the LCT. The localised context 
and adjoining built up areas that surround the 
site diminishes the perceived sensitivity and rural 
characteristics identified in the LCA. The allocation 
of the site within the Local Plan and removal from the 
Green Belt also acknowledges the potential capacity 
of the site to accommodate development.  

The site is considered to be both visually and 
physically well contained, with robust planting blocks 

to the west and surrounded by built up areas to the 
north, east and south. This is reinforced by further 
landscape features and varied topography within the 
localised and wider landscape, which further restricts 
middle and long distance views towards the site. It is 
considered that the site has some visual capacity to 
accommodate the nature of change proposed and 
residential development of a scale as proposed would 
not be out of context within the localised setting. 

The baseline assessment illustrates how the site is 
influenced by the built up context and has capacity for 
development and although there will be a change in 
the landscape, a sensitive approach will minimise any 
adverse visual and landscape impact. The retention 
and enhancement of landscape features, provision 
of public open space, conserving of key views and 
reflection of the existing character within the design 
will allow for a successfully integrated proposal.  

As part of an iterative design process the defining 
characteristics of the local landscape and site context 
will inform the proposals to provide a cohesive 
development that responds sensitively to the existing 
character and provide localised and wider landscape 
enhancements. 

It is considered that subject to these principles, there 
is capacity for a sensitive and sympathetic residential 
development to be delivered without detriment to the 
localised or wider visual amenity and that the integrity 
of the receiving landscape character would be 
preserved, enabling a successful integration into the 
local landscape. 

background & context 19

heritage & sir stanley spencer landscape & visual 
technical note

60



background & context 20

agreeing the key 
development principles

Landscape & Greenspace

Existing trees & hedgerows - presumption for 
retention, or possible replacement if necessary
Landscape screening to the pumping station and 
to the Lower Mount Farm industrial area

Landscape buffer preserving neighbours’ privacy

Existing hedgerow along Cannondown Road - 
retain or replace with more substantial planting

Greenspace alongside existing woodland

Greenspace in the best areas for rainwater 
drainage

Greenspace around ecologically sensitive areas

Hedgerow replacement where underground 
services have to be accommodated

Advice received on this plan during the consultation 
process included:

 B Green and blue infrastructure is important to 
any future development – with the need to retain 
hedges to the east and a natural boundary 
to the west to give a countryside edge to the 
development. 

 B Retain the existing tree line, and as many trees 
as possible in general on site. 

 B Ease of access to green open spaces beyond 
the site for existing residents is important. 

 B Provide public open space at the western 
end of the site to provide a transition into the 
countryside. 

 B Preference for green open spaces to be 
included between the new and existing homes 
rather than near the farm. 

 B Include play spaces which are suitable for 
children of all ages and that spaces should 

support social interaction. 
  B Places for people to walk dogs. 

  B Places for children to play safely. 

 B Can the community access the open spaces 
on site if these were concentrated around the 
proposed drainage / ponds or would they 
become boggy. 

 B Tension between the amount of green space 
and developable area / building space 
standards. 

 B Preference against exposed rear gardens and 
obscured parking to avoid security issues. 

 B Publicly accessible open space for those with 
disabilities – including flat pathways for ease of 
access. 

 B Allotments for existing and future residents. 
 B Inclusion of mature trees in the landscaping 

scheme. 
 B Public footpaths to Cookham Dean and the 

Greenbelt. 
 B Public and landscaped gardens. 
 B Front of the site to stay green and open. 
 B Planting and landscaping to filter views for 

existing residents of the new homes. 
 B The Parish Council requested further information 

regarding hedgerow removal and replacement.

Where the existing underground 
services have to be accommodated, 
the existing hedgerow is shown to 
be removed and replaced in a more 
practical location

61



background & context 21

Residential Areas

Indicative location 
- semi-detached/detached homes
Indicative location 
- semi-detached, terraced & maisonette homes

Landscape buffer preserving neighbours’ privacy

Landscape screening to the pumping station and 
to the Lower Mount Farm industrial area
Existing hedgerow along Cannondown Road - 
retain or replace with more substantial planting

Advice received on this plan during the consultation 
process included:

 B Development should be away from the 
industrial units but not pushed up against the 
existing neighbours.

 B Preference for a density that complements 
existing properties in Cookham. 

62



background & context 22

Movement Network

Existing Public Right of Way

Indicative walking & cycling route through the site

Pedestrian connection to the Cannondown Road 
bus stop

Potential zone for main vehicular access

Indicative road network

Pedestrian route to Whyteladyes Lane, emergency 
vehicle access, & possible minor vehicular access

Advice received on this plan during the consultation 
process included:

 B Desire for more direct pedestrian routes. 
 B Additional pedestrian / cycle links would 

encourage future residents to use active 
methods of travel. A safe link to the secondary 
school could be beneficial. 

 B Three points of vehicular access would help to 
retain the village character.

 B Three points of access on the parish council 
masterplan came from a place-making 
perspective and are high-level at this stage in 
terms of technical input. 

 B No need for a footpath going west from the site, 
as it only leads to a single-track road with no 
pavement. 

 B RBWM officers were not happy with the 
amount of culs-de-sac and lack of vehicular 
connectivity across the site and suggested that 
this be addressed.

 B The Parish Council requested the route to the 
Cannondown Road bus stops be clarified.

63



background & context 23

 B Splitting the site into three development parcels 
to retain a village character.

 B Consideration for the inclusion of more than 
one vehicular access into the site, including an 
access from Arthur Close. 

 B Avoid use of straight roads within the site 
improving the scheme’s character and reducing 
speeding. 

 B Design the layout to have a 20 mile per hour 
speed limit.

 B Keep building heights to 2 storeys.
 B Use design principles set out in the 

neighbourhood plan masterplan.
 B Importance of the green setting of Cookham, 

along with wider cultural reference to Stanley 
Spencer and how this related to the site. 

 B The Village Design Statement for Cookham was 
referenced, which included features such as the 
organic feel of the design of the village. 

 B Sensitive boundary treatment between the 
industrial land and future homes, may be 
required to the south of the site. 

 B The treatment of boundaries would need to 
be carefully considered, especially at the new 
junction with Cannondown Road. 

 B There is a paragraph in the Village Design 
Statement to avoid car parking in front of homes. 

 B Preference for phased development to take 
place in three separate parcels to retain the 
village’s character, minimise construction 
impact and allow the local services to manage 
the increase in resident numbers. 

 B There are three distinct parcels (served by 
each point of vehicular access on the parish 
masterplan for the site). 

 B The frontage to Cannondown Road is very 
important. There is a need to keep a village feel 
– with trees and houses set back from road. 

 B Landscaping and the replacement of any trees 
that are removed would be important along with 
planting new trees. 

 B Landscaping and the countryside outlook 
currently enjoyed on Switchback Road should 
be preserved. 

 B The Parish Council requested the block form 
shown in the eastern part of the development to 
be replanned and realigned, and the perimeter 
blocks to be more clearly illustrated.

The Evolving Masterplan
This layout takes consideration of the design 
principles included on the previous pages, which 
were discussed and commented upon during 
the consultation process.  This layout takes 
consideration of all of the advice received and 
accommodates the requests wherever possible.

Additional layers of evolving detail regarding 
landscaping, ecology, street and townscape 
character follow, in order to give more clarity as to 
what this masterplan represents.

Additional advice received during the previous 
consultation process which fed into this layout 
included:

 B The scheme should ‘integrate’ into the existing 
settlement. 

 B The scheme should be built as a series 
of smaller clusters, rather than one large 
development. 

 B Important to complement the character of 
Cookham through the development.

64



traffic & access 24

traffic & access

65



traffic & access 25

community guidance & advice

 B All access opportunities should be explored, not 
just Cannondown Road but also Arthur Close and 
Lesters Road 

 B Concerns raised over harmful effects of existing 
traffic accessing the site via Arthur Close and 
Lesters Road

 B Traffic speeds on Cannondown Road are a 
concern – the speed limit has historically been 
reduced (now at 40mph past the site), but there is 
little in the way of physical measures to enforce this

 B Traffic speeds along Whyteladyes Lane are also 
a concern, as are the limited opportunities for 
pedestrians crossing the carriageway

 B Preference for curved rather than straight roads 
within the site to reduce traffic speeds (20mph limit 
requested)

 B Limited opportunities for access by walking, 
cycling and public transport, leaving residents 
over-reliant on the private motor car.

 B Concerns that a simple T-junction access at 
Cannondown Road would result in unacceptable 
queues and delays.

 B Traffic congestion is a concern locally, including 
at Cannondown Bridge, The Pound and Cookham 
Bridge.

 B Concern that car drop-offs by residents to the local 
schools, including Holy Trinity School to the north, 
could add to congestion in Cookham

 B Assessment of traffic impacts needs to take into 
account potential developments in neighbouring 
authorities.

 B RBWM traffic modelling does not reflect local 
circumstances and so assessment of traffic 
impacts need to be based on more accurate data 
at the local road network level.

66



traffic & access 26

highways engineers’ 
response & access proposals

 B Access opportunities via Lesters Road and Arthur 
Close have been explored:

 \ Access via Lesters Road is not possible owing 
to third party land ownership.

 \ Access via Arthur Close has been considered 
for a small parcel of development (say 15-20 
dwellings). However, given concern expressed 
by local residents and that this route will form a 
key pedestrian/cycle route to/from the site via 
Whyteladyes Lane, it is proposed to limit this to 
potentially serve a maximum of 5 dwellings only 
(other than for emergency access).

 \ Potential improvements to improve priority 
for pedestrians on Arthur Close are being 
considered (shown overleaf).

 B A revised access arrangement for Cannondown 
Road has been identified, which includes the 
potential relocation of the change in speed limit 
to the southern end of the site frontage (shown 
overleaf).  This is supported by additional physical 
measures to help control speeds, including:

 \ Dragon’s tooth markings and painted roundel 
enforcing 30mph speed limit

 \ New pedestrian refuge crossing island on 
Cannondown (also facilitating access to the 
southbound bus stop).

 \ New pedestrian refuse crossing at southern 
end of site frontage on Cannondown Road to 
facilitate trips to/from south and help enforce 
speed limit change.

 \ Bus cage markings at the bus stop – to provide 
a further visual cue for motorists to travel with 
caution through this section.

 B Traffic surveys have been commissioned to confirm 
current measured 85th percentile vehicle speeds 
on both Cannondown Road and Whyteladyes 
Lane, which will further inform the design of the 
access and any other localised improvements.  
This will include measured traffic flow volumes to 
also ensure the access is modelled and would not 
create any significant queues or delays.

 B A series of crossing improvements on Whyteladyes 
Lane have been identified to facilitate the key 
pedestrian routes via Alfred Major Park, including:

 \ New dropped kerbs/tactile paving crossing at 
the Whyteladyes Lane/Southwood Road junction

 \ New dropped kerbs/tactile paving crossing at 
Whyteladyes Lane just west of Hilcrest Avenue, 
to facilitate crossings to/from Alfred Major Park.

 \ New dropped kerbs/tactile paving at Lesters 
Road/Dean View junction, to assist pedestrians 
on the route to the site via the public footpath to 
the north

 \ New dropped kerbs/tactile paving and extended 
footway at Whyteladyes Lane, to facilitate the 
alternative route to Alfred Major Park via Broom 
Hill.

 B The emerging masterplan ensures straight sections 
of road are minimised, to help enforce a 20mph 
design speed.  To further ensure a 20mph design  
speed, the layout includes 90 degree bends, 
whilst future detailed plans can incorporate further 
horizontal traffic calming features where necessary.

 B A detailed audit of key existing walking/cycling and 
public transport routes suggests that, subject to 
the localised improvements listed above, the site 
can be well connected to the local facilities within 
Cookham and further afield.  The key routes via 
Cannondown Road and Alfred Major Park provide 
convenient routes to the local schools, shops and 
Cookham Station, whilst bus stops are located on 
both Cannondown Road and Whyteladyes Lane 
close to the site.

 B A detailed Transport Assessment supporting any 
future planning application will use survey data 
and Census information to identify the potential 
future traffic conditions at key locations identified 
in the feedback to date.  This will inform modelling 
of predicted queues and delays, to identify any 
locations where the proposals would result in 
severe impacts and might warrant mitigating 
improvements.

67



Main Pedestrian & Vehicle Access Proposals from Cannondown Road

Pedestrian & Vehicle Access Proposals

Pedestrian & Emergency Access Proposals from Arthur Close

traffic & access 27

Shown illustratively - subject to detailed 
design and consultation at application stage.

68



Proposed Pedestrian Route Improvements

traffic & access 28

Shown illustratively - subject to detailed 
design and consultation at application stage.

69



29design objectives:  layout

design objectives:  
layout

70



public landscaped areas 
& sustainable drainage

The overarching principles for the proposed landscaping, play 
and green connections are annotated right and overleaf.

The pedestrian routes through the development and the 
integrated network of greenspaces provide a variety of 
recreational routes and linkages. Opportunities to link into the 
existing Public Right of Way (PRoW) at the north western corner 
will increase accessibility to the wider countryside.

Following stakeholders’ advice one of the LAPs has been moved 
from being in proximity to Cannondown Road, to within the body 
of the development.

Community Community 
OrchardOrchard

30design objectives:  layout

Replacement linear green corridor to include native species 
planting and additional green links with the existing woodland 
to the east. Potential inclusion of a Local Area of Play (LAP) 
for younger children overlooked by new dwellings, and nature 
trails extending through the woodland walks provide new 
residents with an increased level of access to nature.

Central green spine running south through the development 
to be retained, enhanced and integrated within the 
layout ensuring the green infrastructure runs through the 
developable areas. A trim trail incorporating a mix of natural 
timber themed children’s play elements and adult exercise 
equipment will create a useable and interesting recreational 
space located at the heart of the development and set within 
an established landscape framework.  A community orchard 
will also form part of the spine, creating opportunities for 
informal food production for residents and foraging for wildlife.

Existing woodland retained and enhanced with additional 
native planting incorporating a 10m buffer with wildflower 
grassland and scrub planting. A network of informal 
pedestrian routes and woodland walk are created to provide 
variation in the recreational opportunities. This will maintain a 
robust green edge to the development and provides a high 
degree of visual and physical containment from the wider 
landscape setting and elevated topography the to west.

LAPLAP

Ecological Ecological 
& SuDS & SuDS 

GreenspaceGreenspace Informal Informal 
Kickabout Kickabout 
& SuDS& SuDS

Woodland Woodland 
WalkWalk

Nature Nature 
TrailTrail

Existing & Existing & 
Enhanced Enhanced 
WoodlandWoodland

Glimpsed View towards Cliveden

Glimpsed View towards Cliveden

Existing & Existing & 
Enhanced Enhanced 
Landscape Landscape 

BeltBelt

Play Area Play Area 
with Trim Trailwith Trim Trail

---
- L

an
ds

ca
pe

d F
ron

tag
e -

---

---
- L

an
ds

ca
pe

d F
ron

tag
e -

---

SuDSSuDS

SuDSSuDS

LAPLAP

Glimpsed View towards Cliveden
Glimpsed View towards Cliveden

Min. 3m Wide Landscape Buffer

Min. 3m Wide Landscape Buffer

Attenuation basin to double up as a kickabout space to 
provide informal recreation opportunities and increase 
the useability of the attenuation feature which will remain 
dry during the majority of the year. Species rich wildflower 
grassland provides ecological and biodiversity enhancements 
within the localised setting and adds to the green 
infrastructure network through the development.

Pedestrian Link Pedestrian Link 
with PRoWwith PRoW

71



Built form to be set back from the south eastern boundary with 
Cannondown Road and large area of open space provides 
a green corridor and high quality landscape entrance to the 
development. New native structural planting adjacent to the 
road corridor will provide enhancements to the streetscene 
whilst visually softening views of the proposed built form.

New native woodland, tree, hedge and scrub planting to 
link with retained woodland along the western site boundary 
and provide new habitat creation. Large oval shaped area of 
greenspace to be created with houses overlooking the space 
and incorporating species rich wildflower grassland will 
create biodiversity enhancements, new habitats as part of an 
ecological landscape zone and double up as SUDS features.

Woodland Woodland 
WalkWalk

Nature Nature 
TrailTrail

Pedestrian Link Pedestrian Link 
with PRoWwith PRoW

Existing & Existing & 
Enhanced Enhanced 
WoodlandWoodland

Existing & Existing & 
Enhanced Enhanced 
Landscape Landscape 

BeltBelt

Community Community 
OrchardOrchard

Play Area Play Area 
with Trim Trailwith Trim Trail

Min. 3m Wide Landscape Buffer

Min. 3m Wide Landscape Buffer

Development has incorporated long views from higher ground 
towards Cliveden House to the east. View corridors created 
through careful orientation of the road layout, set back to the 
built form and avenue tree planting. Additional views across 
the open greenspace will allow for a number of potential 
vantage points.

Green Infrastructure

LAPLAP

Ecological Ecological 
& SuDS & SuDS 

GreenspaceGreenspace Informal Informal 
Kickabout Kickabout 
& SuDS& SuDS

LAPLAP

---
- L

an
ds

ca
pe

d F
ron

tag
e -

---

---
- L

an
ds

ca
pe

d F
ron

tag
e -

---

SuDSSuDS

SuDSSuDS

Glimpsed View towards Cliveden

Glimpsed View towards Cliveden

Glimpsed View towards Cliveden
Glimpsed View towards Cliveden

31design objectives:  layout

Green Infrastructure
The proposed landscaping, play and green connection 
principles also deliver the landscape requirements of the site-
specific proforma in Appendix C of the BLP - to provide a strong 
high quality green and blue infrastructure network across 
the site that is highly connected to the surrounding area and 
capable of supporting enhanced biodiversity, recreation, food 
production and leisure functions.

72



Soft Landscape Palette

32design objectives:  layout

Examples of native tree planting and native structural 
shrubs and hedging are provided left.

Examples of wildflower grassland and ecological 
enhancements are provided left.

ref.1:  Includes betula pendula, sorbus aucuparia, prunus avium, tilia cordata, carpinus 
betulus, quercus robur and acer campestre.

ref.3:  Wildflower mixes include Emorsgate EM2 Standard General Purpose Meadow Mixture, Emorsgate EH1 Hedgerow Mixture & Emorsgate EW1F Wildflowers for Woodland.   
Ecological enhancements such as bat boxes, log piles and bird boxes.

ref.2:  Includes downy birch, alder, hazel, hawthorn, holly, blackthorn, oak, hornbeam, rowan, elder, dogwood, privet, bird cherry, crab apple and guelder 
rose.

73



Natural & Informal Play

33design objectives:  layout

Examples of natural and informal doorstep play 
equipment and trim trails are provided left.

74



Ecology is an important consideration and the emerging 
proposals and strategies are annotated right.  The Parish 
Council had also requested further information regarding our 
aspirations for Biodiversity Net Gain.

A minimum 10% Biodiversity Net Gain is 
anticipated under the proposals.

34design objectives:  layout

ecological areas  
& connections

Retained Woodland and Woodland 
Buffer:  Woodland corridor wholly 
retained within a 10 metre buffer 
from the development footprint, with 
the buffered area to incorporate 
wildflower grassland and new native 
tree and scrub planting.

Replaced hedgerow:  Where the 
existing hedgerow is removed to 
allow for a successful development 
around the retained water mains, the 
new hedgerow species and planting 
alongside will be specified to create 
an improved biodiversity corridor

Newly Created Habitat:  New 
species-rich native hedgerows and 
trees to be planted throughout the 
development.

Retained Open Space:  Areas of 
open space to incorporate new 
wildflower grassland and native 
trees and scrub planting.

Biodiversity Corridor:  The planting 
along the southern boundary is to 
be reinforced to ensure the corridor 
is continuous and robust

Enhanced Bat Roosting and Bird 
Nesting Opportunities:  Roosting 
and nesting opportunities for bats 
and birds to be enhanced via the 
inclusion of bat and bird boxes on 
new units and existing suitable trees.

Retained Hedgerows and Treelines:  
Most hedgerows and treelines 
retained, albeit for minor areas 
of loss to facilitate access and 
services, with losses fully replaced 
elsewhere on-site.

Hedgerows to be bolstered:  
Existing hedgerows to be bolstered 
with additional native planting where 
necessary to strengthen connectivity 
to adjoining hedgerows/treelines 
both on and off-site.

Off-site Connected Habitat:  
Retained habitats, including 
woodland, hedgerows, treelines 
and minor areas of scrub will remain 
connected to off-site linear habitat 
(treelines and hedgerows) to the 
north-west, north-east, south-west 
and south-east of the site.

75



pedestrian, cycle  
& vehicle connections

Pedestrian routes within the development
A network of walking connections throughout the 
development.

Pedestrian routes out of & beyond the development
Connecting the site with the wider network of 
walking connections and routes through the 
neighbourhood.

Main vehicular routes to serve the new homes
Sinuous “village streets” through the development.

Secondary vehicular routes to serve the new 
homes
Sinuous “village streets” through the development.

Minor vehicular entrance from Arthur Close
Vehicular access for just a few dwellings, 
pedestrian access, and occasional use for 
emergency vehicles.

Public Right of Way to the northwest of the site
Connecting into this attractive recreational route.

Cul-de-sac driveways to serve a few homes
Low-key minor lanes and driveways.

Main vehicular entrance from Cannondown Road
Vehicle access to most of the new homes, as well 
as one of the accesses for pedestrians.

35design objectives:  layout

76



underground services 
& easements

In response to a request for further information by the Parish 
Council, this layout illustrates how the existing services which 
run across the site, as identified on page 18, can be either 
designed around or re-routed along the new roads, connecting 
back to the existing pipework runs where they currently cross 
the site boundaries:

 Boundary connection to retained service route

 Boundary connection to rerouted service

 Water main

  Electricity cables

  Electricity cables

 Gas main

36design objectives:  layout

77



The site is located entirely in Flood Zone 1 and has 
a low probability of flooding (less than 0.1% annual 
probability). 

The Environment Agency online surface water flood 
maps show the majority of the site has a very low risk of 
surface water flooding, meaning that there is less than 
a 0.1% chance of flooding each year. There is a small 
overland flow pathway of ‘low risk’ (has a chance of 
flooding of between 0.1% and 1% each year) flowing 
eastwards across the northwest extent of the site. 
The development proposals have been sequentially 
developed to avoid the existing flow pathway and 
will not increase flood risk to the development or 
neighbouring property. 

Ground Conditions
Superficial gravelly, clayey sands and sand and gravels 
were found to overlay variable chalk with the Western 
section of the site. 

Window sample boreholes were drilled in the Eastern 
section of the site and the superficial silty gravel sand, 
clayey sand and sand and gravels extend to a depth of 
at least 5m below ground level. 

Infiltration testing carried out at the site, show infiltration 
features located above the chalk strata would be 
feasible to dispose of surface water runoff in the 
Western section of the development.

Surface Water Drainage (including SuDS) 
The proposed drainage strategy for the development will 
be split up into 4 catchments:

 B The surface water runoff from catchments 1 & 2 
(covering the west and central extent of the site) 
will be conveyed via gravity into two separate 
infiltration basins located along the southern 
boundary of the site. 

 B The surface water runoff from catchments 3 & 
4 (covering the east extent of the site) will be 
conveyed via gravity into two separate detention 
basins located along the Eastern boundary of 
the site. The detention basins will discharge 
surface water runoff at a restricted greenfield 
rate to proposed surface water sewers laid within 
Cannondown Road which connect to the Thames 
Water sewers approx. 175m from the site access.

 B The detention basins within catchment 3 & 4 will 
incorporate pools of permanent water to improve 
water quality benefits and increase biodiversity.

Consultation with Thames Water confirms there 
is sufficient capacity within the nearby public 
sewer network to accept flows from the proposed 
development. 

Foul Water Drainage 
Foul sewerage from the development will be conveyed 
via gravity to the south eastern boundary of the site 
and to the existing public foul water sewers located in 
Cannondown Road.

The pre-development enquiry response from Thames 
Water confirms there is sufficient sewerage capacity in 
the adjacent foul water sewers located in Cannondown 
Road to serve the site.

ref.4:  Detention basin example

ref.5:  Typical plan view and section of an infiltration basin

ref.6:  Typical plan view and section of a detention basin

NB:  The drainage 
proposals will be provided 
in more detail at application 
stage for consultation and 
agreement with the Lead 
Local Flood Authority and 
the Council.

37design objectives:  layout

drainage strategy

78



streets & spaces  
with a village character

Village Street [two-sided]
 - Generally terraced and semi-detached 2-storey 

houses.
 - Along a traditional vehicular carriageway, with 

footways on each side, off-road cycleway and a 
grass verge with street trees.

 - Car parking is generally provided in driveways 
alongside each house.

Village Street [alongside greenspace]
 - A variant of the Village Street which opens out to 

run alongside greenspace on one side.

Lane Link
 - Generally terraced and semi-detached 2-storey 

houses.
 - More intimate streets - designed for very low 

vehicle speeds with the space being shared 
between pedestrians, cycles and vehicles.

 - Parking is generally provided in designated 
bays designed as part of the street space.

Lane Edge
 - Generally detached 2-storey houses - a more 

spacious layout sensitive to the character of the 
landscape spaces which they will address.

 - Connected shared-surface lanes around the 
edges of the development.

 - Car parking is generally provided in driveways 
alongside each house.

Please refer to the illustrations for each of these street 
characters provided overleaf.

38design objectives:  layout

79



 B Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead Officers had 
various more detailed queries 
regarding the illustrative 
character areas, and advised 
that this detail should be 
reserved for consideration at 
Planning Application stage.  
We were advised to focus 
on a small number of simple 
tree-lined street characters 
illustrated by sections.

 B The Parish Council advised that 
the previous character areas 
were not clear.

 B The Parish Council also 
requested more information 
regarding the parking strategy 
for each street, with cross 
sections.

39design objectives:  layout

80



cycle & car parking

 B Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
Parking Strategy (May 2004) states that for new 
developments the following maximum parking 
standards apply:

 \ 1 bedroom units 1 space per unit
 \ 2-3 bedroom units 2 spaces per unit
 \ 4 or more bedroom units 3 spaces per unit
 \ Flats with communal space 1 space per 
     bedroom

 B Average car ownership is Bisham and Cookham is 
1.63 vehicles per household. 

 B There will be the use of high quality hard and 
soft landscaping to provide appealing and 
functional parking spaces while ensuring that the 
development will not be visually dominated by 
cars.

 B Visitor and non-allocated parking to be provided 
on-street where possible.

 B On-plot parking will occur to the front, side or rear 
of dwellings. It may include integral or stand-alone 
garages and carports.

 B If garages are to be provided the following 
standards will apply.

 \ Car space within a garage is 3m x 6m.
 \ Where the space is located in front of a garage, 
the distance from the face of the garage to the 
highway boundary shall be a minimum of 6m.

 B Secure cycle parking provision will be provided in 
the curtilage of each dwelling in sheds or garages 
where provided. 

40design objectives:  layout

RREESSIIDDEENNTTIIAALL  PPAARRKKIINNGG

Use
Class
Order

Use
Maximum Parking 
Standard (Areas of Poor 
Accessibility)

Maximum Parking 
Standard (Areas of 
Good Accessibility) (
percentage of 
maximum permitted
standard)

General Residents

1 bedroom units 1 space per unit 0.5 space per unit 

2-3 bedroom units 2 spaces per unit 1 space per unit

4 or more bedroom units  3 spaces per unit  2 spaces per unit 
C3

Flats with communal spaces 1 space per  bedroom 0.5 space per
bedroom

Hostels and Hotels 

C2 Hostels 1 space per 3 residents 1 space per 6
residents

C1 Hotels/guest houses 1 space per bedroom 1 space per 2
bedrooms

Older peoples housing 

C3 Active elderly with warden control 
(sheltered housing) 1 space per unit 0.5 space per unit 

C2 Nursing and rest homes 
1 space per 4 residents 
and 1 space per full-time 
staff

1 space per 8
residents and 0.5 
space full-time staff 

9.8 General commercial developments
9.8.1 Commercial developments in town centres well served by public transport can sustain new

development with lower levels of parking. On this basis, commercial development with 
high public transport accessibility will have reduced maximum  parking standards. In these 
circumstances, the occupier of the commercial site will be responsible for restraining staff
parking in adjacent areas through implementation of a travel plan. The provision of on-
street parking controls may be considered where resident parking is severely affected by 
commercial developments.

30

9 New developments and parking standards

Objective: To apply parking standards on all new and expanded developments, to 
reduce the amount of land dedicated to parking and to reduce the need to travel by 
motor cars. 

9.1 The Borough is constrained by the amount of land available for new developments so
efficient land use is essential. The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan
(Adopted 1999) sets parking standards for new developments (Appendix 7 of the Adopted
Local Plan through the implementation of Policy P4). It sets out the maximum amount of 
parking to be provided in different circumstances as well as the planning obligations and 
developer contributions that may be obtained as part of the planning application process. 
This section of the Parking Strategy will feed into the review of the Local Plan. Alongside 
the Council’s parking standards, the location, amount, design, type and access to parking 
are additional factors in deciding the appropriate parking requirements for a site.

9.2 Parking standards are set at a level that should achieve reductions in traffic and congestion
in the Borough. Royal Borough Highways Development Control is responsible for ensuring
that developers comply with the Borough’s parking standards and so assist in the 
achievement of the appropriate level of parking. 

9.3 Accessibility 
9.3.1 Accessibility criteria for  parking in town centres or areas where there are good public 

transport services will be applied to reduce the amount of land used for car parking and so 
reduce the number of vehicles travelling to the area.

9.3.2 The criteria are consistent with the proposed Local Plan housing density accessibility
zones. This is set to an 800- metre distance from a rail station with regular (half hourly or
better) train services. Where locations for new or expanded residential and non-residential 
developments cannot be easily accessed without a car, developers will be expected to
provide appropriate measures or contributions to ensure adequate accessibility.

9.3.3 In most circumstances, parking standards for developments deemed to have adequate
accessibility will be set to a percentage of the maximum permitted standard for non-
accessible locations. The accessibility reductions are calculated to recognise economic
viability objectives for each development category. The level of accessibility should be one
of the considerations in the transport assessment.

9.3.4 Another factor that may influence parking levels is the capacity of the local environment to 
withstand the traffic impacts of the development. If the impacts are considered significant
by the Council, additional parking restrictions may be applied. Travel plans will be a
feature of appropriate new developments to help reduce reliance on the car and promote
sustainable transport choices. 

9.4 Transport assessments
9.4.1 Transport assessments should be submitted alongside applications for new developments

that have significant transport implications for the highway network, environmental
impacts from increased traffic levels or road safety implications.

9.4.2 Developers will be required to submit Transport Assessments on schemes likely to require
planning obligations using the thresholds agreed with the local authority, and in accordance

27

N
e

w
 d

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
s

 a
n

d
 p

a
r

k
in

g
 s

t
a

n
d

a
r

d
s

Advice received during the consultation process on 
this subject included:

 B The inclusion of adequate parking spaces was 
highlighted as important to prevent parking 
elsewhere offsite. 

 B There was existing difficulty with on-street 
parking in Cookham. 

 B Include EV provision on site. 
 B Provision of enough parking for new residents 

is important. 

Royal Borough of
Windsor and Maidenhead

Parking Strategy 

Planning Policy Unit 

May 2004

81



types & sizes of the new homes 
- private & housing association

41design objectives:  layout

Advice received during the consultation process on this 
subject included:

 B Affordable housing in Cookham is predominantly 
maisonettes and there was a preference for this to 
carry through into the design rather than flats. 

 B Family sized homes are required locally. 
 B Housing should exceed minimum space standards.
 B The scale of the development was discussed, with 

questions asked regarding housing numbers and 
whether this might be less than 200. 

 B Inclusion of family homes with gardens 
 B Inclusion of starter homes 
 B Going beyond minimum standards for new homes 
 B Preference for premium housing types to complement 

the village. 
 B Preference for flats not to be included on the site. 
 B Need for new homes across the country and 

specifically in Cookham. 
 B Family homes. 
 B Homes for those downsizing. 
 B Starter homes for young professionals. 
 B Affordable homes that are truly affordable for those 

trying to buy their first home. 
 B Homes with adequate space for future residents to 

allow for various life events, including possible future 
restrictions as we experienced during Covid-19. 

 B The Parish Council requested confirmation that 
self-build houses should be provided in accordance 
with policy, and also requested further details of the 
dwelling mix.

 B Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Officers 
had various more detailed queries regarding the 
illustrative mix, and advised that this detail should be 
reserved for consideration at Planning Application 
stage.

The adopted Local Plan includes a ‘mix of housing 
recommended across the whole housing market 
area in the 2016 SHMA’  The Local Plan explains that 
developers will be expected to “have regard to the 
Borough-wide housing mix target set out in the 2016 
SHMA (and subsequent successors) as a starting point 
when bringing forward proposals for individual sites.”

Consequently, there is no expectation that individual 
sites correspond precisely with the mix set out in the 
SHMA 2016.  Bellway’s position is that housing mix 
should respond to a variety of considerations including 
the location and characteristics of the site, as well as the 
developer’s understanding of the market.

The Site Proforma for this site which is appended to the 
Local Plan states that the scheme should provide family 
housing with gardens.  Bellway do not consider that this 
statement means that the site should  only provide family 
sized housing as there are broader considerations to 
take into account, including the desire to create a mixed 
and balanced community.

Policy HO3 of the Local Plan relates to affordable 
housing and states that on greenfield sites providing 
up to 500 dwellings (gross), 40% of the total number 
dwellings should be provided as affordable housing.   It 
is expected that the affordable housing mix proposed at 
this site will be informed by feedback from the LPA and 
the Housing Officer.

In addition, 5% of the private dwellings will be provided 
as self-build, as required by policy HO2.

82



42design objectives:  layout

energy & sustainability

In respect of sustainability, following their declaration of 
a ‘Climate Emergency’, the Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead Council have a adopted an ‘Interim 
Sustainability Position Statement’ which introduces 
higher local standards for reducing carbon emissions, 
that go beyond the requirements of current Building 
Regulations. 

The ‘Interim Sustainability Position Statement’ sets out 
the following requirements:

B.  All developments (except householder residential 
extensions and non-residential development with 
a floorspace of below 100sq.m) should be net-
zero carbon unless it is demonstrated this would 
not be feasible. 

C.  All development proposals except householder 
residential extensions and non-residential 
development with a floorspace of below 100sq.m) 
should include a detailed energy assessment and 
a completed Carbon Reporting Spreadsheet to 
demonstrate how the net-zero target will be met. 

D.  As a minimum, energy assessments should 
include the following details: 

a.  calculation of the energy demand and 
carbon dioxide emissions covered by 
Building Regulations and, separately, 
the energy demand and carbon dioxide 
emissions from any other part of the 
development, including plant or equipment, 
that are not covered by the Building 
Regulations (see paragraph 5.22) at each 
stage of the energy hierarchy 

b.  calculation of the estimated annual energy 
costs to the occupants of the development 

c.  proposals to reduce carbon dioxide 
emissions through the energy efficient 
design of the site, buildings and services 
(including heat recovery solutions) 

d.  proposals to further reduce carbon dioxide 
emissions through the use of on-site 
renewable energy technologies. There 
is an expectation that developments 
maximise renewable energy generation 
regardless of whether minimum standards 
are met through other measures, as such 
there is an expectation 12% of the total 
energy demand will be met by on-site 
renewables, unless this is demonstrated to 
be unfeasible. 

e.  proposals for the storage and use or export 
of excess energy arising from renewable 
energy technologies. 

E.  The net-zero carbon outcome should be achieved 
on-site where feasible. Where it is demonstrated 
that this outcome cannot be fully achieved 
on-site, any shortfall may be provided through a 
cash in lieu contribution to the Boroughs Carbon 
Offset Fund which will be ring fenced to secure 
delivery of greenhouse gas reductions elsewhere 
in the borough. An offset contribution will be 
required unless it is demonstrated this would 
undermine the viability of the development. 

F.  It will be required that all developments will be 
subject to compliance testing in order to ensure 
that the buildings meet the design performance, 
when there is a shortfall in performance additional 
contributions towards the Borough Carbon Offset 
fund will be sought. 

 (Note - Buildings which do not achieve at least 
a 20% reduction of the Dwelling Emission Rate 
(DER)/Building Emission Rate (BER) against 
the Target Emission Rate (TER) based on the 
Building Regulations Part L 2013 and defined 
within the Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) 
calculation model will not be acceptable.) 

In relation to the above, the Council have set up a 
Carbon Offset Fund which will be ring-fenced for the 
sole purpose of delivering carbon reduction projects. 

The Council have adopted a price for the offsetting of 
carbon of £69 per tonne of CO2e which is the 2020 
carbon price set out within table 3 of the Department 
for Business, ‘Energy & Industrial Strategy Green Book 
supplementary guidance: valuation of energy use and 
greenhouse gas emissions for appraisal’. 

The overall contribution should be calculated over 
30 years (the assumed lifetime of the development’s 
services). The total cost equates to £69 x 30 years = 
£2,070 per tonne of CO2e to be offset. 

The level of contribution will be calculated differently for 
residential and non-residential properties. 

Contribution for Residential Properties
The contribution will be calculated as follows: 

Total Contribution 
= 

Building Emissions Contribution 
+ 

Lifestyle Contribution

The Building Emissions Contribution seeks to offset both 
the regulated and unregulated emissions which arise 
from the use of the building. 

The calculation will be based on SAP 10.0 performance 
figures and to ensure consistency in calculation the 
authority will adopt the Greater London Authority Carbon 
Reporting Spreadsheet to calculate the contribution. 
It is expected that applications be accompanied by a 
completed version of this spreadsheet. 

The Building Emissions Contribution will equal the CO2 
savings offset identified on the summary page of the 
spreadsheet x £69 x 30. 

The Lifestyle Contribution recognises that the activities 
of residents within the borough generate additional 
emissions over and above those associated with heating 
and electricity use. These emissions are generally 
related to Aviation, Agriculture, Transport and Waste. 

The Lifestyle Contribution = £ 1,144 per residential unit. 

Cannondown Road Proposals
In relation to the proposed development at Cannondown 
Road, future planning applications will be accompanied 
by a detailed Energy and Sustainability Statement that 
identify measures to reduce carbon emissions and 
provide sources of renewable energy, which will be 
incorporated into the development. If required, Carbon 
Offset Fund contributions will be calculated accordingly. 
Such measures will be secured by suitably worded 
Planning Conditions and S.106 Planning Obligations, 
as appropriate in order to ensure compliance with the 
Council’s policy requirements.

83



43design objectives:  layout

infrastructure delivery

The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
(RBWM) Local Plan (2013-2033) (2022) (BLP), is 
supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) to 
ensure that the growth and development proposals set 
out within the Local Plan are supported by necessary 
Infrastructure provision, in a timely and sustainable 
manner.

The IDP is a ‘living document’ subject to regular review 
and also an infrastructure planning tool, which can 
be used as a framework to guide decision making on 
infrastructure delivery, including the future allocation of 
funds from the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

The most recent full version of the IDP from 2019, and its 
partial update in 2021, both build upon the IDP that was 
first published by the Council in 2015, as evidence for 
the adoption of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), 
as well as work on the Local Plan.

The Council’s strategy for infrastructure planning is to 
optimise existing infrastructure direct developments to 
the most sustainable locations, reduce the need to travel 
and seek new infrastructure where required. It does not 
however seek to address existing deficiencies.

The IDP has been prepared on the basis of 14,260 new residential units being built within 
the plan period (2013-2033). 7,059 of these new homes are identified within the BLP, 
including Land at Cannondown Road, Cookham for 200 dwellings.

The IDP covers the following Infrastructure:

Such Infrastructure is funded through the following ways:

 B Community Infrastructure Levy (2016)

 B S.106 Planning Obligations

 B S.111 Agreements (SANG)

 B Government Funding

The IDP is based upon cross departmental and organisational working with relevant 
Council Departments, Infrastructure, Utility and Service providers and neighbouring 
Councils.

In relation to Land at Cannondown Road, where required the following Instructure will be 
provided for through CIL and S.106 Contributions associated with the detailed Planning 
Application. 15% of CIL receipts will be passed on to the Parish Council to spend of 
Cookham specific projects (25% if the Neighbourhood Plan is adopted)

On-Site Infrastructure
The development itself will deliver Affordable Housing and Public Open Space, including 
Play Facilities. In terms of hard utilities set out in Schedule D, Bellway will work with 
Utility providers to ensure sufficient electricity, gas (if used), telecommunication and 
broadband services are provided to serve the development.

Below is some commentary relating to key infrastructure highlighted during the 
stakeholder master plan process. Items not mentioned will most likely be funded by CIL 
payments, where the Council consider this required. 

Waste & Water Supply
Bellway Homes will work closely with Thames Water to ensure that sufficient capacity 
either exists within the existing sewage infrastructure or to provide upgrades to the 
network, where required. In the case that upgrades are required, it is usual practice that 
restrictions are placed either upon the number of dwellings that can be occupied, or the 
site not being able to connect to the network until such time as the required upgrades 
have been delivered. Surface water will be dealt with predominantly on site through 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS).

In terms of Water Supply, Thames Water have already confirmed that a suitable potable 
water supplies are available for this site. Water saving and efficient devices will however 
be incorporated into the design of the new properties in order to limit future consumption. 

84



44design objectives:  layout

Education 
The Local Authority is required to work with all types of state funded schools to meet its statutory duty (Education Act 
1996, Subsections 1 and 2) to ensure that there are sufficient school places to meet demand. To assess the likely future 
requirements for school places, the borough calculates the likely demand, based on:

Primary School
The Cannondown Road site will be served by additional capacity provided by a new primary school to be built on another 
nearby Housing Allocation known as AL25 – Spencer’s Farm, Maidenhead, which will safeguard a site of no less than 
2.8Ha to deliver of a primary school with up to 3 forms of entry.  However it is likely that the Cannondown Road site will 
have been occupied before this new primary school is developed.  Children living on the site will be able to apply for 
existing local schools and their eligibility determined through the Borough Council’s screening process. 

Secondary School
In 2020, a new teaching block was opened at Furze Platt Secondary School, to accommodate additional population 
generated by forecast Local Plan growth. Land at Cannondown Road, Cookham being one of the sites supported by the 
extension within the Educational Case (January 2017), submitted with Planning Application Ref – 17/02259/FULL.

Transport Capacity
The IDP, identifies that a Strategic Highway Model was used to provide an impact that 
growth anticipated through the BLP would have on the highway network. Further detailed 
modelling, which takes into account cumulative and forecasted developments within the 
local Area, as well as the development itself, will be undertaken as part of future planning 
applications, to access any local highway improvements such as upgraded junctions 
and roundabouts etc.

Notwithstanding car-based travel, the IDP seeks to encourage local sustainable 
transport networks that promote active travel on foot, bicycle and public transport, which 
the proposals at Cannondown Road, will look to support through sustainable transport 
initiatives and reasonable local enhancements of footway and cycle way infrastructure.

In addition to site specific matters, the Council and relevant stakeholders have, or are in 
the process of introducing wider measures with the aim of reducing the reliance on travel 
by private car. These include the Draft Cycling Action Plan, Network Rail Enhancements 
to provide a greater number of rail services from Cookham Station, Localised Footway 
and Cycleway Improvements and Public Transport Infrastructure Enhancements.

Health
The IDP recognises changes to the NHS structure and GP services with a drive towards 
delivering health services within increasingly community-based settings. The rationale 
behind this is that by adopting an integrated approach to health provision with the 
involvement of community and voluntary services (as well as a variety of health facilities 
in one setting) delivery of healthcare in communities will be more efficient and adopt a 
joined up, integrated approach to facilities planning and delivery.

The Cannondown Road site sits within the catchment of the Cookham Medical Centre, 
the Medical Centre has recently undergone modernisation of services in order to cope 
with increased demand and drive efficiencies and has links to St Marks Hospital and the 
wider Maidenhead Area, where weekend and GP services are available. 

The Medical Centre and Local Dental Surgeries, currently operate at a lower capacity 
than the Department of Health’s target patient list per full time GP/Dentists and are taking 
on new patients, so along with modernisation of services, the population of the future 
development at Land off Cannondown Road will be accommodated.

85



design objectives:  character 45

design objectives:  
character

86



street scenes & houses 
which reflect cookham

design objectives:  character 46

Advice received during the consultation process 
included:

 B New buildings to be good quality and 
sustainable. 

 B Importance of recognising and strengthening 
the character of Cookham 

 B The village feel Is important. 
 B Cookham is built with traditional, local red 

brick and tile. It would be important for the 
homes to fit in and look weathered in 10 
years. 

 B Keep sense of community and reflect the 
character of Cookham. 

 B Housing design including character cottages 
to be incorporated to be in keeping with the 
village feel. 

 B Local materials and local tradespeople could 
be used to help mirror local design and 
character. 

 B Reflect the character of the attractive homes 
along the high street. 

 B The Parish Council advised that the Cookham 
Village Design Statement should also strongly 
influence the character for the proposed 
dwellings.

 B The Parish Council also advised that the live 
Planning Application should be updated, and 
should not be used as precedent.

 B The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead 
advised that the architectural character 
and materials should be considered at the 
Planning Application stage, and the illustrative 
proposals previously included should be 
removed from the document.

The following pages illustrate our preliminary design 
proposals for the street scenes and the architectural 
language for the new homes.  These have been 
prepared in the light of our analysis of the streets 
and buildings within the village which we have found 
particularly inspiring, and also which we have been 
made aware of by the stakeholders.  This analysis is 
summarised in the appendix to this document.

The advice within the Cookham Village Design 
Statement is also a key consideration for the proposed 
architecture.

   
  Cookham 

Village Design Statement 

     Supplementary Planning Document 

   May 2013 

   Joint Sponsors: The Cookham Parish Council and The Cookham Society 

i

The detailed design and architecture will be dealt with 
through the Planning Application process.

87



47

Moving forward, to work towards delivery of the 
proposed residential Development at Land west of 
Cannondown Road, Cookham, and the deliver the 
requirements of Local Plan Policy AL37, detailed 
Planning Applications will be prepared and submitted 
to the Planning Department at the Royal Borough of 
Windsor and Maidenhead Council, whom serve as the 
Local Planning Authority, for detailed assessment and 
consideration by the public and statutory consultees 
and stakeholders.

The Planning Applications will seek to achieve the 
vision for the site, and  be based upon the details set 
out within this Stakeholder Master Plan Document. 
The Applications will also supported by detailed 
technical reports and assessments, as required by 
the requirements of the Council’s Planning Validation 
Checklists, including matters such as highways, 
drainage and noise, with the details of the housing and 
landscaping demonstrated through relevant drawings 
and a Design and Access Statement.

As part of the Planning Application process, 
Infrastructure requirements will be secured by a S.106 
Legal Agreement or by the Community Infrastructure 
Levy, as appropriate.

Upon the grant of Planning Permission and the 
discharge of any associated Planning Conditions, which 
might be imposed, development on site will commence 
shortly after. It is anticipated that from start to finish that 
the development will take circa 3 years to complete.

A memorable
character

~
A network of public 

green spaces
~

Making the most of the 
site’s unique features

Reflecting
local identity

~
Direct, safe routes 

& connections
~

Biodiversity
enhancements

next steps

88



48seeking a shared vision

appendices

1.  The Inspiring Character of Cookham Village 49

2.  Stakeholder Presentations & Responses [provided in a separate volume]

89



It has been fascinating and inspiring to explore Cookham and to discover more about its history.  
There are many inspiring streets, natural landscaped areas and buildings, both historic and 
modern, which the Cannondown Road proposals could make reference to as part of the evolving 
design - we are seeking to create a development which has a distinctive character which is still 
recognisably “of Cookham”.

The images overleaf illustrate some of the areas which we have found particularly inspirational.  

We invited the stakeholders to “let us know about “your own Cookham” - the buildings, streets 
and environments you find most beautiful and most characterful - and, most importantly, most 
representative of Cookham village”.

49appendices

the inspiring character 
of cookham village

90



50appendices

The Inspiration:  a sensitive backdrop to the open 
space and a low-key entrance into Cookham village.
Townscape Form:  A regular run of semi-detached houses - the fairly 
wide spaces between the buildings and their hipped roofs impart 
quite an open feel, with views between and over the houses of the 
trees and the landscaping beyond.  Angled buildings “turning the 
corner” are effective.

Design & Materials:  Typical of their era, with no strong architectural 
language, but providing good internal accommodation.  Cemetery 
Lodge is a characterful standalone building with arts-and-crafts 
detailing including stone window surrounds and corbels.

Landscape & Open Space:  These houses are your first view of 
Cookham as you travel from Maidenhead and are seen from some 
distance away as a backdrop to the field, separated by some 
piecemeal hedges and trees.

Design Conclusions:  As a “gateway” and a first experience of the 
character of Cookham for visitors to the village, these building forms, 
their hipped roofs and their spacing suggest a gentle transition 
from country to built-up area.  The application site similarly would 
be a first experience of Cookham on the western side of the road, 
further within the built-up area, and consideration should be given, in 
discussions with the Stakeholder groups, as to what characteristics 
of Cookham should be represented, particularly at the front of the 
site.  

The splayed corner buildings and the architectural language of the 
Lodge represent some attractive, functional design elements for 
consideration.

Long Lane

91



51appendices

The Inspiration:  attractive historic terraced 
cottages with brickwork detailing, and a group 
of semis with prominent regular front gables.
Townscape Form:  The fairly busy main road into the village from the 
west, including some consistent terraces of Victorian-era cottages 
with a strong linear build line, as well as some larger semi-detached 
dwellings further down which are set at a slight angle to the road.

Design & Materials:  The yellow/brown brick to the cottages is offset 
by red brick detailing around the doors and windows and along a 
linear dentil course.  This strong linear feel is counterbalanced by 
the prominent repeated front gables and the staggered alignment of 
the semi-detached dwellings, changing the feel of the street as you 
travel along it.

Landscape & Open Space:  Some front hedges, a pocket of mature 
trees.

Design Conclusions:  The terraced cottages and their brick detailing 
are a lovely feature of this domestic part of the village and a good 
design precedent for the proposed homes.  The more pronounced 
character created by the rhythm of large gables and the staggered 
build line is a more conspicuous pattern which might be utilised to 
signal significant locations within the site, for example key junctions 
or spaces.

Lower Road

92



52appendices

The Inspiration:  a prominent “civic” building with a 
distinctive knapped flint finish and red brick detailing.
Townscape Form:  The station sits by itself alongside the local shops 
and parking areas, and has no “back” per se - both front and rear 
are similarly detailed and attractive.  As a civic building it has been 
designed to stand out from its surroundings, as well as being a 
welcoming entrance to Cookham and giving a flavour of the village’s 
history and architecture to visitors alighting - it appears that generic 
corporate rail signage and interference to the building have been 
resisted, to the benefit of its character.

Design & Materials:  The most prominent element is the knapped 
flint which finishes the building, encased by strongly contrasting 
red brickwork quoins and window surrounds.  The windows 
themselves, together with the single storey splay bays, are a little 
larger than domestic scale, giving a sense that the interior would be 
a welcoming public space.  In keeping with its functional sue, the 
building is quite narrow and linear with a 2-storey “bookend”.

Design Conclusions:  Although true flint is not a successful material 
in today’s building practice, the very characteful silver/grey and red 
colour palette could be responded to by the proposed development, 
for example through the choice of a silver/grey facing brick together 
with red quoins and detailing - perhaps to make a particular building 
or street stand out from its neighbours.

Cookham Station

93



53appendices

The Inspiration:  a more intimate street where 
pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles share the 
space.  More prominent buildings in render with 
front gables at the entrance to the street.
Townscape Form:  In contrast to the previous examples, this street is 
narrower, with no through traffic, and an environment through which 
pedestrians make their way along the shared surface where vehicle 
speeds are low.  The houses are quite mixed in character, age and 
design - some terraces have more regularity, some neighbours are 
very dissimilar.

Design & Materials:  Some similar to the Lower Road terraces; 
some similar to these but in red brick; some rendered semis; some 
detached with a gable; some rendered, including the pair of gabled 
townhouses on Station Hill which mark the entrance to Station Road.  
Splay bays are common.

Landscape & Open Space:  Some limited front garden planting, but 
mostly tarmac - although this street space could also be used for 
socialising.

Design Conclusions:  Streets which have limited through traffic and 
low vehicle speeds can be designed around the pedestrian - this is 
a very useful approach to creating pockets of a more intimate feel 
within the layout, to allow spaces within the streets for trees and for 
landscaping, to reduce the amount of hardstanding, and to promote 
the informal use of the streets for socialising and play.  

The idea of concentrating splay bay windows, or any particular 
architectural feature, into the character or one part of the site or 
street, is also an approach which could be successfully followed by 
the proposals, and bay windows also provide good surveillance of 
shared spaces.

Station Road

94



54appendices

The Inspiration:  a sensitive contemporary building 
in a historic setting.  Unique use of timber detailing.
Townscape Form:  Historic standalone farmhouse alongside Odney 
Common with an extraordinary contemporary extension.

Design & Materials:  A very successful blend of traditional materials 
and craftsmanship, with contemporary building forms and design.  
The triple gable, with shadows cast by its its deep fascia, is very 
striking, and emphasized by the half-width asymmetrical louvred 
windows and paisley fabric/wallpaper carving.

Landscape & Open Space:  Some feature planting within the 
courtyard, and the extended building lies within the natural 
environment of the Common - although, it is a great shame that the 
modern extension “turns its back” on the Common, with no windows 
to enjoy the greenspace, or to provide the footpath with some 
surveillance.

Design Conclusions:  This is a rare example of contemporary design 
for Cookham, but demonstrates that, if designed with care and with 
traditional materials, contemporary design can be very successful 
- even playful.  The building however also highlights the importance 
of being neighbourly to its surroundings - by fronting on to the public 
realm, not creating a blank wall.

John Lewis Heritage Centre

95



55appendices

The Inspiration:  a beautiful 19th Century 
manor house complex with arts-and-crafts 
detailing and intricate roofscape.
Townscape Form:  A prominent standalone location on the moor, 
which the buildings overlook with windows and balconies.  The 
entrance to the complex complements the historic buildings with a 
splayed building form which leads the visitor towards the gateway 
and the main reception.

Design & Materials:  Although a Georgian building (circa 1805), 
the architecture of the Hall is resonant of an earlier era - more 
“Tudor” in character, with its prominent overhanging gables with 
black timbering and render, ornate chimney stacks,  tile hanging 
and bay windows.  The large window openings however betray the 
building’s era to a later date.  The large main roofs are hipped and 
symmetrical, but the piecemeal historic outbuildings have a pleasing 
jumble of smaller roofs alongside.  The late 20th century additions 
however - unattractive and unsympathetic.

Landscape & Open Space:  The mature landscaping and large trees 
which surround the complex reinforce its distinctness from its more 
domestic surroundings, as well as softening the view from the moor, 
and the entrance road has an avenure of mature trees to one side.  
The greenspace in the centre of the development is simply grassed 
with a couple of small planting beds.

Design Conclusions:  These buildings stand out from their 
surroundings because the historic elements are architecturally 
highly distinctive, and because their prominent location overlooking 
the moor makes them very recognisable.  The occupants are also a 
well-known local employer.  

Opportunities for the proposed development to incorporate some 
design resonance with these buildings is more limited however - 
their importance to Cookham is related to their distinctness from 
their domestic residential setting and their prominent location.  Some 
of the “tools” the complex uses could be considered however - for 
example the splay buildings addressing the entrance road, and the 
regular incorporation of gables and various roof forms, to denote key 
locations and to add interest to the skyline.

Moor Hall

96



56appendices

The Inspiration:  the historic core of Cookham 
village - a very mixed, organic street scene with 
various types of traditional architecture in evidence.  
Prominent “vista building” at the end of the street.
Townscape Form:  A highly attractive, characterful, linear high street, 
which is fairly narrow with an enclosed feel, with a strong linear build 
line.  The buildings themselves however are very mixed - their ages 
range from 18th century to late 20th century, heights range from 1 to 
3 storeys.  Although mainly shops, pubs and restaurants, the street 
also has several houses as part of its makeup.  At the eastern head 
of the road lies a distinctive prominent symmetrical  Georgian-era 
dwelling.

Design & Materials:  Very mixed:  brick in red, yellow/brown or 
white painted; various applied materials including flint and render; 
some Tudor-style black timbering.  Roofs are long and linear, or 
hipped, or narrow and gabled.  Windows are small and multi-paned, 
or casements, or large sashes.  Brick detailing is contrasting and 
prominent, or minimal and indiscernible.

Landscape & Open Space:  Most buildings are set alongside the 
footway with minimal space for landscaping, which tends to be in 
planters and hanging baskets.  There are pockets of greenspace 
however, particularly one garden with a tree’d frontage neighbouring 
the garage, which creates an attractive visual relief from the strong 
built frontages.

Design Conclusions:  If any one street could be said to encapsulate 
Cookham, it is this historic high street.  Its overarching character is 
its variety in almost all aspects - to the visitor, its eclectic buildings 
continuously open up new views and design features to catch the 
eye as you walk along the length of the street - and all the way 
from ground level up to roofscape.  With streets which show such 
distinctiveness, care should be taken, when considering new 
proposals, whether to mirror the design approach and thereby 
make this distinctiveness more commonplace, or to recognise its 
uniqueness and seek to incorporate local resonance through a 
different approach.

High Street

97



57appendices

Whyteladyes Lane & Broom Hill Westwood Green

Design Conclusions:  Following residents’ advice, a substantial 
landscaped screen along the Cannondown Road frontage will be 
proposed, providing a sensitive and soft transition for the approach 
into Cookham from Maidenhead.

Design Conclusions: The characterisation of a cohesive smaller 
neighbourhood within the larger village, set around a shared greenspace, 
is carried forward as one defining principle for the proposed Cannondown 
Road development.  Grass verges also contribute to this character and 
soften the streetscape.The Inspiration: a wide landscape buffer 

which screens the Broom Hill development 
from view and maintains a ‘green corridor’ 
character along Whyteladyes Lane.
Following the 3rd stakeholder workshop, residents guided us 
towards this part of Whyteladyes Lane and Broom Hill for inspiration 
for the Cannondown Road frontage treatment.

Townscape Form:  This part of Whyteladyes Lane has dwellings 
along the western side, often set behind hedged frontages, and a 
large hedgerow screen on the other; which create a distinct ‘green 
corridor’ character to this part of the street. The Whyteladyes Lane 
houses are quite uniform in character – predominantly long linear 
rows of 2-storey terraced housing broken up by 1½-storey elements; 
becoming more semi-detached with the occasional detached 
property as you venture northwards.  Broom Hill is a generic 1960s 
estate and appears well-kept and maintained.

Landscape & Open Space:  The circa 6-13m deep landscaped area 
comprises a substantial hedgerow, mature trees and mown grass 
that screens the Broom Hill estate from Whyteladyes Lane. 

The Inspiration: a ‘village green’ which defines 
one small neighbourhood within the wider 
village, enjoyed by surrounding houses. 
Townscape Form:  A attractive, characterful, curved street, which is 
fairly narrow, with a strong curved build line fronting the open space.  
The buildings themselves are 2 storeys in height and fairly uniform in 
character, built between approximately in the 1960s and 70s, giving 
some cohesiveness to the townscape.

Design & Materials:  Red brick, with some white render; some with 
gables.  Roofs are proximately long and linear, with some hipped 
ends.  

Landscape & Open Space:  large public open space, separated 
by the segregated pedestrian footpath, grass verge and low-speed 
carriageway. Visitor parking spaces also lie alongside the open 
space.

98



NORTH

SHANLY HOMES

Scale.

DRAWING  No.Strande Park, Cookham, SL6 9DW

DetailDateRev.
Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn
Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

PLANNING  ISSUEAscot Design Ltd,
Berkshire House

 39-51 High Street,
 Ascot,

 Berkshire,
 SL5 7HY

Tel: 01344 299330
 Fax: 01344 299331

Email: info@ascotdesign .com

PROPOSED
SITE LAYOUT COLOURED

1:500 @A3 27.01.22

21-J3918-100.1 -

58appendices

Payton Gardens

Design Conclusions:  Although these houses are overlaid with plenty of 
architectural features, materials, detailing and ornamentation, very few 
of these elements are recognisably related to those in evidence within 
Cookham; the yellow brick is not a local material, the fascias appear over-
fussy and the rendered square flat-roofed bays are not a Cookham feature.  

In this sequestered location the design does not have a bearing on the 
wider character of Cookham, and an exclusive character may have 
been considered appropriate.  However the Cannondown Road site is 
much more prominent and should seek to embody some key elements of 
Cookham in its design - it will be one of the first impressions of Cookham 
from the south.

 Land East of Strande Park

The Inspiration: looking at how another 
architect on an emerging development is 
responding to the village context.
A proposal for an ‘outline application for access, appearance, 
layout and scale only to be considered at this stage with all other 
matters to be reserved for the construction of x25 dwellings with 
associated vehicular and pedestrian access, car parking, drainage 
works and open space’ was validated on the 9th February 2022. 
 
Townscape Form:  A collection of terraced, semi-detached and 
detached dwellings in an edge-of-settlement location along the 
eastern side of the mobile home park. 

Design & Materials:  This emerging development appears to 
showcase a generic materials palette - some of the materials 
and forms appear to be drawn from other locations, such as the 
scalloped fascia boards and green/grey weatherboarding. Detailing 
and form such as snapped brick headers, brick footers, brick 
banding and barge boards do however make reference to the more 
historic dwellings within Cookham. 

Landscape & Open Space: There is limited soft landscaping shown 
on the layout - the streets are predominantly hard landscaped, 
particularly through the central spine of the site. 

The Inspiration: looking at how another 
architect on a recent development has 
responded to the village context.
Townscape Form:  A collection of four terraced rows of 2 and 2 and 
a half storeys tall tucked away at the end of Gorse Road. 

Design & Materials:  This recent development uses a very 
traditional, ornamented vernacular, with layers of materials and 
detailing with yellow and red brick, white render, red and grey 
tiling; and contrasting banding, decorated fascias and stone cills.  
Loftspace dormers are also present.

Landscape & Open Space: There is limited landscaping within the quite 
compact street scene, contained to a small plot in front of the dwellings.

Design Conclusions:  Due to the nature and size of Strande Park, 
the design approach taken could be argued to be suitable in that 
context, however given the relatively greater prominence of the site 
off Cannondown Road, it is considered that more considered local 
characterisation is appropriate, drawing upon the unique qualities of 
Cookham, which the Bellway team is striving to achieve.

5 m0 1 2 3 4 10 15 20

Scale 1:200

PLOT 1 PLOT 2 PLOT 21 PLOT 22 PLOT 23 PLOT 24 PLOT 25

PROPOSED STREET SCENE A-A (1:200)

PLOT 2 PLOT 3 PLOT 4 PLOT 5 PLOT 6

PROPOSED STREET SCENE B-B (1:200)

PLOT 11

PLOT 21

P.O.S
420m²

PLOT 18

5500

4800

P21

P20

P22 P22P23 P23P25 P25 P24 P24

P19

P19

P18

P18

P17

P17

P16

P16

P15P15

P14P14

P13P13

P12P12

P11
P11

P11

P10

P10

P9

P9

P8

P8

P7

P7

P8

P7

P6

P6

P1

P1

P2

P2

P3

P4

P5

P6

BCP
BCP BCP

BCP

BCP

BCP

B
C

P
B

C
P

B
C

P
B

C
P

B
C

P
B

C
P

B
C

P
B

C
P

B
C

P

BCP

B
C

P

B
C

P

B
C

P
B

C
P

B
C

P

B
C

P

B
C

P

B
C

P

BCP

PUMPING STATION

8x12m

PLOT 20

PLOT 6

2m
 F

O
O

TP
A

TH

4.
8M

 A
C

C
E

S
S

 R
O

A
D

PLOT 19

parking court

10m ECOLOGY
BUFFER

5m
 E

C
O

LO
G

Y
 B

U
FF

E
R

B A S S   M E A D

S T R A N D E   L A N E

S T R
 A N

 D
 E   P

 A R
 K

PLOT 25 PLOT 24 PLOT 23 PLOT 22

PLOT 2 PLOT 1

PLOT 3

PLOT 4

PLOT 5

PLOT 7

PLOT 8

PLOT 9PLOT 10

PLOT 12

PLOT 13

PLOT 14

PLOT 15

PLOT 16

PLOT 17

NEW 2m FOOTPATH

B
C

P

P5

P4

P3

B

B

AA

C

C

D D

SHANLY HOMES

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

STRANDE PARK,
COOKHAM, SL6 9DW

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

PLANNING ISSUE

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

PROPOSED
STREET SCENES A-A & B-B

1:200 - A1 JAN 22 NPM

21-J3918 - 135 -

PLOT 7 PLOT 8 PLOT 9 PLOT 10

PROPOSED STREET SCENE D-D (1:200)

PLOT 11 PLOT 12 PLOT 13 PLOT 14 PLOT 15 PLOT 16 PLOT 17 PLOT 18 PLOT 19 PLOT 20 PLOT 21

PROPOSED STREET SCENE C-C (1:200)

ACCESS ROAD BASS MEAD ROAD

5 m0 1 2 3 4 10 15 20

Scale 1:200

PLOT 11

PLOT 21

P.O.S
420m²

PLOT 18

5500

4800

P21

P20

P22 P22P23 P23P25 P25 P24 P24

P19

P19

P18

P18

P17

P17

P16

P16

P15P15

P14P14

P13P13

P12P12

P11
P11

P11

P10

P10

P9

P9

P8

P8

P7

P7

P8

P7

P6

P6

P1

P1

P2

P2

P3

P4

P5

P6

BCP
BCP BCP

BCP

BCP

BCP

B
C

P
B

C
P

B
C

P
B

C
P

B
C

P
B

C
P

B
C

P
B

C
P

B
C

P

BCP

B
C

P

B
C

P

B
C

P
B

C
P

B
C

P

B
C

P

B
C

P

B
C

P

BCP

PUMPING STATION

8x12m

PLOT 20

PLOT 6

2m
 F

O
O

TP
A

TH

4.
8M

 A
C

C
E

S
S

 R
O

A
D

PLOT 19

parking court

10m ECOLOGY
BUFFER

5m
 E

C
O

LO
G

Y
 B

U
FF

E
R

B A S S   M E A D

S T R A N D E   L A N E

S T R
 A N

 D
 E   P

 A R
 K

PLOT 25 PLOT 24 PLOT 23 PLOT 22

PLOT 2 PLOT 1

PLOT 3

PLOT 4

PLOT 5

PLOT 7

PLOT 8

PLOT 9PLOT 10

PLOT 12

PLOT 13

PLOT 14

PLOT 15

PLOT 16

PLOT 17

NEW 2m FOOTPATH

B
C

P

P5

P4

P3

B

B

AA

C

C

D D

SHANLY HOMES

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

STRANDE PARK,
COOKHAM, SL6 9DW

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

PLANNING ISSUE

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

PROPOSED
SITE SECTION C-C & D-D

1:200 - A1 JAN 22 NPM

21-J3918 - 136 -

99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



g

cannondown road

Stakeholder Masterplan Document Appendix: 
Stakeholder Presentations & Responses

February 2023

062106-BEL-TV-SMD-App [21.02.23]

Cookham

Land West of

101



Working Group Session 1 Presentation 
March 2022

1appendices

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham 

Working Group Session 1 - March 2022

Agenda

• Welcome

• Introduction from RBWM

• About the working group

• The allocation – Breakout session 1

• About the site – Breakout session 2

• Session summary and next steps

About the working group

Terms of 
Reference

Making it work

Purpose

Housing

• Approx. 200 homes 

• Family housing with 
gardens

• High quality design which 
responds positively and 
sensitively to the character 
(including height) of the 
surrounding areas

• 40% affordable housing

• 5% of units for custom and 
self-build opportunities

AL37 allocation summary

Environment

• High quality green and blue 
infrastructure network 
across the site that is highly 
connected to the 
surrounding area and 
capable of supporting 
enhanced biodiversity, 
recreation, food production 
and leisure functions

• Have appropriate edge 
treatment and transition to 
the countryside whilst
minimising the impact on 
long-distance views from 
the south west, south, and 
south east.

• Sewer systems including 
treatment works reinforced 
prior to the occupation and 
use of the housing

Connections

• Connect to the Public 
Rights of Way network

• Pedestrian and cycle links 
through the site to improve 
connectivity

• Well-served by public bus 
routes / demand 
responsive transport / other 
innovative public transport 
solutions, with appropriate 
provision for new bus stop 
infrastructure, therefore 
making the bus an 
attractive alternative to the 
private car for local 
journeys, including to 
nearby GP surgeries and 
leisure facilities

Assessments

• Undertake a minerals 
assessment

• Appropriate mitigation 
measures to address the 
impacts of noise and air 
pollution to protect 
residential amenity

• Address potential risks to 
groundwater

• Considers flood risk 

• Demonstrates the 
sustainable management of 
surface water runoff 
through the use of SuDS in 
line with policy and best 
practice; any proposed 
surface water discharge 
must be limited to 
greenfield runoff rates

Breakout session 1

• We understand the aspirations of the 
allocation and need to assess the site to 
determine how this can be realised 

• Question - Using your local knowledge, 
do you have any initial thoughts or 
comments we need to consider from the 
outset? 

• Aim - Understanding and gaining local 
feedback and experiences in regards to 
the existing conditions

102



2appendices

Breakout session 2

• We have set out the site’s technical 
considerations and want to gain inputs from 
group members on the site’s constraints and 
opportunities, and how this feeds into the 
next session

• Questions - Do you have any questions or 
comments about the site assessments? Is 
there anything else we should be aware of or 
evaluate?

• Aim - Understanding if there are any missing 
gaps or anything that requires further 
consideration 

Session summary 

Summary of the session and key takeaways

What happens next? Making it work 
What did we like and what didn’t we like? 

• Time of day 
• Day of the week
• Online or in person

Thank you 

Working Group Session 1 - March 2022

Site 

ED ADD DETAIL IF WE HAVE IT 

The site

103



Working Group Session 1 Meeting Note 
March 2022

3appendices

 

Meeting Note 

Cannondown Road Working Group Session One  

3 March 2022 

Attendees  
Project team  

 Rob O’Carroll (Bellway) 
 Andrea Kellegher (Turley Strategic Communications)  
 Emily Bell (Turley Strategic Communications) 
 David Murray-Cox (Turley Planning) 
 Kenji Holdsworth (dha architecture)  
 Steve Mitchell (dha architecture) 
 Andrew Braun (Ardent) 

Working group members  
 RBWM officer representative, Ian 

Motuel  
 RBWM officer representative, Garry 

Thornton  
 Cabinet Member for Planning, 

Environmental Services and 
Maidenhead, Councillor David 
Coppinger  

 RBWM Councillor Mandy Brar – Cllr Brar 
declared that she sits on planning 
committee 

 Cookham Parish Councillor Mark 
Howard  

 Cookham Parish Councillor Eileen Bune  

 Cookham Parish Councillor Bill Perry  
 Jonathon Clement  
 Louise van Haarst  
 Adam Williams  
 Holly Milburn  
 Barry Weare  
 Paul Strzelecki  
 Allan McGregor  
 Lesley Austin  
 Jon Herbert  
 William Hepworth  
 Christine Doyle 
 Nic Dawkes

 

Welcome  

1. Andrea Kellegher (AK) provided a welcome to the session, a roll call of attendees and ran through 
the agenda for the session. Rob O’Carroll (RO) provided an introduction to Bellway.  

Introduction from RBWM 

2. Ian Motuel (IM) provide an introduction to the Stakeholder Masterplan Document process and 
thinking behind it in general from RBWM, and detail on the Local Plan process. 

About the working group  

3. AK set out the purpose of the working group and why the group has been set up – referring to 
the Terms of Reference (ToR). AK also ran a poll to agree the ToR which asked attended to 

  

2 

virtually vote for one of the following – Yes, No, I have a comment. 13 people responded (9 Yes, 2 
No, 1 comment).  
 

4. Questions were asked by the group at this point as summarised below.  

• Concerns were raised that there had not been enough engagement on the Local Plan and 
site allocation. 

• Questions regarding what was included in the ToR were raised. It was noted that this had 
been circulated ahead of the session and was available to review and comment on 
following the working group meeting had attendees not read it in detail. 

• It was queried whether the ToR included details on the legal process should the Local Plan 
be challenged during the Judicial Review period. Noting that should the Plan / site be 
successfully challenged and not delivered that the working group works will be abortive.  

5. AK noted that the project team are constantly seeking to improve and that there will be 
questions at the end on how to improve the next working group session. 

About Cookham - Breakout Session One  

6. David Murray-Cox (DMC) set out the different aspects of the site allocation policy wording. 

7. AK set a task for the group to gain an understanding and local feedback about Cookham as a 
wider area. The working group was spilt into 3 and moved into breakout rooms to discuss the 
following question:  
 
Using your local knowledge, do you have any initial thoughts or comments we need to consider 
from the outset?  
 

8. A summary of the themes raised are outlined by theme below. 

Site location  
9. It was noted that the site was a gateway into Cookham and it was important for the development 

to be inviting. 

Environment  
10. The environmental impacts of the development were questioned including possible impacts on 

any existing habitats on site. 

11. Proposed green and blue infrastructure was noted as being important to any future development 
– with the need to retain hedges to the east and a natural boundary to the west to give a 
countryside edge to the development.  

Sustainability 
12. It was noted that the local community would like to see an environmental and economic 

sustainable build including a heat pump network and Passivhaus criteria, and providing above 
minimum space standards. 

  

3 

Drainage  
13. It was noted that there are existing drainage issues on Whyteladyes Lane and under Cannondown 

Bridge.  

Highways 
14. There were concerns that the traffic modelling that had been undertaken to inform the Local 

Plan may be flawed.  

15. Paul Strzelecki (PS) confirmed that he would share his findings with the project team for their 
awareness.  

16. Specific areas of concern included Whyteladyes Lane, where pavements were not wide enough 
for a double buggy, and Cannondown Road which it was noted could not be widened as it was a 
historic roadway.   

17. It was noted that there are bridge impacts from surrounding Cookham developments, which add 
to existing congestion.  

18. It was noted that there was ongoing consultation on highways improvements locally which could 
impact on traffic. This includes the narrowing of the single lane carriageway under Cannondown 
Bridge to provide a widened footway and new crossing. 

19. It was noted that there are a series of one-way routes in the vicinity, including the railway 
bridges. 

20. There was a question as to how children would get to school, especially given the expectation (in 
the Local Plan allocation) for family housing. 

21. Concerns were raised in relation to the impact of construction traffic. 

22. It was felt that traffic needs to be assessed along with all the other developments planned for the 
local area at Bourne End and Spencers’ Lane. 

Pedestrian connectivity  
23. The safety of pedestrian travel was highlighted, specifically on Whyteladyes Lane.  

24. Pedestrian access via Arthur Close was discussed, and also via Lesters Road (connecting the site 
via the existing public footpath).  

Public transport  
25. It was noted that public transport was limited in Cookham including both bus routes and train 

travel.  

Services and facilities  
26. The capacity of schools, doctor’s surgeries and local services were questioned, with local 

residents noting that there is limited capacity for school places / doctor’s appointments currently.  

Housing need 
27. It was noted that the affordable housing in Cookham was predominantly maisonettes and there 

was a preference for this to carry through into the design rather than flats.  

  

4 

28. A comment was made that ‘affordable housing’ may not be affordable to those in the area. 

29. It was also noted that family sized homes are required locally. 

30. It was felt that housing should exceed minimum space standards. 

31. It was asked how the affordable housing would be spilt.  

Open spaces 
32. It was highlighted that ease of access to green open spaces beyond the site for existing residents 

was important. 

33. It was suggested to provide public open space at the western end of the site to provide a 
transition into the countryside. 

Character  
34. It was felt that Cookham is a village and the character needs to remain as a village with 

separation between Cookham and Maidenhead key to this.  

35. Comments were made that the scheme should ‘integrate’ into the existing settlement. 

36. A comment was made that the scheme should be built as a series of smaller clusters, rather than 
one large development. 

Cookham’s history  
37. It was questioned how well Bellway Homes knew Cookham and its history. Following this, it was 

noted that residents were proud of the area and the community.  

38. There was a recommendation to view the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
Examination Hearing recording on YouTube from 6 October 20201, from 50.41 minutes, where 
the history and character of Cookham is summarised.  

Noise/Air Quality 
39. There was a discussion regarding the adjacent industrial units and complaints about noise, and 

how this would influence the design. One participant noted that development should be away 
from the industrial units but not pushed up against the existing dwellings. 

Local policy documents  
40. It was noted that there is a village design statement for Cookham which will provide a guide for 

the new development. This was prepared by a working group of residents with the sponsorship 
of Cookham Parish Council and the Cookham Society. 

41. In addition, the parish are in the process of creating a Neighbourhood Plan (NP) and have 
undertaken two rounds of public consultation to date. It was requested that the NP findings is 
taken into consideration. A masterplan for this particular site has already been produced as part 
of this work. 

                                                           
1 www.youtube.com/watch?v=JFiSvgKLMqA 

104



4appendices

  

5 

About the Site - Breakout Session Two 

42. Kenji Holdsworth (KH) talked the group through the site’s technical constraints and 
opportunities. 

43. AK set a task for the group to gain an understanding if there is any missing gaps or anything that 
requires further consideration as part of the site’s assessment. The working group was spilt into 3 
and moved into breakout rooms to discuss the following questions:  

Do you have any questions or comments about the site assessments? Is there anything else we 
should be aware of? 

44. A summary of the themes raised are outlined by theme below. 

Assessments  
45. It was questioned what level of detail had been provided by the technical assessments 

undertaken to date. The project team confirmed that they were at an early stage in the process 
and the outcome of the initial assessments and site visits were shown on the constraints and 
opportunities plan (displayed ahead of breakout session 2). It was confirmed that detailed 
technical assessments would be undertaken to feed into the process in the coming months.  

46. It was questioned whether the council have carried out any assessments and if an air quality 
assessment for Cookham was carried our during the Local Plan process. It was confirmed that 
existing reports are available on the council’s website under the examination documents section 
to view.  

47. Attendees were grateful for the early engagement, however felt that there was not much 
information to comment on at this stage.  

Open spaces  
48. There was a preference for green open spaces to be included between the new and existing 

homes rather than near the farm. 

49. There was encouragement to include play spaces which are suitable for children of all ages and 
that spaces should support social interaction. 

50. There was also support for a ‘joined up’ approach between this allocation and others at 
Cookham. 

Highways 
51. Questions were asked in regards to the highways assessments and modelling that would be 

undertaken and whether this would include vehicular movements associated with proposed and 
consented development in the area. 

52. The point of access was discussed, with questions regarding whether this was fixed at this stage. 

53. Concerns were raised regarding the safety of vehicular access on the bend on Whyteladyes Lane.  

54. The possible impacts on the existing congestion caused at school pick up and drop off times was 
discussed, with a focus on those travelling to and from (and past) Furze Platt School. 

  

6 

55. It was asked how many homes would be generated by the development – noting a rise in traffic 
movements from other developments in the surrounding area.  

56. It was questioned how traffic coming to the development would be managed.  

57. It was noted that there had been a fatality and, as a result, many parents choose to drive their 
children to school. 

58. Pedestrian links / crossing at Whyteladyes Lane was suggested, noting this forms part of the 
route from the site to the green space and school to the north. 

59. It was noted that local residents use Long Lane and there is sometimes issues with passing points. 
It was questioned whether this would be considered in wider transport assessments.  

60. Consideration to utilising Long Lane for the site access was encouraged. 

61. Concerns were raised over traffic associated with the consented sports pitches on land west of 
Lower Mount Farm, and the recent changes to permitted hours of use (and corresponding 
potential for peak hour traffic increases). 

Drainage  
62. Concerns were raised regarding water run off on the site and whether this would travel downhill 

and cause flooding off site. 

63. It was questioned whether the community would be able to access the open spaces on site if 
these were concentrated around the proposed drainage / ponds or whether these would become 
boggy. 

64. It was noted that a planning application for 83 homes behind Whyteladyes Lane was objected to 
by Thames Water on drainage grounds.  

65. It was questioned where the drainage under Cannondown bridge and Whyteladyes Lane would 
be linked. 

Environment  
66. It was questioned what ecology and environmental assessments would be undertaken. It was 

suggested that a year round ecological survey will be required.  

67. The importance of retaining the existing tree line, and as many trees as possible in general, on 
site was highlighted.  

68. It was recommended to meet with Save Cookham and Wild Cookham to gain further 
understanding of the site’s environment. 

Scale  
69. The scale of the development was discussed, with questions asked in regards to housing numbers 

and whether this might be less than 200.  

70. There were concerns around the wording of the Local Plan site allocation for ‘approximately 200 
dwellings’ and whether this could lead to an excess of 200 on the site. 

  

7 

71. The density of the homes was discussed, with a preference for a density that complements 
existing properties in Cookham.  

Character 
72. The importance of complementing the character of Cookham through the development was 

highlighted.  

73. New buildings should be good quality and sustainable. 

Session Summary and Next Steps  

74. AK provided a summary of the session, key takeaways and what happens next. The programme 
and content of future working group sessions was outlined for attendees. AK invited feedback on 
the session and what could be improved.  

75. A request was made for the project team to provide more information in advance of the next 
session to allow people time to digest it first.  

76. It was noted that it would be important to engage with the wider community ahead of the 
Stakeholder Masterplan stage to ensure they could input into the plans at an early stage.  

77. There was support for the working group and the level of engagement being undertaken.  

78. It was noted that the parish could advise Bellway Homes on the best locations for any in person 
events with the community, along with sharing details for existing community events that 
Bellway Homes could attend.  

79. It was suggested that a representative from the project team join future Cookham Society 
meetings. 

80. Attendees were asked what time, day and format they would prefer for future working group 
sessions to be held. The preference was for meetings to be held after 5pm on Thursday’s, and for 
these to continue to be held online.  

 

 

 

 

105



Working Group Session 2 Presentation 
March 2022

5appendices

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham 

Working Group Session 2 - March 2022

Agenda

• Welcome 

• Recap of session 1 

• Green infrastructure

• Developable area

• Access and movement 

• Possible site access

• Pedestrian connectivity

• Accessibility 

• Session summary and next steps

KEY:

Green Infrastructure Green Infrastructure

Requests were made in working group 1 for exposed rear garden fences as part 
of the development. The image above provides an example of this.

KEY:

Developable Area

106



6appendices

KEY:

Access and Movement Possible Site Access
1. Existing footway and bus stop - possible 

improvements to support travel by non-
car modes

2. 2.4 x 120m visibility splay taken to edge 
of carriageway (in line with current 
40mph speed limit)

3. 2m wide footway extended to include 
dropped kerb crossing with tactile 
paving

4. Indicative site boundary

Pedestrian Connectivity
1. Potential crossing including dropped 

kerbs and tactile paving on pedestrian 
routes to the north

2. Existing tactile paving at Arthur Close

3. Indicative site boundary

Accessibility
KEY:

Railway Station

Bus Stops

Public Rights Of Way

RBWM Cannondown Bridge 
Scheme

Indicative Site Boundary

Session summary 

Summary of the session and key takeaways

What happens next?

Thank you 

Working Group Session 2 - March 2022

107



7appendices

 

Meeting Note 

Cannondown Road Working Group Session Two  

24 March 2022 

Attendees 
Project team 

• Rob O’Carroll (Bellway) 
• Andrea Kellegher (Turley Strategic Communications) 
• Emily Bell (Turley Strategic Communications) 
• David Murray-Cox (Turley Planning) 
• Kenji Holdsworth (dha architecture) 
• Ed England (dha architecture) 

Working group members 

• RBWM officer representative, Garry 
Thornton 

• Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Environmental Services and 
Maidenhead, Phil Haseler 

• RBWM Councillor Mandy Brar – Cllr Brar 
• Cookham Parish Councillor Mark 

Howard 
• Cookham Parish Councillor Bill Perry 
• Christine Doyle 

• Nic Dawkes  
• Jenny Knight 
• Alex McLachlan 
• Allan McGregor 
• Dave Brooks 
• Holly Milburn 
• Lesley Austin 
• William Hepworth 
• Darin McLeod 
• Paul Strzelecki 

Welcome  

1. Andrea Kellegher (AK) provided a welcome to the session and ran through the agenda for the 
session. She also introduced Cllr Phil Haseler to the group who has taken on the role as Cabinet 
Member for Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport taking over from Cllr David Coppinger.  

Legal Challenge  

2. The Maidenhead Great Park campaign legal challenge regarding the Windsor and Maidenhead 
Local Plan was discussed, with David Murray-Cox (DMC) confirming the intention to proceed with 
the consultation and planning programme for land west of Cannondown Road. 

Exploring Development Parcels  

3. Ed England (EE) took attendees through the detail of the presentation slides including indicative 
plans showing green infrastructure, developable parcels, access and movement and pedestrian 
connectivity. These points were then discussed by the project team. A summary of the questions 
and feedback raised through the session is outlined overleaf by theme below. 

  

2 

4. Through the conversations held a list of key considerations for the development parcels was 
formed and confirmed with the group members. This included:  

• Inclusion of family homes with gardens  

• Inclusion of starter homes  

• Going beyond minimum standards for new homes  

• Splitting the site into three development parcels to retain a village character  

• Avoiding the inclusion of exposed fences onto open spaces  

• Consideration for the inclusion of more than one vehicular access into the site, including 
an access from Arthur Close. 

• Avoid use of straight roads within the site improving the scheme's character and reducing 
speeding  

• Design the layout to have a 20 mile per hour speed limit  

• Keep building heights to 2 stories  

• Use design principles set out in the neighbourhood plan masterplan  

Noise and pollution  
5. It was questioned whether the proposals would take noise and pollution into account, specifically 

with the existing industrial uses neighbouring the site. Rob O’Carroll (RO) confirmed that there 
were air quality assessors who would support the application moving forwards.  

6. It was highlighted that it would be important for a member of the project team to visit the 
industrial site to the south to assess its impacts.  

Developable area and homes 
7. The developable area and green infrastructure plans were discussed, with concerns that the 

homes on the site could be small. There was a preference from some members of the group for 
larger, family homes – there was also a preference noted for a mix of housing sizes including 
smaller homes for first time buyers.  

8. RO confirmed that Bellway Homes would adhere to space standards and would be working with 
the Council on housing mix and would be led by policy (including on affordable provision).  

9. It was highlighted that there was a hope the plans would exceed space standards and would 
deliver more than a standardised product – developing homes that maximise the look and feel of 
Cookham and the setting of the site.  

10. It was questioned when tenure mix and ideas on property values might be available to provide an 
understanding on affordability. RO committed to doing indicative work on values and tenure split 
for later working group sessions.  

  

3 

11. The height of homes was discussed, with a preference stated for maisonettes rather than flats. It 
was also highlighted that the topography of the site would need to be considered when 
progressing plans for building heights. 

12. The site allocation was discussed, with attendees noting that it included ‘approximately’ 200 
homes. It was questioned whether there was a calculation used to determine what housing types 
and sizes would be commercially viable and whether 200 homes would be the maximum number 
of homes proposed. RO confirmed that we were at the initial stages of the process and the 
starting point had been to use the Council’s work and dwellings per hectare and progress from 
there to establish dwelling numbers and so on. 

13. It was highlighted that the site allocation includes self-build homes.  

Design  
14. Parish Council representatives noted ‘The Cookham Village Design Statement’1 which includes 

details on materials, colour palettes and so on. 

Green infrastructure  
15. It was noted that there was a preference against exposed fences onto public open space / 

landscaped areas to prevent anti-social behaviour and protect resident’s privacy and security.  

16. The buffer zone for the neighbours adjacent to the north of the lower site was highlighted. It was 
noted that the green infrastructure plan states that there will be longer gardens or green space, 
however, the road positioning on the access and movement plan shows a slimmer slip of land for 
building than other plots. It was suggested that this could be considered moving forwards.  

Access and movement 
17. It was asked whether the indicative access shown on the presentation slides was confirmed, or 

whether this was illustrative at this stage. 

18. It was questioned whether there could be three points of vehicular access into the site, as 
included on the masterplan the Cookham Neighbourhood Plan group prepared. It was felt that 
this could reduce the impact on congestion when compared with one point of vehicular access. 
RO confirmed that we were at an early stage in the process and Bellway Homes would not be 
opposed to three points of access if this worked best for the site. It was noted that assessments 
would need to be undertaken, along with consideration for land ownership, as to whether the 
suggested alternative access arrangements would be feasible.  

19. It was noted that, from a commercial perspective, three points of vehicular access could help 
when marketing and selling properties on the site with the view this could minimise the impacts 
of construction. 

20. There were concerns regarding the safety of including vehicular access onto Arthur Close and 
Lesters Road. It was noted that accidents occur on the bend off Arthur Close and Lesters Road is 
very narrow.  

 
1 https://cookhamparishcouncil.org.uk/crbst_14.html 

  

4 

21. It was suggested that, if Arthur Close was included as a point of vehicular access, it be a left turn 
only onto Whyteladyes Lane to ensure safety. 

22. The internal roads were discussed, with a preference for curved rather than straight roads to 
complement the village character and slow vehicle movements. EE noted that there was a place 
for both straight and curved roads in design terms and noted the feedback provided. 

23. There was a preference for 20mph speed limits on internal roads. 

Pedestrian access and movement  
24. The proposed pedestrian crossing point was discussed. There was a concern that this could be 

too close to existing homes and was at a point where cars park on both sides of the road which 
may cause difficulty and light pollution for residents.  

25. It was suggested that Lesters Road may be more appropriate for pedestrian and cycle access than 
for vehicular access. 

Accessibility and wider highways 
26. There was a concern that, if a bus was at the existing bus stop on Whyteladyes Lane, the view of 

the proposed point of access could be blocked for other road users. 

27. It was noted that public transport was not very accessible and there was a concern that the 
future residents would be dependant on cars.  

28. The highways modelling for the Local Plan process was discussed, with Paul Strzelecki (PS) 
offering to meet with Andrew Braun (AB) to discuss his own modelling and concerns. RO 
confirmed that Bellway Homes were happy for this meeting to take place. 

Session Summary and Next Steps 

29. AK provided a summary of the session, key takeaways and what happens next. The programme 
and the future community engagement was outlined for attendees with a request for feedback 
on how best to engage with the local community – feedback is set out below.  

Consultation  
30. It was asked whether the intention would be to speak with the wider community in Cookham in 

addition to the working group sessions. AK confirmed that this would be the case and the 
programme for events was covered in detail later in the session. 

31. The existing summer activities in Cookham were noted, including the Scout Fair on 18 June 2022. 
It was highlighted that it could be beneficial for the project team to attend existing events such as 
these to gain feedback from the local community. AK confirmed an action to discuss existing 
events Bellway Homes could attend further with Cookham Parish Council. 

 

 

Working Group Session 2 Meeting Note 
March 2022

108



8appendices

 

Meeting Note 

Cannondown Road Working Group Session Three  

25 May 2022 

Project team attendees 

• Rob O’Carroll (Bellway) 
• Andrea Kellegher (Turley Strategic Communications) 
• Emily Bell (Turley Strategic Communications) 
• David Murray-Cox (Turley Planning) 
• Andrew Braun (Ardent) 
• Kenji Holdsworth (dha architecture) 
• Ed England (dha architecture) 

Draft Stakeholder Masterplan Document 

1. The purpose of the Stakeholder Masterplan Document (SMD) was outlined by the project team.  

2. It was noted that this document would inform subsequent planning applications for the site. 

3. A member of the working group was concerned that there had been limited time to review the 
document ahead of the meeting. Andrea Kellegher (AK) noted that feedback was encouraged 
following the call until 6 June. 

4. It was questioned whether wider highway networks in Cookham were included in the draft SMD.  

5. There was a query regarding whether the details of a dedicated one-on-one meeting regarding 
wider highway networks with Andrew Braun (AB) were included in the draft SMD. 

6. Ed England (EE) presented the SMD and took working group members through the details the 
document includes.  

7. Kenji Holdsworth (KH) noted how the feedback shared to date had shaped the plans.  

8. The themes discussed are outlined below. 

Density 
9. It was questioned how the density compared to the existing neighbourhoods in Cookham. EE 

noted that the existing density of homes on Lesters Road would compare to that proposed for 
the site.  

10. Working group members were interested to see further detail on the proposed dwelling density, 
and how this could look visually, along with garden sizes.  

Landscaping  
11. It was questioned whether there would be screening to prevent impacts on existing neighbours.  

  

2 

12. Details regarding separation distances between new and existing residents was discussed – 
particularly along Cannondown Road. 

Open space 
13. It was questioned how much open space would be included on site, including the size of the 

landscape buffers. 

14. Working group members questioned who would manage the open space on site. EE noted which 
spaces would likely be taken on by a management company, and which spaces would have 
ecological functions and not be open for public use.  

15. It was noted that there was an existing park for children a few minutes away from the proposed 
play area on site. It was questioned whether there would be a need or if the area would be best 
kept as open space. RO noted the policy requirement for a play area, with EE confirming that this 
could cater for different age groups or include different play facilities (such as gym equipment) 
depending on the local needs.  

16. One working group member noted that the increase in residents could lead to more footfall in 
the existing play area and therefore lead to a need for a new one on site. 

Internal highways 
17. It was questioned how the design would promote a 20mph speed limit through the site.  

18. There was a concern that headlights of vehicles leaving the site could impact on existing residents 
opposite the point of proposed access on Cannondown Road. Andrew Braun (AB) noted that the 
location of the proposed access was selected to minimise impacts on exiting residents, with the 
homes opposite being well screened by hedges and vegetation. AB also noted that the 
topography of the site at the point of access wouldn’t lead to dipped headlights. 

19. It was questioned whether there would be a pedestrian / cycle link at the point of emergency 
access.  

Homes 
20. There were concerns that homes were proposed on the southern boundary of the site, 

specifically in regard to the activity that takes place on Lower Mount Farm and possible impacts 
this could have on future residents.  

21. It was questioned whether the homes to the south of the site impacted on / undermined the 
green link from a biodiversity perspective.  

22. EE noted that further details regarding the proposed homes on site would be provided in due 
course including the provision of amenity space. 

23. It was felt that there were well defined perimeter blocks for new homes, with well-defined public 
and private spaces. However, it was felt that it wasn’t as clear on the southern boundary (beside 
the existing employment area) and the blocks beside the hedgerow (towards the central / 
eastern side of the site). It was felt that, in these areas, there wasn’t a clear definition of public 
and private realm. 

  

3 

24. There was a concern regarding the fencing of boundaries particularly along the southern 
boundary for noise mitigation purposes, with questions regarding use of trees, vertical gardens 
and hedgerows to overcome hard boundary treatments. The particular concern was around 
fencing attracting antisocial behaviour.  

Sustainability  
25. It was questioned what the carbon footprint of the development would be for both the build and 

operation of the site over the next five years. RO noted that there were members of the project 
team focused on sustainability, however they were not on the working group call. It was noted 
that further detail on sustainability and energy would be available in due course.  

26. It was suggested that a representative of the sustainability team be present on the next working 
group meeting.   

Access and movement  

27. It was questioned that, if most vehicles travel right upon leaving the site that they would have to 
cut across existing traffic. It was questioned how this would impact vehicle movements at peak 
hours when new residents are trying to leave the site.   

28. One working group member questioned when wider traffic modelling would be done and when 
the information would be available. AB confirmed that, if the information is available in time it 
will be included at the Stakeholder Masterplan stage – however, if it is not, it will need to be 
included in the subsequent planning application.  

29. It was questioned whether the data on highways assessments undertaken could be made 
available a week or two before the application is submitted for working group members 
awareness.  

30. It was noted that new residents with children of primary school age would likely have to travel by 
car to and from school due to lack of capacity at local schools which could impact on vehicle 
movements at peak hours. 

31. The importance of pedestrian crossings off site to promote safe movement of school children 
was highlighted.  

32. The off-site bus stop provision was discussed. There were concerns that this could cause 
disruption along Cannondown Road if bus stops don’t include a layby to remove the parked buses 
from the traffic flow.  

33. It was questioned whether the Cannondown Road junction had been designed safely as it was 
felt this included a tight curvature. 

34. It was questioned whether there was another development for around 200 homes that had been 
built already which included junctions such as those proposed for this site that residents could 
visit to understand how they might work.   

35. It was noted that a new pedestrian crossing would remove existing parking spaces that are used 
by residents.  

  

4 

36. There were concerns regarding vehicle speeds down Whyteladyes Lane. It was questioned how 
vehicle speeds could be addressed to ensure safety at pedestrian crossing point(s).   

37. It was suggested that internal road alignment and road lighting proposed may not reflect the 
character and what exists in Cookham.   

38. Working group members thanked the project team for investigating alternative vehicle access 
arrangements and clarifying the ownership of Lesters Road. It was questioned whether, despite 
private ownership, pedestrian and cyclist connections could be made via Lesters Road. RO and AB 
noted that Bellway Homes don’t control the land and therefore cannot propose this due to the 
land not falling within the adopted / public highway. It was questioned whether conversations 
had been undertaken with those who own Lesters Road. AB and RO noted they could table the 
question to A2 Dominion who own the land, but there could be no guarantee that such a request 
would be facilitated.   

39. The alleyway near the bottom of Whyteladyes Lane was discussed, with an existing resident 
noting that it was narrow and unlit. It was noted that there are existing ‘no cycling’ signs up, 
however these are not adhered to and the alleyway can be unsafe as a result. It was questioned 
whether this could be taken away, with concerns that the alleyway could become a key route 
through the site via Arthur Close.  

Planning process and timescales  

40. The timescales for the SMD and planning application were discussed. It was confirmed that the 
ambition was to submit the SMD to the Council in August 2022, with a planning application then 
submitted by the end of 2022. 

Character  

41. It was questioned whether the analysis of the character of Cookham was correct with one 
member of the group noting the buildings in the high street date further back then the 18th 
century. 

42. It was felt that there was very little flint used in existing dwellings in Cookham and this was more 
used in civic buildings such as churches and pubs. There was a preference to remove silver / grey 
bricks from the design of new homes.  

43. There was a preference for the green spaces on the frontage of the site, beside Cannondown 
Road, to include more trees and landscaping to filter views into the site.  

44. It was noted that Cookham Rise had existing problems with parking and it was felt that this was 
due to the style of homes. It was felt that design inspiration should be taken from elsewhere in 
Cookham as a result.  

45. It was questioned how many working group members were on the call and whether the vision in 
the SMD would be a shared vision with Cookham more widely.  

46. There was support for the cluster design of the new homes rather than long strees of houses. 
There was a preference for these homes to cluster around green spaces to ensure it fits the local 
character of Cookham.  

109



9appendices

  

5 

47. The illustrative sketches of the open spaces were supported, with members hoping these would 
be delivered and achieved for the site.  

48. The project team were thanked for trying to pick up the character of Cookham. There was 
however a concern that the SMD seemed formulaic and could be representative of any Bellway 
Homes development across the country. There was a hope more local characteristics could be 
incorporated into the designs.  

Summary thoughts  

49. One working group member thanked the team for the working group session and felt that 
everything was moving forwards with there being more positives than the previous working 
group sessions.  

50. It was questioned whether more information could be shared regarding proposed changes to 
section 106 agreements and the Community Infrastructure Levy (Queens Speech 2022) and 
whether this would affect this development. 

51. It was questioned whether the consultation on the proposed changes to the railway bridge had 
been taken into account.  

52. It was noted that the imagery shown in the SMD doesn’t include any streetlights. It was 
questioned whether this meant there wouldn’t be any or whether they were just not included in 
illustrations.  

53. One attendee felt the discussions have been focused on highways and there hasn’t been as much 
focus on design and layout of the site.  

Working Group Feedback 

Feedback was received by working group members both prior to and following the meeting, which is 
outlined below.  

54. There was support for the consultation undertaken to date, with one member noting that, whilst 
there was further work to do it was encouraging to see how far the plans had come. 

55. Highways was referenced in the feedback received including access, impacts on the wider 
highway network and ensuring safety on pinch points including the railway bridge and the High 
Street. 

56. Affordable housing was referenced, with members seeking clarity on the tenure and actual 
affordability. It was questioned whether there was demand for 4-bedroom homes from local 
housing providers. 

57. Pedestrian safety was referenced, with a working group member thinking the Arthur’s Close 
access would resolve pedestrian safety from the west of the site. It was questioned whether 
Bellway Homes could work with the Council to add further pedestrian safety measures along 
Cannondown Road. 

  

6 

58. There was interest in seeing a pedestrian crossing delivered along Whyteladyes Lane for 
pedestrians coming through Arthurs Close. 

59. The open space within the site was discussed, including the landscaping that would front onto 
Cannondown Road. It was noted that the front of Broom Hill off Whyteladyes Lane could be a 
good example of how this can be delivered.  

60. It was questioned how the open space would be managed and who would be responsible for this. 

 

 

110



10appendices

 

Cookham Parish Council Meeting Summary 

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham 

29 March 2022 

A meeting was held with Councillor Bill Perry, Councillor Mark Howard and Jon Herbert (Troy 
Planning) on 29 March 2022.  A summary of the themes discussed is outlined below. 

Emerging Neighbourhood Plan  

1. The masterplan for the site was discussed, with Jon Herbert (JH) providing background on the 
process undertaken to date including steering groups, technical inputs from AECOM to produce 
the masterplan and two rounds of consultation on the emerging Neighbourhood Plan.  

2. It was noted that there was still some way to go for the plan to be made, however the direction 
and key themes had been established.  

3. It was anticipated that the key principles from the plan would be used to create the 
Neighbourhood Plan policy for the site.  

4. Ed England (EE) questioned what the headline elements were that the parish council wished to 
include in the policy. It was confirmed that this included: green infrastructure and where this was 
located and integrated; three points of vehicular access; position of Public Rights of Way (PRoW), 
and the location of the children’s play area.  

Character of Cookham 

5. The importance of recognising and strengthening the character of Cookham was noted, with 
Cookham being separate from Maidenhead.  

6. The green setting of Cookham was highlighted, along with the wider cultural reference to Stanley 
Spencer and how this related to the site. 

7. It was noted that the proposed development would increase the size of Cookham by 10% and the 
process for developing the site was therefore important to the community and the character of 
Cookham. 

8. The Bellway Homes approach to housing type and design was discussed. There was a preference 
for premium housing types to complement the village. 

Site location and boundary treatments  

9. It was noted that sensitive boundary treatment between the industrial land and future homes, 
may be required to the south of the site  

10. It was highlighted that the treatment of boundaries would need to be carefully considered, 
especially at the new junction with Cannondown Road. 

  

2 

11. The Inspector’s comments were discussed, noting the site’s self-contained nature with no 
obvious expansion to the west. It was noted that the boundary treatment to the west would 
need to be considered in order to protect the Green Belt beyond the site.  

Wider highway network 

12. Congestion, vehicle speeds and pedestrian / cycle safety were noted as key issues in Cookham.  

Pedestrian / cycle connectivity and safety 

13. The safety of children on their way to school was highlighted as a local concern, following the 
fatality of a child.  

14. There is a desire for more direct pedestrian routes and for further consideration to be given to 
the location of the off-site pedestrian crossing. 

15. It was hoped that additional pedestrian / cycle links would encourage future residents to use 
active methods of travel. It was highlighted that a safe link to the secondary school could be 
beneficial.  

Vehicular access 

16. Vehicular access was discussed, noting the difference in approach between the parish council and 
Bellway Homes. It was highlighted that the masterplan for the emerging Neighbourhood Plan 
included three points of access (via Cannondown Road, Arthur Close and Lesters Road). 

17. It was confirmed that the three points of access on the parish council masterplan came from a 
place-making perspective and are high-level at this stage in terms of technical input. 

18. It was noted that there were land ownership and local perceptions to contend with and better 
understand, but there was a request that the two additional points of access not currently being 
considered by Bellway Homes be assessed for feasibility.  

19. MH suggested that progress in this area, and giving technical consideration to further points of 
vehicular access, demonstrated a positive of the working group activity undertaken to date.  

20. It was felt that three points of vehicular access would help to retain the village character and 
could commercially benefit Bellway Homes. 

Vehicle parking 

21. It was questioned whether it was too early to confirm the car parking arrangements for the site 
and whether this would impact on the quality of the street scene. EE confirmed that the 
proposals were not yet at that level of detail, however discussed how parking provision would 
generally be accommodated on site including laybys for visitor parking. 

22. MH confirmed that the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council was updating the 
parking Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) which did not currently include provision for 
visitor parking. It was noted that there could be value in speaking to the Council regarding this.   

  

3 

23. It was noted that there was a paragraph in the Village Design Statement to avoid car parking in 
front of homes. 

24. Electric Vehicle (EV) charge points were discussed in terms of both provision for each home and, 
more generally, for visitor spaces throughout the site. RO confirmed that each property would 
have the capability for EV charging, however the arrangements for visitor parking was not known 
at this stage. 

Sustainability 

25. The sustainability principles of Bellway Homes were discussed, along with their approach to 
energy efficiency and energy use reduction.  

26. There was a preference for Bellway Homes to exceed Building Regulations. RO confirmed that 
Bellway do generally look to exceed regulations and take a fabric first approach. 

27. PV panels were discussed, with parish councillors keen to minimise their visual impact when 
taking the setting of the site into account. RO confirmed that Bellway Homes generally took this 
approach and used thin PV panels.   

28. A new community action group in Cookham was noted, called ‘Cookham Footprint’, which is 
focused on tackling the climate and environmental crisis – initially focussing on energy.  

Design 

29. The Village Design Statement for Cookham was referenced, which included features such as the 
organic feel of the design of the village. 

Affordable homes  

30. First Homes were discussed, with questions regarding how the proposals would deal with the 
affordability gap.  

31. RO confirmed that the proposals would meet the latest guidance on affordable provision. 

House type and size 

32. The house types proposed in the parish council masterplan were discussed, with EE noting that 
the footprint for a large proportion of the homes appeared to be for two-bedroom properties. It 
was also noted that the homes along Cannondown Road appeared to be terraces.  

33. MH confirmed that the housing mix was included in the emerging Neighbourhood Plan and 
responds to the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).  

34. EE questioned whether AECOM could provide further detail on how the housing mix is shown on 
the layout. MH will check with AECOM on this point.  

35. The was a preference for flats not to be included on the site.  

36. It was questioned whether Bellway Homes could ask the community to determine their 
preferences for the housing sizes provided on site. 

  

4 

37. MH noted that the proposals would need to be led by the SHMA. RO confirmed that Bellway 
Homes approach would use the SHMA as a starting point. 

Public Open Space (POS) 

38. It was understood that there is a tension between the amount of green space and developable 
area / building space standards, however there was support that Bellway Homes was looking to 
exceed the minimum requirements for POS.  

39. There was a preference against exposed rear gardens and obscured parking to avoid security 
issues. It was noted that there have been issues with drug dealing and loud music being played 
from car parks in the area.  

Development phasing 

40. There was a preference for phased development to take place in three separate parcels to retain 
the village’s character, minimise construction impact and allow the local services to manage the 
increase in resident numbers.  

41. The development parcels were discussed, with parish council representatives feeling that there 
were three distinct parcels (served by each point of vehicular access on the parish masterplan for 
the site).  

42. It was questioned whether the phasing of the development had been planned at this stage. Rob 
O’Carroll (RO) confirmed that it was, however presented a typical phasing plan which he’d expect 
for the site.  

Timescales 

43. The high-level timescales for the planning process were discussed, along with likely construction 
start dates and first occupation. RO noted that, subject to the timeframes for determination for 
planning applications, it was expected that construction would commence towards the end of 
2023 / early 2024. 

44. It was questioned whether Bellway Homes would construct around 50 / 60 homes a year. RO 
confirmed that, subject to any external impacts on construction, this is a reasonable estimate; 
however, this could be closer to 100 homes a year. 

Construction  

45. The potential construction impacts were discussed, with parish councillors noting the importance 
of clear messaging around the plans for construction management to be included through the 
wider community consultation process to alleviate local concerns.  

Summary 

46. It was concluded that, in terms of the general principles, there seemed to be relative agreement 
between parties.  

  

5 

47. The points of vehicular access remained as an outstanding point for discussion. RO confirmed 
that Bellway Homes and Ardent would review the land ownership and technical feasibility of the 
access points.   

 

Contact 
Emily Bell 
Emily.bell@turley.co.uk 
 
April 2022 
 
BELR3012 

  

5 

47. The points of vehicular access remained as an outstanding point for discussion. RO confirmed 
that Bellway Homes and Ardent would review the land ownership and technical feasibility of the 
access points.   

 

Contact 
Emily Bell 
Emily.bell@turley.co.uk 
 
April 2022 
 
BELR3012 

Cookham Parish Council Meeting 
March 2022

111



Community Workshop Presentation 
May 2022

11appendices

Site location plan

As you may be aware, Bellway Homes  
is progressing plans for approximately  
200 new homes in line with Royal  
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead’s 
Local Plan policy, which allocates the  
site for residential development.
We are in the early stages of creating a Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document to ensure the scheme 
is developed in collaboration with the council, 
stakeholders and residents. 

To find out more and provide your input into  
our initial plans, we will be holding the first of  
our community consultation events between  
3 – 7pm on Tuesday 3rd May 2022 at The Holy 
Trinity Parish Centre. You can also access project 
information and share your feedback with  
us online at www.cannondownroad.co.uk.  

Please see the reverse of this leaflet to find  
out more.

Invitation to a have your say on proposed new  
homes on land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham 

Set up 
Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group and 
hold first 
session

Hold online /  
in person 
community 
events to 
workshop  
the plans

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group third 
session

Hold online /  
in person 
community 
events on 
the proposed 
masterplan

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group fourth 
session

Submit 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document 
for Council 
approval 

March April / May June

Formal 4 week consultation on  
Stakeholder Masterplan Document

Draft 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document 
prepared for 
consultation

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group second 
session

Community workshop on 3rd May 2022

Drop-in anytime between 3 - 7pm at The Holy Trinity 
Parish Centre, Church Gate, SL6 9SP where will be 
holding a community workshop to seek your inputs  
into the Stakeholder Masterplan. 

Members of the project team will be on hand to talk 
you through the plans, answer your questions and 
listen to your local experiences and feedback. At 
this early stage, we will be discussing the site and 
the location of potential development parcels. We 
look forward to meeting with you and hearing your 
feedback which will help to feed into the final plans.   

Project website and live chat
The information shown at the community workshop event 
will be uploaded to the website from 3rd May. If you would 
like to speak to a member of the project team to share your 
feedback or ask any questions, you can join a live chat with 
us at any time between 9am – 5pm on 4th May via the 
project website or use the alternative contact details below.

Keep up to date
You can register for project updates by:

Completing the form on our website  
at www.cannondownroad.co.uk

Emailing contact@cannondownroad.co.uk

Phoning 0808 168 8296 and a member  
of the project team will get back to you

Land west of 
Cannondown Road, 
Cookham

01
Welcome
Bellway Homes is progressing plans for 
approximately 200 new homes in line with 
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
Council’s Local Plan policy, which allocates the 
site for residential development. Thank you for 
joining our first community event today –  
we look forward to hearing your feedback.

What is the purpose of the event? 
Members of the project team are on hand 
today to talk you through the early stages  
of our plans, answer your questions and listen  
to your local experiences and feedback. 

We have four themed tables for you to join today 
where you can find out more and share your 
responses to key questions to help us shape 
the evolving masterplan. The themes include:

The team

Rob O’Carroll 
Bellway Homes

Andrea Kellegher 
Turley Strategic Communications 

Emily Bell 
Turley Strategic Communications 

David Murray-Cox 
Turley Planning

Andrew Braun 
Ardent Consulting Engineers 

Ed England 
DHA Architecture 

Kenji Holdsworth 
DHA Architecture 

Site constraints and 
opportunities 

New homes

Open space and 
landscaping

Access and movement

Land west of 
Cannondown Road, 
Cookham

About the site 
The site is allocated in the adopted Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council 
Local Plan 2013 - 2033 (policy ‘AL37 Land north 
of Lower Mount Farm, Long Lane, Cookham’). 
The allocation seeks to provide approximately  
200 homes to meet local needs.

A summary of the requirements for the 
development is below:

• Provide family housing with gardens

• Provide a strong high quality green and blue 
infrastructure network across the site that  
is highly connected to the surrounding 
area and capable of supporting enhanced 
biodiversity, recreation, food production and 
leisure functions

• Have appropriate edge treatment and 
transition to the countryside with a need to 
minimise the impact on long distance views 
from the south west, south and south east

• Connect to the Public Rights of Way network 

• Provide pedestrian and cycle links through 
the site to improve connectivity

• Ensure that the development is well-served 
by public bus routes / demand responsive 
transport / other innovative public transport 
solutions, with appropriate provision for new 
bus stop infrastructure, such that the bus is an 
attractive alternative to the private car for local 
journeys, including to nearby GP surgeries and 
leisure facilities

• Provide appropriate mitigation measures 
to address the impacts of noise and air 
pollution to protect residential amenity

• Ensure that the sewer systems including 
treatment works will be reinforced prior  
to the occupation and use of the housing

Site location plan

• Be of high-quality design which responds 
positively and sensitively to the character 
(including height) of the surrounding areas

• Provide at least 40% affordable housing

• Provide 5% of units for custom and self-build 
opportunities

• Address potential risks to groundwater 

• Consider flood risk as part of a Flood Risk 
Assessment as the site is larger than one 
hectare

• Demonstrate the sustainable management 
of surface water runoff through the use of 
SuDS in line with policy and best practice; any 
proposed surface water discharge must be 
limited to greenfield runoff rates

• Undertake a minerals assessment to assess the  
viability and practicality of prior extraction  
of the minerals resource, as the site falls within 
a Minerals Safeguarding Area

02 Land west of 
Cannondown Road, 
Cookham

What is a Stakeholder Masterplan Document? 
As part of the adopted Borough Local Plan (2013 – 2033), the council has committed 
to working with landowners and developers to prepare ‘stakeholder masterplans’ for 
developments above stipulated thresholds, which includes 100+ net new dwellings,  
and 5,000 sqm of employment or mixed use floorspace. 

The stakeholder masterplan process requires developers to engage with the council,  
local community, and other stakeholders at an early stage in the development process 
and provides a framework for the preparation and submission of the subsequent 
planning application. 

Register for updates on the project via our 
website at www.cannondownroad.co.uk. 

Phone 0808 168 8296 and a member of the 
project team will get back to you

Email contact@cannondownroad.co.uk

How can you get involved?
Over the coming months we will be holding a number of engagement activities where 
you can get involved in shaping the plans. These are shown on the programme below. 
The stage we are currently at in the programme is highlighted in orange. 

Set up 
Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group and 
hold first 
session

Hold online /  
in person 
community 
events to 
workshop  
the plans

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group third 
session

Hold online /  
in person 
community 
events on 
the proposed 
masterplan

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group fourth 
session

Submit 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document 
for Council 
approval 

March April / May June

Formal 4 week consultation on  
Stakeholder Masterplan Document

Draft 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document 
prepared for 
consultation

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group second 
session

Share your feedback and 
have another chance to view 
the detail on display today 
by scanning the QR code

03

112



12appendices

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham

Are there any further constraints or 
opportunities you’d like us to consider?

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham

What should we know about Cookham?

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham

What types of open space is needed?

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham

What types of homes do you think are needed 
in Cookham? (such as starter homes, family 
homes, affordable homes etc.)

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham

Is there any local building style / character 
that you think should be included in the new 
housing design?

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham

Do you have any comments on the proposed 
access for vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists?

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham

From your local experience, is there anything 
else you’d like us to be aware of (such as public 
transport, local roads in Cookham, additional 
walking routes etc.)

113



13appendices

Working Group Session 3 Presentation 
(relevant pages from the draft SMD) 
May 2022

cannondown road 
cookham

Stakeholder Masterplan Development Proposals

May 2022

062106-BEL-TV-SMD
WORK IN PROGRESS ISSUE:  23.05.22WORK IN PROGRESS ISSUE:  23.05.22

background & context 8

The Inspiration:  a sensitive backdrop to the open 
space and a low-key entrance into Cookham village.
Townscape Form:  A regular run of semi-detached houses - the fairly 
wide spaces between the buildings and their hipped roofs impart quite an 
open feel, with views between and over the houses of the trees and the 
landscaping beyond.  Angled buildings “turning the corner” are effective.

Design & Materials:  Typical of their era, with no strong architectural 
language, but providing good internal accommodation.  Cemetery 
Lodge is a characterful standalone building with arts-and-crafts detailing 
including stone window surrounds and corbels.

Landscape & Open Space:  These houses are your first view of Cookham 
as you travel from Maidenhead and are seen from some distance away as 
a backdrop to the field, separated by some piecemeal hedges and trees.

Design Conclusions:  As a “gateway” and a first experience of the 
character of Cookham for visitors to the village, these building forms, their 
hipped roofs and their spacing suggest a gentle transition from country to 
built-up area.  The application site similarly would be a first experience of 
Cookham on the western side of the road, further within the built-up area, 
and consideration should be given, in discussions with the Stakeholder 
groups, as to what characteristics of Cookham should be represented, 
particularly at the front of the site.

The splayed corner buildings and the architectural language of the Lodge 
represent some attractive, functional design elements for consideration.

Long Lane

It has been fascinating and inspiring to explore Cookham and to discover more about its history.  There 
are many inspiring streets, natural landscaped areas and buildings, both historic and modern, which the 
Cannondown Road proposals could make reference to as part of the evolving design - we are seeking to 
create a development which has a distinctive character which is still recognisably “of Cookham”.

The images overleaf illustrate some of the areas which we have found particularly inspirational.  

Please, let us know about “your own Cookham” - the buildings, streets and environments you find most 
beautiful and most characterful - and, most importantly, most representative of Cookham village.

background & context 7

the village neighbourhood 
& its inspiring character

background & context 9

The Inspiration:  attractive historic terraced 
cottages with brickwork detailing, and a group 
of semis with prominent regular front gables.
Townscape Form:  The fairly busy main road into the village from the west, 
including some consistent terraces of Victorian-era cottages with a strong 
linear build line, as well as some larger semi-detached dwellings further 
down which are set at a slight angle to the road.

Design & Materials:  The yellow/brown brick to the cottages is offset by 
red brick detailing around the doors and windows and along a linear 
dentil course.  This strong linear feel is counterbalanced by the prominent 
repeated front gables and the staggered alignment of the semi-detached 
dwellings, changing the feel of the street as you travel along it.

Landscape & Open Space:  Some front hedges, a pocket of mature trees.

Design Conclusions:  The terraced cottages and their brick detailing are 
a lovely feature of this domestic part of the village and a good design 
precedent for the proposed homes.  The more pronounced character 
created by the rhythm of large gables and the staggered build line is a 
more conspicuous pattern which might be utilised to signal significant 
locations within the site, for example key junctions or spaces.

Lower Road

background & context 10

The Inspiration:  a prominent “civic” building with a 
distinctive knapped flint finish and red brick detailing.
Townscape Form:  The station sits by itself alongside the local shops 
and parking areas, and has no “back” per se - both front and rear are 
similarly detailed and attractive.  As a civic building it has been designed 
to stand out from its surroundings, as well as being a welcoming entrance 
to Cookham and giving a flavour of the village’s history and architecture 
to visitors alighting - it appears that generic corporate rail signage and 
interference to the building have been resisted, to the benefit of its 
character.

Design & Materials:  The most prominent element is the knapped flint 
which finishes the building, encased by strongly contrasting red brickwork 
quoins and window surrounds.  The windows themselves, together with 
the single storey splay bays, are a little larger than domestic scale, giving 
a sense that the interior would be a welcoming public space.  In keeping 
with its functional sue, the building is quite narrow and linear with a 
2-storey “bookend”.

Design Conclusions:  Although true flint is not a successful material in 
today’s building practice, the very characteful silver/grey and red colour 
palette could be responded to by the proposed development, for example 
through the choice of a silver/grey facing brick together with red quoins 
and detailing - perhaps to make a particular building or street stand out 
from its neighbours.

Cookham Station

background & context 11

The Inspiration:  a more intimate street where 
pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles share the 
space.  More prominent buildings in render with 
front gables at the entrance to the street.
Townscape Form:  In contrast to the previous examples, this street is 
narrower, with no through traffic, and an environment through which 
pedestrians make their way along the shared surface where vehicle 
speeds are low.  The houses are quite mixed in character, age and design 
- some terraces have more regularity, some neighbours are very dissimilar.

Design & Materials:  Some similar to the Lower Road terraces; some similar 
to these but in red brick; some rendered semis; some detached with a 
gable; some rendered, including the pair of gabled townhouses on Station 
Hill which mark the entrance to Station Road.  Splay bays are common.

Landscape & Open Space:  Some limited front garden planting, but mostly 
tarmac - although this street space could also be used for socialising.

Design Conclusions:  Streets which have limited through traffic and low 
vehicle speeds can be designed around the pedestrian - this is a very 
useful approach to creating pockets of a more intimate feel within the 
layout, to allow spaces within the streets for trees and for landscaping, to 
reduce the amount of hardstanding, and to promote the informal use of the 
streets for socialising and play.  

The idea of concentrating splay bay windows, or any particular 
architectural feature, into the character or one part of the site or street, is 
also an approach which could be successfully followed by the proposals, 
and bay windows also provide good surveillance of shared spaces.

Station Road

114



14appendices

background & context 12

The Inspiration:  a sensitive contemporary building 
in a historic setting.  Unique use of timber detailing.
Townscape Form:  Historic standalone farmhouse alongside Odney 
Common with an extraordinary contemporary extension.

Design & Materials:  A very successful blend of traditional materials 
and craftsmanship, with contemporary building forms and design.  The 
triple gable, with shadows cast by its its deep fascia, is very striking, and 
emphasized by the half-width asymmetrical louvred windows and paisley 
fabric/wallpaper carving.

Landscape & Open Space:  Some feature planting within the courtyard, 
and the extended building lies within the natural environment of the 
Common - although, it is a great shame that the modern extension “turns 
its back” on the Common, with no windows to enjoy the greenspace, or to 
provide the footpath with some surveillance.

Design Conclusions:  This is a rare example of contemporary design for 
Cookham, but demonstrates that, if designed with care and with traditional 
materials, contemporary design can be very successful - even playful.  The 
building however also highlights the importance of being neighbourly to its 
surroundings - by fronting on to the public realm, not creating a blank wall.

John Lewis Heritage Centre

traffic & access 25

highways engineers’ 
response & access proposals

 B Access opportunities via Lesters Road and Arthur Close 
have been explored:

 \ Access via Lesters Road is not possible owing to 
third party land ownership.

 \ Access via Arthur Close has been considered 
for a small parcel of development (say 15-20 
dwellings). However, given concern expressed 
by local residents and that this route will form a 
key pedestrian/cycle route to/from the site via 
Whyteladyes Lane, it is proposed to limit this to 
serve a maximum of 5 dwellings only (other than for 
emergency access).

 \ Potential improvements to improve priority for 
pedestrians on Arthur Close are being considered 
(shown overleaf).

 B A revised access arrangement for Cannondown Road 
has been identified, which includes the potential 
relocation of the change in speed limit to the southern 
end of the site frontage (shown overleaf).  This is 
supported by additional physical measures to help 
control speeds, including:

 \ Dragon’s tooth markings and painted roundel 
enforcing 30mph speed limit

 \ New pedestrian refuge crossing island on 
Cannondown (also facilitating access to the 
southbound bus stop).

 \ Bus cage markings at the bus stop – to provide a 
further visual cue for motorists to travel with caution 
through this section.

 B Traffic surveys will be undertaken to confirm current 
measured 85th percentile vehicle speeds on both 
Cannondown Road and Whyteladyes Lane, which will 
further inform the design of the access and any other 
localised improvements.  This will include measured 
traffic flow volumes to also ensure the access is 
modelled and would not create any significant queues 
or delays.

 B A series of crossing improvements on Whyteladyes 
Lane have been identified to facilitate the key pedestrian 
routes via Albert Major Park, including:

 \ New dropped kerbs/tactile paving crossing at the 
Whyteladyes Lane/Southwood Road junction

 \ New dropped kerbs/tactile paving crossing at 
Whyteladyes Lane just west of Hilcrest Avenue, to 
facilitate crossings to/from Alfred Major Park.

 \ New dropped kerbs/tactile paving at Lesters Road/
Dean View junction, to assist pedestrians on the 
route to the site via the public footpath to the north

 \ New dropped kerbs/tactile paving and extended 
footway at Whyteladyes Lane, to facilitate the 
alternative route to Alfr4ed Major Park via Broom Hill.

 B The emerging masterplan ensures straight sections of 
road are minimised, to help enforce a 20mph design 
speed.

 B A detailed audit of key existing walking/cycling and 
public transport routes suggests that, subject to the 
localised improvements listed above, the site can be 
well connected to the local facilities within Cookham and 

further afield.  The key routes via Cannondown Road and 
Alfred Major Park provide convenient routes to the local 
schools, shops and Cookham Station, whilst bus stops 
are located on both Cannondown Road and Whyteladyes 
Lane close to the site.

 B A detailed Transport Assessment supporting any 
future planning application will use survey data and 
Census information to identify the potential future traffic 
conditions at key locations identified in the feedback 
to date.  This will inform modelling of predicted queues 
and delays, to identify any locations where the proposals 
would result in severe impacts and might warrant 
mitigating improvements.

Pedestrian & Emergency Access Proposals from Arthur Close

Main Pedestrian & Vehicle Access Proposals from Cannondown Road
traffic & access 26

background & context 13

The Inspiration:  a beautiful 19th Century 
manor house complex with arts-and-crafts 
detailing and intricate roofscape.
Townscape Form:  A prominent standalone location on the moor, which 
the buildings overlook with windows and balconies.  The entrance to the 
complex complements the historic buildings with a splayed building form 
which leads the visitor towards the gateway and the main reception.

Design & Materials:  Although a Georgian building (circa 1805), the 
architecture of the Hall is resonant of an earlier era - more “Tudor” in 
character, with its prominent overhanging gables with black timbering and 
render, ornate chimney stacks,  tile hanging and bay windows.  The large 
window openings however betray the building’s era to a later date.  The 
large main roofs are hipped and symmetrical, but the piecemeal historic 
outbuildings have a pleasing jumble of smaller roofs alongside.  The late 
20th century additions however - unattractive and unsympathetic.

Landscape & Open Space:  The mature landscaping and large trees 
which surround the complex reinforce its distinctness from its more 
domestic surroundings, as well as softening the view from the moor, 
and the entrance road has an avenure of mature trees to one side.  The 
greenspace in the centre of the development is simply grassed with a 
couple of small planting beds.

Design Conclusions:  These buildings stand out from their surroundings 
because the historic elements are architecturally highly distinctive, and 
because their prominent location overlooking the moor makes them very 
recognisable.  The occupants are also a well-known local employer.  

Opportunities for the proposed development to incorporate some design 
resonance with these buildings is more limited however - their importance 
to Cookham is related to their distinctness from their domestic residential 
setting and their prominent location.  Some of the “tools” the complex uses 
could be considered however - for example the splay buildings addressing 
the entrance road, and the regular incorporation of gables and various roof 
forms, to denote key locations and to add interest to the skyline.

Moor Hall

background & context 14

The Inspiration:  the historic core of Cookham 
village - a very mixed, organic street scene with 
various types of traditional architecture in evidence.  
Prominent “vista building” at the end of the street.
Townscape Form:  A highly attractive, characterful, linear high street, 
which is fairly narrow with an enclosed feel, with a strong linear build 
line.  The buildings themselves however are very mixed - their ages range 
from 18th century to late 20th century, heights range from 1 to 3 storeys.  
Although mainly shops, pubs and restaurants, the street also has several 
houses as part of its makeup.  At the eastern head of the road lies a 
distinctive prominent symmetrical  Georgian-era dwelling.

Design & Materials:  Very mixed:  brick in red, yellow/brown or white 
painted; various applied materials including flint and render; some 
Tudor-style black timbering.  Roofs are long and linear, or hipped, or 
narrow and gabled.  Windows are small and multi-paned, or casements, or 
large sashes.  Brick detailing is contrasting and prominent, or minimal and 
indiscernible.

Landscape & Open Space:  Most buildings are set alongside the footway 
with minimal space for landscaping, which tends to be in planters and 
hanging baskets.  There are pockets of greenspace however, particularly 
one garden with a tree’d frontage neighbouring the garage, which creates 
an attractive visual relief from the strong built frontages.

Design Conclusions:  If any one street could be said to encapsulate 
Cookham, it is this historic high street.  Its overarching character is 
its variety in almost all aspects - to the visitor, its eclectic buildings 
continuously open up new views and design features to catch the eye 
as you walk along the length of the street - and all the way from ground 
level up to roofscape.  With streets which show such distinctiveness, 
care should be taken, when considering new proposals, whether to 
mirror the design approach and thereby make this distinctiveness more 
commonplace, or to recognise its uniqueness and seek to incorporate 
local resonance through a different approach.

High Street

Illustrative Mix of Dwelling Types:  a Variety of New Homes for Cookham

PRIVATE HOMES No.

1-bed apartment/maisonette 2

2-bed apartment/maisonette 3

2-bed house 15

3-bed house 50

4-bed house 40

5-bed house 10

Total 120

AFFORDABLE HOMES (40%) No.

1-bed apartment/maisonette 20

2-bed apartment/maisonette 10

2-bed house 20

3-bed house 25

4-bed house 5

5-bed house -

Total 80

TOTAL DWELLINGS 200

types & sizes of the new homes 
- private & housing association

Information regarding the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead Strategic Housing Market Assessment, the local 
housing market, and requirements for specific affordable 
dwellings will be provided here.

33design objectives:  layout

Advice received during the consultation process on this subject 
included:

 B Affordable housing in Cookham is predominantly maisonettes 
and there was a preference for this to carry through into the 
design rather than flats. 

 B Family sized homes are required locally. 
 B Housing should exceed minimum space standards.
 B The scale of the development was discussed, with questions 
asked regarding housing numbers and whether this might be 
less than 200. 

 B Inclusion of family homes with gardens 
 B Inclusion of starter homes 
 B Going beyond minimum standards for new homes 
 B Preference for premium housing types to complement the 
village. 

 B Preference for flats not to be included on the site. 
 B Need for new homes across the country and specifically in 
Cookham. 

 B Family homes. 
 B Homes for those downsizing. 
 B Starter homes for young professionals. 
 B Affordable homes that are truly affordable for those trying to 
buy their first home. 

 B Homes with adequate space for future residents to allow for 
various life events, including possible future restrictions as we 
experienced during Covid-19. 

115



15appendices

streets & spaces  
with a village character

Woodland Crescent
 B Continuing the lower-key frontage enjoying the mature 
woodland outlook into a more spacious greenspace.

Intimate Lanes
 B More compact residential streets - clearly differentiated 
from the main routes and spaces.

Intimate Mews
 B More compact residential courtyards - clearly 
differentiated from the main routes and spaces.

Connecting Green Ribbons
 B Tree-lined streets bringing the green environment into 
the body of the site and connecting the green spaces.

Cannondown Green
 B The front of the site - a more spacious arrangement of 
houses set back behind a landscaped green.

Arthur Green
 B A greenspace with mature trees and hedgerows in the 
body of the site and a more compact street scene.

Lower Mount Green
 B Along the southern boundary - an open space which 
will form part of the varied character of the main street.

Woodland Edge
 B A lower-key frontage enjoying the mature woodland 
outlook.

Green Lanes
 B Short informal lanes which incorporate the existing 
hedgerows along one side as part of their character.

31design objectives:  layout

The Woodland Crescent
Brickwork & contrasting brick detailing 
inspired by Lower Road dwellings

Feature buildings in silver-grey brick 
with red brick detailing - inspired by 
Cookham’s more prominent flint faced 
and grey brick buildings

Generally wide-fronted detached 
houses - giving a more low-key 
character as a backdrop to the space

Spacious layout to the green frontages 
- detached & semi-detached buildings 
with wider gaps & “sky views”

design objectives:  character 38

Feature buildings in silver-grey brick 
with red brick detailing - inspired by 
Cookham’s more prominent flint faced 
and grey brick buildings

Spacious layout to the Cannondown 
Road frontage - detached & semi-
detached buildings with wider gaps & 
“sky views”

Rhythm of gables along the frontage - 
inspired by various street scenes within 
Cookham

characterful architectural 
language & materials

The Cannondown Green

Generally wide-fronted detached 
houses - giving a more low-key 
character to the frontage

Brickwork & contrasting brick detailing 
inspired by Lower Road dwellings

design objectives:  character 36

Apartment building inspired by Moor 
Hall - splayed building form with 
prominent gables, addressing the 
central public green Arthur Green

The existing mature trees and 
landscaping are the focal centre of 
this greenspace - the buildings are 
designed to be “villas within landscape”

design objectives:  character 39

The Connecting Green Ribbon

Avenue of street trees between the 
footway and carriageway - connecting 
the green spaces with a green ribbon

Brickwork & contrasting brick detailing 
inspired by Lower Road dwellings

Feature buildings in silver-grey brick 
with red brick detailing - inspired by 
Cookham’s more prominent flint faced 
and grey brick buildings

A more compact street scene creating 
differentiation from the Cannondown 
frontage and greens

A mixture of generally semi-detached 
houses

design objectives:  character 37

pedestrian, cycle  
& vehicle connections

Pedestrian routes within the development
 B A network of walking connections throughout the 
development.

Main vehicular routes to serve the new homes
 B Sinuous “village streets” through the development.

Pedestrian routes into and out of the development
 B Connecting to Cannondown Road, Whyteladyes Lane, 
the PROW and potentially to the new playing fields.

Minor vehicular entrance from Arthur Close
 B Vehicular access for just a few dwellings, and 
occasional use for emergency vehicles.

Public Right of Way to the northwest of the site
 B Connecting into this attractive recreational route.

Cul-de-sac driveways to serve a few homes
 B Low-key very minor lanes and driveways.

Main vehicular entrance from Cannondown Road
 B Vehicle access to most of the new homes, as well as 
one access for pedestrians.

30design objectives:  layout

116



16appendices

Working Group Session 3 Meeting Note 
May 2022

 

Meeting Note 

Cannondown Road Working Group Session Three  

25 May 2022 

Project team attendees 

• Rob O’Carroll (Bellway) 
• Andrea Kellegher (Turley Strategic Communications) 
• Emily Bell (Turley Strategic Communications) 
• David Murray-Cox (Turley Planning) 
• Andrew Braun (Ardent) 
• Kenji Holdsworth (dha architecture) 
• Ed England (dha architecture) 

Draft Stakeholder Masterplan Document 

1. The purpose of the Stakeholder Masterplan Document (SMD) was outlined by the project team.  

2. It was noted that this document would inform subsequent planning applications for the site. 

3. A member of the working group was concerned that there had been limited time to review the 
document ahead of the meeting. Andrea Kellegher (AK) noted that feedback was encouraged 
following the call until 6 June. 

4. It was questioned whether wider highway networks in Cookham were included in the draft SMD.  

5. There was a query regarding whether the details of a dedicated one-on-one meeting regarding 
wider highway networks with Andrew Braun (AB) were included in the draft SMD. 

6. Ed England (EE) presented the SMD and took working group members through the details the 
document includes.  

7. Kenji Holdsworth (KH) noted how the feedback shared to date had shaped the plans.  

8. The themes discussed are outlined below. 

Density 
9. It was questioned how the density compared to the existing neighbourhoods in Cookham. EE 

noted that the existing density of homes on Lesters Road would compare to that proposed for 
the site.  

10. Working group members were interested to see further detail on the proposed dwelling density, 
and how this could look visually, along with garden sizes.  

Landscaping  
11. It was questioned whether there would be screening to prevent impacts on existing neighbours.  

  

2 

12. Details regarding separation distances between new and existing residents was discussed – 
particularly along Cannondown Road. 

Open space 
13. It was questioned how much open space would be included on site, including the size of the 

landscape buffers. 

14. Working group members questioned who would manage the open space on site. EE noted which 
spaces would likely be taken on by a management company, and which spaces would have 
ecological functions and not be open for public use.  

15. It was noted that there was an existing park for children a few minutes away from the proposed 
play area on site. It was questioned whether there would be a need or if the area would be best 
kept as open space. RO noted the policy requirement for a play area, with EE confirming that this 
could cater for different age groups or include different play facilities (such as gym equipment) 
depending on the local needs.  

16. One working group member noted that the increase in residents could lead to more footfall in 
the existing play area and therefore lead to a need for a new one on site. 

Internal highways 
17. It was questioned how the design would promote a 20mph speed limit through the site.  

18. There was a concern that headlights of vehicles leaving the site could impact on existing residents 
opposite the point of proposed access on Cannondown Road. Andrew Braun (AB) noted that the 
location of the proposed access was selected to minimise impacts on exiting residents, with the 
homes opposite being well screened by hedges and vegetation. AB also noted that the 
topography of the site at the point of access wouldn’t lead to dipped headlights. 

19. It was questioned whether there would be a pedestrian / cycle link at the point of emergency 
access.  

Homes 
20. There were concerns that homes were proposed on the southern boundary of the site, 

specifically in regard to the activity that takes place on Lower Mount Farm and possible impacts 
this could have on future residents.  

21. It was questioned whether the homes to the south of the site impacted on / undermined the 
green link from a biodiversity perspective.  

22. EE noted that further details regarding the proposed homes on site would be provided in due 
course including the provision of amenity space. 

23. It was felt that there were well defined perimeter blocks for new homes, with well-defined public 
and private spaces. However, it was felt that it wasn’t as clear on the southern boundary (beside 
the existing employment area) and the blocks beside the hedgerow (towards the central / 
eastern side of the site). It was felt that, in these areas, there wasn’t a clear definition of public 
and private realm. 

  

3 

24. There was a concern regarding the fencing of boundaries particularly along the southern 
boundary for noise mitigation purposes, with questions regarding use of trees, vertical gardens 
and hedgerows to overcome hard boundary treatments. The particular concern was around 
fencing attracting antisocial behaviour.  

Sustainability  
25. It was questioned what the carbon footprint of the development would be for both the build and 

operation of the site over the next five years. RO noted that there were members of the project 
team focused on sustainability, however they were not on the working group call. It was noted 
that further detail on sustainability and energy would be available in due course.  

26. It was suggested that a representative of the sustainability team be present on the next working 
group meeting.   

Access and movement  

27. It was questioned that, if most vehicles travel right upon leaving the site that they would have to 
cut across existing traffic. It was questioned how this would impact vehicle movements at peak 
hours when new residents are trying to leave the site.   

28. One working group member questioned when wider traffic modelling would be done and when 
the information would be available. AB confirmed that, if the information is available in time it 
will be included at the Stakeholder Masterplan stage – however, if it is not, it will need to be 
included in the subsequent planning application.  

29. It was questioned whether the data on highways assessments undertaken could be made 
available a week or two before the application is submitted for working group members 
awareness.  

30. It was noted that new residents with children of primary school age would likely have to travel by 
car to and from school due to lack of capacity at local schools which could impact on vehicle 
movements at peak hours. 

31. The importance of pedestrian crossings off site to promote safe movement of school children 
was highlighted.  

32. The off-site bus stop provision was discussed. There were concerns that this could cause 
disruption along Cannondown Road if bus stops don’t include a layby to remove the parked buses 
from the traffic flow.  

33. It was questioned whether the Cannondown Road junction had been designed safely as it was 
felt this included a tight curvature. 

34. It was questioned whether there was another development for around 200 homes that had been 
built already which included junctions such as those proposed for this site that residents could 
visit to understand how they might work.   

35. It was noted that a new pedestrian crossing would remove existing parking spaces that are used 
by residents.  

  

4 

36. There were concerns regarding vehicle speeds down Whyteladyes Lane. It was questioned how 
vehicle speeds could be addressed to ensure safety at pedestrian crossing point(s).   

37. It was suggested that internal road alignment and road lighting proposed may not reflect the 
character and what exists in Cookham.   

38. Working group members thanked the project team for investigating alternative vehicle access 
arrangements and clarifying the ownership of Lesters Road. It was questioned whether, despite 
private ownership, pedestrian and cyclist connections could be made via Lesters Road. RO and AB 
noted that Bellway Homes don’t control the land and therefore cannot propose this due to the 
land not falling within the adopted / public highway. It was questioned whether conversations 
had been undertaken with those who own Lesters Road. AB and RO noted they could table the 
question to A2 Dominion who own the land, but there could be no guarantee that such a request 
would be facilitated.   

39. The alleyway near the bottom of Whyteladyes Lane was discussed, with an existing resident 
noting that it was narrow and unlit. It was noted that there are existing ‘no cycling’ signs up, 
however these are not adhered to and the alleyway can be unsafe as a result. It was questioned 
whether this could be taken away, with concerns that the alleyway could become a key route 
through the site via Arthur Close.  

Planning process and timescales  

40. The timescales for the SMD and planning application were discussed. It was confirmed that the 
ambition was to submit the SMD to the Council in August 2022, with a planning application then 
submitted by the end of 2022. 

Character  

41. It was questioned whether the analysis of the character of Cookham was correct with one 
member of the group noting the buildings in the high street date further back then the 18th 
century. 

42. It was felt that there was very little flint used in existing dwellings in Cookham and this was more 
used in civic buildings such as churches and pubs. There was a preference to remove silver / grey 
bricks from the design of new homes.  

43. There was a preference for the green spaces on the frontage of the site, beside Cannondown 
Road, to include more trees and landscaping to filter views into the site.  

44. It was noted that Cookham Rise had existing problems with parking and it was felt that this was 
due to the style of homes. It was felt that design inspiration should be taken from elsewhere in 
Cookham as a result.  

45. It was questioned how many working group members were on the call and whether the vision in 
the SMD would be a shared vision with Cookham more widely.  

46. There was support for the cluster design of the new homes rather than long strees of houses. 
There was a preference for these homes to cluster around green spaces to ensure it fits the local 
character of Cookham.  

117



17appendices

  

5 

47. The illustrative sketches of the open spaces were supported, with members hoping these would 
be delivered and achieved for the site.  

48. The project team were thanked for trying to pick up the character of Cookham. There was 
however a concern that the SMD seemed formulaic and could be representative of any Bellway 
Homes development across the country. There was a hope more local characteristics could be 
incorporated into the designs.  

Summary thoughts  

49. One working group member thanked the team for the working group session and felt that 
everything was moving forwards with there being more positives than the previous working 
group sessions.  

50. It was questioned whether more information could be shared regarding proposed changes to 
section 106 agreements and the Community Infrastructure Levy (Queens Speech 2022) and 
whether this would affect this development. 

51. It was questioned whether the consultation on the proposed changes to the railway bridge had 
been taken into account.  

52. It was noted that the imagery shown in the SMD doesn’t include any streetlights. It was 
questioned whether this meant there wouldn’t be any or whether they were just not included in 
illustrations.  

53. One attendee felt the discussions have been focused on highways and there hasn’t been as much 
focus on design and layout of the site.  

Working Group Feedback 

Feedback was received by working group members both prior to and following the meeting, which is 
outlined below.  

54. There was support for the consultation undertaken to date, with one member noting that, whilst 
there was further work to do it was encouraging to see how far the plans had come. 

55. Highways was referenced in the feedback received including access, impacts on the wider 
highway network and ensuring safety on pinch points including the railway bridge and the High 
Street. 

56. Affordable housing was referenced, with members seeking clarity on the tenure and actual 
affordability. It was questioned whether there was demand for 4-bedroom homes from local 
housing providers. 

57. Pedestrian safety was referenced, with a working group member thinking the Arthur’s Close 
access would resolve pedestrian safety from the west of the site. It was questioned whether 
Bellway Homes could work with the Council to add further pedestrian safety measures along 
Cannondown Road. 

  

6 

58. There was interest in seeing a pedestrian crossing delivered along Whyteladyes Lane for 
pedestrians coming through Arthurs Close. 

59. The open space within the site was discussed, including the landscaping that would front onto 
Cannondown Road. It was noted that the front of Broom Hill off Whyteladyes Lane could be a 
good example of how this can be delivered.  

60. It was questioned how the open space would be managed and who would be responsible for this. 

 

 

118



Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead  
Urban Design Advice 
July 2022

 
 

Dr. Stefan Kruczkowski 
Urban Design Doctor Limited 

Wellington House Serviced Offices, Leicester Road, Ibstock, Leicestershire LE67 6HP 
  
 

1 

 
Urban Design Advice Note: Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
 

Site AL37: Land North of Lower Munt Farm, Long Lane, Cookham 
Date 11 July 2022 
Advisor Dr. Stefan Kruczkowski 

 
Hours allocated 10 

Activity:  
Desk top review and site visit (no on site access). 6 
Write up and issue review notes dated 11 July 2022 4 
Total hours used 10 
Total hours remaining   

 
Please find below my comments following the review of the proposals set out in the 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document (May 2022).  
 
I have visited the site and the wider area. There was no access into the site so I only had 
glimpses from Arthur Close and Cannondale Road.  
 
Integration with the wider area 
A much greater emphasis is needed on active travel. The site is a fair walking distance from 
the village centre and the station; so much so it is unlikely many people will walk from the 
site to these places. However it is within a reasonable cycling distance; however 
connections between the site and these destinations for cyclists are (as with pedestrians), 
poor.  
 
The most direct route between the site entrance and the station is via Cannondown Road. I 
walked this route and found the following barriers to pedestrian and cycle movement: 

- No protected cycle provision (as defined by LTN 1/20). 
- Wide, sweeping radii across Whyteladyes Lane.  
- Narrow and in parts disappearing pavements; absence of lighting; overgrowing 

vegetation.  
- Absence of crossing points.  
- High vehicle speeds.  

 

 
 

Dr. Stefan Kruczkowski 
Urban Design Doctor Limited 

Wellington House Serviced Offices, Leicester Road, Ibstock, Leicestershire LE67 6HP 
  
 

2 

 
Above: speeds will not change if development retreats from Cannondown Road. 
 

 
Above: wide, sweeping radii break pedestrian and cycle desire lines; increase vehicle speeds 
whilst also making them difficult to cross. Off site improvements could reconfigure the radii 
on this junction as part of a development to village centre series of improvements.  
 
Off-site improvements (S106) need to be explored and focused towards inviting active 
travel, focusing on key local destinations (also note that the bus service along Cannondale 
Road is not frequent). Physical improvements will have greater value than travel packs that 
are often funded by S106 contributions. My advice is that these improvements need to 
focus on delivering as much of a protected cycle route (not shared pavement/cycleway, 
although some shared sections might be required due to the space available) from the 
proposed site entrance to the junction with Station Hill – however, there might be other 
routes that can be used. I identified a potential route passing along the western side of 
Elizabeth Close but cyclists are not permitted along this (narrow) path: 

 

 
 

Dr. Stefan Kruczkowski 
Urban Design Doctor Limited 

Wellington House Serviced Offices, Leicester Road, Ibstock, Leicestershire LE67 6HP 
  
 

3 

 
 

 
Above: speeds are an issue locally 

 

 
Above: barriers to pedestrian movement and hazards to blind, partially sighed and 

wheelchair using pedestrians. 

 
 

Dr. Stefan Kruczkowski 
Urban Design Doctor Limited 

Wellington House Serviced Offices, Leicester Road, Ibstock, Leicestershire LE67 6HP 
  
 

4 

 

 
Above: the pavement stops short of the station. Where is the safe and defined route for 

pedestrians? How would someone who was blind or partially sighted navigate form here to 
the station door? 

 

 

18appendices

119



 
 

Dr. Stefan Kruczkowski 
Urban Design Doctor Limited 

Wellington House Serviced Offices, Leicester Road, Ibstock, Leicestershire LE67 6HP 
  
 

5 

 
Above: local cues 

 
Relationship with Cannondale Road 
Speeds are clearly an issue here and raised in stakeholder meetings with local residents. The 
interface between buildings and the street has a significant impact on driver behaviour. You 
can see the difference in driver behaviour between the section of Cannondale Road 
adjacent and the section of The Pound between Station Hill and Terry’s Lane.  
 
By ‘pulling’ development back from the road, we are sending a message to drivers that 
Cannondale has more of a movement than a place function (see Manual for Streets). As 
such, whilst the 30mph sign could be moved southwards, it is unlikely to have a significant 
impact on driver speeds unless a different approach is taken (that does not involve the 
installation of features such as speed cameras).  
 
A different approach is needed that also reflects the character and features of the wider 
area. For this reason, it should be possible to insert a different and softer junction design 
that is better related to the village, calms vehicle speeds and makes it easier (and safer) for 
pedestrians and cyclists to get around and cross Cannondown Road.  
 
I highly recommend a junction based on this concept is explored which is based upon a 
much stronger interface between proposed new homes and Cannondown Road: 
 

 
 

Dr. Stefan Kruczkowski 
Urban Design Doctor Limited 

Wellington House Serviced Offices, Leicester Road, Ibstock, Leicestershire LE67 6HP 
  
 

6 

 
 

Emerging (within red line) masterplan: 
“Our shared vision”: 
“Six clusters of village homes around green islands, connected by a central ribbon” 
 

- Why six clusters? Where have green islands come from?  
- What other visions have been explored?  
- How has this vision emerged? What has been the involvement of officers in this 

vision?  
- What is the connection with place and the connection with current challenges facing 

society?  
- A more meaningful and bespoke vision is required. 

 
Movement network  

- It is important to confirm where points of connection can be achieved. Which ones 
can and should be delivered, focusing on at least pedestrian and cycle connectivity. 
P.30 shows a connection to Arthur Close (which is positive) however, 

- Edge to edge street connections (adoption to red line boundary) is required to the 
southern boundary, western boundary (2 would seem appropriate here); possibly 
the northern boundary (should the site south of The Shaw come forward for 
development, this will allow a connection to be made). It is unclear why a 
connection cannot be made via the southern spur of Lesters Road.    

 
 

Dr. Stefan Kruczkowski 
Urban Design Doctor Limited 

Wellington House Serviced Offices, Leicester Road, Ibstock, Leicestershire LE67 6HP 
  
 

7 

- Internally there appear to be lots of breaks in the adopted street network. A 
connected network of adopted streets are required that create a grid based 
network. The plans appear to suggest a lot of hammerheads and private drives.  

 
Green corridors 

- Are these as strong as they could be, thinking about movement corridors?  
- The eastern hedge appears to be ‘sandwiched’ between back gardens which will 

inevitably lead to erosion and loss. Which are the strongest trees and hedge on the 
site; is there merit in removing this hedgerow (depending on its condition/ecological 
value) and planting a new one elsewhere?  

- Baseline data – what is the progress of the ecological and tree/hedge survey work?  
 
Blue corridors 

- What options are there for storm water management? Are ponds the only way 
water can be managed here?  

- What are the ground/soil conditions; and what options does this offer us here?  
 
Buffers and edge conditions 

- The scheme seems to indicate buffers between existing and new homes; is this 
correct? P.18 seems to suggest a buffer which is the wrong interface. A sensitive 
interface is required and this can be achieved by way of interlocking back gardens, 
21m back to back distances and new homes mirroring the form, plot character, 
storey height and tenure of adjacent homes. A buffer is not required and will be 
problematic in the future as they tend to create secure by design, anti-social 
behaviour and maintenance issues. The allocation is Cookham, not a new settlement 
– as such a buffer is not required and is incompatible with settlement structure and 
how places actually grow and expand.  

- What would be the benefits from exploring different interfaces with the site 
boundaries? For instance has backing onto the southern and western boundaries 
been explored?  

 
Opportunities and development principles – p.19 
This seems to be somewhat premature as this stage. Is it right to fix these fixes? Other 
design principles are set out in the RBWM Design Guide.  
 
P.20 observations: 
- What is meant by “longer rear gardens”? 
- Why should development be pushed away from existing industrial? With a south facing 
aspect and longer rear gardens, a better interface could be achieved that does not 
compromise residential amenity; whilst also allowing the overall quality of the development 
to be improved (we need to closely examine and critique the location of proposed unbuilt 
spaces).  
 
P.21 observations: 

 
 

Dr. Stefan Kruczkowski 
Urban Design Doctor Limited 

Wellington House Serviced Offices, Leicester Road, Ibstock, Leicestershire LE67 6HP 
  
 

8 

- as per previous comments the network is not as strongly connected as it needs to be.  
 
p.22 observations: 
- why should straight roads be avoided?  
- unclear why the development is not a whole rather than a series of character area?  
- as per previous comments, the interface with Cannondale Road is not consistent with a 
‘village feel’.  
- avoiding the use of frontage parking is problematic and needs to be discussed in detail.  
- why are we limiting buildings to two storey heights?  
 
p.23 + observations: 
- a greater focus is needed on active travel and modal shift, considering Gear Change, NHS 
Long Term Plan and LTN1/20.  
- is there scope for land acquisition to improve connectivity?  
- Traffic speeds – why might traffic speeds be so high adjacent to the site? What impact 
does design have on speeds? What visual messages are being sent to drivers?  
- How are we going to resolve or begin to resolve some of the community issues. How do we 
make sure that the default modal choice between the site and the school is not the car? 
How can we encourage and invite parents to cycle their children to school and what barriers 
are there in both the on and off site development proposals? Should a cycling bus be 
explored for parents who cannot cycle their children to school? We have a great 
opportunity here to design in active travel from day one, capitalising on the seismic shift in 
working patterns where parents are often working from home some or all of the week.  
 
p.26 observations 
- what other options have been explored taking into account LTN1/20. 
- how can people get to the bus stop easily? A zebra is needed.  
- bus service runs at best once an hour.  
 
p.29 observations 
- what other options have been explored?  
- how can new ecological corridors and connections be integrated with those beyond the 
site?  
- is there scope dark corridors across the site, perhaps east-west and/or north-south? 
 
p.30 observations 
- as per previous comments edge to edge connections are needed.  
 
p.31 observations + Character analysis 
- the character anaylsis identifies urban grain and street characteristics that include the 
pattern of plots. However it is not clear how all this translates into the proposals. For 
example, take the approach to trees within streets. How does this reflect how and where 
trees are planted in the more distinctive parts of the villages?  

 
 

Dr. Stefan Kruczkowski 
Urban Design Doctor Limited 

Wellington House Serviced Offices, Leicester Road, Ibstock, Leicestershire LE67 6HP 
  
 

9 

- the street pattern does not look as strong as it needs to be by virtue of breaks in street 
connectedness and the alignment/shape of streets and spaces.  
 
p.32 + observations 
- the CGIs could be anywhere. It looks generic and has no obvious connection to the deeper 
characteristics identified.  
 
Summary: 
Whilst there is positive design intent in this document and the process to date, there remain 
significant design risks in that the document does not fix key fixes and seeks to fix things 
that I am not convinced we should be fixing without exploring other options first. Design 
intent must be much stronger. 
 
I recommend that we organise (as part of the PPA) a site meeting with the applicant and 
their designers once they have had the opportunity to review these comments.  
 
I trust these comments are of assistance.  
 
Stefan  
 
 
 

19appendices

120



20appendices

Invitation Flyer to Community Drop-in 
Event, Webinar & SMD Consultation 
September 2022

Artist impression to show what the development could look like

Join our consultation events 
As you may be aware, Bellway Homes is progressing 
plans for approximately 200 new homes at Land west 
of Cannondown Road. As part of the planning process, 
Bellway Homes have now prepared a draft Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document (SMD) which has been shaped 
by the feedback received through engagement with 
the local community, the Cannondown Road Working 
Group and local stakeholders. 

We are holding a formal, four-week consultation on the 
draft SMD and invite you to share your feedback with 
us by Wednesday 19th October 2022 before we finalise 
and submit the document to Windsor and Maidenhead 
Borough Council for their approval. Once approved, the 
SMD will serve as a background document to inform 
and shape future Planning Applications for the site.

As part of this consultation process, we would like  
to invite you to attend our community events.   
Details are provided overleaf. 

Land west of Cannondown Road 
Cookham  

How can I find out more and 
share my feedback? 
Join our community event

A drop-in community event will be held between  
3 – 7pm on Tuesday 27th September at Cookham 
Dean Cricket Club, Ricketts Field, Whyteladyes Lane,  
SL6 9LF, where you will be able to view details  
of the draft SMD and share your feedback with us. 

Email contact@cannondownroad.co.uk 

Phone 0808 1688 296 and a member of the 
project team will get back to you 

Visit our website at www.cannondownroad.co.uk 

Attend our webinar 

A live webinar and Q&A session will be held  between 
6-7pm on Thursday 29th September. The event will 
include a presentation from the project team, along 
with the opportunity for you to ask any questions  
you may have. Register to attend via our website at 
www.cannondownroad.co.uk. 

You can find out more information and contact us by:

121



21appendices

Land west of Cannondown Road 
Cookham  

Welcome to our consultation 
event on the draft Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document 

Land west of Cannondown 
Road, Cookham
Bellway Homes is progressing plans for approximately 200 new 
homes at Land west of Cannondown Road. As part of the planning 
process, Bellway Homes have now prepared a draft Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document (SMD) which has been shaped by the 
feedback received through engagement with the local community, 
the Cannondown Road Working Group and local stakeholders.

We are holding a formal, four-week consultation on the draft SMD 
and invite you to share your feedback with us before we finalise and 
submit the document to Windsor and Maidenhead Borough Council 
for their approval.

Set up 
Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group and 
hold first 
session

Submit 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document 
for Council 
approval 

March / April September / October 

Formal 4 week consultation on  
Stakeholder Masterplan Document

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group second 
session

Hold online /  
in person 
community 
events to 
workshop  
the plans

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group third 
session

Draft 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document 
prepared for 
consultation

Hold online /  
in person 
community 
events on 
the proposed 
masterplan

Cannondown 
Road Working 
Group fourth 
session

March April / May June / July

What is a Stakeholder 
Masterplan process?
As part of the adopted Borough Local Plan (2013 – 2033), the council 
has committed to working with landowners and developers to 
prepare ‘stakeholder masterplans’ for developments above the 
stipulated threshold. The process requires developers to engage 
with the council, local community and other stakeholders at an early 
stage in the development process and provides a framework for the 
preparation and submission of the subsequent planning application. 

What has happened already?
A number of community events have been held already to seek 
feedback on our design approach, principles and vision for the site. 
These have included community meetings with stakeholders along 
with forming a working group with local stakeholders and residents. 
We are committed to continuing to engage with the community as 
we progress our plans. The programme for events  is included below.  

Illustrative view to show how the development could look from Cannondown Road

Land west of Cannondown Road 
Cookham  

Landscape and Greenspace plan

You said, we listened 

We have listened to the feedback we’ve received through the Stakeholder 
Masterplan process. A summary of feedback on the key development principles 
and how this has been responded to is outlined below.

Landscape and greenspace 
You provided a range of feedback regarding the landscaping and 
open spaces provided on the site. A summary of the key themes 
is included below. A full list is included in the draft Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document.

• Green and blue infrastructure is important to any future 
development – with the need to retain hedges to the east and 
a natural boundary to the west to give a countryside edge to 
the development.

• Retain the existing tree line, and as many trees as possible in 
general on site including some mature planting to filter views.

• Ease of access to green open spaces beyond the site for 
existing residents.

• Provide public open space at the western end of the site to 
provide a transition into the countryside with the front of the 
site to stay green and open.

• Include safe play spaces which are suitable for children of all 
ages and integrate spaces that support social interaction.

• Preference against exposed rear gardens and obscured parking 
to avoid security issues.

• Publicly accessible open space for those with disabilities – 
including flat pathways for ease of access.

• Public footpaths to Cookham Deane and the Greenbelt for 
walking dogs.

We have responded to these points through our evolved Landscape and Greenspace plan shown on this banner.

Land west of Cannondown Road 
Cookham  

Residential areas
You said:
• Development should be away from the industrial units 

but not pushed up against the existing neighbours.

• Preference for a density that complements existing 
properties in Cookham.

We have responded to these through our evolved 
Residential Areas plan.

Movement network
You said:
• Desire for more direct pedestrian routes.

• Additional pedestrian / cycle links would encourage future 
residents to use active methods of travel. 

• A safe link to the secondary school could be beneficial.

• Three points of vehicular access would help to retain the 
village character.

• Three points of access on the parish council masterplan 
came from a place-making perspective and are high-level 
at this stage in terms of technical input.

• No need for a footpath going west from the site, as it only 
leads to a single-track road with no pavement.

Our technical highways team have considered your feedback 
and we have responded to these through our evolved 
Movement Network plan.

You said, we listened 

Artist impression of how the Green Village Streets could look 

Community Drop-in Event 
Presentation Boards 
September 2022

122



22appendices

Land west of Cannondown Road 
Cookham  

Illustrative Masterplan

Our proposed layout takes consideration of the preliminary stage 
design principles, technical assessments and feedback received 
during the consultation undertaken to date. 

The illustrative masterplan shows how the development could be 
laid out, with additional details on display today and within the draft 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document. The details include ‘landscaping’, 
‘ecological areas and connections’, ‘pedestrian, cycle and vehicle 
connections’ and ‘village character’.

Find out more and share your feedback 
As we finalise the Stakeholder Masterplan Document, we would 
like to invite you to share your feedback with us and let us know   
if you think anything is missing from the document. 
The deadline for consultation responses is Wednesday 19th 
October, please submit your comments by this date.

What happens next?
Following the consultation deadline, we will finalise and submit the 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document to Windsor and Maidenhead 
Borough Council for their approval. Subject to approval, we 
would then seek planning permission for the site which would 
be progressed in line with the principles agreed through this 
Stakeholder Masterplan process. 

Email contact@cannondownroad.co.uk

Phone our Freephone number 0808 168 8296 and leave a message for a member                  
of the team to call you back

Complete a feedback form at, or following, today’s event

View the information on display today and share your feedback with us online at                  

www.cannondownroad.co.uk scan the QR code to be directed to the website

Have your say

The evolving Masterplan

To find out more and share any comments or questions with us, please:

Land west of Cannondown Road 
Cookham  

Public landscaped areas & sustainable drainage

Replacement linear green corridor to include native species planting and 
additional green links with the existing woodland to the east. Potential inclusion 
of a Local Area of Play (LAP) for younger children overlooked by new dwellings, 
and nature trails extending through the woodland walks provide new residents 
with an increased level of access to nature.

Central green spine running south through the development
to be retained, enhanced and integrated within the
layout ensuring the green infrastructure runs through the
developable areas. A trim trail incorporating a mix of natural
timber themed children’s play elements and adult exercise
equipment will create a useable and interesting recreational
space located at the heart of the development and set within
an established landscape framework. A community orchard
will also form part of the spine and will enhance foraging for wildlife.

Existing woodland retained 
and enhanced with additional 
native planting incorporating 
a 10m buffer with wildflower 
grassland and scrub planting. 
A network of informal 
pedestrian routes and 
woodland walk are created 
to provide variation in the 
recreational opportunities. 
This will maintain a 
robust green edge to the 
development and provides 
a high degree of visual and 
physical containment from 
the wider landscape setting 
and elevated topography the 
to west.

Attenuation basin to double up as a kickabout space to 
provide informal recreation opportunities and increase 
the useability of the attenuation feature which will 
remain dry during the majority of the year. Species rich 
wildflower grassland provides ecological and biodiversity 
enhancements within the localised setting and adds to the 
green infrastructure network through the development.

Development has incorporated long views 
from higher ground towards Cliveden House 
to the east. View corridors created through 
careful orientation of the road layout, set back 
to thebuilt form and avenue tree planting. 
Additional views across the open greenspace

Built form to be set back from the south eastern boundary 
with Cannondown Road and large area of open space 
provides a green corridor and high quality landscape 
entrance to the development. New native structural 
planting adjacent to the road corridor will provide 
enhancements to the streetscene whilst visually softening 
views of the proposed built form.

New native woodland, tree, hedge and scrub planting 
to link with retained woodland along the western site 
boundary and provide new habitat creation. The large oval 
shaped area of greenspace will be created with houses 
overlooking the space and incorporating species-rich 
wildflower grassland will create biodiversity enhancements, 
new habitats as part of an ecological landscape zone and 
double up as SuDS features.

Potential for inclusion of Local 
Area of Play (LAP) set within a high 
quality greenspace at the entrance 
to the site, using natural and timber 
themed elements.

Land west of Cannondown Road 
Cookham  

Village character

We have considered your feedback as we’ve designed our proposals for the 
character and look of the new homes, along with our analysis of the streets  
and buildings within the existing village. 

2

3

4

51

Streets and spaces with a village character

Cannondown Green
The front of the site - a more spacious 
arrangement of houses set back behind a 
landscaped green.

Arthur Green
A greenspace with mature trees and hedgerows
in the body of the site and a more compact 
street scene.

Lower Mount Green
Along the southern boundary - an open space
which will form part of the varied character of 
the main street.

Woodland Edge
A lower-key frontage enjoying the mature
woodland outlook.

Woodland Crescent
Continuing the lower-key frontage enjoying the
mature woodland outlook into a more spacious
greenspace.

Northern Green
A linear greenspace which marks the end of
the(vehicular) journey through the site.

Green Village Streets
Tree-lined streets bringing the green 
environment into the body of the site and 
connecting the green spaces.

Intimate Lanes
More compact residential streets - clearly
differentiated from the main routes and spaces.

123



23appendices

Land west of Cannondown Road 
Cookham  

Ecological areas & connections

Retained Woodland and Woodland Buffer: Woodland corridor wholly retained 
within a 10 metre buffer from the development footprint, with the buffered area 
to incorporate wildflower grassland and new native tree and scrub planting.

Hedgerows to be bolstered:
Existing hedgerows to be bolstered
with additional native planting where
necessary to strengthen connectivity
to adjoining hedgerows/treelines
both on and off-site.

Newly Created Habitat: New 
species-rich native hedgerows 
and trees to be planted

Enhanced Bat Roosting and Bird 
Nesting Opportunities: Roosting and 
nesting opportunities for bats and birds 
to be enhanced via the inclusion of bat 
and bird boxes.

Retained Hedgerows and Treelines: Most 
hedgerows and treelines retained, with the 
exception of minor areas of loss to facilitate 
access and services, with losses fully replaced 
elsewhere on-site.

Retained Open Space: Areas of
open space to incorporate new
wildflower grassland and native
trees and scrub planting.

Off-site Connected Habitat:
Retained habitats, including
woodland, hedgerows, treelines
and minor areas of scrub will remain
connected to off-site linear habitat
(treelines and hedgerows) to the
north-west, north-east, south-west
and south-east of the site.

Land west of Cannondown Road 
Cookham  

Pedestrian, cycle and vehicle connections

Pedestrian routes within the 
development
A network of walking connections 
throughout the development.

Pedestrian routes into and out    
of the development
Connecting to Cannondown Road, 
Whyteladyes Lane, the PROW and 
potentially to the new playing fields.

Public Right of Way to the northwest  
of the site
Connecting into this attractive  
recreational route.

Main vehicular entrance from 
Cannondown Road
Vehicle access to most of the new 
homes, as well as one of the accesses  
for pedestrians

Minor vehicular entrance    
from Arthur Close
Vehicular access for a small number 
of dwellings, pedestrian access, and 
occasional use for emergency vehicles.

Main vehicular routes to serve   
the new homes
Sinuous “village streets” through   
the development

Secondary vehicular routes to serve   
the new homes
Sinuous “village streets” through the 
development

Cul-de-sac driveways to serve   
a few homes
Low-key minor lanes and driveways.

124



24appendices

Community Drop-in Event 
Feedback Form 
September 2022

Land west of Cannondown Road 
Cookham  

Question 1: Landscape and greenspaces 

We received a range of feedback regarding the landscaping and open spaces provided on the site. We have 
responded to these through our evolved Landscape and Greenspace plan. Is there anything else you think we 
should consider regarding landscape and greenspaces?

Question 2: Residential areas

Feedback noted that development should be away from the industrial units but not pushed up against the 
existing neighbours and that there was a preference for a density that complements existing properties in 
Cookham. We have responded to these through our evolved Residential Areas plan. Is there anything else you 
think we should consider regarding residential areas?

Question 3: Movement

We received a range of feedback regarding pedestrian, cycle and vehicular movement for the site. Our technical 
highways team have considered your feedback and we have responded to these through our evolved Movement 
Network plan. Is there anything else you think we should consider regarding movement?

Have your say 
We are holding a formal, four-week consultation on our draft Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document and invite you to share your feedback with us before we finalise and submit  
the document to Windsor and Maidenhead Borough Council for their approval.

We encourage you to complete this feedback form today. You can also share your feedback via:

• Visiting our website and completing a digital form at www.cannondownroad.co.uk 

• Emailing contact@cannondownroad.co.uk 

• Phoning 0808 1688 296 and a member of the project team will get back to you

• Joining our live webinar and Q&A session, which will be held between 6-7pm on Thursday 29th September 

Comment

Comment

Comment

Question 4: Streets and spaces with a village character

We have considered feedback as we’ve designed our proposals for the character and look of the new homes, 
along with our analysis of the streets and buildings within the existing village. We have created character areas 
and Computer Generated Images (GCIs) to show how these homes could look. Is there anything else you think 
we should consider regarding the character of development? 

Question 5: General comments

Are there any other comments or questions you have that you’d like to share with us? Please note if this relates to 
a specific page number or Chapter of the Stakeholder Masterplan Document.

Comment

Comment

The information you provide will be used only for the purposes of keeping you informed about this project 
and for understanding public opinion on the project. It will be stored securely until completion of the project, 
after which this information will be deleted. Your information will only be shared with third parties for the 
express purpose of keeping you informed of the proposals, and with Bellway Homes and/or the relevant local 
authority where there is a legal obligation to do so. It will not be forwarded on to any other third parties.  
You can contact us at any time to request the deletion of your information.      
Please contact us at contact@cannondownroad.co.uk 

Name:

Email:

Address:

Yes – keep me updated on the project

Do you wish to receive project updates?

About you

125



25appendices

Working Group Session 4 
October 2022

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham 

Working Group Session 4 - October 2022

Agenda

• Welcome 

• Process update

• Consultation and feedback to 

date

• Stakeholder masterplan 

document – key features 

• Next steps

Programme, process and purpose  

Feedback received 

• Move energy and sustainability section to be incorporated into the main document 
• Better integrate heritage into the main document
• Move inspiration pages to Appendix
• Urban design comments on:

• How the references have translated into the imagery and approach
• Materials and inclusion of the timber framed details
• Use of cul-de-sacs, hammerheads – impact on connectivity 

• Update images to include solar PV on the roofs 
• The location of the 6 ‘villages’ not clear in the masterplan 
• Some of the requirements in the AL37 proforma do not get covered in the masterplan – air quality/pollution 

from adjoining industrial site for example 
• Not clear on how much of the affordable housing would be social rented 
• Comments on presentation, i.e. font size

Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead
Feedback received 

Principle / Support 
• Support for the proposals – noting need for new 

homes and how well the plans had responded to 
feedback 

• Objection for the proposals – noting scale, traffic, 
drainage, and impact on public services 

Access 
• Questions asked whether there would be pedestrian 

access through Arthur Close into the site

• Support for pedestrian access through Arthur Close 
for people trying to get to the secondary school

• Support for vehicular access through Arthur Close to 
a small number of homes only

• Objection to vehicular access through Arthur Close 
due to safety of Whyteladyes Lane

• It was felt that access through Lesters Road was 
desirable

Highways
• Vehicle speeds off site are high at the rear of the 

station 

• Need for a better bus service 

Community (events and forms) - 1 
Feedback received 

House type
• Support for affordable housing provision on the site

• Support for 2 bed homes

• Support for smaller dwellings 
• A request was made to provide homes for younger 

people
• Support for the self-build properties
Design
• Happy to see that the suggestion to use Broom Hill 

as a precedent had been taken into consideration 

• Consideration needed for boundary treatments for 
those at Lesters Road

• Move the park proposed next to Cannondown Road 
further into the site

• Frontage hedge needed to minimise visual impact
• Homes to be kept under 3 stories 
• Include gardens 
• Be sensitive of the Stanley Spencer setting 
Scale
• Some felt that the number of homes was too large 

for the site / Cookham

• The density proposed could impact on the character 
of Cookham 

Community (events and forms) - 2  

126



26appendices

Feedback received 

Utilities 
• It was questioned if there was enough capacity in 

the local network to provide the energy (electricity) 
for the new homes 

• It was questioned how the sewerage would be 
discharged 

• Concern about Thames Water and drainage for the 
site 

Public services
• Concern about capacity of local education facilities 

Timeframes 
• Questions on timeframes for planning process and 

construction 

Planning 
• It was questioned how the consultation on the tall 

buildings SPD will be considered as part of the 
proposals and whether this would lead to tall 
buildings on the site

Community (events and forms) - 3 

Stakeholder Masterplan Document 
Key features Village character

The site

Landscape areas

The site

Character areas Character areas

127



27appendices

Character areas Character areas Character areas

Next steps

Any outstanding 
issues on the draft 

Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document? 

QA discussion

Consultation 
closes on the 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document 

Wednesday 19th 
October

Preparation of the 
final Stakeholder 

Masterplan 
Document

Submit finial 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 

Document for 
approval by the 

Council

Q&A Session

Working Group Session 4 - October 2022

128



Working Group Session 4 Meeting Note 
October 2022

Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead  
Meeting Note 
October 2022

28appendices

 

Meeting Note 

Cannondown Road Working Group Session Four  

6 October 2022 

Project team attendees 

• Rob O’Carroll (Bellway) 
• Andrea Kellegher (Turley Strategic Communications) 
• David Murray-Cox (Turley Planning) 
• Andrew Braun (Ardent) 
• Ed England (dha architecture) 

Welcome and purpose 

1. Andrea Kellegher (AK) provided a welcome to the meeting and ran through the purpose of the 
fourth working group session - to share a summary of the feedback we have received from the 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document (SMD) consultation events held in September 2022 and 
discuss any further detail of the draft SMD. 

2. A PowerPoint presentation was shared with the working group members, AK detailed a summary 
of the feedback received from the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM) and the 
local community to date, and Ed England (EE) presented changes made to the SMD / masterplan 
since the previous working group meeting, noting how the feedback has shaped the plans.  

3. During the question and answer session the following themes were discussed. 

Design  

4. A request was made for more detail on the ‘six villages’ approach, what form they will take and 
how many homes sit in each village area. It was questioned whether these areas are villages or 
character areas - in which case is village the right describing word? It was suggested that the 
areas be called “trente-deux”.  

5. A request was made for a more detailed layout to better understand where homes would be 
located and the density of development.  

6. It was questioned how the self-build homes would work. Rob O’Carroll (RO) explained that they 
would be agreed with the Council under the S.106 agreement and added to the council’s self-
build register.  

7. RBWM officer representative, Ian Motuel (IM) explained further that the council is looking to 
create guidance through an SPD on the approach to delivering self-build properties.   

  

  

2 

Highways  

8. One member noted that they were unhappy with there only being one access point into the site 
and asked that the project team continue to assess whether there is an opportunity for a second 
access point to be integrated. It was questioned whether examples could be given of other sites 
that have 200 homes and only one main access point.  

9. The access via Arthurs Close was discussed and it was questioned how the design would prevent 
people accessing the wider site at this point.   

10. It was noted that a planning application for Spencer’s Farm had been submitted which quantified 
the effect of Hollands Farm and provided traffic data, which set out that 16% of Cookham’s traffic 
will pass the Cannondown Road site. It was questioned whether the traffic assessments carried 
out for the Cannondown Road site take into account the Spencer’s Farm planning application.  

11. Andrew Braun (AB) explained that a scoping note will be consulted upon with the RBWM 
highways team to agree principles and modelling to carry out the traffic assessment.  

Landscaping  

12. It was requested that the access into the site, and the development area, be well concealed 
behind high hedges and landscaping.  

Services and infrastructure  

13. It was noted that the site has poor access to local schools, and that schools in the area have 
limited capacity.  

14. It was noted that infrastructure (services and highways) needs to be addressed as part of future 
applications and the SMD, which should include a section on infrastructure. 

Management 

15. It was questioned whether the new roads would be adopted highway and who would manage 
the public open spaces. RO noted that, where possible, the highways would be adopted and a 
management company would take on the open spaces for an agreed period before handing 
control to the development’s residents who will decide the management approach they would 
like to adopt.  

Energy and sustainability  

16. It was acknowledged that the SMD includes further detail on sustainability than before, which is 
positive, and there was support for the proposed PV panels shown on the CGIs. It was questioned 
what the effect of the homes would have over a 5-year period and the equivalent of output 
carbon footprint excess to Cookham Rise.  

17. RO explained that this is currently being considered and that RWMB have an Interim Position 
Statement on developments being zero carbon or making an offset contribution toward projects 
within the borough that reduce carbon. 

  

3 

18. It was questioned whether the homes would include batteries for the PV panels and grey water 
features. RO explained that the specific house design is to be finalised, but is likely to include 
water limiting measures / water efficient appliances etc.  

Tall buildings SPD 

19. Consultation on the Council’s Tall buildings SPD was raised by members of the group. IM noted 
that the SPD consultation was currently live and the draft document being consulted on proposes 
that the site could accommodate up to 3 storeys. IM made it clear that the document was out for 
consultation and that RBWM welcome comments on the draft SPD – with the view to adopt the 
document at the end of the year.  

20. The working group members felt that 3 storey buildings on the site would be out of character and 
there was a preference to integrate design features that make buildings distinctive and not as 
tall.     

Housing  

21. It was questioned how much affordable housing will be provided on site, what housing mix and 
tenure spilt is proposed, and what proportion of the new homes would have disabled access. RO 
explained that the scheme proposed 40% affordable homes, 30% M4(2) compliant (for disabled 
access) 5%M4(3) (wheelchair accessible) and the housing mix was to be agreed with RBWM.  

Noise 

22. It was questioned how noise from the industrial estate is being mitigated against. RO explained 
that site surveys have been carried out on noise and the recommendation was to include a 3m 
high noise attenuation fence as well as localised enhancements such as triple glazing and vents. 
In addition, the site layout has been designed to account for potential noise from the estate via a 
green buffer.   

Planning application  

23. When asked if all technical work had taken place to date to allow for an imminent planning 
application submission, RO explained that the planning application is likely to submitted early 
next year. This is to ensure that all the right detail has been gathered and that the SMD has been 
the focus as this needs to be approved in advance of any planning application being submitted.  

24. It was questioned whether air pollution would be assessed as part of the application. It was 
noted that it would be and Bellway Homes appointed consultants would carry this out. 

25. It was questioned whether a full application would be submitted. RO explained that two different 
applications would be submitted to correspond with land ownership areas.  

Meeting Note - LPA Meeting 27.10.22 via Teams

E England - DHA
R O’Carroll - Bellway
D Murray-Cox - Turley
S Kruczkowski - RBWM/Urban Design Doctor
G Thornton- RBWM
S Saadeh - RBWM

Actions following meeting:

• LAYOUT - minimise cul-de-sacs & driveways - replace pedestrian-only routes alongside POS 
with connected vehicular lanes. Connected streets will need to be provided throughout.

• LAYOUT - ensure tree lined streets are provided - introduce variety with different tree 
configurations.

• DOCUMENT - remove the character areas pages - complicated and appear difficult to relate 
to Cookham - replace with 3 simple street characters based on street typologies, with cross 
sections.

• DOCUMENT - remove the architectural character images - these aspects should be for 
consideration at application stage not SMD stage.

• DOCUMENT - remove the detailed schedule of accommodation - this should be for 
consideration at application stage not SMD stage.

• DOCUMENT - provide information on drainage strategy.

129



29appendices

Cookham Parish Council  
Consultation Response 
October 2022

Troy Planning + Design is the trading name for:  
UK: Troy Hayes Planning Limited, 41-42 Foley Street, London W1W 7TS. Company Registration 8533500 
USA: Troy Planning and Design LLC, 329 NE Couch Street, Portland, Oregon 97232. Business Registration 1045328-90  
NL: Troy Planning and Design B.V., Herengracht 420, 1017BZ Amsterdam. Establishment number (Vestigingsnummer) 000041252217 
 
This message may contain confidential information and is intended only for the addressee.  
 

along with the design codes, guidelines and links to the Village Design Statement.   The 
work reflects good practice design and place-making principles and, as appropriate, is 
referenced in this response, particularly in respect of matters such as character, access 
and integration with the existing built form. 

Character Areas and Block Structure 

The Cannondown Road masterplan, at page two, introduces a vision for the site as ‘six 
villages, each with its own village green, connected by tree-lined streets’.  This is repeated 
on page 29 of the masterplan. 

It is entirely unclear from the masterplan where the ‘six villages’ are.  The Parish can see 
that there are potentially three interlinked clusters which might form different areas of 
character, or ‘villages’ (being: (i) to the east of the site; (ii) to the middle of the site west 
of Arthur Close; and (iii) to the north west of the site adjacent to Lesters Road). 

The plan on page 29 however appears to be less about ‘villages’ and more about the 
character of different streets and spaces within the scheme, some of which cut across the 
site and bind elements of the scheme together.  Whilst it is quite right to develop and 
design different areas of character, creating interest and variety within the scheme, this 
is confused with the vision statement. 

The identification of ‘intimate lanes’ on the masterplan image also appears confused.  The 
inference is that these are small, human scale streets and spaces, perhaps based around 
shared streets and cottage style homes (not dissimilar to the images of existing streets in 
Cookham shown on page 58).  However, the block plan on page 28 indicates these to have 
a fractured environment, with discontinuous frontages and with what appears to be open 
space between them.  Without any supporting visuals or street cross sections it is difficult 
to understand what the masterplan is proposing in these locations.  These are assumed, 
from the block plans, to be the location of apartments, with the green spaces including 
areas of communal parking.  The Parish expects to see more information on how these 
spaces will be resolved such that public and private areas are well-defined, with clear 
‘fronts and ‘backs’.  In this regard, the RBWM Borough-Wide Design Guide states: 

• Large developments should incorporate blocks that create a clearly defined street 
network (Principle 6.4). 

• All plot boundaries will be expected to be clearly and strongly defined, especially 
those to the front of the site.  Proposals with weak or absent plot definition will be 
resisted (Principle 6.5). 

• Developments that leave space with unclear ownership with be resisted (Principle 
6.6). 

It is noted that the block structure in the eastern part of the site has changed from the 
previous layout (as illustrated on page 16 of the masterplan – and by way of the section 
divider on page 22).  The Parish suggests that the block structure in the previous version 
of the masterplan was more successfully resolved, with streets and frontages either side 
of the central band of landscaping being aligned, creating well defined, permeable places.  

Troy Planning + Design is the trading name for:  
UK: Troy Hayes Planning Limited, 41-42 Foley Street, London W1W 7TS. Company Registration 8533500 
USA: Troy Planning and Design LLC, 329 NE Couch Street, Portland, Oregon 97232. Business Registration 1045328-90  
NL: Troy Planning and Design B.V., Herengracht 420, 1017BZ Amsterdam. Establishment number (Vestigingsnummer) 000041252217 
 
This message may contain confidential information and is intended only for the addressee.  
 

The revised structure, with streets and building frontages offset from each other creates 
a disjointed structure with ‘leaky’ spaces between these.  It is unclear how this will help 
create a sense of place. 

Green Infrastructure 

The provision of a green landscaped corridor alongside Cannondown Road, with 
development set behind this, is supported, reflecting the rural character, height and scale 
of development in Cookham Rise. 

The plan illustrated on page 13 of the masterplan (entitled ‘agreeing the key development 
principles’) indicates: 

1. A band of existing trees running across the western part of the site, aligned with 
the southern boundary of properties on Whyteladyes Lane.  Notes on this page of 
the masterplan include ‘retain the exiting tree line, and as many trees as possible 
in general on the site’.  The retention of this treeline is reflected in the ‘parameter’ 
plans indicated on pages 14 and 15 of the masterplan.  However, the revised 
masterplan on page 16 then shows the tree line having been removed.  The Plan 
on page 23 notes a ‘replacement liner green corridor’ to the north of this.  The 
Parish questions why it is necessary to remove and reprovide the corridor.  This 
has not been explained or justified in the masterplan.  Where it is essential to 
reprovide trees, the Parish suggest that they should be replaced with mature 
species. 

2. The plan on page 13 also highlights the existing tree belt and associated green 
space running north south through the site from Arthur Close towards the 
adjacent employment area.  The tree belt wraps around the employment area and 
out towards the surrounding countryside.  It forms an important network of 
connected green spaces, particularly for the movement of wildlife.  At previous 
‘Working Group’ sessions the point was made that these green connections 
should be retained.  This is shown on the parameter plans on pages 14 and 15 of 
the masterplan.  However, the masterplan illustrated on page 16 shows 
development on the southern edge of the site breaking this green corridor.  This 
also undermines the potential for delivery of a connected network of green 
infrastructure running east west along the southern boundary of the site and 
where the landscaping can help provide a buffer to the adjacent employment 
area.  Furthermore, the ‘breaking’ of this area means that development either 
side of the tree belt begins to bleed into each other, undermining the stated vision 
for creation of a series of ‘mini-villages’.  Development in this area also appears to 
be located above the underground gas service routes indicated in the plan on page 
11.  It is unclear whether development in this particular location is indeed feasible 
or whether there is a need for service corridors or similar to be incorporated 
within the layout.  The Parish suggests that the routing of the underground 
services should be accommodated through provision of green corridors. 

3. The plan on page 13 shows, in the south west corner of the site, ‘greenspace in 
the best areas for rainwater drainage’ and, next to this, ‘greenspace buffer to 

Troy Planning + Design is the trading name for:  
UK: Troy Hayes Planning Limited, 41-42 Foley Street, London W1W 7TS. Company Registration 8533500 
USA: Troy Planning and Design LLC, 329 NE Couch Street, Portland, Oregon 97232. Business Registration 1045328-90  
NL: Troy Planning and Design B.V., Herengracht 420, 1017BZ Amsterdam. Establishment number (Vestigingsnummer) 000041252217 
 
This message may contain confidential information and is intended only for the addressee.  
 

Lower Mount Farm’.  As above, this is reflected in the parameter plans on pages 
14 and 15.  However, this is not reflected in the masterplan on page 16, with 
development shown as being located right up to the southern boundary of the 
site.  Whilst this helps create a well-defined crescent shaped space in the south 
west corner of the site (indicated as the ‘Woodland Crescent’ on page 29), it 
undermines the connectivity of green space on the site.  Local Plan Policy NR2 
(criterion 3) states that ‘development proposals shall also avoid the loss of 
biodiversity and the fragmentation of existing habitats’.  Local Plan Policy NR3 
(criterion 1) states that ‘development proposals shall maximise opportunities for 
creation, restoration, enhancement and connection of natural habitats as an 
integral part of proposals’. 

The masterplan should be revised to show a connected network of green spaces around 
and though the masterplan site.  As part of this, the Parish would be interested to 
understand how it is proposed to deliver biodiversity net-gains and what the process for 
managing these in perpetuity are. 

Access 

As noted by various parties during the workshop sessions, there are a number of traffic 
concerns associated with Cannondown Road that do not appear to have been fully 
considered and resolved through the masterplanning process.  It is a busy road where 
congestion is experienced, with the railway arch constricting traffic flow.  This, plus the 
crossing of the road by pedestrians, including school children, also raises safety concerns. 

Linked to this, comments have previously been made as to the need to provide multiple 
points of access into the site.  This is considered important in helping to disburse traffic, 
build resilience into the network, and support safer routes for all to and from the site. 

The potential for creating a point of access from Lesters Road has been discussed at 
‘Working Group’ sessions.  The Parish notes that, following previous comments, the 
proposed block structure in the north western part of the site has been revised, with the 
central street within the site aligned with Lesters Road.  This change is welcomed, 
potentially allowing a connection between the site and the Lesters Road area to be made 
at a future date. 

Comments made during the ‘Working Group’ sessions have requested that a direct access 
be made between the site and Lesters Road.  This is important for the purposes of 
community integration and cohesion, supporting active travel and resilience in the 
network.  A direct route at this point will be safer and more conducive to walking and 
cycling.  Although links do exist at present, these are routed to the rear of and between 
properties to the west of Lesters Road.  This does not present an attractive proposition 
for people wishing to walk of cycle. 

Whilst appreciating that the land between the site and Lesters Road is in the ownership 
of a third party, the masterplan simply refers to this as a reason for not making a direct 
connection at this point.  The Parish has not seen any evidence to show that attempts 
have been made to deliver this connection.  It is requested that efforts are made to 

Troy Planning + Design is the trading name for:  
UK: Troy Hayes Planning Limited, 41-42 Foley Street, London W1W 7TS. Company Registration 8533500 
USA: Troy Planning and Design LLC, 329 NE Couch Street, Portland, Oregon 97232. Business Registration 1045328-90  
NL: Troy Planning and Design B.V., Herengracht 420, 1017BZ Amsterdam. Establishment number (Vestigingsnummer) 000041252217 
 
This message may contain confidential information and is intended only for the addressee.  
 

 
 
 
 
Bellway | Strategic Land 
c/o Masterplan Team 
 
By email to: contact@cannondown.co.uk 

18 October 2022 
Ref.: THP805 

Dear Colleague, 

Land west of Cannondown Road, Cookham 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document: Consultation 

Introduction and background 

On behalf of Cookham Parish Council, Troy Planning + Design is pleased to submit a 
response to the consultation draft of the ‘Cannondown Road, Cookham, Stakeholder 
Masterplan Development Proposals, September 2022’ (‘the Masterplan’). 

In addition to the making of these comments, Troy Planning + Design is also retained by 
the Parish Council to support production of the Cookham Neighbourhood Plan. 

Cookham Parish Council was formally designated for Neighbourhood Planning purposes 
in June 2020.  Notwithstanding the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic the Parish has, since 
then, established a Working Party to lead on production of the Neighbourhood Plan and 
has undertaken several rounds of consultation to establish a vision and objectives for the 
Plan as well as a series of ‘policy ideas’ which are now being developed prior to formal 
consultation.  Alongside initial consultation with the community on the vision, objectives 
and policy ideas, a programme of ‘outreach’ has also been undertaken, engaging with 
various organisations, businesses and landowners within the Parish.  Strong support has 
been expressed for the focus and direction of the Neighbourhood Plan. 

It is also to be noted that alongside work on the Neighbourhood Plan the Parish Council 
has been successfully awarded Technical Support through the Locality Neighbourhood 
Planning programme funded by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC).  Through this a suite of design codes and guidelines have been 
prepared, as well as a set of site-specific masterplanning studies, further developing the 
Village Design Statement (adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document by RBWM in 
May 2013) to help guide and steer future change and development such that it responds 
to and reinforces local character and identity.  Such an approach is emphasised through 
national policy and the National Model Design Code. 

The site-specific masterplanning studies prepared for the Neighbourhood Plan were 
shared and discussed with the design team in March, and provided again in September 

www.troyplanning.com 
 
London: 0207 0961 329 
Email: info@troyplanning.com 

130



30appendices

Troy Planning + Design is the trading name for:  
UK: Troy Hayes Planning Limited, 41-42 Foley Street, London W1W 7TS. Company Registration 8533500 
USA: Troy Planning and Design LLC, 329 NE Couch Street, Portland, Oregon 97232. Business Registration 1045328-90  
NL: Troy Planning and Design B.V., Herengracht 420, 1017BZ Amsterdam. Establishment number (Vestigingsnummer) 000041252217 
 
This message may contain confidential information and is intended only for the addressee.  
 

plots to be made available on the site for self-build.  The masterplan does not justify why 
it has diverged from this requirement. 

The masterplan also lacks sufficient information on the self-build opportunities.  It should 
indicate how and where they are to be provided on site, whether they will be ‘pepper-
potted’ or clustered in a particular location, and what design parameters should apply to 
these.  The Parish considers that clustering plots for self-build would be more 
appropriate, reducing potential disruption to other residents during their construction, 
but to also allow various models of delivery to come forward, including, for example, 
potential for collaborative schemes.  Clustering would also help facilitate redevelopment 
of the plots as market housing at a later date if they haven’t been sold for self-build 
purposes (as per Local Plan Policy HO2, criterion 4). 

In terms of design parameters, the Local Plan requires all self-build plots to be provided 
with a plot passport.  Although recognising that the detail of such a passport is likely to 
be developed as part of the planning application process, it is important that clear 
parameters are established now in respect of matters such as scale, massing, set-backs, 
back-to-back distances and appropriate materials.  This is to ensure that the homes that 
come forward through this process respond to the wider context and contribute towards 
creation of a high quality place. 

Car Parking 

The information in the masterplan is limited in respect of how car parking will be provided 
for on site.  The Parish considers this to be a crucial part of the design process.  If parking 
is not designed properly, it runs the risk of undermining the street scene, quality of the 
environment and attempts to support active travel.  At present the masterplan simply 
highlights the standards adopted by RBWM and includes a number of very high level 
statements as to how parking might be provided.  The Parish does not consider this 
sufficient. 

Local Plan Policy QP3 (criterion 1j) requires development to be ‘designed to minimise the 
visual impact of traffic and parking’.  Principles 6.7 – 6.10 of the RBWM Borough-wide 
Design Guide set out the Borough’s preferred approach to the design of car parking within 
new residential developments.  This makes clear (at para 6.28) that ‘in order to create 
attractive and well functioning layouts it is important that the space to park vehicles is 
carefully considered at the early stages of the design process.’  The Cookham Village 
Design Statement also establishes expectations in respect of parking, stating that it 
should be arranged discreetly, avoiding visually dominant hard-standings at the front of 
houses. 

There is currently insufficient evidence in the masterplan to suggest that parking and the 
impact of this has been fully considered. 

The Parish expects to see a series of street cross-sections produced, relating to the 
hierarchy of streets proposed within the scheme, illustrating how and where parking is to 
be provided.  Wherever possible, attempts should be made to reduce the visual impact 
of the car.  Where provided on-plot, parking should ideally be set back from the main 

Troy Planning + Design is the trading name for:  
UK: Troy Hayes Planning Limited, 41-42 Foley Street, London W1W 7TS. Company Registration 8533500 
USA: Troy Planning and Design LLC, 329 NE Couch Street, Portland, Oregon 97232. Business Registration 1045328-90  
NL: Troy Planning and Design B.V., Herengracht 420, 1017BZ Amsterdam. Establishment number (Vestigingsnummer) 000041252217 
 
This message may contain confidential information and is intended only for the addressee.  
 

building line.  Where provided on-street, or in front of the building line, then parking 
should be designed as part of a landscape / public realm scheme, with provisions made 
to safeguard the quality of landscaping provided (e.g.: kerbs / up-stands provided 
between parking bays to minimise the risk of damage from over-running vehicles). 

Linked to the above, and with new Building Regulations coming into force in respect of 
Electric Vehicle Charging points, it is essential that consideration is given in the early 
stages of the design process to how and where parking is provided in such a way that the 
infrastructure associated with charging points is designed in a safe and discreet manner, 
avoiding trip hazards and physical obstructions.  This is particularly important where 
communal charging points located away from the home are to be provided.  The Parish 
expects to see more consideration given to this in the masterplan document. 

Bus Provision 

Local Plan Site Allocation Proforma AL37 includes (criterion 6) the requirement to ‘ensure 
that the development is well-served by public bus routes’.  The masterplan shows bus 
stops relocated on Cannondown Road with new bus cage markings provided.  To support 
use of bus services pedestrian routes to these should be clear, direct and useable in all 
weather conditions. 

The ‘pedestrian, cycle & vehicle connections’ plan illustrated on page 28 of the 
masterplan indicates a pedestrian route connecting with the general location of the bus 
stops.  This is welcome.  However, the ‘public landscaped areas and sustainable drainage’ 
plans on pages 23 and 24 indicate this area to comprise a ‘landscaped frontage’ and area 
of ‘SuDS’.  Although these plans show the proposed network of streets and routes on the 
site, they do not show the link across to the bus stops on Cannondown Road.  It is 
important that the provision of SuDS and landscaping in this area is reconciled with the 
need to provide pedestrian access.  The masterplan should include proposals for this. 

The current bus service in Cookham is also relatively poor.  Improved bus waiting facilities 
and routes to stops will only go so far to achieving a mode shift towards more sustainable 
forms of travel.  Opportunities that could be explored to improve the quality and 
frequency of service would be supported. 

Precedent images / Visuals 

The masterplan includes, at page 34, a set of example images from around Cookham.  This 
is expanded upon across pages 55 – 63.  The visuals of proposed homes contained within 
the masterplan presented across pages 35 – 39 are intended to draw inspiration from and 
reflect the character and identity of Cookham. 

The Parish Council does not consider that the visuals are appropriately reflective of 
Cookham.  Reference is made to the materials used on Cookham Station, the John Lewis 
Heritage Centre and Moor Hall.  These are all special buildings in Cookham and are not 
typical of homes found in and which characterise Cookham.  They should not be 
mimicked. 

Troy Planning + Design is the trading name for:  
UK: Troy Hayes Planning Limited, 41-42 Foley Street, London W1W 7TS. Company Registration 8533500 
USA: Troy Planning and Design LLC, 329 NE Couch Street, Portland, Oregon 97232. Business Registration 1045328-90  
NL: Troy Planning and Design B.V., Herengracht 420, 1017BZ Amsterdam. Establishment number (Vestigingsnummer) 000041252217 
 
This message may contain confidential information and is intended only for the addressee.  
 

There are good examples of housing development in Cookham and these should be more 
appropriately referenced in the masterplan.  These include, for example, the images 
shown on pages 56 and 58 of the masterplan.  Key features include a mix of housing styles, 
roof forms and use of a relatively limited palette of materials to create visual interest but 
where the scale and rhythm of development brings harmony to the street.  The 
masterplan could be improved through introduction of greater variety in building form 
and use of materials. 

Section 6 of the Cookham Village Design Statement provides information and guidance 
on the characteristics of the built environment and which should be reflected in proposals 
for new development.  This does not appear to be referenced in the masterplan and we 
encourage you to revisit this. 

It is also noted that the layout and proposed housing designs associated with the outline 
planning application for Local Plan Site Allocation AL38 (Land east of Strande Park, 
Cookham) are included within the appendix to the Masterplan.  This is an inappropriate 
inclusion: the scheme has been through several design iterations since being submitted 
and, at the time of writing, the application has yet to be determined.  The Parish Council’s 
comments on the application are available via the Planning Portal. 

Summary 

In summary, the Parish Council’s view is that: 

• The vision for the development is not reflected in the masterplan.  It is unclear 
what is meant by ‘six villages’ and how these relates to areas of character 
identified in the masterplan. 

• The block structure in the eastern part of the site appears unresolved, with 
disjointed and unconnected streets and building frontages. 

• The reference to ‘intimate lanes’ in the character section of the masterplan is 
confusing.  It is unclear how these will help create successful, well defined streets 
and spaces. 

• There has been a missed opportunity to create a connected network of green 
infrastructure around and across the site. 

• Further information on the feasibility of providing a direct connection with Lesters 
Road is required, particularly for pedestrians and cyclists. 

• There is no evidence to justify why the housing mix diverges from that set out in 
the Local Plan. 

• There are too few plots for self-build properties and information on where these 
will be provided and the design parameters that will be applied to these (though 
use of plot passports) is lacking. 

• It is unclear how car parking will be accommodated on the site and how the visual 
impacts of parked cars can be minimised.  This extends to include the provision of 
cabling and other infrastructure associated with electric vehicle charging points. 

• Inclusion of street cross-sections with the masterplan will help indicate how 
parking will be provided and what the vision for the different street types is. 

Troy Planning + Design is the trading name for:  
UK: Troy Hayes Planning Limited, 41-42 Foley Street, London W1W 7TS. Company Registration 8533500 
USA: Troy Planning and Design LLC, 329 NE Couch Street, Portland, Oregon 97232. Business Registration 1045328-90  
NL: Troy Planning and Design B.V., Herengracht 420, 1017BZ Amsterdam. Establishment number (Vestigingsnummer) 000041252217 
 
This message may contain confidential information and is intended only for the addressee.  
 

• It is not clear how pedestrian access to bus stops on Cannondown Road will be 
provided and whether this is compatible with provision of SuDS. 

• The visualisations of proposed homes do not give confidence that the 
development responds to the best characteristics and qualities of traditional areas 
of homes in Cookham. 

The Parish hopes these comments are helpful and looks forward to ongoing dialogue with 
you. 

Yours faithfully, 
for Troy Planning + Design 

 

 

 

Jon Herbert 
Director 

cc: Cookham Parish Council  

Troy Planning + Design is the trading name for:  
UK: Troy Hayes Planning Limited, 41-42 Foley Street, London W1W 7TS. Company Registration 8533500 
USA: Troy Planning and Design LLC, 329 NE Couch Street, Portland, Oregon 97232. Business Registration 1045328-90  
NL: Troy Planning and Design B.V., Herengracht 420, 1017BZ Amsterdam. Establishment number (Vestigingsnummer) 000041252217 
 
This message may contain confidential information and is intended only for the addressee.  
 

provide a direct connection at this point - if not for motorised vehicles then certainly for 
pedestrian and cyclists. 

Housing Mix and Type 

Page 31 of the Masterplan sets out the proposed breakdown of housing types and tenures 
to be provided on site.  The masterplan notes that the Local Plan states that the starting 
point for establishing an appropriate mix for an individual site is the 2016 SHMA, but that 
there is flexibility in this approach, allowing a mix more appropriate to specific locations 
to be proposed.  For the Cannondown Road site this ‘refinement’ of the mix has in fact 
already been undertaken, with Local Plan Site Allocation Proforma AL37 (criterion 1) 
requiring development to ‘provide family housing with gardens’. 

The Masterplan proposes a different mix to the SHMA and the Local Plan Site Proforma 
but without explaining why this is appropriate and how it responds to local housing 
needs.  This is required to satisfy Local Plan Policy HO2 (criterion 1a) which states that an 
alternative housing mix can be taken into account ‘where evidence of local circumstances’ 
demonstrates that a different mix would be more appropriate.  This needs to be clearly 
set out and justified in the masterplan. 

At present, the only justification provided in the masterplan for an alternative mix is 
reference in the text to ‘the desire to create mixed and balanced communities’.  However, 
as part of the mix, 29 apartments / maisonettes are proposed.  All are proposed to 
comprise affordable homes.  This runs counter to the stated ambition of a mixed and 
balanced community.  Again, evidence needs providing why this mix is appropriate and if 
apartments / maisonettes are to be provided, why they are only to be provided as 
affordable homes. 

More analysis of the housing mix is required at this stage rather than the later application 
stage as it could have implications for the overall layout and density of development. 

It is important to note that Cookham has grown organically over time, as reflected in the 
different housing types and forms found in the area.  The masterplan provides an 
opportunity to reflect this variation, perhaps with different housing types and styles 
provided in the different ‘villages’ (the character areas), or even within them. 

The Parish is pleased to note that 40% of all new homes proposed are to be ‘affordable’ 
in line with Local Plan Policy HO3.  The Masterplan notes that the breakdown of 
affordable homes to be provided will be informed by feedback from the LPA and Housing 
Officer.  As part of this process the Parish requests that, in line with Government 
guidance, the delivery of First Homes forms part of the mix and, that as far as possible, 
price discounts are maximised. 

Self-build Housing 

The masterplan proposes that six of the homes on the site should comprise opportunities 
for self-build.  Whilst inclusion of self-build opportunities is supported, Local Plan Policy 
HO2 (criterion 4) requires 5% of the total number of homes (or plots) on the site to be 
available for self-build (or custom-build).  This would equate to a requirement for ten 

131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: 2022/23 Month 10 Budget Monitoring Report 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Hilton, Cabinet Member for Asset 
Management & Commercialisation, Finance, 
& Ascot 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 30 March 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Vallance, Head of Finance and 
Deputy S151 Officer 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report details the forecast outturn against budget for the 2022/23 financial year 
as at the end of January 2023 (Month 10). It includes the revenue and capital 
budgets along with the forecast financial reserve position at year end. 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet: 
 

i) notes the forecast revenue outturn for the year is an overspend on 
services of £0.795m which reduces to an underspend of £1.494m 
when considering unallocated contingency budgets and changes to 
funding budgets (para 4.1); and 

ii) notes the forecast capital outturn is expenditure of £63.848m 
against a budget of £76.344m (para 13). 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
To note the Council’s outturn. This is the recommended option. 
To not note the Council’s outturn. This is not the recommended 

option. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.0 The Council faces considerable financial risks that could have a significant and 
immediate impact on its finances. However, whilst reserves are currently 
above the minimum level that the S151 Officer has deemed are required to 
protect against financial and service risks, they remain low compared to the 
optimum level that should be held. The Medium-Term Financial Plan assumes 
that the Council will identify sustainable savings over the medium term and 
therefore remain above the minimum level of reserves identified by the S151 
Officer (£6.700m). 

133

Agenda Item 7



Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

General 
Fund 
Reserves 

<£6.7m £6.7m to 
£6.9m 

£6,9m to 
£16.9m 

> £16.9m 31 
March 
2023  

4. 2022/23 MONTH 10 REVENUE FORECAST OUTTURN  

4.1 The current forecast is an overspend on service budgets of £0.795m, a 
favourable movement of £0.139m from month 8. Including corporate & 
contingency budget, and changes to funding, this reduces to an underspend of 
£1.494m, a favourable movement of £0.165m from month 8. 

4.2 This largest movement this month is in Governance, Law, Strategy and Public 
Health where there has been a favourable variance of £0.230m. The main 
factor has been additional reimbursement of costs in relation to the Queen’s 
funeral. 

4.3 Resources is also showing a favourable movement of £0.165m. This is 
primarily due to savings achieved on the mobile phone contract and 
identification of costs within property services that can be recharged to capital. 

4.4 These underspends are offset by adverse movements in Adults & Housing 
and Place. In Adults the adverse movement of £0.114m is mainly due to 
increased costs from the Coroner’s joint arrangement, over which the Council 
does not have direct control. In Place the adverse movement of £0.112m is 
mainly due to increased recycling costs, though this has been partly mitigated 
by favourable variances in Infrastructure, Sustainability and Transport. Further 
details are provided in the paragraphs below. 

134



Table 3: 2022/23 Revenue Budget Forecast Outturn 
 Current 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
over / 

(under) 
spend 

Change 
since 

month 8 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Adults and Housing 40,065 41,157 1,092 144 

Children's Services 26,841 27,096 255 0 

Place  13,645 14,379 734 112 

Resources 5,546 4,913 (633) (165) 

Governance, Law, Strategy & Public Health 3,753 3,086 (667) (230) 

Chief Executive Department 279 293 14 0 

TOTAL SERVICE EXPENDITURE 90,129 90,924 795 (139) 

Contingency 2,556 636 (1,920) 0 

Other funding and non-service expenditure (90,916) (91,285) (369) (26) 

INCREASE IN GENERAL FUND 0 (1,494) (1,494) (165) 

     

GENERAL FUND     

Opening balance (8,753) (8,753)   

Transfer in 0 (1,494)   

CLOSING BALANCE (8,753) (10,247)   

 

5. ADULTS & HOUSING 

5.1 The Adults & Housing directorate is forecasting an overspend of £1.092m, an 
adverse variance from month 8 of £0.144m largely due to Director and 
Support services. It should be noted that the forecast outturn is assuming 
significant use of one-off funds. The forecast overspend is mainly due to 
pressures from support for an increased number of older people placed into 
residential care as a result of the pandemic. Measures have been put in place 
to try and manage this as outlined below, but this is a demand led budget and 
preventative measures take time to have an impact. 

5.2 The directorate is implementing a series of actions to address this overspend 
including: 

• deployment of £0.397m of additional Winter Care funding to provide 
additional discharge capacity; 

• acceleration of plans to automate internal management systems within 
Optalis provider services; 

• additional checks and controls on the use of agency staff; and 

135



• reviewing the use of accommodation by some residents with learning 
difficulties and seeking to relaunch a Shared Lives scheme locally.   
   

Table 4: Adults and Housing Forecast Outturn 
 Budget Forecast 

outturn 
Forecast 

over / 
(under) 
spend 

Change 
since 

month 8 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Director & Support 1,632 1,766 134 153 

Housing 2,729 2,610 (119) 1 

Adult Social Care 35,704 36,781 1,077 (10) 

Total 40,065 41,157 1,092 144 

 
 
5.3 Of the £0.956m budgeted savings, £0.656m (69%) are currently forecast to be 

achieved. Savings in relation to staff costs remain challenging due to 
difficulties recruiting and retaining employees. The Shared Lives scheme is 
unlikely to significantly impact this financial year. Appendix B summarises the 
position on savings. 

Director & Support 
5.4 There has been an adverse £0.153m movement within Director & Support, 

mainly due to increased recharges for the joint Berkshire-wide Coroners 
Service. It should be noted that the Council exercises little direct control over 
this service. The pressure includes agency costs to cover staff sickness and 
increases in workloads that have necessitated increases to establishment. 
There has also been increases in mortuary and pathology costs and an 
increase in complex inquests.  

Adult Social Care 
5.5 Adult Social Care services are forecasting an outturn overspend of £1.077m, a 

favourable variance of £0.010m from month 8. An underlying pressure, 
relating to social care placements, is being partially offset by the use of 
£2.500m of one-off funds as well as £0.750m of contingency. Appendix G 
indicates that Adult Social Care client numbers currently supported are 122 
more than the budget plan despite improvements to decision-making 
processes. 

136



Table 5: Adults Social Care Forecast Outturn 
 Budget Forecast 

outturn 
Forecast 

over / 
(under) 
spend 

Change 
since 

month 8 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Older people & physical dis. 22,946 24,608 1,662 170 

Learning disability 15,708 14,994 (714) (215) 

Mental health 2,949 3,485 536 33 

Other Adult Social Care 3,359 3,644 285 2 

Better Care Fund income (9,258) (9,200) 58 0 

Less: use of contingency 0 (750) (750) 0 

Total 35,704 36,781 1,077 (10) 

 
Housing 

5.6 Housing services are forecasting an outturn underspend of £0.119m.  This is 
made up of various favourable and unfavourable variances across the service 
and utilising of   earmarked reserves. There are currently 226 households 
being supported in temporary accommodation. 

5.7 Hackney carriage license renewals are reporting a pressure of £0.122m. 
Street performing licenses renewals are also forecast to overspend by 
£0.010m, this has improved by £0.068m since month 6 due to other 
mitigations.  

5.8 Other Housing grants from last year have been rolled forward in earmarked 
reserves. The forecast assumes allow these will now be released in the 
current financial year, which contributes a further £0.071m to the underspend. 

6. CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

Non-Dedicated Schools Grant 
6.1 Non-school Children’s Services show a net overspend of £0.255m; no overall 

change from month 8. The overspend mainly relates to the increased demand 
on Home to School Transport, Legal Services, and the impact of the National 
Transfer Scheme for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and high legal 
costs, due to complex cases. 

6.2 An AfC Leadership Management Recovery Plan has been implemented to 
reduce the overspend. The indicative in-year mitigations total £0.481m and are 
reflected in the reported overspend position. The key mitigations include: 

• expanding the existing vacancy management process; 

• matching grants to existing resources; and 

• release of non-essential expenditure budgets. 

137



Table 6: Children’s (non-Dedicated Schools Grant) Forecast Outturn 
 Budget Forecast 

outturn 
Forecast 

over / 
(under) 
spend 

Change 
since 

month 8 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

AfC: Social Care and Early Help 19,326 19,701 375 (186) 

AfC: Mgt & Business Services 3,489 3,523 34 100 

AfC: Education 3,067 3,503 436 63 

AfC: Public Health (37) 3 40 61 

AfC: Special Educational Needs 1,528 1,384 (144) 18 

Retained Children’s Services (532) (1,018) (486) (56) 

Total 26,841 27,096 255 0 

 
6.3 The primary reason for the net overspend relates to Home to School Transport 

which since the start of the academic year has evidenced an increased 
volume and complexity of the current and planned cohort of pupils including 
refugees, totalling £0.420m. Continued pressure on the Legal Services 
contract due to high volumes, increased complexity, and duration of the legal 
process results in a pressure of £0.320m. There is also a forecast overspend 
of £0.213m due to the net impact of the National Transfer Scheme for 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. The Education School Improvement 
& Brokerage Service is reporting an overspend of £0.090m which is matched 
by additional grant within the Retained Children’s Services budget.  

6.4 Employee related pressures of £0.611m are being reported; these are being 
significantly matched by one-off controllable actions of £0.456m within the AfC 
Contract, resulting in a net pressure of £0.155m These actions include 
vacancy management, further matching of grant and restricting non-essential 
expenditure.   

6.5 These pressures have been partly offset by underspends relating to Social 
Care Placements. The forecast includes an underspend of £0.440m including 
an estimated future demand to the end of the financial year of £0.090m and 
the full year effect of the review of direct payment support packages of 
£0.186m.  

6.6 The underspend on Retained Children’s Services of £0.486m is primarily due 
to additional grants of £0.439m being utilised to match against increased costs 
within the AfC Contract and reduced central education support costs £0.047m. 

6.7 The academisation of All Saints Church of England Junior School was 
effective from January 2023. As this is a Secretary of State directed School 
Academy Order conversion routinely any related school deficit at the point of 
transfer becomes the financial responsibility of the local authority. However, in 
relation to this school’s unique circumstances and the improvements that have 
been led by the Council the expectation is for the financial responsibility to be 
met by the Secretary of State. The financial risk has not been reflected in the 
current reported position but would be between £0.200m and £0.300m.   

138



6.8 Of the £0.587m budgeted savings, £0.397m (68%) are currently forecast to be 
achieved. The savings not being achieved relate to Homes to School transport 
and legal costs. Appendix B summarises the position on budgeted savings. 

Dedicated Schools Grant 
6.9 The Dedicated Schools budget forecast underspend is £0.481m a net 

favourable variance of £0.284m from month 8. This underspend is transferred 
to a dedicated reserve, so does not impact on the general fund. However, it 
should be noted that the accumulated projected deficit as at 31 March 2023 
now stands at £1.566m which is a small reduction on last year, representing 
1.1% of the total gross budget allocation 2022/23. 

Table 7: Dedicated Schools Grant Forecast Outturn 
 Budget Forecast 

outturn 
Forecast 

over / 
(under) 
spend 

Change 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

AfC – DSG 12,987 14,290 1,303 849 

Retained – DSG 59,157 57,373 (1,784) (1,133) 

Transfer to / (from) DSG reserve (72,144) (71,663) 481 284 

Total 0 0 0 0 

     

Dedicated Schools Reserve  £000   

Opening Deficit  2,047   

Forecast 2022/23 surplus  (0.481)   

Closing Deficit  1.566   

 
 
6.10 The Schools Block underspend of £0.496m relates to the release of an 

uncommitted pupil growth fund as no additional school places have been 
required this year. The Central School Services Block underspend of £0.112m 
relates to reduced management overheads and non-independent special 
school places. 

6.11 The Early Years Block underspend of £0.299m reflects historic funding levels 
compared to planned levels of provision (£0.135m) and the Maintained 
nursery settings' reduced level of demand of 31% in the autumn term 
compared to summer term 2022 (£0.164m). The nursery costs are a 21% 
reduction on the prior year and the increased reduction may be a result of 
cost-of-living pressures with fewer children attending nursery. 

6.12 The High Needs Block overspend of £0.426m is primarily due to provision of 
Independent Special or Non-Maintained Schools and other associated direct 
support. The forecast variance includes an estimate of future demand to the 
end of the financial year of £0.150m, but this is a reduction on the prior month 
(£0.133m).  

139



6.13 Examples of Deficit Management Plan themes being implemented which have 
contributed towards the improved forecast include: 

• The robust challenge process for agreeing inflationary rate increases and 
stronger commissioning arrangements. 

• The impact of the Social, Emotional & Mental Health programme 
reducing the volume of pupils at risk of exclusion. Additionally, 
interventions by coach monitors supporting pupils have in many cases 
resulted in no further Education and Health Care Plan support being 
required. 

• A reduction in the Special School placement costs through adding new 
resource bases / units within RBWM schools resulting in increased cost 
avoidance of more costly placements. 

• Education and Health Care Plan funding panels now have headteachers 
on the board which has resulted in a greater understanding of Special 
Educational Needs & Disabilities financial matrix. 

• More schools have been awarded the Quality Inclusion Mark resulting in 
more pupils with an Education and Health Care Plan being educated 
within Borough Schools that are attached to these units reducing out of 
borough costs. 

6.14 Whilst the overall DSG in-year position has improved the grant conditions 
require that any authority with an overall deficit on its Dedicated Schools Grant 
account at the end of the financial year prepare a Deficit Management Plan, 
including a recovery period of three to five years. It will continue be 
challenging to clear the cumulative deficit with increased costs and rising 
demand for complex service provision, and the SEND reforms (2014) that 
increased support to include individuals up to 25 years of age.  

6.15 In conjunction with the Deficit Management Plan, AfC is participating with the 
DfE Delivering Better Value in SEND support programme. The programme will 
provide dedicated support and funding to help local authorities with substantial 
deficit issues to reform their high needs systems. In addition, the aim of the 
programme is to establish a more sustainable structure, so authorities are 
better placed to respond to the forthcoming SEND Review reforms. The 
Delivering Better Value programme commenced in the summer of 2022 and 
will operate for 30/36 months with a significant involvement of key officers from 
both Finance & SEND. 

7. PLACE 

7.1 The Place directorate forecast outturn is an overspend of £0.734m an adverse 
variance of £0.112m from month 8. The directorate has started and continues 
to implement a series of actions which have contributed to this favourable 
movement. These actions include: 

• financial performance is reviewed on a weekly basis as part of 
Directorate Leadership Team meetings, which focuses on key 
pressures and mitigations required to close the adverse variance; 

140



• development of targeted actions to improve parking revenue and in 
particular season ticket sales, which continues to be a challenge; 

• engagement with significant contractors (including Serco and Tivoli) so 
that opportunities for efficiencies can be identified; 

• vacant staff positions reviewed and given careful consideration before 
being recruited to; 

• review of consultancy spend to ensure it is achieving value for money; 
and 

• review of s106 funds to ensure they have been properly applied and 
reflected in the forecast outturn. 

7.2 It should be noted that the significant risk in leisure services from the 
increased cost of utility bills as reported previously has reduced to £0.171m. 
This is not in the forecast. Further work is still to be done on potential 
mitigations before that is included in the forecast and the leisure contract re-
procurement is in progress. 

Table 8: Place Forecast Outturn 
 Budget Forecast 

Outturn 
Forecast 

over / 
(under) 
spend 

Change 
since 

month 8 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Executive Director of Place 236 236 0 0 

Neighbourhood Services 8,635 9,833 1,198 524 

Planning 1,341 1,568 227 (7) 

Communities (956) (1,078) (122) (26) 

Health Partnerships 325 221 (104) 0 

Infrastructure, Sust. & Transport 4,064 3,599 (465) (379) 

Total 13,645 14,379 734 112 

 

7.3 Neighbourhood Services is forecasting an overspend of £1,198m, an adverse 
variance of £0.524m compared to month 8. This movement is primarily due to 
the recycling disposal reprocessing rates currently much higher than 
anticipated. A combination of global factors, including stockpiling of material in 
overseas markets and paper mills in Europe being shut due to the energy 
crisis. It is likely that this will be slow recover and that the buoyant market seen 
earlier in the year is unlikely to return. 

7.4 In addition, the parking income of pay and display car parks is averaging at 
92% (compared to 96% as reported in month 8) of the profiled budget and 
includes an adjustment for Nicholsons car park closure, over achievement of 
short-term parking income over the Christmas period as well as the improved 
position of season ticket income at 42% compared to last month at 38%. The 
total parking income including permits, parking advertisement, etc is at 0.2% 

141



adverse variance versus £9.8m budget. The current level of income at 92% 
has been assumed for the remainder of the year. Appendix G gives further 
information on parking income performance. 

7.5 Planning is reporting an overspend of £0.227m, a minor favourable variance 
compared to month 8. The main pressure is still in the Arboricultural team as it 
has to respond to above average numbers of emergency tree works this year. 
Further mitigations are also being considered to reduce the pressure. 

7.6 Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport is reporting an underspend of 
£0.465m, a favourable variance of £0.379m compared to month 8. This is 
mainly due to an additional grant funding secured, temporary holding of 
vacancies, recharging staff costs to capital project development, and decisions 
to avoid consultancy spend to support the wider financial challenges across 
the Place Directorate. 

7.7 Communities is reporting an underspend of £0.122m, a favourable variance of 
£0.030m due to a vacancy. 

7.8 Of the £0.772m budgeted savings, £0.652m (84%) are currently forecast to be 
achieved. Several savings are highlighted as an amber risk including 
generating additional parking fines income through recruitment of two 
additional parking enforcement officers through the NSL contract. There is an 
on-going review of the issuance of PCN’s. Appendix B summarises the 
position on budgeted savings. 

8. RESOURCES 

8.1 The Resources directorate forecast outturn is an underspend of £0.633m, a 
favourable movement of £0.165m from the prior month. The larger movements 
are outlined below. 

Table 9: Resources Forecast Outturn 
 Budget Forecast 

Outturn 
Forecast 

over / 
(under) 
spend 

Change 
since 

month 8 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Executive Director of Resources 218 238 20 4 

Libraries & Residents Services 2,418 2,288 (130) 18 

Revenues and Benefits 1,544 1,075 (469) (50) 

Housing Benefit (320) 0 320 60 

HR, Corporate Projects, and IT 3,061 2,771 (290) (110) 

Corporate Management (42) (7) 35 15 

Finance 1,529 1,507 (22) 24 

Property (2,862) (2,959) (97) (126) 

Total Resources 5,546 4,913 (633) (165) 

 

142



8.2 It is showing a favourable movement of £0.110m mainly due to savings on the 
mobile phone contract and software costs. There are also soe smaller savings 
within IT due to continued vacancies. 

8.3 Property is showing a favourable movement of £0.096m mainly due to 
identification of senior project manager costs that will be recharged to school 
capital projects. 

8.4 Of the £0.435m budgeted savings, £0.415m (95%) are currently forecast to be 
achieved. The saving unlikely to be achieved relates to utility costs at the 
Town Hall. Appendix B summarises the position on budgeted savings. 

9. GOVERNANCE, LAW, STRATEGY & PUBLIC HEALTH 

9.1 The Governance, Law, Strategy and Public Health directorate forecast outturn 
is an underspend of £0.667m, a favourable movement of £0.230m from month 
8. This is primarily due to £0.222m underspend in Governance, a change of 
£0.133m since month 8, which is due to reimbursements from DCMS for 
Queen’s funeral costs and an underspend in staffing costs within Legal 
Services. Note also that some budget realignment to reflect the management 
structure has been undertaken which is why some budgets in the table below 
appear with a nil value. 

9.2 Of the £0.288m budgeted savings, £0.213m (74%) are currently forecast to be 
achieved. The savings unlikely to be achieved relate to delays recruiting to the 
commercialisation post and sale of sponsorship on the website. Appendix B 
summarises the position on budgeted savings. 

143



Table 10: Governance, Law, Strategy & Public Health Forecast Outturn 
 Budget Forecast 

outturn 
Forecast 

over / 
(under) 
spend 

Change 
since 

month 8 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Deputy Director 111 160 49 0 

Communications & Marketing 1,072 985 (87) (30) 

Governance 2,091 1,869 (222) (133) 

Law 635 520 (115) (35) 

Performance Team 0 0 0 26 

Policy Comms & Engagement 0 0 0 (58) 

Public Health Spend 4,010 3,933 (77) 0 

Grant funding (inc. PH) (4,166) (4,543) (215) 0 

Total 3,753 2,924 (667) (230) 

 

10. SUNDRY DEBT 

10.1 The current level of overdue sundry debt is £10.920m. There are significant 
increases in the bad debt provision for Adult Social Care and Housing. To an 
extent large amounts of debt in these areas is in line with national trends as 
well as reflective of the levels of income we are raising. However, further 
actions are in progress to raise the profile of debt within directorates and 
tackle the level of arrears including: 

• charging the cost of the bad debt provision to directorates rather than 
funding centrally; 

• developing more focused reports to directorates to highlight areas of 
concern; and 

• establishing a debt panel to ensure overdue debt is discussed. 

144



Table 11: Aged Debt and bad debt provision  
 > 1 

month 
> 2 

month 
> 6 

month 
> 1 

year 
Debt 
Sep 

2022 

Inc 
(dec) 

in debt 
prov. 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

People Services       

Adult Social Care 216  819  1,048  2,123  4,206 536 

Children’s 8  13  0  7  29  (49) 

Housing 2  15  305  1,277  1,599  531 

Deferred Payments 23  71  39  398  531  0  

GLS&PH 10  3  1  2  15  0 

Place 137  51  74  100  362  (37) 

Resources             

Commercial property 148  110  132  361  751  115 

Other 22  1  2  73  98  57 

Total Agresso Debt 567  1,083  1,601  4,340  7,592  1,153 

Debt on other systems:       

HB Overpayments     3,220 (36) 

Housing Rents     108 27 

Total debt  
  

  10,920 1,144 

 

10.2 The adult social care debt represents the contribution to care costs which the 
Council considers to be the responsibility of individuals in receipt of care 
above the current financial thresholds, and which has not yet been received 
despite the providers having been paid. There is a monthly review process 
underway to resolve the largest outstanding situations with families. There is 
further work to do with residents to improve early care planning so that we 
reduce the number of times there is a funding dispute. 

10.3 The increase in Housing debt is largely the result of how rent debt was raised 
on the system. For 2021/22 a single invoice was raised for a year’s worth of 
rent at the start of the financial year. Arrears in respect of this rent went over 
12 months old on 1 April 2022 resulting in a large increase in the bad debt 
provision. From June 2022, housing rents have moved to a specialised rent 
accounting system (ARA) which should resolve this issue going forward. 
Despite this there remains a significant amount of Housing debt to be 
addressed. 

10.4 The increase in the bad debt provision for Commercial Property is mainly due 
to the regulations that were in place during the pandemic meaning that rent 
arrears could not be chased. Unsurprisingly, arrears have therefore increased. 

145



This debt is being actively managed by the Propco to maximise returns from 
this debt. 

11. EARMARKED RESERVES 

11.1 Appendix H details the movements in earmarked reserves based on current 
forecasts.  

12. BORROWING 

12.1 Borrowing is only undertaken to finance capital projects that have been 
approved by the Council and lead to clear future benefits. It is not used to 
support day to day operational expenditure. Throughout the year the Council’s 
borrowing levels are updated based on cash-flow and spending on the capital 
programme. Currently, the Council is borrowing temporarily pending 
anticipated capital receipts in future years. 

12.2 A further £11m of long-term PWLB borrowing has been arranged to be 
received in February.  This was to take advantage of a fall in the long-term 
borrowing rate below the level budgeted for in 2023/24. 

12.3 Table 12 details current borrowing offset against investment balances. 

Table 12: Net borrowing 
 Opening balance Current balance Year-end forecast 

 £000 £000 £000 

Long term 71,265 100,265 111,265 

Short term – Local Authority 119,000 82,000 104,000 

Short term – LEP / Trusts 15,598 16,209 15,500 

Investments (41,609) (58,886) (36,390) 

Total 164,254 139,588 194,375 

13. CAPITAL 

13.1 Capital expenditure is currently projected at £63.838 m. Appendix E details the 
capital budget movements and Appendix F provides more detail on variances.  

146



Table 13: Capital programme outturn 
 Gross 

budget 
Slippage Current 

year 
variances 

Gross 
outturn 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Chief Executive department 0 0 0 0 

GLS&PH 289 0 0 289 

Children’s Services 11,126  (2,355) 2   8,769  

Adults and Housing 2,342  0  0 2,342  

Resources 38,247 (326) (4,570)  33,351  

Place 24,340  (4,894) (359) 19,087  

Total 76,344  7,575  (4,931) 63,838  

 

13.2 The £63.838m of 2022/23 projected capital expenditure will be funded by the 
income streams as set out below. At present the cost of borrowing at a short-
term borrowing rate of 2.56% is estimated to cost £1.086m for current year 
projected expenditure; a significant increase compared to previously low 
interest rates. Further slippage is expected to be reported at year end which 
will reduce the projected cost of borrowing.  

Table 14: Capital programme financing 
Source of funding £000 

Government grants (9,716) 

Developers’ contributions (s106 & CIL)       (7,669)    

Other contributions (25)    

Corporate funding (46,428)  

Total (63,838) 

 
Table 15: Capital programme status 
Number of schemes in programme 

 

Yet to start 14%  

In progress 66%  

Completed 10%  

Ongoing programmes e.g., Disabled Facilities Grant 10%  

 

14. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

14.1 In producing and reviewing this report the Council is meeting its legal 
obligations to monitor its financial position.  

147



15. RISK MANAGEMENT  

15.1 Projected variances require mitigation to reduce them during the financial 
year. 

16. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

16.1 Equalities. There are no direct impacts. 
 
16.2 Climate change/sustainability. There are no direct impacts. 
 
16.3 Data Protection/GDPR. There are no direct impacts. 

17. CONSULTATION 

17.1 None. 

18. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

Implementation date if not called in: ‘Immediately’.  

19. APPENDICES  

19.1 This report is supported by nine appendices: 
 
Appendix A Revenue monitoring statement 
Appendix B Savings tracker 
Appendix C Growth tracker 
Appendix D Capital budget summary 
Appendix E Capital programme budget movements 
Appendix F Capital monitoring report 
Appendix G Key financial information 
Appendix H Usable reserves 

20. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

20.1 This report is supported by one background document, the budget report to 
Council February 2022. 

21. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
21/02/23  

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

21/02/23  

Deputies:    

148

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=7916&Ver=4


Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 
Officer) 

21/02/23 02/03/23 

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

21/02/23 22/02/23 

Mandatory:    
Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 21/02/23  

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 21/02/23  
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 21/02/23 21/02/23 
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
21/02/23 24/02/23 

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Asset 
Management & 
Commercialisation, Finance, & 
Ascot 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Non-key decision No No 

 
Report Author: Julian McGowan, Senior Finance Business Partner 

 
 

149



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A: Revenue monitoring statement

Original budget Service Current budget Forecast 

outturn 

Forecast 

variance 

Previously 

reported  

variance

Change from 

previously 

reported 

variance 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Executive Department

279 Chief Executive 279 293 14 14 0

279 TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT 279 293 14 14 0

Governance, Law, Strategy & Public Health

112 Deputy Director of Governance, Law & Strategy 111 160 49 49 0

383 Communications & Marketing 1,072 985 (87) (57) (30)

2,032 Governance 2,091 1,869 (222) (89) (133)

636 Law 635 520 (115) (80) (35)

380 Performance Team 0 0 0 (26) 26

5,058 Public Health Spend 4,010 3,933 (77) (77) 0

(5,069) Public Health Grant Income (4,166) (4,381) (215) (215) 0

93 Policy Communication & Engagement 0 0 0 58 (58)

3,625 TOTAL GOVERNANCE, LAW & STRATEGY 3,753 3,086 (667) (437) (230)

Children's Services
(79) Director of Children's Services (65) (100) (35) (35) 0

42,863 Achieving for Children Contract 40,360 42,404 2,044 1,139 905

57,365 Children's Services - Retained 58,690 56,455 (2,235) (1,046) (1,189)

(73,004) Dedicated Schools Grant - Income (72,144) (71,663) 481 197 284

27,145 TOTAL CHILDREN'S SERVICES 26,841 27,096 255 255 0

Adults and Housing

2,315 Director, Support Teams & Provider support 1,631 1,765 134 (19) 153

2,742 Housing 2,729 2,610 (119) (120) 1

35,489 Adult Social Care 35,705 37,532 1,827 1,837 (10)

12,090 Better Care Fund - Spend 16,657 16,657 0 0 0

(12,090) Grant & BCF Income (16,657) (16,657) 0 0 0

0 Use of contingency 0 (750) (750) (750) 0

40,546 TOTAL ADULTS, HEALTH AND HOUSING 40,065 41,157 1,092 948 144

Resources

218 Executive Director of Resources 218 238 20 16 4

2,355 Library & Resident Services 2,418 2,288 (130) (148) 18

1,150 Revenues & Benefits 1,544 1,075 (469) (419) (50)

90 Housing Benefit (320) 0 320 260 60

2,857 Human Resources, Corporate Projects & IT 3,061 2,771 (290) (180) (110)

(42) Corporate Management (42) (7) 35 20 15

1,162 Finance 1,529 1,507 (22) (46) 24

(2,914) Property (2,862) (2,959) (97) 29 (126)

4,876 TOTAL RESOURCES 5,546 4,913 (633) (468) (165)

Place

237 Executive Director of Place 236 236 0 0 0

8,651 Neighbourhood Services 8,635 9,833 1,198 674 524

1,308 Planning Service 1,341 1,568 227 234 (7)

(950) Communities including Leisure (956) (1,078) (122) (96) (26)

0 Health Partnerships, Community Resilience & Development 325 221 (104) (104) 0

3,901 Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport 4,064 3,599 (465) (86) (379)

13,147 TOTAL PLACE 13,645 14,379 734 622 112

89,618 TOTAL SERVICE EXPENDITURE 90,129 90,924 795 934 (139)

Sources of funding and non-service expenditure

2,562 Contingency and Corporate Budgets 2,556 636 (1,920) (1,920) 0

1,931 Precepts and Levies 1,931 1,927 (4) 0 (4)

2,078 Financing and investment (income) and expenditure 2,078 2,492 414 434 (20)

(102,755) Taxation and non-specific grant income (103,033) (103,035) (2) 0 (2)

3,797 Minimum Revenue Provision 3,797 3,020 (777) (777) 0

(1,542) Use of earmarked reserves (1,769) (1,769) 0 0 0

4,311 Contribution to Pension Fund deficit 4,311 4,311 0 0 0

(89,618) TOTAL FUNDING AND NON-SERVICE EXPENDITURE (90,129) (92,418) (2,289) (2,263) (26)

0 (INCREASE) DECREASE IN GENERAL FUND 0 (1,494) (1,494) (1,329) (165)

151



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B: Savings Tracker

Ref Title Category Directorate Service Area Description Budgeted 

Saving

£000

Forecast 

saving

% RAG Comments

1 Review of packages and right sizing Transformation Adults & Housing Director of Adults, Health & 
Housing

Review of packages and right sizing -strengthening our  reviewing function including for long 
term packages, to ensure consistent reviewing practice at  the 6 week review where actual 

rather than anticipated needs are clear.

275 275 100% GREEN £150k achieved to date, further work on this will continue throughout the year.

2 Review of resourcing Service 

Redesign/change

Adults & Housing Director of Adults, Health & 

Housing

Review of resourcing 250 0 0% RED The current pressure on staffing from difficulties in recruiting and the resultant reliance on 

agency spend mean this saving is unlikely to be realised.

3 Transitions Transformation Adults & Housing Director of Adults, Health & 

Housing

Transitions - Earlier and smarter commissioning of  services provided under the Care act 

rather than the Children’s act should enable more resource effective services to be provided, 
in particularly support at home and towards independence.

200 200 100% GREEN Review the care packages that young people have prior to transition from children's services. 

The saving may come from children's services or adult social care.  Transitions work in 
progress with a view to more targeted earlier involvement with families to achieve better 

outcomes and more appropriate placements.

4 Implement shared lives scheme Transformation Adults & Housing Director of Adults, Health & 
Housing

Expand current Shared Lives scheme - the scheme enables our customers with support 
needs to live in someone’s home who supports them and is paid for the use of the house and 

the support provided.   These arrangements are tailored, flexible and can be more resource 
effective  than more formal placements in care settings.

50 0 0% RED Work has begun on this project, however we are not forecasting any savings to be achieved 
in the current year as there will be lead-in time before savings are realised.

5 Savings resulting from the cessation of 
contracts in People Commissioning - 
Alzheimer's Dementia Support

Contract Change Adults & Housing Director of Adults, Health & 
Housing

The service currently provides funding to Alzheimer's Dementia Support  on a three year 
contract.  This contract expires on 31 March 2022.

45 45 100% GREEN Completed 1 April 2022

6 Savings resulting from the cessation of 
contracts in People Commissioning - 

Berkshire Vision

Contract Change Adults & Housing Director of Adults, Health & 
Housing

The service currently provides funding to Berkshire Vision on a three year contract.  This 
contract expires on 31 March 2022.

16 16 100% GREEN Completed 1 April 2022

7 Temporary Accommodation Management Service 

Redesign/change

Adults & Housing Housing The outsourced temporary accommodation management function is to be brought in-house to 

reduce costs by 10%

65 65 100% GREEN Annual Savings already realised as we are have reduced payment to Open4u for 

management of 22 units, activity moved in-house

8 Supported Accommodation Savings Contract Change Adults & Housing Housing A 10% cost saving is being sought on supported accommodation schemes in the Borough 41 41 100% GREEN £3.5k Monthly savings achieved as now inhouse support is provide to Wellesley House 

tenants rather than provided by Look Ahead ltd.

9 Subjective Savings Service 
Redesign/change

All All Subjective Savings e.g. employee mileage, stationery. 350 350 100% GREEN

10 Corporate Subscriptions Service 
Redesign/change

Chief Executive Chief Executive Reduction of corporate subscriptions budget in line with actual costs . 8 8 100% GREEN

11 Full year effect of home to school transport 

reprocurement

Contract Change Childrens Services Childrens Services Following policy updates in 2021 and full contract retender process further efficiencies have 

been achieved.

165 0 0% RED Home To School Transport net pressure £420,000 reflecting current term and indicative future 

terms indicative provision for 2022/23.

12 Refocus of parenting work to edge of care Transformation Childrens Services Childrens Services Develop edge of care approach to work with families 114 114 100% GREEN On track to be delivered within AFC Contract.

13 Health Contribution Transformation Childrens Services Childrens Services Review health contributions for continuing health care 101 101 100% GREEN On track to be delivered within AFC Contract.

14 Traded services scope and cost Income Generation Childrens Services Childrens Services Increase in fees for services traded with schools, and other local authorities 67 67 100% GREEN On track to be delivered within AFC Contract.

15 Multi Agency Safeguarding Hubs (MASH) Transformation Childrens Services Childrens Services Review MASH working and partnership arrangement including partner contributions 37 37 100% GREEN On track to be delivered within AFC Contract.

16 Staff Transport Costs Service 

Redesign/change

Childrens Services Childrens Services Reduction in mileage budget to reflect new hybrid way of working 30 30 100% GREEN On track to be delivered within AFC Contract.

17 External Legal Costs Service 

Redesign/change

Childrens Services Childrens Services Increased internal Legal triage to support consistent thresholds for seeking legal advice 25 0 0% RED Legal Services indicative overspend net pressure £320,000 reflects expected reduction in 

volumes and complexity of cases for 2022/23. Delivery of Savings Plan difficult to evidence in 
light of current projected overspend.

18 Printing Service 
Redesign/change

Childrens Services Childrens Services Reflects increased use of digital information in Children's Services 20 20 100% GREEN On track to be delivered within AFC Contract.

19 Cross-skill role development Transformation Childrens Services Childrens Services Increase resilience and flexibility of internal support teams including finance 18 18 100% GREEN On track to be delivered within AFC Contract.

20 Therapy Provision Transformation Childrens Services Childrens Services Further transform the therapy provision for Children in care 10 10 100% GREEN On track to be delivered within AFC Contract.

21 Printing Service 

Redesign/change

Governance, Law, 

Strategy & Public 
Health

Civic and Facilities Reduction in printing requirements by officers 30 30 100% GREEN

22 Review of resources within Facilities Service 
Redesign/change

Governance, Law, 
Strategy & Public 
Health

Civic and Facilities Review of resources within Facilities Services 27 27 100% GREEN

23 Review of resources within Civic Services Service 
Redesign/change

Governance, Law, 
Strategy & Public 

Health

Civic and Facilities Review of resources within Civic Services 15 15 100% GREEN

24 Centralised Stationery Service 

Redesign/change

Governance, Law, 

Strategy & Public 
Health

Civic and Facilities Reduced demand for stationery by officers 5 5 100% GREEN

25 Sale of advertising and sponsorship on 
website

Income Generation Governance, Law, 
Strategy & Public 

Health

Communications & 
Marketing

Income from sale of advertising and sponsorship on website and other areas - income 
generation to be identified

50 25 50% AMBER Work is ongoing but at present income is yet to be secured.

26 Set up and facilitate local good causes 
lottery

Transformation Place Democratic Services Set up local good causes lottery and replace revenue funded small grants to local 
organisations, set up costs in year one - estimated £25k have reduced the saving in 22/23

25 0 0% RED Officers are progressing the administrative detail and license application to implement a new 
Community Lottery.It is anticipated that this will be delivered in 2023/24.

27 Commercialisation Income generation Governance, Law, 

Strategy & Public 
Health

Deputy Director of Law & 

Strategy

Identification and maximisation of income generating opportunities. A fixed term post initially 

would be required to review all of RBWM current fees and charges with a view to maximising 
sponsorship, advertising and identifying new opportunities. £100k growth, rising to £150k in 

2026/27.

50 0 0% RED Post not appointed to yet and will take time to realise savings.

28 Land Charges Income Income Generation Governance, Law, 
Strategy & Public 

Health

Electoral and Information 
Governance

Increase income target for 22/23 only, in recognition of current economic activity. 50 50 100% GREEN

29 Land Charges Income Income Generation Governance, Law, 

Strategy & Public 
Health

Electoral and Information 

Governance

Amend fees to bring RBWM more into line with neighbouring authorities. 13 13 100% GREEN

30 Remove parish elections budget Service 
Redesign/change

Governance, Law, 
Strategy & Public 

Health

Electoral and Information 
Governance

Costs to be fully recharged to parishes. 10 10 100% GREEN

31 Legal services saving Service 
Redesign/change

Governance, Law, 
Strategy & Public 

Health

Law Services delivered by shared service now provided by head of Law & Governance 30 30 100% GREEN

32 Magistrates Court Service 

Redesign/change

Governance, Law, 

Strategy & Public 
Health

Law Reducing loan repayment liability 8 8 100% GREEN

33 Review of resources within Communities Service 
Redesign/change

Place Communities Review of resources within Communities 73 73 100% GREEN

34 Review of resources Service 

Redesign/change

Place Executive Director of Place Surplus staff budget identified no longer required 15 15 100% GREEN

153



Appendix B: Savings Tracker

Ref Title Category Directorate Service Area Description Budgeted 

Saving

£000

Forecast 

saving

% RAG Comments

35 Public transport funding Income Generation Place Infrastructure, Sustainability 
& Transport

There is £84k of S106 funding that could be used to cover some of the growth bid for public 
transport subsidy during 2022/23

84 84 100% GREEN

36 Christmas Lights - Sponsorship Income Generation Place Infrastructure, Sustainability 

& Transport

Obtain sponsorship income to cover contract costs for Christmas Lights across the borough. 69 44 64% AMBER A combined sponsorship plan for businesses is being developed which will incorporate 

Christmas lights. At this stage we identified £44k of funding which includes sponsorship and 
s106. Although further sponsorship of Christmas lights is unlikely at this stage, further 
mitigation savings are being sought.

37 Concessionary Fares Service 
Redesign/change

Place Infrastructure, Sustainability 
& Transport

Align expenditure budgets with actual expected costs 30 30 100% GREEN

38 Energy Service 

Redesign/change

Place Neighbourhood Services We currently spend £330k on energy for street lighting and close to £20k on powering water 

fountains in the borough. Turning lights and fountains off overnight could help to reduce energy 

bills as well as other carbon and biodiversity benefits.

20 20 100% GREEN

39 Cemetery Income Income Generation Place Neighbourhood Services Income budget increase for one year only 20 0 0% RED Exceptionally high burials income received in last couple of years due to COVID. Demand for 
burials has dropped, as such this saving may not materialise. Will be reviewed over coming 
months as further data emerges.

40 Berkshire records office Income Generation Adults & Housing Commissioning & Support There is £13.8k of S106 one-off funding available that could be put towards our revenue 
funding of the Berkshire Records office

14 14 100% GREEN

41 Waste Management Income Generation Place Neighbourhood Services There is S106 funding under waste management (£11.2k) that could be used as one-off 

support for the waste budget

11 11 100% GREEN

42 Allotments - operating model Income Generation Place Neighbourhood Services Review of operating model for allotments to increase charges and/or reduce cost of operating 

with the aim to be self-financing over time.

10 10 100% AMBER Charges for allotments have been introduced in October '22. Further review to be undertaken 

for options to reduce operational costs by March '23.

43 Increased parking enforcement Service 

Redesign/change

Place Neighbourhood Services Increase parking enforcement - two new officers within the NSL contract, expected to 

significantly improve enforcement around the borough. Income raised in penalties should fund 
this service and allow a contribution towards overheads.

50 0 0% RED Enforcement contract is outsourced. On-going review issuance rate of PCN's. Currently 

(Month 10) £130k forecast PCN income shortfall against budget.

44 Waste Mobilisation Service 
Redesign/change

Place Neighbourhood Services Budget no longer required 50 50 100% GREEN

45 Street Lighting Service 
Redesign/change

Place Neighbourhood Services Align expenditure budgets with actual expected costs 30 30 100% GREEN

46 Cash Collection costs Contract Change Place Neighbourhood Services Reduce cash collection costs - Libraries service - maintain cashless strategy 30 30 100% GREEN

47 Cash Collection costs Contract Change Place Neighbourhood Services Reduced cash collection requirements as customers increase use of pay by phone and card 

methods of payment

25 25 100% GREEN

48 Public Toilets Service 
Redesign/change

Place Neighbourhood Services Council tax expenditure budget no longer required 20 20 100% GREEN

49 Planning Fees Income Generation Place Planning Services Income target increased to align with anticipated activity levels, subject to annual review. 125 125 100% GREEN

50 Building control Income Generation Place Planning Services Building Control fees to be set to contribute to reasonable RBWM overheads 45 45 100% GREEN

51 Planning Policy Service 

Redesign/change

Place Planning Services Align expenditure budgets with actual expected costs 40 40 100% GREEN

52 Review of resourcing of Insurance and Risk 
service

Service 
Redesign/change

Resources Finance Review of funding and resourcing of Insurance and Risk service 47 47 100% GREEN

53 Corporate - Business Development Income Generation Resources Finance Income target increased to align with activity levels 10 10 100% GREEN

54 Telephony Savings Contract Change Resources Human Resources, 
Corporate Projects & IT

Savings generated by moving to new telephony technologies and a reduction in mobile 
phones.

70 70 100% GREEN

55 Weddings Income Income Generation Resources Library & Resident Services Income from delayed weddings - one off impact as a result of the Covid-19 emergency 

restrictions.

100 100 100% GREEN

56 Rental Income-Clyde House Income Generation Resources Property Services Clyde House in occupation by external tenant. Agreed rental income £101K p.a. Termination 

of agreement scheduled for March 2023. Assumes building demolished 24/25 and related 
property costs saved of £68k

101 101 100% GREEN

57 Development & Regeneration-Removal of 
revenue professional fees

Service 
Redesign/change

Resources Property Services Removal of provision for RBWM Property Company project management fees - these are 
now mainly capitalised against relevant projects

40 40 100% GREEN

58 Rental Income Income Generation Resources Property Services Rental income budget from estate shops brought into line with actual expected income. 24 24 100% GREEN

59 Town Hall Electricity costs Service 

Redesign/change

Resources Property Services Review Town Hall electricity / utilities budgets given reduced levels of occupation. 20 0 0% RED Given current inflation on energy bills unlikely to be achieved.

60 Review of NNDR provision-G10-G12 Alma 

Rd, Windsor & St Edmunds House, M'head

Service 

Redesign/change

Resources Property Services Reduce budget provision by £10k to match actual costs 10 10 100% GREEN

61 Review Maintenance provision for Estate 
Shops

Service 
Redesign/change

Resources Property Services Reduce budget by £7K to reflect actual level of likely costs. Saving linked to capital bids for 
Commercial Investment Property Portfolio-Repairs.

7 7 100% GREEN

62 St Mary's House - Utilities costs Service 
Redesign/change

Resources Property Services Review St Mary's House - electricity / utilities budgets given reduced levels of occupation. 6 6 100% GREEN

Summary

GREEN: Saving expected to be achieved 2,612 2,612

AMBER: Saving at risk or unlikely to be achieved in full 129 79

RED: Saving will not or is unlikely to be achieved 655 0

Total 3,396 2,691

154



Appendix C: Growth Tracker

Ref Title Directorate Service Area Brief Description Budgeted 

Growth

£000

Forecast 

Growth

£000

% RAG Comments

1 Private Rented Sector Officer  - invest to save Adults, Health & 

Housing

Housing A Private Rented Sector Officer will reduce temporary accommodation spend by assisting homeless 

households into settled accommodation.

60 0 0% RED Post has not been recruited to yet. Grant underspend from 21/22 was rolled forward to 22/23 which 

should be able to fund this, so this growth should not be required in 22/23.

2 Increase in Employers National Insurance from 

2022/23

All Corporate The increase in employers national insurance of 1.25% from April 2022 will have an impact on 

direct and indirect employees costs, this budget is to cover those costs.

500 500 100% GREEN

3 Commercial income budget reduction Resources Property Services Request to reduce current Budget to align with actual rental Income after the loss of rental at Siena 

Court.

225 225 100% GREEN

4 Building Services - unachievable income target Resources Property Services Request to reduce current income budget of £179k to align with actual income achievable of £114k 

split between, Maintained Schools £73k and Academies £41k. A reduction of £83k.

83 83 100% GREEN

5 Property repair & maintenance contingency Resources Property Services Budget required for ongoing issues relating to parcels of land/boundary fences and Tree 

maintenance across the Borough for which there is no current budget.

40 40 100% GREEN

6 Cost of provision for open cases Childrens Services Children's Services The expected increase in costs to manage the care and support for the cohort of children currently 

open to the Councils services, inclusive of inflation and savings related to the process of regular 

placement reviews.

1,041 1,041 100% GREEN Growth fully committed within current forecast.

7 Estimated future demand Childrens Services Children's Services The estimated costs to manage  the likely future demand, including the continued impact of the 

pandemic and maintaining the domestic abuse support service to mitigate the level of demand.

985 985 100% GREEN Growth fully committed within current forecast.

8 Workforce transformation Childrens Services Children's Services Three year plan to reduce reliance on agency workers by offering strong professional development 

in a highly supportive enviroment with lower than average case holding levels.  Transformation 

supported by short-term stability incentives.

465 465 100% GREEN Growth fully committed within current forecast.

9 Practice Transformation Childrens Services Children's Services Investment in an edge of care team and continued support for domestic abuse services to support 

families from reaching point of crisis.

325 325 100% GREEN Growth fully committed within current forecast.

10 Increased costs of compliance Childrens Services Children's Services Additional capacity to respond to information requests (Subject Access Requests), health and 

safety, insurance and apprenticeship levy.

156 156 100% GREEN Growth fully committed within current forecast.

11 Increases in volume of  children with additional 

needs

Childrens Services Children's Services Additional posts required within the education and disability services to support the ability to 

respond within the statutory timescales for processing reviews and changes in education, health 

and care plans.

92 92 100% GREEN Growth fully committed within current forecast.

12 Lost income (Covid) Childrens Services Children's Services Lost income relating to education welfare regulations and use of group facilities 55 55 100% GREEN Growth fully committed within current forecast.

13 Grant changes Childrens Services Children's Services Implications of regulatory changes on the amounts of money that can be used from the ring-fenced 

Dedicated Schools Grant for school improvement.

19 19 100% GREEN Growth fully committed within current forecast.

14 VRU Coordinator Place Communities This bid is to provide one -off funding for a Violence Reduction Coordinator. A Bill, currently going 

through parliament, will place a new duty on all LA's to work on an ongoing basis to reduce violence 

and work with partners to share information and coordinate work to achieve a reduction in serious 

violence the local area. 

40 0 0% RED No recruitment required, work has been absorbed into the Antisocial Behaviour Coordinator role on 

a phased basis.

15 Bus Service Support Investment Place Infrastructure, 

Sustainability & 

Transport

Additional investment to support the alignment of our approach with the national bus strategy and 

our environment and climate strategy

300 300 100% GREEN

16 RBWM Climate Partnership Place Infrastructure, 

Sustainability & 

Transport

The proposals, set out in further detail in a paper to cabinet on 30 September 2021, will set up a 

new independent RBWM Climate Partnership to lead on the delivery of the Borough Wide 

Environment and Climate Strategy.  This will better engage the private sector and community 

organisations to support delivery for the goals of the strategy and enable the council to focus on its 

own commitments to deliver carbon reductions on its own estate, deliver biodiversity recovery in its 

green spaces 

250 250 100% GREEN

17 Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Place Infrastructure, 

Sustainability & 

Transport

Funding to continue the LEP from 2022/23 75 75 100% GREEN

18 Waste Contract Place Neighbourhood 

Services

Waste Contract 500 500 100% GREEN

19 Section 81 works extra resource - self funding 

from year 2

Place Neighbourhood 

Services

This spend to save initiative aims to enhance resources relating to enforcement/management of 

Sections 81 works, this should be self funding in future years.

75 75 100% GREEN

20 Paving Maintenance Cleaning Place Neighbourhood 

Services

This growth bid is for additional street cleaning in both Maidenhead and Windsor Town Centre.  

Currently under the street cleansing contract there are a few cleans leaving the towns looks 

neglected and unkempt which leads to a negative perception of the town and a lack of funding from 

new businesses.  

21 21 100% GREEN

21 IT post - Technology Solutions Architect Resources Human Resources, 

Corporate Projects & 

IT

Post requirement in the IT team to work across the whole council in the delivery of the IT strategy, 

providing strategic technological insight to all services and working collaboratively with all teams 

when identifying suitable technology solutions for the delivery of improved services. Salary plus 

28% on costs.

96 24 100% GREEN Post has now been recruited to

22 Laptop warranty extension - modern workplace 

devices

Resources Human Resources, 

Corporate Projects & 

IT

Extension of the current 3 year warranty with Dell for modern workplace devices to 5 years. 46 46 100% GREEN

155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D

A B A+B

Capital Ptogramme Portfolio Summary Gross Income Net Gross Income Net Gross Income Net Gross Income Net

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Law & Strategy

Corporate Communications 0 0 0 0 0 0 59 0 59 59 0 59

Democratic representation 0 0 0 0 0 0 230 0 230 230 0 230

Total Law & Strategy 0 0 0 0 0 0 289 0 289 289 0 289

Place Directorate

Neighbourhood Services 6,402 (6,210) 192 6,886 (6,299) 587 2,570 (1,317) 1,253 9,456 (7,616) 1,840

Local Enterprise Partner Schemes 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,265 (1,467) 5,798 7,265 (1,467) 5,798

Communities 450 (25) 425 450 (25) 425 646 (294) 352 1,096 (319) 777

Planning 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,155 (254) 901 1,155 (254) 901

Green Spaces & Parks 261 (261) 0 484 (261) 223 36 0 36 520 (261) 259

Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport 3,857 (3,007) 850 3,634 (3,007) 627 1,214 (492) 722 4,848 (3,499) 1,349

Total Place Directorate 10,970 (9,503) 1,467 11,454 (9,592) 1,862 12,886 (3,824) 9,062 24,340 (13,416) 10,924

Adults, Health & Housing

Housing 1,800 (1,000) 800 1,800 (1,000) 800 0 0 0 1,800 (1,000) 800

Adult Social Care 185 (185) 0 542 (542) 0 0 0 0 542 (542) 0

Total Adults, Health & Housing 1,985 (1,185) 800 2,342 (1,542) 800 0 0 0 2,342 (1,542) 800

Childrens Services

Non Schools 0 0 0 0 0 0 504 (58) 446 504 (58) 446

Schools - Non Devolved 2,000 (2,000) 0 6,434 (4,424) 2,010 2,993 (2,993) 0 9,427 (7,417) 2,010

Schools - Devolved Capital 194 (194) 0 763 (763) 0 432 (433) (1) 1,195 (1,196) (1)

Total Childrens Services 2,194 (2,194) 0 7,197 (5,187) 2,010 3,929 (3,484) 445 11,126 (8,671) 2,455

Resources

Finance 248 0 248 248 0 248 597 0 597 845 0 845

Technology & Change Delivery 590 0 590 590 0 590 109 0 109 699 0 699

Revenues & Benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 22 0 22 22 0 22

Library & Resident Services 190 (190) 0 189 (189) 0 407 0 407 596 (189) 407

Property 26,208 (893) 25,315 32,102 (2,082) 30,020 3,983 (16) 3,967 36,085 (2,098) 33,987

Total Resources 27,236 (1,083) 26,153 33,129 (2,271) 30,858 5,118 (16) 5,102 38,247 (2,287) 35,960

Total Committed Schemes 42,385 (13,965) 28,420 54,122 (18,592) 35,530 22,222 (7,324) 14,898 76,344 (25,916) 50,428

0 0 0 0 0 0 (1) 0 (1)

TRUE

Agresso check 42,385 (13,965) 28,420 54,122 (18,592) 35,530 22,223 (7,324) 14,899

Imbalance 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1) 0 (1)

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

0 0 0

(£'000) (£'000)

Portfolio Total 42,385 76,344

External Funding

Government Grants (5,916) (13,018,006) (11,034)

Developers' Contributions (4,707) (1,880,027) (9,495)

Other Contributions 0 (2,379,787) (25)

Total External Funding Sources (10,623) (25,916)

Total Corporate Funding 31,762 50,428

2022/23 Original Budget New Schemes -  2022/23 Approved Estimate

Unspent budget from Schemes Approved in Prior 

Years Revised Budget 2022/23

157



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Sheet Capital Programme Movements 2022/23 Expenditure Income Net

£'000 £'000 £'000

Original Budget 2022/23 67,980               (17,109) 50,871        
Budget Changes to 31 December 2022

Final slippage-in from previous year 11,535 (5,647) 5,888          

Schools DFC budget adjustment to reflect final grant allocation 53 (53) -             

Schools budget approvals -  Council April 2022 2,065 (2,065) -             

Reprofiling of Property budgets to reflect projections per July Finance update (24,614) -             (24,614)

Academies s106 funding 69 (69) 0

Windsor Girls School Expansion - Council July 2021 2,708 (1,349) 1,359

Waste vehicles budget drawdown 395 -             395

Budgets no longer required (210) 210 0

Budget Drawdown Maidenhead Golf Course 15,950             -             15,950

Schools Wave 2 Resource Base feasibilities 100 (100) 0

Hilltop School roof and washroom refurbishment projects 92 (92) 0

Roundings (2) 2                  0

Thriftwood farm 224 356              580
Revised Budget 2022/23 76,345             (25,916) 50,429       

159



160



APPENDIX F

Capital Monitoring Report 2022/23

Exp Inc Net

£'000 £'000 £'000

Revised Budget 76,344 (25,916) 50,428

Variances identified (4,931) 20 (4,911)

Slippage to 2023/24 (7,575) 6,663 (912)

Projected outturn 2022/23 63,838 (19,233) 44,605

Variances from revised budget £'000 £'000 £'000 Commentary

Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport

CC51 Datchet Barrel Arch Drainage Repairs (70)                 -   (70) Revised Business Case - budget reduced

CC60 Hostile Vehicle Mitigation Measures for Windsor (65)                 -   (65) Revised Business Case - budget reduced

CD92 Telemetry System Replacement (45)                 -   (45) Revised Business Case - budget reduced

CD99 Traffic Monitoring-Replacement Counters (150)              150 0 Revised Business Case - budget reduced

CF02 Emergency Active Travel Measures (29)                29 0 Revised Business Case - budget reduced

CLF4 RBWM Audio Upgrade (1)                 -   (1) Scheme complete

 

Green Spaces & Parks

CC87 Public Rights of way - General (5)                  5            -   Scheme complete

Library & Resident Services

CC65 Refurbishment M'head, Windsor, Ascot , Eton Libs (10)                 -   (10) Revised Business Case - budget reduced

CLE1 Cox Green Lib - Building Repairs Etc (5)                 -   (5) Revised Business Case - budget reduced

CLE6 Upgrade Public PCs (39)                 -   (39) Scheme complete

CLG7 Libraries-Upgrade of Self Serve Kiosks 5                 -   5 Revised Business Case - budget reduced

Property

CI75 York House-Leasing & Building Adaption Costs (27)                 -   (27) Residual budget no longer required - budget reduced

CX40 Operational Estate Improvements (225)                 -   (225) Residual budget no longer required - budget reduced

CX41 Commercial Investment Property Portfolio-Repairs (187)                 -   (187) Residual budget no longer required - budget reduced

CX43 Affordable Housing-St Edmunds (3,450)                 -   (3,450)

CX45 Affordable Housing - 16 Ray Mill Ave East, MHead (28)                 -   (28) Residual budget no longer required - budget reduced

CX61 Fire Compartmentalisation Works-Maintained Schools (300)                 -   (300) Residual budget no longer required - budget reduced

CX74 Commercial Estates-Compliance (300)                 -   (300) Residual budget no longer required - budget reduced

Total Variances (4,931) 184 (4,747)

Slippage to 2023/24 £'000 £'000 £'000 Commentary

Slippage previously reported (4,537) 7,208 2,671

Further slippage is reported as follows. 

Place

CC25 M4 Smart Motorway (38) (17) -         55 Delay in carrying out works

CC95 Cookham Bridge Refurbishment & Structural Repair (370) -            370 -       740 Further delays due toadditional consultation

Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport

CD84 Street lighting upgrade (200) -            200 -       400 Delays due to equipment sourcing

CF05 Waste Vehicles (77)                 -   -         77 Difficulty in sourcing 4th bin lorry

CI41 Fifield Lane Major carriage works (72) -              72 -       144 Delayed feasibility studies

CI53 Marlow Road- Vehicle restraint System Replacement (562) -            562 -    1,124 Delayed feasibility studies

CI84 Eton High Street ecectrical boxes replacement (11) -              11 -         21 Delay due toH&S assesment

CI86 Bridge Strenthing Scheme (100) -            100 -       200 Ongoing annual programme; some delay in works

Housing

CE08 Air Quality Monitoring (100) 45 (55) Slippage to 2023/24

CT29 Low Cost Housing (S106 Funding) (161) 161            -   Slippage to 2023/24

CT51 Key Worker DIYSO (195) 195            -   Slippage to 2023/24

CX46 Affordable Key Worker Hsing-Riverside Mokattam RM (768)                 -              -   

Head of Commissioning - People

CT62 Adult Services Case Management System (200) 200            -   Slippage to 2023/24

Adults

CT67 Homestead- Winston and Hub (185) 185            -   Slippage to 2023/24

Total Slippage (7,575) 6,663 (145)

161



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix G: Key financial information 

Adult Social Care Client Numbers 

* Gross budget for commissioned care packages – excludes other costs such as staff costs and excludes client income. 

Parking income 

Budget*

£'000

Budget 

No.

Apr-22

No.

May-22

No.

Jun-22

No.

Jul-22

No.

Aug-22

No.

Sep-22

No.

Oct-22

No.

Nov-22

No.

Dec-22

No.

Jan-23

No.

Feb-22

No.

Current 

Variance

No.

Older People 
Residential and Nursing 15,023 312 346 346 338 338 338 344 344 352 350 355 350 38

Non-residential 6,226 329 438 431 428 429 420 398 402 399 405 415 410 81

Total Older People 21,249 640 784 777 766 767 758 742 746 751 755 770 760 120

Physical Disability 
Residential and Nursing 828 16 16 16 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 19 3

Non-residential 911 43 42 42 41 40 41 41 40 41 42 42 41 -2

Total Physical Disability 1,739 59 58 58 59 58 59 59 58 59 60 60 60 1

Learning Disabilities 
Residential and Nursing 5,186 64 52 52 52 52 53 53 53 53 54 54 54 -10

Non-residential 3,819 104 108 109 109 109 111 113 113 114 116 117 118 14

Total Learning Disabilities 9,006 168 160 161 161 161 164 166 166 167 170 171 172 4

Mental Health 
Residential and Nursing 689 17 23 23 23 22 22 22 22 22 23 23 23 6

Non-residential 1,494 82 80 76 76 75 76 73 73 72 71 73 72 -10

Total Mental Health 2,183 99 103 99 99 97 98 95 95 94 94 96 95 -4

Total 34,176 965 1,105 1,095 1,085 1,083 1,079 1,062 1,065 1,071 1,079 1,097 1,087 122

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

£
00

0

DAILY CAR PARK INCOME

Profiled Budget Actual Forecast

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

£
00

0

SEASON TICKET PARKING INCOME

Profiled Budget Actual Forecast

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

£
00

0

PENALTY CHARGE NOTICE INCOME

Profiled Budget Actual Forecast

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

£
00

0

RESIDENT / PARKING PERMIT INCOME

Budget Actual Forecast

163



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix H: Usable Reserves

Revenue Reserves Opening balance

£

Forecast 

tranfers in

£

Forecast 

transfers out

£

Forecast closing 

balance

£

Description of reserve

Better Care Fund (3,399,541) 0 3,399,540 (1) Funds directed by the BCF Board.

Business Rates Section 31 Grant Reserve (23,052,535) 0 21,687,000 (1,365,535) This relates to additional s31 grant to cover for the Covid-19 reliefs granted to businesses.

Business Rates Volatility Reserve (3,193,668) 0 1,600,000 (1,593,668) To cover any deficits on business rate collection. £1.6m earmarfked for 2023/24 budget per MTFP.

Community Infrastructure Levy Revenue (329,090) 0 0 (329,090) CIL contributions to revenue costs.

Covid-19 General Reserve (2,143,972) 0 2,143,972 0 To meet funding gap in 2022/23 due to the impact of the pandemic, identified in the MTFP.

Insurance Reserve (901,064) 0 100,000 (801,064) To fund insurance claims.

Grant funded future commitments reserve (2,927,866) (18,019) 2,076,564 (869,321) New burdens and other unringfenced government grants.

Optalis Development Reserve (380,747) 0 380,747 0 Optalis Board agreed that this would be provided to offset the Central Management costs

Property Reserve (500,000) 0 78,000 (422,000) Funding property specific one-off costs.

Public Health Fund (587,984) 0 194,500 (393,484) Ring-fenced Public Health Grant.

Arts funding reserve (140,000) 0 0 (140,000) Specific funding for the arts.

Safeguarding Reserve (194,018) 0 170,000 (24,018) Use to fund in year spend.

Building Control Reserve 69,241 (69,241) 0 0 Deficit from the joint service to be met from future fees & charges.

Grave Maintenance Reserve (7,535) 0 0 (7,535) To meet expenditure on closed graveyards.

Nature Reserve Maintenance Fund (122,682) 0 0 (122,682) Arthur Jacobs Nature Reserve.

Old Court Maintenance Reserve (16,434) 0 0 (16,434) Art Centre in Windsor

Total earmarked reserves (37,827,894) (87,260) 31,830,323 (6,084,831)

School Reserves

Schools Forum De delegated school services (547,029) 0 0 (547,029) Funding passed back (de-delegated) for school services with Schools Fourum approval.

Sensory Consortium Service (245,457) 0 70,000 (175,457) Berkshire joint arrangement for specialist ducation support.

Schools Revenue Balances (3,003,155) 0 0 (3,003,155) School specific reserves.

DSG Adjustment Account 2,046,845 0 (481,000) 1,565,845 Ringfenced deficit on education services held separately from general fund.

Total schools reserves (1,748,796) 0 (411,000) (2,159,796)

165



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: Standards and Quality of Education – A 

Review of the Academic Year 2021-22 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Carroll, Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services, Education, Health, Mental 
Health and Transformation. 

Meeting and Date: 30th March 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Kevin McDaniel, Executive Director of People 
Services and Lin Ferguson, AfC Director of 
Children’s Services 

Wards affected:   All  
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report sets out the progress across the Borough’s schools during the academic 
years 2021-22, summarising the available qualitative and quantitative data that is 
contained in the Education Pack 2021-22 and other appendices.  It is of note that 
attainment data has not been published nationally for specific groups of pupils and 
the results are not comparable to pre-pandemic years due to the pandemic.  

This report outlines some of the support provided by the Education Service and the 
next priority steps for continued improvement in education to give every pupil the best 
chance of success. 
 
The priorities for further action will help the borough achieve its corporate objective of 
‘Thriving Communities’ by making it easier for children and young people to achieve 
their ambitions and fulfil their potential.   

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Congratulates local schools on their continued success. 
ii) Endorses the key priorities set out in section 2.87. 

• Maintain school improvement focus on all schools. 
• Continued focus on disadvantaged pupil plans and outcomes. 
• Transform therapy services with health for additional needs. 
• Designated Schools Grant finance management. 
• Inclusion and Access for Pupils who may be vulnerable to missing 

education. 
• SEND Ofsted Inspection. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Background  

2.1 This is the twentieth annual report on the quality of education in the borough. 
The last report was reviewed in March 2022 by Cabinet. The report presents 

167

Agenda Item 8



an analysis of the performance of pupils in state funded schools located within 
the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead in the academic year 2021-22 
against national and statistical neighbours. Several key education terms are 
described in Appendix 1 (The Education Data Pack 2021-22) along with the 
nationally published education data. 

2.2 This report highlights several areas: 

• Current position of Ofsted inspection results for schools and other 
settings. 

• Key stage 4 attainment (teacher-assessed). 
• Pupil absence levels  
• Elective Home Education  
• Current exclusion statistics for schools.  
• Progress in tracking the participation of 16- and 17-year-old students. 
• NEET data (Young people not in education, employment, or training). 
• Current status of our Education Inclusion Service. 
• Current status of our SEND (Special Education Needs and Disability) 

Services. 
• SEND Improvement. 
• Current status of our SEMH (Social, Emotional and Mental Health) 

Service. 

Ofsted judgements of school quality  
2.3 The percentage of schools judged to be Good or Outstanding in RBWM was 

97% in January 2021. Since January 2021, a further 10 schools have been 
inspected which has resulted in maintaining the percentage of schools judged 
to be Good or Outstanding as 97%, well above the national average 86%. 22 
(33%) schools are Outstanding above the national average of 18% for 
Outstanding schools. 

2.4 Since January 2021, Ofsted have inspected 10 schools. Of the 10 schools 
inspected, three schools (Bisham Academy, Dedworth Middle Academy and 
Eton Wick First school) have increased their Ofsted judgement from Requires 
Improvement to Good, so 64 schools in the Royal Borough are currently 
judged to be Good or Outstanding. 

2.5 There is only one school in the Royal Borough that currently has a judgement 
of Requires Improvement.  This is a maintained school, and Riverside Primary 
School is expecting an Ofsted Inspection this academic year and we are 
confident in the improvements Riverside have made.  

2.6 All Saints Junior CofE School was judged to be Inadequate in February 2022 
and a rapid improvement plan was put in place. All external assessments were 
showing positive impact on the areas for improvement up to December 2022. 
This school converted to an Academy on 1st January 2023 under the 
Department of Education sponsorship route and therefore is no longer a 
maintained school and is currently out of the Ofsted cycle of inspection. 

2.7 School link advisers continue to ensure that there are robust Ofsted action 
plans in place with all schools seeking to improve their judgement to at least 
good and school link advisers continue to monitor progress for those schools 
currently good or outstanding to maintain and improve standards. 

168



2.8 Since September 2019, all schools have been judged on the new Ofsted 
framework, which has a knowledge-based curriculum focus. The Link Advisors 
worked with schools prior to the new framework being released to ensure all 
schools have a broad-balanced curriculum. The curriculum provides all pupils 
with the skills, knowledge and understanding they need to develop into well-
rounded, informed individuals. The new Ofsted framework means all 
Outstanding schools are no longer exempt from Ofsted Inspections. Some of 
these schools in the Borough have not had an Ofsted Inspection for twelve 
plus years. The risk is that leadership in most of the schools has changed and 
these schools were inspected under previous Ofsted Frameworks. School link 
advisers are working with maintained schools judged as Outstanding to ensure 
successful judgement outcomes.  

2.9 A recent Schools Week article published that four out five schools will be 
downgraded from outstanding and the current national statistic states that the 
majority, (62%) became good, but over 17% fell to Requires Improvement and 
4% fell to inadequate. (https://schoolsweek.co.uk/four-in-five-outstanding-
schools-lose-top-ofsted-grade/). Currently we have had two schools in RBWM 
keep the outstanding grade and one declined too good in recent inspections. 

Early Years 
2.10 Currently, we have 70 Independent Private and Voluntary Nurseries (PVIs) in 

RBWM. Ten of these are new providers and have not yet been inspected by 
Ofsted. With the exception of those ten, 57 (95%) PVIs are judged as Good or 
Outstanding.  Three PVI (5%) are judged as Requires Improvement. 

2.11 Nursery classes attached to schools are not inspected separately. The Ofsted 
judgements for the Borough’s three maintained nursery schools are not 
included in the figures in point 2.10. All three of our maintained nursery 
schools are currently judged as Outstanding and they contribute to our 97% of 
Good/Outstanding school Ofsted percentage. 

Disadvantaged pupils 
2.12 In November 2022, schools attended our first face-to-face Pupil Premium (PP) 

network meeting of this academic year. The focus was on ensuring that 
schools publish their updated strategies in the new Department for Education 
(DfE) format which needed to be on the school websites by the 31 December 
2022. A key change is that this format requires schools to demonstrate they 
have considered evidence when developing their Pupil Premium Strategy. 

2.13 The focus for schools currently, therefore, is ensuring they: have identified 
their pupils’ needs; are using strong evidence to support their strategy; and 
have started the implementation of the revised strategy post pandemic. 

2.14 We will continue with termly PP Network Meetings, free of charge to our 
schools, to support Pupil Premium leads to: share good local practice; keep 
their three year plans up to date; inform them of any changes to guidance and, 
where possible, having speakers in with a range of expertise in this area. 

2.15 Research is showing that the pandemic has led to a growing gap nationally 
between our disadvantaged pupils and their non-disadvantaged peers 
according to a research piece by the Education Endowment Foundation 
(https://www.nfer.ac.uk/news-events/press-releases/disadvantage-attainment-
gap-remains-wide-after-pandemic-reading-skills-particularly-affected/). Staff in 

169

https://schoolsweek.co.uk/four-in-five-outstanding-schools-lose-top-ofsted-grade/
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/four-in-five-outstanding-schools-lose-top-ofsted-grade/
https://www.nfer.ac.uk/news-events/press-releases/disadvantage-attainment-gap-remains-wide-after-pandemic-reading-skills-particularly-affected/
https://www.nfer.ac.uk/news-events/press-releases/disadvantage-attainment-gap-remains-wide-after-pandemic-reading-skills-particularly-affected/


RBWM schools are also reporting this. The PP Network will focus on the 
impact of recovery initiatives such as the use of tutoring during the current 
academic year. 

2.16 Given that our disadvantaged gap in RBWM is widening. Our Phonic results 
for disadvantaged have widened by 10 percentage points and this has 
followed through to Key stage 1 results. Research is showing that the drive 
towards Quality First Teaching is having a positive impact on disadvantaged 
pupils catching up from the pandemic, the School Improvement Team have 
been in discussions with Tom Sherrington (Walkthrus) to put together an 
exciting year long, teacher development package. 

2.17 The aim of the project is to support schools to develop their use of instructional 
coaching using Walkthrus as a tool for teacher development. The project is 
planned to run for a year starting with a launch for school leaders early in June 
2023 to enable the project to align with School Development Plan objectives 
and Pupil Premium priorities for 2023-24. The project will then involve monthly 
training days with Tom Sherrington using a blended approach of face to face 
and virtual sessions. This will be open to school leaders, middle leaders, 
coaches/mentors, and teachers. This incurs a cost to each school and an 
expression of interest has so far resulted in 29 schools signing up to the 
programme. 

2.18 The Department for Work and Pensions announced the launch of a £170m 
COVID Winter Grant Scheme (CWGS) in November 2020. The CWGS aims to 
support children and families in need with food and household essentials over 
the winter period. RBWM has provided vouchers to all Free School Meal 
children and young people throughout each holiday period since this began. 
This was replaced by the Household Support Fund in October 2021 and those 
eligible for Free School Meals again received vouchers worth £40 per child for 
this winter break. These vouchers have been delivered via schools through a 
coordinated scheme operated by the Council’s Education Team. This funding 
will continue in 2023/24 as funding has been confirmed by Department for 
Work and Pensions.  

2.19 FUEL is a Department of Education funded free holiday activity and food 
programme. It offers participants the opportunity to take part in a range of fun 
activities and have a nutritious meal during school holiday periods. To be 
eligible to attend the programme, children and young people must receive 
benefits related to Free School Meals and be of school age. RBWM ran a 
summer and winter programme for our disadvantaged children and young 
people in 2022. The Fuel Summer 2022 programme had 4791attendances 
and feedback has been very positive.  

Key Stage 4 attainment 
2.20 This academic year saw the return of the summer exam series, after they had 

been cancelled in 2020 and 2021 due to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic, where alternative processes were set up to award grades (centre 
assessment grades, known as CAGs).  

2.21 Whilst year on year comparisons are unhelpful for estimating school                        
improvement, they do provide a degree of context. 

2.22 The latest headlines are as follows, for 2021/22: 

170

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fnews%2Fnew-winter-package-to-provide-further-support-for-children-and-families&data=04%7C01%7C%7Cb1ddfdd67cd3444c4f6508d891e7fc2a%7Ca8b4324f155c4215a0f17ed8cc9a992f%7C0%7C0%7C637419772835212487%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=YLPDkvMFeKNSfxtGPGl6qw0g6RYCuS26uopFQ9wzLCk%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fnews%2Fnew-winter-package-to-provide-further-support-for-children-and-families&data=04%7C01%7C%7Cb1ddfdd67cd3444c4f6508d891e7fc2a%7Ca8b4324f155c4215a0f17ed8cc9a992f%7C0%7C0%7C637419772835212487%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=YLPDkvMFeKNSfxtGPGl6qw0g6RYCuS26uopFQ9wzLCk%3D&reserved=0


• Overall, 55% of pupils in RBWM achieved English and Maths GCSE at 
grade 5 or above. State funded schools nationally achieved 49.6%. 

• RBWM is rated as the 35th Local Authority on this measure. 
• The percentage of RBWM pupils attaining English and Maths GCSE at 

grade 4 or above is 76.2%. This is well above the state funded national 
figure of 68.8%.  

• The average Attainment 8 score across RBWM was 51.1.  This compares 
to 48.7 for state-schools nationally.   

• 45.4% of RBWM pupils were entered for all elements of the English 
Baccalaureate (Ebacc) in 2022, above the national figure of 38.8%.  

• The England state-maintained Average Pont Score for the Ebacc was 4.27, 
and for RBWM 4.57. RBWM was ranked 36th best Local Authority on this 
measure. 

 

School Centred Initial Teacher Training (SCITT) 
2.23 RBWM has been running a School-centred Initial Teacher Training (SCITT) 

Programme for many years to help with recruitment of teachers in RBWM 
(Grow our own). The school-led teacher training programme leads to Qualified 
Teacher Status (QTS). SCITT teacher training is one of the most popular ways 
to gain QTS, offering trainees a chance to get hands-on teaching experience 
in at least two schools within RBWM. 

2.24 Last academic year (2021-2022), RBWM SCITT successfully trained 30 
teachers: 20 Primary and 10 Secondary. 100% went onto employment in 
teaching. In February 2022 RBWM (SCITT) was Ofsted Inspected and this 
resulted in a ‘Good’ judgement. 

2.25 Recruitment has been challenging this year both nationally and locally and the 
current cohort (2022-2023), is made up of 24 trainees, 13 primary and 11 
secondaries. 

2.26 September 2022 is the second year of the Early Career Framework to support 
Early Career Teachers over the first 2 years of their career. This has replaced 
a one-year programme for Newly Qualified Teachers. RBWM currently have 
132 Early Career Teachers with Nursery, Primary, Secondary and Special 
Schools split into two cohorts. Cohort one had 71 and Cohort two 61. 

2.27 The DfE has published its response to the initial teacher training (ITT) market 
review report in 2021. The central recommendation is that all ITT providers 
implement a new set of quality requirements and that a robust accreditation 
process should take place to ensure that all providers meet the requirements 
in full, both at the point of accreditation, and on a continuing basis. However, 
in September 2022, the Department for Education awarded the RBWM 
(SCITT) accreditation to deliver ITT from 2024-25 under the new quality 
requirement process. This is an outstanding achievement for this service.   

Absence data 
2.28 Overall absence is measured by the % of half day sessions missed. COVID 

restrictions were lifted on attendance from 8th March 2021 for all pupils, four 
school weeks prior to the end of term. Due to the disruption faced during the 
spring term, caution should be taken when comparing data to previous years 
(table 1). 

171



Table 1: Overall and persistent absence  

 
Source DfE SFR  

 

• RBWM attendance continues to be better than national. 
• RBWM Primary School attendance level has increased in line with national, 

resulting in a small ranking change from equal 24th Local Authority in 2019 
to equal 18th LA in 2021.  

• Secondary School attendance level increased slightly compared to 2018/19.  
RBWM’s attendance ranking has increased from equal 28th Local Authority 
in 2019 to equal 21st Local Authority in 2021. 

 Persistent Absenteeism 
2.29 A pupil enrolment is identified as a persistent absentee if they miss 10% or 

more of their possible sessions.  

RBWM figures continue to be better than national and are in line with 
statistical neighbours: 

Education Welfare 
2.30 The Education Welfare Team continue to support schools with persistent 

absence in schools through a traded service. The service conducts regular 
attendance/register checks with the allocated school. It provides the school 
with an allocated Education Welfare Officer who supports the young person, 
family and school. The service works closely with partner agencies to support 
and increase school attendance.  

2.31 Schools who do not buy into the service, can contact the Education Welfare 
Team for advice and guidance. All updated information and guidance is sent to 
all schools, regardless of buy in status. The Education Welfare Service 
processes Fixed Penalty Notices on cases from all schools and leads in rare 
cases where legal action is taken.  

2.32 All RBWM schools can contact the service for advice and guidance on 
attendance in general. Support from the Child Missing from Education Officer 
and Elective Home Education Coordinator and legal procedures is provided to 
all schools, regardless of buy-in into the traded offer.  

2.33 The New “Working Together to Improve School Attendance” was in place from 
September 2022 and is on target to become statutory from September 2023.  
This will mean an end to the current Traded Service as every school in RBWM 
(including Independent and Special Schools) will have an allocated Education 
Welfare Officer as a named point of contact. They will support schools 

 Overall Absence (%) % Persistent absentees 
  2017/8 2018/9 2020/1 2017/8 2018/9 2020/1 

England Primary  4.2 3.9 3.6  8.7 8.3 8.8 
Statistical Neighbours 
Primary 3.9 3.6 3.0  7.1 6.6 6.7 

RBWM Primary 3.8 3.8 3.1  6.6 7.1 6.5 
England Secondary 5.5 5.5 5.5  13.9 13.6 14.8 
Statistical Neighbours 
Secondary 5.3 5.2 4.9  12.7 12.0 12.5 

RBWM Secondary 5.0 5.0 4.9  10.9 11.0 12.6 

172

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1099677/Working_together_to_improve_school_attendance.pdf


strategically regarding attendance and signpost to Local Authority support 
services for those children and young people with persistent absenteeism 
(<90%) and become directly involved with cases of severe absenteeism 
(<50%).  

2.34 The Education Welfare Service will also provide Attendance Support Meetings 
to all 88 schools (including Independent) in the Borough each full term. The 
service will provide networking opportunities to share effective practice 
through Attendance Network Meetings. 

2.35 The allocated EWO and Local Authority will provide legal support and process 
all Fixed Penalty Notices. 

2.36 Schools will be required to have a robust day to day process for recording, 
monitoring, and following up attendance. They will be required to share data 
electronically with the DfE and continue to inform the EWS of pupils not 
attending regularly or being added to or removed from the roll. Schools will be 
required to publish their Attendance Policy on their website and have a named 
Attendance Lead on the Senior Leadership Team.  

2.37 Schools will be required to inform a pupil’s social worker and Virtual School if 
they have an unexplained absence or leave the school roll. In 2021/22 the LA 
received funding to resource the Virtual School Head to work with early years 
settings, schools, colleges, and social care leaders to create a culture of high 
aspirations that helps all children with social workers to make educational 
progress 

2.38 Please see appendix 6 for a full breakdown and analysis of the Education and 
Welfare Service and next steps.  

Permanent exclusions 
2.39 National comparisons relate to 2020/21 academic year and come from the DfE 

Statistical First Release (SFR). National data for 2021/22 is expected to be 
published in August 2023. 

Table 2: Permanent exclusions from Royal Borough schools, by year 
Academic Year  15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 

Number of pupils:# 20 20 15 31 21 18 

% of total pupils: 0.09% 0.09% 0.07% 0.14% 0.09% 0.08% 

# SFR rounds total pupil numbers to nearest 10 until 2018/9 

2.40 As with 2019/20, while suspensions and permanent exclusions were possible 
throughout the academic year, covid restrictions will have had an impact on 
the numbers presented and caution should be taken when comparing across 
years. 

2.41 The number of permanent exclusions in RBWM has decreased to 18 in 
2020/21. 

173



2.42 The national exclusion rate in 2019/20 (the latest year for which data is 
available) was 0.05% (i.e. on average 5 students in every 10,000 were 
permanently excluded). 

2.43 In 2020/21 all RBWM permanent exclusions were in the Secondary phase. 
 

Next steps  
• RBWM schools and Inclusion services to continue working together to 

support young people to remain in mainstream education where possible 
via early intervention support and measures.   

• SEMH service to continue to support both primary and secondary pupils 
who are at risk of further suspension/permanent exclusion.  

• Inclusion Manager to continue to support children to return to mainstream 
education following permanent exclusion from school by working closely 
with RISE alternative provision.  

• Social Workers are now invited to attend exclusion hearing meetings. The 
service will ensure social care colleagues are aware of children at risk of 
suspension/permanent exclusion. 

• As of 2022/23, the virtual school responsibilities are extended to children 
subject to a Child Protection and Child in Need plans. The inclusion service 
will join up with the virtual school, ensuring any child open to social care 
who has received a suspension/permanent exclusion is receiving multi-
agency support and professionals are joined up with the support the child is 
receiving.  
 

2.44 Please see appendix 2 for a full breakdown and analysis of permanent 
exclusion for 2021-22 by the service and next steps. 

Elective Home Education  
2.45 In 2020/21 and 2022/23, the Education Welfare Service has seen a significant 

increase in children and young people being Electively Home Educated (EHE) 
in RBWM. In 2022/23, a total of 231 children have been recorded as EHE and 
currently, 193 pupils are on the register and 38 have returned to school. This 
significant increase in referrals has also been seen nationally with fears about 
the pandemic given as a factor in many cases.  

2.46 To ensure that all children and young people who are electively home 
educated are receiving a good level of education, we appointed an additional 
fixed term, full time position which is currently being funded by a one-off 
pandemic grant. This will need to be reviewed if the number of children and 
young people who are home educated does not fall back to pre-pandemic 
levels so that RBWM continues to fulfil its statutory duty. 

2.47 The local authority has a duty to be satisfied that all young people are 
receiving a reasonable education. This includes conducting home visits; 
making virtual calls; liaising with the school and family and involved 
professionals; chasing the Education Proposal Form; and analysing the 
returned form to ensure we are satisfied. The DfE have recently supported a 
local authority in a legal case which has confirmed that the level of assurance 
needed is higher than just knowing that a child or young person is registered 
for elective home education.  

174



2.48 It is important to highlight that the overall number of children and young people 
who are Electively Home Educated, does not reflect the amount in referrals on 
a monthly basis. For example, 10 children may return to education and 10 new 
referrals for home education are received. Whilst the overall number remains 
the same, a large amount of work is put in to supporting the children, young 
people and families making the transition to return to school and processing 
and supporting new notifications.  

Pupil destination 
2.49 The pupil Key Stage 4 (e.g. GCSE) and 5 (e.g. A Level) destinations for 

2020/21 are taken from the DfE Statistical First Release.  The key points are: 

• Education and employment – at the end of Key Stage 4.  The 
proportion of RBWM students (95%) that went on to, or remained in, 
education or employment was similar to national (94%) and South East 
(94%) 

• Types of Institution – at the end of Key Stage 4.  The proportion of 
RBWM pupils in school sixth forms (56%) continues to be well above 
national and South East averages (38% and 39%). 

• Disadvantaged pupils – at the end of Key Stage 4.  The proportion of 
disadvantaged students at KS4 in sustained education or employment in 
RBWM was 92%, above South East and national averages (both 88%).  

• Education and employment – at the end of Key Stage 5.  The 
proportion of students from RBWM (school sixth forms) recorded in 
sustained education and/or employment in the year after A levels is 89%, 
three percentage points above the South East and national average.  
Nationally and locally the sustained destination rate declined in 2020/21 
with lower numbers going into apprenticeships and employment, likely due 
to the disruption caused by the coronavirus pandemic. The increase in the 
proportion of students progressing to further education is mainly due to a 
change in the underlying cohort. 

• Disadvantaged pupils – at the end of Key Stage 5.  The proportion of 
KS5 students in RBWM schools and colleges who were disadvantaged 
and were in sustained education or employment/training is 68%, just 
below the national figure. The RBWM disadvantaged cohort at Key Stage 
5 is very small, so each student contributes around ½% to the figures.  

Young people Not known to be in Education, Employment & Training (NEET) 
2.50 Figure 1 shows the numbers of RBWM 16–17-year-olds identified as NEET 

(not in Education, Employment and Training), EET (in Education, Employment 
and Training) and the number for which the information is unknown from 
September 2016. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

175



Figure 1: No. of 16 and 17 year olds NEET and EET in the Royal Borough 

 
 

2.51 The percentage unknown was 9.1% for August 2022 up from 3.7% in August 
2021. This is higher than the England average of 7.0% for the same period 
and places Windsor and Maidenhead in the bottom quintile. The percentage 
unknown was 3.7% for August 2021. This is higher than the England average 
of 2.3% for the same period. RBWM now uses the same processes as 
Richmond and Kingston since moving to Achieving for Children and the 
proportion of ‘unknown’ has fallen from 19.7% in 2017. 

2.52 There was a very high Not Known in year 2022 compared to year 2021. This is 
due to the data gaps in collecting the admissions data from Windsor & 
Maidenhead schools/colleges. It had a very big impact on Windsor & 
Maidenhead’s performance. We will be working with schools more closely in 
the future to the collect early admissions data. We have received a warning 
from the DfE requesting the need for a plan to improve. 

Social Emotional Mental Health Service (SEMH)  
2.53 The SEMH Intervention Service was established in September 2019 to reduce 

the risk of primary permanent exclusions and increase capacity within the 
Primary Schools across the Borough.  

2.54 In November 2018, it was agreed by Schools Forum, following a consultation 
with schools, to complete a 0.5% block transfer from the Schools Block to the 
High Needs Block to support the SEMH programme. 

2.55 Since then, the service has supported 53 pupils who were at risk of exclusion 
across all phases of school. Only three pupils who have received support from 
the service have subsequently been excluded. The coach/mentor has 
supported all three pupils through their transition to Alternative Provision. 

2.56 The SEMH Coordinator and Inclusion and Access Manager provides a 
reactive and relational approach to support leaders in schools, to reduce the 
risk of permanent exclusion for pupils with SEMH and increase capacity within 
schools. 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

 S
ep

t 2
01

7
 N

ov
 2

01
7

 Ja
n 

20
18

 M
ar

 2
01

8
 M

ay
 2

01
8

 Ju
ly

 2
01

8
 S

ep
t 2

01
8

 N
ov

 2
01

8
 Ja

n 
20

19
 M

ar
 2

01
9

 M
ay

 2
01

9
 Ju

ly
 2

01
9

 S
ep

t 2
01

9
 N

ov
 2

01
9

 Ja
n 

20
20

 M
ar

 2
02

0
 M

ay
 2

02
0

 Ju
ly

 2
02

0
 S

ep
t 2

02
0

 N
ov

 2
02

0
 Ja

n 
20

21
 M

ar
 2

02
1

 M
ay

 2
02

1
 Ju

ly
 2

02
1

NEET (unadj)

Unknown

EET

176



2.57 SEMH training has been attended by 863 school staff members and 191 have 
received follow up or bespoke training including the ITT cohort (Initial Teacher 
Training). 

2.58 The project has evolved to include a Middle/Secondary/Upper School model 
that is purchased through a Buy Back initiative.  

2.59 SEMH Network Meetings were launched in September 2021. This is a virtual 
network meeting for the 133 SEMH Leads across the Borough by providing 
information sharing, new initiatives of support, examples of good practice and 
networking opportunities in an easily accessible way. The meetings are well 
attended and recorded to provide training opportunities and cascading 
information where necessary. 

2.60 RBWM have purchased 65 Boxall licences for all school settings across the 
Borough. We are the first Borough to provide this in the country. Each setting 
has 300 subscriptions and can assess a child as many times as required 
throughout the academic year. This is tracking the impact of interventions, 
Education Health and Care Pans (EHCPs) and transition for those children 
with SEMH across RBWM. This provides a way of tracking SEMH progress 
throughout a child’s time in school, supports transitions between settings and 
aid consultation meetings see appendix 3 for service outcomes.  

Next steps  
• Continued funding for the SEMH intervention Project concludes July 2025 

There are a few other initiatives around SEMH across the Borough which 
includes an application for SEMH Special School and the SEMH Early 
Years Hub which will commence in academic Year 2023/24. 

• Continued promotion of the Online Boxall Profile targeting secondary 
provision. 

• Continued evaluation of impact of the SEMH Network Meetings through 
feedback and participation. In addition, the opportunity for two Virtual 
meetings to act as an SEMH surgery to discuss individual cases. 

• Embed the Peer-on-Peer Toolkit with schools and early years settings 

2.61 Please see Appendix 3 for a full breakdown and analysis of the SEMH 
service. 

SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) Services 
2.62 The SEND Service is responsible for carrying out statutory Education, Health 

& Care Assessments of children and young people with significant special 
educational needs in our Borough, and managing a caseload of around 1,100 
children and young people with SEN. Its main role is arranging SEN provision 
and placement for all Children and Young People (CYP) with Education, 
Health & Care Plans (EHCP) along with coordinating multi-agency EHC 
Assessments for those CYP who require significant additional educational 
support. 

  

177



Table 3: Primary EHCP need in the Royal Borough 
Primary Need  Total 

Pupil No. 

Dec -21 

Total 
Pupil No. 

Dec -22 

% 
Increase/ 
Decrease  

Autistic Spectrum Disorder 392 443 13 
Social, Emotional and Mental Health 177 195 10 
Hearing Impairment 16 17 6 
Moderate Learning Difficulty 85 84 -1.2 
Multi-Sensory Impairment 0 0 0 
Physical Disability 58 60 3 
Profound & Multiple Learning 
Difficulty 

16 15 -6 
Speech, Language and 
Communication Need 

176 186 6 
Severe Learning Difficulty 17 19 12 
Specific Learning Difficulty 46 42 -9 
Visual Impairment 13 12 -8 
Other 39 41 5 
Total  1035 

 
1114  

2.63 The highest frequency primary need in our Borough is Autism, followed by 
Speech & Language Needs and Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
Difficulties. See table 2 for full Borough breakdown of need for CYP with 
EHCPs. 

2.64 Table 3 shows an increase of 8% in EHCPs across the 2022 calendar year. 
While national statistics are not yet available for this period, the previous year 
showed an increase across the country of approximately 10% so locally this is 
not unexpected. This significant and ongoing pressure is most likely to be due 
to the following factors: 

• Pressure on school budgets leading to more requests for EHCPs as a way 
to access high needs funding. 

• An increase in Emotionally Related School Avoidance, in part due to post-
pandemic factors 

• Difficulties recruiting support staff in schools making it more challenging to 
effectively meet the needs of all children with additional needs. 

• An increase in the complexity of children's needs. 
• Ongoing difficulties in accessing key paediatric Health services such as 

CAMHS and Children's Occupational Therapy. 
 

2.65 The majority of CYP with EHCPs are placed in state-funded mainstream and 
special schools and Further Education colleges, with around 39% in 
mainstream schooling, 23% in state-funded special schools and 14% in 
Further Education colleges. 

2.66 Around 12% of CYP with EHCPs are educated in the independent sector, 
which represents the highest cost placements and accounts for 26% of the 
overall High Needs Block expenditure.   

2.67 The percentage of EHC assessments completed within the 20-week statutory 
timescale remains in the 80%-100% range across the year, compared to 
national averages of 60% within timeframes. This includes during the 
pandemic period. See figure 2 for timeline. We experienced high volume of 

178



EHCP submitted by schools during November/December 2022 which 
impacted our statutory return. 

Figure 2: % of EHCP assessments completed within 20 weeks 

 

2.68 Workforce capacity issues continue to be frequently reported by several Local 
Authorities, with reported impacts on meeting statutory timeframes. This 
includes Educational Psychology and SEN Team capacity as well as that of 
health professionals following residual impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

2.69 We have appointed an Annual Review Officer to monitor and improve the 
completion rate of EHCP reviews and measure our compliance with statutory 
annual review timeframes. 

2.70 The service will continue to focus on minimising the number of children and 
young people with an EHCP who are not able to access all of the provision in 
their EHC Plan.  This typically occurs when schools struggle to provide the 
required services and relationships breakdown, resulting in the young person 
not accessing full-time education. The SEND Team challenge this through 
actions such as:  

• Ensuring schools follow the statutory SEN process and arranging interim 
reviews to discuss placement concerns rather than moving to exclude 
pupils. 

• Closer monitoring of annual reviews to more proactively identify where 
changes to placements or provision may be needed for SEN pupils. 

• Regular monitoring of placements at risk / pupils out of education through 
fortnightly team discussions.  

• Continuing to look for long term placement solutions for those children in 
interim/alternate placements. 

Resource Base Investments  
2.71 Two Resourced Provisions were opened in September 2021 to support 

primary and secondary aged pupils who have an Education Health and Care 
Plan (EHCP) with ASC as the primary need. One is at the Dedworth 
First/Middle School campus and the other on the Furze Platt Primary 
Federation campus.  

179



2.72 Pupils are expected to eventually spend at least 50% of their time in school in 
the mainstream classrooms alongside their peers. Additional, bespoke support 
is provided for the remainder of the time in the Resource Provision, in smaller 
groups or 1:1.  

2.73 South Ascot Village Primary School’s SEN Unit for pupils with slightly more 
complex ASC needs is scheduled to open in September 2023. In this base, 
pupils are likely to be spending more than 50% of their time in the Unit rather 
than the mainstream school. This provides the time to deliver the additional 
support that the pupils require.   

2.74 Cabinet has previously approved a new Resourced Provision at Wraysbury 
Primary School, which is now at the design stage. 

2.75 Proposals for additional new SEND and AP provision are the subject of a 
separate report to March Cabinet “Special Educational Needs and Alternative 
Provision Capital Strategy”, along with an update on the bid for a new Special 
School. 

2.76 The planned additional capacity will ensure that fewer pupils need to be 
placed in specialist or independent specialist settings, possibly out of Borough.  

2.77 Please see appendix 4 for a full breakdown and analysis of the SEND service 
and next steps.  

Update of Statement of Action (SEND) 
2.78 A Statement of action was written in response to the 2017 RBWM SEND 

inspection. After a successful revisit in October 2019, we had shown sufficient 
progress in 6 of the 8 areas for improvement. We are currently under the 
Department of Education (DFE) monitoring cycle.  

2.79 Waiting times for Occupational Therapies (OT) and Speech and Language 
Therapies (SALT) remain an issue both locally and East Berkshire wide. A 
transformative approach is being implemented in addition to one-off waiting list 
investments by the Integrated Care Board (ICB).  

2.80 The government is making an unprecedented level of investment in high 
needs funding with revenue funding increasing by more than 40% between 
2019-20 and 2022-23. However, nationally spending is still outstripping 
funding. Two thirds of local authorities have deficits in their Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG) budget because of high needs cost pressures. By the end of 
2020- 21, the national deficit was over £1 billion. This would equate to an 
average deficit across 128 authorities of £7.813M, or an average across the 
two thirds that have a deficit of £11.765M. RBWM has a planned deficit of £2M 
by March 2023. 

2.81 RBWM has been invited to be part of the Delivering Better Value (DBV) 
programme that was announced by the Department for Education (DfE) in 
February last year. The DBV programme is designed to provide dedicated 
support and funding to help 55 local authorities with substantial deficit issues 
in their High Needs Block of the DSG. This aim is to reform their high needs 
systems, with the aim that more local authorities are on a sustainable footing. 
LAs are then better placed to respond to the official forthcoming special 
educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND) reforms. There is currently £85m 

180



allocated to this programme. A further 14 authorities – with more severe 
deficits – are engaged in the Safety Valve project which involves contractual 
arrangements with the DfE. 

2.82 RBWM is currently on WAVE2 of the DBV programme and data collection 
started in December 2022. This intervention will last through to the Autumn 
Term. Regular meetings with the provider, Newton, are happening and we are 
on track with required progress. It is worth noting that this is also taking a great 
deal of officer time from several services. 

Area SENCo and SEND Strategy  
2.83 A new Five year SEND Strategy was created through consultation with key 

stakeholders, including parents and carers and has now been published. It will 
be launched at the Inclusion Summit February 2023.  

2.84 The SEND Steering Board continues to be a multi-agency Board with 
representation from parents and carers, schools, LA SEND and education 
services as well as social care and health. SEND Strategy Implementation 
work streams report directly to the board.  

2.85 The SEND data dashboard is regularly updated and monitored. The data 
gathered reflects information from a wide variety of services and external 
providers. Through these multi-agency meetings there is opportunity for 
support and challenge as well as analysis of trends and action planning as a 
result. This robust process will continue. 

2.86 After our Council Disability for Children training, it was identified the SEND 
data was focused on service evaluation. Alongside this, new outcome led 
approaches have been added to give intelligence on the lived experience of 
RBWM residents.  

2.87 The Area SENCo and our SEND Consultant are currently working on 
improving our SEND services by building a community of practice through 
initiatives to; support SENCos, share good practice and celebrate inclusion. 
(appendix: 5). 

These include:  

• Inclusion Quality Mark or SEND Peer Review. 
• Annual SEND Conference. 
• Localised SENCo clusters. 
• Termly SENCo Leadership Forum. 
• Cross-phase SEND register moderation Clusters. 
• The Collaborative responsibility resource and promotional staff meetings. 
• Implementation and monitoring of RBWM’s 5-year SEND strategy. 
• To mitigate the risk of needs remaining unmet because of the waiting 

times. 

Summary of key priorities  
 

2.88 Based on the analysis above, the following items are the key priorities for the 
Council to continue to ensure that all pupils in the Borough get a Good 
education.  

181



Table 4: Key priorities for the council in Education 
Key Priorities  Next Steps  
Maintain school 
improvement focus on 
all schools 

To continue to support schools to maintain and 
improve their Ofsted ratings.  

Continued focus on 
disadvantaged pupil 
plans and outcomes 

Through network meetings, continue to support 
schools to establish Quality First Teaching 
approaches for their disadvantaged pupils. 
Set-up cluster groups of disadvantaged networks 
within schools to moderate and compare data and 
share good practice. To encourage schools to sign 
up to the Tom Sherrington Quality Teach First 
programme 

Transform therapy 
services with health for 
additional needs 

The Area SENCo and the SEND Team Manager 
will continue to work closely with Berkshire Health 
Foundation Trust (BHFT), CYPIT and ICB 
colleagues on the East Berkshire Integrated 
Therapies model. 

Designated Schools 
Grant finance 
management reduce 
deficit  

Work on an action plan to address areas of high 
needs spending including out of Borough and 
Independent places and also completing the DfE 
Delivering Better Values Programme. 

Inclusion and Access 
for Pupils who may be 
vulnerable to missing 
education  

The EHE coordinator will work closely with all 
families, children and school where a child is either 
newly home educated or has been home educated 
for a period of time to encourage a return to 
school.  
 
Children who are at risk of exclusion or have been 
permanently excluded will be supported by the 
education service including the Inclusion & Access 
Manager. Support will be provided to help young 
people access early help and prevention services.  
 
Where a young person is ready to return to 
mainstream education, the Fair Access Panel will 
work effectively with all schools to ensure a child 
returns to mainstream education as quickly as 
possible.  

SEND Ofsted 
Inspection  

Services will prepare for the New Area SEND 
Ofsted Inspection, likely to be in the Summer Term 
2023. Education Service currently working on Self 
Evaluation Document, Quality Assurance and the 
evidence documents required for Annex A. 

Options  
 

Table 5: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Congratulates local schools on their 
continued success. 
This is the recommended option 

Give schools the recognition of 
producing high-quality education 
in the borough, with of 97% of 

182



Option Comments 
pupils receiving a good or better 
education   

Endorses the key priorities set out in 
Table 3 at paragraph 2.87. 
This is the recommended option 
 

To address our development 
areas and improve services to 
meet the growing needs  

Do Nothing 
This is not the recommended option 

Statutory responsibilities will not 
be met and the quality of 
education will decrease  

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 6: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

Maintain school 
improvement focus 
on all schools 
(Ofsted results % 
Good/Outstanding)  

<86% National 
86%  

>86% 97%  2023 
academic 
year  

Continued focus on 
disadvantaged 
pupil plans and 
outcomes 
(Percentage gap 
decrease between 
disadvantaged and 
peers) 

>10% 10% <10% 5% 2023 
academic 
year 

Transform therapy 
services with health 
for additional needs 
decrease waiting 
times for OT 
(currently at 248) 

>30% Reduce 
by 30% 

<30% 50% reduction  2023 
academic 
year 

Designated 
Schools Grant 
finance 
management 
reduce deficit 

1.3% 1.3% <1.0% <0.7% 2024 
Financial 
Year  

Inclusion and 
Access for Pupils 
who may be 
vulnerable to 
missing education 
(Permanent 
exclusion figures)  

>30% Reduce 
by 30% 

<30% 60% reduction 
on exclusion  

2023 
academic 
year 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The level of overspend in the High Needs services remains unaffordable for 
the Council, therefore, it is important that all local partners continue to work to 
bring the cost of high needs services back in line with the Government grant 
allocation.  

183



4.2 The budget relies on: promoting independence and use of the local education 
offer; managing increasing demand for services through increased early 
intervention; working with partners to ensure that everyone involved in a 
child’s education is confident in supporting children with additional needs; and 
increasing the amount of local provision, ensuring that provision is aligned to 
need.  

4.3 The financial trajectory will need to be carefully monitored in 2022/23 and 
2023/24 to ensure that the level of spending on education services is 
affordable. Schools Forum and schools will have a clear role in monitoring the 
position and in implementing the plans in partnership   

4.4 The DSG conditions of grant requires that any Local Authority with an overall 
deficit on its DSG account, or whose DSG surplus has substantially reduced 
during the year, must be able to present a plan to the Department for 
Education (DfE) for managing their future DSG spend. 

4.5 As part of future budget setting 2024/25 historic cross charging between the 
DSG and General Fund will be considered with the expectation of services 
being realigned accordingly. This will ensure full compliance with regulations.  

4.6 Based on current demand, pricing and estimated future grant funding the 
current projected cumulative deficit for the DSG by 31st March 2023 is in the 
region of £2m. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report. 

184



6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or risk Impact with 

no 
mitigations  
or all 
mitigations 
fail. 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations. 

Mitigations currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk with 
mitigations 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with 
mitigations 

Schools are not improving at the 
rate required to remain in or 
achieve the top quartile 
performance. Schools are judged 
as below “Good” by Ofsted.  
School attainment rates insufficient 
to keep schools competitive, 
resulting in smaller schools with 
higher probability of further 
performance decline. 

Major Medium The actions set out in 
Table 3. 

The actions set out in 
Table 3. 

Major Low 

The school improvement grant, 
which currently comes to the local 
authority, could be delegated to 
schools. This would mean that 
there is no grant to run a school 
improvement service. 

Major High None The grant funding for 
2023-24 has ceased 
and alternative 
funding is required 
through Schools 
Forum or other 
education budgets  

  

Waiting times for occupational 
therapy (OT) are increasing. As a 
result, too many children and 
young people’s needs continue to 
be unmet. 

Major High Working closely with 
commissioners, therapy 
providers and school 
settings to broaden 
training offer and 
ordinarily available 
provision for those on 
the waiting list.  

An East Berkshire 
project team has been 
established to 
develop a sustainable 
model for delivery of 
OT. 

High  Medium 

New Area SEND Inspection 
Framework – Inspection due in 
Summer Term 2023.  There is 
likely to be a particular focus on 
Alternative Provision. Risk that we 

Major High  Working group set-up 
to be Ofsted ready 
across services   

Preparation for SEND 
inspection by service 
areas, with a 
particular focus on 
Alternative Provision. 

Moderate Moderate 

185



could be placed on a statement of 
action plan  

 

186



7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Climate change/sustainability.  There are no climate change/sustainability 
risks arising from this report. 

7.2 Data Protection/GDPR.  There are no data protection or GDPR implications 
arising from this report. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 No consultation has been required for the completion of this report. 
Consultation will be carried out with stakeholders such as Youth Council and 
Parents for ongoing improvements.  

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1.1 No implementations arising from this report. 

APPENDICES  

9.1.2 This report is supported by 6 appendices: 

Contained in paper copies 
• Appendix 1: The Education Data Pack 2021-22 
• Appendix 2: Permanent Exclusion Service  
• Appendix 3: SEMH Service  
• Appendix 4: SEND Service  
• Appendix 5: Area SENCo Service 
• Appendix 6: Education Welfare Service   

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

9.1.3 This report is supported by no background documents: 

10. CONSULTATION  

Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
14/02/2023  

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

14/02/2023 14/02/2023 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
23/02/2023 23/02/2023 

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

  

187



Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) – if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) – if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer 14/02/2023  

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EqiA, 
or agree an EqiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 14/02/2023 17/02/2023 

Other consultees:    
Lin Ferguson  AFC Director of Children 

Services  
23/01/2023 01/02/2023 

Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 14/02/2023  
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 14/02/2023  
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
07/02/2023 10/02/2023 

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, Education, Health, 
Mental Health, & Transformation 

15/02/2023 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
For information  
 

No No 

 
Report Author: Clive Haines - 07825862200 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendix E: Equality Impact Assessment 
 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA 
Guidance Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 

188

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


Title of 
policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Quality of Education Report  

Service area: 
 

Education  

Directorate: 
 

Children Services 

 
Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 
 
This report sets out the progress across the Borough’s schools, summarising the 
available qualitative and quantitative data that is contained in the Education Pack 
2021-22 and other appendices.  It is of note that attainment data has not been 
published nationally for specific groups of pupils and the results are not 
comparable.  

This report outlines some of the support provided by the Education Service and the 
next priority steps for continued improvement in education to give all pupils the 
best chance of success. 
 

 

2. Relevance Check 
Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM 
employees?  
• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage (for example, for a forthcoming 

action plan)? 
Future actions plans may result in EQIA  

 
If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 
 
 
 
  

189

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 
Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, 
sex, disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy/maternity, marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately 
represented?  For example, compared to the general population do a higher 
proportion have disabilities?  
 
 

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  
• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 
 
 

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other 
possible sources of information are in the Guidance document. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

190



4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 
 
• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and 

experiences of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 
• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 
 
Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral 
impact, state ‘Not Applicable’ 
 
More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance 
document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive 
impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 
 

The Service focuses on the 
provision needed to meet the 
required support in schools and 
settings.  There are no decisions 
relating to this characteristic. 

  

Disability 
 

The Service focuses on the 
provision needed to meet the 
required support in schools and 
settings.  There are no decisions 
relating to this characteristic. 

  

Sex 
 

The Service focuses on the 
provision needed to meet the 
required support in schools and 
settings.  There are no decisions 
relating to this characteristic. 

  

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

The Service focuses on the 
provision needed to meet the 
required support in schools and 
settings.  There are no decisions 
relating to this characteristic. 

  

Sexual orientation 
and gender 
reassignment 
 

The Service focuses on the 
provision needed to meet the 
required support in schools and 
settings.  There are no decisions 
relating to this characteristic. 

  

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

The Service focuses on the 
provision needed to meet the 
required support in schools and 
settings.  There are no decisions 
relating to this characteristic. 

  

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

The Service focuses on the 
provision needed to meet the 
required support in schools and 
settings.  There are no decisions 
relating to this characteristic. 

  

191



Armed forces 
community 

The Service focuses on the 
provision needed to meet the 
required support in schools and 
settings.  There are no decisions 
relating to this characteristic. 

  

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. 
low income, poverty 

The Service focuses on the 
provision needed to meet the 
required support in schools and 
settings.  There are no decisions 
relating to this characteristic. 

  

Children in 
care/Care leavers 

The Service focuses on the 
provision needed to meet the 
required support in schools and 
settings.  There are no decisions 
relating to this characteristic. 

  

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are 
not applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 
 
What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected 
characteristics are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged 
by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
N/A 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have 
been put in place to mitigate or minimise this? 
For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 
N/A 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the 
future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
N/A 

6. Sign Off 
Completed by: Clive Haines 
 

Date: 
25/01/2023 

192



Approved by: Lin Ferguson  
 

Date: 
25/01/2023 
 

 
If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 
Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 
 

 

193



This page is intentionally left blank



RBWM 

Education Data Pack 

Academic Year 2021 – 2022 

Academic Year 2021/22 Janaury 2022 

195



GLOSSARY 

KEY STAGES OF THE CURRICULUM 

1. The curriculum is split into stages according to the age of the pupils, see Table 
A. 

Table A – Key Stage and Age Summary 

2. Pupil assessment is: 

 At Foundation stage pupils is assessed against a profile which has a strong 
emphasis on the three prime areas of communication and language; physical; 
and personal, social and emotional development. Practitioners make a best-fit 
assessment of whether children are emerging, expected or exceeding against 
each of the 17 early learning goals. The percentage of children achieving at 
least the expected level in the prime areas of learning and in the specific areas 
of literacy and mathematics are defined as having reached a ‘Good Level of 
Development’ (GLD). 

 At the end of Year 1 pupils take a phonics screening test. 

 Pupils are assessed by teachers in the core subjects of Reading, Writing and 
Mathematics at the end of Key Stage 1.  

 At the end of Key Stage 2, tests take place in Reading, Mathematics and 
Grammar, Punctuation and Spelling and teacher assessments are carried out 
in Reading, Writing, Mathematics and Science. Pupils are required to reach the 
expected standard in Reading test, Writing assessment and Maths test. 

 At the end of Key Stage 3 there are no statutory assessment requirements. 

 At Key Stage 4 and 5, pupils undertake external examinations, most commonly 
GCSEs and A levels. 

STATISTICAL NEIGHBOURS 

The tables and charts in the report compare schools in the Royal Borough with 
those nationally and those in statistically similar authorities, known as our 
‘Statistical Neighbours’. The Royal Borough’s current statistical neighbours are: 
Surrey, Buckinghamshire, Bracknell Forest, Hertfordshire, Wokingham, West 
Berkshire, Oxfordshire, Cambridgeshire, Hampshire and Trafford.  They were 
last changed in October 2015 with the introduction of Trafford and the loss of 
Cheshire East. 

Stage Age range School year National exam or 
test at end of 
Key Stage

Foundation Stage 
Key Stage 1 
Key Stage 2 
Key Stage 3 
Key Stage 4 
Key Stage 5

3-5 
5-7 
7-11 
11-14 
14-16 
Post 16

Nursery and Reception 
1-2 
3-6 
7-9 
10-11 
12+

Assessment 
Assessment 
SATS 

GCSE 
A /Level 3

196



RUSSELL GROUP UNIVERSITIES 

The Russell Group represents 24 leading UK universities which are ‘committed 
to maintaining the very best research, an outstanding teaching and learning 
experience and unrivalled links with business and the public sector’: 

University of Birmingham, University of Bristol, University of Cambridge, Cardiff 
University, Durham University,University of Edinburgh, University of Exeter, 
University of Glasgow, Imperial College London, King's College London, 
University of Leeds,University of Liverpool, London School of Economics & 
Political Science, University of Manchester, Newcastle University,University of 
Nottingham,University of Oxford,Queen Mary University of London, Queen's 
University Belfast, University of Sheffield, University of Southampton, University 
College London, University of Warwick, University of York.  

ACRONYMS
DfE Department for Education 
SFR Statistical First Release 
KS1-5 Key Stage 1-5
OFSTED Office for Standards in Education 
CiC Child(ren) in care, Looked-after child(ren)
FSM 
FSM6 

(Pupils eligible for) Free School Meals 
Pupils eligible for Free School meals anytime in the last 
6 years

SEN Special Educational Needs
SEN-EHC  SEN pupils with Education Healthcare Plan (previously 

statemented pupils)   
Pupils with statutory assessment of severe and 
complex needs

NOE/NOR Number of entries/Number on Roll
ALPS A Level Performance System
EYFS Early Years Foundation Stage
LA Local Authority
SUPP Information suppressed (by DfE) because the 

underlying numbers are too small
Facilitating 
Subjects 

The A level subjects most commonly required by top 
universities: Mathematics and Further Mathematics; 
English Literature; Physics; Biology; Chemistry; 
Geography; History; Languages (modern and classic).

TA Teacher Assessment
PRU Pupil Referral Unit
EPAS Educational Performance Analysis System
KEYPAS Key Stage Performance Analysis System
NOVA Replacement for EPAS system

197



198



1 Cookham Nursery School 34 Bisham School

2 Maidenhead Nursery School 35 Cookham Rise Primary School

3 RISE (not shown on map) 36 Furze Platt Junior School

4 Manor Green School 37 Furze Platt Infant School

5 Furze Platt Senior School 38 Riverside Primary School & Nursery

6 Newlands Girls' School 39 Courthouse Junior School

7 Altwood Church of England School 40 All Saints Church of England Junior School

8 Cox Green School 41 Boyne Hill C of E Infant and Nursery School

9 Churchmead Church of England School 42 Forest Bridge School

10 Dedworth Middle School 43 Larchfield Primary and Nursery School

11 Windsor Girls' School 44 Knowl Hill CE Primary School

12 St Peter's Church of England Middle School 45 Wessex Primary School

13 Charters School 46 Lowbrook Academy

14 Desborough College 47 Woodlands Park Primary & Nursery School

15 Cookham Dean CE Primary School 48 Eton Wick C of E First School

16 Burchetts Green CE Infant School 49 Holyport C of E (Aided) Primary School & Foundation Unit

17 White Waltham C of E Academy 50 Eton Porny C of E First School

18 Cheapside CE Primary School 51 The Queen Anne Royal Free CE First School

19 Clewer Green CE School 52 Wraysbury Primary School

20 The Royal School (Crown Aided) 53 South Ascot Village Primary School

21 St Michael's C of E Primary School 54 Alwyn Infant School

22 St Francis Catholic Primary School 55 The Lawns Nursery

23 Datchet St Mary's C of E Primary Academy 56 The Windsor Boys' School

24 Homer First School 57 St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School

25 Dedworth Green First School 58 Trinity St Stephens Church of England First School

26 Alexander First School 59 Oakfield First School

27 Hilltop First School 60 St Edward's Catholic First School

28 Kings Court First School 61 Trevelyan Middle School

29 St Mary's Catholic Primary School 62 Holy Trinity CE Primary School

30 St Luke's Church of England Primary School 63 Holy Trinity C of E Primary School

31 St Edmund Campion Catholic Primary School 64 Braywick Court School

32 Braywood C of E First School 65 Holyport College

33 Waltham St Lawrence Primary School 66 Oldfield Primary School

199



CONTENTS 

Page 

Executive Summary 1 

Section 1: School Ofsted Inspections 4 

Section 2: Overall Educational Attainment  9 

Section 3: Primary Attainment and Progress  11 

Section 4: Secondary Attainment, Progress and Projections 19 

Section 5: Post 16 Attainment 24 

Section 6: Performance of Pupil Groups 26 

Section 7: Absence 34 

Section 8: Exclusions 39

Section 9: Pupil Destinations 43

Section 10: NEET Data 47 

Appendix 

200



1 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

SUMMARY OF KEY DATA 

1. School Ofsted Inspections  

1.1 The number of RBWM schools given an Ofsted judgement of good or 
outstanding has increased in the 2021/22 academic year to 97% (from 94%) 
while nationally it has increased from 86% to 88%.  

1.2  96% of primary schools and all secondary schools are rated good or 
outstanding (higher than the secondary national figure of 78%). 

2. Attainment and progress 

2.1 These are the first attainment statistics since 2019, after assessments and 
exams were cancelled in 2020 and 2021 due to the pandemic.  These pupils 
experienced disruption to their learning and caution should be exercised when 
comparing to previous years.  There has been a marked fall in national and 
RBWM results since the pandemic for primary key stage assessments. The 
summer GSCE and A levels saw adaptions made to the exams (including 
advance information) and the approach to grading. Grades awarded were a 
midpoint between the 2019 exams and the higher teacher assessment grades 
awarded in 2021.  

2.2 Standards in RBWM for 2021/22 were above national at Early Years and for all 
Key Stages except for phonics and some measures at Key Stage 5: 

 At Early Years Foundation Stage 67% of children in RBWM attained “a good 
level of development”. It places the Royal Borough as joint 42nd LA in 
England. 

 74% of Year 1 children reached the required standard in the phonic screening 
test. This was a decrease on the prepandemic standard and placed RBWM 
just below the national result of 75%. (Section 3.2) 

 Children at the end of Key Stage 1, age 7, achieve well. There continues to 
be an above average performance at KS1 in the core subjects of Reading 
(69%), Writing (59%) and Maths (71%), with RBWM remaining above 
national results by approximately two percentage points in each case. This 
placed RBWM joint 37th, 48th and 24th respectively. (Section 3.3) 

 Children at the end of Key Stage 2, aged 11, achieve well. There continues 
to be an above average performance at KS2 in the combined core subjects 
of Reading Writing and Maths (63%), with RBWM remaining above the 
national result by approximately four percentage points. This placed RBWM 
joint 27th in the country. (Section 3.5) 

 In 2022, Pupils in RBWM have made above average progress at KS2 

compared to national in Reading, while progress in Writing and Maths, was 

in line with the national. 

201



2 

 At Key Stage 4, age 16, the percentage of pupils attaining a strong pass (i.e., 
5 or higher) in both English and Mathematics GCSE was 55%, well above the 
national average of 50% for state schools. The LA was 35th on this measure. 
(Section 4.4) 

 On the Progress 8 measure, RBWM achieved +0.06 in 2022, Due to the 
uneven impact of the pandemic the DfE recommends not making any direct 
comparisons with data between schools or with previous years. 

 At Key Stage 5, age 18, the average point score per A level student in their 
three best subjects, expressed as a grade was B-. This is the just below the 
state funded national average of B.  The Borough ranked 59th on this measure 
(Section 5.2 Table 5a)

 The proportion of RBWM A level students achieving grades AAB or better, 
including two or more facilitating subjects was 19.9%, just below the 20.6% 
national figure for state-funded schools/colleges. (Section 5.3)   

3. Performance of pupil groups 

3.1 At Key Stage 2, the proportion of pupils achieving ‘expected standard’ in the 
headline measure of reading, writing and maths combined at Key Stage 2 is 
above national overall, but below national for some vulnerable sub-groups 
including FSM and Disadvantaged. (Section 6.2) 

3.2 At Key Stage 4, Progress 8 results for the Royal Borough is above average 
national progress ranking for all pupils group except Asian pupils, Black pupils 
and pupils who have an EHCP. However, for pupils in two of these groups (Asian 
and black the actual Progress 8 score was positive – i.e. these pupils made more 
progress than the average for all pupils with the same prior attainment (Section 
6.3)  

3.3 FSM pupils underperform at each key-stage compared to non-FSM pupils in 
RBWM, statistical neighbours and nationally every year from 2016 to 2019. 
(Table 6d).  FSM pupils have been disproportionally affected by the pandemic.

3.4 With ten or fewer children in care for each Key Stage, most published data will 
suppress RBWM figures and hence comparisons with national figures, when 
available, will be very difficult to assess.  Whilst based on a very small cohort, 
we should aim to raise performance at all Key Stages. (Section 6 Table 6g) 

4. Pupil absence 

RBWM absences for primary for 2020/21 were 3.1% (18.3% including Covid 

absences) and for secondary 4.9% (22.0% including Covid absences).  

Corresponding national figures for 2020/21 were 3.6% (21.3% including Covid 

absences) for primary and 5.5% (25.0% including Covid absences) for 

secondary (Section 7.1).  

202



3 

5. Pupil exclusions 

The number of permanent exclusions in RBWM has fallen in the first Covid 

academic year 2020/21 to 18 pupils (0.08% of total pupils). The latest national 

comparisons are for 2019/20, when 5 students in every 10,000 (0.05%) were 

excluded. (Section 8.2 Table 8a)  

6. Pupil destinations and not in education employment or training (2020/21) 

6.1 The analysis of pupil destinations shows: 

6.2 At the end of Key Stage 4, 95% of RBWM students went on to, or remained in, 
education or employment, similar to the national level of 94% (Section 9.1). 

6.3 At the end of Key Stage 5, 66% of RBWM school pupils progressed to UK Higher 
Education Institutions. (Section 9 Table 9c) 

6.4 The average number of young people who were known to be not in education 
employment or training (NEET) during the 3 months to August 2022 was 20; this 
represents 0.6% of the cohort.  The % unknown is 9.1 which has come down 
from 19.7 in the 2017 but is two percentage points above the national average  
for the same period and places RBWM in the bottom quintile. (Section 10.5) 

203



4 

SECTION 1 - SCHOOL OFSTED INSPECTIONS 

ALL SCHOOLS 
1.1 In 2021/22 Ofsted fully restarted all types of inspection. Ofsted resumed routine 

inspections of all outstanding schools and increased the proportion of good 
schools that receive a graded inspection. This means that the length of time 
since each school’s last full graded inspection will gradually decrease. In the 
academic year 2021/22, ten Royal Borough schools were inspected by Ofsted; 
these consisted of three first schools, four primary schools, one junior school, 
one middle school, and one secondary age school. 

1.2 The number of RBWM schools given an Ofsted judgement of good or better 
has increased in the 2021/22 academic year to 97% (from 94%) while 
nationally it increased from 86% to 88%. 

Table 1a School Ofsted Ratings 2021/22 

NURSERY SCHOOLS 
1.3 No nursery schools have been inspected.  

PRIMARY AGE SCHOOLS 
1.4 Overall, 96% of RBWM primaries were rated good or outstanding at the end of 

academic year 2021/22.  

1.5 Eight RBWM primary age schools were inspected in the academic year 
2021/22, of which two improved their rating to good, five remained the same 
and one decreased.   

SECONDARY AGE SCHOOLS (including middle schools for Ofsted 
purposes) 

1.6 All RBWM secondary schools were rated good or outstanding at the end of the 
academic year 2021/22.  RBWM is well above the national figure of 80% at the 
end of the academic year. 

1.7 Two RBWM secondary age schools were inspected in the academic year 
2021/22. One maintained its Good rating, while one increased its rating to 
Good.  

204



5 

OFSTED CHARTS
1.8 The Ofsted current ratings – RBWM schools (Data Pack Figure 1a) shows the 

schools and their ratings as at 31.08.22. 

1.9 The Ofsted status table (Data Pack Figure 1b) shows percentage of schools by 
category and type for the academic year 2021/22. 

1.10 Data Pack Figure 1c is the same as Figure 1a but gives the latest information 
as at 14/02/20. In the academic year 2022/2023, one middle school has been 
inspected to date and it remained good.  

205



Count Maintained Schools RBWM National RBWM National RBWM National RBWM National

3 Nursery Schools 3 100% 62% 0 0% 36% 0 0% 2% 0 0% 1%

30 Primary Schools 8 27% 15% 20 67% 78% 1 3% 7% 1 3% 1%

1 Middle 0 0% 1 100% 0 0% 0 0%

1 Secondary Schools 0 0% 1 100% 0 0% 0 0%

1 Special Schools 0 0% 37% 1 100% 56% 0 0% 4% 0 0% 2%

1 Pupil Referral Units 0 0% 15% 1 100% 79% 0 0% 5% 0 0% 0%

Count Academies

8 Primary Phase(Converters) 2 25% 19% 6 75% 72% 0 0% 9% 0 0% 0%

6 Secondary Phase(Converters) 1 17% 24% 5 83% 61% 0 0% 11% 0 0% 4%

1 Primary (Sponsor-led) 0 0% 7% 1 100% 75% 0 0% 15% 0 0% 2%

3 Middle 0 0% 24% 3 100% 61% 0 0% 11% 0 0% 4%

Count Free Schools

1 Primary 1 100% 35% 0 0% 58% 0 0% 7% 0 0% 0%

1 Secondary 1 100% 25% 0 0% 60% 0 0% 11% 0 0% 3%

1 Special 0 0% 14% 1 100% 65% 0 0% 17% 0 0% 3%

Count Academies Historic Inspections only

6 Primary (Converters) 4 67% 2 33% 0 0% 0 0%

2 Secondary Phase (Converters) 2 100% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Count

National National National National

37 Maintained schools 31 Aug 2022 11 30% 24 65% 1 3% 1 3%  

58 Current inspected schools 31 Aug 2022 16 28% 40 69% 1 2% 1 2%

66 All Inspected Schools 31 Aug 2022 22 33% 18% 42 64% 70% 1 2% 9% 1 2% 3%

66 All Inspected Schools  31 Aug 2020 22 33% 19% 40 61% 67% 4 6% 10% 0 0% 3%

 Change (since inspections started) ↑  ↑  ↓  ↑  

3 Schools Good/Out 64 97%

6 Schools RI/Inadeq 2 3%

Declined: All Saints 1

Total Schools 10

Stats Neighbour LAs are Bracknell Forest, Bucks, Cambridgeshire, Hants, Herts, Oxon, Surrey, Trafford, West Berks and Wokingham

Grey cells give national data by school type South East comprises of 19 LAs 

We have 66 schools Autumn Term 4

Key Headlines Spring Term 2

97% of RBWM pupils attend Good/Outstanding Schools Summer Term 4

There have been ten inspections this academic year.

RBWM has a higher percentage of schools Good/Outstanding  when compared to the latest Ofsted national picture (88% on 31.08.22)

Improved: Eton Wick, Bisham, Dedworth Middle

Same: Homer, The Royal, Furze Platt SS, Holy Trinity Cookham, Cookham Rise, Cookham Dean

Inspections this Academic Year 2021/2022 

(published reports)

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

RBWM RBWM RBWM RBWM

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

  National as at 31/8/2022

C
u

rren
tly In

sp
ected

 sch
o

o
ls

15% 71% 13% 2%

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

Data Pack Figure 1a - RBWM Schools ( 31/08/2022 )

KEY STATISTICS (ofsted format) Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

Page 6

206



Data Pack Figure 1b

Cookham Nursery Outstanding 23rd January 2018 22nd February 2018 LA Maintained Current

Maidenhead Nursery Outstanding 12th June 2018 29th June 2018 LA Maintained Current

The Lawns Nursery Outstanding 14th February 2019 12th March 2019 LA Maintained Current

Alwyn Infants Good 27th March 2018 27th April 2018 LA Maintained Current

Boyne Hill CE Infant and Nursery Outstanding 6th June 2013 27th June 2013 LA Maintained Current

Burchetts Green CE Infants Outstanding 3rd June 2009 19th June 2009 Academy Converter 1st December 2014 Historic Academy

Furze Platt Infants Good 25th September 2014 17th October 2014 LA Maintained Current

All Saints CE Junior Inadequate 9th February 2022 4th April 2022 LA Maintained Current

Courthouse Junior Good 1st October 2019 11th November 2019 LA Maintained Current

Furze Platt Junior Outstanding 4th December 2018 9th January 2019 LA Maintained Current

Bisham CE Primary Good 4th November 2021 6th December 2021 Academy Converter 6th September 2017 Current Academy

Braywick Court Outstanding 7th June 2017 11th July 2017 Free Current Free

Cheapside CE Primary Good 10th December 2019 22nd Janaury 2020 LA Maintained Current

Cookham Dean CE Primary Good  8th June 2022  25th July 2022 LA Maintained Current

Cookham Rise Primary Good  26 April 2022 1st July 2022 LA Maintained Current

Datchet St Mary’s Primary Good 11th September 2018 3rd October 2018 Academy Converter 1st January  2012 Current Academy

Holy Trinity CE Primary Cookham Outstanding  2nd March 2022 11th May 2022 LA Maintained Current

Holy Trinity CE Primary Sunningdale Good 19th June 2018 10th July 2018 LA Maintained Current

Holyport CE Primary Good 30th April 2019 17th May 2019 Academy Converter 1st June 2016 Current Academy

Knowl Hill CE Primary Outstanding 21st March 2017 3rd May 2017 Academy Converter 1st September 2014 Current Academy

Larchfield Primary and Nursery Good 10th June 2015 3rd July 2015 LA Maintained Current

Lowbrook Primary Outstanding 29th January 2008  February 2008 Academy Converter 1st April 2011 Historic Academy

Oldfield Primary Outstanding 30th September 2014 22nd October 2014 LA Maintained Current

Riverside Primary Requires Improvement 12th November 2019 12th December 2019 LA Maintained Current

South Ascot Village School Good 11th July 2019 29th July 2019 LA Maintained Current

St Edmund Campion Catholic Primary Outstanding 23rd September 2009 15th October 2009 Academy Converter 6th July 2017 Historic Academy

St Francis Catholic Primary Outstanding 15th January 2013 1st February 2013 Academy Converter 1st September 2015 Historic Academy

St Luke’s CE Primary Outstanding 11th October 2017 20th November 2017 Academy Converter 1st December 2014 Current Academy

St Mary’s Catholic Primary Good 10th December 2019 13th January 2020 Academy Converter 1st July 2013 Current Academy

St Michael’s CE Primary Good 3rd March 2020 12th May 2020 LA Maintained Current

Waltham St Lawrence Primary Outstanding 31st January 2017 2nd March 2017 LA Maintained Current

Wessex Primary School Good 25th February 2020 18th March 2020 LA Maintained Current

White Waltham CE Good 26th February 2019 18th March 2019 Academy Converter 1st September 2012 Current Academy

Woodlands Park Primary Good 8th November 2017 12th December 2017 LA Maintained Current

Wraysbury Primary Good 27th September 2017 19th October 2017 LA Maintained Current

Alexander First Good 3rd October 2017 24th October 2017 LA Maintained Current

Braywood CE First Outstanding 15th February 2011 15th March 2011 LA Maintained Current

Clewer Green CE Aided First Good 12th February 2019 11th March 2019 Academy Converter 1st April 2020 Historic Academy

Dedworth Green First Good 6th November 2018 27th November 2018 Academy Converter 1st May 2016 Current Academy

Eton Porny CE First Good 3rd October 2018 31st October 2018 Sponsored Academy 1st February 2016 Current Academy

Eton Wick CE First Good 28th September 2021 17th November 2021 LA Maintained Current

Hilltop First Outstanding 27th May 2010 21st June 2010 LA Maintained Current

Homer First Good 6th October 2021 23rd November 2021 LA Maintained Current

King’s Court First Good 3rd March 2020 24th June 2020 LA Maintained Current

Oakfield First Good 6th November 2018 27th November 2018 Academy Converter 1st October 2021 Historic Academy

St Edward’s Catholic First Outstanding 26th  February 2009 16th March 2009 LA Maintained Current

The Queen Anne Royal Free CE Controlled First Good 24th September 2019 18th October 2019 LA Maintained Current

The Royal (Crown Aided) Good 21st October 2021 6th December 2021 LA Maintained Current

Trinity St Stephen CE Aided First Good 22nd November 2017 3rd January 2018 LA Maintained Current

Dedworth Middle Good 22nd June 2022 tbc Academy Converter 1st May 2016 Current Academy

St Edward’s Royal Free Ecumenical Middle Good 6th June 2017 11th July 2017 LA Maintained Current

St Peter’s CE Middle Good 13th September 2017 12th October 2017 Academy Converter 1st November 2014 Current Academy

Trevelyan Middle Good 1st October 2019 11th November 2019 Academy Converter 1st November 2016 Current Academy

Altwood Church of England Good 11th October 2017 22nd November 2017 Academy Converter 1st July 2012 Current Academy

Charters Outstanding 4th November 2009  December 2009 Academy Converter 1st October 2012 Historic Academy

Churchmead CE (VA) School Good 2nd July 2019 19th July 2019 LA Maintained Current

Cox Green Good 20th September 2018 6th November 2018 Academy Converter 1st December 2011 Current Academy

Desborough College Good 12th February 2019 7th March 2019 Academy Converter 1st October 2012 Current Academy

Furze Platt Good 17th November 2021 14th January 2022 Academy Converter 1st December 2011 Current Academy

Holyport College Outstanding 17th May 2017 26th June2017 Free Current Free

Newlands Girls Outstanding 9th October 2018 19th November 2018 Academy Converter 1st October 2015 Current Academy

The Windsor Boys’ Good 27th February 2018 18th April 2018 Academy Converter 1st March 2015 Current Academy

Windsor Girls’ Outstanding 9th May 2013 7th June 2013 Academy Converter 1st March 2015 Historic Academy

Manor Green Good 2nd November 2017 23rd November 2017 LA Maintained Current

Forest Bridge Good 13th June 2018 17th July 2018 Free Current Free

AP RBWM Alternative Learning Provision (RISE) Good 19th November 2019 5th December 2019 LA Maintained Current

Type of Establishment
Academy 

Conversion date
Inspection

Secondary 

School

Special

Nursery

Infant

Junior

Primary

First 

Middle 

(deemed 

secondary) 

Schools

School Type School
Overall 

effectiveness
Inspection Date Report Date

Page 7

207



Count Maintained Schools RBWM National RBWM National RBWM National RBWM National

3 Nursery Schools 3 100% 62% 0 0% 36% 0 0% 2% 0 0% 1%

30 Primary Schools 8 27% 15% 20 67% 78% 1 3% 7% 1 3% 1%

1 Middle 0 0% 1 100% 0 0% 0 0%

1 Secondary Schools 0 0% 1 100% 0 0% 0 0%

1 Special Schools 0 0% 37% 1 100% 56% 0 0% 4% 0 0% 2%

1 Pupil Referral Units 0 0% 15% 1 100% 79% 0 0% 5% 0 0% 0%

Count Academies

8 Primary Phase(Converters) 2 25% 19% 6 75% 72% 0 0% 9% 0 0% 0%

6 Secondary Phase(Converters) 1 17% 24% 5 83% 61% 0 0% 11% 0 0% 4%

1 Primary (Sponsor-led) 0 0% 7% 1 100% 75% 0 0% 15% 0 0% 2%

3 Middle 0 0% 24% 3 100% 61% 0 0% 11% 0 0% 4%

Count Free Schools

1 Primary 1 100% 35% 0 0% 58% 0 0% 7% 0 0% 0%

1 Secondary 1 100% 25% 0 0% 60% 0 0% 11% 0 0% 3%
1 Special 0 0% 14% 1 100% 65% 0 0% 17% 0 0% 3%

Count Academies Historic Inspections only

6 Primary (Converters) 4 67% 2 33% 0 0% 0 0%

2 Secondary Phase (Converters) 2 100% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Count

National National National National

37 Maintained schools 31 Aug 2022 11 30% 24 65% 1 3% 1 3%

58 Current inspected schools 31 Aug 2022 16 28% 40 69% 1 2% 1 2%

66 All Inspected Schools 31 Aug 2022 22 33% 18% 42 64% 70% 1 2% 9% 1 2% 3%

66 All Inspected Schools  31 Aug 2020 22 33% 19% 40 61% 67% 4 6% 10% 0 0% 3%

 Change (since inspections started) ↓ ↑ ↓ ↑

0 Schools Good/Out 64 97%

1 Schools RI/Inadeq 2 3%

Declined: 0

Total Schools 0

Stats Neighbour LAs are Bracknell Forest, Bucks, Cambridgeshire, Hants, Herts, Oxon, Surrey, Trafford, West Berks and Wokingham

Grey cells give national data by school type South East comprises of 19 LAs 

We have 66 schools Autumn Term 1

Key Headlines Spring Term 0

97% of RBWM pupils attend Good/Outstanding Schools Summer Term 0

There has been one inspection this academic year.

Improved: 

Same: St Edwards Middle

Inspections this Academic Year 2022/2023 

(published reports)

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

RBWM RBWM RBWM RBWM

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

  National as at 31/8/2022

C
u

rren
tly In

sp
ected

 sch
o

o
ls

15% 71% 13% 2%

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

Figure 1c - Current Ofsted Status - RBWM Schools ( 06/12/2022 )

KEY STATISTICS (ofsted format) Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

Page 8

208



9 

SECTION 2 - OVERALL EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT 

SUMMARY 

2.1 This year saw the return of the summer exams and assessments after they had 
been cancelled in 2020 and 2021 due to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic.  Comparisons over time and between LAs should be treated with 
caution as the pandemic had an uneven impact. The Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead is a high achieving local authority for educational attainment. 

2.2 Chart 2a shows that pupils outperformed national at all national assessment 
stages except for phonics and some KS5 measures. The figures by the RBWM 
blocks give our rankings out of the 150 LAs which have educational data. 

Chart 2a 

Source DfE LAIT tool 2022 

Data Pack Figure 2a summarises Educational Attainment by Key Stage and 
School. It also includes the Ofsted rating as at 31 August 2022.  

209



Data Pack Figure 2a

KS4 (ages 

11 - 16)

KS5 (ages 16 

- 18)          

School Name 
OFSTED Inspection 

as at 31.08.19

OFSTED Inspection 

as at 01.06.22

2022 

NOR

2018 % 

Good 

Level of 

Dev't

2019 % 

Good 

Level of 

Dev't

2022 % 

Good Level 

of Dev't

2022 

NOR

2018 % Wkg 

At Standard

2019 % Wkg 

At Standard

2022 % Wkg 

At Standard

2022 

NOR

2018 

Rdg

2018 

Wtg

2018 

Ma

2019 

Rdg

2019 

Wtg

2019 

Ma

2022 

Rdg

2022 

Wtg

2022 

Ma

2022 

NOR

2018 

RWM

2019 

RWM

2022 

RWM
2022 NOR 2018 2019 2022

2019 A level 

students 
2018 2019 2022

Alexander First Good Good 21 71 53 62 23 78 60 70 21 75 60 75 65 53 77 71 52 71

All Saints CE Junior Good Inadequate 66 64 59 52

Alwyn Infants Good Good 74 78 73 66 84 93 86 43 87 88 80 88 85 79 88 81 61 75

Bisham CE Primary Requires Imp. Good 17 71 82 88 10 90 100 70 10 100 100 100 77 77 85 80 60 90 9 n/a n/a 89

Boyne Hill CE Infant and Nursery Outstanding Outstanding 59 85 72 48 56 80 80 61 55 76 72 74 83 72 83 71 56 67

Braywick Court Free School Outstanding Outstanding 31 87 80 84 30 93 93 94 30 84 77 81 83 77 83 83 83 93 29 66

Braywood CE First Outstanding Outstanding 21 82 84 91 25 93 96 88 25 90 83 90 97 86 100 80 72 80

Burchetts Green CE Infants Outstanding Outstanding 18 79 84 83 17 90 80 82 15 100 100 100 86 73 86 80 73 80

Cheapside CE Primary Outstanding Good 25 63 83 48 28 57 76 75 30 92 67 79 71 71 71 77 77 80 30 80 89 53

Clewer Green CE Aided First Good Good 53 70 75 85 60 93 80 55 47 89 84 89 87 75 90 81 77 72

Cookham Dean CE Primary Good Good 27 78 85 78 28 93 100 64 28 93 85 89 93 85 93 79 68 79 27 73 85 85

Cookham Rise Primary Good Good 31 87 80 84 30 93 80 90 29 87 77 77 77 74 73 76 62 72 30 67 77 63

Courthouse Junior Requires Imp. Good 77 64 50 65

Datchet St Mary’s Primary Good Good 30 77 73 60 28 93 100 79 30 80 77 83 80 70 80 60 57 63 28 65 59 64

Dedworth Green First Good Good 23 76 72 13 29 93 52 34 27 67 27 63 60 53 73 52 33 59

Dedworth Middle Requires Imp. Good 125 50 50 58

Eton Porny CE First Good Good 30 76 83 80 28 86 95 89 28 88 83 92 84 79 79 82 68 82

Eton Wick CE First Requires Imp. Good 18 79 53 50 12 79 82 75 12 82 74 85 64 54 64 67 42 58

Furze Platt Infants Good Good 87 83 73 72 88 86 94 82 89 84 74 80 81 75 82 76 71 83

Furze Platt Junior Outstanding Outstanding 91 82 74 68

Hilltop First Outstanding Outstanding 37 65 82 65 45 81 86 84 39 91 82 93 87 67 76 77 46 62

Holy Trinity CE Primary Cookham Outstanding Outstanding 30 77 83 90 29 97 87 93 29 97 90 97 90 97 90 79 62 93 28 93 97 61

Holy Trinity CE Primary Sunningdale Good Good 30 83 86 80 30 86 93 80 30 82 82 82 90 72 90 73 50 83 58 77 90 78

Holyport CE Primary Good Good 28 76 75 79 30 97 83 87 30 83 74 70 88 82 88 63 63 70 45 45 76 69

Homer First Good Good 34 73 78 65 40 87 87 68 42 88 84 79 82 76 76 62 55 57

King’s Court First Good Good 34 79 79 74 24 86 84 83 33 84 42 84 93 72 86 67 61 85

Knowl Hill CE Primary Outstanding Outstanding 11 81 80 82 15 100 90 80 20 86 82 86 77 77 77 70 65 75 20 50 74 55

Larchfield Primary and Nursery Good Good 29 67 83 69 30 89 77 57 28 68 65 81 74 77 63 54 29 39 27 72 57 52

Lowbrook Primary Outstanding Outstanding 60 83 93 92 61 100 100 97 30 93 92 97 98 93 95 97 97 100 60 96 97 100

Oakfield First Good Good 59 72 78 70 60 83 81 85 53 85 68 75 88 71 86 77 64 74

Oldfield Primary Outstanding Outstanding 59 88 81 78 60 87 92 80 60 88 83 92 83 78 87 70 55 72 59 94 87 85

Riverside Primary Good Requires Imp. 36 60 47 39 51 78 53 77 43 57 60 58 46 39 44 40 23 49 49 19 23 51

South Ascot Village School Good Good 20 84 71 85 21 62 70 62 20 81 77 81 64 61 71 40 30 50 31 63 83 81

St Edmund Campion Catholic Primary Outstanding Outstanding 61 74 78 75 60 95 95 100 60 88 80 85 83 75 83 78 68 78 60 83 88 85

St Edward’s Catholic First Outstanding Outstanding 53 80 72 76 60 88 90 65 54 75 77 78 88 85 90 82 72 76

St Edward’s Royal Free Ecumenical Middle Good Good 121 73 80 67

St Francis Catholic Primary Outstanding Outstanding 30 83 90 77 30 86 83 87 30 87 67 77 80 70 90 90 80 80 30 87 87 93

St Luke’s CE Primary Outstanding Outstanding 44 27 36 25 45 74 71 60 45 63 58 65 55 55 66 42 31 40 38 58 49 61

St Mary’s Catholic Primary Good Good 45 73 73 56 43 80 84 79 44 76 55 74 44 71 57 52 48 68 37 79 63 38

St Michael’s CE Primary Good Good 19 79 86 79 30 90 90 83 30 80 77 80 77 70 73 50 67 70 30 81 70 67

St Peter’s CE Middle Good Good 81 63 66 51

The Queen Anne Royal Free CE First Good Good 30 71 67 63 31 80 90 58 30 86 86 90 86 71 75 80 57 63

The Royal (Crown Aided) Good Good 20 80 90 80 20 91 70 60 26 94 94 100 95 91 100 65 39 46

Trevelyan Middle Requires Imp. Good 148 70 82 58

Trinity St Stephen CE Aided First Good Good 22 78 73 73 30 90 97 80 28 90 83 90 86 77 79 86 79 79

Waltham St Lawrence Primary Outstanding Outstanding 18 85 86 56 22 83 90 91 21 84 74 79 74 63 74 67 71 76 21 63 78 58

Wessex Primary School Good Good 58 78 82 50 44 81 70 86 58 61 59 61 74 66 74 57 46 73 56 61 69 38

White Waltham CE Good Good 30 73 79 83 23 97 93 65 29 90 93 97 83 83 90 79 83 100 28 79 60 75

Woodlands Park Primary Good Good 19 52 58 53 23 89 90 65 22 63 63 63 81 77 81 50 45 50 11 56 39 9

Wraysbury Primary Good Good 55 72 66 55 53 57 84 60 60 65 63 77 64 50 69 63 50 63 49 42 50 45

Altwood CE Good Good 42 47 33 36 33 C D+

Charters Outstanding Outstanding 269 68 54 64 168 B- B-

Churchmead CE (VA) Good Good 52 30 26 38 1

Cox Green Good Good 189 38 40 44 52 C+ B-

Desborough College Good Good 178 47 43 62 54 C+ C+

Furze Platt Good Good 195 47 53 57 86 B- B-

Holyport College Outstanding Outstanding 80 56 54 59 82

Newlands Girls Outstanding Outstanding 183 61 62 69 83 C+ B-

The Windsor Boys Good Good 225 49 46 53 89 B- C+

Windsor Girls Outstanding Outstanding 184 50 52 50 66 C+ C+

RBWM 1612 77 74 67 1,604 86 83 74 1578 81 73 80 79 71 80 69 59 71 1630 66 69 63 1632 51 48 55 715 B- C+ B-

National 71 72 65 82 82 75 75 70 76 75 69 76 67 58 68 61 64 59 43 43 50 C+ C+ B

Key for KS5

Well Above National - i.e. 10 or more percentage points HIGHER than NATIONAL OR 100% Two thirds of grade above national

Above National - i.e. between 5 and 10 percentage points HIGHER than NATIONAL One third of grade above national 

 In Line with National - i.e. within 5 percentage points of NATIONAL Same grade as national     

Below National - i.e. between 5 and 10 percentage points LOWER than NATIONAL One third of grade below national 

Well Below National - i.e. 10 or more percentage points LOWER than NATIONAL Two thirds of grade below national

Educational Attainment by Key Stage and School

EYFS   (ages 4 - 5) PHONICS Y1 (ages 5 - 6) KS1 % meeting age related expectations KS2 % meeting expected standard
Average point score in best 3 A level entries 

(expressed as a grade)
% E+M GCSE       9 -5

 Page 10

210



11 

Section 3 - Primary attainment and progress 

This section summarises the attainment of Borough pupils in primary education 
for each national curriculum assessment stage.  These are the first primary 
attainment statistics since 2019, after assessments were cancelled in 2020 and 
2021 due to the pandemic. 

Early Years
3.1 These statistics report on teacher assessments of children’s development at the 

end of the early years foundation stage (EYFS), specifically the end of the 
academic year in which a child turns 5. This is typically the summer term of 
reception year. The assessment framework, or EYFS profile, consists of 17 early 

learning goals (ELGs) across 7 areas of learning. In 2021/22 EYFS reforms 
were introduced in September 2021. As part of those reforms, the EYFS profile 
was significantly revised. It is therefore not possible to directly compare 
2021/22 assessment outcomes with earlier years. It is also the first release 
since the publication of the 2018/19 statistics, as the 2019/20 and 2020/21 data 
collections were cancelled due to coronavirus. Children have been deemed to 
have reached a good level of development (GLD) in the new profile if they 
achieve at least the expected level in the ELGs in the prime areas of learning 
(personal, social and emotional development; physical development; and 
communication and language) and in the specific areas of mathematics and 
literacy.

 DFE statistics for the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) show the 
proportion of pupils attaining the DFE’s definition of ‘a good level of 
development’ in RBWM for 2022 was 67%.  

 The attainment of pupils in the EYFS this year outperformed pupils 
nationally by two percentage points (67 v 65).  

 This result placed us joint 42nd in the LA rankings for England. 

 Pupils may be aged anything between still 4 and nearly 6 when assessed 
at the end of the reception year. The differing age of pupils can have a 
marked effect on their level of development.  

Phonics 

3.2 In 2012, the government introduced a new statutory phonics screening check for 
all children in Year 1.  The purpose of the check is ‘to confirm whether each child 
has learnt phonic decoding to an age-appropriate standard’. The test is repeated 
in Year 2 for those that did not meet the required standard in Year 1.  

 In RBWM for 2022, 74% of pupils reached the required standard in phonic 
decoding, which was just below the national result of 75% and placed us 
99th. Nationally the number of pupils meeting the standard has decreased 
by seven percentage points since 2019 and for RBWM it has fallen by nine 
percentage points. 

 The RBWM result for those gaining the required standard in phonic 
decoding by the end of year 2 was 88% (down from 93% in 2019), whilst 
the national average was 87% (previously 91%).

211



12 

Key Stage 1 (KS1) 

3.3 KS1 pupils are those aged 5 – 7 in years 1 and 2. The judgement of expected 
standard or greater depth is arrived at through a combination of reading, maths 
and grammar, punctuation and spelling tests and the teacher’s own assessment 
of how well the child is operating. These are the first Key Stage 1 assessments 
since 2019 after assessments were cancelled in 2020 and 2021 due to the 
pandemic. There has been a marked fall in national and RBWM results since the 
pandemic 

 There continues to be an above average performance at KS1 in the core 
subjects of Reading - 69% vs National 67% (2019 was 79% vs 75%), 
Writing – 59% vs National 58% (2019 was 71% vs 69%) and Maths, where 
71% vs National 68% (2019 was 80% vs 76%). RBWM remained above 
national results by an average of two percentage points but nationally and 
at Borough level results decreased by over eight percentage points. This 
placed RBWM joint 37th, joint 48th and joint 24th respectively. 

 Looking at those pupils achieving higher than the expected standard, 

RBWM is a top quartile local authority nationally, being placed joint 21st

(22%), joint 29th (10%) and joint 30th (18%) in Reading, Writing and Maths 
respectively  

Chart 3a - Percentage of pupils attaining the expected standard or above in 

KS1 Reading 

212



13 

3.4 KS1 Writing 

Chart 3b - Percentage of pupils attaining the expected standard or above in KS1 

Writing 

KS1 Mathematics 

Chart 3c - Percentage of pupils attaining the expected standard or above 
in KS1 Maths

213



14 

Key Stage 2 (KS2) 

3.5 KS2 pupils are ages 7 – 11 in Years 3 - 6.  These are the first key stage 2 
attainment statistics since 2019, after assessments were cancelled in 2020 and 
2021 due to the pandemic. These pupils experienced disruption to their learning 
during the pandemic, particularly at the end of year 4 and in year 5.  Attainment 
in reading, writing and maths has decreased compared to 2019 both nationally 
and locally.

Even with the pandemic, there continues to be an above average performance 
at KS2 in the combined core subjects of reading writing and maths (63%), with 
RBWM above the national result by approximately four percentage points. This 
placed RBWM joint 27th in the country and means that we are top 20% attaining 
authority (see Chart 3e below).  
The percentage of pupils achieving above the expected standard in reading, 
writing and maths was only 7% nationally. RBWM achieved 12%, placing the 
Royal Borough equal 10th nationally 

KS2 Reading Writing and Mathematics 

Chart 3d - Percentage of pupils attaining the expected standard or better 

at KS2 in Reading, Writing and Maths combined  

214



15 

Chart 3e – KS2 Attainment rankings for Reading, Writing and Maths 
combined measure (out of 150 Local Authorities) 

KS1- 2 Progress 

3.6 Each child’s exam mark is given a scaled score and these are compared with 
the average scaled score for their own KS1 prior attainment group. If a child has 
performed better than their group’s average, they will gain a POSITIVE score – 
if they do less well than the average, they gain a NEGATIVE score.  

The national average rate of progress is deemed to be zero and therefore a 

positive score indicates that the pupils concerned have made better progress 

than the national average. Typically, most schools and almost all LAs will score 

between +5 and -5 in each of the 3 main subjects.  

The Confidence Interval measures how much variation there could have been to 

the result on another occasion. If, when the CI is both subtracted and added, the 

progress range remains greater than zero, the score is deemed to be statistically 

significantly HIGHER than the national. However, if, when the CI is both 

subtracted and added, the progress range remains less than zero, the score is 

deemed to be statistically significantly LOWER than the national.  

215



16 

Therefore, for 2022, in writing and maths RBWM has made similar progress to 

national and significantly higher progress in reading (See Table 3a below). 

Table 3a - KS1 to KS2 Progress 

Source DfE SFR 2022 

Chart 3f – KS2 Progress measure rankings for Reading, Writing and Maths 

2016 – 2019 (out of 150 LAs)

216



Data Pack Figure 3a

School Name 
OFSTED 

Inspection as at 
31.08.19

OFSTED 
Inspection as at 

01.06.22

2022 

NOR

2018 % 

Good 

Level of 

Dev't

2019 % 

Good 

Level of 

Dev't

2022 % 

Good 

Level of 

Dev't

2022 

NOR

2018 % 
Wkg At 

Standard

2019 % Wkg 

At Standard

2022 % Wkg 

At Standard

2022 

NOR

2018 

Rdg

2018 

Wtg

2018 

Ma

2019 

Rdg

2019 

Wtg

2019 

Ma

2022 

Rdg

2022 

Wtg

2022 

Ma

2022 

NOR
2018 RWM

2019 

RWM

2022 

RWM

Alexander First Good Good 21 71 53 62 23 78 60 70 21 75 60 75 65 53 77 71 52 71

All Saints CE Junior Good Inadequate 66 64 59 52

Alwyn Infants Good Good 74 78 73 66 84 93 86 43 87 88 80 88 85 79 88 81 61 75

Bisham CE Primary Requires Imp. Good 17 71 82 88 10 90 100 70 10 100 100 100 77 77 85 80 60 90 9 n/a n/a 89

Boyne Hill CE Infant and Nursery Outstanding Outstanding 59 85 72 48 56 80 80 61 55 76 72 74 83 72 83 71 56 67

Braywick Court Free School Outstanding Outstanding 31 87 80 84 30 93 93 94 30 84 77 81 83 77 83 83 83 93

Braywood CE First Outstanding Outstanding 21 82 84 91 25 93 96 88 25 90 83 90 97 86 100 80 72 80

Burchetts Green CE Infants Outstanding Outstanding 18 79 84 83 17 90 80 82 15 100 100 100 86 73 86 80 73 80

Cheapside CE Primary Outstanding Good 25 63 83 48 28 57 76 75 30 92 67 79 71 71 71 77 77 80 30 80 89 53

Clewer Green CE Aided First Good Good 53 70 75 85 60 93 80 55 47 89 84 89 87 75 90 81 77 72

Cookham Dean CE Primary Good Good 27 78 85 78 28 93 100 64 28 93 85 89 93 85 93 79 68 79 27 73 85 85

Cookham Rise Primary Good Good 31 87 80 84 30 93 80 90 29 87 77 77 77 74 73 76 62 72 30 67 77 63

Courthouse Junior Requires Imp. Good 77 64 50 65

Datchet St Mary’s Primary Good Good 30 77 73 60 28 93 100 79 30 80 77 83 80 70 80 60 57 63 28 65 59 64

Dedworth Green First Good Good 23 76 72 13 29 93 52 34 27 67 27 63 60 53 73 52 33 59

Dedworth Middle Requires Imp. Good 125 50 50 58

Eton Porny CE First Good Good 30 76 83 80 28 86 95 89 28 88 83 92 84 79 79 82 68 82

Eton Wick CE First Requires Imp. Good 18 79 53 50 12 79 82 75 12 82 74 85 64 54 64 67 42 58

Furze Platt Infants Good Good 87 83 73 72 88 86 94 82 89 84 74 80 81 75 82 76 71 83

Furze Platt Junior Outstanding Outstanding 91 82 74 68

Hilltop First Outstanding Outstanding 37 65 82 65 45 81 86 84 39 91 82 93 87 67 76 77 46 62

Holy Trinity CE Primary Cookham Outstanding Outstanding 30 77 83 90 29 97 87 93 29 97 90 97 90 97 90 79 62 93 28 93 97 61

Holy Trinity CE Primary Sunningdale Good Good 30 83 86 80 30 86 93 80 30 82 82 82 90 72 90 73 50 83 58 77 90 78

Holyport CE Primary Good Good 28 76 75 79 30 97 83 87 30 83 74 70 88 82 88 63 63 70 45 45 76 69

Homer First Good Good 34 73 78 65 40 87 87 68 42 88 84 79 82 76 76 62 55 57

King’s Court First Good Good 34 79 79 74 24 86 84 83 33 84 42 84 93 72 86 67 61 85

Knowl Hill CE Primary Outstanding Outstanding 11 81 80 82 15 100 90 80 20 86 82 86 77 77 77 70 65 75 20 50 74 55

Larchfield Primary and Nursery Good Good 29 67 83 69 30 89 77 57 28 68 65 81 74 77 63 54 29 39 27 72 57 52

Lowbrook Primary Outstanding Outstanding 60 83 93 92 61 100 100 97 30 93 92 97 98 93 95 97 97 100 60 96 97 100

Oakfield First Good Good 59 72 78 70 60 83 81 85 53 85 68 75 88 71 86 77 64 74

Oldfield Primary Outstanding Outstanding 59 88 81 78 60 87 92 80 60 88 83 92 83 78 87 70 55 72 59 94 87 85

Riverside Primary Good Requires Imp. 36 60 47 39 51 78 53 77 43 57 60 58 46 39 44 40 23 49 49 19 23 51

South Ascot Village School Good Good 20 84 71 85 21 62 70 62 20 81 77 81 64 61 71 40 30 50 31 63 83 81

St Edmund Campion Catholic Primary Outstanding Outstanding 61 74 78 75 60 95 95 100 60 88 80 85 83 75 83 78 68 78 60 83 88 85

St Edward’s Catholic First Outstanding Outstanding 53 80 72 76 60 88 90 65 54 75 77 78 88 85 90 82 72 76

St Edward’s Royal Free Ecumenical Middle Good Good 121 73 80 67

St Francis Catholic Primary Outstanding Outstanding 30 83 90 77 30 86 83 87 30 87 67 77 80 70 90 90 80 80 30 87 87 93

St Luke’s CE Primary Outstanding Outstanding 44 27 36 25 45 74 71 60 45 63 58 65 55 55 66 42 31 40 38 58 49 61

St Mary’s Catholic Primary Good Good 45 73 73 56 43 80 84 79 44 76 55 74 44 71 57 52 48 68 37 79 63 38

St Michael’s CE Primary Good Good 19 79 86 79 30 90 90 83 30 80 77 80 77 70 73 50 67 70 30 81 70 67

St Peter’s CE Middle Good Good 81 63 66 51

The Queen Anne Royal Free CE First Good Good 30 71 67 63 31 80 90 58 30 86 86 90 86 71 75 80 57 63

The Royal (Crown Aided) Good Good 20 80 90 80 20 91 70 60 26 94 94 100 95 91 100 65 39 46

Trevelyan Middle Requires Imp. Good 148 70 82 58

Trinity St Stephen CE Aided First Good Good 22 78 73 73 30 90 97 80 28 90 83 90 86 77 79 86 79 79

Waltham St Lawrence Primary Outstanding Outstanding 18 85 86 56 22 83 90 91 21 84 74 79 74 63 74 67 71 76 21 63 78 58

Wessex Primary School Good Good 58 78 82 50 44 81 70 86 58 61 59 61 74 66 74 57 46 73 56 61 69 38

White Waltham CE Good Good 30 73 79 83 23 97 93 65 29 90 93 97 83 83 90 79 83 100 28 79 60 75

Woodlands Park Primary Good Good 19 52 58 53 23 89 90 65 22 63 63 63 81 77 81 50 45 50 11 56 39 9

Wraysbury Primary Good Good 55 72 66 55 53 57 84 60 60 65 63 77 64 50 69 63 50 63 49 42 50 45

RBWM 74 74 77 80 81 84 92 89 94 80 72 78 82 74 80 82 59 66

National 66 69 71 77 81 81 91 88 93 74 65 73 76 68 75 80 52 62

Well Above National - i.e. 10 or more percentage points HIGHER than NATIONAL OR 100%

Above National - i.e. between 5 and 10 percentage points HIGHER than NATIONAL

 In Line with National - i.e. within 5 percentage points of NATIONAL

Below National - i.e. between 5 and 10 percentage points LOWER than NATIONAL

Well Below National - i.e. 10 or more percentage points LOWER than NATIONAL

Educational Attainment by Key Stage and School

EYFS   (ages 4 - 5) PHONICS Y1 (ages 5 - 6) KS1 % meeting age related expectations KS2 % meeting expected standard

 Page19

217



Data Pack Figure 3b

Primary Progress by School

School Name

OFSTED 

Inspection as at 

01.06.22

2022 

NOR

no K1 

data

Progress 

Score
Lower Limit

Upper 

Limit

Progress 

Score
Lower Limit

Upper 

Limit

Progress 

Score

Lower 

Limit

Upper 

Limit

Progress 

Score
Lower Limit

Upper 

Limit

Progress 

Score
Lower Limit

Upper 

Limit

Progress 

Score

Lower 

Limit

Upper 

Limit

Progress 

Score
Lower Limit

Upper 

Limit

Progress 

Score
Lower Limit

Upper 

Limit

Progress 

Score

Lower 

Limit

Upper 

Limit

All Saints CE Junior Inadequate 66 -2.0 -3.4 -0.6 -1.8 -3.2 -0.5 0.3 -1.3 2.0 -1.4 -2.7 -0.1 -2.3 -3.6 -1.1 -2.7 -4.3 -1.1 -0.8 -2.0 0.4 -2.0 -3.2 -0.8 0.3 -1.2 1.9

Bisham CE Primary Good 9 4.2 0.0 8.5 -1.4 -5.6 2.8 2.3 -1.8 6.4

Braywick Court Outstanding 29 0.6 -1.7 2.9 -0.5 -2.7 1.7 2.6 0.5 4.7

Cheapside CE Primary Good 30 2.1 -0.5 4.7 2.7 -0.1 5.4 1.5 -1.0 4.0 -2.6 -5.1 -0.1 1.2 -1.4 3.8 -3.6 -5.9 -1.2 1.2 -1.1 3.5 1.8 -0.6 4.2 1.2 -1.1 3.5

Cookham Dean CE Primary Good 27 2.1 -0.2 4.4 1.9 -0.5 4.3 1.8 -0.6 4.2 3.0 0.8 5.2 1.1 -1.1 3.3 1.7 -0.6 4.0 1.4 -0.7 3.5 -1.1 -3.3 1.0 -0.1 -2.3 2.2

Cookham Rise Primary Good 30 3.5 1.3 5.7 0.6 -1.6 2.9 -0.2 -2.4 2.1 0.7 -1.4 2.8 0.8 -1.3 2.9 -2.2 -4.4 0.0 4.0 2.0 6.0 3.0 1.1 5.0 -2.1 -4.2 0.0

Courthouse Junior Good 77 -2.4 -3.6 -1.2 1.3 0.1 2.6 0.1 -1.3 1.6 -5.9 -7.0 -4.8 -2.2 -3.3 -1.0 -2.8 -4.1 -1.4 -3.0 -4.1 -1.9 -0.1 -1.2 1.0 -1.9 -3.3 -0.6

Datchet St Mary's CE Primary Good 28 -1.1 -3.3 1.1 2.5 -0.5 5.5 2.3 -0.1 4.7 1.1 -1.0 3.2 4.9 2.1 7.7 0.1 -2.3 2.4 -0.7 -2.7 1.3 3.6 1.0 6.2 2.4 0.2 4.7

Dedworth Middle Good 125 -3.0 -4.1 -1.9 -2.5 -3.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.6 0.7 -2.6 -3.7 -1.5 -2.8 -3.8 -1.9 0.5 -0.6 1.6 -4.1 -5.1 -3.1 -2.6 -3.5 -1.7 -0.9 -2.0 0.1

Furze Platt Junior Outstanding 91 -0.3 -1.5 0.9 0.4 -0.9 1.7 -2.3 -3.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.7 0.7 -0.2 -1.4 1.0 -0.6 -1.9 0.7 -0.6 -1.7 0.5 1.0 -0.1 2.1 0.2 -1.1 1.4

Holy Trinity CE Primary Cookham Outstanding 28 2.2 0.1 4.3 3.8 1.6 6.1 -2.1 -4.6 0.4 3.5 1.4 5.6 2.4 0.4 4.5 2.0 -0.4 4.5 3.6 1.7 5.5 3.0 1.0 5.0 -2.6 -4.9 -0.3

Holy Trinity CE Primary Sunningdale Good 58 2.9 0.7 5.1 0.6 -1.6 2.8 2.0 0.3 3.7 -0.1 -2.2 2.0 -2.5 -4.6 -0.5 -0.9 -2.5 0.7 4.1 2.1 6.1 1.0 -0.9 2.9 1.3 -0.3 2.8

Holyport CE Primary Good 45 1.7 0.0 3.4 -0.4 -2.1 1.3 0.5 -1.3 2.4 2.2 0.6 3.8 -2.6 -4.2 -1.1 0.1 -1.7 1.8 2.0 0.5 3.5 -1.6 -3.1 -0.1 -0.4 -2.1 1.3

Knowl Hill CE Primary Outstanding 20 1.2 -1.6 4.0 -2.2 -5.1 0.7 -3.7 -6.5 -0.9 -1.1 -3.7 1.5 -5.4 -8.1 -2.6 -2.1 -4.8 0.6 0.0 -2.5 2.5 -5.0 -7.6 -2.4 -2.8 -5.4 -0.2

Larchfield Primary and Nursery Good 27 -0.8 -3.3 1.7 -1.7 -4.1 0.7 1.1 -1.4 3.5 0.6 -1.8 3.0 -2.4 -4.6 -0.2 -1.1 -3.5 1.3 2.3 0.0 4.6 -1.2 -3.2 0.9 2.7 0.4 5.0

Lowbrook Primary Outstanding 60 2.3 0.2 4.4 2.2 -0.1 4.5 4.0 2.4 5.6 3.1 1.1 5.1 2.8 0.7 5.0 5.7 4.1 7.2 5.8 3.9 7.7 4.8 2.8 6.8 5.0 3.6 6.5

Oldfield Primary Outstanding 59 3.3 1.1 5.5 1.3 -0.3 2.9 2.9 1.2 4.5 2.6 0.5 4.7 1.5 0.1 3.0 4.4 2.9 6.0 3.4 1.4 5.4 1.7 0.3 3.1 3.1 1.6 4.6

Riverside Primary Requires Imp. 49 -2.8 -5.0 -0.6 -1.3 -3.2 0.5 0.8 -1.1 2.6 -5.1 -7.2 -3.0 -2.2 -3.9 -0.5 0.5 -1.3 2.3 -1.1 -3.1 0.9 -0.7 -2.3 0.9 1.8 0.1 3.6

S Ascot Village Primary Good 31 2.0 -0.3 4.3 2.4 0.4 4.3 4.2 2.0 6.4 0.3 -1.9 2.5 0.5 -1.2 2.2 1.7 -0.5 3.8 3.7 1.6 5.8 2.8 1.1 4.5 3.7 1.6 5.7

St Edmund Campion Catholic Primary Outstanding 60 4.3 2.7 5.9 5.2 3.6 6.8 4.2 2.6 5.8 2.5 1.0 4.0 1.8 0.4 3.3 2.0 0.4 3.5 4.8 3.4 6.2 4.4 3.0 5.7 4.3 2.8 5.8

St Edward's Royal Free Middle Good 121 1.3 0.2 2.4 0.5 -0.6 1.7 1.7 0.6 2.8 0.4 -0.6 1.4 0.6 -0.5 1.6 0.2 -0.9 1.3 -0.2 -1.2 0.8 -2.1 -3.0 -1.1 0.1 -1.0 1.1

St Francis Catholic Primary Outstanding 30 2.6 0.4 4.8 3.7 1.5 6.0 5.8 3.6 8.1 0.9 -1.2 3.0 2.5 0.4 4.6 6.0 3.8 8.2 3.1 1.1 5.1 4.4 2.4 6.3 8.0 5.9 10.1

St Luke's CE Primary Outstanding 38 -3.3 -5.3 -1.3 1.5 -0.5 3.5 -0.2 -2.2 1.9 -0.5 -2.5 1.5 3.1 1.3 5.0 -0.1 -2.1 1.8 -2.6 -4.5 -0.7 2.3 0.5 4.0 3.4 1.5 5.3

St Mary's Catholic Primary Good 37 2.2 0.3 4.1 2.5 0.6 4.3 1.2 -0.9 3.2 2.0 0.2 3.8 -2.5 -4.2 -0.7 -0.4 -2.4 1.5 3.3 1.6 5.0 1.9 0.3 3.5 -3.0 -4.8 1.1

St Michael's CE Primary Good 30 1.9 -0.2 4.0 0.4 -1.9 2.7 2.7 0.3 5.2 0.3 -1.8 2.4 -1.4 -3.5 0.7 -0.4 -2.8 2.0 0.0 -1.9 1.9 -0.9 -2.9 1.1 -0.2 -2.5 2.1

St Peter's CE Middle Good 81 -1.7 -3.3 -0.1 -1.1 -2.8 0.6 -1.7 -3.1 -0.3 -1.5 -3.0 0.0 -2.2 -3.8 -0.6 -1.0 -2.3 0.4 -2.2 -3.6 -0.8 -2.3 -3.8 -0.8 -3.3 -4.6 -2.0

Trevelyan Middle Good 148 1.3 0.3 2.3 2.2 1.2 3.2 0.5 -0.5 1.6 1.0 0.1 1.9 2.5 1.6 3.5 0.3 -0.7 1.3 0.9 0.0 1.8 0.3 -0.6 1.2 -0.1 -1.1 0.9

Waltham St Lawrence Primary Outstanding 21 1.1 -1.7 3.9 0.3 -3.1 3.6 -1.0 -3.8 1.8 -0.2 -2.8 2.4 0.3 -2.8 3.4 0.0 -2.7 2.7 -0.7 -3.2 1.8 -1.2 -4.1 1.8 2.4 -0.2 5.1

Wessex Primary Good 56 0.4 -1.1 1.9 -2.5 -4.1 -0.8 0.5 -1.1 2.2 -2.1 -3.6 -0.6 -2.3 -3.8 -0.8 -2.4 -4.0 -0.9 1.0 -0.4 2.4 -0.5 -1.9 1.0 0.2 -1.3 1.7

White Waltham CE Good 28 -1.1 -3.3 1.1 -1.3 -3.6 0.9 0.5 -1.9 2.8 -1.7 -3.8 0.4 -2.9 -5.0 -0.8 -1.0 -3.2 1.3 -3.4 -5.4 -1.4 -1.5 -3.5 0.5 -2.0 -4.1 0.2

Woodlands Park Primary Good 11 -1.7 -4.5 1.1 -2.5 -5.1 0.0 -2.9 -7.0 1.3 1.3 -1.4 4.0 -2.5 -4.9 -0.1 -5.7 -9.7 -1.8 -2.2 -4.8 0.4 -1.6 -3.8 0.7 -6.6 -10.5 -2.8

Wraysbury Primary Good 49 3.5 1.8 5.2 3.8 2.0 5.5 -1.7 -3.5 0.1 -4.7 -6.3 -3.1 -2.3 -3.9 -0.7 -1.7 -3.5 0.1 -0.7 -2.3 0.9 -1.6 -3.1 -0.1 -1.7 -3.4 -0.1

RBWM 1633 0.3 0 0.6 0.5 0.2 0.8 0.5 0.2 0.8 -0.6 -0.9 -0.3 -0.6 -0.9 -0.3 -0.1 -0.4 0.2 0.1 -0.2 0.4 -0.2 -0.4 0.1 0.2 -0.1 0.5

National

SOURCES: KEY to 2018 Progress Measure
 2018 & 2019 Progress Figures Progress within the Top 10% of Schools

from DFE . 2022 Provisional from ASP Progress within the Top 20% of Schools

Progress within the middle 64% of Schools

Progress within the Bottom 16% of Schools

Progress within the Bottom 10% of Schools

KEY to 2019 Progress Measure
Progress within the Top 10% of Schools

Progress within the Top 20% of Schools

Progress within the middle 63% of Schools

Progress within the Bottom 17% of Schools

Progress within the Bottom 10% of Schools

PROVISIONAL

2018 Progress Scaled Scores 2019 Progress Scaled Scores 2018 Progress Scaled Scores 2019 Progress Scaled Scores 2018 Progress Scaled Scores2022 Progress Scaled Scores 2022 Progress Scaled Scores

PROVISIONAL PROVISIONAL PROVISIONAL PROVISIONAL PROVISIONAL

R

E

A

D

I

N

G

P

r

o

g

r

e

s

s

K

S

1

t

o

K

S

2

W

R

I

T

I

N

G

P

r

o

g

r

e

s

s

K

S

1

t

o

K

S

2

M

A

T

H

S

P

r

o

g

r

e

s

s

K

S

1

t

o

K

S

2

NOTE

Progress from KS1 to KS2 is measured by comparing the Scaled Scores of every pupil according to their KS1 Grouping's Average KS2 Scaled Score

Scaled Scores are derived from pupils' actual marks in the KS2 tests

Each School's Progress Score is an average of its pupils' positive and negative progress scores

The LOWER and UPPER  LIMITS indicate what the school's progress score could have been on another day

Schools with Progress Scores of less than -5 in reading and maths and -7 in writing are below the Floor Standards set by the DFE

2022 Progress Scaled Scores2019 Progress Scaled Scores

Page 18

218



19 

SECTION 4 - SECONDARY ATTAINMENT AND PROGRESS 

KEY STAGE 4 (KS4) – GCSEs and equivalent  

4.1 KS4 pupils are ages 14 – 16 in Years 10 and 11. At the end of this Key Stage 

pupils sit GCSE and vocational examinations.   

4.2 This academic year saw the return of the summer exam series, after they had 

been cancelled in 2020 and 2021 due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, 

where alternative processes were set up to award grades (centre assessment 

grades, known as CAGs, and teacher assessed grades, known as TAGs). As 

part of the transition back to the summer exam series adaptations were made 

to the exams (including advance information) and the approach to grading for 

2022 exams broadly reflected a midpoint between results in 2019 and 2021.

 The KS4 performance measures reported for the 2021/22 academic year 
have been affected by the DfEs commitment not to include results from 
qualifications achieved between January 2020 and August 2021 in future 
performance measures.  The methodology has been adjusted and 
designed to minimise the impact of gaps in data for schools and colleges.  
Given the unprecedented change in the way GCSE results were awarded 
in the summers of 2020 and 2021, as well as the changes to grade 
boundaries and methods of assessment for 2021/22, caution needs to be 
exercised when considering comparisons over time, as they may not 
reflect changes in pupil performance alone.

4.3  The top-line attainment measures for KS4 are 

 the percentage of pupils achieving a grade 5 or above (strong pass) in 

English (language or literature) and mathematics. 

 the percentage of pupils entering the English Baccalaureate, which is 

English and mathematics, two sciences, a humanity (specifically history or 

geography) and a language.  

 The EBacc average point score measure (APS) across the five pillars of 

the Ebacc using the pupil’s best grades. This ensures the attainment of all 

pupils is recognised, not just those at particular grade boundaries, 

encouraging schools to enter pupils of all abilities, and support them to 

achieve their full potential. 

 the Attainment 8 measure, which looks at attainment across 8 subjects 

including English and Maths (both double counted), three Ebacc subjects 

and 3 other subjects (which can include additional Ebacc subjects or 

approved non-GCSEs).  

 The Progress 8 which measures progress from KS2 

219



20 

English and Maths GCSE 

4.4 Overall 55% of pupils in Windsor and Maidenhead achieved English and Maths 
GCSE at grade 5 or above. State funded schools nationally achieved 49.6%.

 The Royal Borough is 35th LA on this measure. 

 The percentage of Royal Borough pupils attaining English and Maths 

GCSE at grade 4 or above is 76.2%. This is well above the state funded 

national figure of 68.8%.  

Attainment 8 

4.5 Attainment 8 is based on students’ attainment measured across eight subjects: 
English and Maths (both double-weighted), three other English Baccalaureate 
subjects and three further approved subjects which can include vocational 
qualifications. The numerical grades are used for reformed GCSEs. See 
Appendix A for a detailed description of how this is calculated for other 
qualifications. 

4.6 The average Attainment 8 score across RBWM was 51.1.  This compares to 
48.7 for state-schools nationally.   

English Baccalaureate  

4.7 The English Baccalaureate (EBacc) requires pupils to enter English, maths, two 
sciences, a humanity (specifically history or geography) and a language.  The 
EBacc average point score measure (APS) across the five pillars of the Ebacc 
using the pupils best 9 – 1 scores. 

 45.4% of RBWM pupils were entered for all elements of the Ebacc in 

2022, above the national figure of 38.8%.  

 The England state-maintained APS for the Ebacc was 4.27, and for 

RBWM 4.57. RBWM was ranked 36th best LA on this measure. 

KEY STAGE 2 - 4 PROGRESS

4.8   The measure for progress is Progress 8. See Appendix A for a detailed 
explanation of how this is calculated.  

4.9 A value of 0.0 means that progress is in-line with expectations given the starting 
points of the cohort. A score of -0.5 or below means the school is deemed ‘below 

220



21 

the floor’, exposing them to challenges and interventions from local or national 
government. A score of +1.0 or above exempts the school from an OFSTED 
inspection for a year and means that, on average, every pupil in the school got 
one grade higher in each of the Attainment 8 subjects than the national average 
for pupils with the same prior attainment.  

 RBWM had an overall Progress 8 score of +0.06. This means that on 

average RBWM pupils attained half a grade higher in 1 subject than 

pupils with equivalent prior attainment nationally. The confidence interval 

is +/- 0.07, meaning that the Borough’s result is better than national and 

that there is a 95% certainty that the result lies between -0.02 and +0.13.  

RANKINGS  

4.10  Data Pack Chart 4a shows RBWM’s ranking on several key attainment    

measures against other LAs. There are approximately 150 LAs with recorded 

data.  

Chart 4a Attainment Rankings  

4.11 RBWM’s ranking compared to other Local Authorities has fallen from the top 
quintile to the second quintile during the covid pandemic.  

221



22 

4.12 Data Pack Chart 4b shows RBWM’s ranking on the top-line progress measure 
against other LAs. There was no progress measure calculation for 2020 and 
2021. 

Chart 4b Progress Rankings  

4.13 The Royal Borough’s ranking for Progress 8 measure has fallen this year from 
21st in 2018 to 48th. The Royal Borough’s ranking for Progress 8 is in the 
second quintile of LAs of Local Authorities.    

SECONDARY SCHOOL PERFORMANCE TABLES 

4.14  Data Pack Figure 4a shows secondary attainment by school. 

 Due to the uneven impact of the pandemic on 2021/22 school and 
college performance data the DfE recommends not making any direct 
comparisons with data from previous years or between schools. 

222



Data Pack Figure 4a

Destinations

grade 5 in 

English + 

Maths 

GSCES

Attainment 8 

Pupils staying 

in education or 

going into 

employment 

(2017 leavers)

%
% 

Entered
APS Score Score DfE Description Range % 

Altwood
Good 42 36% 7 3.89 47.0 0.17 n/a post covid  -0.29 to 0.63 89

Charters
Outstanding 269 64% 27 4.93 57.1 0.33 n/a post covid 0.14 to 0.51 96

Churchmead
Good 52 38% 13 3.49 47.0 0.15 n/a post covid  -0.25 to 0.55 92

Cox Green
Good 189 44% 24 4.01 45.5 -0.36 n/a post covid  -0.56 to- 0.15 95

Desborough
Good 178 62% 46 4.69 52.3 -0.12 n/a post covid  -0.1 to 0.33 95

Furze Platt
Good 195 57% 87 5.03 53.4 0.1 n/a post covid  -0.1 to 0.33 96

Holyport
Outstanding 80 59% 86 5.19 54.9 0.24 n/a post covid  -0.12 to 0.6 96

Newlands
Outstanding 183 69% 78 5.60 59.3 0.61 n/a post covid 0.39 to 0.82 99

Windsor Boys' School
Good 225 53% 38 4.42 49.0 -0.22 n/a post covid  -0.42 to- 0.03 94

Windsor Girls' School
Outstanding 184 50% 38 4.22 48.6 0.09 n/a post covid 0 96

RBWM 1632 45 55 4.57 51.1 0.06 n/a post covid 0.03 to 0.16 95

National 2022 (state 

funded)
39 50 4.27 48.7 -0.03 n/a post covid 94

Source: Performance Tables 2022

School 

Ofsted 

Rating as at 

01.12.22

Cohort 

Number

Key Stage 4 School Performance Table Summary 2022

Key Stage 4 Attainment

English Bacc Progress 8 

Key Stage 2-4 Progess

Page 23

223



24 

SECTION 5 – PROVISIONAL POST 16 ATTAINMENT 

5.1. This academic year saw the return of the summer exam series, after they had 

been cancelled in 2020 and 2021 due to the impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic, where alternative processes were set up to award grades. As part of 

the transition back to the summer exam series adaptations were made to the 

exams (including advance information) and the approach to grading for 2022 

exams broadly reflected a midpoint between results in 2019 and 2021.

5.2. Average point score (APS) per entry for all national level 3 cohorts is lower 

compared to 2020/21. A level, -2.8 ppts; applied general, -0.9 ppts; tech level, 

- 1.2 ppts. However, attainment remains higher compared to 2018/19: A level, 

+5.0ppts; applied general, +3.5 ppts; tech level +2.2 ppts. [An increase of 10 

points is equivalent to an increase in one full grade]. This follows Ofqual’s 

announcement in September 2021 that 2022 will be a transition year where the 

aim was for exam results to broadly reflect a midway point between 2021 

(Teacher assessment grades) and 2019 (the last year all students sat exams).

A LEVEL RESULTS 

5.3. A significantly higher proportion of RBWM students continue their education in 

school sixth forms to take A levels than is the case nationally, resulting in more 

lower-performing students in schools. Attainment comparisons with national 

school outcomes at A level should be viewed in that context.   

Table 5a - Key measures: A level cohort 

5.4. The average point score per A level entry for a student’s best 3 A Levels 

expressed as a grade for the Borough was B-. The LA ranks 59th on this 

measure. The associated point score of 38.1 is close to the state funded 

national figure of 39.09. 

224



25 

 The proportion of RBWM A level students achieving grades AAB or 
better, including two or more facilitating subjects was 19.9%, just below 
the national state funded figure of 20.6%.  RBWM ranks 60th on this 
measure. 

 School level performance table data has not been published during the 
transitional year. 

VOCATIONAL RESULTS 

5.5. Attainment for students studying applied general and technical qualifications 

are reported separately. Applied general qualifications are level 3 (advanced) 

qualifications that provide broad study of a vocational subject area e.g. a level 3 

certificate/diploma in business or applied science.  Tech level qualifications are 

level 3 qualifications for students wishing to specialise in a technical occupation 

e.g. a level 3 diploma in construction or bricklaying

5.6. Table 5b - Key measures: Vocational cohort 

 The average point score per technical qualification expressed as a grade 
for the Borough was Merit+, below the national state funded school 
average of Dist- 

 The average point score per applied general qualification expressed as 
a grade for the Borough was Dist-, equal to the national state funded 
school average. 

225



26 

SECTION 6 - PEFORMANCE OF PUPIL GROUPS  

KEY     

6.1 The following key is used in this section:  

Top Quintile  

Second Quintile  

Middle Quintile 

Fourth Quintile 

Bottom Quintile  

There are 152 Local Authorities, including City of London and Isles of Scilly. Data 
for these two LAs is omitted from many DfE tables, as numbers are too small to 
be reported.  

Therefore, typically the Top Quintile represents the Top 30 Local Authorities and 
the Bottom Quintile the lowest 30 Local authorities.   

KEY STAGE 2  

Table 6a Key Stage 2 : Reading+Writing+Maths 

Group  
Pupils 
2022 

RWM % 
EXp 

RWM % 
Exp 

% Attaining expected standard 
Reading+Writing+Maths 

LA 
Ranking 

2018 2019 2022 
National 

2022 
+/- 

National 
2022 

All  1631 69 67 63 59 5 =27 

Girls 804 75 76 69 63 6 =24

Boys 827 63 59 58 55 3 =34

FSM 204 32 29 36 42 -6 =119 

Non-FSM 1427 71 71 67 64 3 =45

Disadvantaged 258 41 35 38 43 -5 =110

Non-Disadv 1373 73 73 68 66 2 =48

SEN 292 23 29 25 18 7 20

SEN – with EHC 64 10 6 8 7 1 =45 

Non-SEN 1339 79 78 72 69 3 =41

Not 1st Lang Eng 289 62 60 63 61 2 =56

First Lang Eng 1342 70 69 64 58 6 =24

Asian 285 69 63 63 66 -3 111

Black 21 64 36 57 59 -2 89

Mixed 144 64 67 74 61 13 =2

White 1117 69 69 63 58 5 =30
Source: LAIT/DFE SFR 

226



27 

6.2   Table 6a above has attainment and rankings for Key Stage 2. 

 These statistics cover the attainment of year 6 pupils who took assessments in 
summer 2022. These pupils experienced disruption to their learning during the 
pandemic, particularly at the end of year 4 and in year 5. 

 The proportion of pupils achieving the ‘expected standard’ in the headline 
measure of Reading & Writing & Maths at Key Stage 2 is in the top quintile of 
LAs nationally. 

 There continues to be a marked gap between the progress of boys and girls 
both nationally and in the Royal Borough. However, the gap is similar in both 
groups, resulting in similar rankings. 

 RBWM pupil groups that are well below national are the FSM and 
disadvantaged cohorts. Disadvantaged pupils are defined as those registered 
for free school meals at any point in the last six years, children looked after by a 
local authority or have left local authority care in England and Wales through 
adoption, a special guardianship order, a residence order or a child 

arrangements order. At LA and national level, the disruption due to learning 
during the covid pandemic has had a greater impact on disadvantaged pupils. 
The disadvantaged gap index nationally is at its highest level since 2012. 

 The Asian subgroup is ranked in the fourth quintile.  In the Borough this group 
is made up of the Indian group who outperform national and the Pakistani 
group who perform less well both nationally and in RBWM. 

 When considering each group’s performance, it must be recognised that pupils 
do not always occupy only a single category and that those who appear in two 
or more categories will impact more on the results of smaller authorities such 
as RBWM. For example, pupils who have Special Educational Needs but who 
are also eligible for Free School Meals. 


KEY STAGE 4

6.3   Table 6b below has progress (Progress 8) and rankings for Key Stage 4.

 Given the unprecedented change in the way GCSE results were awarded in the 
summers of 2020 and 2021, as well as the changes to grade boundaries and 
methods of assessment for 2021/22, caution needs to be applied when 
considering comparisons over time, as they may not reflect changes in pupil 
performance alone. 

 The Progress 8 result for the Royal Borough is above average national 
progress ranking for all pupils group except Asian pupils, Black pupils and 
pupils who have an EHCP. However, for pupils in two of these groups (Asian 
and black the actual Progress 8 score was positive – i.e. these pupils made 
more progress than the average for all pupils with the same prior attainment.

227



28 

Table 6b Key Stage 4: Progress 8   

Group  
Pupils 
2022 

LA Ranking 

2019 2022 
National 

2022 
+/- National 2022 

All  1632 +0.09 +0.06 -0.03 0.09 48 

Girls 786 +0.33 0.23 0.15 0.07 =41

Boys 846 -0.12 -0.1 -0.21 0.11 =49

FSM 175 -0.51 -0.58 -0.59 +0.01 =55 

Non-FSM 1457 +0.14 +0.14 +0.11 +0.03 63 

Disadvantaged 233 -0.37 -0.5 -0.55 +0.05 =47 

Non-Disadv 1399 +0.18 +0.15 +0.15 0 73 

SEN 256 -0.18 -0.55 -0.47 -0.07 31

SEN – with EHC 67 -0.79 -1.25 -1.33 -0.08 =78

Non-SEN 1376 +0.18 +0.17 0.1 +0.07 =51

Not 1st Lang Eng 176 +0.34 +0.67 0.55 +0.12 =62

First Lang Eng 1453 +0.06 0 -0.12 +0.12 =36

Asian 220 +0.20 0.48 0.54 -0.04 =108

Black 30 0.28 +0.25 +0.18 +0.07 80

Mixed 144 +0.28 +0.06 -0.04 +0.1 =51 

White 1185 +0.06 -0.02 -0.14 +0.16 =38
Source: DfE LAIT/KS4 SFR 

 There continues to be a marked gap between the progress of boys and girls 
both nationally and in the Royal Borough. However, the gap is similar in both 
groups, resulting in similar rankings. 

 Progress for pupils with Special Educational needs (SEN) and SEN with an 
Educational Healthcare Plan (EHC) or statement is below that for pupils without 
SEN. However, in all SEN groups, the RBWM groups make similar progress to 
their national counterparts. 

 FSM and Disadvantaged pupils made less progress than their non-FSM/non-
Disadvantaged counterparts. However, the LA rankings for disadvantaged 
groups were above average. 

 The Progress 8 for the Asian pupils was brought down by the relatively poor 
results of the Pakistani subgroup. Results for the other main Asian groups 
(Indian, Bangladeshi and other Pakistani) were comparable to the high 
Progress 8 results achieved nationally.  

228



29 

ACHIEVEMENT BY ETHNICITY  

6.4  Information on performance by ethnic main groups for all Key Stages is given in 
Data Pack Table 6c (at the end of this section). 

  The RBWM Asian group is worth looking into since it holds two sub-groups – 
Indian and Pakistani - who perform quite differently.  The Indian subgroup 
outperform national while the Pakistani subgroup underperform against national 
and at borough level.  

 Table 6c - Key Stage Performance by Ethnicity   



229



30 

ACHIEVEMENT BY DISADVANTAGED PUPILS 

6.5 Data comes from SFRs. The Disadvantaged cohort is shown where published 
(Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4); for other Key Stages FSM eligibility is used as 
it is published at an LA level allowing comparisons to be made.   

6.6 Disadvantaged pupils attract Pupil Premium (additional funding given to 

schools so that they can support their disadvantaged pupils and close the 

attainment gap between them and their peers).  

6.7 Disadvantaged pupils comprise looked-after children, those eligible for Free 

School Meals (FSM) and those who had previously been eligible for Free 

School Meals any time in the preceding 6 years (‘Ever 6 FSM’ or FSM6).   

 At Key Stage 2, the gap between RBWM disadvantaged pupils and other pupils 

is 25 percentage points, much wider than the National gap of 16 percentage 

points. Nationally the disadvantage gap has reduced between 2011 and 2018 

before remaining at a similar level between 2018 and 2019. The gap has 

increased in 2022 to the highest level since 2012, suggesting that disruption to 

learning during the COVID-19 pandemic has had a greater impact on 

disadvantaged pupils.  For RBWM we are in the fourth quintile nationally 

meaning our disadvantaged pupils have performed below national.

 At Key Stage 4, RBWM disadvantaged pupils make slightly better progress 
than national. The disadvantaged gap nationally is at its highest level since 
2012.  This may reflect the difficult circumstances that many pupils will have 
experienced over the last few academic years which saw various restrictions 
put in place in response to the COVID-19 pandemic (e.g., periods of lockdowns 
and tiers) that resulted in restricted attendance to schools and periods of home 
learning. 

FREE SCHOOL MEALS (FSM)  

6.8 All data comes from the DfE SFRs. FSM data relates to pupils eligible for FSM 
at the end of the relevant Key Stage. This data does not include FSM6 (pupils 
entitled to Free School Meals at some point in the last 6 years). Using FSM-
only data enables like-for-like gap comparisons to be made over time.  The 
numbers of FSM pupils in RBWM are relatively small and figures for that group 
can fluctuate significantly from year to year as a result of other factors.  

230



31 

Table 6d - Key Stage Performance by Free School Meals   

6.9  The FSM data in Table 6d shows that: 

 For Foundation Stage as well as Reading and Writing and at KS1 and 
KS4, the RBWM non-FSM/FSM gaps have increased when compared to 
2019. For KS2, however, the RBWM non-FSM/FSM gap has decreased 
when compared to 2019. 

 FSM pupils underperform compared to non-FSM pupils in RBWM, 
Statistical Neighbours and Nationally in each year from 2017 to 2022. 
They have been disproportionally affected by the Covid pandemic  

231



32 

 Chart 6a shows how RBWM ranks for the FSM group compared to other 
LAs.  RBWM ranks in the bottom quintile for all primary key stages. It is in 
the middle of the table for KS4. 

Chart 6a FSM/Disadvantaged attainment and ranking by Key Stage

CHILDREN IN CARE (CiC) ACHIEVEMENT  

6.11 While data for Children in care is published by DfE at Local Authority level 

(excluding Key Stage 5 results), in the case of RBWM, the data is suppressed 

because of the small numbers of pupils. The RBWM CiC results have therefore 

been obtained directly from the RBWM virtual school.  

6.12 The data in columns 1 and 3 of Table 6g relates to children who have been in 

the care of the Royal Borough for 12 months or more and were in RBWM 

schools at the time of the relevant Key Stage testing. The data relates to pupils 

in main stream schools, with the figures in brackets including those at the 

Special school.  Italics indicate that previous years cannot be directly compared 

due to change in top-line measure for that key stage or significant change in 

methodology. 

232



33 

Table 6g - Key stage Performance by Children in Care 

Number of 
CiC pupils   

KEY Stage & measures RBWM National  

Figures in 
brackets include 
Special School 

CiC (inc 
special) 

All CiC All 

Early Years 

1 % Achieving good level of development 2017 100 77 n/a 71 

3 % Achieving good level of development 2018 66 74 n/a 71 

1 % Achieving good level of development 2019 100 74 48 72 

3 % Achieving good level of development 2022 67 67 65 

Key Stage 1

2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Reading 2017 50 82 n/a 76 
2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Reading 2018 50 81 n/a 75 
2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Reading 2019 0 79 53 75 
0 % Achieving Expected Standard in Reading 2022 N/A 69 67 

2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Writing 2017 50 74 n/a 68 
2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Writing 2018 50 73 n/a 70 
2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Writing 2019 50 71 44 69 
0 % Achieving Expected Standard in Writing 2022 N/A 59 58 

2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Maths 2017 50 80 n/a 75 

2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Maths 2018 50 80 n/a 76 

2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Maths 2019 50 80 52 76 

0 % Achieving Expected Standard in Maths 2022 N/A 71 68 

Key Stage 2

3 % Achieving Expected Standard in Reading 2017 33 78 45 71 
2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Reading 2018 50 81 51 76 

4 % Achieving Expected Standard in Reading 2019 25 77 50 73 
0 % Achieving Expected Standard in Reading 2022 N/A 80 75 

3 % Achieving Expected Standard in Writing 2017 33 77 47 76 
2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Writing 2018 0 80 49 79 
4 % Achieving Expected Standard in Writing 2019 25 76 51 78 
0 % Achieving Expected Standard in Writing 2022 N/A 71 71 

3 % Achieving Expected Standard in Maths 2017 33 76 46 75 

2 % Achieving Expected Standard in Maths 2018 0 79 47 76 

4 % Achieving Expected Standard in Maths 2019 25 79 52 79 

0 % Achieving Expected Standard in Maths 2022 N/A 76 69 

Key Stage 4

6 % Achieving EM 2017 (Grade 4+) 17 72 18 64

8(10) % Achieving EM 2018 (Grade 4+) 50(40) 74 18 59 

7(13) % Achieving EM 2019 (Grade 4+) 29(23) 72 n/a 60 

3 % Achieving EM 2022 (Grade 4+) 67 76 69 

Key Stage 5

6 % Achieving Level 3 Qualifications 2017 50 n/a n/a n/a 

0 % Achieving Level 3 Qualifications 2018 - n/a n/a n/a 

na % Achieving Level 3 Qualifications 2019 - n/a n/a n/a 

na % Achieving Level 3 Qualifications 2022 - n/a n/a n/a 

Source DfE SFRs/Performance Tables. RBWM CiC from Virtual school  
National CiC data is not published for Early Years or KS5; other Key stages to be published Apr 2022 

233



34 

SECTION 7 - ABSENCE DATA 

BACKGROUND AND SUMMARY 

7.1 Absence data for the Borough, Statistical Neighbours and National level data is 
taken from the DfE SFR and is summarised in Table 7a. It is for the 2020/21 
year which is the latest data set available. There was no data set for 2019/20 
due to the pandemic. For 2020/21 data is given on pupil absences as well as 
where a pupil could not attend school due to COVID-19. This includes pupils 
who were ineligible to attend school during the lockdown period because 
attendance was restricted. This category was also used to record where pupils 
did not attend because they: were self-isolating because of COVID-19, were 
advised to shield, were quarantining after returning from abroad, or were in 
class bubbles advised to isolate. Schools were advised to record pupils with a 
confirmed case of COVID-19 as absent due to illness. The Covid absence 
figures are given in brackets for the year 2020/21 after the absence figure. 

Table 7a - Overall and persistent absence  

Source DfE SFR  

* Pupil enrolments missing 10 percent or more of their own possible sessions 
(due to authorised or unauthorised absence) are classified as persistent 
absentees. 

OVERALL ABSENCE 

7.2 Overall absence is measured by the % of half day sessions missed.  For most 
of the 2021 Spring term, only children of critical workers and vulnerable pupils 
could attend school during the period of lockdown from 4 January 2021. 
Restrictions were lifted on attendance from 8 March 2021 for all other pupils, 
four school weeks prior to the end of term. Due to the disruption faced during 
the spring term caution should be taken when comparing data to previous 
years.

 RBWM attendance continues to be better than national. 

Overall Absence (%) % Persistent absentees
2017/8 2018/9 2020/1 2017/8 2018/9 2020/1 

England Primary  
4.2 

3.9 
3.6 

(21.3) 
8.7 8.3 8.8 

Statistical Neighbours 
Primary 

3.9 3.6 
3.0 

(17.6) 
7.1 6.6 6.7 

RBWM Primary 3.8 3.8 
3.1 

(18.3) 
6.6 7.1 6.5 

England Secondary 
5.5 

5.5 
5.5 

(25.0)
13.9 13.6 14.8 

Statistical Neighbours 
Secondary

5.3 5.2 
4.9 

(23.7)
12.7 12.0 12.5 

RBWM Secondary 5.0 5.0 
4.9 

(22.0)
10.9 11.0 12.6 

234



35 

 RBWM Primary school attendance level has increased in line with national, 
resulting in a small ranking change from equal 24th LA in 2019 to equal 18th LA 
in 2021.  

 Secondary school attendance level increased slightly compared to 2018/19.  
RBWM attendance ranking has increased from equal 28th LA in 2019 to equal 
21st LA in 2021. 

PERSISTENT ABSENCE 

7.3 Pupil enrolments missing 10 percent or more of their own possible sessions 

(due to authorised or unauthorised absence) are classified as persistent 

absentees.   

 RBWM figures continue to be better than national and are in line with statistical 
neighbours. 

 Primary school persistent absence levels rank 20th LA.  

 RBWM’s Secondary school persistent absence ranking is 21st LA this year. 

ABSENCE DATA FOR 2021/22 

7.4 The DfE have published national absence data for the autumn and spring terms 
of the 2021/22 academic year (but not yet LA or Statistical Neighbours data).  

 Absence rate in the autumn and spring term combined was 7.4% an increase, 
having been consistently around 5% in recent years.  The majority of the 
absence in previous years was due to illness but in 2021/22 it includes illness 
due to covid and is higher. 

SCHOOL LEVEL ABSENCE DATA 

7.5 The most recently published school level absence data is for 2018/19 and is 
from ASP. Pupil enrolments missing 10 percent or more of their own possible 
sessions (due to authorised or unauthorised absence) are classified as 
persistent absentees.  No data for 2020/21 has been published at a school 
level in accordance with the DFE accountability measures and the impact of the 
Covid pandemic. 

235



36 

Table 7b – Two term Absence in RBWM schools (Infant/Junior/Primary)  

School name Overall absence (%) 
 % Persistent absentees 

(10%+) 

2016/7 2017/8 2018/9 2016/7 2017/8 2018/9 

England Primary  4.0 4.2 4.0 8.7 8.7 8.2 

All Saints CofE Junior School 3.6 3.7 3.8 6.1 4.9 7.6 

Alwyn Infant and Nursery 2.6 2.9 3.2 4.9 2.6 7.5 

Bisham CofE Primary School 3.8 4.5 3.0 8.1 9.5 5.3 

Boyne Hill Infant and Nursery 2.8 3.1 3.3 2.4 2.4 6.5 

Braywick Court 2.8 3.2 3.1 3.3 2.1 0.8 

Burchetts Green CofE Infants'  3.0 3.7 4.3 0.0 4.8 4.0 

Cheapside CofE Primary  3.5 4.0 4.5 6.1 7.3 11.2 

Cookham Dean CofE Primary 4.5 4.0 3.5 9.8 9.8 6.0 

Cookham Rise Primary School 3.8 3.5 2.9 7.1 3.8 2.2 

Courthouse Junior School 3.1 3.3 3.4 4.4 4.4 5.5 

Datchet St Mary's Primary 5.6 5.1 5.2 18.8 15.2 16.2 

Furze Platt Infant School 4.1 4.2 3.6 8.3 8.6 6.0 

Furze Platt Junior School 3.2 3.1 3.0 4.9 4.4 3.0 

Holy Trinity Primary Cookham 3.6 3.3 3.7 3.9 2.8 3.9 

Holy Trinity Sunningdale 3.0 3.5 3.5 6.3 5.8 8.2 

Holyport Primary 3.6 3.3 3.6 6.0 4.7 5.9 

Knowl Hill CofE Primary School 4.6 5.6 5.0 16.1 17.5 14.5 

Larchfield Primary and Nursery 4.9 5.1 4.7 8.2 12.6 11.0 

Lowbrook Academy 2.1 2.3 2.1 1.5 1.3 0.7 

Oldfield Primary School 3.1 2.8 3.4 6.1 3.3 4.3 

Riverside Primary and Nursery 5.4 5.1 6.3 15.3 8.9 16.7 

St Edmund Campion 2.5 2.7 2.7 2.5 1.9 1.4 

St Francis Catholic Primary  3.1 3.4 3.3 3.3 3.9 5.3 

St Luke's CofE Primary School 4.7 4.4 4.0 14.1 8.1 8.7 

St Mary's Catholic Primary  4.0 3.8 3.8 8.9 6.1 6.7 

St Michael's Sunninghill 3.0 3.1 3.1 2.7 3.3 4.8 

South Ascot Village Primary 3.6 5.1 4.0 6.1 6.5 7.8 

Waltham St Lawrence Primary  5.5 4.4 4.3 16.3 9.2 10.6 

Wessex Primary School 4.9 4.7 4.1 14.5 10.8 8.9 

White Waltham CofE Academy 2.5 3.1 2.6 0.6 4.8 3.8 

Woodlands Park Primary 5.8 5.8 6.3 20.9 17.4 15.8 

Wraysbury Primary School 4.5 4.7 4.7 11.7 10.9 10.3 

Source : ASP 

236



37 

Table 7c - Absence in RBWM schools (First)  

School name Overall absence (%) 
% Persistent absentees 

(10%+) 

2016/7 2017/8 2018/19 2016/7 2017/8 2018/9 

England Primary  4.0 4.2 4.0 8.7 8.7 8.2 

Alexander First School 5.3 3.7 3.9 12.9 10.0 8.9 

Braywood CofE First School 2.4 2.5 3.5 0.8 2.5 5.0 

Clewer Green CofE First  3.7 4.1 4.3 4.2 5.5 7.1 

Dedworth Green First School 4.9 5.2 5.4 9.9 15.9 14.3 

Eton Porny CofE First School 5.2 4.5 4.2 10.8 13.5 8.1 

Eton Wick CofE First School 3.7 4.2 3.9 8.8 5.4 6.8 

Hilltop First School 3.9 4.1 4.1 9.8 9.3 8.9 

Homer First School 3.6 3.9 3.6 6.4 6.8 6.7 

King's Court First School 4.1 3.9 3.8 8.9 7.9 9.6 

Oakfield First School 3.3 3.1 3.2 8.8 5.0 6.3 

The Queen Anne Royal Free 4.6 4.0 3.6 15.0 8.9 5.1 

The Royal First School 3.5 4.5 5.0 3.8 2.5 9.4 

St Edward's Catholic First 3.0 3.1 2.7 3.1 4.1 1.7 

Trinity St Stephen First 3.5 3.3 3.5 5.0 3.3 5.0 

Source : ASP 

Table 7d - Absence in RBWM schools (Middle) 

School name Overall absence (%) 
% Persistent absentees 

(10%+)

2016/7 2017/8 2018/9 2016/7 2017/8 2018/9 

England Secondary  5.2 5.5 5.5 12.8 13.9 13.7 

Dedworth Middle  4.6 4.2 4.5 9.6 7.3 9.6 

St Edward's Royal  Middle 3.3 3.4 3.4 4.5 5.5 4.3 

St Peter's Middle 4.8 4.9 3.9 13.2 8.8 5.6 

Trevelyan Middle  4.6 5.3 4.8 11.8 12.9 11.2 

Source : ASP 

237



38 

Table 7e - Absence in RBWM schools (Secondary/Upper)  

School name Overall absence (%) 
% Persistent absentees 

(10%+) 

2016/7 2017/8 2018/9 2016/7 2017/8 2018/9 

England Secondary 5.2 5.5 5.5 12.8 13.9 13.7 

Altwood Secondary School 6.5 7.2 7.3 17.9 17.4 21.5 

Charters Secondary School 4.6 5.3 5.6 9.1 12.2 13.0 

Churchmead Secondary 5.3 5.8 5.3 14.5 14.3 13.6 

Cox Green Secondary School 5.1 5.3 5.0 11.0 13.8 12.6 

Desborough College 4.2 4.5 4.6 7.7 9.3 11.6 

Furze Platt Secondary School 4.2 4.3 4.8 7.0 7.5 9.2 

Holyport College Secondary 4.9 5.9 5.8 10.8 12.0 13.7 

Newlands Secondary School 4.1 4.2 4.1 7.4 7.0 6.0 

The Windsor Boys 5.1 5.9 5.5 13.0 14.9 13.1 

Windsor Girls 6.2 6.1 5.9 13.4 13.9 12.0 

Source : ASP 

238



39 

SECTION 8 - EXCLUSIONS DATA 

BACKGROUND 

8.1 National comparisons relate to 2020/21 academic year and come from 

the DfE SFR. National data for 2021/22 is expected to be published in 

August 2023. 

PERMANENT EXCLUSIONS 

8.2 The table gives RBWM exclusions over the last five years. 

Table 8a - Permanent Exclusions 

RBWM Permanent Exclusions 

2016/7 2017/8 2018/9 2019/20 2020/21

Number of pupils# 20 15 31 21 18 

% of Total pupils 0.09% 0.07% 0.14% 0.09% 0.08% 

Source: Exclusions SFR  

# SFR rounds total pupil numbers to nearest 10 until 2018/9 

 The 2020/21/20 academic year was affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Schools were open to all pupils in the Autumn term, however during the 
Spring term schools were only open to key worker and vulnerable children 
from January for the first half term, before all pupils returned during the 
second half term. During this period online tuition was provided for pupils. 
Schools were then open to all pupils during the summer term.  

 As with 2019/20, while suspensions and permanent exclusions were 
possible throughout the academic year, covid restrictions will have had an 
impact on the numbers presented and caution should be taken when 
comparing across years. 

 The number of permanent exclusions in RBWM has decreased to 18 in 
2020/21.  

 The national exclusion rate in 2019/20 (the latest year for which data is 
available) was 0.05% (i.e., on average 5 students in every 10,000 were 
permanently excluded). 

 In 2020/21 all RBWM permanent exclusions were in the Secondary phase. 

A breakdown of Permanent Exclusions by school and reason code since is 
shown in Table 8b. Permanent Exclusions in independent schools and OOB 
schools are shown in italics and are included in the totals.  These totals include 
appeal amendments. 

239



40 

Table 8b - Permanent Exclusions by reason code (from school census) 

Academic Year 2016/17
School No. of Permanent Exclusions Reason 
Altwood 5 Drugs x4, Other (serious 

breach of behaviour 
policy) 1

Charters 1 PAC 
Cox Green 6 PDB, PAC, Weapon into 

school, 3x Other 
(violence, damage to 
property, violent threats)

Dedworth Middle 2 PDB, PAA
Furze Platt Junior 1 PDB 
Furze Platt Senior 2 VA to adults, PDB
St Lukes Primary 1 PDB 
St Pirans 1 PDB
Windsor Boys School 2 Weapon in school, drugs

Total 21
Academic Year 2017/2018

School No. of Permanent Exclusions Reason 
Altwood 2 2 PDB
Charters 1 PDB 
Churchmead 1 PAC
Cox Green 4 2x Drugs, 1x 

PDB,1xPAC
Desborough 4 1x Drugs, 2x Damage to 

property, 1x Weapon 
Furze Platt Senior 2 1x PAC, 1x PDB 
Holyport College 1 Drugs
Newlands Girls School 1 Repeated setting off fire 

alarm
The Royal Grammar 1 Drugs 
Trevelyan Middle School 2 Drugs
Windsor Boys’ School 1 PAC
Furze Platt Junior 1 PDB 

Total 21

240



41 

Table 8b - Permanent Exclusions by reason code 

Academic Year 2018/2019
School No. of Permanent Exclusions Reason 
Altwood 0 -
Desborough 3 1 assault on a child, 1 

DR, 1 WR - taking a 
knife to school 

Churchmead 0 -
Cox Green School 8 5 PDB, 2 DR, 1 WR 

(knife into school)
Windsor Girls 0 - 
Charters 1 VA on an adult
Holyport College 2 1 PDB, 1 PAA
Furze Platt Senior School 8 4 x DR, 1 PAC, 3 PDB 
Furze Platt Junior school 1 PDB
Furze Platt Infant School 1 PDB 
Riverside primary School 1 PAC 
Wessex Primary School 2 1 PDB, 1 PAC 
Windsor Boys School 3 2 x DR (cocaine), 1 PAC
The Royal First School 1 PDB
Total 31

Academic Year 2019/20
School No. of Permanent Exclusions Reason 
Bisham 1 PA
Charters 2 PA,OT
Courthouse 1 PA 
Cox Green 4 OT
Desborough 2 OT 
Furze Platt Senior 5 PDB,VA
Holyport College 4 DA,PDB,BUx2 
Larchfield 1 PA

Total 20
Academic Year 2020/21

School No. of Permanent Exclusions Reason 
Altwood 2 PPx1, PAACx1 

Charters 4 DB, PPx3 

Couthouse 1 PPx1 

Cox Green 1 PDBx1 

Desborough 4 DAx2, MT, SM 

Furze Platt Senior 5 PDBx2, PAA&Cx2, PPx2 

The Windsor Boys’ 
school

2 PPx2 

West Twyford Primary 1 PAA&C 

Total 20

Key: 
PDB – Persistent Disruptive Behaviour 
VA – Verbal Assault  
PA – Physical Assault  
PP- Physical Assault against pupil 
PAC – Physical Assault on child  
H & S – Health and Safety  

241



42 

PA A&C – Physical Assault on Adult and Child 
WR – Carrying knife 
MT Inappropriate use of social media or online technology 
DA – Drug and Alcohol 
SM – Sexual misconduct 

SUSPENSIONS (FTES) 

8.3 Suspensions were previously known as 'fixed term exclusions'. The most recent 

suspension data from the school census is shown in Table 8c for 2020/21. As 

expected, due to school closures, suspensions are substantially lower than in 

pre-covid years. Previously suspensions had been increasing in number, 

largely driven by increases in suspensions in secondary schools and to a lesser 

extent in primary schools. In 2019/20, decreases were seen across all school 

types.  

Table 8c Suspensions (from school census) 

Suspensions 20/21 
Primary Secondary  

Total number of Fixed Term Exclusions  94 594 

Number of Pupils who received FTE's  55 360 

Total Number of days of FTE's  146 1142

Total Fixed Term Exclusions 688 

Total number of Pupils who received a FTE  415 

Total number days of FTE  1288 

8.4 The suspension rate in RBWM was 3 (298 suspensions per 10,000 pupils 

compared to 4.3 nationally.  

242



43 

SECTION 9 - PUPIL DESTINATIONS 

KEY STAGE 4 AND KEY STAGE 5 PUPIL DESTINATIONS 2020/21 

The pupil destinations for 2020/21 are taken from the Department of 
Education Statistical First Release.  

DESTINATIONS IN THE YEAR AFTER KEY STAGE 4 

9.1 Education and employment  
The proportion of RBWM students (95%) that went on to, or remained in, 
education or employment was similar to national (94%) and South East (94%)

9.2 Types of institutions 
The proportion of RBWM pupils in school sixth forms (56%) continues to be 
well above national and South East (38% and 39%).

9.3 Disadvantaged Pupils   
The proportion of disadvantaged students at KS4 in sustained education or 
employment in RBWM was 92%, above South East and national (both 88%).  

Table 9a - Destinations in the year after Key Stage 4 

No. of 
students 

Overall 
Education 

or 
Employ’t 
/Training 

Destinat’n

% in FE 
College 

% in 
School 
6th form 

% in  6th

form 
College 

Destinat’n 
not 

sustained 

Activity 
not 

captured 
in data 

England  562393 94% 36% 38% 13% 3% 1% 

SE 88911 94% 32% 39% 18% 4% 1% 

RBWM 1590 95% 28% 56% 7% 3% 2% 

England  disadv 146424 88% 45% 25% 11%  10% 2% 

SE disadv 17485 88% 44% 24% 12% 10% 2% 

RBWM disadv 230 92% 43% 35% 5% 6% 2% 

England non-
disadv 146424 96% 33% 43% 14% 2% 2% 

SE non-disadv 71425 96% 29% 43% 19% 3% 1% 
RBWM non-
disadv 1360 96% 26% 59% 7% 3% 2% 

  Source DfE SFR 

243



44 

 Table 9b - Destinations in the year after Key Stage 4 – School level data 

No. of 
stude

nts 

Overall 
Educatio

n or 
Employ’t 
/Training 
Destinat’

n 

% in 
Education 

% in 
apprenti
ceships 

% in  
employ
ment 

Destinat’n 
not 

sustained 

Activity 
not 

captured 
in data 

Altwood   98 89% 88% 0% 1% 5% 6% 

Charters 241 96% 94% 1% x 4% x 

Churchmead  39 92% 90% 0% 3% 5% 3% 

Cox Green  162 95% 91% 2% 1% 2% 2% 

Desborough  145 95% 92% 1% 3% 3% 2% 

Furze Platt  188 96% 91% 2% 3% 2% 2% 

Holyport College 89 96% 93% 0% 2% 2% 2% 

Newlands 187 99% 98% 1% 1% 1% 1% 

The Windsor Boys 224 94% 90% 2% 2% 5% x 

Windsor Girls 185 96% 92% 1% 3% 3% 1% 

 Source DfE Performance Tables 

DESTINATIONS IN THE YEAR AFTER TAKING A LEVEL/ LEVEL 3 

QUALIFICATIONS 

9.4 Education and employment  
The proportion of students from RBWM (school sixth forms) recorded in 
sustained education and/or employment in the year after A levels is 89% three 
percentage points above South East and national.  Nationally and locally the 
sustained destination rate declined in 2020/21 with lower numbers going in to 
apprenticeships and employment likely due to the disruption caused by the 
coronavirus pandemic.  The increase in the proportion of students progressing 
to further education is mainly due to a change in the underlying cohort. 

9.5 Selective institutions 
RBWM has a far higher proportion of pupils in school sixth forms than 
nationally. National data shows that students at colleges are much less likely to 
go to selective institutions. The combined figure for schools and colleges 
shows RBWM has higher percentages than national going to selective 
institutions.  

9.6 Disadvantaged Pupils
The proportion of KS5 students in RBWM schools and colleges who were 
disadvantaged and were in sustained education or employment/training is 68% 
just below the national figure.  The RBWM disadvantaged cohort at Key Stage 
5 is very small, so each student contributes around 1/2% to the figures.  

244



45 

 Table 9c - Destinations in the year after Key Stage 5  

Number 
of 

students 

Overall Education or 
Employment 

/Training Destination 

% UK 
HEducation 
Institution 

Activity not 
Captured in 

Data 

England schools  320302 86% 57% 4% 

South East schools 39651 86% 54% 5% 

RBWM schools 853 89% 66% 4% 

England colleges 320302 74% 21% 6% 

South East colleges 49579 75% 18% 7% 

RBWM colleges 725 75% 11% 8% 
England schools & 
colleges 542787 79% 36% 5% 
South East schools 
& colleges 89230 80% 34% 6% 
RBWM schools & 
colleges  1578 82% 40% 6% 
England schools & 
colleges disad 134254 70% 26% 5% 
South East schools 
& colleges disad 16135 69% 19% 6% 
RBWM schools 
disad 195 68% 21% 6% 
England schools & 
colleges non disadv 408533 82% 39% 5% 
South East schools 
& coll non disadv 73095 82% 37% 6% 
RBWM schools & 
coll  non disadv 1380 84% 43% 6% 

Source DfE SFR

 Table 9d - Destinations in the year after Key Stage 5 – School level data  

School Name

Number 
of  

students 

Overall 
Education or 
Employment 

/Training 
Destination 

% UK 
Education 
Institution 

% in 
employment 

Altwood  73 95% 64% 19% 

Charters 181 94% 76% 13%

Cox Green  62 95% 66% 15% 

Desborough 31 100% 77% 16%

Furze Platt 137 91% 66% 23%

Holyport College 62 92% 71% 16% 

Newlands 85 95% 84% 8%

Windsor Boys 113 91% 70% 16% 

Windsor Girls 88 91% 65% 23%

Windsor Forest College 697 78% 24% 57% 

245



46 

BACKGROUND AND TECHNICAL NOTES 

All data from DfE Statistical Release on Destination Measures, published 
October 2022. 

The Key Stage 4 Measure is based on activity at academic age 16 (i.e., the 
year after the young person took their GCSEs) 

The Key Stage 5 Measure is based on activity in the year after the young 
person took their A Level or other qualifications. 

The data relates to young people completing KS4 or KS5 in 2019/20 and 
identifies their destinations in 2020/21. There is therefore a time-lag before 
DfE publish this data. To be included in the measure, young people have to 
show sustained participation in an education or employment destination in all 
of the first two terms of the year after they completed KS4 or took A level or 
other qualifications. The first two terms are defined as October to March.  

Numbers relate to mainstream and special state-funded schools for KS4 and 
mainstream schools and colleges for KS5. 
In all tables, DfE have applied the following: 
 “x” means the data has been suppressed as the school or college has 

fewer than 6 students in the cohort, or small numbers, 1’s and 2’s in the 
reporting lines.  Results are not shown because of the risk of an 
individual student being identified. 

 All totals have been rounded to the nearest 10.  
 Zeros are shown as zeros.  
 All remaining breakdowns have been rounded to the nearest 5. This 

includes cohort numbers. 
 Suppression of small numbers is reflected in the associated 

percentages. 

246



47 

SECTION 10 – YOUNG PEOPLE NOT IN EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT OR 
TRAINING (NEET) 

NEET DATA  

10.1 NEET data is held on DfE’s NCCIS (National Client Caseload Information 

System). 

10.2 Data relates to young people aged 16-17.  

10.3 The headline measure combines the LA’s NEET rate with their ‘not known’ rate. 

DfE believe this gives an accurate and well-rounded impression of how well 

LAs are fulfilling their duty to track young people and encourage them to 

participate. In addition some LAs statistics were significantly underestimating 

the number of young people in their area who were NEET because of the high 

number of ‘not knowns’ in their data (NCCIS website).  

10.4 Table 10a shows the numbers of RBWM 16–17-year-olds identified as NEET 

(not in Education, Employment and Training), EET (in Education, Employment 

and Training) and the number for which the information is unknown from 

September 2016. 

Table 10a Number of 16–17-year-olds NEET and EET in RBWM 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

1
6

 D
ec

 2
0

1
6

 M
ar

 2
0

1
7

 J
u

n
e 

2
0

1
7

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

1
7

 D
ec

 2
0

1
7

 M
ar

 2
0

1
8

 J
u

n
e 

2
0

1
8

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

1
8

 D
ec

 2
0

1
8

 M
ar

 2
0

1
9

 J
u

n
 2

0
1

9

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

1
9

 D
ec

 2
0

1
9

 M
ar

 2
0

2
0

 J
u

n
 2

0
2

0

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

2
0

 D
ec

 2
0

2
0

 M
ar

 2
0

2
1

 J
u

n
 2

0
2

1

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

2
1

 D
ec

 2
0

2
1

 M
ar

 2
0

2
2

 J
u

n
 2

0
2

2

NEET (unadj)

Unknown

EET

247



48 

10.5 The key findings were as follows: 
 The average number of 16–17-year-olds identified as NEET in RBWM 

was 20 over the 3 months to August 2022.  

 The average % NEET for August 2022 was 0.6%. This is the percentage 
of young people known to be NEET and indicates the minimum proportion 
of young people that are NEET. This is the less than the England average 
for the same period of 3.0%.  

 The percentage unknown was 9.1% for August 2022 up from 3.7% in 
August 2021. This is higher than the England average of 7.0% for the 
same period and places Windsor and Maidenhead in the bottom quintile. 

 There was a very high Not Known in year 2022 compared to year 2021. 
This is due to the data gaps in collecting the admissions data from 
Windsor & Maidenhead schools/colleges. It had a very big impact on 
Windsor & Maidenhead's performance. No local tracking work took place 
within the borough, which kept the Not Known constantly high.  

 In September 2022 there is an improvement. With the help of the 
Windsor's Business Support Team in the borough the schools’ data has 
been collected.  

248



Appendix A  

Progress 8 
How Progress 8 and Attainment 8 
measures are calculated 

249



Appendix A  

Summary of Progress 8 and Attainment 8 

Progress 8 was introduced in 2016 (and 2015 for schools that chose to opt in early). It 

aims to capture the progress a pupil makes from the end of primary school to the end of 

secondary school. It is a type of value added measure, which means that pupils’ results 

are compared to the actual achievements of other pupils with similar prior attainment. 

The new performance measures are designed to encourage schools to offer a broad and 

balanced curriculum with a focus on an academic core at key stage 4, and reward 

schools for the teaching of all their pupils, measuring performance across 8 

qualifications. Every increase in every grade a pupil achieves will attract additional points 

in the performance tables. 

Attainment 8 measures the achievement of a pupil across 8 qualifications including 

mathematics (double weighted) and English (double weighted), 3 further qualifications 

that count in the English Baccalaureate (EBacc) measure and 3 further qualifications that 

can be GCSE qualifications (including EBacc subjects) or any other non-GCSE 

qualifications on the DfE approved list. Each individual grade a pupil achieves is 

assigned a point score, which is then used to calculate a pupil’s Attainment 8 score (see 

second step below). 

How we calculate Progress 8 

Progress 8 compares pupils’ key stage 4 results to those of other pupils nationally with 

similar prior attainment. 

Our first step is to put all pupils nationally into prior attainment groups based on their 

key stage 2 results, so that we have groups of pupils who have similar starting points to 

each other.

We do this by working out a pupils’ average performance at key stage 2 across English 

and mathematics. Pupils’ actual test results in English and maths are converted into 

points and an average of the points is taken to create an overall point score. Pupils are 

then allocated into prior attainment groups with other pupils who have the same key 

stage 2 point scores as them. 

Our second step is to work out a pupil’s Attainment 8 score. The points allocated 

according to grades the pupil achieves for all 8 subjects are added together to give the 

Attainment 8 score. English and maths point scores are double weighted to signify their 

importance. The points that pupils are allocated for each grade are in the table below:

250



Appendix A  

GCSE grade 2016 Points 2017 and 
2018 Points 

G 1.00 1.00 
F 2.00 1.50 
E 3.00 2.00 
D 4.00 3.00 
C 5.00 4.00 
B 6.00 5.50 
A 7.00 7.00 
A* 8.00 8.50 

In 2017, new GCSE qualifications in English and mathematics, graded 1-9, will be included 

in performance tables, with others to follow in 2018 and 2019. Points will be allocated to the 

new GCSEs on a 1-9 point scale corresponding to the new 1 to 9 grades, e.g. a grade 9 will 

get 9 points in the performance measures. 

To minimise change, unreformed GCSEs and all other qualifications will be mapped onto the 

1-9 scale from 2017 (with 8.5 being the maximum points available for unreformed GCSEs). 

Our third step is to calculate individual pupil’s progress 8 score. Progress 8 is calculated 

for individual pupils solely in order to calculate a school’s Progress 8 score. There is no 

need for schools to share individual Progress 8 scores with their pupils. Schools should 

continue to focus on which qualifications are most suitable for individual pupils, as the 

grades pupils achieve will help them reach their goals for the next stage of their 

education or training. 

The calculation is as follows: 

 We take the individual pupil’s Attainment 8 score (for example 56). 

 We compare this to the national average Attainment 8 score for pupils in the 

same prior attainment group. 

 A pupil’s progress score is the difference between their actual Attainment 8 result 

and the average result of those in their prior attainment group. 

 If David, for example, achieved an Attainment 8 score of 56 and the average 

Attainment 8 score for his prior attainment group was 55 - his progress 

score would be +1. 

 We divide +1 by 10 to give an individual pupil’s Progress 8 score, which is in this 

example is 0.1. 

Our final step is to create a school level progress score. We do this by adding together 

the Progress 8 scores of all the pupils in year 11 and dividing by the number of pupils in 

the school. 

251



Appendix A  

Interpreting a school’s Progress 8 score 

Progress 8 scores will be centred around 0, with most schools within the range of -1 to 

+1. 

 A score of 0 means pupils in this school on average do about as well at KS4 as 

those with similar prior attainment nationally. 

 A positive score means pupils in this school on average do better at KS4 as 

those with similar prior attainment nationally. 

 A negative score means pupils in this school on average do worse at KS4 as 

those with similar prior attainment nationally. 

A negative score does not mean that pupils did not make any progress; rather it means 

they made less progress than other pupils nationally with similar starting points. 

For example, if a school has a Progress 8 score of -0.25 this would mean that, on 

average, pupils in this school achieved a quarter of a grade less than other pupils 

nationally with similar starting points. 

Confidence intervals 

Progress 8 results are calculated for a school based on a specific cohort of pupils. A 

school may have been just as effective but have performed differently with a different set 

of pupils. To account for this natural uncertainty 95% confidence intervals around 

Progress 8 scores are provided as a proxy for the range of scores within which each 

school’s underlying performance measure can be confidently said to lie. 

In addition, the greater the number of students, the smaller the range of the confidence 

interval. For smaller schools the confidence interval tends to be larger, since fewer 

pupils are included, and therefore the score could be impacted by performance of an 

individual pupil more than would be the case in a larger school. We publish the 95% 

confidence intervals alongside a school’s progress scores to reflect this uncertainty and 

provide context to progress scores of smaller schools. 

Confidence intervals are presented as two numbers – the lower and upper limits within 

which we are 95% confident the performance of a school may lie. If the lower confidence 

limit is greater than zero it can be interpreted as meaning that the school has achieved 

greater than average progress compared to pupils with similar starting points nationally. 

Similarly, if the upper confidence limit is below zero, then the school has made less than 

average progress. Where a confidence interval overlaps zero, this means that the 

school’s progress score is not significantly different from the national average. 

252



Appendix A  

Follow us on Twitter: 
@educationgovuk

Like us on Facebook: 
facebook.com/educationgovuk

© Crown copyright 2016 

This publication (not including logos) is licensed under the terms of the Open 

Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. Where we have identified any 

third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright 

holders concerned. 

To view this licence: 

visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3

email psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk

write to Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London, TW9 4DU 

About this publication: 

enquiries www.education.gov.uk/contactus

download www.gov.uk/government/publications

Reference: DFE-00252-2016 

253



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Service:   Education 
Inclusion Service  

Name:  Rosie Gossage  

Appendix Heading  Permanent Exclusions 2021/22 

Brief Description of Service: 

Manages permanent exclusions across the borough, supporting young people to 
continue their education following a permanent exclusion. Works with schools to 
supportive alternative options to permanent exclusions. Provides advice and support to 
families and Head Teachers around the exclusion process. Liases directly with RISE 
(RBWM alternative provision provider) to support children’s next steps following an 
exclusion and also supporting their return to mainstream education where possible.  

Data Outputs: 

Summary of overall permanent exclusion figures 2021/22:  

● The total number of pupils who were permanently excluded from school in 
2021/22 was 25 pupils.  

● There were a total number of 27 permanent exclusions issued by schools in 
2021/22. However, 2/27 of the issued exclusions were overturned at governor 
hearing/independent review stages – full breakdown included below.  

● Please note, the data throughout the report reflects the total 27 exclusions which 
were issued to ensure key stake holders can view the data in full and understand 
the exclusion process in regard to the Governing Board and Independent Review 
panel outcomes. Summary: Overall, secondary schools had a much higher 
permanent exclusion rate compared to primary schools. 23/27 young people 
were permanently excluded from a secondary or upper school provision. 4/27 
young people were permanently excluded from a primary school, one of those 
schools being out of borough.  

Ethnicity of children and young people permanently excluded in 2020/21 

Summary: 18/27 young people were from a White British ethnic group, 2/27 were from a 
White & Black Caribbean ethnic group, 2/27 from Other Asian Background, 1/27 any 
other mixed background, 1/27 Black Caribbean, 1/27 Indian, 1/27 ethnicity not obtained, 
1/27 Other Asian background.  

255



In February 2021, the DfE published the following main facts in regards to ethnicity and 
permanent exclusion figures:  

● White Gypsy and Roma pupils had the highest school permanent exclusion rates 
in the 2018 to 2019 school year 

● pupils from the Chinese and Indian ethnic groups had the lowest permanent 
exclusion rates – the rates are based on very small numbers of pupils and are 
less reliable as a result 

Permanent exclusions 2021/22 broken down into year groups 
Summary: 9 students from Year 10 were permanently excluded from school in 2021/212 
which was the highest year group that received permanent exclusions. The next highest 
was Year 9 with 6 exclusions and Year 11 third highest with 3 exclusions. Years 7 & 8 
pupils received 2 exclusions. Students from Reception, Year 2, Year 4, Year 6 and Year 
12 all received 1 exclusion.  

Two out of the three students in Year 11 were successfully placed in another 
mainstream provision following a permanent exclusion. All three of the students 
successfully completed their GCSE’s.  

Governing hearing meeting outcomes 

 

Summary: Following the Head Teacher’s decision to permanently exclude a pupil, a 
governing hearing meeting must be called within 15 school days to ensure the Head 
Teacher’s decision to permanently exclude a pupil was lawful, reasonable and 
procedurally fair, taking account of the head teacher’s legal duties. 19/20 of the 
governing hearing meetings upheld the Head Teachers decision to permanently exclude 
a pupil. 1/20 pupils were reinstated and returned to their school following the governing 
board review.   

 

Independent review panel requests and outcomes  

Summary: Following the outcome of the governor hearing meeting, the parent/carer can 
request an Independent Review Panel, whereby an independent chair is appointed to 
review the governor's decision not to reinstate the pupil. 5/27 (18.5%) parents/carers 
requested an independent review and three parents/carers requested for an SEN expert 
to be present. Two of the Independent Review Panels resulted in the exclusion being 
quashed and recommendation for reconsideration to the governing board. One 
governing board reinstated the pupil, one governing board upheld the head teacher’s 
decision of permanent exclusion.   

Reason for the permanent exclusions 2022/22 broken down by categories 

256



Summary:  

● 12 pupils (44.4%) were permanently excluded for persistent disruptive behaviour 
● 5 pupils (18.5%) were permanently excluded for physical assault against a pupil 
● 4 pupils (14.8%) were permanently excluded for sexual misconduct   
● 2 pupils (7.4%) were permanently excluded for physical assault against a staff 

member  
● 2 pupils (7.4%) were permanently excluded for drugs   
● 1 pupil (3.7%) was permanently excluded for verbal abuse/threatening behaviour 

again a pupil 
● 1 pupil (3.7%) was permanently excluded for inappropriate use of social media or 

online technology  

44.4% of the overall reason for a permanent exclusion being issued for persistent 
disruptive behaviour. The new exclusion guidance which came into effect on 1 
September 2022 focuses on the need for reintegration meetings following a suspension 
to have a meaningful and solid reintegration strategy, to support further suspensions and 
disruptive behaviour from re-occuring.  

A range of supportive measures to help support schools, families and young people to 
prevent further exclusions has been issued via the AfC/RBWM exclusions handbook 
which is available for all schools.  

Children with Special Educational Needs who were excluded from school 

Summary: 4 children (14.8%) who were permanently excluded from school had an 
Education Health Care Plan (EHCP). 17 children (63%) had Special Educational Needs 
(no EHCP). 6 children did not have any known special educational needs or an EHCP at 
the point of the permanent exclusion. Therefore, 77.8% of children who were 
permanently excluded from school had a special educational need.  
The Inclusion Service works closely with colleagues in SEN Service where a child with 
an EHCP may be at risk of permanent exclusion. The exclusion guidance clearly states 
that where a child is at risk of exclusion with an EHCP, a review should take place. 
Where appropriate a member of the Inclusion Service can attend the review meetings.  

Social Care and Early Help involvement for pupils who were permanently excluded 
in 2021/22  

Summary: 10/27 (37%) pupils who were permanently excluded from school were subject 
to a child protection or child in need plan. 4/27 (14.8%) of pupils were previously open to 
social care. 13/27 (48.1%) pupils had no current or historic social care involvement. 
16/27 (59.3%) of pupils had early help services involved with supporting the 
children/family. 11/27 (40.7%) pupils had not historically been open or received support 
from an early help service prior to the exclusion.  

Impact: 

257



● The number of permanent exclusions for 2021/22 was higher than 2020/21. One 
of the main reasons around the increase in exclusions is due to the pandemic as 
less pupils attended school during 2020/21.   

● 2017/18 – 21 permanent exclusions 
2018/19 – 31 permanent exclusions – significant increase  
2019/20 – 20 permanent exclusions – COVID19 – schools closed March 2020 
2020/21 – 20 permanent exclusions – COVID19 – not all pupils attended the 
whole academic year due to COVID19 
2021/22 – 25 permanent exclusions  
Whilst it is difficult to compare figures in 2019/20 and 2020/21 due to the 
pandemic, the trend from 2018/19 to 2021/22 shows a reduced rate of permanent 
exclusions by 6.  

● The focus around the reduction of permanent exclusions by the Inclusion Service 
and schools shows there has been impact.   

● The SEMH programme that has been running for the last 4 years has helped to 
support pupils who are at risk of permanent exclusion to remain in school.  

● In 2021/22, five young people successfully completed a managed move which 
prevented them from being permanently excluded from school.  

● The Inclusion & Access Manager works closely with RISE, RBWM schools, 
children and parents to ensure as many children as possible are able to return to 
mainstream education following a permanent exclusion. 10/27 of the young 
people who were permanently excluded from school have returned to a 
permanent mainstream/specialist education setting following a permanent 
exclusion in 2021/22.   

● Inclusion Manager delivered training alongside the Deputy Director of Education 
and Lead of Governor Services which focused on the new Exclusion Statutory 
Guidance which was launched in October 2022. All Chairs of Governors and 
Head Teachers were invited to attend the training session which was well 
attended and received.  

● An exclusion handbook was created in October 2021 to provide advice, 
guidance, early intervention strategies and prevention strategies to further 
support child and help to prevent permanent exclusions.  
 

Next Steps: 

258



● RBWM schools and Inclusion services to continue working together to support 
young people to remain in mainstream education where possible via early 
intervention support and measures.   

● SEMH service to continue to support both primary and secondary pupils who are 
at risk of further suspension/permanent exclusion.  

● Inclusion Manager to continue to support children to return to mainstream 
education following permanent exclusion from school by working closely with 
RISE alternative provision.  

● Social Workers are now invited to attend exclusion hearing meetings. The service 
will ensure social care colleagues are aware of children at risk of 
suspension/permanent exclusion. 

● As of 2022/23, the virtual school responsibilities are extended to children subject 
to a CP and CIN plan. The inclusion service will join up with the virtual school, 
ensuring any child open to social care who has received a suspension/permanent 
exclusion is receiving multi-agency support and professionals are joined up with 
the support the child is receiving.  

● Inclusion Manager to liaise with SEND, YOT, Youth Service, Family Hubs, Social 
Care and SEMH Service to ensure any child at risk of exclusion who are open to 
the services receives the right support in a timely manner.  

 

259



This page is intentionally left blank



Service:  SEMH Service Name:  Alasdair Whitelaw 

Appendix Heading  Social Emotional and Mental Health Intervention Service 

Brief Description of Service: 

SEMH intervention Project established September 2019 to reduce the risk of exclusions and 
increase capacity within the primary schools across the borough. The Project finished in March 
2022 with positive outcomes and data below. Schools Forum agreed to the creation of the 
SEMH Intervention Service (including Behaviour support and an additional 2 SEMH 
Coach/Mentors) to be funded through an invest to save model until 2025 to provide this service 
to all schools and phases as well as additional SEMH initiatives. 
 

Data Outputs: 

 

SEMH Intervention Project 

 

SEMH Service (from April 2022) 

Setting No of settings Supported Children at Risk of PEx supported 
Infants/First Schools 2 2 
Primary/Junior 10 13 
Middles 3 11 
Secondaries/Upper 2 15 
Total 17 41 

 

Combined support. 

SEMH Training – Creating a Climate for Learning  

This training is for all staff within a setting and is delivered over 2.5hrs. 873 staff members have 
been trained so far. 

SEMH Updated Training 

This is all staff training to revisit the schools that have already received the training and is 
delivered over 1.5 hrs. 110 staff in school have received the follow up training 

Bespoke Training 

Setting No of settings supported Children at risk of PEx supported 
Infants/First  6 6 
Primaries/Junior 16 19 
Middles  4 10 
Secondaries/Upper 7 18 
Total 33 53 

261



Schools can request specific training to increase capacity and target specific issues within their 
setting. These have included “Keeping Children and Ourselves Safe”, “Transitions, Lunch and 
Play” and Initial Teacher Training. 84 members of School staff have received bespoke training 

Online Boxall Profile - Launched Sept ’21 

RBWM have purchased 65 licences for all school settings across the borough. We are the first 
borough to provide this in the country. Each setting has 300 subscriptions and can assess a 
child as many times as required throughout the academic year. This is tracking the impact of 
interventions, EHCPs and transition for those children with SEMH across the borough. 

SEMH Network Meetings – Launched Sept ‘21 

The virtual network meeting for the 133 SEMH Leads across the borough is providing; 
information sharing, networking, new initiatives of support, examples of good practice and 
networking opportunities in an easily accessible way. The meetings are well attended and 
recorded to provide training opportunities and cascading information where necessary. 

SEMH Email – Launched Sept ‘21 

All RBWM Schools have been given a direct email to the Inclusion and Access officer and the 
SEMH Coordinator for support, guidance and signposting regarding children at risk of 
permanent exclusion. This is not currently being used by many Head Teachers as the referral 
process through PEAR, Early Help and direct to the SEMH Coordinator and the Inclusion and 
access Officer enable reactive and timely support for schools. 
 

Impact: 

• 3 children that have been part of the SEMH intervention Project has been excluded. 
The Coach/Mentor has supported them through their transition to Alternative Provision. 

• The SEMH Training has been well received and evaluated positively with a average 
overall feedback rating of 4.5 out of 5 

• The Online Boxall Profile has been adopted by 62 schools so far. 48 have allocated 
the Borough as a Super-User to track data and support consultations for individual 
children. 3,078 Online Boxall Profiles were completed in the academic year 2021/22 

• There have been 4 SEMH Network Meeting held attended by on average 50 SEMH 
Leads from schools across the borough. Presentations have been provided by a variety 
of services and partners that schools can access for the children with SEMH needs and 
their families. They are recorded to cascade training and for those SEMH Leads who 
are not able to attend.  

• The SEMH email has received 6 referrals resulting in 2 direct observations and 4 
consultations. No child referred to this email has been permanently excluded so far. 
There have been no emails received since 15/07/2022 

• The Behaviour Support Service has ceased a traded Service and is now part of the 
SEMH Intervention Programme and free to school at point of use. 
 

 

Next Steps: 

262



• Continued funding for the SEMH intervention Project concludes July 2025 There are 
a number of other initiatives around SEMH across the borough which include; 
tendering for an SEMH Special School, SEMH Resource Bases and the SEMH Early 
Years Hub which will commence in academic Year 2023/24 (currently offering outreach 
for 2 individual schools). 

• An evaluation of the additional support and Secondary buy back initiative will take 
place at the end of this academic year. 

• Continued promotion of the Online Boxall Profile – targeting secondary provision. 
• Continued evaluation of impact of the SEMH Network Meetings through feedback and 

participation. In addition, the opportunity for 2 Virtual meetings to act as an SEMH 
surgery to discuss individual cases between schools under the direction of the SEMH 
Coordinator with be trailed. 

• If there continue to be no referrals through the SEMH email this provision will cease by 
April ‘23 

  
 

263



This page is intentionally left blank



1. Appendix 4: Education, Health and Care Plans 

Service: Special Educational Needs 
Name: David Griffiths 

Brief Description of Service 
1.1 Carrying out statutory Education, Health & Care Assessments of children and 

young people with significant special educational needs. Arranging the SEN 
provision and placement for all CYP with Education, Health & Care Plans. 
This involves a high level of communication with schools, families and partner 
services. 

Data Outputs 

Chart showing total number of EHCPs maintained 

 

1.2 The number of EHC Plans continues to increase significantly, although 
RBWM is helping to that ensure the rate of increase remains below the 
national trend. 

Chart showing breakdown of EHCPs by primary need 

 

1019 1032 1046 1036 1057 1064 1069 1078 1079 1065 1087 1090 1108

Nov-2
1

Dec-2
1

Jan
-22

Fe
b-22

Mar-
22

Apr-2
2

May
-22

Jun-22
Jul-2

2

Aug-2
2

Se
p-22

Oct-
22

Nov-2
2

265



1.3 The highest frequency primary need by some distance is Autism, followed by 
Speech & Language Needs and Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
Difficulties. 

Chart showing breakdown of EHCPs by gender 

 

1.4 There continue to be many more EHCPs for boys than girls, this in line with 
national statistics. 

Chart showing breakdown of EHCPs by National Curriculum Year of pupil 

 

1.5 EHCP numbers increase through primary phase, remain more constant during 
secondary and reduce after age 16 as young people start to leave education. 

  

266



Table showing breakdown of EHCPs by type of placement 

Type of placement No. of 
EHCPs 

(MAIN) Mainstream school: LA maintained (including 
foundation schools) 244 
(MSPEC) Special school: LA maintained (including foundation 
schools) 204 
(M/S Academy) Mainstream school: academy 186 
(FE) Post 16: General FE and tertiary colleges/HE 124 
(ISS) Special school: Independent special schools 83 
(SPEC AC and SPEC Free) Special school: academy/free 54 
(EOTAS) Educated elsewhere 39 
Mainstream school: academy (resourced provision) 33 
(NMSS) Special school: non-maintained 30 
(M Free) Mainstream school: free school 24 
(IND) Mainstream school: independent school 18 
NEET 18 
(AP Academy) AP/PRU: Academy 9 17 
Mainstream school: LA maintained (resourced provision) 16 
(Early Years) Non-maintained early years settings in the 
private and voluntary sector 6 
(Special Post 16) (ISP) Post 16: Specialist post-16 Institutions 6 

1.6 The majority of CYP with EHCPs are placed in state-funded mainstream and 
special schools and Further Education colleges, with around 39% in 
mainstream schooling, 23% in state-funded special schools and 14% in FE 
college. Around 12% of CYP with EHCPs are educated in the independent 
sector, which tends to be higher cost. 

Chart showing number of EHCP assessment requests received, by month 

 

1.7 The LA continues to receive a high number of requests for EHC Assessments 
across the year. 

  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Nov-2
1

Dec-2
1

Jan
-22

Fe
b-22

Mar-
22

Apr-2
2

May
-22

Jun-22
Jul-2

2

Aug-2
2

Se
p-22

Oct-
22

Nov-2
2

267



Chart showing % of EHCP assessments completed within statutory timeframe 

 

1.8 The LA continues to complete the vast majority of EHC Assessments within 
the statutory 20-week timeframe, compared to the national average of 60% 
within timeframes. 

Next steps 
1.9 With the employment of a SEN Data Officer and a dedicated Annual Review 

Officer, we have developed our recording, monitoring and reporting of a range 
of SEN data. This is necessary both for improving our services and for 
meeting statutory data obligations. 

1.10 We will continue to focus on minimising the number of CYP missing education 
across all age ranges.   

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Nov-2
1

Dec-2
1

Jan
-22

Fe
b-22

Mar-
22

Apr-2
2

May
-22

Jun-22
Jul-2

2

Aug-2
2

Se
p-22

Oct-
22

Nov-2
2

268



 

Area SENCo/SEND Consultant Summary on Progress of AAP 

Service: SEND Improvement 
(APP/Workstreams/SEND steering) 

Name: Kelly Nash and Helen 
Huntley  

Brief Description of Service: 

The delivery of services to schools for C&YP with SEND: education, health and social 
care. 

The Accelerated Progress Plan was written in response to the 2017 RBWM SEND 
inspection. This has been updated and monitored for DfE revisits in 2019, March and 
October 21. The plan is implemented and governed through the SEND Steering Board 
and relevant workstreams. 

Implement developments from 5 year SEND strategy  

Data Outputs: 

The progress and impact is evidenced in three ways… 
● The APP and Risk assessment 
● The data dashboard 
● Through SEND steering group and relevant work streams related to the 5 year 

SEND strategy  
● As well as other commissioned work.  

Impact: 

Local Authority 

New SEND Strategy was created through consultation with key stakeholders, including 
parents and carers and has now been published. It will be launched at the Inclusion 
Summit 2023 

SEND steering board continues to be a multi-agency board with representation from 
parents and carers, schools, LA SEND and education services as well as social care and 
health. SEND Strategy Implementation work streams report directly to the board.  

Continued monitoring of SEND Data dashboard to inform challenge regarding the delivery 
of SEND services. Systems in place for multi-disciplinary monitoring of the dashboard. 
Updated to reflect an outcomes based approach as well as service evaluation. 

269

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1Y96IdUAOdPNN2kcZRraQ0IS9r-P0k1qUvC0sdsLJUtk/edit?usp=sharing
https://rbwm.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/local-offer/information-and-advice/policies-and-procedures/rbwm-s-special-educational-needs-or-disability-send-strategy-2022-2027


Schools: 

Highly effective support for SENCos, including: networking, training, induction training, 
clusters, forums, reviews and leadership of inclusion awards. This has resulted in: 

1. Improved delivery of Quality First teaching in schools - improved identification of a 
SEND need and of meeting this need through reasonable adjustments. 

2. Greater uptake of Inclusion Mark (24 schools) and SEND review process (17 
schools). 

3. A range of universal and targeted interventions in place following consultation with 
schools 

  

Next Steps: 

 
1. Further develop and implement 5 year strategy 
2. Further develop a outcomes based model 
3. To mitigate the risk of needs remaining unmet because of the waiting times 

 

270



Service: Education Welfare Name:  Alasdair Whitelaw 

Appendix Heading  Education Welfare Service 

Brief Description of Service: 

The Education Welfare Service (EWS) works with schools, parents/carers and their children who are 
experiencing difficulties in attending school. Core statutory work is carried out for all schools. It currently 
also operates as a Traded Service which is bought back by schools for direct casework and register 
checks. The service works in partnership with the Early Help teams, Educational Psychology, Wellbeing 
& School Support Service.  

The service is undergoing restructuring to align itself with the new Working together to improve school 
attendance guidance which is due to become statutory from September 2023. 

Data Outputs: 

Statutory duties to provide for all schools 

• Prosecution for non-school attendance in the Magistrates Court Under Section 44 = 1 (this came 
to court and was Adjourned due to pregnancy of mother until March 2023. The prosecution will be 
withdrawn January ’23 as attendance has improved significantly) 
 

• Processing Fixed Penalty Notices for children who have had unauthorised absences of 10 
sessions (5 school days) or more. 
 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

165 197 203 232 253 121 43 185 78 (to 
date) 

 
• Tracking of Children Missing from Education  

 
CME Data 2021/2022 

 Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr  May  Jun  Jul  Aug 
Actively Open on 
last day of month 12 18 21 18 21 13 16 19 17 9 7 7 
Total new 38 13 12 2 5 10 7 3 10 9 4 0 
Total closed  26 7 9 5 2 10 7 3 10 9 4 0 
Overall CME open 
to RBWM 
(cumulative 
figure) 

38 51 63 65 70 72 82 88 96 97 99 99 

 
• Monitoring of Elective Home Education  

 
EHE Data 2021/2022 

 Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr  May  Jun  Jul  Aug 
New Referrals 19 6 9 7 24 8 7 9 12 11 20 0 
Returned to 
school 6 11 9 7 8 2 1 0 24 8 10 0 
Total No of 
EHE pupils 181 176 180 180 198 204 209 218 206 207 218 218 

271

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1099677/Working_together_to_improve_school_attendance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1099677/Working_together_to_improve_school_attendance.pdf


 

 
 
Traded Services. 

• Currently the service employs 4 Education Welfare Officers (EWOs) which have the equivalence 
of 3.25 full time members of staff. 

• 48 schools currently buy back various packages/hours of support through the Education Welfare 
Service.  

Impact: 

• Prosecution will be withdrawn as a direct result of support from the Education Welfare Service 
and The SEMH intervention Service which provided 1:1 specialist support in school for Autumn 
Term 2022 and relationship building with parents. 

• The Fixed Penalty Notices are effective in deterring some parents from taking term time holidays 
(it is the Head Teacher’s individual decision to authorise absence for holidays). In certain 
circumstances the penalty notice can enable parents to support a child back to school who is 
refusing. 

• 2 members of staff actively track Children Missing Education and work effectively to identify 
causal effect and reengage and reintegrate back into education. 

• The dedicated Elective Home Education Coordinator works to identify new EHE children, discuss 
impacts and requirements with parents, monitors home educations delivery and supports both 
family and child. 

• The Traded Service aspects of the service will cease from September 2023. 
 

 

Next Steps: 

• Current Attendance Guidance becomes Statutory in September 2022. 
• EWS can no longer be a Traded Service to cover Statutory duties in all Maintained, Academies, 

Special and Independent school (88 settings) which include. 
▪ Allocated Education Welfare Officer to offer dedicated support and contact. 
▪ Education Welfare Officer to conduct an Attendance Support Meeting every full 

term (3 times a year) to  
▪ Signposting professional support to impact positively on families whose children 

have attendance issues. 
▪ All legal aspects of attendance (Fixed Penalty Notices, Parenting Contracts, 

Education Supervision Orders and Attendance Prosecutions). 
▪ Attendance training. 

• Network meetings are being held termly with guest speakers, new information and opportunities 
for strategic thinking. 

• ESW Manager is attending Independent Network meeting to establish contact and discuss 
guidance to ensure statutory duties are bet by September 2023. 

• Expression of Interest for new traded aspects to be sought form schools and if appetite exists a 
new SLA will be written, and recruitment will take place to deliver buyback service for September 
’23. 

  

272



 
Report Title: Sawyers Close - Stakeholder Masterplan 

Document 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Phil Haseler, Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Parking, Highways and Transport 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 30 March 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place 
Services 
Adrien Waite, Head of Planning 

Wards affected:   Clewer & Dedworth East, Clewer & Dedworth 
West 

 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report outlines the Borough Local Plan requirement for the preparation of 
Stakeholder Masterplan Documents (SMD) and summarises the process and outcome 
in relation to the Stakeholder Masterplan Document for Sawyers Close in Windsor. 
 
The report recommends that Cabinet approves the Sawyers Close Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document as an important material consideration for Development 
Management purposes.    
 
1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves the Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document as an important material 
consideration for Development Management purposes. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
 
Option Comments 
Approve the Sawyers Close Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document for Development 
Management purposes. 
 

The site promoter, stakeholders, 
local residents and local planning 
authority have worked 
collaboratively on the Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document.  If 

273

Agenda Item 9



Option Comments 
This is the recommended option. approved for Development 

Management purposes, the 
document will help to ensure a 
high-quality development that 
takes into account the views of 
the local community and other 
stakeholders. 
 

Not approve the Sawyers Close 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document for 
Development Management purposes. 
 
This is not the recommended Option. 
 

Deciding not to approve the 
Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document would undermine the 
Stakeholder Masterplanning 
process set out in the Borough 
Local Plan. If there is a significant 
concern about an aspect (or 
aspects) of the Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document, Officers 
could review the Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document, and a 
revised version brought back to 
Cabinet for approval.   
 

 
2.1 The adopted Borough Local Plan (BLP) places great importance on ensuring 

that development is sustainable, and that it positively contributes towards the 
qualities and character of the Borough.  The Plan’s Spatial Vision states that: 
"...development will be expected to promote sustainability and add to the 
special qualities of the Borough through high quality design, effective and 
efficient use of land and protection of valued heritage, natural and other assets." 

2.2 To assist in implementing the Spatial Vision, BLP Policy QP1 (Sustainability and 
Placemaking) introduces a requirement for the preparation of ‘stakeholder 
masterplans’ for developments that will deliver 100 or more net new dwellings, 
or more than 5,000 sq. m of employment or mixed use floorspace. The 
supporting text to Policy QP1 explains that the stakeholder masterplanning 
process formalises good practice in relation to pre-application discussions, by 
requiring developers of larger sites to engage with the Council, local community, 
and other stakeholders at an early stage in the development process. 

2.3 The developer is responsible for preparing the Stakeholder Masterplan 
Document (SMD).  In summary, the process involves: 

• Engagement with the Council, local community and other stakeholders 
on key issues, priorities, and development options; 

• Preparation of the draft SMD; 
• Consultation on the draft document; 
• Consideration of the consultation responses, with amendments to be 

made to the draft SMD as appropriate/ necessary; and  
• Preparation of the final SMD.  

 

274



2.4 The last stage in the process is for the final SMD to be presented to Cabinet, 
with a recommendation that the document be approved as an important 
material consideration for Development Management purposes. 

2.5 The remainder of this Cabinet report addresses the process of preparing the 
SMD for Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document, the content of the 
SMD, and the next steps. 

2.6 The Sawyers Close site is not a housing allocation site in the Borough Local 
Plan. It comprises four eight-storey towers, built in the 1960s, located about 
2km to the west of Windsor town centre.  It currently consists of 192 flats.  
However, as the developer of the site is proposing around 230 net new homes 
(around 421 in total), the development passes the threshold for the policy 
requirement for a Stakeholder Masterplan Document as described above.  

2.7 Abri (developer/housing association) propose to make all the homes on site 
affordable, including shared ownership. The approval of the SMD will therefore 
support the Corporate Plan priorities of creating a sustainable borough of 
opportunity and innovation, helping to create a ladder of housing opportunity 
and empowering and enabling our residents, communities, and businesses to 
maximise their potential. 

2.8 Extensive pre-application discussion and engagement has already taken place 
regarding the proposed development of the site. Abri and Savills (planning 
agent) began pre-application and initial concept discussions in May 2021. 
Stakeholder (local community, interest groups, elected Councillors and Council 
officers) and community consultation took place throughout the Summer of 
2021 with a series of events encouraging feedback on development proposals.  

2.9 In March 2022, Abri conducted a Sawyers Close Future Homes Survey which 
asked residents a series of detailed questions about the homes they live in now, 
and the kinds of places that they would like to live in in the future. Almost half of 
all households responded to the Survey, providing information on their 
accommodation preferences, including bigger balconies, more storage space 
and private gardens.  

2.10 Following on from the Future Homes Survey, Abri held a further stakeholder 
and community consultation event in April and May of 2022 which focused on 
discussions with current residents of Sawyers Close. Across two days, 90 
people attended in person sessions with the project team with 87% of 
respondents either strongly supporting or supporting the proposed new layout of 
the site. 

2.11 Another consultation event was held on 25 June 2022 at which the project team 
presented further refined proposal at a public exhibition. The event was split into 
three parts, one for Councillors, one for current residents and one for the wider 
community, with 144 attendees across the day. Feedback was again 
overwhelmingly positive.  

2.12 With the recommendations of Officers at RBWM, Abri then presented its 
evolving proposals to an independent Design Review Panel (DRP) of architects, 
landscapers, planners and sustainability consultants. The feedback received 
has been incorporated into the design of the proposed development on site.  

275



2.13 A draft SMD document was then prepared and submitted to the Council for 
review on 14 December 2022. Following feedback from Council Officers on the 
draft SMD, Abri began a formal four-week community consultation on 9 January 
2023, which closed on 13 February 2023. A dedicated project website 
(https://www.sawyersclose.com/news/consultation-on-draft-stakeholder-
masterplan/) was set up along with an email address and phoneline was set up 
to enable community members to engage with the project team. 

2.14 Three in person drop-in sessions relating to the SMD consultation were held on 
the Sawyers Close site on Thursday 19 January, Tuesday 24 January, and 
Tuesday 7 February.  

2.15 The Abri/Savills project team have also met with officers on several occasions 
over the course of the last 6 months, to discuss particular aspects of the project 
in more detail. 

2.16 The SMD produced provides a description of the site and a summary of the 
planning policy context; summarises the stakeholder and community 
engagement events that have been carried out, and the responses received 
during the engagement phase. It sets out a series of development objectives for 
the site; identifies the principal opportunities and constraints associated with the 
site; and outlines the development/design principles that will guide the future 
development of the site. 

2.17 Some of the main SMD objectives and principles to highlight, include: 

• An increase in the level of biodiversity within the site via the creation of 
ecological corridors to complement the existing green infrastructure at 
the site. 

• A commitment to ensuring that a minimum of 10% Biodiversity Net Gain 
is achieved. Retention and enhancement of as many existing trees on 
site as possible with new trees planted. 

• A network of pedestrian and cycle routes provided through the site, 
accessible to and by all, and the creation of a clear street hierarchy that 
prioritises pedestrians and cyclists. Futureproofing of the cycle 
infrastructure by making sure it joins with a proposed cycle lane along 
Maidenhead Road. 

• The creation of character areas in the scheme that will reflect the local 
context to support placemaking. Including the development of spaces at 
junctions of key routes within the masterplan to become nodal points, 
using key moves such as increased heights, changed landscaped 
features to create placemaking within the scheme. 

• Ensuring that existing residents living at the site will only need to move 
once during the construction process.  

• A new re-provided Community Centre with improved facilities making it 
available to the wider community. A re-established Community Garden 
and Community Orchard 

276

https://www.sawyersclose.com/news/consultation-on-draft-stakeholder-masterplan/
https://www.sawyersclose.com/news/consultation-on-draft-stakeholder-masterplan/


• A comprehensive drainage strategy including a new drainage basin and 
the creation of shallow swales and rain gardens to create additional 
areas of water retention.  

2.18 Abri/Savills received 6 responses to the online survey and 17 emails during the 
consultation. Section 7 of the SMD includes a summary of those 
representations and a response to them. 

2.19 A copy of the final SMD, as recommended for approval for Development   
Management purposes, is attached as Appendix C.  

2.20 The main changes made to the SMD, as a result of the consultation feedback, 
include: 

• Integration of water attenuation features into the scheme. 
• Primary access road to be adjusted to achieve access to Plot D 
• North-Southeast pedestrian route path adjusted 
• Basin adjusted to meet flooding requirements 
• Increased active frontages on ground floors 
• Plot E removed with homes relocated across the site 
• Plot B, C and D orientation to be amended to define new pedestrian routes 

across the site. 
 
2.21 Overall, the Stakeholder Masterplanning process has been generally well 

received by residents and other stakeholders. There are two outstanding issues 
with the SMD that have not yet been fully resolved. These are as follows: 

1. Concern over the proposed off-site provision of children and youths play 
provision.  Such facilities should be provided on-site; 

2. Despite the proposal including a cycle hub and a car club, concern over the 
lack of firm provision to encourage sustainable travel and minimise private 
car use. 
 

These matters will need to be addressed at the planning application stage. 

2.22 Moving forward, and subject to Cabinet approving the SMD for Development 
Management purposes, Abri/Savills will prepare and submit a planning 
application later in 2023. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 2: Key Implications 
 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

The SMD helps 
to deliver a high-
quality scheme 
on Sawyers 
Close 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document, 
which meets the 
requirements of 

The high-level 
design 
principles, 
developed with 
input from the 
local 
community, 
and set out in 
the SMD, are 
not taken 

The high-level 
design 
principles, as 
set out in the 
SMD, are 
generally 
taken forward, 
and positively 
influence the 
planning 

The high-level 
design 
principles, as set 
out in the SMD, 
are mostly taken 
forward, and 
positively 
influence the 
planning 
application 

The high-level 
design principles, 
as set out in the 
SMD, are taken 
forward and 
strengthened (with 
further community 
input at planning 
application stage) 
and positively 

Upon 
determination 
of the 
Reserved 
Matters 
applications/ 
completion of 
the 
development.  

277



Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

the BLP, is 
appropriate to 
context and 
respects its 
surroundings.  

forward/ are 
watered down. 

application 
proposals/ 
development 
on the ground. 
  

proposals/ 
development on 
the ground. 
 

influence the 
planning 
application 
proposals/ 
development on 
the ground. 
 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The hosting of the engagement sessions, publicity, drafting of the SMD, and 
organisation of the consultation, were all the responsibility of Abri/Savills (albeit 
with guidance and input from Council officers and their advisors). 

4.2 A Planning Performance Agreement was agreed with Abri which includes the 
financial resources needed to account for the Stakeholder Masterplanning 
process. 

4.3 Funding for this work has therefore all been contained within existing resources 
and has not required additional funding from the Council.  

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document will not form part of the 
Development Plan in the Royal Borough.  It would not have the same weight as 
a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) produced in accordance with 
Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. 

5.2 SMDs are effectively the first stage in the development process on the larger 
housing sites within the Borough (in effect an expanded pre-application 
submission, but with added public engagement intended to allow residents to 
have an input into the development of the sites). We are therefore expecting the 
developer at Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document to come 
forward with a planning application(s) which would be based upon the SMD 
following the adoption of the SMD by Cabinet. 

5.3 In light of the community engagement and consultation undertaken in relation to 
the SMD, some weight must already be attributed to the SMD, but in 
accordance with the process prescribed in the BLP, and to Abri/Savills 
confidence that the Council is supportive of the design objectives and design 
principles in the SMD, Officers are recommending that Cabinet formally 
approves the SMD as an important material consideration for Development 
Management purposes. 

5.4 This is a process that will be repeated for other housing sites within the borough 
in order to comply with policy QP1. The Land West of Windsor site had its SMD 
adopted by Cabinet in October 2021, Spencer’s Farm in July 2022, and Land 
east of Woodlands Park Avenue in January 2023. 

278

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made


6. RISK MANAGEMENT 

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 

 
Threat or risk Impact 

with no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Local 
community 
concerns and 
issues are not 
taken into 
account at the 
planning 
application 
stage. 
 
 

Major   High 
 
 

The local 
community 
will have an 
opportunity 
to comment 
on the any 
proposed 
schemes at 
planning 
application 
stage. 

Approve the 
SMD for 
development 
management 
purposes, 
ensuring that 
the 
comments 
from the 
local 
community 
are 
considered 
at the 
planning 
application 
stage. 

Minor  Low 

Other 
developers and 
promoters of 
sites with 100+ 
housing units 
resist preparing 
Stakeholder 
Masterplans. 

Moderate Medium Any site 
with 100+ 
units would 
not comply 
with policy 
QP1 of the 
BLP. 

Approve the 
SMD for 
development 
management 
purposes, 
ensuring that 
other 
developers 
will see the 
benefit of 
preparing 
and SMD. 

Minor  Low 

Design 
principles in the 
SMD are 
watered down 
in delivering the 
development 

Moderate Medium Any future 
planning 
application 
will need to 
comply with 
the relevant 
design 
policies in 
the BLP and 
the Borough 
Wide 
Design 
Guide. 

Approve the 
SMD for 
development 
management 
purposes, 
ensuring that 
the design 
principles 
agreed at 
this stage 
are carried 
forward into 
future 
planning 
applications. 

Minor  Low 

279



7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. Officers consider that the SMD for Sawyers Close Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document meets the Basic Conditions in relation to human rights 
requirements.   

The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council to ensure that when 
considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service, or 
procedure the impacts on particular groups, including those within the workforce 
and customer/public groups, have been considered. 

 
An EQIA screening form has been completed and signed by the relevant Head 
of Service. An EQIA screening form has been completed and signed by the 
relevant Head of Service. The recommendations in this report have no identified 
equality impacts. The EQIA screening form is available below in Appendix A. 

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. The SMD aligns with the policies and 
requirements of the BLP, which was subject to Sustainability Appraisal/ 
Strategic Environmental Assessment.  

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. The consultation on the draft SMD was undertaken by 
Bellway/Turley. Any sensitive information shared with Officers was handled in 
accordance with the GPDR regulations and the statement on the way the 
Planning Policy team handles personal data.  

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The process of engagement and consultation on the draft SMD for Sawyers 
Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document is described above.  Officers believe 
that the form and amount of engagement is as envisaged by the BLP (in relation 
to the preparation of SMDs) and accords with the principles set out in the 
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

Table 4: Implementation timetable 
 
Date Details 
11 April 2023  Subject to Cabinet’s approval, the SMD will become an 

important material consideration in the assessment 
and determination of planning applications on the 
Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document site.   
 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 3 appendices: 
 

• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment Screening  

280

https://rbwm.sharepoint.com/:w:/s/intranet/our-council/comms/ERjGxJSqIstDrYDSRO7PqCUBvnFdPvZK4ORksP2HYA2_Cw?rtime=pSJakHMl10g
https://rbwm.sharepoint.com/:w:/s/intranet/our-council/comms/ERjGxJSqIstDrYDSRO7PqCUBvnFdPvZK4ORksP2HYA2_Cw?rtime=pSJakHMl10g


• Appendix B – Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document 
(Version for Approval for Development Management Purposes) 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by 2 background documents: 
 
• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) -  

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework 
• Adopted Borough Local Plan 

https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5883688 
 

12. CONSULTATION  

 
Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
16/02/23  

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

16/02/23 20/02/23 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
16/02/23 20/02/23 

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

16/02/23  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer 16/02/23  

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 
or agree an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 16/02/23 01/03/23 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 16/02/23 20/02/23 
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 16/02/23 21/02/23 
Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Adrien Waite  Head of Planning 16/02/23 28/02/23 
  
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted   

Cllr Phil Haseler Cabinet Member 
for Planning, Parking, Highways 
and Transport   

 Yes 

  

281

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5883688


REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Non-key decision.  
 

No No 

 
Report Authors: Ian Motuel, Planning Policy Manager and 
Garry Thornton, Principal Planning Policy Officer 

 
 
 
 

282



Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 

 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document 

Service area: 
 

Planning 

Directorate: 
 

Place 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

 
The Stakeholder Masterplan Document (SMD) has been prepared to guide future development on 
Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document. 
 
The Stakeholder Masterplan document aims to: 
 
• Inform the Development Management process; 
• Enable the local community and other stakeholders to engage with the planning and design 

process for the site far early than would normally be the case; 
• Improve the efficiency of the planning and development process, by providing greater certainty 

in advance of the planning application stage; and 
• Ensure that the new development framework delivers the sustainability and place-making 

aspirations of the BLP, thereby creating a high-quality environment. 
 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  
• If no, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming action 

plan) 
Yes, the SMD will directly impact people and the local community in Windsor. The principal 
purpose of the SMD is to inform the early stages of development of a large housing development. 
If approved by Cabinet, the document would become a material consideration when determining 
planning applications on the site. 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

283

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 

Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
Predominantly, it will be residents of Windsor. 
 
Council Planning Officers will also be affected as they would have to take the Document into 
account during their decision-making process in relation to any planning applications received in 
relation to the site.  
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, disability, race, 
religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, marriage/civil 
partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
The adopted Borough Local Plan was subject to an Equality Impact Assessment in 2017, which did 
not identify any negative impacts for any group with protected characteristics. 
 
The Stakeholder Masterplan Document for Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document 
develops the policies and requirements set out in the Borough Local Plan. It does not create new 
policy. Borough Local Plan Policy ‘HO2 Housing Mix and Type’ recognises that new homes should 
support the changing needs of individuals and families at different stages of life, and the 
expectation is that a proportion of new housing should meet the higher accessibility standards of 
Requirement M4(2) (Building Regulations). The Stakeholder Masterplan Document recognises the 
need for different housing types and tenures to meet a range of local needs, particularly in 
relation to the design of new dwellings to be adaptable providing flexible, accessible and age 
friendly homes. In addition, provision of high-quality walking, cycling provision, and safe crossing 
points will provide links to existing neighbourhoods and facilities in Windsor that could benefit 
those with physical disabilities in particular. 
 
Future planning applications will need to comply with Borough Local Plan policy. There is nothing 
in the Stakeholder Masterplan Document which is considered to disproportionately impact on any 
particular individual or group. 
What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  

• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
Yes, engagement has taken place throughout the various previous stages of the production of the 
SMD, mainly by the developer Abri/Savills. Several consultation and engagement events have 
been held with stakeholders in the local area, including a dedicated website, leaflet distribution 
and working group events. After the draft SMD was submitted to the Royal Borough a formal 
process of consultation was undertaken by Abri/Savills and the results of this have been 
incorporated into the final version of the SMD. 
What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible sources 
of information are in the Guidance document. 
 
The Council’s Windsor profile and the Council’s Equalities Evidence Grid. 
The Sawyers Close SMD (submission version). 

 

284



4. Equality Analysis 

Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences of individuals, in 
relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 
Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state ‘Not Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative impact 

Age 
 

The SMD develops the policies and 
requirements set out in the Borough Local 
Plan. It does not create new policy. 
 
Borough Local Plan Policy ‘HO2 Housing Mix 
and Type’ recognises that new homes should 
support the changing needs of individuals and 
families at different stages of life, and the 
expectation is that a proportion 
of new housing should meet the higher 
accessibility standards of Requirement M4(2) 
(Building Regulations). The Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document recognises the need 
for different housing types and tenures to 
meet a range of local needs, particularly in 
relation to the design of new dwellings to be 
adaptable providing flexible, accessible and 
age friendly homes. Future planning 
applications will need to comply with 
Borough Local Plan policy. 
 
There is nothing in the Stakeholder 
Masterplan Document which is considered to 
disproportionately impact on any particular 
individual or group. 

Not applicable.  

Disability 
 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person with a disability. 

Not applicable.  

Sex 
 

There is no policy within the SMDwhich is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis of 
their sex.  

Not applicable.  

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis of 
their race, ethnicity or religion. 

Not applicable.  

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis of 
their sexual orientation or gender. 

Not applicable.  

285



Pregnancy and maternity There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person who is pregnant 
or a mother.  

Not applicable.  

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

There is no policy within SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis of 
their marital status. 

Not applicable.  

Armed forces community There is no policy within SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person who is in the 
armed forces community. 

Not applicable.  

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis of 
their socio-economic situation.  

Not applicable.  

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

There is no policy within the SMD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person who is in care 
or a care leaver.  

Not applicable.  

 

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  

If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not applicable, leave them 
blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics are able to 
benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
The SMD is subject to public consultation. The consultation ensures that the groups less likely to 
particate in developing the normal planning process had more opportunity to express their views.  
Where persons with protected characteristics are adversely affected, this would increase the 
likelihood of the consultation not picking up all issues within the local area. However, several 
engagement events were held on various platforms, so it is considered that this potential problem 
has been mitigated.  
Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in place to 
mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the target 
date for implementation. 

Where persons with protected characteristics are adversely affected, this would increase the 
likelihood of the consultation not picking up all issues within the local area. However, several 
engagement events were held on various platforms, so it is considered that this potential problem 
has been mitigated. 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
If the SMD is approved, residents will have further opportunity to comment on future proposals as 
part of the normal planning application determination process.  

 

286



6. Sign Off 

 

Completed by: Garry Thornton 
 

Date:  

Approved by: Adrien Waite 
 

Date: 01/03/2023 

 

 
 
 
 

287



 
Appendix C – Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document (Version for Approval for Development 
Management Purposes) – attached as PDF 

288



SAWYERS CLOSE
STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

FOR ADOPTION

24 FEBRUARY 2023

289



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

CONTENTS

3 INTRODUCTION

4 Purpose of this Document

5 CONTEXT

6 Site Description & Location

7 Existing Site

8 Planning Policy Context

9 STAKEHOLDER & COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

10 Approach to Community Engagement

11 Responding to Wider Community Interest and 

feedback

12 Project Timeline of Engagement

13 Pre-App 01 - Initial Concept

14	 Pre-App	02	-	Refined	Masterplan
15 Future Homes Survey

16	 April	/	May	2022	on	site	Consultation	Event
17	 Pre-App	03	-	Masterplan
18 June 25th 2022 Consultation Event

19 Pre-App 04 - Architectural Design

20 Design Review Panel (DRP) 

21	 Masterplan	History	Overview

22 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES

23	 Defining	the	Objectives
26	 Access	And	Movement	Objectives
27 Ecology & Drainage

29	 Placemaking	&	Built	Form	Objectives
31	 Social	Objectives

35 CONSTRAINTS & OPPORTUNITIES

36 Site Constraints

37	 Site	Opportunities

38 STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN PRINCIPLES

39 Ecology & Drainage Strategies

40	 Access	And	Movement	Strategies
42	 Placemaking	&	Massing	Strategies
43 Placemaking & Built Form Strategies

45 Social Strategies

46	 Sawyers	Close	Masterplan	-	January	2023	Design

47 DESIGN UPDATED - PROPOSED MASTERPLAN FOR APPROVAL

48 Consultation

49 Design Updates

55	 Sawyers	Close	Masterplan	-	February	2023	Design
58 The Flourish Wheel

2
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

290



01
INTRODUCTION

291



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

PURPOSE OF THIS DOCUMENT
INTRODUCTION

This	Stakeholder	Masterplan	Document	(SMD)	provides	information	
on the Sawyers Close redevelopment proposals and provides a 

masterplan that development at the site should generally accord 

with. The completed community and public engagement, along 

with the site’s constraints, opportunities and design principles have 

informed the objectives for the masterplan and redevelopment of 

the site.

This	Stakeholder	Masterplan	Document	has	been	prepared	to	
present	the	final	masterplan	for	the	redevelopment	of	the	site.	It	will	
become an adopted document which the future redevelopment 

of the site shall seek to broadly accord with. The masterplan for 

the site has been informed by the development objectives, the 

site's	specific	constraints	and	opportunities,	feedback	received	
through the comprehensive stakeholder engagement that Abri 

has undertaken with its customers and the wider community, plus 

feedback	following	engagement	with	officers	and	associates	of	the	
Royal	Borough	of	Windsor	and	Maidenhead	(RBWM).	

It is important to note that it may be necessary for design changes 

to be made to the scheme and the masterplan ahead of and 

during the planning application process. Abri remain committed to 

delivering the redevelopment of Sawyers Close to align broadly with 

the	masterplan	presented	in	the	SMD	which	will	form	the	basis	of	its	
planning	application	that	will	be	submitted	to	RBWM.

4
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

292



02
CONTEXT

293



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

SITE DESCRIPTION & LOCATION
CONTEXT

Site 

Motorway	(M4)

A Road

B Road 

Train line

Train station

Cycle routes

Bus route

Local Central

Recreation ground

Public	Open	Green	Space

Green	space

Allotments

Hospital

Education 

Tourist attraction

KEY

Sawyers Close (the site) is located within Windsor and the Royal 

Borough	of	Windsor	and	Maidenhead.	The	site	is	bound	to	the	north	
by	Maidenhead	Road	(A308)	and	to	the	south	by	Thames	Mead	
Road. The eastern boundary is bordered by open space, and the 

western boundary is formed by Smiths Lane. The area surrounding 

the site is predominately residential.

Sawyers Close is approximately 2km west of Windsor town centre 

which is served by two train stations. The site is immediately 

adjacent to bus stops on Smiths Lane which provide services to 

Windsor town centre, Slough town centre and Heathrow Airport T5. 

The	site	also	has	good	access	to	the	M4	(via	the	A332).

6
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

294



Aston	Mead

Whiteley

Thames	Mead

A308	Maidenhead	Road

Harcourt Road

S
m

it
h

s 
La

n
e

B
u

rn
e

tt
s 

R
o

a
d

Dedworth	Manor	
Park

Dedworth 
Manor

New Windsor 
Community 

Centre

Grasmere Broadleys

Hale

Winwood

SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

EXISTING SITE

1

View from Smiths Lane

View from East Site Entrance View from East Site Entrance

View from East Site EntranceView from Dedworth Manor Open Space

View from Smiths Lane

3

5

2

4

6

1

2

3

5

64

Sawyers	Close	consists	of	four	blocks;	Grasmere,	Winwood,	
Broadleys and Hale. Each block is an eight-storey tower, built 

around	1962-66	and	containing	48	flats.	There	is	a	total	of	192	
residential	flats,	an	office,	community	rooms	and	83	garages.

At present, the public views of Sawyers Close are dominated by car 

parking, the layout of the garages gives rise to anti-social behaviour 

and	homes	are	disconnected	from	the	street.	Each	existing	flat	has	
only a small external private amenity area and there is currently a 

lack of safe and secure communal amenity for residents.

CONTEXT

7
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

295



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT

- How Abri will consider consultation responses

Abri	consulted	on	a	draft	Stakeholder	Masterplan	Document	for	28	
days in January – February 2023. Following this consultation, Abri has 

reviewed	 the	 consultation	 feedback	 in	 order	 to	 prepare	 this	 final	
stakeholder masterplan document. This document sets out in later 

sections how the consultation feedback has informed changes to the 

masterplan	layout	and	influenced	this	final	stakeholder	masterplan.	

This	final	stakeholder	masterplan	 is	 to	be	submitted	to	RBWM.	 It	will	
be	 presented	 to	 RBWM	 cabinet	 for	 approval.	 Should	 the	 cabinet	
approve this stakeholder masterplan, it will become an Approved 

Stakeholder	Masterplan	as	required	by	Policy	QP1.	

Abri’s proposal to re-develop the Sawyers Close site will broadly 

accord	with	the	Adopted	Stakeholder	Masterplan.

The	Royal	Borough	of	Windsor	and	Maidenhead	 (RBWM)	adopted	
the Borough Local Plan in February 2022. The Borough Local Plan 

is to guide future development in the Borough. It sets out a spatial 

strategy and policies for managing development and infrastructure 

in the area up to 2033.

The	full	planning	application	will	be	submitted	to	RBWM.	RBWM	is	the	
local planning authority and will determine the planning application. 

Policy	QP1:	Sustainability	and	Placemaking	requires	that	sites	bringing	
forward developments of 100+ net new dwellings will be expected to 

be in conformity with the adopted stakeholder masterplan for the 

site.

The stakeholder masterplanning process formalises good practice 

in	relation	to	pre-application	discussions,	by	requiring	developers	of	
larger sites to engage with the Council, local community and other 

stakeholders at an early stage in the development process.

As part of the planning process, the applicant is responsible for 

preparing the stakeholder masterplan document. The Council will 

work with applicant to agree the scope and form of the stakeholder 

masterplan document and help to ensure that the process adds 

value to placemaking.

The	Borough	Local	Plan	identifies	the	main	stages	of	the	stakeholder	
masterplanning process. This stakeholder masterplan document 

provides details of the different stages that Abri has completed and 

provides	details	of	how	Abri	will	meet	the	requirements	of	the	Borough	
Local	Plan:

- How Abri has engaged with the Council and other stakeholders on 

key issues, priorities for Abri's customers and development options

- How Abri has prepared this stakeholder masterplan document

- The way Abri will consult on the stakeholder masterplan document

8
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

296



03
STAKEHOLDER & COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

297



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

APPROACH TO COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	ENGAGEMENT

Abri’s priority is to provide their customers at Sawyers Close with 

access	to	safe,	affordable,	quality	homes;	placing	the	customer	at	
the heart of their consultation on the future of the estate has been 

key to their engagement strategy.

Abri want their customers to own the outcome of this redevelopment, 

take pride in their new homes, feel that they have contributed to what 

will be delivered and, ultimately, to rebuild a resilient and sustainable 

community. During the engagement process, Abri have adopted 

a fully transparent and multi-stage consultation programme that 

started	with	the	fundamental	question	‘Do	you	want	to	see	Sawyers	
Close redeveloped?’ and has since engaged with its customers on 

a range of topics, including the detailed design of their future homes 

and the type of community facilities they would like to see provided.

Each stage of consultation has been informed by feedback from 

the previous stage. Abri have taken care to explain how customers’ 

comments have been incorporated into the emerging designs.

We	have:

• Launched a project website

• Conducted a Future Homes Survey amongst our customers

• Run a series of Customer Information Sessions

• Hosted a public exhibition for customers, stakeholders and   

 the wider community

We updated our website in January 2023 to present the updated 

designs and to consult with the community on the Stakeholder 

Masterplan	for	Sawyers	Close.	We	also	held	drop-in	sessions	for	those	
who	have	difficulty	in	accessing	the	documents	online.	This	formed	
part	of	our	final	pre-application	engagement	with	customers	and	the	
community prior to the submission of a planning application later in 

2023.

10
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

298



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

RESPONDING TO WIDER COMMUNITY INTEREST AND FEEDBACK
STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	ENGAGEMENT

Responding to wider community interest

Responding to feedback

Abri recognise that the delivery of new homes at Sawyers Close could 

affect the wider community. As such, Abri has sought to regularly 

engage	with	both	the	leadership	and	Ward	Councillors	at	RBWM.	This	
engagement has included one-to-one meetings as well as invitations 

to attend all of the consultation and engagement meetings.

Abri invited those living in the vicinity of Sawyers Close and beyond to 

a public exhibition held in June 2022. The engagement was phased 

in this way so that Abri could initially work closely with customers on 

the design of their homes, the community spaces and facilities within 

Sawyers Close. With those discussions well-progressed, Abri was then 

in a position to meet the wider community to discuss the broader 

issues of interest. In this way, Abri have sought to ensure that everyone 

has	sufficient	access	 to	 the	project	 team	to	 raise	 their	queries	and	
provide comments and to receive a considered response.

Feedback has been crucial to developing an emerging scheme that 

carries with it the support of our customers. To encourage participation 

and reassure people that their voice would be heard, Abri made key 

commitments to its customers at the outset. While redevelopment 

was the preferred option, no decisions would be taken without prior 

consultation.

The	 initial	 consultation	 questions	 were	 very	 broad.	 For	 example,	
finding	 out	 what	 people	 liked	 and	 didn’t	 like	 about	 living	 on	 the	
estate.	 A	 final	 question	 asked	 people	 how	 they	 would	 feel	 about	
redevelopment of the entire estate to which 84% responded being 

‘very	pleased’.

Abri’s customer information sessions enabled attendees to view and 

feedback on a range of topics, from illustrative internal layouts of the 

new homes, to proposed residential amenity space and children’s 

play areas.

Customers	told	us	that	they:

• Supported the proposed layout of the development and the 

internal plans for the new homes; views were mixed on the proposed 

open plan living/kitchen spaces.

•	Wanted	to	see	sufficient	space	for	storage	inside	their	homes	and	
on the balconies.

• Were keen to see more community space.

We also gathered further information on household types and age of 

children	which	would	then	influence	the	future	housing	mix.

At our public exhibition in June, we were able to respond to all of the 

above.	We	showed:

• A higher proportion of family homes, with all the houses being 3- 

and	4-bed,	reflecting	more	detail	received	on	household	types	and	
age of children.

• Locations for the reprovision of the community garden and orchard.

• Detail on the proposed new community spaces.

• Bigger apartments, with separate kitchens and living spaces.

144 people attended on the 25th June 2022, with an even split 

between people living at Sawyers Close and neighbours/councillors. 

73% of respondents were either strongly supportive or supportive of 

the proposals. A common theme from nearby residents was that there 

should be greater compromise in terms of how the redevelopment 

would minimise impacts on Smiths Lane.

• Neighbours have expressed concern at the potential loss of parking 

spaces and access to the new estate from Smiths Lane.

• The loss of the open space to the south of Sawyers Close and 

potential massing along Smiths Lane were also cited as concerns. 

The project team has sought to address these concerns through its 

updated	design	which	has	been	refined	through	further	engagement	
with	officers	at	RBWM.	

11
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

299



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

PROJECT TIMELINE OF ENGAGEMENT

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Project 

Begins

Pre-App 02 On	site	
Consultation 

Events

Future Homes 

Survey

Consultation 

Event

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan	
Consultation

Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	ENGAGEMENT

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

12
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

300



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

PRE-APP 01 - INITIAL CONCEPT
STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	CONSULTATION

Project Summary (at this stage):

Feedback received:

Information completed following meeting:

Total Houses

3B6P 1B2P, 2B4P & 3B5P Storeys

Total Apartments Tallest Building

27 389 9
Total New Homes

416

• Maidenhead	Road	interface	should	be	improved
• Reduce car parking on streets

• Extend the central green 

• Preference for lower scale blocks

• Create more family homes

• Tree Survey

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Project 

Begins

Pre-App 02 Future Homes 

Survey

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

Notes:
• 1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 

• 2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 

• 3B5P = 3 bedrooms 5 persons home

• 3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home

Consultation 

Event

On	site	
Consultation 

Events

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan	
Consultation

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

13
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

301



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

PRE-APP 02 - REFINED MASTERPLAN
STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	CONSULTATION

Total Houses

2B4P & 3B6P 1B2P & 2B4P Storeys

Total Apartments Tallest Building

54 363 9
Total New Homes

417

Feedback received:

Information completed following meeting:

• The principle of redevelopment is supported

• The	benefits	of	the	proposal	should	be	articulated	to	justify	the	loss	of	some	open	space
• Proposed building heights of up to 9 storeys could appear overly dominant and heights 

should be reconsidered

• Under-croft	/	podium	parking	leads	to	poor	activation	of	street	scene	at	ground	floor	
level	and	more	active	frontages	are	required

• Housing	mix	and	tenure	mix	required	justification
• Cycle parking should be increased and car parking numbers to be considered further

• Landscape	proposals	require	further	development	and	input	from	a	landscape	architect
• Overall	the	emerging	scheme	considered	acceptable	subject	to	looking	at	more	detail.	

Notes:
• 1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 

• 2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 

• 3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home

• Utilities Survey

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Pre-App 02 Future Homes 

Survey

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

Project 

Begins

Project Summary (at this stage):

Consultation 

Event

On	site	
Consultation 

Events

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan	
Consultation

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

14
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

302



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

FUTURE HOMES SURVEY
STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	CONSULTATION

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Pre-App 02 Future Homes 

Survey

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

Project 

Begins

In	March	2022,	Abri’s	Future	Homes	Survey	asked	their	customers	a	
series	of	detailed	questions	about	the	homes	they	 live	 in	now,	and	
the kind of places that they would like to have in the future. Abri was 

keen to ensure that what was shown at the Customer Information 

Sessions	(the	first	in-person	event)	would	resonate	with	customers	and	
reflect	their	current	living	conditions.

We	asked	about:

•	The	home:	which	block	and	floor;	number	of	bedrooms;	number	of	
occupants; type of bathroom; comments on home.

•	The	household:	ownership	status;	mobility	needs;	vehicle	ownership;	
remote working; pets; most used facilities; opinion on current home 

matching needs.

•	 Desired	 future	 home:	 space	 requirements;	 likely	 number	 of	
occupants and age groups; future bedrooms need; open plan living 

space or separate rooms; balcony; proximity to existing neighbours.

•	Desired	future	features:	communal	facilities;	sustainability.

Almost half (47%) of all households responded to the Future Homes 

Survey. Abri received a wealth of useful information on how their 

customers live now and more about how they would like to live in the 

future.	In	terms	of	future	homes,	the	major	requests	were	for	bigger	
balconies, more storage space, separate living spaces and private 

gardens.

When asked what communal facilities people would like to see, there 

was a strong emphasis on communal space for activities and social 

events.

Consultation 

Event

On	site	
Consultation 

Events

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan	
Consultation

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

15
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

303



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

The	 late	 April	 early	 May	 stakeholder	 and	 community	 consultation	
events focused on discussions with current residents of Sawyers Close 

and	followed	on	from	the	Future	Homes	Survey	carried	out	in	March	
2022. 

The	 first	 event	 was	 held	 at	 the	 Pump	 Room	 community	 space	 at	
Sawyers	 Close,	 the	 second	 was	 held	 at	 the	 Manor	 Youth	 Centre	
nearby. Abri customers were invited to book a session to speak with 

the project team. Across the two days, 90 people attended. 

Details of the proposals were also made available on the Sawyers 

Close	website	(sawyersclose.com)	and	by	post	on	request	for	anyone	
who couldn’t attend the events. 

People providing responses were divided over whether they liked 

the proposed open plan interiors. Nine respondents expressed 

preferences for separate kitchens and living spaces, whereas seven 

liked the open plan layouts shown. 

Further	popular	requests	included	the	possibility	of	a	new	community	
space	and	that	sufficient	storage	was	provided	to	replace	the	existing	
garages.

APRIL / MAY 2022 ON SITE CONSULTATION EVENTS
STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	CONSULTATION

Responses Positive FeedbackAttendees

Feedback forms 

received

87% of respondents 

either 'strongly 

supported' or 

'supported' the new 

layout

Sawyers Close 

Residents

40

87%

90

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Pre-App 02 Future Homes 

Survey

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

On site 

Consultation 

Events

Project 

Begins

“Not keen on open kitchen 

and living space.”

“A new community room, 

where would it go?”

“Appears to have plenty of 

storage space which is an 

issue in old flats.”

“More kitchen storage. Space for 

dishwasher/tumble dryer. More than 1 lift 

in big block. Visitor parking. Children clubs/

centre.”

“Very nice internal plans.”

“Love the open plan.”

Quotes	from	the	residents'	feedback

Consultation 

Event

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan	
Consultation

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

16
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

304



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

PRE-APP 03 - MASTERPLAN
STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	CONSULTATION

Increased Building 

Frontages

To allow for 

separated kitchens 

on most blocks

Adjusted Cores

To	meet	new	fire	
regulations	&	MEP	
(Mechanical,	
Electrical and 

Plumbing)

requirements

2B4P change to 3B6P 

Houses

More	family	homes	
across the site

New 4B6P Houses

Bigger family homes

x8

Changes to the masterplan since previous proposals include:

Total Houses

2B4P & 3B6P 1B2P & 2B4P Storeys

Total Apartments Tallest Building

54 363 8
Total New Homes

417

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Pre-App 02 Future Homes 

Survey

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

Project 

Begins

Notes:
• 1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 

• 2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 

• 3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home

Project Summary (at this stage):

Consultation 

Event

On	site	
Consultation 

Events

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan	
Consultation

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

17
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

305



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

At the consultation event held on 25 June 2022, the project team 

presented	further	refined	proposals	to	both	existing	Sawyer’s	Close	
residents and also the surrounding community at a public exhibition. 

Details presented included a revised layout for the interior of 

the new homes, a revised moving plan and proposals for a new 

community space. 

The	event	on	Saturday	25	June	was	split	into	three	parts:	10:00am	to	
11:00am	for	councillors,	11:00am	to	1:00pm	for	current	residents	of	
Sawyers	Close,	and	1:00pm	to	5:00pm	for	the	wider	community.	

Feedback	received	following	the	event	included:

• Residents expressed support for the proposed community centre, 
landscape, retention of trees and play space proposal.

• Residents were divided over open plan layouts or separated 
kitchen / living rooms.

• Some neighbours to the site commented on the use of green 
space for new homes and the proposed additional entrance on 
Smiths Lane.

• Comments on car parking provision were raised by existing 
residents and neighbours to the scheme.

• Both residents and neighbours were curious about phasing and 
construction management. 

JUNE 25TH 2022 CONSULTATION EVENT
STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	CONSULTATION

Responses Positive FeedbackAttendees

Feedback forms 

received

28 from residents, 16 

from neighbours

73% of respondents 

either 'strongly 

supported' or 

'supported' the new 

layout

Sawyers Close 

Residents, 

Councillors & 

Neighbours 

44

73%

144

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Pre-App 02 Future Homes 

Survey

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

Project 

Begins

“I like the changes, support 

the new layouts.”

“A new playground would 

be a great idea.”

“In the winter when the trees drop 

their leaves we don’t want to be 

overlooked by houses. We would still 

look out onto some field space.”

“Much less wasted space, much 

prefer the new layout with separate 

kitchen and front room.”

“I think community space/

café would be great for the 

area.”

“Strongly oppose access road 

opposite properties on Smiths 

Lane.”

Quotes	from	residents/neighbours' feedback

Consultation 

Event

On	site	
Consultation 

Events

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan	
Consultation

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

18
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

306



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

Block A3 Height 

Reduction

From 7 storeys to 6 

storeys. 

Generators Moved 

to Ground

To reduce building 

bulk on roofs

Maisonettes Added

To increase visual 

control of ground 

floor	

-1

A1

A2

A3
B1

B2

C1

E1

D1 D3

D4D5D6

D7

D2C2

E2

E3

E5

F1

F2

F3E4

C3

C4

C5

Changes to the masterplan since previous proposals include:

PRE-APP 04 - ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN
STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	CONSULTATION

1B2P & 2B4P 1B2P & 2B4P

Total Maisonettes Total Apartments

22 345
Total Houses

2B4P & 3B6P

54
Total New Homes

421

Storeys

Tallest Building

8

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Pre-App 02 Future Homes 

Survey

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

Project 

Begins

Notes:
• 1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 

• 2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 

• 3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home

Project Summary (at this stage):

Consultation 

Event

On	site	
Consultation 

Events

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan	
Consultation

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

19
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

307



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

DESIGN REVIEW PANEL (DRP) 
STAKEHOLDER	&	COMMUNITY	CONSULTATION

DRP	comment:
“Given the climate crisis we are facing and 

the cost of a new-build project, it would be 

preferable to retain the existing apartment blocks 

and infill the site with new buildings to achieve 
the same number of total dwellings. The existing 

blocks provide opportunities in terms of their 

structure, massing, area, volume, and height, 

and can be refurbished to be rendered fit for 
purpose.”

Context

Overview

With the recommendation of officers at RBWM, Abri presented 
its evolving proposals at Sawyers Close to an independent 

Design Review Panel (DRP) comprised of architects, 
landscapers, planners and sustainability consultants. This is a 

summary of the feedback that the DRP panellists provided on 
the scheme presented.

DRP	comments:	
"Test alternative options to the podium car parking 

and explore how the scheme can become less 

car focused."

Design	response:
The retention and refurbishment of the existing 

buildings has been considered by Abri. Retention 

and refurbishment of the existing buildings has 

been	costed	and	it	would	be	significant.	Whilst	it	
would provide short-term improvements in internal 

accommodation, it would not extend the life of the 

buildings. The internal layouts of the current tower 

blocks	are	not	fit	for	modern	living	requirements.	
The construction of the proposed redevelopment 

scheme will re-use concrete of the dismantled 

tower blocks in the foundations of the new 

buildings, meaning that the existing towers form 

part of the life cycle of the new development. 

Design	response:
A future greening strategy is being developed. 

Podium parking spaces can be converted into 

communal cycle stores, allowing their previous 

locations to be new communal spaces. Unused 

on-street parking can be absorbed into the 

landscape.

Design	response:
The	new	masterplan	allows	Dedworth	Manor	
Park to grow into the spaces between buildings, 

creating a variety of pockets of greenery within the 

masterplan.

DRP	comment:
" Take advantage of the proximity of Dedworth 

Manor Park and create more variety and spatial 
hierarchy within the external open spaces of the 

site."

Design	response:
The main pedestrian and cycle routes through the 

site connect into existing local routes, contributing 

to wider links into the centre of Windsor and other 

local	amenities.	Multiple	new	routes	will	be	created.

Design	response:
The grid has been loosened in the new 

masterplan, and now responds to the historic 

and existing context, movement strategy and 

Dedworth	Manor.	The	north-east	to	south-west	
desire line is maintained.

Design	response:
The scheme edge conditions have evolved to 

respond to the local streetscapes along Smiths 

Lane,	Dedworth	Manor,	Dedworth	Manor	Park	
and	Maidenhead	Road.	The	buildings	also	take	
influence	from	the	urban	grain	in	the	wider	Windsor	
area.

DRP	comment:
"Study how Sawyers Close fits into the wider 
movement strategy of Windsor. Prioritise the 
creation of new sustainable travel routes to 

create an exemplar for the area."

DRP	comment:
"Loosen the rigidity of the grid, particularly in the 

south of the site. Make more of the north-east to 

south-west desire lines to encourage movement 

through the development."

DRP	comment:
"Further develop the distinct character of the edge 

conditions, responding sensitively to their wider 

context."

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Pre-App 02 Future Homes 

Survey

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

Project 

Begins

Consultation 

Event

On	site	
Consultation 

Events

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan	
Consultation

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

20
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

308



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

• There	was	a	historic	route	connecting	Dedworth	Manor	with	
Dedworth	Manor	Lodge	at	Maidenhead	Road	which	passed	
through the site. The layout has been amended to allow the 
historic route to be provided within the scheme. 

• Buildings move and rotate to align with the route.

• Groups	of	historic	trees	are	retained	and	celebrated.
• The north-east to south-west desire line is also maintained.

Historic RouteGrowing	Park Streetscape	Influence
• Dedworth	Manor	Park	extends	into	the	site	from	the	western	

edge, blurring the site boundary and creating pockets of 
greenery.

• Celebrating the proximity of the park

• The Community Centre is moved to the north east of the site, near 
the park and the existing diagonal route through the park.

• The	neighbouring	context	influences	the	character	of	buildings	on	
the western and southern edges of the site.

• The houses facing the streetscape on Smiths Lane and Thames 
Mead	are	rotated	and	reduced	in	length	to	relate	to	their	
neighbours.

• The	buildings	facing	Dedworth	Manor	are	organised	along	the	axis	
of	the	manor	house,	creating	a	landscape	square.

• The	buildings	facing	Maidenhead	Road	create	a	regular	frontage	
to both the road, and east-west route within the site, whilst 
encouraging activation along the road.

MASTERPLAN HISTORY OVERVIEW
SUMMARY	OF	MAIN	DESIGN	UPDATES

May 2021

Key Design Changes to the Masterplan (January 2023)

July 2022 January 2023

May 2021 February 2023January 2023July 2022

Project 

Begins

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

21
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

309



04
DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES

310



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

Taking into account Abri’s sustainability targets, the need to provide 

high-quality	new	homes,	create	a	thriving	sustainable	community,	
work within the existing constraints at the site and consider the views 

provided at feedback sessions, we set a number of development 

objectives to shape the masterplan at Sawyers Close. These fall into 

six	categories:

Ecology & Drainage Objectives:

• Increase the level of biodiversity within the site by creating 

ecological corridors to complement the existing green 

infrastructure at the site. 

• Retain as many existing trees as possible and plant new native 

trees. 

• Provide sustainable drainage across the site.

• Provide a 10% biodiversity net gain across the site. 

Access & Movement Objectives: 

• Ensure that new pedestrian and cycle routes through the site can 

be accessible by all.

• Create a place with a clear street hierarchy that prioritises 

pedestrians and cyclists. 

1

1

2

2
2

2

2

2

2

3

3

3 3

3

3

6

2

2

1

DEFINING THE OBJECTIVES
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

23
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

311



DEFINING THE OBJECTIVES
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

2

2
2

2

Placemaking & Built Form Objectives:

• Identify central points across the site to form focus points to 

create a new sense of place. 

• Ensure the site boundaries respond to what is adjacent to them. 

• Create	character	areas	in	the	scheme	that	reflect	the	local	

context to support placemaking.

• Prepare	a	masterplan	that	will	define	zones	for	different	building	

types and different densities of development. 

• Provide open spaces across the site.

Social Objectives 

• Ensure that existing residents living at the site will only need to 

move once during the construction process. 

• Prepare a construction phasing plan that commits to residents 

only moving once. 

• Include a new re-provided Community Centre with improved 

facilities making it available to the wider community.

• Locate	the	re-established	Community	Garden	near	to	the	new	

Community Centre to become a valuable community feature of 

the scheme. 

• Reposition	the	Community	Orchard	near	to	the	Community	

Centre	and	Community	Garden.	

1

1

2

3

3

4

4

5

5

5

1

24
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

312



DEFINING THE OBJECTIVES
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

2

Access Locations:

• Keep and re-use the existing vehicle access from Smiths Lane.

• Provide an additional vehicle access point onto Smiths Lane.

• Ensure the existing bus stop on Smiths Lane is not affected by the 

new development. 

• Include a new pedestrian access connecting to the existing 

pathway cutting diagonally through the site.

• Futureproof the cycle infrastructure by making sure it joins with a 

proposed	cycle	lane	along	Maidenhead	Road.

• Review informal walking routes people use across the site and 

provide new pedestrian and cycle routes along these local 

‘desire	lines’.

Street Hierarchy

• Design the streets to prioritise walking and cycling over driving. 

• Conceal parked cars where possible to allow for more 

landscaped areas.

• Ensure pedestrian routes are clear, safe and legible throughout 

the site.

• Where shared cyclists and pedestrians paths are provided, 

prioritise pedestrians over cyclists.

• Support pedestrian safety by including well designed surfaces 

where there are pedestrian crossings with internal roads.

• Use podium parking where possible to reduce the visibility of 

parked cars.

• Prepare a scheme and strategy that allows for  surface car 

parking spaces to be replaced with green landscaping as car 

ownership levels decline and spaces are not needed. 

1

2

3

3

4

4

4
4

44

5

5

5

5

5

1

25
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

313



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

ACCESS AND MOVEMENT OBJECTIVES
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

Access Locations

The	site	is	bounded	to	the	north	by	Maidenhead	
Road,	to	the	east	by	Dedworth	Manor	Park,	to	
the	south	by	Thames	Mead	road	and	Dedworth	
Manor	and	to	the	west	by	Smiths	Lane.

Currently there is one existing vehicle access point 

to the site. 

The following elements will inform the access 

strategy	for	the	site:

• Keep and re-use the existing vehicle access 

from Smiths Lane.

• Provide an additional vehicle access point onto 

Smiths Lane.

• Ensure the existing bus stop on Smiths Lane is not 

affected by the new development. 

• Include a new pedestrian access connecting to 

the existing pathway cutting diagonally through 

the site.

• Futureproof the cycle infrastructure by making 

sure it joins with a proposed cycle lane along 

Maidenhead	Road.
• Review informal walking routes people use 

across the site and provide new pedestrian and 

cycle	routes	along	these	local	‘desire	lines’

Street Hierarchy 

The streets hierarchy should be designed to 

promote walking and cycling above driving. 

Parked cars are concealed, allowing for more 

space to be given to the landscape.

• Ensure pedestrian routes are clear, safe and 
legible throughout the site.

• Where shared cyclists and pedestrians paths are 
provided, prioritise pedestrians over cyclists.

• Support pedestrian safety by including well 
designed surfaces where there are pedestrian 
crossings with internal roads.

• Use podium parking where possible to reduce 
the visibility of parked cars.

• Prepare a scheme and strategy that allows 
for  surface car parking spaces to be replaced 
with green landscaping as car ownership levels 
decline and spaces are not needed. 

1

3

2

4

Thames	Mead

A308	Maidenhead	Road

S
m

it
h

s 
La

n
e

Dedworth	Manor	
Park

Grasmere Broadleys

Hale

Winwood

1

2

3

4 Dedworth 
Manor

Illustrative ExamplesSite Photos

26
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

314



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

ECOLOGY & DRAINAGE
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

Ecology Corridors & Existing Vegetation

The development will improve ecology corridors 

for increased biodiversity, which double as 

recreational	areas	and	access	ways:

• Enhance and improve the existing hedgerow 
on the eastern site boundary, ensuring it is a 
dark, nocturnal corridor for the existing bats;

• Improve the existing lawns by planting more 
diverse	grasslands	and	areas	of	wild	flowers	to	
create more habitat;

• Connect	Dedworth	Manor	Park	and	the	
green space to the west of the site by a wider 
landscape corridor, utilising the easement over 
the Thames Water trunk main as an area to 
boost biodiversity;

• Improving the existing grass monoculture of the 
site by encouraging a more diverse planting mix 
in communal areas, provision of bird and bat 
boxes	as	required	and	a	commitment	to	a	10%	
biodiversity net gain across the site. 

Existing Natural Features

Enhance and embrace the arboricultural richness 

of	the	site,	due	to	the	site's	history	as	a	Manor	Park:

• Retain and maintain as many of the existing 
trees as possible, to ensure they have a good 
chance of survival;

• Develop a landscape strategy that enhances 
the historic character of the site, and plants tree 
species appropriate to the historic context and 
site location;

• Relocate and maintain the existing orchard and 
community garden planted by residents.

Site Photos Historic Photo (1978)

Thames	Mead

A308	Maidenhead	Road

S
m

it
h

s 
La

n
e

Dedworth	Manor	
Park

Grasmere Broadleys

Hale

Winwood

3

4

5

1
2

Dedworth 
Manor

1 2

3

4

5

27
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

315



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

ECOLOGY & DRAINAGE
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

Surface Water Drainage

There is the potential for parts of the site to 
experience	surface	water	flooding.	Therefore,	a	
comprehensive strategy to ensure all proposed 
buildings	are	not	affected	by	flood	water	has	
been prepared. 

The comprehensive drainage strategy prepared 
for	the	site	proposes	the	following:

• Creation of a new drainage basin in the south 
western corner of the site. This will provide new 
habitat for invertebrates and increased foraging 
resources for the bat species using the nearby 
hedgerow;

• Utilising existing site levels to create water 
attenuation areas for wet periods;

• Create shallow swales and rain gardens to 
create additional areas of water retention;

• Give	dual	purpose	to	all	areas	for	water	
retention by incorporating additional 
biodiversity and creating habitats for multiple 
species. 

Illustrative Examples

28
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

316



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM OBJECTIVES
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

Central Points

Develop spaces at junctions of key routes within 

the masterplan to become nodal points, using 

key moves such as increased heights, changed 

landscaped features to create placemaking 

within the scheme.

• Increased building height around nodal points 
to mark junctions of routes

• Changes in landscape surface to pedestrian 
routes, cycle route and roads to slow users and 
create a shared space.

• Selected landscape species that mark nodal 
points

• Wayfinding	signage	where	appropriate

Development of edges of the site

The edges of the development should connect 

and be sympathetic to the surrounding context. 

Site edges should respect their neighbours in scale 

and	massing	to	ensure	the	masterplan	fits	within	its	
context.

• The	larger	scale	Maidenhead	Road	to	the	
north	of	the	site,	and	the	massing	of	the	office	
buildings allows calls for larger massing in this 
location;

• Create	a	green	buffer	to	Maidenhead	Road	to	
create separation between the site and busy 
road;

• Lower scale neighbouring buildings along Smiths 
Lane	and	Thames	Mead	suggest	lower	scale	
housing arranged in short terraces;

• The existing park to the east of the site offers 
expansive views towards Windsor Castle. Houses 
on the opposite part of the park turn their 
back to the park. There is an opportunity for 
apartment buildings to have a better interface 
with the park.

• Existing trees on the edges of the site should 
be retained where possible, with massing 
positioned away from them;

• Pedestrian paths along the edges of the 
development create activation and natural 
surveillance;

• Retain existing hedgerows along eastern site 
edge, with option to strategically remove 
sections to allow better connection between 
the site and the park.

Illustrative Examples

29
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

317



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM OBJECTIVES
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

Character Establishment

The local character and architectural vernacular 

should be analysed and decoded to inform the 

language of the proposed developed. This will 

establish an architecture that is contemporary yet 

sits comfortably within its surrounds

• Define	a	palette	of	materials	informed	by	
prominent materials in the local context. Ensure 
all selected materials are low maintenance 
and long lasting eg. brick. Render, although 
prominent in the local area, does not age well 
and therefore shouldn't be used;

• Select materials from the material palette 
across the scheme to create varyance whilst 
contributing to placemaking;

• Back to back dwellings are designed 
appropriately with daylight / sunlight 
requirements;

• Centre of development parcels working hard 

to conceal car parking in podiums, with private 
and communal gardens above;

• Lobbies placed at building corners to create 
increased activation at junctions;

• Front doors and front windows positioned to 
create natural surveillance;

• Roof pitches informing the character of certain 
areas	of	the	masterplan.	Dedworth	Manor	
House has multiple sharp pitched roofs. Further 
afield,	the	historic	Clewer	Mill	provides	an	
industrial aesthetic, appropriate for buildings 
along	Maidenhead	Road.

Building Typology & Density

Building typology and density will be informed by 

the scale and typology of the local context, as 

well as the need of existing residents on the site. 

The Sawyers Close typology and density objects 

will	follow	these	principles:

• Working together closely with the existing 
residents to assess their housing need, to 
develop building typologies suitable to them;

• Assessing the existing context around the edges 
of the Sawyers Close estate to identify areas 
that could comfortably support larger scale 
apartment blocks and others that should have 
smaller scale houses.

Illustrative Examples

30
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

318



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

SOCIAL OBJECTIVES
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

Community Centre

By providing access to a range of facilities and 

spaces within development, we will help to 

create a thriving and sustainable communitiy. The 

current Sawyers Close estate contains an existing 

community centre named 'the Pump Room', 

which is well used by the community.

At community consultation events held in 2022, 

customers told us that they would like to see 

provision made for new community spaces – a 

replacement	Pump	Room	was	a	popular	request,	
as was a community café.

The	development	proposes	the	following:

• Provision of a new community centre, to 
replace the existing Pump Room.

• The new community centre should be located 

towards the edge of the site, in a prominent 
location so it can serve the wider community as 
well as the Sawyers Close community and be 
easily accessible to all. 

• A multi-use space should be provided within 
the community centre, to allow for skill 
building days, training activities and act as a 
neighbourhood hub.

• A community cafe is to be considered. It can 
be run by the local community, to help skills 
development, reduce social isolation and to 
provide a safe space directly within the Sawyers 
Close community.

• The proposed community orchard and 
community garden should be located in close 
proximity to the community centre, to allow 
easy interaction between the two.

Existing Customers & Phasing

Abri has made a commitment to its customers 

that they will only move once. The existing 

accommodation schedule of customers living 

at Sawyers Close has been reviewed and a 

reprovision and phasing strategy is being agreed. 

As part of the strategy for existing residents and 

phasing,	the	following	applies:

• Existing residents of Sawyers Close will only need 
to move once 

• Residents will continue to live in their current 
homes, until new homes are built 

• Assistance will be available to help residents 
move

• Phase 01 of the development needs to occur in 
the south west corner of the site, 

• The number and type of proposed homes 

that	will	be	built	in	Phase	01	will	be	specifically		
developed based on the needs of existing 
residents.

• The remaining phases will be developed to 
ensure that the number, type and location of 
new homes suit the needs to existing customers.

Consultation and Site Photos Illustrative Examples of Community Spaces and Activities

31
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

319



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

SOCIAL OBJECTIVES
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

Community Gardens & Orchard

By providing access to a range of facilities and 

spaces within the developments we build, we 

can help to create thriving and sustainable 

communities. The current Sawyers Close has both 

a well used community garden and an orchard 

which are both maintained by the community.

The	development	proposes	the	following:

• The community garden and orchard should be 
developed to replace the existing community 
garden and orchard.

• Where possible, the existing orchard trees 
should be sensitively moved to their new 
location.

• The community garden should be developed 
with input from the local residents to establish a 
brief for the space.

• The proposed community orchard and 

community garden should be located in close 
proximity to the community centre, to allow 
easy interaction between the two.

Play Space

Currently there are two large play areas at 

Sawyers	Close:	a	large,	unfenced	play	area	
aimed at younger children and a disused parking 

court that has been re-purposed into a ball games 

area for older children. There is also ample play 

provision	in	Dedworth	Manor	Park	close	by.

As part of the new homes, the large play area 

at Sawyers Close will be removed to make way 

for Phase 1 of the development. We therefore 

propose to provide play space in another 

location:

• Upgrade and add to the existing play 
equipment	on	the	eastern	side	of	Dedworth	
Manor	Park

• Incorporate suggestions from the children 
living at Sawyers Close as to the type of play 

equipment	they	would	like	to	have.
• Create areas of 'doorstep' play, closer to 

peoples homes, including in the main nodal 
points of the development 

Illustrative Examples

32
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

320



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

Landscape Communal Podiums

Podiums are proposed to be at four locations 

plots allowing for private gardens and communal 

spaces to be enjoyed by residents.

The communal landscape creates the opportunity 

for each house or apartment at the podium level 

to have private garden spaces but also access 

for all residents within that plot to the communal 

gardens and activities within them.

Within the communal space there will be 

opportunities for 'doorstep' play but also the 

potential for homeworking pods.

The	communal	landscape	creates	the:

• Raised planters incorporating seating elements, 
planting and trees

• Private gardens with access into the communal 
space

• Raised beds for communal gardens / allotments

• Areas created where small groups of people 
can gather for social activities.

• 'Doorstep' play areas created, closer to peoples 
homes.

• Planting beds located to aid the privacy of the 
houses

SOCIAL OBJECTIVES
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

Illustrative Examples Podium Landscape Keyplan

33
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

321



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

SOCIAL OBJECTIVES
DEVELOPMENT	OBJECTIVES	ACHIEVED

Sustainable Transport

Abri is committed to promoting and supporting 
their customers in their journey to using more 
sustainable methods of transport. Sustainable 
transport supports healthy place making. Abri has 
undertaken	significant	engagement	over	how	
the emerging scheme can support sustainable 
transport initiatives and discussions have taken 
place with stakeholders on this important topic as 
the masterplan has evolved.

Abri will continue to engage with residents 
at Sawyers Close in order to ascertain which 
sustainable transport options will be of most value 
to them.

The sustainable transport measures which are 
included	in	the	masterplan	are:
 

1.	Access	to	a	car	sharing	scheme	–	a	‘Car	Club’
2. Secure and convenient cycle parking

3. Cycle hub for use by the residents and wider 
community 

4. Cycle routes within the site

5.	Future-proofing	the	masterplan	to	connect	into	
RBWM’s	planned	cycling	route
6. Pedestrian priority along shared surfaces within 
the site

7. Electric vehicle charging points 

8. Reduced parking spaces to promote a 
reduction in car ownership and support car 
sharing through the car club 

9. Access to the existing public transport network

34
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

322



05
CONSTRAINTS & OPPORTUNITIES

323



KEY

SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

SITE CONSTRAINTS

ASTON	MEAD

WHITELEY

THAMES	MEAD

HARCOURT	ROAD

SM
ITH

S	
LA

N
E

RA
YS

	A
V

EN
UE

BU
RN

ET
TS

	R
O

A
D

DEDWORTH	
MANOR	PARK

DEDWORTH	
MANOR

NEW	WINDSOR	
COMMUNITY	

CENTRE

Site Boundary 

Existing adopted road that runs 
through the site

Existing site entrance to be retained

Existing trees

Existing hedgerow

Utilities that run under site and their 
easements

Main	road	to	the	north

Existing buildings and garages

Existing community centre on the 
site needs to stay in operation 
during construction.

Existing orchard to be relocated.

Existing community garden to be 
re-provided.

Existing pedestrian route

Existing bus stop

Existing substation

Flood	zone	2

Extent	of	flood	zone	2

A308	/	MAIDENHEAD	ROAD

10
M

5M

36
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

324



ASTON	MEAD

WHITELEY

THAMES	MEAD

HARCOURT	ROAD

SM
ITH

S	
LA

N
E

RA
YS

	A
V

EN
UE

BUCKLAND CRESCENT

BU
RN

ET
TS

	R
O

A
D

DEDWORTH	
MANOR	PARK

DEDWORTH	
MANOR

NEW	WINDSOR	
COMMUNITY	

CENTRE

A308	/	MAIDENHEAD	ROAD

Site Boundary 

Existing trees

Existing trees along site boundary

Significant	groups	of	trees	to	retain	
and make into a landscape feature

Connections through the site

Secondary connection

Key views to Windsor Castle, and 
River Thames

Landscape connected through the 
site

Potential for 'central gardens' in 
the centre of the site, using existing 
groups of trees.

New proposal to respond to existing 
context

Sun path to ensure there are no 
single aspect, north facing dwellings

Potential for lower scale 
connections to lower neighbouring 
context

Opportunity	for	additional	height

Opportunity	for	tall,	landmark	
building in site centre

Existing cycle route

First phase location (single decant 
required)

Playground location

Dedworth	Manor	Park

Opportunity	for	bicycle	hub

Clewer	Mill	Stream	(link	to	the	
Thames)

Adjacent green areas

KEY

Opportunity	to	enhance	
views to the River Thames.

Opportunity	to	enhance	views	to	
Windsor Castle.

SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

SITE OPPORTUNITIES

37
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

325



06
STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN PRINCIPLES

326



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

ECOLOGY & DRAINAGE STRATEGIES
STAKEHOLDER	MASTERPLAN	PRINCIPLES

Ecology & Drainage across the Masterplan

Central Points

• The ecology and drainage strategy has been develop taking in 
consideration the existing site constraints and opportunities.

• A new landscape corridor will run East to West to provide a 
welcoming	and	secure	access	to	the		Dedworth	Manor	Park.

• Drainage basins have been located strategically where more 
appropriate,	working	efficiently	with	the	existing	site	levels	and	
landscape.

• Almost all existing trees will be retained and integrated into the 
proposed landscape design.

Mill	Stream	(connected	to	the	Thames	River)

Low	areas	(prone	to	surface	flooding)

Proposed drainage basin

Grassed	areas

Hedgerow

Existing Trees

Proposed landscape corridor

KEY

39
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

327



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

ACCESS AND MOVEMENT STRATEGIES
STAKEHOLDER	MASTERPLAN	PRINCIPLES

Access to Sawyers Close

Central Points

• Enhanced	accesses	from	Smith	Lane	and	Dedworth	Manor	Park.
• New pedestrian and vehicular access from Smith Lane.

• New	pedestrain	accesses	and	connections	from	Dedworth	Manor	
Park.

Existing Road

Proposed Future Cycle Route

Existing Pedestrian Crossings

Proposed Vehicle Access

Proposed Cycle / Pedestrian Access

Proposed Pedestrian Access

Existing Informal Pedestrian Access

Historic	Route	to	Dedworth	Manor

KEY

40
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

328



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

ACCESS AND MOVEMENT STRATEGIES
STAKEHOLDER	MASTERPLAN	PRINCIPLES

Street Hierarchy

Central Points

• Improve general site permeability.

• Develop cycle / pedestrian routes to reconnect the site to the 
existing urban grain, pedestrian paths and natural assets.

• Restructure site vehicular routes  across the site to improve 
accessibility and servicing.

Primary Access Road

Proposed Cycle / Pedestrian Route

Proposed Pedestrian Route

Existing Informal Pedestrian Access

KEY

41
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

329



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

PLACEMAKING & MASSING STRATEGIES
STAKEHOLDER	MASTERPLAN	PRINCIPLES

Central Points

Central Points

• Extend the park into the site on the east edge to blend the 
proposed landscape with the existing natural context.  

• Define	two	main	nodal	areas,	creating	small	plazas	to	support	the	
placemaking strategy and opportunities for socialising between 
residents.

Nodal points

Park extends into site

Primary Access Road

Proposed Cycle / Pedestrian Route

Proposed Pedestrian Route

Existing Informal Pedestrian Access

KEY

42
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

330



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM STRATEGIES
STAKEHOLDER	MASTERPLAN	PRINCIPLES

Development of edges of the site

Central Points

• Ensure that the more import frontages are active and have direct 
engagement with the public realm. 

• Minimise	the	amount	of	frontages	without	windows	to	provide	
active frontages and natural surveillance across the site.

• Locate key community spaces along main frontages.

Development Area

Important Frontages

KEY

43
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

331



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

Building Types & Density

Central Points

• Locate tallest blocks to the north of the site to enhance direct 
light penetration.

• Vary shapes and heights of the plots to create informal and 
playful spaces to meet and interact.

• Locate lower blocks to the south to respond to the existing to the 
existing context around the site. 

PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM STRATEGIES
STAKEHOLDER	MASTERPLAN	PRINCIPLES

Lower Scale Buildings - houses up to 3 storeys

Medium	Scale	Buildings	-	apartment	buildings	4	-	6	
storeys

Higher Scale Buildings - apartment buildings 7 - 8 
storey buildings

KEY

44
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

332



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

SOCIAL STRATEGIES
STAKEHOLDER	MASTERPLAN	PRINCIPLES

Community Facilities

Central Points

• Place key community spaces around main gardens and 
pedestrian/cycle routes

• Community	gardens	and	Orchard	to	have	a	direct	relationship	
with	Dedworth	Manor	Park	and	to	be	protected	from	busy	streets.	

Area for Social Infrastructure

Additional area for Social Infrastructure

Community Centre

Community	Garden

Community	Orchard

Cycle Hub

Primary Access Road

Proposed Cycle / Pedestrian Route

RBWM	Proposed	Cycle	Route

Proposed Pedestrian Route

Existing Informal Pedestrian Access

KEY

45
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

333



SAWYERS CLOSE MASTERPLAN
DRAFT	STAKEHOLDER	
MASTERPLAN	
(AS	CONSULTED	ON)

This	draft	Stakeholder	Masterplan	was	consulted	
on for 28 days to inform the final Stakeholder  

Masterplan	for	adoption.

JANUARY	2023	DESIGN

334



07
DESIGN UPDATES  

PROPOSED MASTERPLAN FOR APPROVAL

335



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

CONSULTATION
JANUARY	2023

Background

The	Sawyers	Close	Draft	Stakeholder	Masterplan	public	consultation	
event was held between Friday 13 January and Sunday 12 February 

2023. 

The	 Stakeholder	 Masterplan	 Document	 was	 published	 on	 the	
dedicated	 Sawyers	 Close	 website	 at	 this	 link:	 https://www.
sawyersclose.com/news/consultation-on-draft-stakeholder-

masterplan/ 

The	 publication	 of	 the	 Draft	 Stakeholder	 Masterplan	 was	
accompanied by a design update that was also published on the 

Sawyers	Close	website:	https://www.sawyersclose.com/news/latest-
design-update/ 

Hard	 copies	 of	 the	 Sawyers	 Close	 Draft	 Stakeholder	 Masterplan	
were	made	available	and	could	be	requested	by		emailing	Hello@
sawyersclose.com, calling Freephone 0800 169 6507 or by writing to 

Freepost	SEC	NEWGATE	UK	LOCAL.	

Consultation publicity

Abri publicised the consultation by writing to 723 addresses at Sawyers 

Close	and	 the	neighbouring	area.	 This	was	 the	 same	mailing	 zone	
that Abri contacted prior to its June 2022 consultation event. Abri 

also contacted the local ward and neighbouring ward councillors to 

inform them of the consultation. 

Consultation events

During the consultation, Abri held three drop in events at the Pump 

Room community space at Sawyers Close. At the events, attendees 

could	 view	 copies	 of	 the	 Draft	 Stakeholder	 Masterplan	 document	
and	find	out	more	about	the	latest	proposals.	These	were	held	at	the	
following	dates	and	times:

•Thursday	19	January,	2:00pm	to	5:00pm	–	18	people	attended

•Tuesday	24	January,	2:00pm	to	5:00pm	–	6	people	attended	

•Tuesday	7	February,	2:00pm	to	5:00pm	–	16	people	attended

Responding to the consultation 

Abri	collected	responses	in	writing	by	the	following	means:

•An online survey available through the Sawyers Close website

•The	project	email	–	Hello@sawyersclose.com	

•By	post	to	Freepost	SEC	NEWGATE	UK	LOCAL

Respondents were asked if they had any comments to make on the 

Draft	Stakeholder	Masterplan	document.	The	responses	received	are	
summarised in this document. 

Abri received six responses to the online survey and 17 emails during 

the consultation. No responses were received through the Freepost 

option. 

The	 online	 survey	 also	 included	 questions	 on	 sustainable	 transport	
options to assist Abri in gaining insights into local preferences. In 

response	to	the	question	asking	 if	 they	 lived	or	worked	 locally,	 four	
respondents indicated that they lived in Windsor. 

In total, 44% of respondents indicated that they used a car to travel 

during a typical week, 33% walked, 11% used a shared car or lifts and 

11%	specified	other	without	detailing	what	that	was.

In	 response	 to	 the	question	on	which	 transport	options	 they	would	
use	if	they	were	more	available,	there	were	three	responses.	One	for	
e-scooter, one for bicycle and one for other without specifying what 

that	‘other’	was.	

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Pre-App 02 Future Homes 

Survey

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

Project 

Begins

Consultation 

Event

On	site	
Consultation 

Events

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan 

Consultation

Stakeholder 

Master	
Document 

Submission

48
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

336



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

DESIGN UPDATES
RESPONSE	TO	CONSULTATION	FEEDBACK

Comment:	 

As a resident on Smiths Lane we object to the 

accommodation of a space going from 219 

to 420 - this is an over population of social/

affordable housing in an area of west Windsor 

where there is already much. It is an inefficient 
use of the space. We object to losing our 

green space that we currently have whilst this 

development will have a lovely look out on to the 

green space of the football pitches.”

Context

Comment:	

"Will there be 3 bedroom houses facing onto 

Thames Mead?"

Design	response:

The site has been developed to maximise private 

green space. This has been done in line with 

sustainable principles.

The	Royal	Borough	of	Windsor	and	Maidenhead	
Council is supportive of the area being 

redeveloped to provide more Affordable Housing. 

The number of units proposed have been discussed 

with the Council who are agreeable to the level of 

development.

We are providing a 10% biodiversity net gain across 

the site. 

The	proposal	will	deliver	high	quality	landscape	
design.

Design	response:

The	draft	Stakeholder	Masterplan	layout	proposed	
some 3 storey town houses facing towards Thames 

Mead.	In	response	to	consultation	feedback,	
the	Masterplan	layout	has	been	amended.	A	
new servicing route is now proposed between 

Thames	Mead	and	the	proposed	town	houses	as	
a result the distance between existing dwellings 

on	Thames	Mead	and	proposed	townhouses	has	
increased. 

Design	response:

The layout of the proposal has been designed so as 
to limit the incidence of anti-social behaviour. This 

includes spaces that are well-surveyed.

Many	existing	residents	have	expressed	that	they	
would like to remain at Sawyers Close following the 

redevelopment of the site.

Comment:

" As a resident on Smiths Lane I am concerned 

about any anti social behaviours that this over 

population of the area will bring. If you look at 

your original survey results you will see that the 

majority of people were not bothered about 

living in the same area as the people that they 

currently live with as neighbours which tells 

you that people don't mind being dispersed. 

Therefore you should be building other social 

housing/affordable housing in smaller building 

sites and maintain the quality of the green area 

that we currently have."

Design	response:

The proposal is for buildings up to 8 storeys in 

height. A range of building heights is provided to 

reduce the bulk of the scheme.

Design	response:

A water attenuation basin will be provided to 

support the sustainable drainage system on the 

site. This attenuation basin will not be constantly 

filled	with	water.

Design	response:

Solar panels are proposed to be included on the 

roofs	of	buildings	as	well	as	other	energy	efficient	
features including air source heat pumps.

Design	response:

Apartment buildings will range from 4 to 8 storeys 

in height. The proposed town houses are 3 storeys.

Comment:

"We thought the idea was to have lower profile 
and less dense building layout but now you are 

suggesting that some of the buildings will be nine 

stories high and the density seems to be much 

heavier than it currently is."

Comment:

"How are you going to protect children from the 

pond?"

Comment:

"I can’t see any provision for solar panelling/

solar windows or even a small wind generator 

all which would help the residents both directly 

and indirectly via reduced service charges for 

communal electrical use and to charge their cars 

with the electrical charging points I can’t see."

Comment:

"Are the flats going to be more than 3 levels high? "

Comment:	

Where will I live, and for how long, while these 

buildings get knocked down and the new 

ones get built? Also what will happen about to 

the bathroom adaptations I have, during the 

intervening period."

Design	response:

Sawyers Close residents will only need to move 

once, from their current home into their new one. 

We're proposing a phased approach that means 

that the new homes will be built on the land to the 

south	of	Sawyers	Close	first.

Abri will work with its customers to create moving 

plans tailored to their needs. This will include 

financial	support	to	meet	the	cost	of	moving	and	
consideration of any adaptations that may need to 

be made to homes. 

49
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

337



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

RESPONSE	TO	CONSULTATION	FEEDBACK

Comment:

“What colour will be the buildings be?”

Context

Design	response:

The	CGIs	are	showing	the	design	intent	but	colours	
might change before the application is submitted. 

Using brick as the main material throughout the 

scheme	will	be	a	unifying	design	feature	influencing	
the character of the development. 

Design	response:

The proposed 3-storey houses adjacent to Smiths 

Lane will be set back a generous distance from the 

site boundary, the new green swale with additional 

trees and landscaping will soften existing views 

and provide a green outlook. A 6-storey apartment 

building which would have been accessed from 

the new road onto Smiths Lane has been removed 

meaning fewer cars will use the new access, 

reducing car movements at this location on Smiths 

Lane. 

Design	response:

This a 40mph Trunk Road and as such new access 

points	are	more	difficult	to	achieve	due	to	safety.		
The	visibility	requirements	necessary	for	a	40mph	
road particularly from the north-east corner would 

be	difficult	to	achieve.	The	existing	Sawyers	Close	
access will be improved as part of the proposals.

Comment:

" As a resident on Smiths Lane, we object to what 

looks like 4 storey (including roof cavity) buildings/
townhouses being built when we are two storey 

and the over crowding that will exist in this space 

with cars and access on to the Maidenhead Rd 
and Smiths Lane from parked cars."

Comment:

" I, along with others that live along smiths lane, 

are still opposed to the additional access road. 

You are clearly not listening to our concerns and 

ignoring a request to build a new access road 

directly from the A308 in the vicinity of the north 

east corner. Or at a minimum improve and keep 

to the existing access road. The only reason for 

the second access road, is to facilitate your need 

to build in 2 phases, over the proposed 4 years, 

and not disturb the Sawyers residents."

Design	response:

Construction	traffic	will	be	controlled	via	a	
“Construction	Management	Plan”	planning	
condition.	The	Construction	Management	Plan	will	
be submitted to the Council for approval, once 

this document is found to be satisfactory and 

approved by the Council, the construction of the 

development	will	be	required	to	be	in	accordance	
with this approved document. Included within the 

Construction	Management	Plan	will	be	the	times	
and days that construction is permitted to take 

place.

Design	response:

The garages currently within the site are not 

suitable	for	car	parking	due	to	their	size	and	the	
size	of	modern	vehicles.	At	present	the	parking	
within Sawyers Close is unallocated, the proposal 

scheme will continue with the arrangement. 

Extensive parking surveys have been conducted 

within the site to access what the parking need is 

for the occupiers of Sawyers Close, the proposed 

parking provision is based on this need. It should 

also be noted that National Planning Policy seeks 

to prevent the over provision of car parking and 

aims to promote sustainable forms of transport.

Design	response:

Electric Vehicle (EV) charging will be made 

available to all car parking spaces within the 

development over time.

Comment:

"Smiths lane is already busy enough with school 

runs, the addition of tippers, delivery trucks 

during the build etc, will put a strain on local life, 

especially those that live directly opposite.

Comment:

"At the moment there are around 150 car parking 

spaces + garages, from what I can see you 

are proposing to double+ the occupancy and 

reduce parking spaces to around 120, is that 

currently 70% parking and you proposing to offer 

40% parking once finished? At the moment cars 
are parking on the grass and have started parking 

on Smiths lane."
Comment:

"I can’t see any suggestion of electric charging 

points for cars - which must be a mistake if you 

are looking for a new build that will be expected 

to be in use after 2035."

DESIGN UPDATES

Comment:	

"I see nice balconies for above floor flats, 
but what about private outdoor areas for 

other accommodation types? So will each 

accommodation get their own outdoor space?"

Design	response:

Each home will have its own private outdoor space, 

either a balcony or private garden space on a 

podium	meeting	or	exceeding	the	required	private	
amenity space standards. In addition to this, there 

will also be shared outdoor spaces on the podiums 

and in the green spaces around the buildings.

Comment:	

"We each have private sheds now. I don't see 

garages or sheds on the plan."

Design	response:

Car parking and storage space will be provided 

within the shared under-croft garages.

We will be providing storage space within the new 
homes that meets or exceeds the Council's storage 
standards.

50
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

338



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

RESPONSE	TO	CONSULTATION	FEEDBACK

Comment:

“It looks like the parking is even less than our 

current parking, which is not sufficient as it is - a 
trip to the Estate any night would prove that.”

Context

Design	response:

Extensive over-night surveys have been undertaken 

to count the existing number of vehicles on site and 

the	rounds	surrounding	the	development.		Over-
night parking surveys have also demonstrated that 

there is very little parking on  the roads surrounding 

the development, and it should be noted these 

roads are for public use.

Design	response:

Unallocated parking will be provided on-site as 

research	confirms	that	this	is	the	most	efficient	use	
of land.

Design	response:

A	Traffic	Management	Plan	has	not	yet	been	
submitted, however one will be submitted to the 

Council for approval during the planning process. 

Once	the	Traffic	Management	Plan	has	been	
submitted to the Council it will become publicly 

available on the Council's website.

Design	response:

The garages and sheds that are currently on site 

would be removed as part of the redevelopment 

and replaced by parking spaces within covered 

podiums as well as some on street parking. 

Closer to the time of moving, Abri will work with its 

customers	to	prepare	a	moving	plan	that	reflects	
their individual needs. The storage space that is 

currently provided by the sheds will be replaced 

by additional storage spaces within the new 

homes.

Blue badge parking will be provided next to each 

block.

Design	response:

The level of proposed car parking has been 

agreed with the Local Highways Authority. 

Technical Transport Consultants have carried out 

in depth parking surveys to assess the parking 

needs of the proposal. The parking level accords 

with the recommendations of these surveys.

Comment:

" Will it be allocated parking or will there be an 

open car park like now?"

Comment:

" I just know your traffic management plan is, 
for want of a better word, “poor” based on 

incompetence or deliberate and based on 

profit."

Comment:

" What's happening about garages and sheds? 

My car insurance gets a discount because I keep 

my car in a locked private garage at all times 

while not in use. It is close to my current flat. I 
can't walk far and especially not when I'm loaded 

down with shopping.

I see parking spaces, but not in large amounts 

or particularly close to the buildings and it wont 

be viewed the same by my insurance, I shouldn't 

think. Will the maisonettes have parking spaces 

next to them?"

Comment:

" My main concern about the plans is that 

there is enough car parking space for the 

increased number of residents and dwellings. 

The additional development on the other side of 

the Manor House Park on Hanover Way did not 
have sufficient car parking and parking on Vale 
Road and Hanover Road is now a nightmare 
especially if you need to go the GP Practice 
Dedworth Medical Centre. It is not acceptable 

for your plans to assume a transition to walking 

and more use of cycling as if people want to use 

cars they will use them and end up parking on 

neighbouring side streets."

Comment:

" I can't see any car parking on the plan, 

document talks of underground parking but no 

figures. Any property built in Windsor requires two 
parking spaces at least per property. Talk of future 

transport ideas is irrelevant, the current property 

hasn't enough parking at the moment, residents 

often use vehicles for work and trade, there are 

no serious local public transport spaces and few 

employers, schools or shops in walking distance. 

Bicycles are not an adult answer."

Design	response:

This project has been heavily designed to ensure 

that the proposed development is of the highest 

quality	design.	The	car	parking	is	located	within	the	
proposed podiums and located throughout the 

scheme	“on	street”.	The	on	street	car	parking	has	
been well landscaped to prevent the parked cars 

from becoming an eyesore.

DESIGN UPDATES

Design	response:

Abri exclusively provides Affordable Homes, 

they	do	not	profit	from	their	developments.	
There is both a unmet national and local need 

for Affordable Homes such as those that are 

proposed. The proposed level of parking has 

been calculated using detailed car parking 

surveys	to	assess	what	the	required	parking	
need is. There is a local and national drive to 

reduce the reliance of private motor vehicles 

and increase and improve sustainable forms of 

transport.

Comment:

"I am struggling to understand how you think 

people will not come to the conclusion that you 

are out to build as many homes as possible for 

maximum profit, and expect anyone who buys 
one, not to realise they will have to fight for a 
parking space, of which I will be one when the 

overspill will be outside my home."

51
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

339



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

RESPONSE	TO	CONSULTATION	FEEDBACK
Context

Design	response:

As part of the sustainable urban drainage for 

the site a swale is proposed to run along the 

boundary of Smiths Lane to improve the overall 

drainage across the site.

Suitable tree species will be chosen for the 

ground conditions.

Planting with semi mature trees is proposed along 

Smiths Lane to help screen the development.  

Proposed trees will vary in height and along this 

edge and it is intended to include 30-35cm girth 

trees with an approximate height of 6-6.5m.

Trees will be maintained for 12 months to aid 

establishment and in accordance with the 

planning conditions any dead trees will be 

replaced.

Comment:

"As a resident of Smiths Lane there is no thought 

given to sustainable and environmental concerns 

that this area is saturated with water when there is 

rains and where will the water go if it is concreted 

over? Also concerning your ideas of planting. 

Please go and have a look at the new flats that 
have been built over on Hanover Way - there is 

planting of small trees which are all practically 

dead because no one is looking after them or 

maintaining them so any herbaceous planting, 

don't show me mature trees unless you are going 

to plant mature full on trees."

DESIGN UPDATES

52
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

340



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

STAKEHOLDER	MASTERPLAN	PRINCIPLES

Revised objectives to address feedback on the draft stakeholder 

masterplan, design evolution and site constraints.

• Integration of water attenuation features into the scheme.

• Primary access road to be adjusted to achieve access to Plot D 
south houses.

• North - Southeast pedestrian route path to be adjusted to follow 
Plot D new footprint.

• Basin	to	be	adjusted	to	meet	flood	requirements.

• Increase	active	frontages	at	ground	floor.

• Homes to be relocated across the site following the removal of 

Plot E.

• Increase the separation distance between existing Dedworth 

Manor	Lodge	and	the	proposed	buildings	by	removing	Plot	E	
building.

• Plot	B,C	and	D	orientation	to	be	amended	to	define	new	
pedestrian routes across the site.

• Re-orientate Plot D to increase the seperation distance between 

existing	dwellings	along	Thames	Mead	with	town	houses	within	
Plot D.

Additional Access Road

Proposed Pedestrian Route

Existing Informal Pedestrian Access

KEY

Pre-App 

01 & Initial 

Concept

Pre-App 02 Future Homes 

Survey

Pre-App 03 Pre-App 04 Design Review 

Panel

Pre-App 05

May 2021January 2021 July 2021 April/May 2022March 2022 June 2022June 2022 July 2022 December 2022 January 2023 February 2023August 2022 October 2022

Project 

Begins

DESIGN UPDATES

Consultation 

Event

On	site	
Consultation 

Events

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan

Draft 

Stakeholder 

Masterplan	
Consultation

Stakeholder 

Master 

Document 

Submission

Plot APlot A

Plot BPlot B Plot CPlot C

Plot DPlot D
Plot E Plot E 

RemovedRemoved

53
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

341



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

Added number of storeys

Total number of storeys

• Plot E has been removed to increase separation distance 

between	existing	Dedworth	Manor	and	built	form	at	Sawyers	
Close

• Small	extension	northwards	to	the	size	of	the	buildings	along	
Maidenhead	Road	(Plot	A).

• Plot B footprint has been adjusted to support new landscape 

design. 

• Plot D footprint has been adjusted to increase separation 

distance of built form between existing dwellings along Thames 

Mead.

• Block C1 has been moved north.

• Block C4 has been rotated to create sunking gardens.

• Street layout around the south of Plot D updated to provide 

improved access to townhouses and permeability through the 

scheme. 

• New swale along Smith Lane to provide water attenuation to 

proposed basin.

• On-site	drainage	attenuation	basin	included	to	support	
sustainable urban drainage system.

• Redesign	of	ground	floor	layouts	to	introduce	Ground	Floor	flats,	
increase	ground	floor	actication	and	optimise	parking	spaces.

• Buildings in Plot A increased in height to better address 

Maidenhead	Road	context	and	accommodate	the	loss	of	Plot	E	
from the south of the site.

Following the extensive public consultation and taking into account 

the comments and suggestions that have been received, the 

design of the masterplan has been updated in order to address the 

feedback that has been received.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

1

7

8

3

4

5

6

+1

XX

+2 +1
Plot APlot A

Plot BPlot B Plot CPlot C

Plot DPlot D

7 Storeys

XX	Storeys

7 Storeys8 Storeys

8 Storeys
5 Storeys

6 Storeys

6 Storeys

5 Storeys

8 Storeys

KEY

2

DESIGN UPDATES
MASTERPLAN	UPDATES

1

9

54
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

342



SAWYERS CLOSE MASTERPLAN
FINAL	STAKEHOLDER	
MASTERPLAN	
(FOR	ADOPTION)
FEBRUARY	2023	DESIGN

343



344



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

57
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

345



SAWYERS CLOSE  |  STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT

THE FLOURISH WHEEL
An assessment tool for health and well-being

58
Stakeholder Masterplan24 February 2023

346



SAWYERS CLOSE

347



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: New Shared Service Agreement for the 

commissioning of Joint Legal Services (JLT) 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No – Part I 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Carroll, Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services, Health and Mental Health 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 24 March 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Kevin McDaniel, Executive Director of People 
Services 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The Council has been engaged with the Joint Legal Team since its inception in 1998.  
In recent years, a number of attempts have been made to drive more consistent value 
from the arrangement for all Berkshire authorities while retaining a local centre of high 
quality legal advice.  This report sets out the pan-Berkshire work to revise and clarify 
a single, common approach for this service, to be finalised into a new shared service 
agreement. 
 
In particular the pan-Bershire objectives are to cement the use of local, skilled staff in 
JLT, which can innovate across the service to maintain good value for money and 
increase cost predictability over the medium term for all Partners. 
 
This arrangement supports the vision of Creating a sustainable borough of 
opportunity and innovation by ensuring that the Council is able provide timely, high 
quality services to support vulnerable children and adults when we are required to 
engage with the court processes. 
 
1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Agree the attached Heads of Terms form the basis of a new Shared 
Service Agreement between all the Berkshire local authorities. 
 

ii) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of People Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, 
Health and Mental Health, to negotiate the final version of the 
Shared Service Agreement, to agree and complete the same. 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

349

Agenda Item 10



2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
Options  

 
Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Agree the proposed Heads of Terms 
form the basis of a new Shared Service 
Agreement and delegate authority to the 
Executive Director of People Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Children’s Services, Health and 
Mental Health to negotiate the final 
version of the shared services 
agreement. 
 
This is the recommended option 

This option creates a legal 
arrangement for the provision of 
essential, expert legal service for 
our social care teams.  The 
arrangements offer good value 
for money and clear governance 
oversight for the Royal Borough. 

Re-negotiate a single party relationship 
with JLT 
 
 
 
This option is not recommended. 

This approach in recent years 
has proven to be more expensive 
and led to significant variation in 
the level of service available to 
the Royal Borough. 
 

Seek an alternative provider for legal 
services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This option is not recommended. 

Achieving for Children 
considered alternative 
arrangements in 2020 and 
established that commercial 
services were significantly more 
expensive.  Alternative public 
sector arrangements were 
similarly more expensive and 
also lacked access to the local 
family court which risked a lower 
quality of interaction. 
 

Do Nothing 
 
 
 
 
This option is not recommended. 

This is not an option as the 
current arrangements are ending 
so the Council will be without 
essential legal services for social 
care services. 
 

  
Background to JLT 

1.1. The JLT was established on 1st April 1998 (following the abolition of Berkshire 
County Council) to provide legal services to the Children’s Social Services 
Directorates of the six Berkshire Unitary Authorities.  The service was 
originally provided pursuant to a Joint Arrangement between the JLT and the 
six unitary authorities and hosted by Reading Borough Council, though other 
arrangements have developed over time (more detail below). 

350



 
1.2. The last version of the shared services agreement dates from 2013 and was 

also considered in a review of the JLT by the Berkshire Chief Executives in 
October 2019 (discussed further below).  

 
1.3. Today the JLT provides legal services as follows: 

• Children’s Services advice including pre-proceedings and adoption to all 
six Partners and to Adopt Thames Valley.  This could also include advice 
in respect of human rights claims, third party police disclosures; private 
law matters involving Children Services, Youth Offending issues or 
anything which is ancillary to the provision of Children’s Services.  
Occasionally it may advise on Policy work or complaints work.   

• Adult Services and Education – to four of the six Partners – Reading, 
Slough, Wokingham and Windsor and Maidenhead.  This is a growing 
area with Partners providing new worktypes to the Team e.g. education 
prosecutions.  

• The JLT also provides advice to all six Partners in the growing area of 
Judicial Review.  This principally concerns unaccompanied minors, 
asylum seekers and the “child” status of refugees.   

• JLT provides training for all of the Partners.   
• The JLT works closely with the Designated Family Judge in respect of 

establishing good local practice.  The JLT has two representatives sitting 
on the Local Family Justice Board and participates in sub-groups and 
meetings convened through this Board.  

• The JLT prides itself on being a demand led service which is responsive 
to the needs of the Partners.  It does not turn work away.  

• The JLT provides an Out of Hours Service that covers evenings, 
weekends and bank holidays.  Therefore, a lawyer from the JLT is 
available to provide legal advice 24 hours, a day 365 days of the year, to 
all Partners.   

 
1.4. Further detail on the operations of the JLT are provided in the Appendices as 

follows: 
 
Appendix A – Childcare law, complex and high-cost cases 
Appendix B – Adult Social Care and Education (ASCE) 
 
Business model 

1.5. When the JLT was last reviewed by the Berkshire Chief Executive’s in 2019 it 
was noted there were a mixture of charging mechanisms which had 
developed over time.  There were those arrangements which were included in 
the scope of the 2013 Agreement and then those which had developed 
alongside as some councils had proceeded down a procurement route to 
purchase their legal services from JLT outside of the 2013 Agreement.  
Presumably, this was to try and evidence or secure greater VFM.  (RBWM for 
childcare and non-childcare, Wokingham for ASCE, Slough for Education).  

351



These complicated arrangements meant that some councils were charged 
more per hour than some others for the same work.  Any resulting “profit” 
made by JLT was then used as a way to subsidise the other JLT partners for 
the work under the 2013 Agreement.     
 

1.6. In 2020, the Joint Agreement Board (the Board), set up as a result of the 
Berkshire Chief Executive’s Review, concluded that this arrangement was not 
sustainable or desirable.  The additional complexity of individual SLAs and 
contracting arrangements between councils provided no greater benefit for 
any of the Partners and only served to distract limited JLT management 
resources away from other more pressing priorities such as the overall 
improvement of the Service to provide greater transparency and value for 
money.  
  

1.7. In addition, Reading had hosted the JLT on the basis of a 6% on-cost which 
was applied to the time charged and to the disbursements charged.  This 6% 
figure appears to be a simple mechanism which was agreed by all the unitary 
authorities for the delivery of shared services on the breakup of Berkshire 
County Council in 1998.  The attraction of a simple mechanism is 
understandable.   
 

1.8. Whilst at the time the 6% may have been a convenient way of calculating 
overhead costs without complicated re-charges which were always open to 
challenge and debate, the Joint Agreement Board considered that the 6% flat 
rate was a powerful disincentive for improvement in the case of JLT, 
especially when applied to disbursements.  The Board agreed as a principle 
that it would be preferable to have a mechanism which recognised the 
overheads to Reading BC for hosting the Service and then allowed for those 
to be examined and discussed as part of an annual budget setting process.   
 
Governance 

1.9. The 2013 Agreement did not specify the creation of a Board to oversee the 
Shared Service, but it did stipulate that a biannual meeting should take place 
between the Heads of Legal and the JLT.  These meetings did not take place, 
and the 2019 review of the JLT by the Berkshire Chief Executives, was keen 
to reinstate them.  From 2020 we have moved to quarterly board meetings 
which are Chaired by the Wokingham Chief Executive, Susan Parsonage, 
with a new Terms of Reference agreed.  This Board, the Joint Agreement 
Board, comprises representatives from each Partner authority, usually the 
DCS but also other colleagues e.g. finance and legal.  Each Partner chooses 
the representatives which are most appropriate for their organisation.  Given 
the growth in legal work from Adult Services, the Board is also seeking a 
DASS to join the Board to provide input on that area of work.   
 

1.10. The Board has been focused on picking up the recommendations following 
the 2019 Chief Executive review, but has also scrutinised costs and budgets, 

352



considered JLT improvement plans and overseen the development of the 
Heads of Terms for the new Shared Service Agreement.   

 
1.11. It is proposed to continue the present Board arrangements and then review 

them in due course.  The new Heads of Terms document specifies that the 
Board should meet at least quarterly.   

 
1.12. In addition to quarterly Board meetings, there are regular, usually monthly 

meetings at an operational level between the JLT and their colleagues in 
Children’s and Adult Services.  These meetings look at current case issues, 
track costs and high-cost cases with a focus on problem solving.  It is planned 
to enhance the effectiveness of these operational meetings by improving the 
scheduled reporting of data from the JLT case management system.  These 
improvements are underway.  

  
1.13. Some Governance issues which are currently with the Board, and which 

Partners ought to be aware:  
 

1.13.1. Progress on billing.  The 2019 review requested that there be a 
move to monthly billing.  This was to respond to the previous situation 
where JLT bills were calculated at year end and then set-off amongst 
other Berkshire Shared Services.  This situation was difficult for 
Partners, as it did not allow for adequate budget monitoring and it 
often produced unwelcome surprises for authorities which had a spike 
in cases, particularly if it was a spike in high-cost complex cases.  
From 2020 JLT has moved to quarterly invoices.  The move to 
monthly invoices is still to be delivered, and has been delayed by a 
number of internal organisational changes.  The personnel and 
technology will be in place to allow this to happen during 2023.   

1.13.2. Service Development Plan – an improvement plan for JLT has been 
developed and is with the Board.  This builds on the internal work 
which has been done in business planning for the JLT and setting 
targets for staff performance.   

1.13.3. Budget Planning.  The JLT budget is built on estimates of time spent 
by lawyers in different categories of qualification / specialisation.  The 
original 2013 Agreement envisaged a budget for JLT to be produced 
in the Autumn which Partners would then agree for the following 
financial year.  This accords with commonly accepted practice for 
other local government services.  As the anticipated biannual 
meetings fell away, so did the budget planning cycle, which was the 
detriment of all concerned.  We are now moving back to the position 
where JLT will plan a budget in the Autumn with Partners.   

1.13.4. Business Model.  Over time, the JLT has moved from a planned 
budget to one which is reactive and charges on a time spent basis 
(billable hours), with the Partners paying for what they use.  There are 
pros and cons with this method.  The Board has considered whether 

353



this is the most effective business model.  The Heads of Terms 
Agreement proposes that we seek to move away from this model as it 
does not afford certainty to the Partners for what they have to pay in 
any given year.  However, there is also a need for JLT to be 
responsive to their clients’ needs and not to turn work away.  Some 
flexibility is therefore needed in the business model to allow this to 
happen to make sure that the host authority can recover resources 
needed to respond to increases in work.  The 2019 review noted: 
“Whilst it is appropriate to undertake proper budget planning in a 
timely manner, demand for legal support cannot be accurately 
predicted 18 months in advance.  This reinforces the need to re-
establish the regular budget and contract management that was 
envisaged in the original Agreement.  Whilst this will not influence 
demand it will provide a frequent opportunity to review demand trends 
and the potential impact on spend”.   

1.13.5. 6% administrative fee – see above, the 2019 recommendations 
proposed that the 6% fee continue.  However, as noted above, this 
on-cost is a considerable disincentive for improvement.  Partners 
have indicated a willingness to pay a suitable charge for Reading 
BC’s overheads, as part of the Shared Service costs with a view to 
increased transparency and scrutiny on those costs which make up 
the fees charged to Partners.   

1.13.6. Blended rates – the 2019 review recommended a continuity of the 
blended rate (which at that time was £75 per hour reducing to £66 per 
hour by taking paralegal time out of overhead to charge it directly).  In 
negotiating the new Heads of Terms document the Partners have 
discussed the desirability of discontinuing the blended rate.  JLT 
intends to move to a variegated rate for different classifications of 
lawyers.  The reason for this is to improve the efficiency of the team, 
to bring greater focus on who is doing what, and facilitate the 
delegation of work to the most appropriate level.  At present, Partners 
pay the same for a 20-year qualified lawyer as they do for a paralegal.  
The JLT is pushing for managers and senior lawyers to be focussed 
on doing only the work they can do, so that case progression and 
management of cases gets diverted to the most appropriate level.  To 
facilitate this, case costs should accurately represent the work which 
has gone into them.  The present blended rate does not allow this 
scrutiny.   

 
1.14. The 2022/23 business model takes into account these issues of the 6% fee 

and the move to variegated rates. 
 
1.15. The current costs of running the service are as follows: 

• Staff time 

354



o Management and supervision time.  This is recovered as overhead on 
the hours charged.  It also includes the administrative support.  In 22/23 
this is £545k 

o Other employee costs.  Includes training, and temporary staff.  In 22/23 
this is £238k 

o Directly charged time on cases.  In 22/23 this is estimated to be £2.8m 
• Supplies and Services – ancillary to running the Service, e.g. software 

licenses, subscriptions to databases, printing, postage etc.  In 22/23 this is 
£223k 

• Overheads of support services.  HR, Finance, Accommodation, ICT etc.  In 
22/23 this is £427k 

 
1.16. This means that the Service only charges Partners for the time they use.  The 

direct cost of staff has an apportioned overhead for all of the management 
and administrative costs, other employee costs, supplies and services and 
overheads.  The staff costs then run from £41.70 for the lowest grade of 
paralegal to £84.80 for a Team Leader.  This is equivalent to a blended rate of 
approx. £64.51 ph.   
 
Heads of Terms – New Shared Service Agreement 

1.17. The work of the Partners since the 2019 Chief Executives Review has picked 
up the themes of greater transparency, better reporting, improved 
governance.  There are service improvement initiatives underway which will 
be overseen by the Board.  All of these improvements are designed to make 
the JLT more efficient, effective and economical for the Partners.   
 

1.18. The opportunity with a new Shared Service Agreement (a recommendation 
from the 2019 review) was to take a fresh look at the basis on which JLT is 
provided by Reading and purchased by the Partners.   

 
1.19. In 2020 there were a number of contractual arrangements in place which had 

emerged over time as different councils took a different approach.  It meant 
that the “core” JLT work under the 2013 Agreement was provided at cost and 
the contracted work, under various other Agreements was provided with a 
margin.  

  
1.20. This was unhelpful in a number of ways:   

• The methodology for charging was unduly complicated and the Partners 
were not sighted on the methodology.  The lack of financial information led 
to suspicions that Reading BC was profiteering at the expense of Partners.   

• Any surplus produced by JLT contracted work was supposedly set-off for 
the benefit of the Partners who had purchased the “core” JLT work.  How 
this happened was not clear to Partners and was not aided by the lack of 
transparency mentioned above.   

• Procurement activity and responding to tenders is a time-consuming 
activity which has to be paid for, so the Partners were effectively paying 

355



twice for this if they went down a procurement route, and that procurement 
route led to a higher charge per hour than the “core” work which was 
always focussed on cost recovery alone.   

 
1.21. In looking at a new Shared Service Agreement it is proposed to clear away all 

the previous contractual agreements and to enter into the new Shared Service 
Agreement on the basis of clear mutual commitments, and reinforcing that 
JLT is a shared service not a contracted service. 
 

1.22. The Partners intend to pool resource in JLT to ensure that overall the legal 
services they need are delivered through the peaks and troughs that a single 
council might encounter. 

 
1.23. The Partners intend to share in the skills and experience accumulated in the 

service for the better performance of their social care functions.  JLT has 
become a recognised centre of excellence and there is value in sustaining 
that knowledge and experience for the future benefit of the Partners.  
Reading, JLT and the Partners all have a mutual interest in promoting even 
greater operational excellence so they can be assured of the efficiency of the 
Service and see demonstrable cost reductions.   

 
1.24. Reading BC is the host council of the shared service and is also a customer of 

the JLT as the costs of the JLT services used by Brighter Futures for Children 
Ltd are defrayed by the Council alongside its own Adults cases.  Reading BC 
will run the service for itself and the other councils taking into account the 
Best Value duty of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.   

 
1.25. These are the objectives for the new Shared Service Agreement: 
 

1.25.1. JLT is to be a run on a cost recovery basis for all Partners and all 
worktypes.  The Board will oversee future Service developments for 
JLT.  If new worktypes or new parties use the JLT (for instance the 
Board may wish to look at extending the service to schools) then the 
Board will oversee the financial model and ensure that the Partners 
are satisfied with the arrangements.   

1.25.2. The Service should consider ways to move away from billable hours 
to more certain fixed costs to allow Partners to have better budget 
planning.  This might mean that in any one year, the JLT may over or 
under recover.  The aim is therefore for those surpluses / deficiencies 
to be carried forward; the aim being for the Service to break even over 
a rolling three-year period.  This is the same philosophy that other 
local authority traded services use to demonstrate they are not 
making a profit – e.g. building control.   

1.25.3. To provide a value for money service with a focus on continuous 
improvement in the efficiency of the team and transparency of costs.   

356



1.25.4. To be accountable for its work and provide the necessary information 
to allow the Partners to track their expenditure and manage their 
operations effectively.   

1.25.5. To monitor the complex and high-cost cases to ensure these are 
delivered efficiently, effectively and economically.   

1.25.6. To provide value added services such as general advice and training 
which allow all Partners to take advantage of the expertise of the JLT. 

1.25.7. To participate in the improvement of social care and education 
services generally in Berkshire, this means using the experience of 
best practice throughout Berkshire to help all Partners to come up to 
the standards of the best.  This has not generally been a role for the 
JLT, and means a shift from being a wholly reactive service to one 
which is more pro-active and engaged with the Partners on their own 
improvement journeys.   

 
1.26. The proposed Heads of Terms for the Shared Services agreement are 

enclosed as Appendix C.   
 
Challenges  

1.27. There are well known difficulties experienced in Children’s Services 
departments with recruiting and retaining a stable and skilled workforce.  This 
has created a consequential difficulty in some compliance with timescales set 
in the pre-proceedings process and by the Court.  There have also been 
difficulties in the Court timetable and with judicial availability.  This creates 
additional work for JLT to ensure that proceedings are kept to time and that 
work is delivered to achieve the outcome the Partner authority seeks.  This is 
a current area of focus for JLT in terms of the SLA.   
 

1.28. The Partners all have a desire to move from Court work to pre-emptive help at 
the earliest opportunity through a number of mechanisms.  In 2018 the JLT 
established a dedicated Pre-proceedings Team to ensure a greater focus on 
making sure that pre-proceedings intervention and support is effective and 
used to divert cases away from Court or narrowing of contentious issues 
through early identification of possible kinship carers, narrowing of issues and 
front-loading of evidence, if care proceedings are necessary.  

 
1.29. The use of pre-proceedings in JLT is generally seen as effective and there 

has been close working with the local senior judiciary.  Recent comments 
from recent OFSTED inspections re pre-proceedings record as follows: 

 
1.30. “Many children’s cases are being diverted from unnecessary court 

proceedings as a result of effective pre-proceedings intervention.  Feedback 
from the judiciary is positive.”  Ofsted Focussed Visit Brighter Futures for 
Children, Reading Borough Council 16 February 2022. 

 

357



1.31. “Strong pre-proceedings practice ensures parents are aware of what is 
expected of them.  Some impactful work results in parents improving their 
parenting, allowing them to safely exit pre-proceedings.  Senior managers 
closely monitor this work. Care proceedings are instigated without delay if 
concerns about children’s safety escalate.  Proactive early initial viability 
assessments of potential family/friend placements are carried out to try and 
reduce delays in the event that care proceedings are subsequently initiated.” 
Ofsted Inspection Report West Berkshire 4 May 2022. 

 
1.32. “Pre-proceedings work is highly effective and letters before proceedings 

provide a detailed understanding to parents about what is expected of them. 
As a result, a substantial proportion of families are appropriately diverted from 
court processes."  Ofsted Inspection Report Bracknell Forest Council 13 June 
2022. 

 
1.33. Further CAFCASS have noted a significant reduction in urgent applications in 

Berkshire, compared to national figures, and that effective pre-proceedings 
work is a significant contributory factor. 

 
1.34. JLT has faced its own resourcing difficulties in attracting professionally 

qualified staff.  In order to provide sufficient coverage of lawyers, JLT has 
launched a learning and development strategy to ensure that qualified lawyers 
are grown from within the Service.  This is working well and is yielding results. 

 
1.35. We have worked with Reading University to build up an internship programme 

from small beginnings during the pandemic.  This summer saw four interns 
with us for the summer – all of whom were enthused by the work being done 
in JLT.   

 
1.36. We have a number of apprentices working towards legal qualifications.  We 

have developed paralegals to become solicitors and this year, two qualified as 
solicitors and took up positions in JLT lessening our need for locum lawyers.  
We have also recruited more trainee solicitors to start in autumn 2022.  We 
aim to eliminate our reliance on temporary locum staff by training and 
retaining sufficient team members for the Partners’ future needs.  We are also 
working with the Berkshire Monitoring officers to co-operate on the 
development of the legal workforce across the county, reducing gaps in 
service and dependence on locum staff.   

 
 
3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 The following are the key implications of this report. 

 
Table 2: Key Implications 

358



Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

The Royal 
Borough 
enters into a 
new shared 
services 
arrangement 
with JLT and 
the six other 
Berkshire 
LA. 

After 1st 
Sept 
2023 

1st Sept 
2023 

1st August 
2023 

1st July 2023  

 
 
4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

 
4.1 There are no financial consequences arising from the new Shared Service 

Agreement itself.  Although the Partners are not required to procure the Shared 
Service, they are still required to assure themselves of the best value duties of 
efficiency, effectiveness and economy.  It is submitted that this is discharged 
by scrutiny of JLT in the Board in accordance with the governance structures 
set up after the 2019 review and developed since then. 
 

4.2 The proposed Heads of Terms will enable an arrangement with increased 
budget stability and sufficient monitoring to enable the early identification of any 
emerging variances and their cause. 
 

 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

 
5.1 Following consultation with Berkshire Monitoring Officers, Reading BC 

commissioned legal advice from Browne Jacobson solicitors on behalf of all the 
Partners.  This was to provide independent reassurance on the legal 
implications of the new Shared Services Agreement.  This advice has been 
circulated to the Berkshire Monitoring Officers Group.   
 

5.2 The advice confirms that the Partners have power under the sections 1&3 of 
the Localism Act 2011 (known as the General Power of Competence) to put in 
place the proposed arrangement.   
 

5.3 The key difference between the proposed arrangement and the previous 
Shared Services Agreement was that the previous agreement only covered the 
relationship between six councils.  It was therefore appropriate to make the 
Agreement under those various local government powers traditionally used for 
supplying services and sharing staff between councils.  However, a number of 
councils have now delegated their powers relating to Children’s Services to 
companies using the delegations under the Children and Young Persons Act 
2008.  This is the case in Reading, Slough and Windsor and Maidenhead.   
 

359



5.4 The legal advice confirms that the Partners can organise the service as 
envisaged in the Heads of Terms provided that it is undertaken on a cost 
recovery basis.  If the Partners wished to consider a commercial basis for the 
Service then it would need to be delivered through a company.   
 

5.5 As regards procurement, the advice considers that on the current cost recovery 
model, the Partners fall within the exemption for a public partnership outlined in 
the Regulation 12 (7) Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  This means that the 
Service is not caught by the requirements of the Regulations to be tendered.   
 

5.6 Contracts which are established for co-operation between contracting 
authorities, contain the following three elements: 

 
5.6.1 The Contract establishes or implements a co-operation between the 

participating contracting authorities with the aim of ensuring that 
public services they have to perform are provided with a view to 
achieving objectives they have in common.  Each partner has a 
statutory duty to provide Children’s Services and Adult Social Care.  
Even if that duty is delegated to a company, that company is a “body 
governed by public law” in the definitions of the Regulations and is 
therefore counted as a contracting authority.  There is co-operation 
beyond the mere provision of a supply of a Service by Reading BC.  The 
Heads of Terms envisage a role for all Partners in the governance of JLT 
and the improvement of the Service for the overall benefit of all the 
Partners.  It is a Shared Service in the mutual interests of all Partners, 
and the pooling of specialist legal resource in one team allows all the 
Partners to better navigate the peaks and troughs of work.  These 
features mean that there is a dependency between all Partners not just 
between one Partner and JLT.   

5.6.2 The implementation of that co-operation is governed solely by 
considerations relating to the public interest.  The Heads of Terms 
confirm that JLT is not a commercial venture and that there is no intention 
to run it for surplus or profit.  The purposes are clearly stated to support 
the Partners in furtherance of their statutory functions.   

5.6.3 The participating contracting authorities perform on the open 
market less than 20% of the activities concerned by the co-
operation.  This is not relevant since there is no work performed on the 
open market.  Some work is performed for Berkshire schools in the 
ASCE team, but this is incidental to the main purposes of the Agreement.   

 
5.7 The Partners are therefore able to enter into this Shared Service Agreement 

and it is not required to be procured via the Public Contracts Regulations.   
 
 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
6.1 The proposed option is to enter into a shared services arrangement for legal 

services which support our social services.  The arrangement would be shared 
with the five other Berkshire local authorities. The potential risks arising from 
the operation of such an arrangement include: 

360



 
Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 

Threat or risk Impact 
with no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

There is a risk 
that the shared 
arrangement 
makes service 
changes which 
could result in 
negative 
impacts for the 
quality or cost of 
services in the 
Royal Borough. 

Major 3 
 

Medium 
 

A senior 
RBWM officer 
is a member 
of the JLT 
Governance 
Board, and a 
senior AfC 
practitioner is 
an active 
member of 
the JLT 
operational 
management 
group 

The JLT 
lead 
officer for 
RBWM 
will be 
invited to 
provide 6 
monthly 
updates to 
the 
RBWM 
service 
leaders 
(Children’s 
and 
Adults) to 
oversee 
the 
strategic 
plan for 
JLT 

Moderate 
2  
 

Low 
 

There is a risk 
that JLT is 
unable to 
deliver the 
service across 
Berkshire which 
could result in 
service delays 
which impacts 
the outcomes 
for vulnerable 
residents 

Major 3 Low A senior 
RBWM officer 
is a member 
of the JLT 
Governance 
Board 

None Major 3 Low 

  
 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  
 

7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.  
 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability. This report has no impact on sustainability or 

climate change, as it proposes to continue with the existing working relationship 
with a team based locally within Berkshire.  

 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. There is no Data Protection / GDPR issues arising from 

this report. 

361



 
 

8. CONSULTATION 
 

8.1 As covered in section 2 of this report, both the Berkshire Local Authority 
Monitoring Officers and Chief Executive groups have been involved in moving 
the proposal to this stage. 
 

8.2 The Executive Director of People Services has been engaged with the JLT 
Steering Group and has ensured that RBWM services which frequently use the 
JLT provisions are in agreement with the recommendations of this report. 

 
 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 
 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: ‘Immediately’. The full implementation 
stages are set out in table 4. 
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
  
  
  
  

 
 

10. APPENDICES  
 

10.1 This report is supported by four appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  
• Appendix B – JLT Child Law 
• Appendix C – JLT Adults and Education 
• Appendix D – Draft Heads of Terms 

 
 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

11.1 This report is not supported by background documents: 
 
 

12. CONSULTATION 
 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
27/2/23 1/3/23 

362



Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

27/2/23  

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
27/2/23  

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

27/2/23 2/3/23 

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer   

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 
or agree an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer   

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 27/2/23  
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 27/2/23  
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
  

Tessa Lindfield Director of Public Health   
Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

    
External (where 
relevant) 

   

Lin Ferguson Director of Children’s Services, 
Achieving for Children 

27/2/23 13/3/23 

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, Health and Mental 
Health 

Yes 

 
REPORT HISTORY  

 
Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Non-key decision  
 

No 
 

No 

 
Report Author: Kevin McDaniel, Executive Director of People Services 

 

363



 

Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 

 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Shared Service Agreement for Joint Legal Services 

Service area: 
 

Adult and Children’s Services 

Directorate: 
 

People 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

This proposal is for a revised shared services arrangement with the other five Berkshire Local 
Authorities. This arrangement will continue the work of the Joint Legal Team based in Reading 
with a revised agreement concerning Governance, cost and performance management of the 
overall service. 
 
The ambition is to maintain the high quality work with the local judiciary while delivering 
increased financial certainty for the council. 
 
 

 

 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  
• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming action 

plan) 
No.  This proposal will establish a joint service arrangement for case by case legal services which 
will be engaged in all cases where the council requires legal advice or support. 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

364

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


 

 

3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 

Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
 
 
 
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, disability, race, 
religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, marriage/civil 
partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
 

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  
• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
 

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible sources 
of information are in the Guidance document. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

365



 

4. Equality Analysis 

Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences of 
individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state ‘Not 
Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative impact 

Age 
 

   

Disability 
 

   

Sex 
 

   

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

   

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

   

Pregnancy and maternity    

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

   

Armed forces community    

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

   

366



Children in care/Care 
leavers 

   

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  

If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not applicable, 
leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics are able to 
benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in place to 
mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the target 
date for implementation. 

 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 

Completed by: Sarah Moran 
 

Date: 

Approved by: Kevin McDaniel 
 

Date: 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

367



  

368



Appendix B – JLT Childcare Law 

1. The JLT provides legal advice to Children’s Services from the point of a Legal 
Planning Meeting, as to whether a child’s circumstances have crossed the threshold 
under s31 Children Act 1989 that the child is suffering or is likely to suffer 
significant harm  and this harm is due to the care given to the child, or likely to be 
given to the child, not being what it would be reasonable to expect a parent to 
give to him or this harm is due to the child being beyond parental control. If the 
threshold is crossed, the Legal Planning Meeting decides whether to attempt to 
divert the family from care proceedings through the pre-proceedings process or to 
issue care proceedings to safeguard the child immediately and secure a plan for 
permanency. 

2. Whichever route is appropriate, takes into account the three overarching principles 
of the Children Act 1989: 

• The welfare of the child is the paramount consideration. 
• Delay is prejudicial to the welfare of children (S1(2) CA) 
• If at all possible, children are to be cared for within their family and the 

aim should be to reunite children and all efforts should be made to achieve 
this.  The least interventionist rather than the more interventionist 
approach is considered to be in the child’s best interest.  

3. The Children Act 1989 became legislation on 14 October 1991.  Since that date the 
growing and changing guidance through case law and statutory amendments has 
created a challenging, complex and ever developing area of law.    

4. In April 2008, the Public Law Outline procedure was created to avoid delay in care 
proceedings.  This process puts the responsibility for managing the timetable onto 
the Court.  Any deviation from the Court timetable must be explained by the non-
compliant party and the Judge must be satisfied that the explanation meets the 
prescribed reasons for delay.  The reasons for delay are recorded and sent to the 
Ministry of Justice and are used to compile the performance information that is 
published nationally.  

5. The Public Law Outline also introduced the Pre-proceedings Process (meeting with 
parents to tell them what they must do to prevent the LA making an application to 
the Court to remove their children from their care) and the ‘front-loading’ of 
evidence which is completed prior to issuing care proceedings.   

6. In 2009 the Baby Peter Serious Case Review report was published.  The shockwaves 
from this case reverberated through all areas of child protection including the 
lawyers that left an “element of fear” (Munro report) in child protection work. 

7. The Government’s response was to put in place bureaucratic processes and social 
work became focused on procedure rather than child protection.  Problems with 
recruitment and retention of social workers became a major issue. 

8. In 2010 the Munro report recommended cutting down on the Government 
prescriptive guidance and replacing it with greater trust in professional judgement. 

9. In 2011 further guidance was given that care proceedings should be completed with 
26 weeks. 

369



10. In April 2014 the revised Public Outline came into effect.  It gave new guidance on 
allocation and gatekeeping of care and supervision orders; the number and type of 
hearings in care proceedings and the use of new prescribed forms. 

11. In April 2014, the Children and Families Act 2014 came into force.  This Act placed 
into statute that care proceedings must be completed within a mandatory 26 
weeks, (subject to a limited statutory exception).   

12. Leading up to and following the introduction of the 26 week timeline the number 
of care proceedings dropped considerably.  In July 2014 the JLT held only 71 sets of 
care proceedings across all six unitary authorities. 

13. In 2014 the judgment in Re BS, the Court of Appeal re-emphasised that adoption 
orders were a significant interference with human rights and that where adoption 
was a realistic option the Court is required to look at all the realistic options, that 
local authorities should try to propose supports to aid other avenues to the family 
before reaching the final view that nothing else will do for the child for whom 
adoption is the proposed plan for permanency. Re BS had a considerable impact on 
care proceedings and permanency planning for children. 

14. Research indicated that nationally local authorities had been using their power 
under S20 Children Act 1989 to avoid the need to go to Court. This is a duty on 
local authorities to provide accommodation for a child (who becomes ‘looked 
after’) and requires a parent’s agreement.   

15. 2015 also saw the beginning of Human Rights claims against local authorities for 
the improper use of S20 CA 1989.  Damages were awarded of up to £20,000.00.  
This caused local authorities to review their use of S20 Children Act 1989 resulting 
in a significant increase in care proceedings.  

16. From May 2015 there was a significant spike in the number of care proceedings 
being issued.  This was a nationwide trend.  JLT held 103 cases at that time. 

17. The JLT was involved in tightening up the procedures and processes around S20 CA 
1989 as often these children were not referred for legal advice. 

18. From May 2016 the JLT’s work began to increase significantly: 

• May 2016 -139 cases 
• May 2017 – 156 cases 
• May 2018 – 165 cases  
• May 2019 – 167 cases 
• May 2020 – 136 cases 
• May 2021 – 161 cases 
• May 2022 – 171 cases 

19. The requirement to meet the 26 week deadline, the increase in cases and 
increasing complexity due to Re BS meant the lawyers were managing more cases 
in a shorter period of time.  The inability to meet the 26 weeks deadline and the 
difficulties faced by Children’s Services teams to be able to comply with directions 
because of unstable locum workforce issues, meant the legal inputs in many cases 
increased to address these issues within the Court arena.  Tracking systems are 
managed by the Case Managers in JLT to support the clients with complying with 

370



timescales.  The average time for cases to conclude across the six client authorities 
is as follows: 

• 2014 – 31.7 
• 2015 – 27.9 
• 2016 – 31.5 
• 2017 – 32.8 
• 2018 – 36.7 
• 2019 – 34.7 
• 2020 – 44.4 
• 2021 – 45.5 

20. The worsening figures reflects the increasing pressures in client authorities 
including high staff turnover resulting in drift and delay. However there have also 
been issues with Court timetables, judicial availability and latterly the challenges 
brought on by the Covid pandemic.   

21. The latest development in Public Law is the “Recommendations to achieve best 
practice in the child protection and family justice systems”.  This was 
commissioned by the President of the Family Division and whilst it recognises the 
pressure on professionals working within public law and its intention to simplify the 
system it makes 52 recommendations, which need to be embedded into practice 
(both JLT and Children’s Services teams) and recognised in a Service Level 
Agreement between JLT and the Partners.  Work on this is underway.   

Complex and high-cost cases 

22. Partners are rightly concerned about the number of cases which are categorised as 
complex.  These cases usually involve multiple experts, extensive evidence and 
lengthy hearings to resolve.   

23. When considering these cases, it must be remembered that it is for the local 
authority to prove, on the balance of probabilities, the facts upon which it seeks to 
rely.  It is not for the parent to disprove the case.  If the local authority is 
challenged on a factual point, it must adduce proper evidence to establish what it 
seeks to prove and produce the best evidence to support its case.  A key feature of 
complex cases is that the parents challenge the facts and witness statements need 
to be collected.  For example, in some complex cases there have been 40+ 
witnesses required to prove the LA’s case (these include witnesses from partner 
agencies). 

24. A complex case is defined by JLT as a case that has one or more of the following 
factors: 

• Complex emotional abuse cases with a long history, a novel background or 
fabricated or induced illness. 

• Serious child injury or death of a child in the family including those with a 
pool of potential perpetrators and complex or conflicting evidence. 

• Serious sexual abuse cases where there are multiple perpetrators 
• Cases with an international element requiring consideration of complex 

legal issues 
• The case is sensitive to the client authority 

371



25. By their very nature complex cases are high-cost cases.  King’s Counsel is often 
instructed to manage the serious and complex nature of the work.  This becomes a 
significant extra cost.  KC’s often work on only one or two cases so they can 
manage the volume of work produced in a complex local authority case.  A senior 
junior barrister may be able to manage the complexity but does not hold an 
exclusive practice and does not, therefore have the time to concentrate on the 
detail; this can impact negatively on the outcome of a case.    

26. In recent years JLT has worked with Partners to manage the high-cost cases and 
ensure there is proper management oversight of cases which are briefed to outside 
counsel.  The high cost of these cases is exacerbated by the increase in complexity 
which JLT has seen both during and post the covid pandemic.  These can be 
illustrated by the number of Court days required to bring these cases to a 
conclusion.   

27. In 2021-22 (figures up to August 2022), the following cases were concluded:  20 x 5 
days, 1 x 6 day hearing, 3 x 7 day hearings, 3 x 10 day hearings, 4 x 8 day hearings, 
1 x 11 day hearing, 1 x 15 day hearing, 1 x 20 day hearing and 1 x 26 day hearing.  

Summary 

28. The history of childcare work since JLT was founded is therefore a story of greater 
focus on timescales and decreasing risk tolerance at a national level, greater 
judicial scrutiny of s20 arrangements and permanency planning through adoption, 
greater complexity and procedural requirements throughout the system.  All of this 
has resulted in additional work and a growth of the team to the current levels.  
Throughout that time, the JLT childcare teams have acted as a safety-net for the 
Partners, always being available to respond and adapt to the changing 
environment.   

 

372



Appendix C – JLT Adult Social Care and Education (ASCE) 

1. The increase in interest in these areas by Government has seen this area of law 
grow and develop at a rapid rate.  The ASCE Team is the JLT’s largest growth area 
and its very successful in achieving good legal outcomes for the Partners, 
particularly in defending local education authorities from potentially expensive 
Special Educational Needs (SEN) placements.  

SEN Appeals  

2. There has been a dramatic rise in the number of children and young people eligible 
for Education, Care and Health Plans (EHCP’S), this is a nationwide increase. The 
information below shows an increase in SEND work across four JLT client 
authorities.  We are dealing with more complex cases which require expert and 
focused legal input to achieve good outcomes for clients. For example, we have 
seen increased cases where parents are appealing for expensive placements such as 
residential colleges, such placements are in excess of £250,000 per annum and the 
standard course is for three years, equalling nearly £1,000,000 for each placement. 
We are working with adult social care teams and local colleges to draft packages of 
social care and educational provision that can meet the needs of adults with 
special educational needs whilst also ensuring that they continue to maintain their 
links with the local community. 

3. We have seen a substantial increase in SEN appeals accompanied with SAR, FOIA 
requests, letters from councillors requesting information on the decision made. 
Letters before action threatening damages claims for lack of educational provision. 
Letters before action threatening judicial reviews for loss of educational provision. 
There is an increase in complex appeals for pupils especially in relation to packages 
of social care support and bespoke educational provision outside of school.  We 
have concluded a successful appeal where the parents were seeking a home 
placement with costs of educational provision and care support amounting to over 
£450,000 per annum.  

Cost avoidance in SEN cases in 2022: 
 
• Slough:  £30,000 
• WBC: £243,000 
• RBWM: £7,000 
• Reading: £150,000 

Total YTD: £430,000 

4. We have been instructed by schools in the borough to represent them on disability 
discrimination appeals. We have achieved successful outcomes for the schools. Our 
Discrimination Disability success rate is 100%  

Education prosecutions  

5. We are assisting two councils with education prosecutions. The new guidance and 
duties that councils have was shared in a team meeting on 26th September to 
Wokingham, RBWM and RBC. Training for the education welfare officers is proposed 
for November. 

Fair cost of care exercise guidance  

6. We are working with clients on the costs of care exercise and have drafted 
guidance notes.   

373



Judicial Reviews 

7. We have seen a significant increase in judicial review cases, these are 
predominantly on the putative unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC) who 
arrive in the UK and claim to be minors requiring s17 and s20 Children Act services. 
We have provided training to clients on the Merton compliant evidence required to 
challenge such cases and have provided precedent statements to assist social 
services departments. Successful challenges have been achieved where we have 
been able to produce corroborating evidence.  These cases require immediate 
attention and have significant cost implications for Partners if they are not dealt 
with properly. Judicial Reviews are becoming increasingly complex and there are 
firms of solicitors who now have dedicated teams to challenge decisions made by 
public bodies on behalf of their clients. 

The Table below clearly illustrates how the number of fee-earning hours spent on 
JR cases has increased since 2018-19: 

Judicial Review Hours 

Judicial Review 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 Grand Total 
Sum of Hours 597.28 332.3 1035.62 665.56 2630.76 

Note 22-23 figures are April – September inclusive. 

Client 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 
Grand 
Total 

JLT - Advice to schools (all clients) 25 1 171 96 293 
JLT - Bracknell Forest Council 7640 6474 7742 4128 25984 
JLT - Bracknell Forest Council (Adult 
Social Care)     12 4 16 
JLT - Reading Borough Council 16795 14875 12323 5701 49693 
JLT – Reading Borough Council (Adult 
Social Care) 2683 1671 3931 1843 10128 
JLT - Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead 6133 6129 7631 4358 24251 
JLT - Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead (Adult Social Care) 1313 1662 1922 703 5600 
JLT - Slough BC (EDUCATION ONLY) 501 538 835 699 2574 
JLT - Slough Children First 13351 13462 12529 6452 45795 
JLT - West Berks Council 5066 5245 5179 3480 18969 
JLT - Wokingham Borough Council 7464 6572 5026 4197 23259 
JLT – Wokingham Borough Council (Adult 
Social Care) 1180 1620 1347 599 4746 
JLT – Wokingham Borough Council 
(SEND) 1422 857 1074 471 3823 
Grand Total 63571 59107 59722 32731 215131 

Hours rounded. 

 

Court of Protection cases  

8. We have seen an increase of COP cases, overall, for all client authorities an 
increase of 30%. We predict a general increase of COP work. The new liberty 
protection safeguards will be in place in 2023, training and guidance notes will be 
provided by Spring 2023.  

Inquests  

374



9. We have advised both Wokingham and Reading on Inquests this year, We have 
attended an inquest on Wokingham’s behalf and reported on the case to all 
agencies concerned.  

10. OA review of recent case activity shows a marked 52% increase in cases over the 
last four years: 

Ombudsman cases 

11. The ASCE Team, is now seeing an increased number of complaints and claims being 
made by parents to the Local Government Ombudsman for failure to provide 
alternative educational provision.  In one case concerning Surrey this year the LGO 
ordered an award of £10,000.  In Berkshire, there are still a large number of 
children who have not returned to school following the pandemic and so there is 
potential for claims to be made against our Partners as a result.   

 

 

ASC & Education Team Hours (based on work types) 

Client 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 
Grand 
Total 

JLT - Reading Borough Council 2569.78 3063.49 2502.16 977.76 9113.19 
JLT – Reading Borough Council 
(Adult Social Care) 2649.7 1564.68 3910.91 1760.61 9885.9 
JLT - Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead 1242.59 810.08 833.9 662.34 3548.91 
JLT - Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead (Adult Social 
Care) 1309.42 1656.36 1921.68 702.74 5590.2 
JLT - Slough BC (EDUCATION 
ONLY) 500.96 538.35 835.05 699.35 2573.71 
JLT - Slough Children First 1264.91 1014.04 810.21 423.82 3512.98 
JLT - Wokingham Borough Council 228.51 213.2 277.35 156.1 875.16 
JLT – Wokingham Borough 
Council (Adult Social Care) 1170.14 1494.15 1281.67 590.94 4536.9 
JLT – Wokingham Borough 
Council (SEND) 1421.58 856.78 1074.18 470.57 3823.11 

Grand Total 12357.59 11211.13 13447.11 6444.23 
43460.0
6 

375



 

Judicial Review Case Numbers (based on work types)  

Client 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 
Grand 
Total 

JLT - Bracknell Forest Council       2 2 
JLT - Reading Borough Council 1 4 23 2 30 
JLT – Reading Borough Council (Adult 
Social Care) 1 1 3   5 
JLT - Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead 2 3 1 1 7 
JLT - Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead (Adult Social Care)       1 1 
JLT - Slough Children First 14 7 18 8 47 
JLT - West Berks Council     1   1 
JLT - Wokingham Borough Council 2 1     3 
JLT – Wokingham Borough Council (Adult 
Social Care)     1   1 
JLT – Wokingham Borough Council 
(SEND)   2 1 2 5 
Grand Total 20 18 48 16 102 

 

  

376



Appendix D 

Joint Legal Team 

Heads of Terms – New Shared Service Agreement – subject to contract 

Draft dated: Changes following 20 October 2022 meeting  

Context – this note signifies the main objectives of the partners in the Joint Legal Team.  
It is not a legal document.  It is prepared to cover the main points to be later included in a 
shared service agreement.  It is expected that the final document will include standard 
clauses to deal with such matters as: 

• Legal Powers 
• Indemnity and insurance 
• Assignment and sub-contracting 
• Variation clauses 
• Termination clauses 
• Intellectual property 
• Duty to co-operate with any complaint 
• Disagreement and disputes 
• Public body/local government statutory requirements such as FOI, DPA etc  

Strategic Intent 

1) The six councils in Berkshire intend to operate a shared service for the provision of 
a specialist adult and children’s social care and education legal service (‘the JLT’).  
The JLT is hosted and managed by Reading BC for the mutual benefit of all councils 
in Berkshire.  The current take up of services is shown at Appendix 1 as not all 
councils take all of the services.   

2) The councils intend to pool resource in the team to ensure that overall the legal 
services are delivered through the peaks and troughs that a single council might 
encounter.    

3) The councils intend to share in the skills and experience accumulated in the JLT for 
the better performance of their social care functions.   

4) Reading BC is the host council of the JLT and is also a customer of the JLT as the 
costs of the legal services used by Brighter Futures for Children are defrayed by the 
Reading BC alongside its own Adult cases.  Reading BC will run the JLT for itself 
and the other councils under a contract for shared services taking into account the 
Best Value duty of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.   

5) The most efficient, effective and economical use of resources in the JLT allows the 
six councils to deploy resources in circumstances when and where they are most 
needed in adult and children’s social care and education.  JLT is a key partner in 
the delivery of best value in these functions.  All parties will work to a 
preventative presumption that keeping cases out of litigation is better for families 
and this is the underlying ethos of JLT.   

Objectives 

6) The objectives of the JLT are as follows: 
a) To support the social care and education teams in Berkshire so that they 

can deliver an excellent service to their clients. 
b) To provide a centre of excellence for social care and education legal work 

which is recognised by the councils, the Courts and other stakeholders 
across Berkshire and nationally.   

377



c) To provide a quality legal service making the best use of people, 
information and technology and which meets the needs of the councils and 
the partners with whom they work. 

d) To provide a value for money service with a focus on continuous 
improvement in the efficiency of the team and transparency of costs.   

e) To be accountable for its work and provide the necessary information to 
allow the councils to track their expenditure and manage their operations 
effectively.   

f) To monitor the complex and high-cost cases to ensure these are delivered 
efficiently, effectively and economically.   

g) To provide value added services such as general advice and training which 
allow all councils to take advantage of the expertise of the JLT. 

h) To participate in the improvement of social care and education services 
generally in Berkshire in accordance with the preventative presumption.   

The Service 

7) The work of the shared service is as shown below and in Appendix 1 (for 
illustration):  
a) To provide legal advice and support in respect of all Childcare legal 

matters. 
b) To provide legal advice and support in respect of all Adoption maters. 
c) To provide legal advice and support in respect of Adult Social Care matters 

to those councils who wish to buy this service. 
d) To provide legal advice and support in respect of Education matters to 

those councils who wish to buy this service.  (Primarily SENDIST work but 
also includes other worktypes such as School attendance prosecutions). 

e) To provide legal advice and support in respect of third-party police 
disclosure matters. 

f) To provide legal advice and support in respect of any other matters that 
comes under the remit of children, adult and education services as 
requested by the councils.  Any changes in scope to be advised to the Board 
(see below).  

g) To proactively engage with the councils to ensure that the learning & advice 
provided by the JLT is available to assist with service improvement and 
development in the wider Berkshire social care and education functions.  

The Parties to the Agreement 

8) All six councils in Berkshire will ensure that their respective companies responsible 
for service delivery of different social care or education functions are aware of the 
agreement.  All councils to ensure that their respective company / trust partners 
are fully sighted on this Heads of Terms.   

Representatives 

9) Each Council will nominate a representative for the purposes of negotiating this 
Agreement.  The role of the representative is to consult 360 degrees in their own 
organisation (any associated company) to ensure that all relevant issues which 
pertain to the JLT have been brought into this Heads of Terms negotiation and 
advised to the other partners. 

Organisation Representative 

Bracknell Forest Council Manjit Hogston 

378



Reading BC (including Brighter Futures 
for Children) 

Brian Grady  

Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead  

 Lin Ferguson 

Slough BC (including Slough Children 
First) 

Carol Douch 

West Berkshire Council  Pete Campbell 

Wokingham BC  Viki Elliot-King 

 

10) For JLT – Michael Graham, Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services, 
Reading BC. 

Assumptions underpinning this Agreement 

11) There is a partnership approach to this Agreement which means that Reading BC as 
the host council will engage with all councils through various pathways.  This 
includes:  
a) the JLT Joint Agreement Board (JAB) to overview the operation of this shared 

service to ensure all partners are consulted on significant new developments 
and have the opportunity to hold the JLT accountable for the operation of the 
Agreement; 

b) the commissioning/contract manager in respect of the delivery of services and 
performance indicators under this agreement; and 

c) The finance departments in respect to budgets, fees and payments and 
accounting for this.   

12) JLT is a mature team having existed for over 20 years.  The stability of the team 
means that in the ordinary course of events, investment from the councils is not 
expected nor are guarantees to underwrite the JLT costs appropriate.  In 
exceptional circumstances where service redesign with financial consequences is 
considered necessary this will require prior agreement of each Council impacted 
under recommendation from the JAB.   

13) The Agreement will make provision for exceptional circumstances whereby the 
parties seek to dissolve the Agreement and provide the legal service for 
themselves, via a third party provider or in partnership with another organisation.  
In these instances, it is reasonable to expect that as a mutual service all councils 
would pick up their share of one off project, transitional and consequential costs to 
leave the Reading BC in a neutral position.  Exceptional circumstances – where 
multiple partners are dissatisfied and seek to leave the Service and where Reading 
BC has been unable to affect change in JLT and the JAB has been unable to affect 
change to the necessary improvements in service.   

14) Where one party seeks to leave the agreement, it is expected that they will be 
responsible for meeting any one off, transitional and consequential costs, unless 
those costs can be absorbed in the remainder of the Service.  E.g. if staff can be 
redeployed to the benefit of a remaining council.     

15) Where Reading BC seeks to make exceptional changes requiring investment in the 
team or redundancies, it will consult with the Councils via the JAB to inform them 
if there is any risk to the relevant clauses in this Agreement being invoked. Reading 
BC will only proceed with the change when the consent of all those Councils 
impacted by the change has been received (and not unreasonably withheld). In the 
absence of consent then Reading BC bear the costs.   

379



16) In the ordinary course of events, Reading BC will work within this Agreement to 
manage service volumes, the quality of the service, achievement of stated 
objectives and the management of costs.  The Agreement will be reviewed 
annually at the JAB to see if any changes are required. 

Status of this Agreement 

17) This Agreement supersedes all others (to be listed for completeness): 
a) Previous Joint Agreement 
b) [Relevant parts of the] Reading SLA with Brighter Futures for Children 
c) RBW&M Agreement 
d) SLA with Slough Children’s Services Trust 

Term of this Agreement 

18) The term of this Agreement shall be 5 years from the date of completion of the 
Agreement. 

Accountability 

19) Reading BC will ensure that a relevant council will have compete visibility of their 
cases, progress, costs and disbursements on a monthly basis and (in 
anonymised/general terms) the same detail for all parties receiving services from 
Reading BC.  Reading BC will develop, and JAB will agree, a range of reports with 
the parties to provide the necessary performance data to allow for tracking the key 
performance indicators for the operation of the Service and financial information.  
These will be sent in week one of each month.   

20) Reading BC will ensure that a schedule of meetings is developed to allow the 
councils to review the reports and performance information.  This will include 
strategic, operational and financial meetings which allow the councils to scrutinise 
their performance information.   

21)  The JAB will agree a mechanism upon recommendation from Reading BC for the 
projection of financial commitments for cases and disbursements. To be monitored 
through the JAB. 

22)  The JAB will agree an approach to the project management of high cost cases 
which will allow for detailed analysis of projected costs and disbursements upon 
recommendation from Reading BC.   

23) The sufficiency of performance data will be agreed by all parties as part of the JAB 
and reviewed on an annual basis.  Where changes are required the reports will be 
updated for all parties.  All parties to agree the performance data requirements of 
the Service together.   

24) Where any party has a particular need for a bespoke report for any particular 
function, then this can be provided by JLT, but this may be a charged for service 
(to the requesting council) if it requires support from the software supplier to 
implement.   

Service volumes 

25) The parties will work together to allow for the reasonable mutual planning of 
caseload.  This includes the attendance of council/company/trust personnel with 
JLT staff to meet at monthly client liaison meetings.   

26) The JLT is a demand led service and does not turn work away.  To manage the 
workload the JLT will work with the partners through the tracking route and 
regular meetings, no less than monthly, between the JLT Team Leader and a 
nominated person from the client authority to: 
a) Review caseloads 
b) Review decision making for cases (where necessary) 

380



c) Set realistic deadlines 
d) Mutually agree the priority of matters according to urgency 
e) Identify opportunities for all parties to work in accordance with the 

preventative presumption 
f) Mutually agree any external spend on disbursements prior to expenditure 

including but not limited to counsel, independent experts and independent 
social workers  

Partner responsibilities 

27) The nature of JLT’s reactive and demand led service means that partners are 
incentivised to help JLT reduce demand.  This means, working with the PLO in the 
pre-proceedings team as effectively as possible, accepting standardised processes 
and ways of working, passing instructions in accordance with best practice.  The 
partners and JLT need to work to together to reduce demand and identify the least 
interventionalist process that meets the needs of the vulnerable child or adult and 
always in accordance with the preventative presumption mentioned at paragraph 5 
above 

28) The responsibilities of partners will be itemised in Service Level Agreements which 
will be negotiated with JAB to ensure that all partners can work as efficiently and 
effectively as possible and make the best use of resources. 

29) [Performance measures – can be in SLA or the Service Development Plan – see 
Governance section post – most likely SLA] 

30) Each council should appoint a contract manager to be the main point of contact 
under this Shared Services Agreement.   

Current costs – hourly rates 

31) Budget Setting will start in October each year with a view to preparing Draft 
Budgets which allow the partners to understand costs for the following year and 
the – Process by which costs are included as overhead costs. 

32) There will be an End of Year calculation of costs.  This will be reviewed in the 
January of each year to complete after Year End.  This will be based on a true up 
between costs, based upon total costs and based upon utilisation of the services 
using the number of hours incurred as a measure of activity.  The True-up is to 
review whether costs where over or below expected, so that amendments can be 
made in the following year.   

33) At present, and for the immediate future, costs are apportioned on the basis of an 
hourly utilisation. The initial estimate hourly rate is based to ensure that the work 
can be charged on the matter according to the resource which is required to deal 
with it.  The hourly rates system allows for the fair distribution of additional 
overheads as part of lawyers’ time.  In this way, all councils will contribute to the 
Service overheads according to the basis that they are used.   

34) The hourly rate will be built up from direct staffing costs, direct costs and 
overhead costs.  No VAT is charged between councils on these supplies.   

35) Overhead costs includes all associated apportioned costs typical for any council 
service such as staffing costs (such as pensions, insurance and oncosts), 
management costs (to Assistant Director level), support services (HR, Procurement, 
ICT, and Finance) and property costs and also includes costs associated to the 
management of a legal service including registration fees, insurance, legal 
software and library resources.   

36) To allow for peaks and troughs in work and the possibility that the JLT may under 
or over recover, the Service will aim to break even over a rolling three-year period.   

37) Hourly rates will be charged on a graduated basis to encourage work to be 
undertaken at the most appropriate and cost-effective level to be agreed between 
Reading BC and the relevant council.  These levels will be: 

381



a) Unqualified or administrative staff 
b) Trainees or paralegals 
c) Newly qualified lawyers 
d) Senior lawyers 
e) Principal lawyers  
f) Team Leaders 
g) Assistant Director 

38) Overheads from a proportion of administrative staff time and managerial time will 
be built into the hourly rates.  These proportions will be reviewed annually by JAB 
to ensure there is no element of double counting of time that is overhead and time 
which is directly charged.   

39) Reading BC will issue invoices monthly in arrears after reports have been sent to 
allow for necessary enquiries to be made on cases and time spent etc. 

40) [End of Year reconciliation & balancing charge payable – there should be a process 
which is agreed by JAB (and s151 officers) so that some amounts might be “cleared 
off” in the year are not carried forward.  Some guidance on management of 
variances will be agreed through JAB.   

41) JAB to challenge JLT to make financial savings which can be realised by the 
councils.  These requirements to be built into the SDP.   

Disbursements 

42) Reading BC does not manage client funds on their behalf.  Reading BC will incur a 
range of disbursements on matters which the parties will reimburse within 28 days 
of receiving an invoice from the Council.  Invoices to recover disbursements will be 
issued monthly.   

43) Disbursements are charged by the third parties to Reading BC and Reading BC will 
recover the VAT. Disbursement invoices issued [Mention how VAT treated on this]  

44) Reading BC will procure the following according to principles of Best Value and 
Social Value: 
a) Experts (note that these have mainly Court stipulated rates) 
b) Independent social workers – query if this is a JLT function – we think it should 

be with the client authority. 
c) Counsel 

45) The host council may enter into a Dynamic Purchasing System or Framework 
Agreement on behalf of the councils and companies/trust.  The cost of doing so is a 
proper overhead on JLT as it will produce longer-run savings for all partners. 

 
Costs & Forecasting 

46) In week 1 of each month the Reading BC will run a report for the parties which 
shows their legal costs against each case for the proceeding period.  The report is 
not an invoice.  In addition, Reading BC will produce headline reports for spend for 
entire service across all councils. Both instances, spend for cases and service level 
should be forecasted. 

47) The purpose of the report is to allow for prompt enquiry and scrutiny of costs and 
enable each council to manage overspend and in year changes to costs.  It is 
expected that all parties will endeavour to raise queries on cases promptly and 
definitely before the next reporting cycle.   

48) JLT will meet with each client in week 2 of the month to review cases and to pick 
up any queries, relating to costs and disbursements etc.   

49) JLT will issue invoices in week 3 of the month to each client department in 
accordance with Schedule 2 [procedures and contacts for invoices] 

50) The final outturn for the preceding financial year will be delivered to JAB by end 
May in each year.   

382



51) Agency Costs.  JLT will identify circumstances where councils are paying additional 
fees because of agency costs for temporary staff.  A mechanism to monitor this is 
to be agreed through JAB.   

High Costs cases 

52) Where high cost complex cases arise (fees projected to be > £x ], JLT will 
implement a system to agree and control costs which will involve: 
a) Project management of the matter 
b) Agreed gateways and costs estimates 
c) Best use of internal and external lawyers and experts 

Future costs 

53) In agreement with all parties, JLT will seek to move from a position of charging by 
hourly rates to a system of planned fixed budgets which allow the parties to have 
more certainty on costs.  This will utilise experience from predicting costs on 
routine matters (para 19 above) and the project management of High Cost cases 
(para 42 above).   

54) This objective will be overseen by JAB to ensure that all councils agree the 
assumptions behind the future charging model.   

55) Use of external Counsel will be monitored through JAB.  JLT will not seek to use 
external counsel where inhouse expertise exists.  JLT will continually monitor the 
need for internal capacity to undertake advocacy and Court appointments in the 
most cost effective way.  

Governance  

56) This partnership agreement will be monitored through JAB.  JAB is not a formal 
committee between the councils – it is an informal officer working group for the 
purpose of securing accountability under this Agreement.   

57) Each party to nominate at least one member of staff to attend JAB and to ensure 
attendance by a deputy or alternate if the first choice is not available.  This may 
include Service representatives and/or finance representatives.   

58) The objectives of JJAB are to monitor the achievement of JLT objectives under this 
Agreement and to agree a Service Level Agreement (SLA) and Service Development 
Plan (SDP) which outline further detailed service standards, objectives and 
performance improvement milestones for the JLT.   

59) The Terms of Reference of JAB will be agreed by consensus by JAB and kept under 
review to ensure flexibility. The ToR can only be amended with the consent of all 
the parties. 

60) The Terms of Reference may includes  
a) membership,  
b) representation  
c) roles and responsibilities  
d) meeting frequency 
e)  preparation and agreement of the SDP 
f) , performance measures and reporting - [ ]. 
g) Disputes resolution role ? 
h) Budget setting & service recommendations 
i) Contract & performance management & review 

61) The intention is for JAB to have the ability to ask for more information and 
meetings when required, but to reduce contact where things are working as 
anticipated. 

383



62) Reading BC will prepare the Service Level Agreement and the Service Development 
Plan for JAB to agree.  Reading BC will service the JAB and provide a range of 
management information as envisaged by the SLA and SDP.   

63) Nothing in the SLA or SDP should require Reading BC to incur expenditure which is 
not agreed in the Council’s JLT budget.   

Change control 

64) Where a party wishes to add to the services it is seeking from JLT the party 
concerned and the host council will agree terms in line with the Joint Agreement 
providing that such change does not impact on the service provided to the other 
parties.  JAB will be consulted and will be entitled to satisfy itself that this will 
have no adverse effect on the delivery of services to other parties.   

65) Where a party wishes to alter the service it receives from JLT, removing part of a 
service but not removing all of the services, then that party should give at least 12 
months’ written notice.  JAB shall be consulted in advance of the notice being 
given to satisfy itself that there will be no adverse effect on the delivery of 
services to the other parties.  Where the host Council and JAB agree that a shorter 
notice period will have no negative effect on service a shorter notice period may 
be negotiated.  

Termination clauses 

66) To exit the Joint Agreement (i.e. removing all of the services from JLT) a party 
must consult JJAB (allowing adequate time for meaningful consideration and 
dialogue) and give at least 12 months’ notice.   

67) Where JLT consistently defaults on the service standards as set out in the SLA, and 
the matter has been referred to JAB for resolution, and there has been no 
improvement from JLT then the aggrieved party may give six months’ notice to 
expire at any time to exit the Joint Agreement.   

68) The costs of exit in terms of staff redundancy and other direct costs are to be paid 
by the exiting party to the host council.  Where these costs are not agreed the 
matter shall be referred to the JAB for mediation.  Where there remains 
disagreement, this is to be resolved by the Berkshire Chief Executives.   

69) Where there has been consistent default by JLT, and where JAB has not been able 
to affect a change, then costs arising from the default may be attributable to 
Reading BC.  JAB to have a role in the fair apportionment of costs. 

70) In either case, there will be an Exit plan agreed by the exiting party and the host 
council to cover matters such as handover of cases, TUPE, etc.  All parties will 
endeavour to redeploy staff so as to ensure exposure to redundancy is eliminated 
where possible or otherwise limited. 
 

  

384



October 2020 – Services Provided by JLT 

Council Pre-
Proceed. 

Care Adoption Police 
Disclosure 

Adults Education 

Bracknell 
Forest 

      

Reading BC      

 

• BFfC       

Slough       

• SCF       

Windsor and 
Maidenhead 

      

• AFC       

• Optalis       

West Berks       

Wokingham       

 

385



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report Title: Borough Wide Heritage Strategy and 
Action Plan Update   

Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Phil Haseler, Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Parking, Highways & Transport 

Meeting and Date: 30th March 2023 

Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place 
Services 

 Adrien Waite, Head of Planning 

Wards affected:   All 

 
REPORT SUMMARY 

 
1. In April 2019 Cabinet agreed the production of a Borough Wide Heritage 

Strategy and Action Plan. The project sought to identify and celebrate the 
importance of the Borough’s heritage, provide strategies for its protection and 
enhancement, and consider how best to interpret and harness this special 
resource for the benefit of the community, visitors, and the local economy.  

2. The project commenced but was paused as a result of the Covid pandemic, 
which made in- person public consultation, an important element of the work, 
challenging. 

3. This report is an update of the April 2019 report setting out the process for the 
recommencement of the work. It covers the updating of the project brief to take 
account of the altered timetable for the project, work already undertaken by the 
consultant and recent changes to policy. It also notes the need to update the 
original contract with the consultant. 

4. The aims of the project remain unaltered and meet the Council’s current key 
corporate objective to create inspiring places. A final draft of the project 
documents will be reported to Cabinet for approval. 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

  RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the updated information and: 
 

i) Approves the revised brief for a Borough Wide Heritage Strategy 
and Action Plan 

ii) Agrees the re-commencement of the project in accordance with the 
updated brief and timetable    

 
2. REASON(S) FOR THE UPDATE 
 
2.1 In April 2019 Cabinet agreed that the Council would provide an innovative 

Heritage Strategy driven by the local community that harnessed their views and 
experience of local heritage. It aimed to bring interested parties, local people, 
groups, and other stakeholders together to generate a shared vision for the 
future of the borough’s heritage and to provide priorities and proposals for how 
these will be implemented. Key aims were to promote partnership, and to 
generate educational, cultural, and economic opportunities for the Borough as 

 

387

Agenda Item 11



a whole. Despite the delay, the overall objectives of the project remain 
unchanged. 

 
2.2 The consultant commenced the project in accordance with the agreed brief in 

2019 and a number of initial background reports were provided. Covid, 

unfortunately, resulted in the consultant being unable to undertake satisfactory 

in- person public consultation, an important part of the project, and work was 

paused in 2020. In the intervening time, National and Council policies 

changed, for example, The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was 

updated, and a new Borough Local Plan (BLP) and Corporate Plan adopted. 

The BLP particularly notes the Heritage Strategy in paras 11.1.3 and 11.2.9. 

In addition, the chosen contractor merged with a larger organisation meaning 

that the original works contract now needs to be updated to address this 

change.  

2.3 Although noted in the Borough Local Plan as Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD), as agreed in the previous report summary, the strategy will 

not be an SPD. This has advantages as it allows the creation of a holistic 

document that can deal with a variety of issues - as heritage is not 

constrained to planning. This is important as the successful management of 

the historic environment lies in the ability to engage with other agendas such 

as growth, education, tourism, economy, sustainability, and community. The 

strategy is intended to be informed by multiple peer reviews and such 

consultations could not be undertaken in the production of an SPD. The 

strategy will, however, be a material consideration in determining planning 

and listed building applications.  

2.4 The original funding from the Planning Development Fund is still available for 

the production of the Strategy and Action Plan. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 That the Strategy and Action Plan will be recommenced and completed within 

a revised time frame of 18 months from 1st May 2023. The work will be 

undertaken by the approved contractor in accordance with the attached 

updated project brief, this forms Appendix B. Whilst public consultation will be 

facilitated primarily through the use of face-to-face meetings, where this is not 

possible, this will include the use of communication platforms such as Zoom 

or Teams. 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The costs associated with this project can still be met from existing budgets.  
There are no additional financial implications arising from this report. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

 5.1  Under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 the 
Council has a duty to formulate and publish proposals for the preservation and 
enhancement of conservation areas. In addition, para 190 of the NPPF 
advises that plans should set out a positive strategy for the conservation and 
enjoyment of the historic environment. These should consider the desirability 

388



of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets; also, the 
wider social, cultural, economic, and environmental benefits that the 
conservation of the historic environment can bring and the opportunities to 
draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the character of 
a place. 

 5.2 The Council will consult when the proposals are at draft stage in line with best 
practice and as outlined in the ‘Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and 
Management’ by Historic England Advice Note 1, 2019.4  

   6.   RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 1: Impact of risk and mitigation 

 
Threat or risk Impact with 

no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

There is a risk 
that consultant 
does not fulfil 
the 
requirements of 
the brief 
because of lack 
of liaison with 
the Council’s 
Team, which 
could result in 
the document 
not being in 
accordance 
with the 
requirements of 
the brief 

Major 3 
 

High 
 
 

Consultants 
detailed 
updated 
project 
design 
including 
time frame 
for the 
project 
agreed with 
the Council, 
regular 
project 
meetings to 
ensure 
milestones 
are met and 
deadlines 
kept. 

Regular 
project 
updates 
from the 
consultant 

Minor 1  
 

Low  
 

7.     POTENTIAL IMPACTS 

7.1  Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A 

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. The Government recognised with the Climate 
Change Act 2008, that there is a need for us to understand the risks 
presented by the changing climate and how we can adapt to minimise the 
impact of these risks. There is international recognition of the importance of 
preparedness for climate change in the heritage sector, with a number of 
UNESCO publications and in the UK, a Joint Heritage Sector Statement on 
Climate Change. Historic England in its Climate Change Adaption Report 
(2016) advises that we should not see contributing as an imposed additional 

389



task, but rather an opportunity to think differently and review existing practices 
and processes, as in the case of this project.  

7.3 Key issues are promoting the positive role that the historic environment can 
play in informing responses to climate change and associated environmental 
risks. Current approaches promote the reuse of buildings, rather than 
redevelopment and the use of local materials; using new approaches, 
including technology, to ensure the historic environment can contribute to 
energy efficiency, including renewable energy generation, to meet future 
changes without loss of significance. Key actions include promoting the 
positive role the historic environment can play in informing responses to 
climate change and associated environmental risks, and engaging the public 
in this process. The Heritage Strategy will include sustainability and climate 
change as part of issues under discussion, through community workshops, 
the project steering group and wider public consultation. 

7.4 Data Protection/GDPR. A DPIA is not required in this instance. 

7.5 There is the possibility of enquiries from the public relating to this project that 
may involve front line staff.  

8.      IMPLEMENTATION 

8.1.  This process remains as envisaged in the original report, however the 

timetable for implementation has changed. 

8.2  Implementation date, if not called in, will be 1st May 2023. The full 

implementation stages are set out in table 2. 

 
Table 2: Implementation timetable 

Date Details 

1st May 2023 Consultant to re -commence project 

1st November 
2024 

Following public consultation, final draft document to be 
completed for Cabinet approval  

9. APPENDICES  

This report is supported by two appendices: 
 

• Appendix A - Equality Impact Assessment  

• Appendix B - Updated Project Brief 
 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
  This report is supported by the following background documents: 

 

• Cabinet Report and Appendix April 2019 - Borough Wide Heritage Strategy 
and Action Plan (Public Pack)Agenda Document for Cabinet, 25/04/2019 
19:30 (moderngov.co.uk)  

390

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g7259/Public%20reports%20pack%20Thursday%2025-Apr-2019%2019.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g7259/Public%20reports%20pack%20Thursday%2025-Apr-2019%2019.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


• Planning (Listed buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (legislation.gov.uk) 

• National Planning Policy Framework National Planning Policy Framework 
(publishing.service.gov.uk) 

• Borough Local Plan BLP Adopted Final (7).pdf 

• Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and Management | Historic 
England 

• Joint Heritage Sector Statement on Climate Change | Historic England 

 

11. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   

Adele Taylor Executive Director of 
Resources/S151 Officer 

14.2.2023 15.02.2023 

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

14.2.2023 27.02.2023 

Deputies:    

Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 
Officer) 

14.2.2023 23.2.2023 

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

14.2.2023 22.2.2023 

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

14.2.2023 27.2.2023 

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer 14.2.2023 28.02.2023 

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 
or agree an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 14.2.2023 17.02.2023 

Other consultees:    

Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 14.2.2023 28.02.2023 

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 14.2.2023 20.02.2022 

Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 
Services 

14.2.2023 27.2.2023 

Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Adrien Waite Head of Planning 14.2.2023 28.02.2023 

Sian Saadeh Development Manager 14.2.2023 16.02.2023 

Ian Motuel Planning Policy Manager 14.2.2023 15.02.2023 

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

391

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
file:///C:/Users/wss456/Downloads/BLP%20Adopted%20Final%20(7).pdf
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-area-appraisal-designation-management-advice-note-1/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-area-appraisal-designation-management-advice-note-1/
https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/statements/climate-change/


 

Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Parking, Highways & Transport  

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 

Non-key decision  
 
Council decision 
 

No   
 

No 

 

Report Author: Sarah Harper, Principal Conservation Officer (Projects), 
01628 796446 
 
Report Author: Victoria Goldberg, Development Management Manager- 
Enforcement and Conservation, 01628 683551 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

392



 

Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 

Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

 

1. Background Information 

 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Borough Wide Heritage Strategy and Action Plan   

Service area: 
 

Planning 

Directorate: 
 

Place 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 

• What are its intended outcomes? 

• Who will deliver it? 

• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

 
The Council has engaged a consultant to provide an innovative Heritage Strategy 
that is driven by the local community and harnesses their views and experience of 
local heritage. The project aims to bring interested parties from a variety of 
backgrounds together to generate a shared vision for the future of the Borough’s 
heritage and to provide priorities and proposals for how these will be implemented. 
Key aims are to promote partnership, and to generate education, cultural and 
economic opportunities for the Borough as a whole. 
 
This report is an update of the original report agreed at Cabinet in April 2019, as 
whilst the approved consultant commenced the project in accordance with the 
previously agreed brief, Covid resulted in them being unable to undertake 
satisfactory public consultation and the project was paused. In the intervening time, 
National and Council polices have changed, for example, a new Borough Plan and 
Corporate Plan have been adopted. In addition, the chosen contractor merged with 
a larger organisation, so the original works contract needs to be updated to take 
account of this.  

The project is to recommence in May with the originally approved contractor but 
working with an updated project brief and to a new timetable, with the work aiming 
to be completed by November 2024. 

 

 

393

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  

• If Yes, state ‘Yes’ and proceed to Section 3. 

• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  

• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (For example, for a forthcoming action 
plan) 

 
No, but equality issues have been considered in contacting stakeholders from a 
variety of different backgrounds, considering land uses and ownership, ethnicity, 
age, and location. Hard to reach groups have been identified and included in the 
consultations.  
 

 

6. Sign Off 

 

Completed by: Sarah Harper 
 

Date:9.02.2023 

Approved by: 
Ellen McManus -Fry 
Adrien Waite 

Date: 
17.02.2023 
28.02.2023 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

394



Appendix B 

 

Brief for a Borough Wide Heritage Strategy and Action 
Plan for The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
 

Introduction  
 
The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead has a rich history, and many 

national and internationally important historic buildings and places. It includes towns 

and villages, designed and rural landscapes and extensive stretches of the River 

Thames. All these elements contribute to the Borough’s unique identity, its culture 

and economy.  

The Council’s adopted Borough Local Plan provides for the development of a 

Borough Wide Heritage Strategy and the Council is now seeking to recommence 

work to deliver a community led Heritage Strategy and Action Plan. These 

documents will identify and celebrate the importance of the Borough’s heritage, 

provide strategies for its protection and enhancement, and consider how best to 

interpret and harness this special resource for the benefit of the community, visitors, 

and the local economy. 

Key elements of the project 

The Borough includes a number of diverse communities, for whom heritage will have 

many different meanings. It is essential that these groups, in particular those who 

would not normally be participate in heritage projects, are identified, and involved, so 

that their views are included.   

Heritage is also an important learning tool for developing knowledge and new skills. 

History belongs to us all, it can be exciting and inspiring, and the simple enjoyment 

of a new discovery is something that everyone can benefit from. The project will 

consider how best to maximise the educational benefits of the Borough’s heritage for 

the community and for visitors. It should provide viable proposals for how this can be 

achieved, which will include how the Council and the wider community can make 

best use of existing cultural assets and resources.  

Partnership will be a priority for the project. To achieve this, community, and 

business networks, together with locally active heritage organisations will need to be 

identified and consideration given to how they can best work together. By 

establishing mutually beneficial partnerships, the synergy created between these 

groups will have the potential to provide significant heritage and economic benefits. 

Opportunities to improve the Borough’s heritage “offer” for visitors, as well as 

improved marketing and management of historic areas, will need to be considered, 

and strategies proposed to maximise their potential. Options for future project 

funding and investment will also need to be explored.  

Not only is heritage an important element in creating a sense of place and belonging, 

but it can also be a catalyst for regeneration. There are parts of the Borough, such 

as Maidenhead, where this is particularly important and the strategy will set out 

priorities and proposals for improvement within these areas, whilst linking with 

395



existing Council objectives and strategies. Within the area there are also major 

infrastructure projects ongoing, and proposed, and these will have an impact on how 

the Borough looks and functions in the future. The strategy will need to maximise the 

potential opportunities that these changes will bring. 

It is important that the Heritage Strategy and Action Plan documents are provided in 

an attractive and readily accessible format that can easily understood by all 

interested parties. It is anticipated that the Strategy, once established, will initially be 

for a fifteen-year period, and it should be designed as a rolling document to be 

updated as required by the Council. The Action Plan will be a separate document 

that will dovetail with this and should be designed so that it can be easily reviewed 

and updated annually.  

Funding 

The funding for this project comes from the Planning Delivery Fund, although there is 

also the possibility of grant assistance from Historic England for some elements of 

the scheme. Whilst the Council will consider good value for money when assessing 

bids, these will also be assessed on the basis of the appropriateness, quality of the 

proposed project, and the experience and expertise offered by the prospective team. 

 

Scope 
 
Key objectives 

• To provide a shared future vision for the Borough’s heritage, formulate a 

strategy with viable objectives and a long-term program for achieving this 

(Action Plan) 

• To support and work in partnership with stakeholders to address heritage 

issues to achieve social, cultural, and educational gains, and promote 

commercial success 

• To understand what heritage means to the community and what it values 

• To understand the issues surrounding the Borough’s heritage, its benefits, 

and problems  

• To promote and raise the profile of the Borough’s heritage by proposing, for 
example, improvement projects, town trails, guidance, improved 
interpretation, award schemes, events, and by the use social 
media/technology  

• To provide guidance on how to manage and market heritage assets to 

maximise their community and commercial benefits 

• To create a gazetteer of heritage assets, designated and non-designated 

• To propose a framework to guide and monitor the long-term progress of the 

Strategy and Action 

• To provide documents in an attractive and readily accessible format that can 

easily be reviewed and updated by the Council and are compatible with 

Council systems 

 

396



 

 

Summary of work required 

 
This work will be progressed as a community project, with the consultant as lead, the 

work will include to: 

• Organise and run an initial workshop for all stakeholders 

• Form a steering group to guide the project, and support the election of a 

chairman 

• Run 2-3 meetings of the steering group to identify issues, strengths and 

opportunities, priorities, and objectives- to form the basis of the Heritage 

Strategy.  

• From objectives create a list of actions to form the basis of the Action Plan 

and its projects 

• Action Plan projects to be discussed and agreed with the steering group  

• Process for the implementation and review of both Strategy and Action Plan 

to be agreed with steering group 

• Liaise with Council leads/client group, provide regular updates and monitoring 

reports- these may include video conference calls and updates by email 

subject to agreement with the Council. 

• Create an interactive web page for project and provide social media updates 

• Consultant to provide draft documents for approval, including layout and 

artwork/photography.  

• A project design document outlining the scope of the project and how it will be 

achieved is required, including an agreement with regards to sharing 

information. Following this, a draft Strategy and Action Plan for agreement by 

Cabinet are to be submitted, and following public consultation, final reports 

prepared for final Cabinet approval. 

• Consultant to produce documents to agreed formats and to meet agreed 

target dates 

 

 

 

Project Timetable 
 
Key Milestones Date 

First draft of revised project design report May 2023 

Feedback from LPA on inception report and 
information review  

June 2023 

First draft of Strategy and Action Plan December 2023 

Final draft of Strategy and Action Plan April 2024 

Public Consultation on draft documents  May/June/July 2024 

Final report incorporating post consultation 
amendments 

November 2024 

 

397



The final project timetable will be reviewed with the consultant and agreed during the 
project design stage of the project. 
 
Information required/available 
 
The baseline information to inform this process will include an overview of current 

Council Strategies/ policies/ objectives. Consideration of the HERS (LBS, CAs, 

Registered Parks, Local List, SAMS, etc) and Historic England Building’s At Risk 

Register. An assessment of currently available economic and tourism information, 

and familiarisation with the Council’s and other local organisations archives and 

collections. Other relevant documents include the Borough Townscape/Landscape 

Assessments, Conservation Area Appraisals, the adopted Borough Local Plan and 

Local Plan Documents, SPDs and SPGs, Council current and emerging design 

guidance, made and soon to be made Neighbourhood Plans, and other local 

strategic issues such as Heathrow 3rd Runway. 

All GIS data will be supplied as ESRI shape files. Provision of GIS to a third-party is 
subject to the signing of a Contractor’s Licence as provided under the Public Sector 
Mapping Agreement (PSMA). 

Contractual requirements & fees 
 

Fee payment will be subject to agreement, but up to three payments may be 

considered, e.g., one third at the completion of inception report, one third on the 

completion of the draft report and one third on Cabinet approval of the completed 

document following public consultation.  
 

The contract will be as per the attached Council document for contracts under 
£100K. 

The work undertaken by the consultant will be in accordance with this brief and the 
contract.  No variation or deviation from this brief will be accepted without prior 
written approval from RBWM.   

The key RBWM points of contact will be the Project Director and Manager and all 
contractual communications must be directed through them.  Other officers in 
Conservation Team will assist as appropriate.   

 

Project Manager Sarah Harper 
Principal Planning 
Officer – Policy, RBWM  

sarah.harper@rbwm.gov.uk 
Tel. 01628 796429 

Project Director Victoria Goldberg 
Planning Enforcement 
and Conservation 
Team Manager, RBWM 

victoria.goldberg@rbwm.gov.uk 
Tel. 01628 796447 

 

Costs submission 
 

The consultant should provide a up to date cost quotation for the entire project.  
Please provide an itemised breakdown for each of the five stages below: 

398

mailto:Helen.murch@rbwm.gov.uk


• Revised draft Project Design  

• Draft Heritage Strategy and Action Plan  

• Final draft of the Heritage Strategy and Action Plan 

• Consultation during drafting and for final document 

• Preparation of final document for adoption  
 

Reasonable expenses and costs should be included in the above, including progress 

meetings. 

To allow for any additional work not specified in this brief, for example presentations 
to Members of the emerging results, please also include a further hourly rate, ½ day 
rate and day rate for key personnel.  

The updated quotation should be submitted to victoria.goldberg@rbwm.gov.uk  

 
March 2023 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

399

mailto:ian.motuel@rbwm.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: Household Support Fund, 2023/24 

Allocation 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Cllr Johnson, Leader of the council 
Meeting and Date:  
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Kevin McDaniel, Director of People 
Becky Hatch, Head of Strategy 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report sets out RBWM’s policy for allocating the fourth tranche of the Household 
Support Fund. The Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) has provided £842m to 
County Councils and Unitary Authorities in England to support those most in need to 
help with global inflationary challenges and the significantly rising cost of living. This 
funding covers the period 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 inclusive. RBWM’s allocation 
of funding is £1,175,810, which maintains the level of funding provided for the previous 
six month tranches.  

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Agrees the recommended approach for the allocation of Tranche 4 of the 
Household Support Fund and for payments to households to commence 
from 1st April 2023, which is the start of the tranche 4 funding period. It is 
recommended that the Household Support Fund is allocated through two 
separate schemes, extending the approach agreed for tranche 3: 

o Scheme 1: Continuing to provide food vouchers in the school holidays to 
families in receipt of Free School Meals, for nine weeks of school 
holidays. (up to 57% of the Fund) 

o Scheme 2: Continuing to allocate £145 cash payments to households in 
financial need, identified through a range of delivery partners, as part of 
their wider support and advice offer. Households will be able to put 
themselves forward for support and apply for this payment. (at least 32% 
of the Fund) 

o Management and administration costs, including a new fixed term post 
to manage the allocation of the Fund, to pay for the online application 
system (Ascendant), and contributions to management costs for 
voluntary and community partners. (up to 11% of the Fund) 

ii) Delegates authority to the Director for Adults Services and Health, in 
consultation with the Section 151 officer and Lead Member for Finance, 
to submit a detailed Delivery Plan to DWP, by 17th May 2023. 

401

Agenda Item 12



2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 

1. Agree to allocate the Household 
Support Fund as recommended 
below and in the supporting 
policy document. 

This is the recommended option 

This enables the Household Support Fund 
to be allocated to residents in need, quickly 
and effectively. It builds on learning from 
previous tranches and aligns with the DWP 
guidance and requirements. 

2. Decide to allocate a greater 
proportion of the Household 
Support Fund to families in 
receipt of free school meals, 
through holiday food vouchers. 

This would reduce the levels of funding 
available to other households in need in the 
borough, and limit the amount of funding 
available through an application process. 
DWP guidance recommends a flexible 
approach to allocation, and requests that it 
is made available to diverse groups of 
residents. It is also mandated that residents 
are able to put themselves forward for 
support.  

3. Decide to allocate a greater 
proportion of the HSF to the 
partnership component of the 
scheme.  

This would reduce the levels of funding for 
holiday food vouchers and the number of 
school holiday periods which could be 
supported.  

4. Decide not to take a decision on 
the allocation of the HSF. 

This would mean that the funding could not 
be allocated to households in need until a 
decision was taken. If the funding is not 
allocated it must be returned to DWP and 
will not support households in need in the 
borough.  

 

  
2.1 Proposed approach to delivery of the DWP Household Support Fund  

2.2 The proposed allocation of the DWP Household Support Fund (2023/24) is 
through two separate streams, summarised below. This continues the approach 
taken for Tranche 4 of funding, and follows the published DWP guidance - 1 
April 2023 to 31 March 2024: Household Support Fund guidance for county 
councils and unitary authorities in England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

2.3 Scheme 1: Free School Meals Support in the holidays 

2.4 This approach replicates that taken in previous tranches of the Household 
Support Fund, which targeted families with children. The approach uses receipt 
of Free School Meals to target vulnerable children and families directly, to 
support them with food costs during the school holidays. 

2.5 Families are encouraged to register for Free School meals.  If eligible there is 
additional benefit to the school (in terms of Pupil Premium). Families in receipt 

402

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/1-april-2023-to-31-march-2024-household-support-fund-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/1-april-2023-to-31-march-2024-household-support-fund-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/1-april-2023-to-31-march-2024-household-support-fund-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england


of Free School Meals will receive a £20 voucher per week, per child. These are 
allocated automatically to families, through schools, with no further application 
needed. 

2.6 In Tranche 4, the proposal is to allocate vouchers for nine weeks of school 
holidays. This covers two weeks of the school summer holidays, rather than the 
full six week period.  

2.7 In the summer holidays, the borough runs the FUEL programme for children on 
free school meals, and this provides free lunches, which helps to mitigate 
additional food costs during the holidays. If vouchers were provided for all weeks 
of the school holidays, then this would take over 80% of the funding. This would 
not be in line with DWP guidance, which recommends a flexible approach, which 
supports a wide range of vulnerable households, and allows households to put 
themselves forward and apply for support.  

 
2.8 Scheme 2: Financial support to households identified as being in severe 

financial hardship and at risk of escalation of problems (a partnership 
approach) 

2.9 RBWM’s proposes to continue working with a selection of delivery partners 
(DPs) to allocate the remainder of the Household Support Grant (£350-400k) 
to households identified as experiencing severe financial hardship and at risk 
of escalation of problems. These delivery partners include a range of local 
voluntary and community sector organisations, housing associations, and 
health partners, plus Achieving for Children and Optalis, who have joined as 
partners for Tranche 3 in recent weeks.  A full list of Distribution Partners 
(DPs) is included in the Household Support Fund Policy document at 
Appendix B.  

2.10 DPs have discretion to identify residents in severe financial hardship and at 
risk over the period of the scheme, using their own sources of data and 
information, using criteria agreed with the council, and in accordance with the 
DWP guidance.  

2.11 Residents identified by DPs, will be provided with a Unique Reference Number 
(URN) and encouraged to make an application to the council via a simple web-
based application form. Subject to checks for identify and fraud, residents will 
receive a one-off cash payment of £145, which will be transferred into their 
bank account by BACS.  

2.12 DPs will take primary responsibility for identifying and assessing who is in 
greatest need.  The council will check for residency, duplicate applications, 
and potential fraud. The Council will promote the policy and list of DPs to 
residents and the wider community through its website, a range of targeted 
communications, and through working through a diverse group of community 
organisations, parishes, and stakeholders.  

2.13 Our delivery partners have a strong track record of working to support 
residents who are most in need and have the information and relationships 

403



that can help to target the fund effectively. Those working directly with our 
communities are best placed to identify these individuals and to assess who 
will benefit most from the support. In particular, they are better able to identify 
residents who have missed out on previous support, for example, because 
they do not fall into particular age ranges, or receive certain benefits.  

2.14 Working in partnership provides opportunities to embed the one-off cash 
payments to residents within a wider offer of support and advice. This 
approach enables applications to the fund to be made as part of a wider 
conversation about the resident’s needs and will complement advice, for 
example on budgeting, management of health conditions and / or wider 
sources of support. The cash payment can also help partners to engage new 
‘harder to reach’ groups of residents and offers frontline staff, such as social 
workers, an opportunity to help their clients access payments to help at points 
of crisis, as part of their wider support to the household.   

2.15 Working together in this way also aims to build stronger collaboration between 
the council and its partners, and to facilitate the type of community-based, 
resilience-building, and preventative approach that we wish to develop further 
going forwards.  

3. Update on Tranche 3 of the Partnership scheme and implications for 
Tranche 4 

 
3.1 The Tranche 3 partnership scheme has to date supported over 800 

households, plus 120 care leavers; the demographic breakdown of applicants 
is as follows. Ethnicity: White British 79%; White Other 5%; Asian/Asian British 
4.4%; Black/Black British 3%; Mixed 2.8%; Prefer not to say 2.8%; Other 2%. 
Gender: Female 70%; Male 29%; Prefer not to say <1%. Household 
description: Family with children 52%; Other 28%; Disabled 14%; Over 
pensionable age 6%. It is likely that the number of applicants over pensionable 
age is  higher than the figures suggest, as a high proportion of those with a 
disability are also likely to be over pensionable age. However, we recognise 
that this is a demographic we need to more specifically target moving 
forwards. We expect that the scheme will have supported around 1000 
households by the end of the Tranche 3 funding period at the end of March. 
These numbers are lower than initially expected. Demand has taken some 
time to build up, but we are now receiving in the region of 70-100 applications 
per week.  

3.2 The amount of funding spent on the Free School Meal Holiday Voucher 
component (scheme 1) was higher than expected, due to increased numbers 
of children receiving Free School Meals and so has reduced the level of 
funding available for scheme 2. A small amount of budget initially allocated 
from tranche 3 to the partnership component (scheme 2), is being used to pay 
for food vouchers for scheme 1 during the Easter holidays (Holiday food 
vouchers are generally issued in the week before the school holidays, and 
therefore would be issued in the last week of March, which falls within the 

404



Tranche 3 spending period). Therefore the full amount of RBWM’s Household 
Support Fund allocation for 2022/23 will be allocated. 

3.3 All Delivery Partners have been asked to provide feedback on the approach to 
allocation of Tranche 3 funding, and this has been overwhelmingly positive. 
Partners have highlighted the benefits in terms of reaching new clients; and in 
strengthening their offer to existing clients, through having the ability to secure 
the £145 payments for those clients who are at a point of crisis or struggling to 
deal with rising costs, and challenging circumstances. A primary benefit of the 
approach is the ability to link the payments to wider support and advice, for 
example, helping clients to access additional benefits, or to make a purchase, 
such as an electric blanket, that helps to manage their health condition, or to 
put towards an unexpected cost, such as a new fridge.  

3.4 Most report finding that the online application system is working well, and we 
propose to continue using the Ascendant system for applications. Some 
residents have needed support to make their applications, which is provided 
by the delivery partners. However, there are concerns that this may be a 
particular barrier to older people and the most vulnerable. In response, we are 
exploring options to add greater flexibility to the application process for those 
applications made by partner organisations, on behalf of the resident, such as 
a ‘partner verification’ of address, where applications are made from the 
resident’s home. Optalis have also joined as a partner, so that their social 
workers and care staff are able to assist applications from those receiving care 
at home, and their carers.  

3.5 The approach of working with partners to identify households in need is 
working well. Initial take up of the scheme was lower than expected and so a 
wide range of targeted outreach and communications have been undertaken, 
including a targeted leaflet drop, communications to a wide range of 
community organisations, parishes, schools, and community venues, 
presentations at relevant meetings, and articles in the Residents Newsletter. 
Four new partners have also been included in the scheme, to ensure further 
reach. (These are Achieving for Children, Optalis, Maidenhead United FC 
Community Trust and Windsor Foodshare.) However, there is still a risk that 
some of the households most in need are not aware of the Fund, or do not feel 
comfortable putting themselves forward for support. Therefore, targeted 
outreach will continue.  

3.6 There is also a risk that households who are not in greatest need do put 
themselves forward to seek support, particularly to Citizens Advice, who are 
the first port of call for households not in touch with other delivery partners. 
Whilst we are confident that the assessment of our partners is effective in 
assessing need, and some residents have been turned down where they are 
not assessed to be in sufficient need, it is important to continue to review the 
process going forwards. Further detail on feedback from Tranche 3 is included 
at Appendix C.  

3.7 The launch of Tranche 3 of the fund was delayed until the start of December, 
due to delays in receiving the guidance from DWP and the need for 
consultation with partners to agree on the approach. Therefore, the collective 

405



view of partners is that we have not yet reached all of those households who 
are in need of support. Therefore, the proposal is to extend the current 
scheme until the end of June 2023, meaning that households are not able to 
apply for support again during that period.  

3.8 From July 2023 onwards, we propose to restart the applications process. We 
will review and amend the scheme, if appropriate, and from this point, 
households will be able to apply for a second payment, where this is deemed 
appropriate by the delivery partners.  

3.9 During Tranche 3, the Household Support Fund has been managed without 
additional staff resource, by drawing on the good will of officers across a range 
of services. Moving forwards a dedicated post will be recruited to, in order to 
ensure that the Fund can be managed effectively without placing additional 
burdens on existing staff. This post will be funded through the Household 
Support Fund, as part of permitted administration costs.  

4. KEY IMPLICATONS 

4.1 The successful delivery of this policy will provide financial support, in the form 
of £20 food vouchers per child, for nine of the thirteen weeks of school holidays, 
for families in receipt of Free School Meals; and one-off cash transfers of £145, 
for residents in severe financial need over the period 2023-24. We expect to 
support 3400 families in receipt of Free School Meals, plus in the region of 2000 
households in severe financial need, across a broad range of age groups and 
household types, and including disabled residents, and those with long term 
health conditions. (Some of these households will receive more than one 
payment.) 
 

4.2 In addition, the partnership approach will help to strengthen positive 
relationships with and between the range of agreed partners, and the HSF cash 
payment aims to help to support wider, more sustained, advice and support 
offered by our partners and frontline staff. 
 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Signifi

cantly 
Exceed
ed 

Date of 
deliver
y 

Household 
Support 
Fund 
(£1,175,810
) fully 
allocated to 
residents in 
most need.  

< £1,175,810 
of the funding 
utilised.  

All 
funding 
utilised 
appropri
ately.  

All funding 
allocated. 
Evidence of 
high impact on 
resident 
outcomes. 
Partnerships 
strengthened. 

  31 
March 
2024. 

406



5. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

5.1 This proposal utilises the full grant provided to RBWM through the DWP 
Household Support Fund, with a small proportion of the Fund used to cover the 
council and voluntary and community sector partners’ management costs. 
There are therefore no additional financial burdens from the council for the 
delivery of this scheme. Support provided to residents will be limited to the 
amount provided to the council by DWP. 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

6.1 The attached proposal complies with the guidance issued by DWP, and as such 
there are no significant legal implications.  

7. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Risk Level of 

uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

Funding is 
allocated to 
residents who do 
not have high or 
genuine levels of 
need.  

Medium - 
Low  

Partners have been 
selected on the basis of 
their experience and 
track record of working 
with communities in 
need; their access to 
different forms of 
evidence and information 
to support their decisions; 
and their reach across 
diverse communities.  

Low 

Delivery partners 
are unable to 
identify enough 
residents to 
allocate the full 
amount of the 
grant.  

Medium RBWM will track 
applications and spend 
on an ongoing basis, to 
enable potential 
underspend to be 
identified early. RBWM 
will meet with partners on 
a monthly basis to review 
and respond to any 
issues arising. Mitigating 
actions to include 
broadening 
communications and 
outreach; expanding the 
number of partners; 
redistributing Unique 
Reference Numbers 
between different 

Low 

407



partners; and in extreme 
circumstances lowering 
threshold of need; and / 
or making a second 
payment to applicants. 

Residents who 
consider 
themselves to be 
eligible for support 
do not receive it, 
and are 
dissatisfied. 

Medium  Residents are able to 
approach any of the 
partner organisations 
listed, and are 
encouraged to approach 
Citizens Advice as our 
overarching partner, if 
they would like to put 
themselves forward for 
support. It should be 
recognised that the levels 
of funding are set by 
DWP, and are unlikely to 
fully meet demand for 
support. Any complaints 
will be handled in a timely 
and sensitive manner. 

Low (no 
complaints 
have been 
received 
during 
Tranche 3) 

Residents with 
poor IT skills or 
lack of digital 
access struggle to 
complete the 
online form.  

Medium  Partners will be available 
to assist residents in 
completing their 
application forms, and 
can provide 
organisational email 
addresses, for those who 
do not have access to IT. 
Digital support is also 
available within libraries. 
Further actions to 
improve access are being 
considered. 

Medium 

The Fund is 
targeted by fraud 

Medium Every applicant will be 
required to complete a 
statutory declaration of 
truth, eligibility checks will 
be made for residency, to 
screen out duplicate 
applications, and to 
check that the bank 
account details provided 
match the name of the 
applicant. Regular 
meetings with partners 
will also probe for any 
suspicious activities. 

Low 

408



8. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

8.1 Equalities. Partners have been selected on the basis of their collective reach 
across communities, and ability to target groups with different protected 
characteristics. The allocation of the fund will continue to be monitored to assess 
distribution by ethnicity, gender, disability, pensioners, and children in the 
household. Where proportions do not match those of the population and 
evidence of need in the borough, action will be taken to proactively target under-
represented groups to ensure that they are able to benefit from the scheme, 
including through engaging with a range of organisations working with diverse 
communities to encourage residents in need to come forward. A priority for 
Tranche 4 of the Fund, will be to increase outreach and take up among older 
people and those for whom the online application process presents a barrier. 
An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. 

 
8.2 Climate change/sustainability: there are minimal sustainability implications of 

this proposal.  
 
8.3 Data Protection/GDPR: Personal data collected as part of the Household 

Support Fund application and allocation process will only be used for the 
purposes of allocating the Household Support Fund and will adhere to the terms 
of the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR). Guidance on the use of personal data is included within the resident 
application form, for their information. Anonymised data will be analysed for 
monitoring the allocation of the Fund, by protected characteristics, household 
type and geographical location, as appropriate. 

 CONSULTATION 

8.4 The second stream of the Household Support Fund (Partnerships) has been 
developed in close consultation with a range of partners and wider stakeholders. 
These include voluntary and community sector organisations, Frimley ICB, and 
housing partners, in addition to engagement with services across the council. 
Stakeholders provided valuable input to shape the policy, through a series of 
individual meetings and workshops and a feedback survey. A summary of 
feedback received is set out at Appendix D of this report. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date: The full implementation stages are set out in table 4. 
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
1 April 2023 – 31 
March 2024. 

Allocation of food vouchers to families in receipt of Free 
School Meals to cover nine weeks of school holidays. 
This will include two weeks of Easter and Christmas 
holidays, and the three half term breaks in May, October 
and February. Two out of the six weeks of summer 
holiday will also be covered.  

409



1 April 2023 – 30 
June 2023 

Partners will continue to identify residents for scheme 2, 
as part of an extension of the allocation of tranche 3 of 
the HSF. Partners will invite residents to apply for 
support through the web-based application form. This 
approach will maximise the impact of the HSF by 
prioritising the identification of residents who have not 
yet received financial support but who may be in need. 

1 July 2023 – 31 
March 2024. 

Partners will continue to identify new applicants but will 
also, where appropriate, encourage previous applicants 
to apply for support from tranche 4. Residents will be 
invited to apply for support through the web-based 
application form. Applications will close on 31 March 
2024, or when the limit of the Fund is reached, if sooner.  

21 July 2023 Interim management information (MI) returned to DWP 
for the period 1 April 2023 to 30 June 2023. 

20 October 2023 Second interim MI returned to DWP for the period 1 
April 2023 to 30 September 2023. 

26 January 2024 Third interim MI returned to DWP for the period 1 April 
2023 to 31 December 2023. 

28 April 2024 Final MI returned to DWP for the period 1 April 2023 to 
31 March 2024. 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by three appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Household Support Fund Allocation Policy 
• Appendix B – List of Distribution Partners 
• Appendix C - Equality Impact Assessment  
• Appendix D – Feedback from Delivery Partners and Case Studies 

 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by one background document: 
 

 
• DWP Household Support Fund guidance, 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024: 

Household Support Fund guidance for county councils and unitary 
authorities in England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

410

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/1-april-2023-to-31-march-2024-household-support-fund-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/1-april-2023-to-31-march-2024-household-support-fund-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/1-april-2023-to-31-march-2024-household-support-fund-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england


Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Andrew Vallance  Interim S151 Officer 28/02/23 02/03/23 
Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 

Public Health/ Monitoring 
Officer 

28/02/23 01/03/23 

Deputies:    
Elaine Browne Head of Law & Governance 

(Deputy Monitoring Officer) 
  

    
Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 

decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

 Data Protection Officer   
Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on 

EQiA, or agree an EQiA is not 
required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement 
Officer 

  

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 28/02/23 28/02/23 
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 28/02/23 02/03/23 
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
28/02/23 28/02/23 

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Leader of the Council 

 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Key decision 
 
 

 No 

 
Report Author: Becky Hatch, Head of Strategy 

 
 
 
 
  

411



Appendix A: Allocation of Household Support Fund Policy  

 

 

 

Allocation of Household Support Fund Policy 

(Tranche 4, April 2023 – March 2024) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
March 2023 
 
 
Document Control   
Managed by:  
Becky Hatch 
Head of Strategy 
Version: V2.0 
 

412



Introduction and DWP guidance  

 
The Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) has provided £842m to County Councils and 
Unitary Authorities in England to support those most in need to help with global inflationary 
challenges and the significantly rising cost of living. This funding covers the period 1 April 2023 
to 31 March 2024 inclusive. Local Authorities (LAs) have discretion on exactly how this funding 
is used within the scope set out of the accompanying grant determination and guidance. 1 
April 2023 to 31 March 2024: Household Support Fund guidance for county councils 
and unitary authorities in England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). 
This is the fourth tranche of the Household Support Fund. The Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead's allocation of funding for this period is £1,175,810. 

For this tranche of funding, DWP have stated that there is no ringfence of funding for any 
particular cohort of people. The expectation is that The Fund should be used to support 
households in the most need; particularly those who: 

- may not be eligible for the other support government has recently made available but who 
are nevertheless in need and who require crisis support. This may include, but is not limited 
to, people who are entitled to but not claiming qualifying benefits, people who are claiming 
Housing Benefit (HB) only, people who begin a claim or return to payment of a benefit after 
the relevant qualifying date as well as people who have fuel costs but who cannot access the 
energy support the government is providing for 2023/24.  

- groups who are vulnerable to rising prices even though they are supported through these 
schemes, for example large families or single-income families. DWP stress that The Fund is 
intended to cover a wide range of low-income households in need including families with 
children of all ages, pensioners, unpaid carers, care leavers and disabled people. The 
guidance from the DWP specifically highlights the disabled and those with caring 
responsibilities as individuals who may face acute need due to the disproportionate impact of 
cost of living on their circumstances.  

DWP state that when administering The Fund, Authorities are encouraged to adopt the 
following principles: 

• use discretion on how to identify and support those most in need, taking into account 
a wide range of information 

• use the funding from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 to meet immediate needs and 
help those who are struggling to afford energy and water bills, food, and other related 
essentials. Energy bills may be of particular concern to low-income households 
during the period of The Fund and Authorities should prioritise supporting households 
with the cost of energy. Authorities can also use the funding to support households 
who are struggling to afford wider essentials.  

• Local authorities are requested to include a resident application process for at least 
some of the funding. 

• Local authorities are expected to offer application-based support throughout the 
duration of the Fund, either continuously over the majority of The Fund Period or in 
regular intervals throughout the scheme.  
 

This document provides guidance regarding the operation and delivery of the policy in the 
Royal Borough. 
 

 

413

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/1-april-2023-to-31-march-2024-household-support-fund-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/1-april-2023-to-31-march-2024-household-support-fund-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/1-april-2023-to-31-march-2024-household-support-fund-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england


2. RBWM Approach 

RBWM have developed the Household Support Fund through two schemes, which will run in 
parallel.  

Scheme 1: Free School Meal support during the holidays 

RBWM will provide families in receipt of Free School Meals with vouchers to assist with food 
costs during nine of the thirteen weeks of school holidays. This replicates the successful 
allocation of funding in this way in the previous three tranches of the Fund.  

Scheme 2: Financial support to households identified as being in severe financial 
hardship and at risk of escalation of problems  

RBWM will work with a range of Delivery Partners within the voluntary and community sector, 
housing and health, adults and children’s services, to engage with and identify residents in 
most need. Residents identified by partners will be invited to apply for a one-off cash 
payment of £145 through a short, web-based application form. For the first three months of 
tranche 4 (1 April 2023 – 30 June 2023), DPs will continue to extend the scheme to anyone 
not identified during tranche 3. This will allow the fund to reach as many people as possible, 
per the advice of the DWP. From 1 July 2023, DPs will be able to recommend individuals in 
need, who received funding from previous tranches, to apply for funding from tranche 4. This 
approach will allow us to maximise the impact of the HSF to the greatest number of people, 
whilst also continuing to support those identified as most in need. 

Scheme 1: Support to families in receipt of Free School Meals 
 
Summary of approach 
This approach mirrors the methodology undertaken in previous tranches of the Household 
Support Fund, which targeted families with children. The approach uses receipt of Free 
School Meals to target vulnerable children and families directly, to support them with food 
costs during the school holidays. Receipt of Free School Meals provides a robust and clear 
criterion for allocation.  

Schools request vouchers through a secure platform on behalf of pupils eligible for free 
school meals who attend their school. The request is authorised by an AFC Officer and then 
the voucher code is emailed to the parent/ carer. 

Eligibility Criteria  

Eligibility Criteria requires pupils to be registered for free school meals and attending a 
RBWM school regardless of their home address. Pupils outside of this criterion would be 
excluded. The funding level is £20 per pupil per funded week. The delivery method being 
used is through issuing of electronic vouchers. 

Funding levels  

The most recent number of pupils receiving free school meals was 3,400. The planned 
allocation for April 2023 to March 2024 is £673,200 which represents £180 over 9 weeks of 
the school holidays per pupil. This accounts for approximately 57% of the overall funding 
allocation.  

414



Scheme 2: Financial support to households identified as being in severe financial 
hardship and at risk of escalation of problems (a partnership approach) 

Summary of approach 

RBWM’s policy is to work with a selection of third party organisation (TPOs) to allocate the 
remainder of the Household Support Grant. These TPOs include a range of local voluntary 
and community sector organisations, housing associations, and health partners.  A full list of 
Distribution Partners (DPs) is included at Appendix B.  

DPs have discretion to identify residents in severe financial hardship and at risk over the 
period of the scheme, using their own sources of data and information, using criteria agreed 
with the council, and in accordance with the DWP guidance above.  

Residents identified by DPs, will be provided with a Unique Reference Number (URN) and 
encouraged to make an application to the council via a simple web-based application form. 
Subject to checks for identify and fraud, residents will receive a one-off cash payment of 
£145, which will be transferred into their bank account by BACS.  

From 1 April 2023 until 30 June 2023, DPs will continue to extend support to anyone not 
identified during tranche 3.  From 1 July 2023, DPs will be able to recommend individuals in 
need, who received funding from previous tranches, to apply for funding from tranche 4.  
 
DPs will take primary responsibility for identifying and assessing who is in greatest 
need.  The council will check for residency, duplicate applications, and potential fraud. 

The Council will promote the policy and list of DPs to residents and the wider community. 
Residents will be able to put themselves forward to DPs for support.  

Summary of process 

Residents identified by our DPs will be encouraged to apply for a one-off cash payment of 
£145, through a simple, web-based form, managed by the council.  

DPs will provide each individual resident with a Unique Reference Number (URN), which will 
be entered on their application form. DPs will provide RBWM with a list of the residents who 
have received a URN and a brief summary of their circumstances.  

Applications will be approved by the council, subject to checks on residency, identity, and 
duplicate applications. Applications cannot be submitted without a Unique Reference 
Number from a partner organisation.  

Payments will be administered by the council and paid into the applicant’s bank account. 

RBWM will provide a small ‘management costs’ payment to DPs from the voluntary and 
community sector, to contribute to the costs of running the scheme and associated support to 
residents. 

Timelines 

For the first three months of tranche 4, DPs will continue to extend the scheme to 
households in need, who have not yet been identified during tranche 3. This will offer an 

415



extended opportunity to apply, for those who may not yet have come forward within Tranche 
3. This is based on feedback from Delivery Partners, that they are still reaching new 
households in need, who should be given priority over prior applicants for an initial period.  

From 1 July 2023, DPs will be able to recommend individuals in need, who have already 
received the £145 payment, to apply for a second payment, where appropriate. This 
approach will allow us to maximise the impact of the HSF to the greatest number of people, 
whilst also continuing to support those identified as most in need. 

A review of the scheme will be conducted in June, with options considered for amending the 
scheme, to strengthen the approach, where appropriate.  

Rationale for a partnership approach 

This approach has been developed in consultation with a range of voluntary, community, 
health, and housing partners. It builds upon the successful administration of tranche 3 and 
incorporates learning from this first phase of delivery. The rationale for this approach is as 
follows:  

- Our partners have a strong track record of working to support residents who are most 
in need and have the information and relationships that can help to target the fund 
effectively. Those working directly with our communities are best placed to identify 
these individuals and to assess who will benefit most from the support. In particular, 
they are better able to identify residents who have missed out on previous support, 
for example, because they do not fall into particular age ranges, or receive certain 
benefits.  

- Working in this way, provides opportunities to embed the one-off cash payments to 
residents within a wider offer of support and advice. This approach enables 
applications to the fund to be made as part of a wider conversation about the 
resident’s needs and will complement advice, for example on budgeting, 
management of health conditions and / or wider sources of support. The cash 
payment may also help partners to engage new ‘harder to reach’ groups of residents 
and help to build stronger relationships with existing clients.   

- Working together in this way also aims to build stronger collaboration between the 
council and its partners, and to facilitate the type of community-based, resilience-
building, and preventative approach that we wish to develop further going forwards.  
 

Selection of Distribution Partners 

The collection of DPs have been selected based on: 

- their impact during the administration of tranche 3; 
- their ability to reach target groups of residents;  
- their capacity to identify and assess residents in need; and  
- the wider support that they are offering to communities to prevent escalation of 

problems.  
 

The council has assessed the partner organisations to ensure that, collectively, the selected 
group of partners are able to engage with households across the range of target groups, and 
that their reach is spread across the borough, with a particular focus on those areas with 

416



greatest levels of disadvantage and to ensure that those with protected characteristics under 
the Equalities Act are not disadvantaged.  

Partners have been selected based on their capacity to identify and assess who is in most 
need of support. All partners have a proven track record of supporting residents in need and 
have access to a range of information needed to make an informed decision about the 
allocation of support.  

Partners have also been selected based on their ability to offer wider assistance to residents, 
whether this is through providing care, food or other goods, warm spaces and wider 
community initiatives, housing, skills-building and / or wider support and advice. The diverse 
range of partners enables the Fund to target a wide range of households through the Fund.  

The council is also working with a range of stakeholders, including parishes and smaller 
community organisations, to communicate the scheme and reach out to individuals who may 
have high levels of need, but not be accessing support. Citizens Advice will play an 
overarching role in assessing residents engaging with these stakeholders, who wish to put 
themselves forward for support. Note that care leavers resident in the borough will be 
approached directly by and invited to apply. 
 
Information about the initial partners selected, including their contact details, is published on 
the RBWM website, under the Here to Help pages.  

Further partners will be considered by RBWM over the course of the scheme. Interested 
organisations should approach equalities@rbwm.gov.uk setting out their interest and 
capacity to identify residents in need.  

Contribution to management costs: The council recognises that identifying and assessing 
residents will require resource on the part of our DPs. Therefore, DPs from the voluntary and 
community sector will be offered a financial contribution to their organisation to support the 
costs of managing this process as part of their winter support offer. The level of this one-off 
contribution will be agreed with individual voluntary sector organisations, according to their 
circumstances and reach. Statutory partners will manage the costs of identifying residents 
within their existing budgets. 

 
Eligibility Criteria  

 
The primary responsibility for identifying and assessing need lies with the DP organisations, 
in line with the rationale set out when joining the scheme. When the DP is satisfied that a 
resident is eligible, they will issue a URN to the resident. 

The URN will be entered as part of the resident application to the council, and the council will 
undertake basic checks to prevent misuse of the funding. 

In order to be progress, applicants must meet all of the following criteria: 
 

• Applicants must be resident in the borough (and provide proof of address)  
• Be over 18 years of age  
• Have a bank account in their name.  

417



• Include a URN supplied by one of the agreed DPs which has not been previously 
used.  

 
Only one application will be awarded per household, from the start of December until the end 
of June. The council will screen for duplicate applications.  
From 1 July, applicants will be able to apply for a second payment, where identified as 
appropriate by partners. 

 
Unique reference numbers will only be issued to DPs up to the estimated limit of the funding 
allocation, to minimise the risk of applicants applying after funds have been exhausted, 
however  
Grants will be awarded on a first come, first served until funding has been exhausted 
or by the end of the period (31.03.24), even if a Unique Reference Number and 
application has been submitted.  

Funding Levels  
The Royal Borough will make one off cash payments of £145 into individual resident bank 
accounts over the period April 2023 to March 2024.  No duplicate applications will be 
accepted.  

Application Process   

Due to the limited funds available, and the likelihood of applications outweighing the 
available funds, the applications will be administered on a first come first served approach. 
This means that, once funding has been exhausted, no further applications will be 
considered even where applicants may fit the overall criteria.  

A link to the application form will be shared with residents identified by DPs along with their 
URN. DPs can provide support to residents to complete the online form, where they may 
struggle to complete it independently.  

Residents will need to enter a Unique Reference Number (URN) supplied by a partner 
organisation, in order for their application to be processed.  

Residents wishing to put themselves forward for support can do so by approaching one of 
the DP organisations listed on the RBWM website (Here to Help pages). If a resident is 
unsure which DP to approach, the Citizens Advice East Berkshire can be approached in the 
first instance.  Residents approaching the council’s customer service teams seeking 
assistance from the HSF will be directed to the Citizens Advice.  

Any queries in respect of applications or becoming a DP should be addressed to: 
equalities@rbwm.gov.uk. 

The closing date for applications will be 31 March 2024, when the online form will cease 
taking new applications. The closing date will be subject to review and could be affected by 
factors such as the exhaustion of funds or Government announcements.   

Any residents applying should ensure that they have fully completed the application form and 
provided the required supporting evidence. Any incomplete form or missing evidence will 
mean that the form will not be processed, nor will the resident be contacted to provide 
missing information.   

418



To confirm - any incomplete applications or those with less than the required evidence 
will be deemed ineligible.  

No grants will be awarded without an application being submitted and that application 
must be complete with all supporting evidence/information and a Unique Reference 
Number supplied.  

The Award 
 
Applications will be assessed for entitlement as they are received. We will aim to advise 
successful applicants of the outcome of their award within 5 working days of the submission 
of their application, with payment being made within a further 7 working days.   
 
We will aim to advise unsuccessful applicants, by e-mail, within 5 working days of the closing 
of the application window.   
 
Payments will only be made via BACS.  
 
 

419



Managing the risk of Fraud   
 

In order to ensure that the Household Support Fund is not subject to potential abuse, all 
submitted applications will require a statutory declaration of truth in connection with the 
application.  
 
The council may carry out any pre or post payment checks deemed appropriate, through 
its internal audit team, in order to provide assurance that the funds are being claimed 
correctly.  

 
The Council will not accept deliberate manipulation and fraud. Any resident falsifying their 
circumstances to gain access to the Household Support Fund payment could face 
prosecution and any funding issued will be subject to recovery.  

 
The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead is distributing this funding on behalf of the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). Data regarding awards and applications will 
be shared with DWP as required. The distribution of payments will also be monitored by 
RBWM with regard to equalities considerations and geographical spread, to ensure that 
the Funds are being distributed fairly.  

  

Policy Review 
 

To ensure that the Household Support Fund reaches those households most in need, this 
policy will be reviewed periodically by the Head of Strategy and the agreed partners set out 
in Appendix B.   

 
The council therefore reserves the right to modify the allocations process, eligibility criteria, 
and award sums, as a result at any time.  

 
Appeals  
 
There is no statutory appeal against the decision to award or not award a payment or 
against the level of payment offered. This is a discretionary fund, with residents identified 
by our DPs. Residents may put themselves forward for support to Citizens Advice or 
another of the listed DPs. 

 

  

420



Appendix B: Household Support Fund – List of Distribution Partners 
 
Organisation Current reach 

(geographical, cohort, 
numbers supported) 

Wider support offer 

Citizens Advice East 
Berkshire (CAEB) 
 
 
CAEB will play an 
overarching role in 
identifying residents 
putting themselves 
forward for support.  

Borough-wide. Since 
September 2022, have 
supported 375 residents 
who live in the borough, 
with 1,306 issues. 62% of 
working age, 63% women, 
64% had long-term health 
conditions, and 27% were 
from a minority ethnic 
background. 
  

Provide impartial, 
confidential, and 
independent advice, and 
information to residents on 
their rights and 
responsibilities. 
Specifically, on 
employment, housing, 
benefits, debt, tax and 
consumer issues. CAEB 
also have access to pro 
bono solicitors who 
specialise in relationship, 
immigration, housing, wills 
& trusts, and criminal law.    

Maidenhead 
Foodshare 

Maidenhead. Residents in 
poverty. All age ranges. 
Seeing 200-400 families 
each month. 
  

Subsistence support – food 
(including fresh fruit and 
vegetables).  

Abri Social housing in Windsor, 
Eton Wick, Datchet, and 
Maidenhead. Residents in 
social housing from all age 
ranges, plus wider 
community. 
 

Housing association. 
Provide advice and training 
on budgeting, benefits, and 
employment. Support 
tenancy sustainment, 
distribute utility vouchers, 
and provide a warm hub 
once a week. 
 

Housing Solutions 
 

Social housing in 
Maidenhead. Residents in 
social housing from all age 
ranges. 
 
 

Housing association. 
Provide advice and training 
on budgeting, benefits, and 
employment. Support 
tenancy sustainment.  
 

Age Concern Windsor
  
 

Windsor, Old Windsor, and 
Datchet. Residents aged 
over 70, who live alone, 
with extra care needs. 
Current client base is 80% 
female, and 90% White 
British.  
 

Provide companionship, 
Meals on Wheels, and 
other social initiatives (for 
instance, bingo, and 
quizzes). Signpost to 
additional support and 
assist with paper and online 
form completion. 

 
West Windsor Hub 
(WWH) 
 

Windsor. All characteristics 
(including refugees, and 
military personnel). Current 

Provide a warm space bi-
weekly, where residents 
can socialise, access hot 
food, drink, and ancillary 

421



client base of 450 
residents.  

items to keep them warm. 
Signpost to additional 
support and assist with 
paper and online form 
completion. 
 

The Baby Bank 
 

Maidenhead. Residents 
with young children, 
particularly single parents. 
All characteristics (including 
refugees). Currently see 
approx.. 250 families each 
month. 
 

Provide supplies to help 
with childcare (for example, 
nappies, clothing, and 
formula). 

Windsor, Ascot and 
Maidenhead Social 
Prescribing service for 
the Primary Care 
networks  
 

Borough-wide. All 
characteristics – focused 
on residents with long-term 
health conditions and 
disabilities, which are at 
risk of escalating without 
financial support to manage 
their needs adequately over 
winter. 
 

Refer residents to a range 
of local, non-clinical 
services – focussing on 
social, economic, and 
environmental factors. 
 

RBWM housing 
service 

Borough-wide. Residents in 
housing need, privately 
rented accommodation and 
at risk of homelessness. All 
characteristics.  

Provide advice, and 
assistance to residents in 
need of housing support. 
Issue housing plans and 
uphold the Homelessness 
Reduction Act. 
 

Maidenhead United FC 
Community Trust 

Borough-wide. Individuals 
and families connected into 
the football club through 
coaching activities, and 
those referred through the 
community, social 
prescribing and adult social 
care for wellbeing support.   
 

Provide community 
resource to those in need, 
including advice and 
signposting. 

Windsor Foodshare Windsor. Residents who 
have been referred to 
Windsor Foodshare by 
other agencies based on 
need, including through 
schools, doctors’ surgeries, 
and other partner 
organisations.  
 

Subsistence support – food 
(including fresh fruit and 
vegetables). 

Achieving for Children Borough wide. Focus on 
providing support to 
vulnerable children and 
their families. 

Provide advice, and 
assistance to children and 
families in need of support. 

422



Optalis Borough wide. Focus on 
providing support to 
vulnerable older people and 
adults with additional care 
needs.  

Provide advice, and 
assistance to older 
residents in need of 
support. 

 
  

423



Appendix C 
 

Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 

 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Household Support Fund, 2023/24 Allocation 

Service area: 
 

Strategy 

Directorate: 
 

People / Law and Strategy 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

 
The overall aim of this policy is to distribute RBWM’s allocation of the DWP Household 
Support Fund (April 2023 – March 2024) to support those most in need, to help with global 
inflationary challenges, and the significantly rising cost-of-living.  
 
The fund will be administered through two separate streams: Free School Meals Support in 
the holidays and through financial support payments of £145 to households identified by our 
partners as being in severe hardship and at risk of escalation of problems. 
 
This second stream of funding will be delivered by RBWM in partnership with selected third 
party organisations (TPOs). 
 
This proposal builds on learning from previous tranches and aligns with the DWP guidance and 
requirements.  

  
 
 
 

 

 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  
• If Yes, state ‘Yes’ and proceed to Section 3. 
• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming action 

plan) 

424

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


Yes 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 

Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
Residents in the borough identified as being in severe hardship and at risk of escalation of 
problems. 
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, disability, race, 
religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, marriage/civil 
partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
This is a targeted Fund, aimed at supporting households who are experiencing financial hardship. 
Therefore, it is targeting residents in lower socio-economic groups. Emerging national evidence 
suggests that working age households, including those with children, are being impacted hardest 
by the cost of living rises. Those with disabilities may have additional costs associated with their 
health conditions, such as paying higher fuel bills for oxygen supplies. Some Black, Asian and 
minority ethnic groups are more likely to be on lower incomes, and are therefore also likely to be 
disproportionately affected.  
 
Funding is also allocated to families in receipt of Free School Meals in the form of holiday 
vouchers. This benefits school age children, and those in lower socio-economic groups.  
 
What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  

• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
RBWM’s approach to allocating the Household Support Fund has been developed in close 
consultation with a range of partner organisations, including voluntary and community sector 
groups, housing associations, Frimley Health services, and our Adults, Children’s, Housing and 
Customer services. To inform the development of the policy for allocating Tranche 4 of the Fund, 
we have undertaken a feedback exercise with all of our partners and analysed the data on take up 
of Tranche 3 of the funding.  
 
 
We will continue to monitor the distribution of funding by protected characteristics, to enable 
potential issues to be identified and addressed swiftly, for example through outreach. 
What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the EQIA Evidence Matrix for relevant data. Examples of other possible sources of 
information are in the Guidance document (Section 2.3). 
 
Evidence from the DWP supports a need to target additional support to those identified as facing 
financial hardship including, but not limited to, the disabled, pensioners, those on low incomes, 
and families with children. RBWM have also reviewed emerging national evidence on the impact 
of the cost of living rises on different groups within the population.  
 

425

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiMWZlNGI4YWYtZjk3Ni00Zjg2LTlkMTEtNmM4N2M2NTczZDU0IiwidCI6ImY1NGM5M2I3LTA4ODMtNDc4Zi1iZjNkLTU2ZTA5YjdjYTBiNyJ9&pageName=ReportSection


The council have analysed data collected through the application process for Tranche 3, to assess 
the reach of the HSF across protected characteristics including age, gender, disability and 
ethnicity.  
 
The Tranche 3 partnership scheme has to date supported 560 households, plus 120 care leavers; 
the demographic breakdown of applicants is as follows.  
Ethnicity: White British 79%; White Other 5%; Asian/Asian British 4.4%; Black/Black British 3%; 
Mixed 2.8%; Prefer not to say 2.8%; Other 2%.  
Gender: Female 70%; Male 29%; Prefer not to say <1%.  
Household description: Family with children 52%; Other 28%; Disabled 14%; Over pensionable age 
6%.  
It is likely that the number of applicants over pensionable age is  higher than the figures suggest, 
as a high proportion of those with a disability are also likely to be over pensionable age. However, 
we recognise that this is a demographic we need to more specifically target moving forwards. 

 

4. Equality Analysis 

Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences of 
individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 
Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state ‘Not 
Applicable’. 
More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the EQIA Guidance document 
(available on the intranet). 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative impact 

Age 
 

There is emerging evidence that the 
impacts of the cost-of-living increases are 
not affecting all communities equally. 18-
34s were the group most concerned about 
cost of living rises within RBWM’s recent 
Resident Survey and have not been a 
primary target of previous support 
schemes.  
 
Older people may also face particular 
pressures as they are more likely to live 
alone and to suffer from long term health 
conditions and disabilities. Evidence from 
Tranche 3 suggests that older people have 
faced barriers in accessing the scheme, 
due to its online application process and 
through a reluctance to put themselves 
forward for support. Therefore we are 
reviewing a range of mitigation measures 
to increase take up among older people, 
including bringing in additional partners, 
simplifying the application process, and 
undertaking further outreach.   
 

X X 

426



Disability 
 

People with a disability are more at risk 
of financial challenges and may have 
additional costs associated with 
managing their disability. Frimley ICB will 
use their health data to target individuals 
with disabilities and relevant long term 
health conditions. 

X  

Sex 
 

There is emerging evidence, for example 
through Citizens Advice data, that women 
are struggling financially due to cost-of-
living pressures, particularly in single 
parent households.  Women make up the 
majority of applications (70%) to Tranche 
3 of the HSF.  

X  

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

There is emerging evidence that some 
ethnic minorities are being 
disproportionately impacted by the cost-
of-living rises, for example, from Citizens 
Advice data and through the higher 
proportions of Black and Asian 
respondents reporting financial struggles 
in the RBWM Residents Survey. Citizens 
Advice will ensure that ethnic minority 
groups are able to access the Fund, and 
allocation will be tracked by ethnicity to 
identify any potential under-
representation swiftly. (18.2% of 
applicants to Tranche 3 describe 
themselves as not White British). 
Although no specific evidence is available 
on the impact of cost of living rises 
according to religion, there are 
correlations between race and religion, 
which make it important to ensure that 
religious groups are fully aware of the 
scheme – and religious organisations 
provide an important route into many of 
our communities. RBWM is working with 
a number of religious groups through the 
Here to Help campaign and will share 
communications about the Fund with 
them to ensure these communities are 
aware of the support available.    
There may be language barriers to 
accesing the online form, but this is 
mitigated through the support available 
from our partners to help with 
completing the applications.  

X  

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

To date there is no evidence available 
that this group are being 
disproportionately affected by cost-of-
living issues.  

Not Applicable  

427



Pregnancy and maternity Pregnancy and maternity can place 
additional pressures on household 
finances. The Baby Bank have been 
selected as a partner, to ensure that this 
group are reached through the Fund.   

X  

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

To date there is no evidence available 
that this group are being 
disproportionately affected by cost-of-
living issues.  

Not Applicable  

Armed forces community To date there is no evidence available 
that this group are being 
disproportionately affected by cost-of-
living issues. However, veterans have 
received support in Tranche 3 of the 
scheme and we will continue to reach out 
to those in the Armed Forces community. 

X  

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

Socio-econimic considerations directly 
impact household finances. Those in 
poverty, those with low incomes, and/or 
those experiencing increased living costs 
are at particular risk of financial 
challenges. All partners will ensure that 
individuals from vulnerable socio-
economic backgrounds are able to access 
the fund and will, to varying degrees, 
offer additional support where able and 
necessary. This support might include, for 
example, advice about debt relief and 
benefits, access to food from food banks, 
and housing support. 

X  

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

Children in care. 
 
Care leavers can face additonal finacial 
burdens as they leave care. Almost all 
RBWM care leavers have received a £145 
payment through Tranche 3 of the Fund.  

X  

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  

If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not applicable, 
leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics are able to 
benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
We have selected a range of TPOs that cover a wide range of different groups in the borough in order 
to ensure that we reach the maximum number of residents in need. For example, we have included 
Age Concern Windsor and Frimley ICB, with a particular remit to target older people and those with 
care needs and disabilities. Optalis has also now joined as a partner to increase targeting of this 
group. The Baby Bank target parents of young children, and Achieving for Children have recently 
joined to increase engagement with families and care leavers. Maidenhead FC Community Trust have 
been added as a partner, to increase engagement with men, as women have made a majority of 
applications to Tranche 3 of the scheme.  
Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in place to 
mitigate or minimise this? 

428



• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the target 
date for implementation. 

As part of our review of tranche 3, we received feedback from TPOs that some individuals had 
struggled to access support due to issues with IT literacy, lack of permanent address, and difficulty in 
accessing communications shared online. This affects older residents in particular. 
To mitigate these issues, we are working with TPOs to simplify the application process as much as 
possible, working on a case-by-case basis for address issues (whilst also confirming that applicants 
are residents in the borough), and supporting TPOs to expand their community outreach via posters, 
leaflets and word of mouth. 
How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 

The online applications will be processed through the Ascendant portal which allows us to monitor 
demographic information and keep track of applicants’ financial concerns.  
If any of this data shows signs of deviating from expectations and/or demographic information of the 
borough, we will take steps to address this through our TPOs and community outreach. 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 

Completed by:  Rebecca Hatch, Jennifer Hardy 
 

Date: 2nd March, 2023 

Approved by: Rebecca Hatch 
 

Date: 2nd March, 2023 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

 
  

429



 
 
Appendix D: Feedback and case studies from Delivery Partners  
 
As part of our assessment of tranche 3 funding, we reached out to our Delivery 
Partners to discuss the efficacy of our partnership approach and ask how we could 
develop the scheme moving forward. The following summary highlights the main 
feedback and presents some selected quotes. 
Question 1: How effective has the scheme been in terms of impact and reach?  
The was consensus amongst the partners that the partnership approach was 
effective in terms of impact and reach and had helped them to develop or initiate 
wider conversations with residents about other support they might need and/or were 
entitled to. 

• “The scheme has been a real godsend for our customers…I think the 
approach has been extremely effective” – Abri 

• “We feel this has been a successful scheme as it has enabled us to support 
clients we haven’t previously been in contact with and give additional support 
to some clients who we have already been helping. The clients who have 
come via the dedicated email address, who represent the other half of the 
codes we have given out, these have not only been supported with the extra 
money but assessed for underlying benefit and debt issues and often put 
forward to additional advice in these areas.” – Citizens Advice East Berkshire 
(CAEB) 

• “The scheme has been very effective, we have managed to reach out to 
customers who are really struggling with the cost of living, many of which have 
been in poverty for a while. We managed to help one gentleman who had no 
money but managed to get a new job, and the Household Support fund gave 
him the money to get fuel to make his 1st day at work.” – Housing Solutions 

• “The Scheme has been really helpful in terms of being able to reach the 
community.” – Maidenhead United FC Community Trust  

• “It has been invaluable to be able to reach some patients experiencing 
financial hardship through the work of Social Prescribing. We have carried out 
targeted work” – NHS Frimley 

 
Question 2: How effective has the approach and process been? For example, how 
have you found the Ascendant portal, partnership approach, application process etc. 
Overall, the partners felt the approach and process of the scheme was effective. 
Partners felt supported by the council and found regular meetings with all the other 
partners useful and enlightening. The Ascendant portal and application were largely 
found to be easy to use and many residents were able to apply for the scheme with 
minimal additional support from partners. However, some partners highlighted that 
older and harder to contact residents encountered problems applying to the scheme 
due to it being online and the need for proof of address. 

• “I have found the scheme to be easily accessible and have been able to 
email the codes through for individuals to complete where they can. … by 
giving access to frontline colleagues, we know the customers that are 
experiencing severe hardship, so if they don’t contact us then we have 
contacted them.” – Abri  

430



• “The portal worked well however most of our clients are not online or are 
not confident online which puts them at a disadvantage when hearing 
about the scheme.” – Age Concern 

• “The partnership approach has worked well, and we have been pleased 
to be able to meet and liaise with the Council to make sure the scheme 
was running as well as possible. We have found that the majority of 
clients appear to have found the claim process manageable” – CAEB 

• “The application process has been easy, the portal is intuitive.  The 
partnership approach has been great, having all the partners meet is very 
helpful.  We are grateful for the grant that we will allocate towards, time 
spent and travel to the community members and marketing.” – 
Maidenhead United FC Community Trust 
 

Question 3: What have been the positives of the scheme? 
Overall. partners were highly complimentary of the scheme and highted a range of 
positives from taking part: 

• “The regular partnership meetings to discuss process and progress has been 
very helpful with being able to push out internally and feedback what is 
working and what isn’t as well as to improve as we go along. The biggest 
positive for me has been having a grant that we are able to offer those that are 
struggling and seeing the difference it can make even though it’s a one-off 
payment, it gives them something to get them through. The positives of the 
scheme include how quickly we have been able to help people apply, and how 
quickly the payments have come through.” – Abri 

• “The scheme has encouraged some harder to reach clients to engage with us 
and allow us to give not just the grant, but key advice as required and, in many 
cases, ensure that going forward they may put themselves in a more robust 
situation to hopefully better weather this continuing cost of living crisis.” – 
CAEB 

• “I think overall how easy it has been to apply and the criteria to the scheme 
being very limited means we have been able to reach tenants who may not 
necessary been able to get other funding, so we have been able to support a 
wider variety of tenants. Also, very fast application process from completing 
the application to payment.” – Housing Solutions 

• “Being connected to other partners has been helpful for us understanding 
what help is already in the community, this is good for signposting or getting 
the right help for the community member. Having the scheme as an offering is 
enabling us to connect with community members that we would not normally 
have access to.  The funding has also helped us reach out to the community 
to bring awareness of our offering as a wellbeing circle.  The funding feels like 
the quick fix and then we can look at the longer-term issues and signpost the 
community member to the right partners in the community.” – Maidenhead 
United FC Community Trust 

 
Question 4: What have been the negatives of the scheme? 
Most of the feedback was positive but partners did encounter some problems – 
largely connected to residents needing further support beyond the £145 available 
through the Fund, problems accessing the application online, and ensuring 
applicants followed through with their application after being given a URN (unique 
reference number). 

431



• “It’s difficult to find a negative. If I could find anything at all, it would be that it 
was a one-off payment so did not solve problems for very long…customers 
need the £145 every month not just as a one of payment.” - Abri 

• “By focussing on online only and only getting leaflets dropped late in the 
process I feel you have missed a great number of people who are struggling 
as they are not online, particularly for the age range that we are accessing but 
also for those who have little more. Our best responses come from word of 
mouth, posters, and leaflets.” – Age Concern 

• “It should be noted that [the £145 payment] does not properly cover the full 
additional costs of the most needy in society nor reflect the longer-term effect 
of changes to benefits including related to Local Housing Allowance, 
allowances for those with children, the full impact of high food and utility 
inflation on those with lower incomes or the general affordability of housing.” – 
CAEB 

• “Potentially about 20% of the clients who have received codes have not yet 
applied, we would be concerned that this could at least partly be to do with 
problems with completing the application process (NB we will be reaching out 
to as many of these clients as possible to try to offer additional help where 
possible.)” – CAEB 

• “Proof of residency, RBWM should be more joined up behind the scenes, a lot 
of patients commented that “I pay council tax, shouldn’t that be enough 
proof?”” – NHS Frimley 
 

Question 5: How could we strengthen or adapt our approach going forward? 
Partners had several suggestions for how we could strengthen our approach for 
tranche 4, these suggestions largely centred on simplifying the online application 
process, particularly in terms of proof of address and needing an individual email 
address. 

• “We can strengthen our approach by building on what we have, to find longer 
term solutions for these people that is accessible and effective. Suggestions 
for the future would be to allow the application form to complete without an e-
mail address (if the application comes from a referrer account, you have the 
referrer’s e-mail address if you need to contact the customer.)” – Abri  

• “[If] we can have accounts in our own name [we can] submit multiple 
applications for different customers.  The only slight issue is having to enter an 
e-mail address when some customers simply don’t have one (you can’t enter 
your own e-mail address on more than one customer application.)” – Abri 

• “It is worth putting the [HSF application] information repeatedly into the 
newspapers as people can miss just one mention and their circumstances can 
change. It probably would be good to be present at any person informational 
events and or use events that could attract the audience to access those older 
people who are in reasonable health but cash poor. Unlike other age ranges 
we do not really suffer from people trawling for money, we generally have to 
encourage them to apply.” – Age Concern 

• “Some flexibility is needed for those who are housebound and struggle with IT 
to try and make it easy to get needed grants processed in such cases. 
Perhaps a dedicated log in or process for delivery partners to use might help 
so that we can more easily do remote applications for the really hard to reach 
cases.” – CAEB  

• “More joined up process form the resident’s perspective on proof of address.” 
– NHS Frimley 
 

432



 
Case Studies 

1. “A 65-year-old lady who has recently been widowed.  Her husband was older 
and receiving his pension and housing benefit, so as a couple they were 
comfortable financially.  Suddenly widowed she had no choice but to apply for 
Universal Credit (UC), so as well as being devastated by his death, she will 
have to wait 5 weeks for her first payment from UC.  As a couple, they had 
100% of their rent paid by housing benefit, now UC will only pay 75% of her 
rent because she is affected by the bedroom tax with 2 spare bedrooms, and 
then she has to try and pay the 25% shortfall of her rent from the £334.91 a 
month that she will get from UC to try to live on. Helping this lady with £145 
from the HSF enabled her to buy food and feel slightly less abandoned while 
waiting 5 weeks for her first miniscule UC payment.”  

2. “Following the breakdown of her marriage a customer also had to make her 
first UC claim.  Now a lone parent with 4 children and no income for 5 weeks 
the grant helped to ensure that she could keep the lights and the heating on 
while going to the food bank to feed herself and her children.”  

3. “Maidenhead resident, age between 35 to 55, living on her own not working 
due to Mental Health and other physical health conditions. Keeping warm is 
required to reduce her physical discomfort, to reduce the risk for her condition 
aggravating and also to improve her emotional wellbeing. She lives in 1 
bedroom private rented accommodation using her benefits to pay toward this. 
Her house is not insulated properly, therefore she needs support to keep warm 
herself, she spends a lot of time indoors. I signposted her to Draught Busters, 
referred her to CAB for support with PIP application and offered her the Link 
and unique code to apply for the Grant. She received the money and used it 
toward buying an electric blanket, a duvet, some thermals, and some food 
items soups and tea. She is grateful and said that with the electric blanket, 
there is no need to put the heating on at night so this helps with the bill.”  

4. “A young customer who was nominated for one of our properties after a stay in 
temporary accommodation having been asked to leave home by her parents 
suddenly has to try and feed herself, top up gas and electricity and live on 
£265.31 a month (under 25’s rate of UC.) The £145 was a godsend!”  

5. “A new customer fleeing domestic violence couldn’t get her housing costs paid 
by UC due to having different names on her tenancy and UC accounts.  She 
needed to produce her change of name by deed poll certificate, which she had 
lost while fleeing domestic violence.  The £145 made it possible for her to pay 
for another copy of the certificate to be fast tracked in order to change the 
name on her rent account so that UC could pay her rent.”  

6. “N is on UC and has severe mental health issues. He has past issues with 
fines and debts, so that the full amount that can be taken for repayment has 
been taken and he is receiving approx. £80 per month. He lives in a property 

433



with electric heating and cannot afford to eat and heat the property. He was 
not engaging, but when we finally managed to get into the property, we found 
him with no food or heating. The bedding and furniture felt wet as he had been 
so long without heating. The £145 grant was applied for and this has helped 
him through a period when we were getting temperatures of minus five 
degrees.”  

7. “J was living in private rented accommodation with her adult disabled son and 
using his benefits to pay the rent as it was above the Local Housing 
Allowance. They were already struggling with gas bills hitting £360 per month 
and were then offered a 3-bedroom bungalow, which is suitable for their 
needs. They did not have anything for their new home apart from a kettle and 
toaster, as everything in the property came with the rental. The grant of £145, 
has been really appreciated.”  

8. “We managed to help one gentleman who had no money but managed to get 
a new job, and the Household Support fund gave him the money to get fuel to 
make his 1st day at work.”  

9. “Recently, Mr S, who has a long-term health condition and has been suffering 
from a chest infection, was referred to the HSF in order to help improve his 
health and living situation. After a home visit, Mr S was found to be sleeping in 
his living room as he had no reliable means of heating his bedroom. Due to 
rising fuel costs, Mr S was struggling to pay his bills and his health condition 
was impacting his ability to manage on his own. Through conversations with a 
social prescriber, Mr S was encouraged to apply for the Household Support 
Fund. The £145 payment enabled him to purchase an electric blanket. He was 
also supported to apply for additional benefits, to help pay to employ someone 
to help with the house.”  

10. “Mrs P contacted Citizens Advice for help because she was living in 
accommodation that was not attached to any main’s supply and was having to 
rely on solid fuel for all her heating needs. Due to ill-health, Mrs P was unable 
to work and her ability to get out of the house had been impacted. Spending 
more time at home increased her fuel needs, and she was struggling 
financially. Money from the HSF enabled Mrs P to buy extra fuel to stay warm 
and has had a positive impact on her health. Alongside support from Citizens 
Advice, the HSF helped provide urgent financial relief that has improved Mrs 
P’s situation whilst additional longer-term help is put in place.”  

 

 
 
 
 

434



 
Report Title: Special Educational Needs and Alternative 

Provision Capital Strategy 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

Yes – Main report and appendices A to D, F, 
H and I are Part I.   
Appendices E and G are Part II and not for 
publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Carroll, Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services, Education, Health, Mental 
Health and Transformation. 

Meeting and Date: 30 March 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Kevin McDaniel, Executive Director of People 
Services 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
Public consultation has been carried out on proposals for new Special Educational 
Needs & Disabilities (SEND) provision in the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead.  The proposals included up to four new Resource Bases attached to 
mainstream schools, and a new Early Years School Readiness Hub.   
   
The positive outcome of that consultation is reported here, together the outcome of 
initial design works and costings (Part II).  The Department for Education has also 
approved the Royal Borough’s application to establish a new special free school in 
the borough. 
 
The recommendations in this report will form the basis of a SEND and Alternative 
Provision (AP) Capital Strategy to provide more places locally for children and young 
people with SEND and alternative provision needs. 
 
This will help the borough achieve its corporate objective of ‘Thriving Communities’ 
by making it easier for children and young people to achieve their ambitions and fulfil 
their potential.  The proposed capital strategy will also help provide quality 
infrastructure for children and young people, meeting the corporate objective of 
‘Inspiring Places’. 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves, in principle, the proposals for new Special Educational 
Needs & Disabilities (SEND) provision as set out in Table 5. 

ii) Recommends the budgets for delivery of these proposals, as set 
out in Appendix G (Part II) to Council for inclusion in the 2023/24 
capital programme.  

iii) Requests formal consultation on the proposal for Hilltop First 
School and (if required) consultation on amended proposals for 
Cox Green School and Desborough College, and delegates 
authority to the AfC Director of Children’s Services, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Education, 

435

Agenda Item 13



Health, Mental Health & Transformation to then make the final 
decision(s) on whether to proceed. 

iv) Requests the submission of Business Cases to the Department of 
Education, seeking the necessary approvals of the proposals in 
Table 5 that involve academies. 

v) Delegates authority to the AfC Director of Children’s Services and 
the Procurement Manager to undertake procurement and enter into 
contracts for the delivery of the new SEND provision set out in 
Table 5, subject to: 
• each school agreeing and signing a Memorandum of 

Understanding with the local authority setting out the scope of 
the accommodation works. 

• each school agreeing and signing a service level agreement 
setting out the expectations of both the school and the local 
authority in relation to the running of the Resource Base. 

• (for the Early Years School Readiness Hub only) Heads of 
Terms being agreed on the lease of the bungalow.  

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Providing sufficient school places 
2.1 The Education Act 1996 sets out a statutory duty on local authorities to 

provide enough school places, including provision for children with special 
educational needs and disabilities (SEND) and alternative provision (AP).  The 
Children and Families Act 2014 places further important statutory 
responsibilities for supporting children and young people with SEND, including 
keeping the level and scope of educational provision for them under review. 

2.2 Appendix A shows the SEND provision already open in the Royal Borough. 

Developing a SEND and AP Capital Strategy 
2.3 Cabinet considered a report in August 2022 setting out a number of national 

policy changes, opportunities and capital grants affecting SEND and AP 
school places.  In summary, these were: 

• The government’s SEND review: ‘Right support, Right place, Right 
time.’  Published as a green paper in March 2022, this consulted on 
creating a new national SEND and AP system with consistent standards for 
identifying and meeting need, together with immediate investment in new 
SEND and AP places1.  The government is expected to publish the 
resulting national SEND delivery plan early in 2023. 

• The Royal Borough’s SEND strategy 2022-2027.  Priority 5 of the 
borough’s agreed SEND strategy2 commits the borough to developing the 
right range of specialist provision so that as many children and young 
people can be educated in a local educational setting as possible. 

• New special and alternative free school waves.  The Department for 
Education (DfE) announced £2.6m of capital investment in new SEND and 
AP provision, including up to 60 new special and AP free schools.   

• High Needs Provision Capital Allocation (HNPCA).  The Royal Borough 
has been allocated £3,721,222 in capital grant to meet the capital costs of 
providing new places and improving existing provision for children and 

 
1 Pages 14 and 15, SEND review: right support, right place, right time, Department for Education, March 2022. 
2 Special Education Needs or Disability (SEND) Strategy (2022-2027), RBWM, October 2023. 

436

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time
https://rbwm.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/local-offer/information-and-advice/policies-and-procedures/rbwm-s-special-educational-needs-or-disability-send-strategy-2022-2027


young people with Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs); other 
children and young people with SEND; and children who require alternative 
provision. 

2.4 Although the government’s national SEND delivery plan has not yet been 
published, the priorities in the borough’s SEND Strategy align with the 
direction of travel laid out in the green paper.   

2.5 Cabinet approved public consultation, therefore, on a number of proposals for 
more SEND provision in the borough, and initial design works to establish 
costs.  Cabinet also approved the submission of a bid for a new special free 
school.   

2.6 HNPCA funding has already been committed to improvements at the Charters 
Resourced Provision for Physical Disability (completed); to the SEND Careers 
Hub at the Chiltern Road site in Maidenhead (September 2023) and to costs 
associated with the delivery of the SEND capital programme, including design 
works for the proposals referred to in this report. 

New special free school bid 
2.7 The Royal Borough submitted a bid for a new special free school, as part of 

the latest free school wave, in October 2022.  The bid was for a 100 place 
special school, for children and young people aged 7 to 16 with EHCPs for 
Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH).  The school would be located in 
a new development planned on the western edge of Windsor (identified in the 
Borough Local Plan as AL21 West of Windsor). 

2.8 The DfE announced on 2nd March 2023 that the Royal Borough had been 
successful in its bid for a new special free school.  The local authority will now 
need to run a free school competition to invite proposer groups to apply to 
open the new school. 

2.9 One requirement of a successful bid is a commitment from the local authority 
to fund any ‘abnormal’ works related to the new school arising from specific 
site conditions.  This report recommends, therefore, that £500,000 is set aside 
from the High Needs Provision Capital Allocation for this purpose.    

Proposals for new SEND provision in the Royal Borough 
2.10 The public consultation on new SEND provision focused on four new 

Resource Bases attached to mainstream schools, and an Early Years School 
Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School in Windsor.   

2.11 The Resource Base proposals were for: 

• Cox Green School, Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning. 
• Desborough College, Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning. 
• Hilltop First School, SEN Unit or Resourced Provision for Communication 

and Interaction. 
• Trevelyan Middle School, Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning. 

  

437



Note on Resource Bases, Resourced Provision, SEN Units and Hubs 
2.12 Resource Base is a generic term for a facility attached to a school that 

provides additional support for children and young people with EHCPs.  
Resource Bases usually focus on a specific need or range of needs, and 
come in two types:   

• Resourced Provision.  Children and young people attending this will be able 
to spend most of their time in mainstream classes at the school.  They will 
spend some time receiving extra support in the provision itself. 

• SEN Unit.  Children and young people attending a SEN Unit will spend 
more of their time in the unit, but will still attend some mainstream classes 
in the school. 

2.13 Three of the proposed bases are for Cognition and Learning, which covers 
Specific Learning Difficulties, such as dyslexia or dyspraxia, or Moderate 
Learning Difficulties.  There are not currently any Resource Bases for 
Cognition and Learning in the borough. 

2.14 The fourth proposed base (at Hilltop First School) is for Communication and 
Interaction, which covers Speech, Language and Communication Needs 
(SLCN) and Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC).  The borough has a Speech 
and Language Resourced Provision at Riverside Primary School, and two 
primary age ASC Resourced Provisions (Furze Platt Primary Federation, 
Dedworth Campus), and the planned SEN Unit at South Ascot Village Primary 
School. 

2.15 Hubs are different to Resource Bases, and provide short term, additional, 
support to children and young people who might attend only for a few hours 
each week.  They will continue to have most of their lessons at their ‘home’ 
school, and do not have to have an EHCP.  The purpose of hubs is to keep 
children at their current school, addressing issues as soon as possible 
through early intervention. 

Informal consultation 
2.16 Paragraph 5.1 in Section 5 sets out the details of the consultation and 

decision-making process required by legislation for this type of proposal.  The 
first step is ‘informal consultation’.  More details about the consultation 
process are given in Section 8; the consultation document is provided at 
Appendix B; the full details of the consultation outcome are given in Appendix 
C. 

2.17 In summary, the outcome of the consultation is very positive, as shown in 
Tables 1 and 2. 

Table 1: Consultation response – principle of new Resource Bases 
Do you agree that the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
should open new Resourced Provision and/or SEN Units for children 
with EHCPs? 
Answer Responses (No.) Responses (%) 
Yes 166  93  
No 8  4  
Don’t know 3  2  
No view 1  1  
Total 178  100  

 

438



Table 2: Consultation response – principle of School Readiness Hub 
Do you agree that the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
should open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? 
Answer Responses (No.) Responses (%) 
Yes 158  89  
No 4  2  
Don’t know 8  4  
No view 8  4  
Total 178  100  

2.18 Overall, 93% of 178 respondents were in favour of opening new Resource 
Bases, and 89% were in favour of an Early Years School Readiness Hub. 

2.19 Respondents were given the opportunity to comment on their answers, with 
the following main points being raised.  The numbers in brackets indicate the 
number of respondents who made this point in their comments: 

• More Resource Bases are required as there is not enough local SEND 
provision (21). 

• Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support to children with 
SEND (21). 

• More early intervention is needed to support families of children with SEND, 
particularly where a diagnosis hasn’t yet been made (3). 

• My school is not currently meeting the SEND needs of my child (9). 
• Many children and young people with SEND can remain in mainstream 

school, provided they have sufficient support (7). 
• All schools should have the opportunity to have a Resource Base (5). 
• Decisions about which provision should go ahead should be made on the 

basis of need across the borough and at individual schools (5). 

2.20 Of the 56 parents/carers of children with EHCPs who responded, 88% were in 
favour of opening more Resource Bases, and 85% in favour of the proposed 
Early Years School Readiness Hub. 

2.21 Many more comments were made in relation to this question, and these are 
summarised on pages 3 and 5 of Appendix C.  All of the individual comments 
can be read in Appendix I. 

2.22 The consultation then asked respondents to give their views on the individual 
site proposals, as summarised in Table 3.  Note that Hilltop First School 
appears in the table twice, as the borough consulted on both a Resourced 
Provision and a SEN Unit. 

  

439



Table 3: Consultation response – views on specific options 
Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open new SEND 
provision at the following schools? 
Site Yes No Don’t 

know 
No view 

Cox Green School 112 10 22 34 
Resourced Provision 
Cognition & Learning 

63% 6% 12% 19% 

Desborough College 116 8 21 33 
Resourced Provision 
Cognition & Learning 

65% 4% 12% 19% 

Hilltop First School 114 11 26 27 
Resourced Provision 
Communication & Interaction 

64% 6% 15% 15% 

Hilltop First School 121 9 25 23 
SEN Unit 
Communication & Interaction 

68% 5% 14% 13% 

The Lawns Nursery School 125 8 18 27 
Hub 
Early Years School Readiness 

70% 4% 10% 15% 

Trevelyan Middle School 122 9 20 27 
Resourced Provision 
Cognition & Learning 

69% 5% 11% 15% 

2.23 There is a high level of uncertainty from respondents in relation to specific 
proposals, with many respondents unable or unwilling to comment on schools 
that they may have no direct experience of.  The level of responses against 
each specific option is, however, very low.  Table 4 sets out the percentages 
for and against each option, with ‘No view’ removed. 

Table 4: Consultation response – % specifically for/against each option 
Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open new SEND 
provision at the following schools? 
Site Yes No Don’t 

know 
Cox Green School 112 10 22 
Resourced Provision 
Cognition & Learning 

78% 7% 15% 

Desborough College 116 8 21 
Resourced Provision 
Cognition & Learning 

80% 6% 14% 

Hilltop First School 114 11 26 
Resourced Provision 
Communication & Interaction 

75% 7% 17% 

Hilltop First School 121 9 25 
SEN Unit 
Communication & Interaction 

78% 6% 16% 

The Lawns Nursery School 125 8 18 
Hub 
Early Years School Readiness 

83% 5% 12% 

Trevelyan Middle School 122 9 20 
Resourced Provision 
Cognition & Learning 

81% 6% 13% 

440



2.24 Excluding ‘No view’ there is a very high level of support for all of the options.   

2.25 Appendix C also gives a breakdown of responses from each of the school 
communities (parents, staff and governors) at which new SEND provision is 
proposed.   

2.26 Although relatively few responses were received from each school, in all 
cases there were majorities in favour of the proposals. 

2.27 Respondents were given the opportunity to comment on their answers in 
relation to the specific proposals.  Not many specific issues raised, but these 
did include: 

• Not wanting to open Resourced Provision at a single-sex school for boys, 
as there would be no equivalent provision for girls (1). 

• Concern over whether the needs to be met by the proposed 
Communication and Interaction Resourced Provision at Hilltop would be too 
broad (1). 

2.28 The comments made in relation to these questions are summarised in 
Appendix C.  All of the individual comments can be read in Appendix I. 

2.29 The final question of the consultation related to whether the new provision at 
Hilltop First School should be a Resourced Provision or a SEN Unit.  Here, the 
response was: 

• 10% for Resourced Provision 
• 26% for SEN Unit 
• 19% Don’t know 
• 45% No view. 

2.30 Most respondents have no view, but of the two options, the SEN Unit is 
preferred.  This is replicated in the responses from the Hilltop community, 
where 12% were in favour of Resourced Provision, and 52% in favour of a 
SEN Unit. 

Initial design and feasibility works on new accommodation required 
2.31 Resource Bases and hubs have their own accommodation, where children 

and young people attending the facility can receive additional support.  There 
is no set guidance for hubs, but the DfE’s Building Bulletin 104 sets space 
standards for Resource Bases. 

2.32 Initial design works have been carried out by the borough, in partnership with 
HLM Architects, for the Resource Bases.  Thames Valley Surveying has 
worked with the borough on the design for the Early Years School Readiness 
Hub.  All the options have been developed in partnership with the schools. 

2.33 In summary, a range of deliverable options have been identified at all five 
sites, either through the remodelling of existing accommodation (including 
former caretaker bungalows), extensions to buildings or new standalone 
blocks.  Appendix D provides a summary of these options, together with 
recommendations.  The Part II version also provides estimated costings 
(Appendix E, Part II item). 

  

441



Options appraisal 
2.34 Appendix F provides an appraisal of the recommended proposals at each 

school, including consultation outcome, Ofsted ratings, location, local need, 
capital cost and practicality of deliverability. 

2.35 There are no concerns about the ability of any of the schools to deliver and 
run a Resource Base or Hub.  Affordability in both capital and revenue terms 
mean that all four Resource Bases and the Hubs can proceed.  

Recommending further investigations and a phased programme 
2.36 This report recommends that approval be given to: 

• The Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns, to open in 
September 2023. 

• Resourced Provision for Communication and Interaction at Hilltop First 
School, to open in September 2024. 

• Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning at Trevelyan Middle 
School, to open in September 2024. 

2.37 Further discussions are needed in relation to the proposals for Cox Green 
School and Desborough College.  This will allow the schools and local 
authority to consider more fully the impact of a Resource Base at a single-sex 
school (Desborough College).  In addition, both proposals were for Cognition 
and Learning, which is more than is needed.  One of the bases could instead 
be for a different range of needs, if agreed by the schools.  A change in the 
type of need would require some additional consultation. 

2.38 Accordingly, it is proposed that the Royal Borough gives in principle 
agreement is given to the two secondary bases to open in September 2025, 
subject to further discussions with the schools and any necessary 
consultation.   

2.39 This will give a phased programme with new provision opening in 2023, 2024 
and 2025.  This will ensure there is capacity to develop and deliver the new 
Resource Bases, reducing the risk to the revenue budgets (see paragraphs 
4.8 to 4.19 in Section 3 for more details about revenue). 

Manor Green School 
2.40 A project to improve access to Manor Green School is proposed, to be funded 

by both S106 and HNPCA.  This project will replace the two single-
carriageway gates on site with double-carriageway gates, allowing traffic to 
pass in both directions when open.  This should help improve traffic flow 
onsite, and reduce delays on Cannon Lane at the start and end of the school 
day.  If approved, the works should be carried out over the summer holiday 
period in 2023. 

Other proposals 
2.41 Occasionally, significant revenue savings can be made by making relatively 

minor adjustments to accommodation to meet the needs of a particular child 
or young person.  Such adjustments, made to local state schools or colleges, 
can avoid the need to send a child or young person with an EHCP to a more 
costly independent sector place.  It is proposed that £200k of HNPCA is set 
aside for this purpose.  This would replace the S106 pot that has previously 
been used for this purpose, which is now almost all spent. 

442



SEND and AP Capital Strategy 
2.42 The resulting SEND and AP Capital Strategy can be summarised, therefore, 

as in Table 5. 

Table 5: SEND and AP Capital Strategy 
School Proposal Timing 
Charters School Improvements to the Resourced 

Provision for Cognition and 
Learning 

Completed 

Chiltern Road 
site 

New SEND Careers Hub September 2023 

Manor Green 
School 

Access improvements Summer 2023. 

The Lawns 
Nursery School 

New Early Years School 
Readiness Hub 

September 2023 

Hilltop First 
School 

New Resourced Provision for 
Communication and Interaction 

September 2024 

Trevelyan Middle 
School 

New Resourced Provision for 
Cognition and Learning 

September 2024 

Cox Green 
School 

New Resourced Provision (in 
principle) with need to be 
determined.  

September 2025 

Desborough 
College 

New Resourced Provision (in 
principle) with need to be 
determined.  

September 2025 

West of Windsor New special school, funding of 
abnormal costs 

September 2026 

All schools Fund for minor adaptations at 
schools and colleges to support 
local placement of children and 
young people with EHCPs. 

Ongoing 

2.43 Appendix G (Part II) provides the estimated costs to the capital programme for 
each element of this proposed programme.  This includes capital funding for 
the two ‘in-principle’ decisions for Resourced Provision at Cox Green School 
and Desborough College. 

2.44 Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council that the budgets set out in 
Appendix G are added to the 2023/24 capital programme. 

Next steps 

New special school 
2.45 The DfE will be providing the Royal Borough with key dates for carrying out a 

competition to find a proposer to run the new special free school.  It is likely 
that this will need to be run in Spring 2023, with decisions around the 
proposer by the Autumn.  

New Resource Bases and Early Years School Readiness Hub 
2.46 The Governing Bodies and Academy Trusts for the schools involved are still 

considering the outcome of the consultation.  This report proposes, therefore, 
that Cabinet approval of these schemes is subject to approval by the relevant 
Governing Bodies and Academy Trusts. 

443



2.47 This will allow formal consultation on the Hilltop First School proposal to 
proceed in the summer term 2023.  The Royal Borough will then need to 
formally consider whether the proposal should still go ahead.  It is proposed 
that this decision is delegated to the AfC Director for Children’s Services, in 
conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Education, 
Health, Mental Health and Transformation.  This will be subject to no 
substantive new issues being raised during the formal consultation period.  If 
any are, then the proposals will need to come back to Cabinet for approval. 

2.48 For Cox Green School, Desborough College and Trevelyan Middle School, 
the process is slightly different as the schools are academies.  Their academy 
trusts will need to submit a Business Case to the DfE, once planning 
permission for the new build has been secured.   

2.49 No further formal permissions from Cabinet are required in the case of the 
Early Years School Readiness Hub. 

2.50 However, for all five proposals, the main project contract will not be tendered 
until: 

• All parties at each school, including the local authority, agree and sign a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) setting out the scope of the new 
accommodation to be provided. 

• All parties at each school, including the local authority, agree and sign a 
Service Level Agreement setting out the expectations of both the school 
and local authority in relation to the provision to be offered. 

• Heads of Terms have been agreed in relation to any leases (this affects the 
Early Years school Readiness Hub). 

2.51 Projects will then move through full design stage, planning permission (where 
relevant) and procurement before the construction phase begins.  During this 
time the borough will work with schools on setting up the new Resource 
Bases and Hub. 

Options  
 

Table 6: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Approves, in principle, the proposals for 
new Special Educational Needs & 
Disabilities (SEND) provision as set out 
in Table 5. 
This is the recommended option 

This will allow the borough to 
proceed to next steps on the 
recommended new SEND 
provision.  If not approved, there 
will be no further progress with 
these proposals. 

Recommends the budgets for delivery 
of these proposals, as set out in 
Appendix G (Part II) to Council for 
inclusion in the 2023/24 capital 
programme.  
This is the recommended option 

Council approval is required for 
additions to the borough capital 
programme.  If approval is not 
given, budgets cannot be set, 
and the projects cannot proceed. 

Requests formal consultation on the 
proposal for Hilltop First School and 
delegates authority to the AfC Director 
of Children’s Services, in consultation 

Formal consultation is required 
for the change proposed at 
Hilltop First School (a community 
school).  It is recommended that 

444



Option Comments 
with the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, Education, Health, Mental 
Health & Transformation to then make 
the final decision on whether to 
proceed. 
This is the recommended option 

consideration of the outcome of 
this consultation is delegated in 
order to speed the process up.  
Experience of previous 
consultations suggests that it is 
unlikely that any substantive new 
issues will be raised in the formal 
consultation period. 

Requests the submission of Business 
Cases to the Department of Education, 
seeking the necessary approvals of the 
proposals in Table 5 that involve 
academies. 
This is the recommended option 

Academies are required to 
submit Business Cases to the 
DfE when making significant 
changes.  Proposals cannot 
proceed unless this is done. 

Delegates authority to the AfC Director 
of Children’s Services and the 
Procurement Manager to undertake 
procurement and enter into contracts for 
the delivery of the new SEND provision 
set out in Table 5, subject to: 

Delegation of authority to procure 
and enter into contracts will allow 
this process to proceed quickly.  
In most cases, the tender sum 
will be below the Cabinet 
threshold anyway. 

• each school agreeing and signing a 
Memorandum of Understanding with 
the local authority setting out the 
scope of the accommodation works. 

This will ensure that the scope of 
projects is agreed with schools at 
an early stage, leading to quicker 
and more efficient procurement. 

• each school agreeing and signing a 
service level agreement setting out 
the expectations of both the school 
and the local authority in relation to 
the running of the Resource Base or 
Hub. 

This will ensure that all parties 
are clear at an early stage about 
what the day to day operation of 
the new provision will involve. 

• (for the Early Years School 
Readiness Hub only) Heads of 
Terms being agreed on the lease of 
the bungalow.  

This is the recommended option 

Agreeing Heads of Terms on the 
bungalow lease will provide 
security to move forward with 
procurement. 

  

445



3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 7: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

Four new 
Resource 
Bases are 
opened to 
the 
timetable in 
Table 5. 

Resource 
Bases 
open 
later than 
set out in 
Table 5. 

Four new 
Resource 
Bases 
are 
opened 
to the 
timetable 
in Table 
5. 

N/A N/A See 
Table 5. 

Early Years 
School 
Readiness 
Hub opens 
on 1st 
September 
2023 

Does not 
open on  
1st Sept. 
2023. 

Opens  
1st Sept. 
2023. 

N/A N/A 1st Sept. 
2023. 

Reduced 
pressure on 
revenue 
budgets 
through 
capital 
funded 
adjustments 
to buildings. 

N/A Up to 
£100,000 
per 
annum. 

>£100,000 
per 
annum. 

N/A 1st Sept. 
2025. 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

Table 8: Financial Impact of report’s recommendations on:  
(a) ‘LA block’ revenue 
REVENUE COSTS  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
Additional total £0 £0 £0 
Reduction £0 £0 £0 
Net Impact £0 £0 £0 

(b) Dedicated Schools Grant ‘High Needs’ block 
REVENUE COSTS  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
Additional total £0 £230,666 £464,000 
Reduction £0 £230,666 £464,000 
Net Impact £0 £0 £0 

4.1 There is more detail about the revenue costs in paragraphs 4.13 to 4.19.  
Resource Bases do have implications for revenue funding but, if correctly 
managed these should not have a negative impact.  All revenue costs will be 
met from within the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant, and 
not from within the local authority’s revenue. 

  

446



(c) Capital programme (funded from the High Needs Provision Capital) 
CAPITAL COSTS  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
Additional total £452,000 £1,342,000 £1,444,000 
Reduction £452,000 £1,342,000 £1,444,000 
Net Impact £0 £0 £0 

Capital funding 
4.2 The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead has been allocated capital 

funding from the DfE’s High Needs Provision Capital Allocation (HNPCA).  
The allocations, by financial year, are as follows: 

• 2021/22 £500,000 
• 2022/23 £1,299,900 
• 2023/24 £1,921,232 
• Total £3,721,222 

4.3 There is currently no expectation of further allocations in subsequent financial 
years.  The purpose of the grant is to meet the capital cost of providing new 
places and improving existing provision for: 

• children and young people with EHCPs and, where appropriate, other 
children and young people with SEND who do not have an EHCP. 

• pupils who require alternative provision, including those in AP settings 
without an EHCP. 

4.4 The DfE is encouraging local authorities to invest in projects that help manage 
pressures on high needs revenue budgets.  In particular, the DfE wants local 
authorities to consider prioritising projects that increase the number of suitable 
places for children with EHCPs in mainstream settings, i.e. Resourced 
Provision and/or SEN Units. 

4.5 Other key points from the guidance are that: 

• the funding is intended mainly for school aged children, but local authorities 
can spend it across the 0 to 25 age range (including at further education 
colleges). 

• there is no deadline for spending the funding. 
• the funding can be spent on provision that lies outside the local authority 

boundary, if that will improve the range and quality of provision for our 
children and young people. 

• the funding is not intended for individual mobility equipment, or for 
maintenance work.  It also cannot be used for revenue expenditure of any 
kind. 

• the later allocations also include a small element for improving the 
suitability and accessibility of school buildings. 

4.6 The full guidance is available on the DfE website3. 

4.7 Appendix G (Part II) sets out the estimated costs of the proposed options and 
shows that these are expected to be affordable within the £3,721,222 grant.  
There will be no impact on the council’s own capital resources. 

 
 

3 High Needs Provision Capital Allocations Guidance, DfE, April 2021. 

447

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/976866/High_Needs_Provision_Capital_Allocations_Guidance.pdf


Revenue funding for new SEN Units and/or Resourced Provision 

Impact of the revenue funding on a school 
4.8 Schools with a SEN Unit or Resourced Provision receive additional revenue 

funding to reflect the higher costs of educating children and young people with 
EHCPs.  The funding for pupils attending a unit or provision is, therefore, 
comprised of a number of elements (the figures relate to one financial year): 

• Element 1: This is the AWPU (Age Weighted Pupil Unit).  All schools get 
funding for each pupil at the school as part of the school’s delegated 
funding.  This is currently £3,584.54 for a primary school, £5,053.61 for the 
KS3 years in a middle school, and £5,695.74 for secondary schools.  
Schools also receive other pupil led elements in the formula (e.g. funding 
for pupils with free school meals, deprivation, English as an Additional 
Language). 

• Element 2: £6,000 for each pupil in the unit or provision, or £10,000 for 
each unfilled place in the unit or provision. 

• Element 3: Since September 2019, top-up funding for all new EHCP 
children at any academy, aided, community, or controlled school in the 
borough has been based on a matrix that considers the child’s individual 
needs4.  The top-up funding is between £2k and £21k per child, and will be 
reviewed annually as part of the child’s annual EHCP review.  It is assumed 
that, on average, the top-up for a child in Resourced Provision will be 
around £6,000.  For a child in an SEN Unit, the average top-up may be 
closer to £8,000. 

4.9 It is important to note that some of the pupils attending the unit or provision 
may be included within the usual number of children educated at the school.  
This is because the School Admissions Code does not allow for places to be 
set aside specifically for pupils in the unit or provision.  At first entry to school 
(e.g. for a Reception school place), children with an EHCP naming a school 
are given places ahead of all other applicants.  For admissions outside the 
normal intake year, a child whose EHCP names the school will be admitted, 
even if the school is full in that specific year group.  If the year group is an 
infant year group, the child is treated as an ‘excepted’ child for the purposes of 
the infant class size legislation, so that the limit of 30 children per teacher is 
not breached. 

4.10 A (full) one form entry primary school with 210 pupils, therefore, could expect 
to have somewhere between 210 and 220 pupils after opening a Resource 
Base.  Up to ten of these would be attending the new facility.  Some year 
groups might have additional pupils, where a child with an EHCP naming the 
school has been admitted. 

4.11 The £10,000 funding for unfilled places in the unit or provision reflects the 
need to maintain the staffing of the facility even when it is not full.  Place 
funding levels are agreed annually for each financial year, for each unit or 
provision. 

4.12 The children attending a SEN Unit or Resourced Provision are excluded from 
the Targeted SEN in-year funding for schools.   

 
4 Note, this change does not affect EHCP children currently attending Resourced Units, who will continue to be funded as per 
the existing top-up arrangements. 

448



Impact on the borough’s revenue funding 
4.13 Funding for pupils with EHCPs comes from the government via the High 

Needs Block (HNB).  Providing new school places for children and young 
people with EHCPs does not, in itself, lead to additional funding from the 
government via the HNB.  This is because the HNB is allocated on a formulaic 
basis, taking account of the 2-18 population and the historic number of agreed 
places for children with EHCPs, as well as data on deprivation, health and 
other measures.   

4.14 Revenue for the new units or provision would, therefore, need to come from 
within the existing HNB, which is already under pressure.  The cost to the 
HNB of running a Resource Base will come from Elements 2 and 3 referred to 
in paragraph 4.8 above, as set out in Tables 9 (Resourced Provision) and 10 
(SEN Unit).   

Table 9: revenue costs to be funded by High Needs Block (per annum) 
Resourced Provision  
Pupil costs Per full place Per empty place 
Element 2: £6,000 £10,000 
Element 3 (top-up): (expected average): £6,000  
Total per pupil: £12,000 £10,000 
   
Estimated cost of Resourced Provision with ten places to HNB: 
Number of:    
full places empty places Cost 
10 0 £120,000 
6 6 £112,000 
0 10 £100,000 

Table 10: revenue costs to be funded by High Needs Block (per annum) 
SEN Unit  
Pupil costs Per full place Per empty place 
Element 2: £6,000 £10,000 
Element 3 (top-up): (expected average): £8,000  
Total per pupil: £14,000 £10,000 
   
Estimated cost of SEN Unit with ten places to HNB: 
Number of:    
full places empty places Cost 
10 0 £140,000 
6 6 £124,000 
0 10 £100,000 

4.15 Based on the recommendations to proceed with four new Resource Bases, 
phased over two years, the nominal cost to the High Needs Budget would be 
as set out in Table 11.  In the first year of opening, the revenue costs of any 
new Resource Base will be 7/12ths of the annual cost, assuming an opening 
in September.  These figures assume each new facility is only partially full in 
its first year of opening (four empty places). 

  

449



Table 11: Gross (HNB) revenue costs of Resource Bases by financial year 
Proposal 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 
Cox Green Resourced 
Provision £0  £0  £65,333  £116,667  
Desborough College 
Resourced Provision £0  £0  £65,333  £116,667  
Hilltop First School 
Resourced Provision £0  £65,333  £116,667  £120,000  
Trevelyan Middle School 
Resourced Provision £0  £65,333  £116,667  £120,000  

Total £0  £130,666  £364,000  £473,333  

4.16 Most, if not all, of the children attending the proposed Resource Bases will, 
however, either already be funded by, or be a future cost to, the High Needs 
Block.  For the most part, therefore, the costs identified in Table 11 are ones 
the borough would already expect.  Extra revenue costs will arise, however, if 
(i) places in Resource Bases are not filled; and/or (ii) places are filled by out-
borough children.   

4.17 To address these risks it is proposed that the opening of new Resource Bases 
is phased over two years.  If take-up is less than projected, the second phase 
can then be delayed, reducing the risk of any empty places.  In addition, the 
long lead-in period until opening means there is an opportunity to plan how 
the places will be used, further minimising the risk of empty places.  If these 
proposals go forward, therefore, officers will need to work with families and 
schools to identify pupils who would benefit from the new provision as soon as 
possible.  This approach will also help ensure that places are prioritised for 
local residents. 

4.18 Over the longer term, it is also hoped that the proposals help manage future 
costs by: 

• reducing the amount of top-up/element 3 funding paid, as, in future, 
borough residents who would otherwise attend more expensive placements 
(at Manor Green, Forest Bridge or at independent/out-borough places) 
could attend more appropriate local settings. 

• reducing the associated home to school transport costs. 
• freeing up future places at Manor Green and Forest Bridge for pupils with 

even more complex needs, who currently have to attend more expensive 
independent/out-borough schools (with the associated home to school 
transport costs). 

• reducing tribunal costs, as the borough would be able to provide 
appropriate places in local mainstream schools, which is more likely to be 
in line with parental wishes. 

4.19 The candidates for spaces freed up at Manor Green and Forest Bridge will 
also need to be identified, in order to realise the maximum benefits for families 
(bringing pupils and young people closer to home) and for the revenue budget 
(less costly provision).   

Revenue funding for Early Years School Readiness Hub 
4.20 The revenue funding for the Early Years School Readiness Hub will come 

from the High Needs Block, and is expected to be £100,000 per annum. This 

450



will cover staffing costs and the running costs associated with the new 
accommodation.  

4.21 Over time, it is hoped that the proposal will help manage future costs by 
reducing the number of young children permanently excluded from school, 
who might then need to be placed in more expensive specialist provision.  

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

Community, Voluntary Controlled and Voluntary Aided schools 
5.1 The creation of Resource Base at a community, controlled or aided school 

requires that the local authority follows a statutory process, as set out in 
regulations and guidance5.  This process, which would apply to Hilltop First 
School, involves: 

• informal consultation.  This has been carried out (see Section 8.  The 
informal consultation period is not statutory, although there is a strong 
expectation that it should be carried out. 

• publication of proposals (the ‘statutory notice’). 
• 4 week formal representation period. 
• decision by the local authority, to be made within two months of the end of 

the representation period. 
• implementation.   

5.2 It is proposed that publication of proposals would happen in early summer 
2023.   

5.3 There is no requirement to carry out a similar process for the creation of an 
Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School. 

Academy schools, including free schools 
5.4 Adding Resourced Provision at an academy requires that the trust submits a 

full Business Case to the ESFA for approval6.  The process involves: 

• notifying the ESFA at least three months before the proposed change. 
• carrying out public consultation.  This has been carried out as part of the 

borough consultation (see Section 8). 
• completing the full Business Case and submitting it to the DfE.   
• decision by the Regional Department for Education Directors. 

5.5 Submission of the Business Case to the DfE requires that planning permission 
for the new build has been obtained.  This introduces a potential delay into the 
process that will need to be managed. 

5.6 Planning Permission would be required for any extensions or new build. 

Procurement 
5.7 Capital schemes will be procured in line with the borough’s procurement 

processes.  This report recommends that, where Cabinet level authority is 
required to procure or enter into contracts, this is delegated to the AfC Director 
of Children’s Services and the Procurement Manager. 

 
5 Making significant changes (‘prescribed alterations’) to maintained schools, DfE, January 2023.  
6 Making significant changes to an open academy, DfE, January 2022. 

451

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1131672/Making_significant_changes__prescribed_alterations__to_maintained_schools_Jan_2023.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1057467/Making_significant_changes_to_an_open_academy_January_2022.pdf


6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 12: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or risk. Impact with no 

mitigations in 
place or if all 
mitigations 
fail. 

Likelihood of 
risk occurring 
with no 
mitigations in 
place. 

Mitigations 
currently in place. 

Mitigations 
proposed. 

Impact of risk 
once all 
mitigations in 
place and 
working. 

Likelihood of 
risk occurring 
with all 
mitigations in 
place. 

There is a risk that 
construction of the new 
provision exceeds the 
available budget, due to 
inflation and/or changes in 
project scope.  This could 
make it impossible to deliver 
the proposals without 
additional capital funding. 

Major High 
 

Capital budget 
estimates have 
been provided by 
independent party 
and reviewed by 
Property Services.  
Estimates include 
significant 
allowance for 
inflation and 
contingency. 

All parties will need 
to agree and sign a 
Memorandum of 
Understanding in 
relation to the 
scope of the capital 
project, before 
moving to tender. 

Moderate Medium 

Opening of the new SEN 
provision leads to additional 
revenue cost pressures on 
the High Needs budget.  
This risk arises if places are 
left unfilled or are taken by 
out-borough pupils and the 
appropriate funding transfer 
mechanism isn’t in place. 

Moderate Medium Phasing the 
opening of the new 
provision will allow 
the borough to 
delay parts of the 
programme if 
demand is too low.   

Early identification 
of pupils 
appropriate for the 
Resource Bases 
will ensure that 
borough residents 
are prioritised. 

Low Low 

Department of Education 
approval of proposals 
involving academies takes 
too long, delaying delivery of 
planned provision. 

Major Medium None. Academies will be 
asked to submit 
draft Business 
Cases to the DfE 
as soon as 
possible.  

Low Low 

 

452



7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix H.  
 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability.  The government is placing increasing 

importance on the sustainability of school buildings.  The borough already 
meets high carbon reduction targets in its new school buildings, and officers 
will be looking at how to minimise environmental impact with these building 
schemes.  Providing more local provision for children with social 
communication difficulties and related behaviours should also reduce home to 
school travel times and, therefore, transport related carbon emissions. 

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR.  Personal data was collected as part of the consultation 
process, for processing purposes only.  The appropriate privacy notices were 
included in the electronic and printed consultation documents.  Reporting on 
the outcome of the consultation only includes aggregated, anonymised data.   

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 Informal public consultation on the proposals for new Resource Bases in the 
borough was approved by Cabinet in August 2022.  Following work to refine 
the options, consultation started on Monday 9th January 2023 and finished on 
Friday 24th February 2023.  The consultation ran for just under seven weeks. 

8.2 A consultation document (Appendix B – New provision for children with 
special educational needs) was produced in consultation with the involved 
schools.  This was distributed, largely electronically, to parents, staff, 
governors and other interested parties as set out in Table 13 below.  All 
borough schools were asked to use their electronic parent messaging 
services to send the consultation weblink to their parents.  A small number of 
printed copies of the document were sent to schools who had parents with no 
access to the internet.  An email with the consultation link was also sent direct 
to 303 parents/carers of borough children with EHCPs on roll at non-RBWM 
schools.  

8.3 The consultation was available on the Achieving for Children website, linked 
from the Royal Borough website, together with an online (SmartSurvey) 
response form.   

8.4 The consultation was referred to in each weekly Resident Newsletter 
(circulated to 22,000 residents) during the consultation period, and was the 
top news story in the one dated 17th February 2023.  The consultation was 
also widely publicised on the borough website  and social media channels, 
and a press release was issued on Monday 9th January, resulting in articles in 
local newspapers. 

  

453



Table 13: Summary of consultation document distribution 
Who Where Number 

distributed 
Parents/carers All borough schools + EHCP’s at 

non-borough schools. 
14,752* 

Staff and governors All borough schools Unknown 
All Headteachers All borough schools 65 
All councillors The Royal Borough 41 
Local independent 
schools 

All borough independent schools 5 

Local authorities Bracknell Forest, 
Buckinghamshire, Slough, 
Surrey, Wokingham.  

5 

Parish Councils All borough parish councils 15 
Local SEND groups Autism Berkshire, The Autism 

Group, CAMHS, Family Friends, 
GEMS, Parents and Carers in 
Partnership 

6 

Other consultees Local MPs, FE Colleges, 
Diocesan Authorities, Multi-
Academy Trusts. 

23 

TOTAL  14,912 
*Number of family units, i.e. counting siblings as one unit. 

 

8.5 178 responses were received, mostly via the online survey form.  This 
represents a response rate of 1.1%.  This is below the 3% response rate 
sought, but still gives a robust indication of views on the proposals, particularly 
given the high level of support for each option.  Attempts were made to boost 
the response rate, e.g. by asking schools to email reminders to parents and 
by ‘retweeting’ the consultation link on borough and councillor twitter feeds.   

8.6 More details about the outcome of the consultation are given at Appendix C: 
Consultation analysis and comments made.   

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. The full implementation 
stages are set out in Table 14. 
 
Table 14: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
April 2023 Governing Bodies and academy trusts of approved 

schools formally confirm their wish to proceed. 
April 2023 Council asked to approve capital budgets 
Summer 2023 Schools and the local authority draw up Memorandums 

of Understanding and draft Service Level Agreements 
for the new SEN provision 

Summer 2023 Works on the Early Years School Readiness Hub are 
undertaken 

September 2023 Early Years School Readiness Hub opens. 

454



September 
2023+ 

Design and procurement works on the agreed Resource 
Bases starts. 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by nine appendices: 
 
• Appendix A: List of current SEND provision in the Royal Borough 
• Appendix B: New provision for children with special educational needs 

consultation document. 
• Appendix C: Consultation analysis and comments made. 
• Appendix D: Summary of initial design works (without costs). 
• Appendix E: Summary of initial design works (with costs).  (Part II – not for 

publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972). 

• Appendix F: Options appraisal for each school. 
• Appendix G: Summary of estimated costs of proposed SEND capital 

programme. 
• Appendix H: Equality Impact Assessment. 
• Appendix I: Individual responses to the consultation (anonymised). 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by four background documents: 
 
• Making significant changes (‘Prescribed Alterations’) to maintained schools, 

DfE, January 2023. 
• Making significant changes to an open academy, DfE, January 2022. 
• SEN Resource Bases Provision Feasibility Study (Wave 2), HLM 

Architects, November 2022. 
• Special Educational Needs and Alternative Provision Capital Strategy 

Cabinet Report, RBWM, August 2022. 
• High Needs Provision Capital Allocation Guidance, DfE, March 2022 

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
20/02/23  

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring 
Officer 

20/02/23 23/02/23 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
20/02/23  

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) 

20/02/23 24/02/23 

455

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1131672/Making_significant_changes__prescribed_alterations__to_maintained_schools_Jan_2023.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1057467/Making_significant_changes_to_an_open_academy_January_2022.pdf
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42150/Cabinet_SEND_and_AP_Capital_Strategy.pdf
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42150/Cabinet_SEND_and_AP_Capital_Strategy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063784/High_Needs_Provision_Capital_Allocations_-_Guidance.pdf


Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

20/02/23  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer 20/02/23  

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on 
EQiA, or agree an EQiA is not 
required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement 
Officer 

20/02/23  

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 20/02/23  
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 20/02/23  
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
20/02/23  

Lin Ferguson AfC Director of Children’s 
Services 

20/02/23  

Stuart Lines Director of Public Health 20/02/23  
Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

    
External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, Education, Health, 
Mental Health and 
Transformation. 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Key decision  
First entered into 
the Cabinet 
Forward Plan: 
19/10/2022 
 
 

No 
 

 

 
Report Author: Ben Wright, School Place Planning & Capital Programme 
Manager - Operations 

 

456



 

 
  

457



APPENDIX A – SEND PROVISION IN THE ROYAL BOROUGH 

A.1 The Royal Borough has two schools specifically for children with Special 
Educational Needs.  It also has six Resource Bases and two further bases set 
to open in September 2023 and September 2024.  There are not currently any 
hubs. 

Table A1: Existing SEN provision in the Royal Borough 
Type Provision SEND need Age Places 
School Manor Green 

School 
Complex, profound 
multiple learning 
difficulties 

2-19 300 

 Forest Bridge Autistic Spectrum 
Condition 

4-16 96 

Resourced  Charters School Physical Disability 11-19 6 
Provision Dedworth Campus Autistic Spectrum 

Condition 
4-13 10 

 Furze Platt 
Primary 
Federation 

Autistic Spectrum 
Condition 

4-11  10 

 Furze Platt Senior 
School 

Autistic Spectrum 
Condition 

11-19 21 

 Riverside Primary 
School 

Speech/Language 3-11 13 

 Wessex Primary 
School 

Hearing Impaired 4-11 9 

 Wraysbury 
Primary School 

Social, Emotional 
and Mental Health 

4-11 10 

SEN Unit South Ascot 
Village Primary 
School 

Autistic Spectrum 
Condition 

4-11 10 

12.1 The SEN Unit at South Ascot Village Primary School will open on 1st 
September 2023.  The Resourced Provision at Wraysbury Primary School is 
at design stage,  

458



 

New provision for children with special 
educational needs 

Public Consultation: January 2023 

The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead is proposing to open new 
facilities for children with special educational needs.  The funding for these new 
facilities will come from a government grant called the High Needs Provision 
Capital Allocation. 

We’re proposing:  

• an Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School, Windsor.  

• up to four new Resource Bases, attached to schools in Maidenhead and in 
Windsor, for children with special educational needs. 

You can find out more about these proposals, and how to give us your views, in 
this document. 

The consultation will be open until midday on Friday 24th February 2023. 

You can also respond online at: 

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-
democracy/consultations/education-consultations 

The information collected about you in this survey is collected in compliance with data protection 
legislation. The information is held securely by Achieving for Children for the specific purpose of this survey 
and will not be shared with other agencies or organisations without seeking your explicit consent. For more 
detail, please read our privacy policy here: https://kr.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/about-us/privacy-and-data-
protection.  The specific privacy notice relating to surveys and consultations can be found here: 
https://kr.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/about-us/privacy-and-data-protection/privacy-notices-list/privacy-notice-
consultations-surveys 

 

 

 
459

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/consultations/education-consultations
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/consultations/education-consultations
https://kr.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/about-us/privacy-and-data-protection
https://kr.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/about-us/privacy-and-data-protection
https://kr.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/about-us/privacy-and-data-protection/privacy-notices-list/privacy-notice-consultations-surveys
https://kr.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/about-us/privacy-and-data-protection/privacy-notices-list/privacy-notice-consultations-surveys


2 

What are we proposing? 

In summary, the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead is proposing the following: 

An Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School, Windsor 
We are proposing to open a hub at The Lawns Nursery School, in Windsor for young 
children with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs.  This will work with 
children up to the age of 7 who are not ‘school ready’ due to difficulties in regulating their 
own emotions and behaviour. 

A second wave of new Resource Bases at schools in Maidenhead and Windsor 
We are also proposing to open up to four new Resource Bases at schools in Maidenhead 
and in Windsor for children with Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs).  These bases will 
be for children who can, with support, attend a mainstream school. 

The borough has been working with schools to identify where this new provision could go, 
and we have four possible options: 

1. Cox Green School, Maidenhead. 
2. Desborough College, Maidenhead. 
3. Hilltop First School, Windsor. 
4. Trevelyan Middle School, Windsor. 

These ‘Wave 2’ Resource Bases follow on from the four longstanding bases already in 
operation, and the four ‘Wave 1’ bases approved to open since September 2021. 

More detail about each of these options is given later in the consultation.  

460



3 

What you say matters… 

Parents, staff, governors, residents and community organisations are all being consulted.  
Your views are vital so please take time to be part of this consultation.  You can tell us what 
you think by: 

• Completing the online response form at www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-
democracy/consultations/education-consultations. 

• Completing the paper response form, also available at the above link, and posting it to 
Resource Bases and Early Years Hub Consultation, School Places and Capital Team, Zone 
E, Town Hall, Maidenhead, SL6 1RF. 

• Emailing schoolplaces@achievingforchildren.org.uk. 

The closing date for your comments is midday on Friday 24th February 2023.  

What happens after the consultation finishes? 

The schools involved in this consultation and the Royal Borough will consider the responses 
received.  Each school will decide whether it wants to proceed, and the Royal Borough’s 
Cabinet will then consider the proposals on 30th March 2023. 

If a decision is taken to go ahead with one or more of the proposals, then we hope to open 
the Early Years School Readiness Hub in September 2023.  The Wave 2 Resource Bases will 
start to open from September 2024 onwards. 

These proposals are likely to be subject to getting planning permission for any new 
buildings.  In the case of the academies (Cox Green, Desborough and Trevelyan) the 
Department for Education will also need to approve the proposals. 

 

  

461

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/consultations/education-consultations
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/consultations/education-consultations
mailto:schoolplaces@achievingforchildren.org.uk


4 

What has happened so far? 

Funding for new facilities for children and young people with special educational needs… 
In recent years the government has given local authorities grant funding to open new 
provision for children with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities (SEND) and for children 
who require Alternative Provision (AP). 
 
The Royal Borough has already used one grant to open two new Resource Bases, with two 
more in the pipeline to open in September 2023 and September 2024.  A second grant, 
called the High Needs Provision Capital Allocation (HNPCA), is now available for further 
projects.  Part of this has already been spent on refurbishing the Resource Base for Physical 
Disability at Charters School. 

A new special school? 
To meet the needs of a growing population, the Royal Borough has also submitted a bid to 
the government to open a new special free school on land to the west of Windsor.  This site 
is part of a larger housing development. 

The bid is for a 100 place school for children and young people aged 7 to 16 with EHCPs for 
Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs.  We expect to know the outcome of the 
bid in late 2022 to early 2023.  If successful, the school should open in September 2025.  
The government requires that local authorities fund any ‘abnormal’ costs associated with 
building the school.  Whilst we don’t expect any, we are proposing to set aside £500,000 of 
the HNPCA grant to cover part of these potential costs.  If the bid is not successful, this 
funding will be made available for other schemes. 

There may be further opportunities to bid for funding for a new special school in the future, 
if we are not successful in this round. 

A SEND Careers Hub... 
The Royal Borough has a primary school site in Maidenhead that is currently unoccupied.  
This site, on Chiltern Road, is being remodelled and refurbished so that it can be reopened 
as a new primary school, possibly from September 2025.  In the meantime, Manor Green 
School (a special school) will be using the site temporarily as a SEND Careers Hub from 
September 2023.  This will provide services aimed at young people with special education 
needs and aged 11 to 25, to prepare them for and support them into employment.  Part of 
the cost of remodelling and refurbishing the site will come from the HNPCA grant.  

The Special Educational Needs or Disability (SEND) Strategy 2022 – 2027 
The Royal Borough has consulted with parents, carers and schools on its SEND Strategy for 
the period 2022 to 2027.  This sets out six priorities, and the most important one for this 
consultation is Priority 5. 

  

462

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/manor-green-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/manor-green-school
file:///C:/Users/lsj361/Downloads/tinyurl.com/RBWM-SEND-Strategy


5 

Priority 5 says: 

“Development of the right range of specialist provision within the Royal Borough to ensure 
that as many children and young people as possible can be educated in a local educational 
setting is a priority.  There needs to be a range of provision to support parental choice and 
this needs to include more specialist social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) provision 
and a five-day week offer for post-16 young people”. 

Why do we need the new provision? 

The funding from the government means that the Royal Borough has the opportunity to 
provide more local facilities for children and young people with SEND.  This will help meet 
the needs of a growing population and will also help with the priorities set out in the SEND 
Strategy. 

Although the majority of children and young people with EHCPs can, with the right support, 
attend mainstream schools, many are still being educated in special schools, in mainstream 
schools outside the borough or in the independent sector (often out-borough as well).  This 
means that some children with EHCPS: 

• may not be benefiting from the inclusive education they could receive, with support, in 
a mainstream school. 

• are travelling out of their local area for education, which is time-consuming, expensive 
and may not be good for the child. 

• are at risk of attending schools usually reserved for children with more complex needs. 
 
Opening new Resource Bases will allow more children and young people to attend a 
mainstream school close to their home, helping to meet Priority 5 of the SEND Strategy. 
 
Meanwhile, the Early Years Hub will help younger children, who may not have EHCPs but 
have difficulty controlling their behaviours, to prepare for school, reducing the risk that they 
might need more specialist provision in future.  

463



6 

Resource Bases and Hubs explained 

What are Resource Bases? 
Resource Bases are for children and young people who have EHCPs and who can, with 
support, be educated in a mainstream school.  Each base focuses on special educational 
needs in one of four broad areas: 

• Communication and Interaction (e.g. Autistic Spectrum Condition; Speech, Language 
and Communication Needs). 

• Cognition and Learning (e.g. Specific Learning Difficulties such as dyslexia or dyspraxia, 
or Moderate Learning Difficulties). 

• Social, Emotional and Mental Health. 

• Sensory and/or Physical Needs (e.g. blindness, deafness or physical disability). 
 
Children attending the base will spend some of their school day in the new provision and 
some in mainstream classes at the school.  Each base will have up to ten children.  All of 
these children will be on the school’s roll. 
 
A Resource Base will become a key part of the school, which will have a strong emphasis on 
inclusion and diversity.  All staff will support the work of the base, and children there will be 
part of the whole school community.  Schools with a Resource Base will decide how best to 
run the new provision.  A qualified teacher will have overall responsibility for the facility, 
and will be supported by teaching assistants with specialist training. 
 
Children attending the Resource Base will be taught in line with their ability, individual 
needs and the requirements outlined in their EHCP. 
 
The school receives additional revenue funding to cover the cost of running the base. 
 
Each Resource Base will either be an SEN Unit or Resourced Provision. 

Resourced Provision explained 
Children attending Resourced Provision will be able to spend most of their time in 
mainstream classes at the school.  They will spend some time receiving extra support in the 
provision itself.  A Resourced Provision will have a dedicated space within the school, about 
the size of one normal classroom. 

SEN Unit explained 
Children attending  SEN Unit will spend more of their time in the unit, but will still attend 
some mainstream classes in the school.  A SEN Unit will have a dedicated space within the 
school, about the size of two normal classrooms. 

  

464



7 

Who will go to the new Resource Bases? 
School placements for children with EHCPs are agreed through the borough’s EHCP panel 
process.  This will continue to be the case for the proposed new Resource Bases. 

If the proposed new provision opens, then places will be available to both: 

• new starters, who may be just starting school or have moved into the area; and 

• children already in school who would benefit from the new Resource Bases.  
Consideration of a move would be discussed by the family, school and local authority – 
for example at the child’s Annual Review – before being considered via the EHCP panel 
process. 

Over time, we hope that the new provision will increase the numbers of children and young 
people with SEND who can attend a local mainstream school.  This will, in turn, reduce the 
number of children who have to travel to similar provision in a neighbouring local authority 
or have to go to a special school. 

The whole school community, including children, their families and staff, can benefit from 
having a Resource Base.  One reason for this is the highly specialised staff in the new 
provision, who can share their expertise across the school.  This will mean that all staff will 
have more skills, benefitting all children in the school. 

The school curriculum will also be further developed, so that children in the Resource Base 
can take part in mainstream classes where appropriate.  The development of the curriculum 
is likely to help other children, because different ways of teaching the same lesson can 
often improve understanding. 

Children educated and socialising alongside others with a range of needs can learn a great 
deal.  Ofsted also recognises that a school community that recognises, celebrates and 
respects difference helps develop educated citizens. 

Moving on from the Resource Bases… 
When children in a primary, first or middle school Resource Base are old enough to leave 
their school, some may be able to transfer into their next school without a Resource Base.  
Others will continue to need support as they transfer to suitable provision at another 
school, which may be out of the borough.  Young people moving on from a secondary 
Resource Base will be better equipped to continue into post-16 education, training and/or 
employment.  These decisions will be made on an individual basis, in consultation with 
pupils, their families and the schools. 

What are Hubs? 
Hubs allow children and young people to benefit from additional support whilst still 
attending their mainstream school.  A child or young person being supported by a hub 
might go there for a few hours each week, but still have most of their lessons at their 
‘home’ school.  Children being supported by a hub do not need to have an EHCP. 

465



8 

The involvement of a hub is intended to keep the child at their current school, avoiding a 
disruptive move to a more specialist school.  Support from a hub is short-term only, aimed 
at addressing issues as soon as possible through ‘early intervention’. 

Hubs do not have a set amount of space, but as they help children from other schools, they 
are often located in separate buildings to the main school. 

Current or planned Resource Bases and Hubs 
There are currently eight open or planned Resource Bases at schools in the Royal Borough: 

• Charters School, Ascot - Resourced Provision for Physical Disability. 

• Dedworth Green First and Dedworth Middle Schools, Windsor – Resourced Provision for 
Autistic Spectrum Condition. 

• Furze Platt Infant and Furze Platt Junior Schools, Maidenhead – Resourced Provision for 
Autistic Spectrum Condition. 

• Furze Platt Senior School, Maidenhead – Resourced Provision for Autistic Spectrum 
Condition. 

• Riverside Primary School & Nursery, Maidenhead – Resourced Provision for Speech and 
Language. 

• South Ascot Village Primary School, Ascot – SEN Unit for Autistic Spectrum Condition 
(opening September 2023). 

• Wessex Primary School, Maidenhead – Resourced Provision for Hearing Impairment. 

• Wraysbury Primary School, Wraysbury – Resourced Provision.  The type of need is still 
under discussion, possibly opening in September 2024. 

There are currently no hubs in the Royal Borough. 

Proposed Wave 2 Resource Bases 
The options in this consultation for Resource Bases in Wave 2 are: 

• Cox Green School, Maidenhead - Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning. 

• Desborough College, Maidenhead - Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning. 

• Hilltop First School, Windsor – Resourced Provision or SEN Unit for Communication and 
Interaction. 

• Trevelyan Middle School, Windsor - Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning. 

Depending on the cost of each option, it may not be possible to open all four.  In addition, it 
is likely that they would be opened over a number of years, in September 2024, 2025 and 
2026. 

Proposed Hub 
Only one new hub is currently being considered, at: 

• The Lawns Nursery School, Windsor – Early Years School Readiness Hub. 

  

466

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/charters-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/dedworth-green-first-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/dedworth-middle-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/furze-platt-infant-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/furze-platt-junior-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/furze-platt-senior-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/riverside-primary-school-and-nursery
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/south-ascot-village-primary-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/wessex-primary-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/wraysbury-primary-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/cox-green-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/desborough-college
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/hilltop-first-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/trevelyan-middle-school
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/schools-and-schooling/schools-directory/lawns-nursery


9 

School locations 

There are more details about the specific proposals on the next few pages.  The map below 
shows where these schools are located. 

 
© Crown copyright and database right 2023.  OS100018817 

 
1. Cox Green School, Cognition and Learning Resourced Provision. 
2. Desborough College, Cognition and Learning Resourced Provision. 
3. Hilltop First School, Communication and Interaction Resourced Provision or SEN Unit. 
4. The Lawns Nursery School, Early Years School Readiness Hub. 
5. Trevelyan Middle School, Cognition and Learning Resourced Provision. 

467



10 

Cox Green School Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning 

Cox Green School is a co-educational secondary school located in Maidenhead, for pupils 
aged 11 to 19.  The school is an academy. 

The proposal is for Resourced Provision for children with Education, Health and Care Plans 
(EHCPs) around ‘Cognition and Learning’.  Cognition and learning difficulties can affect 
children’s ability to learn and do well at school.  Children attending the Resourced Provision 
may have general learning difficulties and/or more specific learning difficulties.  

With support, however, these children are able to attend a mainstream school.  As the 
proposal is for a Resourced Provision, children attending will spend more of their time in 
mainstream classes. 

There is enough space onsite for the new facility.  One possibility is the conversion of the 
bungalow to house the new base, with changes to fencing and access to bring the bungalow 
within the school’s secure area. 

The proposal will only result in a maximum of ten additional children at the school, so there 
will be minimal impact on traffic and parking. 

Cox Green School will receive additional revenue funding every year to cover the cost of 
running the Resourced Provision. 

Key information about the school

Headteacher: Daniel Edwards 

School address: Highfield Lane Maidenhead SL6 3AX 

School type: Academy 

Ofsted Inspection judgement: Good (September 2018 short inspection) 

Website: https://www.coxgreen.com/  

View of the Headteacher and Governing Body of Cox Green School: 

“We are excited about the possibility of expanding our school capacity; as a school we are 
passionate about providing a high-quality inclusive experience to all our families. Thus, 
the opportunity to expand our core offer of 'Life in all its fullness' and our holistic provision 
through increasing pupil numbers and developing our site is an opportunity we are keen to 

explore”.   

468

https://www.coxgreen.com/


12 

Desborough College Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning 

Desborough College is a secondary school located in Maidenhead, for boys aged 11 to 19, 
and girls aged 16-19.  The school is an academy, and will be joining the Pioneer Educational 
Trust family of schools. 

The proposal is for Resourced Provision for children with Education, Health and Care Plans 
(EHCPs) around 'Cognition and Learning'.  Cognition and learning difficulties can affect 
children's ability to learn and do well at school.  Children attending the Resourced Provision 
may have general learning difficulties and/or more specific learning difficulties.  

With support, however, these children are able to attend a mainstream school.  As the 
proposal is for a Resourced Provision, children attending will spend more of their time in 
mainstream classes. 

There is enough space onsite for the new facility, and we are working with the school on 
plans for where it could go. 

The proposal will only result in a maximum of ten additional children at the school, so there 
will be minimal impact on traffic and parking. 

Desborough College will receive additional revenue funding every year to cover the cost of 
running the Resourced Provision. 

Key information about the school 

Headteacher: Andy Murdoch 

School address: Shoppenhangers Road Maidenhead SL6 2QB 

School type: Academy 

Ofsted Inspection judgement: Good (February 2019 short inspection) 

Website: https://www.desborough.org.uk/ 
 

 

 
View of the Headteacher and Governing Body of Desborough College: 
 

“Desborough College is committed to providing an outstanding education for all students 
through an inspiring curriculum and high-quality teaching. Inclusion is at the heart of all we 
do and the benefits the resource provision would bring would further enhance our ability to 

meet the needs of students so they can achieve their academic and personal aspirations”.    

 

  

469

https://www.pioneereducationaltrust.org.uk/
https://www.pioneereducationaltrust.org.uk/
https://www.desborough.org.uk/


13 

Hilltop First School Resourced Provision or SEN Unit for 
Communication and Interaction 

Hilltop First School is located in Windsor, and is a co-educational maintained school for 
children aged 3 to 9, including its nursery class.  It is a community school. 

The school is considering either a SEN Unit or Resourced Provision, for children with an 
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) for Communication and Interaction 
Needs.  Children may have Speech, Language and Communication Needs (SLCN), which 
covers a range of communication difficulties, including fluency, forming words and sounds, 
creating sentences, and understanding what others say and using language socially.  The 
base could also support children who have communication and interaction needs arising 
from Autistic Spectrum Condition. 

With support, however, these children are able to attend a mainstream school.  Children 
attending a SEN Unit will spend more of their time in the unit, but will still attend some 
mainstream classes in the school.  Children attending Resourced Provision will be able to 
spend most of their time in mainstream classes at the school. 

There is enough space on site for the new facility, and it is likely that this would mean 
locating the new base into the area currently occupied by the school nursery.  The nursery 
would be relocated into new purpose built accommodation, either attached to the front of 
the school, or in a separate building on the field at the front of the school. 

The proposal will only result in a maximum of ten additional children at the school, so there 
will be minimal impact on traffic and parking. 

Hilltop First School will receive additional revenue funding every year to cover the cost of 
running the Resource Base. 

Key information about the school 

Headteacher:  Lynn Bima 

School address: Clewer Hill Road Windsor SL4 4DW 

School type: Community 

Ofsted Inspection judgement: Outstanding (May 2010) 

Website: https://www.hilltopfirst.co.uk/ 
 

 

View of the Headteacher and Governing Body of Hilltop First School: 
 

“Hilltop First School recognises each child as unique and values their place within our 
community.  The staff and governors want to promote the best possible outcome for every 
pupil, and always try to offer support that is right for each child.  Our school already 
successfully works with children who have communication and interaction needs, and this 
provision would build on this.  The facility would allow us to meet the needs of children in 
the local area needing something more specific within a wider welcoming school 
community”.  470

https://www.hilltopfirst.co.uk/


14 

The Lawns Nursery School Early Years School Readiness Hub 

The Lawns Nursery School is located in Windsor, and is a co-educational maintained nursery 
school for children aged 2 to 4.  The Lawns is a community school. 

The proposal is for an Early Years School Readiness Hub to provide early intervention 
services to work with young children aged 4 to 7 who are unable to regulate their emotions 
and behaviour, and so are not ‘school ready’.  These children will not attend The Lawns 
Nursery School itself, and will remain on roll at their original school.  The hub will work with 
children, their families and schools so that, after two terms, they can return to their school 
ready to learn.  These children will not necessarily have EHCPs. 

It is proposed that the hub will be located in the bungalow on the shared site with Oakfield 
First School.  Plans are still being developed, and it is likely that additional parking would 
need to be provided for staff and, possibly, parents. 

It is expected that up to six children (depending on their needs) will be using the hub at any 
one time, supported by a qualified teacher and two support staff. 

The hub will be jointly run by The Lawns Nursery School and the Royal Borough’s Children’s 
Services and will have its own budget to cover running costs.  A pilot outreach service is 
already running in 2022/23, but without any space of its own. 

Key information about the school 

Headteacher:  Sarah Cottle 

School address: Imperial Road Windsor SL4 3RU 

School type: Community 

Ofsted Inspection judgement: Outstanding (February 2019 short inspection) 

Website: https://www.nurseryfederation.co.uk/lawns 
 

 

 

View of the Headteacher and Governing Body of The Lawns Nursery School: 
 

“The Leaders and Governing Body of the Cookham, Maidenhead and The Lawns Nursery 
School Federation are committed to supporting the inclusion of all children in RBWM.  We 
recognise that early intervention is key and understand the current landscape of need in the 
local community.  We wish to establish an innovative and therapeutic space to enable young 
children facing emotional regulation challenges to develop the skills necessary to flourish 

within their school setting”.    

  

471

https://www.nurseryfederation.co.uk/lawns


15 

Trevelyan Middle School Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning 

Trevelyan Middle School is located in Windsor, and is a co-educational school for pupils 
aged 9 to 13.  The school is an academy, and part of the Pioneer Educational Trust family of 
schools. 

The proposal is for Resourced Provision for children with Education, Health and Care Plans 
(EHCPs) around ‘Cognition and Learning’.  Cognition and learning difficulties can affect 
children’s ability to learn and do well at school.  Children attending the Resourced Provision 
may have general learning difficulties and/or more specific learning difficulties.  

With support, however, these children are able to attend a mainstream school.  As the 
proposal is for a Resourced Provision, children attending will spend more of their time in 
mainstream classes. 

There is enough space onsite for the new facility, and it is likely that the base will be located 
in a new extension located between the one and two-storey parts of the main school 
building. 

The proposal will only result in a maximum of ten additional children at the school, so there 
will be minimal impact on traffic and parking. 

Trevelyan Middle School will receive additional revenue funding every year to cover the 
cost of running the Resourced Provision. 

Key information about the school 

Headteacher: Louisa Harris 

School address: Wood Close Windsor SL4 3LL 

School type: Academy 

Ofsted Inspection judgement: Good (October 2019) 

Website: https://www.trevelyan.org.uk/ 
 

View of the Headteacher and Governing Body of Trevelyan Middle School: 
 

“Trevelyan Middle School believes very strongly in the importance and value of being a truly 
inclusive school.  Our recently-awarded Inclusion Quality Mark demonstrates our 
commitment to inclusive education and is evidence that it sits at the heart of all we do.  We 
are determined to continue our professional learning and development in this area, so as to 
positively affect outcomes for all pupils, hence our commitment to the addition of a 
Resourced Provision to support cognition and specific learning needs at Trevelyan Middle 
School”.  

472

https://www.pioneereducationaltrust.org.uk/
https://www.trevelyan.org.uk/


Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

1. Should we open more Resource Bases? 

All responses 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

14,892 178 1.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

134 13 44 17 16 
* Estimated number of consultees.  Based on no. of families at the schools + staff, governors & addresses in local roads. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, because some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** 'Local residents' excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at a school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open new Resourced Provision and/or SEN Units for 
children with EHCPs? 

 

Yes, the Royal 
Borough should 

open new 
Resourced 

Provision and/or 
SEN Units for 
children with 

EHCPs. 

No, the Royal 
Borough should 
not open new 

Resourced 
Provision and/or 

SEN Units for 
children with 

EHCPs. 

I don't know 
whether the 

Royal Borough 
should open new 

Resourced 
Provision and/or 

SEN Units for 
children with 

EHCPs. 

I have no view on 
whether the 

Royal Borough 
should open new 

Resourced 
Provision and/or 

SEN Units for 
children with 

EHCPs. 

Total 

166 8 3 1 178 

93% 4% 2% 1% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

166 8 3 177 

94% 5% 2% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 134 13 44 17 16 

Yes 125 (94%) 13 (100%) 43 (98%) 15 (88%) 16 (100%) 

No 6 (5%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 2 (12%) 0 (0%) 

Don’t know 2 (2%) 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

No view [1] [0] [0] [0] [0] 

 
  

166

8 3 1
0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

473



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Responses from parents/carers of RBWM EHCP children and young people 

No of consultees* Responses received Response rate 

1,114 56 5.0% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents 

Responses from 
organisations 

56 n/a n/a n/a n/a 
* Based on number of resident children with EHCPs (December 2022) 
 
 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open new Resourced Provision and/or SEN Units for 
children with EHCPs? 

 

Yes, the Royal 
Borough should 

open new 
Resourced 

Provision and/or 
SEN Units for 
children with 

EHCPs. 

No, the Royal 
Borough should 
not open new 

Resourced 
Provision and/or 

SEN Units for 
children with 

EHCPs. 

I don't know 
whether the 

Royal Borough 
should open new 

Resourced 
Provision and/or 

SEN Units for 
children with 

EHCPs. 

I have no view on 
whether the 

Royal Borough 
should open new 

Resourced 
Provision and/or 

SEN Units for 
children with 

EHCPs. 

Total 

49 5 2 0 56 

88% 9% 4% 0% 100% 
 
 
  

49

5 2 0
0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

474



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Comments made in relation to opening more Resource Bases 

Issue raised in comments Type No. 
making 
comment 

Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Positive 21 

Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Positive 19 

Many SEND children and young people who can remain in mainstream, with support. Positive 7 

All schools should have the opportunity to have a Resource Base. Neutral 5 

Need Resource Base provision to provide continuity across all age groups. Neutral 4 

More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Positive 4 

Should be a new SEND school. Neutral 4 

SEND provision should be wider than just for EHCP children and young people. Neutral 4 

Resource Bases should be distributed across the borough. Positive 3 

Demand for SEND provision is increasing, and needs to be met. Positive 3 

Staff will need to be fully trained. Neutral 3 

Decision should reflect needs at school and across the borough. Neutral 3 

Needs to be more provision for ASC needs. Positive 3 

Needs to be more provision for SEMH needs. Neutral 2 

All support should be at their school, not require travel to another site. Negative 2 

Mainstream provision is not right for all SEND children and young people. Negative 2 

Resource Bases will benefit all children through greater inclusion. Positive 2 

Resource Bases must not be a substitute (on grounds of cost) for special school 
places where those are needed. Negative 2 

Proposal should not affect the quality of education already provided. Neutral 2 

Resource Bases may not be addressing the right needs. Negative 2 

Some SEND children and young people will benefit from being in mainstream class Positive 2 

Should concentrate funding on improving existing provision. Negative 1 

No connection with school, so no comment. Neutral 1 

Secondary schools are too large for SEND pupils with anxiety issues. Neutral 1 

Plans will only benefit a small number of children, at significant cost and effort. Negative 1 

Need to ensure that the revenue funding is in place to support the new provision. Neutral 1 

Concerned about mixed timetable between mainstream and SEND. Negative 1 

Support the development of the SEND Careers Hub by Manor Green School. Positive 1 

Need to provide for brighter children as well. Neutral 1 

Support Priority 5 of the SEND Strategy. Positive 1 

Need to provide a base for the SEND Careers Hub after 2025. Neutral 1 

School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. Negative 1 

Resource Bases should be prioritised for Windsor. Neutral 1 

Should consider provision for children without EHCPs who are struggling with school 
related attendance anxieties. Neutral 1 

Need to evaluate how well schools are meeting SEND needs. Neutral 1 

Needs to be more provision for ADHD needs. Neutral 1 

School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. Negative 1 

Resource Base should be considered at this school. Neutral 1 

Plans will benefit all children and young people. Positive 1 

Will need more Resource Bases than currently proposed. Neutral 1 

Needs to be more provision for MLD needs. Neutral 1 

Resource Bases may not be in the right places, and could be difficult to get to. Negative 1 

Needs of children and young people with CYPDS need to be considered in decision-
making. Neutral 1 

Resource Bases should be for school's own children, not bring more SEND pupils in. Negative 1 

Not enough support for parents/carers applying for an EHCP. Negative 1 

 

475



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Issue raised in comments (continued) Type No. 
making 
comment 

Consider opening new provision at schools with good public transport links. Positive 1 

Likely to need more specialist provision, for children with greater needs, than 
proposed. Negative 1 

Resource Bases are not meeting the needs of children attending, who then need to 
go on to special schools. Negative 1 

My child is unlikely to benefit from these plans. Negative 1 

Individual Education Plan (IEP) children need more support, particularly ASC. Neutral 1 

 

  

476



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

2. Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? 

All responses 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

14,892 178 1.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

134 13 44 17 16 
* Estimated number of consultees.  Based on no. of families at the schools + staff, governors & addresses in local roads. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, because some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** 'Local residents' excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at a school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? 

 

Yes, the Royal 
Borough should 

open an Early 
Years school 

Readiness Hub. 

No, the Royal 
Borough should 

not open an Early 
Years school 

Readiness Hub. 

I don't know 
whether the 

Royal Borough 
should open an 

Early Years school 
Readiness Hub. 

I have no view on 
whether the 

Royal Borough 
should open an 

Early Years school 
Readiness Hub. 

Total 

158 4 8 8 178 

89% 2% 4% 4% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

158 4 8 170 

93% 2% 5% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 134 13 44 17 16 

Yes 117 (92%) 13 (100%) 40 (93%) 15 (88%) 16 (100%) 

No 2 (2%) 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 2 (12%) 0 (0%) 

Don’t know 8 (6%) 0 (0%) 2 (5%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 

No view [7] [0] [1] [0] [0] 
 
  

158

4 8 8
0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

477



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Responses from parents/carers of RBWM EHCP children and young people 

No of consultees* Responses received Response rate 

1,114 56 5.0% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents 

Responses from 
organisations 

56 n/a n/a n/a n/a 
* Based on number of resident children with EHCPs (December 2022) 
 
 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open an Early Years School Readiness Hub?

 
Yes, the Royal 

Borough should 
open an Early 
Years school 

Readiness Hub. 

No, the Royal 
Borough should 

not open an Early 
Years school 

Readiness Hub. 

I don't know 
whether the 

Royal Borough 
should open an 

Early Years school 
Readiness Hub. 

I have no view on 
whether the 

Royal Borough 
should open an 

Early Years school 
Readiness Hub. 

Total 

47 2 3 4 56 

84% 4% 5% 7% 100% 
 
 
  

47

2 3 4
0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

478



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Comments made in relation to opening an Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Issue raised in comments Type No. 
making 
comment 

More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Positive 9 

School Readiness Hub is a good idea. Positive 3 

School Readiness Hub will help children at risk of school exclusion and longer-term 
difficulties. Positive 2 

Childcare professionals already see the types of need to be met by the School 
Readiness Hub, and so support. Positive 1 

Child benefited from a similar School Readiness Hub in another area. Positive 1 

School Readiness Hubs could reduce burden on Reception class teachers Positive 1 

School Readiness Hub should help wider age range. Neutral 1 

Will help with readiness for school transition Positive 1 

This school is very good with SEND children and young people. Positive 1 

Will encourage early learning independence. Positive 1 

Plans will benefit all children and young people. Positive 1 

Would benefit pre-school children. Positive 1 

Proposal should not affect the quality of education already provided. Neutral 1 

 

 

479



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

3. Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green School? 

All responses 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

14,892 178 1.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

134 13 44 17 16 
* Estimated number of consultees.  Based on no. of families at the schools + staff, governors & addresses in local roads. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, because some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** 'Local residents' excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at a school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning 
at Cox Green School? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

112 10 22 34 178 

63% 6% 12% 19% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

112 10 22 144 

78% 7% 15% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 134 13 44 17 16 

Yes 83 (77%) 6 (86%) 34 (89%) 11 (79%) 9 (69%) 

No 9 (8%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (7%) 0 (0%) 

Don’t know 16 (15%) 1 (14%) 4 (11%) 2 (14%) 4 (31%) 

No view [26] [6] [6] [3] [3] 

 
  

112

10 22 34

0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

480



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Responses from the Cox Green School community 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

970 26 2.7% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

20 0 2 9 n/a 
* Estimated no. of consultees.  Based on no. Of families at the school + staff + governors. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, as some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** Local residents excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at this school. 
  Local residents includes consultees who are a parent, governor or member of staff at another school, but live locally to this school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning 
at Cox Green School? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

21 4 1 0 26 

81% 15% 4% 0% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

21 4 1 26 

81% 15% 4% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 20 0 2 9 n/a 

Yes 16 (80%)  (0%) 2 (100%) 8 (89%) n/a 

No 3 (15%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 (11%) n/a 

Don’t know 1 (5%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) n/a 

No view [0%] [0%] [0%] [0%] n/a 

 
 
  

21
4 1 0

0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

481



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Comments made in relation to opening a Resourced Provision at Cox Green School 

Issue raised in comments Type No. 
making 
comment 

Should not be a Resource Base at this school. Negative 2 

School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. Negative 2 

Should be a Resource Base at this school. Positive 1 

This school should be a top priority. Positive 1 

 

  

482



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

4. Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough College? 

All responses 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

14,892 178 1.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

134 13 44 17 16 
* Estimated number of consultees.  Based on no. of families at the schools + staff, governors & addresses in local roads. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, because some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** 'Local residents' excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at a school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning 
at Desborough College? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

116 8 21 33 178 

65% 4% 12% 19% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

116 8 21 145 

80% 6% 14% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 134 13 44 17 16 

Yes 84 (78%) 7 (88%) 35 (92%) 11 (79%) 13 (87%) 

No 7 (6%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (7%) 0 (0%) 

Don’t know 17 (16%) 1 (13%) 3 (8%) 2 (14%) 2 (13%) 

No view [26] [5] [6] [3] [1] 

 
  

116

8 21 33

0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

483



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Responses from the Desborough College community 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

748 14 1.9% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

7 0 3 4 n/a 
* Estimated no. of consultees.  Based on no. Of families at the school + staff + governors. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, as some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** Local residents excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at this school. 
  Local residents includes consultees who are a parent, governor or member of staff at another school, but live locally to this school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning 
at Desborough College? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

13 0 1 0 14 

93% 0% 7% 0% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

13 0 1 14 

93% 0% 7% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 7 0 3 4 n/a 

Yes 7 (100%)  (0%) 3 (100%) 3 (75%) n/a 

No 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) n/a 

Don’t know  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 (25%) n/a 

No view [0%] [0%] [0%] [0%] n/a 

 
 
  

13 0 1 0
0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

484



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Comments made in relation to opening a Resourced Provision at Desborough College 

Issue raised in comments Type No. 
making 
comment 

Resource Base shouldn't be at single-sex school. Negative 1 

 

  

485



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

5. Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First School? 

All responses 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

14,892 178 1.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

134 13 44 17 16 
* Estimated number of consultees.  Based on no. of families at the schools + staff, governors & addresses in local roads. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, because some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** 'Local residents' excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at a school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Communication & 
Interaction at Hilltop First School? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

114 11 26 27 178 

64% 6% 15% 15% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

114 11 26 151 

75% 7% 17% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 134 13 44 17 16 

Yes 85 (75%) 8 (73%) 34 (83%) 11 (73%) 10 (77%) 

No 7 (6%) 1 (9%) 2 (5%) 2 (13%) 1 (8%) 

Don’t know 21 (19%) 2 (18%) 5 (12%) 2 (13%) 2 (15%) 

No view [21] [2] [3] [2] [3] 

 
  

114

11 26 27

0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

486



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Responses from the Hilltop First School community 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

187 25 13.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

9 3 8 12 n/a 
* Estimated no. of consultees.  Based on no. Of families at the school + staff + governors. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, as some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** Local residents excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at this school. 
  Local residents includes consultees who are a parent, governor or member of staff at another school, but live locally to this school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Communication & 
Interaction at Hilltop First School? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

19 2 1 3 25 

76% 8% 4% 12% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

19 2 1 22 

76% 8% 4% 88% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 9 3 8 12 n/a 

Yes 8 (89%) 2 (67%) 7 (88%) 7 (58%) n/a 

No 1 (11%) 1 (33%)  (0%) 2 (17%) n/a 

Don’t know  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 (8%) n/a 

No view [0%] [0%] [100%] [200%] n/a 

 
 
  

19 2 1 3
0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

487



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

6. SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First School? 

All responses 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

14,892 178 1.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

134 13 44 17 16 
* Estimated number of consultees.  Based on no. of families at the schools + staff, governors & addresses in local roads. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, because some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** 'Local residents' excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at a school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at 
Hilltop First School? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

121 9 25 23 178 

68% 5% 14% 13% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

121 9 25 155 

78% 6% 16% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 134 13 44 17 16 

Yes 89 (77%) 9 (75%) 37 (88%) 10 (67%) 12 (86%) 

No 6 (5%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 3 (20%) 0 (0%) 

Don’t know 20 (17%) 3 (25%) 5 (12%) 2 (13%) 2 (14%) 

No view [19] [1] [2] [2] [2] 

 
  

121

9 25 23

0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

488



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Responses from the Hilltop First School community 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

187 25 13.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

9 3 8 12 n/a 
* Estimated no. of consultees.  Based on no. Of families at the school + staff + governors. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, as some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** Local residents excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at this school. 
  Local residents includes consultees who are a parent, governor or member of staff at another school, but live locally to this school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at 
Hilltop First School? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

21 1 1 2 25 

84% 4% 4% 8% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

21 1 1 23 

84% 4% 4% 92% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 9 3 8 12 n/a 

Yes 9 (100%) 3 (100%) 8 (100%) 8 (67%) n/a 

No  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 (8%) n/a 

Don’t know  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 (8%) n/a 

No view [0%] [0%] [0%] [200%] n/a 

 
  

21
1 1 2

0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

489



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

7. Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First School? 

All responses 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

14,892 178 1.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

134 13 44 17 16 
* Estimated number of consultees.  Based on no. of families at the schools + staff, governors & addresses in local roads. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, because some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** 'Local residents' excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at a school. 

There are two options for a Resource Base at Hilltop.  Please indicate whether you have a preference 
for either? 

 

I’d prefer a 
Resourced 

Provision for 
Communication 

and Interaction at 
Hilltop 

I’d prefer a SEN 
Unit for 

Communication 
and Interaction at 

Hilltop 

I don’t know 
which option I’d 
prefer at Hilltop 

 

I have no 
preference 

between the two 
options for 

Hilltop 

Total 

18 47 33 80 178 

10% 26% 19% 45% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

18 47 33 98 

18% 48% 34% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 134 13 44 17 16 

Yes 13 (18%) 2 (29%) 5 (18%) 3 (27%) 1 (9%) 

No 33 (45%) 4 (57%) 14 (50%) 5 (45%) 6 (55%) 

Don’t know 27 (37%) 1 (14%) 9 (32%) 3 (27%) 4 (36%) 

No view [61] [6] [16] [6] [5] 
 
  

121

9 25 23

0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

490



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Responses from the Hilltop First School community 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

187 25 13.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

9 3 8 12 n/a 
* Estimated no. of consultees.  Based on no. Of families at the school + staff + governors. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, as some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** Local residents excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at this school. 
  Local residents includes consultees who are a parent, governor or member of staff at another school, but live locally to this school. 

There are two options for a Resource Base at Hilltop.  Please indicate whether you have a preference 
for either? 

 

I’d prefer a 
Resourced 

Provision for 
Communication 

and Interaction at 
Hilltop 

I’d prefer a SEN 
Unit for 

Communication 
and Interaction at 

Hilltop 

I don’t know 
which option I’d 
prefer at Hilltop 

 

I have no 
preference 

between the two 
options for 

Hilltop 

Total 

3 13 1 8 25 

12% 52% 4% 32% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

3 13 1 17 

12% 52% 4% 68% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 9 3 8 12 n/a 

Yes 2 (22%)  (0%) 1 (13%) 1 (8%) n/a 

No 5 (56%) 2 (67%) 6 (75%) 5 (42%) n/a 

Don’t know  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 (8%) n/a 

No view [2] [1] [1] [5] [] 

  

3 13 1 8
0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

491



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Comments made in relation to opening a Resource Base at Hilltop First School 

Issue raised in comments Type No. 
making 
comment 

No connection with school, so no comment. Neutral 2 

Should be a SEN Unit at this school. Positive 1 

Will worsen access and traffic issues. Negative 1 

Potential for communication and interaction base to have a very wide range 
of needs, which may not be manageable. Negative 1 

Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with 
SEND. Positive 1 

Resource Bases may not be addressing the right needs. Negative 1 

My child is unlikely to benefit from these plans. Negative 1 

School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. Negative 1 

Should not be a Resource Base at this school. Negative 1 

Decision should reflect needs at school and across the borough. Neutral 1 

This school is very good with SEND children and young people. Positive 1 

Should be a Resource Base at this school. Positive 1 

Resource Base should be considered at this school. Neutral 1 

Decision on type of base at Hilltop should reflect needs at school and across 
the borough. Neutral 1 

 

  

492



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

8. Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School? 

All responses 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

14,892 178 1.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

134 13 44 17 16 
* Estimated number of consultees.  Based on no. of families at the schools + staff, governors & addresses in local roads. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, because some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** 'Local residents' excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at a school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open an Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns 
Nursery School? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

125 8 18 27 178 

70% 4% 10% 15% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

125 8 18 151 

83% 5% 12% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 134 13 44 17 16 

Yes 92 (82%) 10 (100%) 35 (85%) 12 (80%) 13 (93%) 

No 6 (5%) 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 2 (13%) 0 (0%) 

Don’t know 14 (13%) 0 (0%) 5 (12%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 

No view [22] [3] [3] [2] [2] 

 
  

125

8 18 27

0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

493



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Responses from The Lawns Nursery School community 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

163 5 3.1% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

0 0 0 5 n/a 
* Estimated no. of consultees.  Based on no. Of families at the school + staff + governors. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, as some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** Local residents excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at this school. 
  Local residents includes consultees who are a parent, governor or member of staff at another school, but live locally to this school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open an Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns 
Nursery School? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

4 0 1 0 5 

80% 0% 20% 0% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

4 0 1 5 

80% 0% 20% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 0 0 0 5 n/a 

Yes  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 4 (80%) n/a 

No 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) n/a 

Don’t know  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 (20%) n/a 

No view [0%] [0%] [0%] [0%] n/a 

 

  

4 0 1 0
0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

494



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

9. Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning at Trevelyan Middle School? 

All responses 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

14,892 178 1.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

134 13 44 17 16 
* Estimated number of consultees.  Based on no. of families at the schools + staff, governors & addresses in local roads. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, because some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** 'Local residents' excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at a school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning 
at Trevelyan Middle School? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

122 9 20 27 178 

69% 5% 11% 15% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

122 9 20 151 

81% 6% 13% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 134 13 44 17 16 

Yes 91 (81%) 9 (90%) 35 (83%) 11 (73%) 12 (86%) 

No 6 (5%) 1 (10%) 2 (5%) 2 (13%) 0 (0%) 

Don’t know 15 (13%) 0 (0%) 5 (12%) 2 (13%) 2 (14%) 

No view [22] [3] [2] [2] [2] 

 
  

122

9 20 27

0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

495



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Responses from the Trevelyan Middle School community 

No of consultees* Responses received** Response rate 

513 32 6.2% 
 

Responses from 
parents/carers 

Responses from 
governors 

Responses from 
school staff 

Responses from 
local residents*** 

Responses from 
organisations 

24 1 6 4 n/a 
* Estimated no. of consultees.  Based on no. Of families at the school + staff + governors. 
** Breakdown of responses may be higher than the total received, as some respondents may be in more than one category. 
*** Local residents excludes those who have otherwise indicated they are a parent, governor or member of staff at this school. 
  Local residents includes consultees who are a parent, governor or member of staff at another school, but live locally to this school. 

Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning 
at Trevelyan Middle School? 

 

Yes No Don't know 
 
 

No view Total 

28 3 1 0 32 

88% 9% 3% 0% 100% 

Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question 
(many respondents choose not to give any views): 

Yes  No Don't know  Total 

28 3 1 32 

88% 9% 3% 100% 

Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’). 

- Parents Governors School staff Residents Organisation 

- 0 0 0 5 n/a 

Yes 21 (88%) 1 (100%) 5 (83%) 4 (100%) n/a 

No 2 (8%)  (0%) 1 (17%)  (0%) n/a 

Don’t know 1 (4%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) n/a 

No view [0%] [0%] [0%] [0%] n/a 

 

  

28
3 1 0

0

50

100

150

200

Yes No Don't Know No View

496



Appendix C – analysis of consultation responses 

Comments made in relation to opening Resourced Provision at Trevelyan Middle School 

Issue raised in comments Type No. 
making 
comment 

School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. Negative 4 

Should not be a Resource Base at this school. Negative 2 

No connection with school, so no comment. Neutral 1 

This school is very good with SEND children and young people. Positive 1 

This school should be a top priority. Positive 1 

 

497



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D: Summary of initial design works (without costs)

School site Option Type Places

Proposed 

completion Description

Gross Internal 

Floor area (m2) Summary of cost Position of school Planning issues Further comments

Cox Green School 1 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2025 Use of bungalow as Resourced Provision with minimal 

changes.  This is currently vacant, and there would be some 

internal remodelling and refurbishment to provide the 

required space.  Pupils would have access to the adjacent 

gardens.  A new pedestrian route from Highfield Road would 

be created through the garden, which would also provide 

secure access to the Resourced Provision.

83 Cheapest Cox 

Green option.

Not preferred Comments not 

received from 

pre-planning 

application.

This makes use of recently refurbished 

accommodation, and is the most cost-effective option.  

 Ceilings in the rooms are relatively low, so care would 

need to be taken in the detailed design to avoid 

spaces feeling cramped.  It might be desirable to move 

the pathway alongside the bungalow as proposed in 

Options 2 and 3.  Children would be located away 

from the main school, which may not be appropriate 

for this SEND Need.  This would need to be carefully 

managed to avoid isolating pupils using the provision.  

This is the cheapest option for this school.  

Cox Green School 2 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2025 Use of bungalow as Resourced Provision, with extension 

into the garden.  This is currently vacant.  There would be 

some internal remodelling/refurbishment, plus an extension 

into the garden to provide a classroom sized space.  Pupils 

would have access to the adjacent garden.  A new pedestrian 

access running alongside the side of the bungalow would be 

created, which would also provide secure access to the 

Resourced Provision.  The bike sheds would need to be 

moved slightly to accommodate the path.

141 Most expensive 

Cox Green option 

(almost twice as 

expensive).

Preferred option Comments not 

received from 

pre-planning 

application.

This would provide the school with a larger space, but 

this would be significantly above the 63m
2
 required 

for a Resourced Provision.  It would be large enough 

for an SEN Unit, although that is not currently being 

considered.   Children would be located away from 

the main school, which may not be appropriate for 

this SEND Need.  This would need to be carefully 

managed to avoid isolating pupils using the provision. 

This is the most expensive option for Cox Green 

School.

Cox Green School 3 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2025 Demolition of bungalow and provision of new standalone 

Resourced Provision block.  Purpose built block providing 

sufficient space for a Resourced Provision, in the grounds of 

the bungalow.  Pupils would have access to the adjacent 

garden.  A new pedestrian access running alongside the side 

of the bungalow would be created, which would also provide 

secure access to the Resourced Provision.  The bike sheds 

would need to be moved slightly to accommodate the path.

63 Second most 

expensive Cox 

Green option 

(only a little less 

expensive than 

Option 2).

Acceptable option. Comments not 

received from 

pre-planning 

application.

The demolition of the existing bungalow would not be 

sustainable, given that there is an acceptable option 

for providing the Resourced Provision without 

demolition.  This would, however, provide 

accommodation specifically designed for Resourced 

Provision.

499



Appendix D: Summary of initial design works (without costs)

School site Option Type Places

Proposed 

completion Description

Gross Internal 

Floor area (m2) Summary of cost Position of school Planning issues Further comments

Desborough College 1 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2025 Resourced Provision in main block, new classroom extension 

on eastern side of Brooks Building.  A maths classroom in the 

Old Main School Block would be remodelled into the 

Resourced Provision, adjacent to other existing SEN spaces.  

The maths classroom would be replaced in an extension to 

the Brooks Building along its eastern side.

135 This is the most 

expensive option 

for Desborough 

College (and is 

significantly more 

costly than all the 

others).

Not preferred None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application.

This would locate the Resourced Provision close to an 

existing SEN area.  The new extension for the 

displaced classroom would also be well located, and 

could have a first floor extension (matching the rest of 

the Brooks building) at a future date.  Large slope 

immediately adjacent to the new classroom location 

could make construction difficult, and significant 

earthworks would be required.  Most expensive of the 

options for the school.

Desborough College 2 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2025 Resourced Provision in main block, new classroom extension 

on northern side of Brooks Building.  A maths classroom in 

the Old Main School Block would be remodelled into the 

Resourced Provision, adjacent to other existing SEN spaces.  

The maths classroom would be replaced in an extension to 

the Brooks Building along its northern side.

122 Options 2, 3 and 4 

are roughly 

similar in cost.

Not preferred None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application.

This would locate the Resourced Provision close to an 

existing SEN area.  The new extension for the 

displaced classroom would also be well located, and 

could have a first floor extension (matching the rest of 

the Brooks building) at a future date.  Access for 

construction could be difficult.  

Desborough College 3 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2025 Resourced Provision in new classroom extension on the 

eastern side of Brooks Building.  The extension would be 

easily accessible from the main school entrance.

63 Options 2, 3 and 4 

are roughly 

similar in cost.

Not preferred None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application.

This would located the Resourced Provision in a new 

classroom extension, but this would be isolated from 

other SEN areas, which may not be appropriate for 

Cognition and Learning.  The extension could have a 

first floor exension (matching the rest of the Brooks 

building) at a future date.  Large slope immediately 

adjacent to the new classroom location could make 

construction difficult, and significant earthworks 

would be required.

Desborough College 4 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2025 Resourced Provision in main block, new classroom extension 

to sports hall.  A maths classroom in the Old Main School 

Block would be remodelled into the Resourced Provision, 

adjacent to other SEN spaces.  Classrooms in the rest of the 

school would be shuffled around slightly to provide a new 

home for the maths classroom, with a new classroom for 

sports provision built as an extension to the sports hall.

130 Options 2, 3 and 4 

are roughly 

similar in cost.

Preferred option None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application.

Recommended option.  This would locate the 

Resourced Provision close to an existing SEN area.  

The addition of a classroom to the Sports Hall would 

mean that sports studies would be adjacent to sports 

facilities.  The project would need to mitigate the loss 

of a fire escape route from the hall.

Desborough College 5 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2025 New standalone Resourced Provision building.  

Accommodation for the Resourced Provision would be 

provided in a new standalone block between the Brooks 

Building and the Sports Hall.  This would be a central location, 

easily accessible from all parts of the school.  The new 

building would require services (power, data, water, waste).  

63 This is the 

cheapest option 

for Desborough 

College.

Not preferred None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application.

A standalone provision could be isolated, particularly 

for the SEND need.  An additional building would add 

to the fragmented nature of the campus, and services 

would need to be provided.  However, the 

construction time would be relatively rapid, and this is 

the cheapest option for the school.

500



Appendix D: Summary of initial design works (without costs)

School site Option Type Places

Proposed 

completion Description

Gross Internal 

Floor area (m2) Summary of cost Position of school Planning issues Further comments

Hilltop First School 1 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2024 Resourced Provision in main school building, nursery 

relocated to new standalone block.  Current nursery 

classroom would be remodelled to create the Resourced 

Provision.  A new build standalone block would be built on 

the field near the school entrance, to accommodate a re-

provided nursery classroom, storage and small group room.  It 

would require a small dedicated outdoor space.  The new 

building would require services (power, data, water, waste).  

170 Relatively 

expensive option 

for Hilltop First 

School.

Acceptable option. Difficult in 

planning terms 

due to 

proximity to 

neighbouring 

property.

Resourced Provision would be well integrated with 

main school and located next to play area already 

frequently used by pupils.  The new nursery block 

would be easily accessible, and construction would be 

straightforward.  New services would need to be 

provided, however, and the short distance between 

the new block and a neighbouring residential property 

could be an issue in planning terms.  This is the most 

expensive Resourced Provision option at this school.

Hilltop First School 2 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2024 Resourced Provision in main school building, nursery 

relocated to new extension.  Current nursery classroom 

would be remodelled to create the Resourced Provision.  The 

nursery would be relocated to a new extension, adjacent to 

the Reception class.

157 Less expensive 

than some of the 

options, it is still 

considerably 

more costly than 

Option 3.

Preferred option None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application 

except for 

parking.

Resourced Provision would be well integrated with 

the main school and located next to play area already 

frequently used by pupils.  Nursery extension would 

also be well located, and not close to neighbouring 

residential properties.  Construction of the extension 

could be disruptive and may need to take place during 

term time.

Hilltop First School 3 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2024 Resourced Provision in new standalone block.  This would be 

built on the field near the school entrance.  The new building 

would require services (power, data, water, waste).  

52 This is the 

cheapest option 

for Hilltop First 

School.

Not preferred Difficult in 

planning terms 

due to 

proximity to 

neighbouring 

property.

Resourced Provision would be in a separate block, 

which could be easily and quickly constructed, 

although services would need to be provided.  The 

location could be relatively isolated, however, being 

away from the main building.  The short distance 

between the new block and a neighbouring residential 

property could be an issue in planning terms.  This is 

the cheapest Resourced Provision option at this school.

Hilltop First School 4 SEN Unit 10 01/08/2024 SEN Unit in main school building, nursery relocated to new 

standalone block.  Current nursery classroom would be 

remodelled and extended to create a SEN Unit.  A new build 

standalone block would be built on the field near the school 

entrance, to accommodate a re-provided nursery classroom, 

storage and small group room.  It would require a small 

dedicated outdoor space.  The new building would require 

services (power, data, water, waste).  

173 This is the most 

expensive option 

for Hilltop First 

School.

Acceptable option. Difficult in 

planning terms 

due to 

proximity to 

neighbouring 

property.

SEN Unit would be well integrated with main school 

and located next to play area already frequently used 

by pupils.  The new nursery block would be easily 

accessible, and construction would be 

straightforward.  New services would need to be 

provided, however, and the short distance between 

the new block and a neighbouring residential property 

could be an issue in planning terms.  This is the most 

expensive SEN Unit option at this school.

Hilltop First School 5 SEN Unit 10 01/08/2024 SEN Unit in main school building, nursery relocated to new 

extension.  Current nursery classroom would be remodelled 

into the SEN Unit.  The nursery would be relocated to a new 

extension, adjacent to the Reception class.

176 This option is 

nearly as 

expensive as 

Option 4.

Preferred option None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application 

except for 

parking.

SEN Unit would be well integrated with the main 

school and located next to play area already 

frequently used by pupils.  Nursery extension would 

also be well located, and not close to neighbouring 

residential properties.  Construction of the extension 

could be disruptive and may need to take place during 

term time.

Hilltop First School 6 SEN Unit 10 01/08/2024 SEN Unit in new standalone block.  This would be built on the 

field near the school entrance.  The new building would 

require services (power, data, water, waste).  

131 Relatively 

expensive option 

for Hilltop First 

School.

Not preferred Difficult in 

planning terms 

due to 

proximity to 

neighbouring 

property.

SEN Unit would be in a separate block, which could be 

easily and quickly constructed, although services 

would need to be provided.  The location could be 

relatively isolated, however, being away from the 

main building.  The short distance between the new 

block and a neighbouring residential property could 

be an issue in planning terms.  This is the cheapest 

SEN Unit option at this school.

501



Appendix D: Summary of initial design works (without costs)

School site Option Type Places

Proposed 

completion Description

Gross Internal 

Floor area (m2) Summary of cost Position of school Planning issues Further comments

Trevelyan Middle 

School

1 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2024 Resourced Provision in infill extension to main block.  The 

Resourced Provision would be created by infilling an area in 

the main school building.  

62 Cheapest option 

for Trevelyan 

Middle School.

Acceptable option. None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application.

Resourced Provision would be well located, with 

toilets already available close by.  It would utilise an 

underused portion of the site, and easily accessed for 

construction.  An existing fire escape would be 

blocked, and there would be some decrease in natural 

light to the adjacent corridor.  This is the cheapest 

option for this school.

Trevelyan Middle 

School

2 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2024 Resourced Provision in infill extension to main block 

(variation).  The Resourced Provision would be created by 

infilling an area in the main school building, with an access 

route retained through this for circulation.

64 Only slightly more 

expensive that 

Option 1 for 

Trevelyan Middle 

School.

Acceptable option. None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application.

Resourced Provision would be well located, with 

toilets already available close by.  It would utilise an 

underused portion of the site, and easily accessed for 

construction.  An existing fire escape would be 

retained.  There would be some decrease in natural 

light to the adjacent corridor.

Trevelyan Middle 

School

3 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2024 Internal remodelling to create Resourced Provision, with 

classroom relocated to extension.  The Resourced Provision 

would be created by remodelling a languages classroom.  A 

replacement classroom would be provided as an extension to 

the main school building.

160 Most expensive 

Trevelyan Middle 

School option.

Not preferred None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application.

Resourced Provision would be relatively remote, with 

no direct access to the outside.  Possible requirement 

for a lift to the first floor location would increase 

costs.  The classroom extension would allow for the 

relocation of a languages classroom with the rest of its 

subject.  There would be some obstructions to 

external circulation routes.  This is the most expensive 

option for this school.

Trevelyan Middle 

School

4 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2024 Internal remodelling to create Resourced Provision, with 

classroom relocated to infill extension.  The Resourced 

Provision would be created remodelling a humanities 

classroom.  A replacement classroom would be provided by 

infilling an area in the main school building.

144 Mid-range cost 

out of the 

Trevelyan Middle 

School options.

Preferred option None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application.

Recommended.  Resourced Provision would be 

usefully located close to the library.  The relocated 

classroom in the infill extension to the main school 

building would retain the existing fire escape route, 

and utilise an underused portion of the site.  There 

would be some decrease in natural light to the 

adjacent corridor.

Trevelyan Middle 

School

5 Resourced 

Provision

10 01/08/2024 Internal remodelling to create Resourced Provision, with 

classroom relocated to infill extension.  The Resourced 

Provision would be created remodelling a PSHE classroom.  A 

replacement classroom would be provided by infilling an area 

in the main school building.

136 Second most 

expensive option 

for Trevelyan 

Middle School.

Not preferred None arising 

from pre-

planning 

application.

Resourced Provision would be located relatively close 

to the library, although on a different floor.  Possible 

requirement for a lift to the first floor location would 

increase costs, and impact on external circulation 

routes.  The relocated classroom in the infill extension 

to the main school building would retain the existing 

fire escape route, and utilise an underused portion of 

the site.  There would be some decrease in natural 

light to the adjacent corridor.

502



Appendix D: Summary of initial design works (without costs)

School site Option Type Places

Proposed 

completion Description

Gross Internal 

Floor area (m2) Summary of cost Position of school Planning issues Further comments

The Lawns Nursery 

School

1 Early Years 

School 

Readiness 

Hub

6 01/08/2024 Remodelling of bungalow to create hub.  The vacant school 

bungalow would be refurbished and remodelled to create a 

hub.  The garden and external areas would be improved and 

three additional carparking spaces for staff provided.  A new 

entrance would be provided to the second hall at Oakfield 

First School.

89 Only one option 

for this school.

Preferred option 

of both The 

Lawns and 

Oakfield First 

School.

Planning 

application, 

including 

change of use, 

has been 

submitted.

Recommended option.  The location of the hub away 

from the main school buildings is ideal for the cohort 

of children expected to benefit from the provision.  

The bungalow is currently vacant and this will bring it 

into education use.  Additional parking will be 

provided for staff. 

New special school N/A Special 

school

100 01/08/2025 Funding to cover any abnormal costs associated with the 

proposed new special school on the AL21 West of Windsor 

site.

N/A Recommended option.  A condition of the bid for the 

proposed special school is that the local authority 

funds any abnormal costs arising from site conditions.

All schools N/A N/A 10 Funding to support minor adjustments to accommodation  

for children and young people with EHCPs.

N/A Recommended option.  This will allow the local 

authority to fund some minor improvement works to 

avoid revenue costs arising from EHCP placements in 

out-borough or independent sector provision.

Manor Green School N/A N/A 300 01/08/2023 Site accessibility adjustments Preferred option. N/A Recommended option.  This will address pinch-points 

on the Manor Green site preventing the free flow of 

traffic on and off the school site, helping address 

issues arising from higher numbers on roll at the 

school.

503



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F: Options appraisal 

Proposal % in 
favour 

Ofsted Location Need as at January 
2023 

Transition SEN Impact Accommodation options Cost Conclusion 

          

Cox Green School 
Resourced Provision 
for Cognition and 
Learning 

Overall:  
78% 
 
From the 
school: 
81% 

Good  
(Short 
inspection 
September 
2018). 

Located in 
Maidenhead, 
where there is 
currently no 
Cognition & 
Learning 
Resource Base. 

The borough has 91 
secondary children 
with an EHCP and 
Cognition and 
Learning needs, 
including 62 
attending special, 
independent or out-
borough provision, 
or who are 
‘educated not at 
school’. 

The provision 
would serve 
children and 
young people 
aged 11 to 16, 
and possibly into 
sixth form.   

13% of the pupils on 
roll at the school have 
special educational 
needs, including 1% 
who have an EHCP.  
This compares to an 
average of 14% and 
2% respectively across 
all mainstream 
secondary schools in 
England.  

The recommended option is to 
remodel and refurbish the 
vacant the school bungalow 
into Resourced Provision, with 
improved pedestrian access 
from Highfield Lane.  Pupils 
using the base would have 
access to the bungalow 
gardens.  Care would need to 
be taken to avoid isolating 
pupils using the provision.  
 
No advice has yet been 
received in response to the 
pre-planning application. 

Resourced 
Provision can 
be provided 
here cost 
effectively. 

Recommended in 
principle.  Two 
Cognition and 
Learning bases at 
secondary will be 
too many for 
Maidenhead.  
Propose to 
examine 
alternatives with 
Cox Green and 
Desborough. 

          

Desborough 
College 
Resourced Provision 
for Cognition and 
Learning 

Overall:  
80% 
 
From the 
school: 
93% 
 

Good  
(Short 
inspection 
February 
2019). 

Located in 
Maidenhead, 
where there is 
currently no 
Cognition & 
Learning 
Resource Base. 

The borough has 62 
secondary children 
with an EHCP and 
Cognition and 
Learning needs, 
including 39 
attending special, 
independent or out-
borough provision, 
or who are 
‘educated not at 
school’. 

The provision 
would serve boys 
aged 11 to 16, 
and possibly into 
sixth form.  To 
ensure that girls 
also had access 
to a Cognition 
and Learning 
Resourced 
Provision, the 
Cox Green 
School proposal 
would also need 
to go ahead. 

12% of the pupils on 
roll at the school have 
special educational 
needs, including 2% 
who have an EHCP.  
This compares to an 
average of 14% and 
2% respectively across 
all mainstream 
secondary schools in 
England. 

The recommended option is to 
remodel a maths classroom in 
the old main school block to 
provide Resourced Provision.  
This would be adjacent to 
existing SEND areas.  
Classrooms in the rest of the 
school would be shuffled 
around to provide a new room 
for the maths classroom.  A 
new classroom, for sports 
provision, would then be built 
as an extension to the sports 
hall.   
 
Following a pre-planning 
application based on the initial 
design works, no ‘in principle’  
planning concerns have been 
identified. 

Resourced 
Provision can 
be provided 
here cost 
effectively. 

Recommended in 
principle.  Two 
Cognition and 
Learning bases at 
secondary will be 
too many for 
Maidenhead.  
Propose to 
examine 
alternatives with 
Cox Green and 
Desborough.  
Single-sex issue 
also needs 
further 
consideration. 

  

505



Appendix F: Options appraisal (continued 1) 

Proposal % in 
favour 

Ofsted Location Need as at January 
2023 

Transition SEN Impact Accommodation options Cost Conclusion 

          

Hilltop First School 
Resourced Provision 
Communication and 
Interaction 
 
 
 
 
Hilltop First School 
SEN Unit 
Communication and 
Interaction 

Overall: 
75% 
 
From the 
school: 
76% 
 
Overall: 
78% 
 

From the 
school: 
84% 

Good 
(Full 
inspection 
January 
2023). 

Located in 
Windsor where 
there is 
currently no 
Communication 
& Interaction 
Resource Base.  
There are ASC 
Resourced 
Provisions.  The 
borough’s 
Speech and 
Language 
Resourced 
Provision is in 
Maidenhead. 

The borough has 
184 first school age 
children with an 
EHCP and ASC and 
Speech and 
Language needs.  
This includes 
including 47 
attending special, 
independent or out-
borough provision, 
or who are 
‘educated not at 
school’. 

The provision 
would serve 
children aged 4 to 
9, and possibly 
into sixth form.  
At the end of 
Year 4, children 
may be ready to 
transfer to a local 
mainstream 
school without 
needing 
additional 
support.  
Otherwise, 
children still 
needing that 
support would 
then need to 
transfer into 
special, 
independent or 
out-borough 
provision. 

10% of the pupils on 
roll at the school have 
special educational 
needs, including 1% 
who have an EHCP.  
This compares to an 
average of 15% and 
2% respectively across 
all mainstream primary 
schools in England. 

The recommended option for 
both Resourced Provision and 
a SEN Unit is to remodel the 
existing nursery classroom to 
provide the base, and build an 
extension at the front of the 
school for the nursery.  This 
would integrate the provision 
into the main school building 
and minimise impact on 
neighbouring residential 
properties. 
 

Following a pre-planning 
application based on the initial 
design works, no ‘in principle’  
planning concerns have been 
identified.  The recommended 
option is considered better 
than the alternatives. 

Both options 
are relatively 
expensive, 
with the SEN 
Unit (which is 
larger) 
proportionally 
more 
expensive. 

Recommended to 
proceed with 
Resourced 
Provision at this 
school. 
 
Although the 
school is most in 
favour of a SEN 
Unit, a 
Resourced 
Provision would 
be acceptable.   
 
Further 
consideration of 
the needs of the 
borough shows 
that there are 
unlikely to be 
enough children 
with the complex 
needs requiring 
an SEN Unit. 

          

The Lawns Nursery 
School 
Early Years School 
Readiness Hub 

Overall:  
83% 
 
From the 
school: 
80% 

Outstanding 
(Short 
inspection 
February 
2019). 

Located in 
Windsor.  There 
are currently no 
hubs in the 
borough. 

4 primary age 
borough residents 
were permanently 
excluded from their 
schools in 2021/22, 
and more received 
temporary 
exclusions. 

The provision 
would serve 
children and 
young people 
aged 4 to 7, who 
would remain on 
the roll their 
‘home’ school.  
The hub would 
aim to keep the 
children at that 
school, avoiding 
disruptive moves 
out to more 
specialist 
provision.   

Children attending the 
hub would not be on 
the roll of The Lawns 
Nursery School.   

The vacant Oakfield First 
School bungalow would be 
leased to The Lawns Nursery 
School on a peppercorn rent.  
The bungalow will be 
remodelled and refurbished, 
with additional parking, to 
make it suitable as a hub.  A 
new entrance will be provided 
for the old Children’s Centre 
hall, to separate it from The 
Lawns.  A planning application 
for the change of use of the 
bungalow from residential has 
already been submitted. 
 

The Hub can 
be provided 
here cost 
effectively. 

Recommended. 
 
The Lawns 
Nursery School is 
in favour of this 
option.   
 
Oakfield First 
School, who 
share the site, 
are also in favour. 

 

  

506



Appendix F: Options appraisal (continued 2) 

Proposal % in 
favour 

Ofsted Location Need as at January 
2023 

Transition SEN Impact Accommodation options Cost Conclusion 

          

Trevelyan Middle 
School 
Resourced Provision 
for Cognition and 
Learning 

Overall:  
81% 
 
From the 
school: 
88% 
 

Good 
(Full 
inspection 
October 
2019). 

Located in 
Windsor, where 
there is 
currently no 
Cognition & 
Learning 
Resource Base. 

The borough has 48 
middle school age 
children EHCP and 
Cognition and 
Learning needs.  
This includes 
including 24 
attending special, 
independent or out-
borough provision, 
or who are 
‘educated not at 
school’. 

The provision 
would serve 
children aged 9 to 
13.  At the end of 
Year 9, children 
may be ready to 
transfer to a local 
mainstream 
school without 
needing 
additional 
support.  
Otherwise, 
children still 
needing that 
support would 
then need to 
transfer into 
special, 
independent or 
out-borough 
provision. 

20% of the pupils on 
roll at the school have 
special educational 
needs, including 1% 
who have an EHCP.  
This compares to an 
average of 14% and 
2% respectively across 
all mainstream 
secondary schools in 
England. 

The recommended option is to 
remodel an existing humanities 
classroom to create the 
Resource Base.  This 
classroom will be replaced by  
infilling an area in the main 
school block.  This would 
utilise an underused portion of 
the site.  An existing fire 
escape route would be 
retained. 
 
Following a pre-planning 
application based on the initial 
design works, no ‘in principle’  
planning concerns have been 
identified. 

Resourced 
Provision can 
be provided 
here cost 
effectively. 

Recommended. 
 
Trevelyan Middle 
School are in 
favour of this 
option. 

 

507



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix H: Equality Impact Assessment 
 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA 
Guidance Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 

Title of 
policy/strategy/plan: 
 

SEND and AP Capital Strategy 

Service area: 
 

Operations 

Directorate: 
 

Children’s Services 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 

• What are its intended outcomes? 

• Who will deliver it? 

• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

 
The proposed capital strategy for Special Educational Needs (SEND) and 
Alternative Provision (AP) will direct grant funded capital spending to new and 
improved provision for children with SEND/AP needs.  The proposals are set out in 
the main report.  The new provision will be delivered by the Royal Borough, and 
follows public consultation on the proposals. 
 

 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM 
employees?  

• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  

• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage (for example, for a forthcoming 
action plan)? 

Yes. 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

 

 

  

509

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 

Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff. 

 
Children and young people with special educational needs and alternative 
provision needs will benefit from the new provision.  The capital funding can only 
be spent on provision to benefit these children and young people. 
 
 

Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, 
sex, disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy/maternity, marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately 
represented?  For example, compared to the general population do a higher 
proportion have disabilities?  
 

 
The main beneficiaries of the proposed new provision will have the ‘disability’ 
protected characteristic, as children and young people with SEND.  

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  

• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   

• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 
 

The consultation process and outcomes are set out in the main report. 

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other 
possible sources of information are in the Guidance document. 
 

N/A 

4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 
 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and 
experiences of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 
 
Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral 
impact, state ‘Not Applicable’ 
 
More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance 
document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive 
impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 
 

The new provision will benefit 
children and young people of 
school age. 

Yes  

510



Disability 
 

The new provision will benefit 
children and young people with 
special educational needs 

Yes  

Sex 
 

  No 

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

  No 

Sexual orientation 
and gender 
reassignment 
 

  No 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

  No 

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

  No 

Armed forces 
community 

  No 

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. 
low income, poverty 

  No 

Children in 
care/Care leavers 

  No 

 

 

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are 
not applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 
 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected 
characteristics are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged 
by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 

N/A 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have 
been put in place to mitigate or minimise this? 
For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 

511



N/A 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the 
future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 

N/A 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

Completed by: 
Ben Wright 
School Place Planning & Capital Programme Manager 

Date: 
 
20/03/2023 

Approved by: 
Lynne Penn 
Associate Director Operations 

Date: 
 
20/03/2023 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 
 

 

 

512



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Appendix I – Individual responses to the consultation (anonymised) 

Response from User ID: 208007192 
User ID: 208007192   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  The skys the limit study in Wolverhampton shows that young people with 
disability need to be considered in the decision making if their future and that they should not be restricted by views 
and stereotypes    

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  Fantastic initiative to start children early learning 
independence and to show the parent what their child is capable of   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Will encourage early learning independence. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Neutral: Needs of children and young people with CYPDS need to be considered in decision-making. Resource Bases 

513



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208018712 
User ID: 208018712   
PARENT: (Other; Not yet at school age; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  I have really struggled with support pre diagnosis to now 
with my son.  Especially as a first time parent.  The lack of support is so poor.  Everything is geared up for child who 
is hitting their milestones and more needs to be done to support/empower parents who notice the early signs 
opposed to waiting for health care professionals.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

    

514



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208027304 
User ID: 208027304   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Clewer Green CE School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; Clewer Green CE School; Other)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Trevelyan are currently not meeting my [child's] needs    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. (Trevelyan Middle School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

515



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208027992 
User ID: 208027992   
STAFF: (Cox Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

516



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208028373 
User ID: 208028373   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  These should be for existing children at the school, not to bring more SEN 
children to the school   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Resource Bases should be for school's own children, not bring more SEND pupils in. Resource Bases 

    

517



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208029085 
User ID: 208029085   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Oakfield First School; Oakfield First School; Other)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Hugely welcome this- there are many Sen children in the borough who struggle 
in mainstream but do not need specialised school. Think fantastic idea and fully support   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  The lawns is fantastic with Sen. My [child] is due to go to 
trevelyan and seems very Sen orientated   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: This school is very good with SEND children and young people. (Trevelyan Middle School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Positive: Many SEND children and young people who can remain in mainstream, with support. Resource Bases 

Positive: This school is very good with SEND children and young people. (The Lawns Nursery School) Early Years School Readiness Hub 

    

518



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208030041 
User ID: 208030041   
PARENT: (The Lawns Nursery; Oakfield First School; Trevelyan Middle School)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Yes as there are not enough provisions to take those who have additional needs 
as the waiting list are beyond a joke.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

519



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208030803 
User ID: 208030803   
PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  I think that investment of Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
needs is important and key for children to fulfil their full potential.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Needs to be more provision for SEMH needs. Resource Bases 

    

520



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208031561 
User ID: 208031561   
PARENT: (Cox Green School; Cox Green School; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

521



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208032958 
User ID: 208032958   
PARENT: (Cox Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

522



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208034983 
User ID: 208034983   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; Other; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I think this would be great to help support the children with SEN, in the local 
area. As long as the staff are fully trained and have a an understanding    

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  As above    

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  I feel Trevelyan middle school should be the top priority to 
catch up on all the children who have been failed due to there being no provisions in place. Then the younger ones    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: This school should be a top priority. (Trevelyan Middle School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Neutral: Staff will need to be fully trained. Resource Bases 

    

523



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208035214 
User ID: 208035214   
PARENT: (Kings Court First School; Trevelyan Middle School; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

524



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208038889 
User ID: 208038889   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Wessex Primary School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Cox Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  But i would also like children without an EHCP to be considered to benefit from 
this planned resource as they are missed in the system and it is very important that these children are also included 
as very unfair as they have needs that need to be met as well    

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  PLEASE give cox green the resource to help children with 
special additional requirements    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: This school should be a top priority. (Cox Green School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Neutral: SEND provision should be wider than just for EHCP children and young people. Resource Bases 

    

525



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208042192 
User ID: 208042192   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Cox Green School; Cox Green School; St Mary's Catholic Primary School)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

526



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208043690 
User ID: 208043690   
STAFF: (Cox Green School; Other; Other)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

527



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208044588 
User ID: 208044588   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Cox Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

528



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208046664 
User ID: 208046664   
PARENT: (Cox Green School; Manor Green School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  It will be wonderful if there were Resourced Provision / SEN units for children in 
the Borough, at the moment even though there is some provision for children with SEN needs in senior schoold they 
still not getting the support they need so they have to go without support is means they're been left behind.   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  It will those children with SEN to be more prepared for 
moving into senior schools, it will also help parents to prepare these children for such a huge transition.   

COMMENTS ON RESOURCED PROVISION OR SEN UNIT AT HILLTOP:  As I don't have children at the school or don't 
anything about the school I can't comment.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Will help with readiness for school transition Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Negative: School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Negative: School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. (Trevelyan Middle School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Negative: Should not be a Resource Base at this school. (Trevelyan Middle School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Neutral: No connection with school, so no comment. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

529



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208053146 
User ID: 208053146   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I totally agree that this resource should be opened but not in Trevelyan middle 
school as it is currently unable to care for basic education of my child.Appalling school.   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Hill top and Trevelyan middle school are unable to keep staff. 
Very poor headteachers who want expansion but can’t run effectively what they have. Due to these two schools my 
child suffered due to constant poor communication and inability to provide constant lessons. Dreadful schools.   

COMMENTS ON RESOURCED PROVISION OR SEN UNIT AT HILLTOP:  Don’t consider Hilltop .   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Should not be a Resource Base at this school. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

530



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208054529 
User ID: 208054529   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Kings Court First School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    531



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208054940 
User ID: 208054940   
PARENT: (Lowbrook Academy; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

532



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208055662 
User ID: 208055662   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Cox Green School; St Edmund Campion Catholic Primary School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  There should also be more places in specialised settings for children struggling in 
mainstream    

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  S   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Many SEND children and young people who can remain in mainstream, with support. Resource Bases 

    

533



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208059053 
User ID: 208059053   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Cox Green School; Cox Green School; Cox Green School)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? No 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

534



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208064064 
User ID: 208064064   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Cox Green School; Other; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  poviding further support specific to this huge subject will only benefit children 
and families   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

535



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208076606 
User ID: 208076606   
STAFF: (The Royal School (Crown Aided); None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Additional resource units for children with undiagnosed social communication 
difficulties are definitely needed. The time taken, due to long waiting lists, for children to get a formal diagnosis and 
therefore not able to access ASC provision is denying children access to the support that they desperately need and 
deserve.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

Positive: Needs to be more provision for ASC needs. Resource Bases 

    

536



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208079249 
User ID: 208079249   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; Trevelyan Middle School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

537



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208081131 
User ID: 208081131   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Boyne Hill C of E Infant and Nursery School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

538



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208081301 
User ID: 208081301   
RESIDENT   

GOVERNOR: (Wraysbury Primary School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Churchmead Church of England School; Other; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Schools across RBWM are in need of support with SEN. Increasing demand for 
services across the RBWM area is being seen which is also the national picture. The increasing needs are having a 
profound effect on staff and much more support is needed in schools.    

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  All children coming into school in September at the age of 
4 is a challenge each year. It would be beneficial for at least some of the unknown needs to have been identified 
earlier and advice and support being given at an earlier stage.   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Resource Provisions are needed across RBWM so I'm fully 
supportive of them being put in place. What's needed and where I am less clear on so I'll leave that to those who 
have the full picture.   

COMMENTS ON RESOURCED PROVISION OR SEN UNIT AT HILLTOP:  I think it needs to be looked at as to what is 
most required at Hilltop and across RBWM.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Decision should reflect needs at school and across the borough. Resource Bases 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Neutral: Decision should reflect needs at school and across the borough. (Hilltop First School) Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at 
Hilltop 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Decision should reflect needs at school and across the borough. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

539



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208089603 
User ID: 208089603   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (The Royal School (Crown Aided); Other; The Royal School (Crown Aided))   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

540



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208091827 
User ID: 208091827   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Alwyn Infant school; Courthouse Junior School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

541



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208095416 
User ID: 208095416   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Waltham St Lawrence Primary School; None; None)   

PARENT: (St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

542



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208097395 
User ID: 208097395   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Alwyn Infant school; None; None)   

PARENT: (Other; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    543



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208100081 
User ID: 208100081   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Newlands Girls' School; Desborough College; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

544



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208108552 
User ID: 208108552   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Manor Green School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Oldfield Primary School; Oldfield Primary School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    545



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208116744 
User ID: 208116744   
PARENT: (None; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

546



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208122658 
User ID: 208122658   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Cox Green School; Cox Green School; Cox Green School)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I disagree with the choice of Desborough since it does not meet the needs of 
girls ages 11-16 with SEN. This is clearly discriminatory and a co-ed school should be chosen instead. It is not fair 
that more boys should receive provision than girls.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Resource Base shouldn't be at single-sex school. (Desborough College) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

547



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208126548 
User ID: 208126548   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School; Datchet St Mary's C of E Primary Academy; Datchet St 
Mary's C of E Primary Academy)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  It should not mean that the current provision in schools deteriorates. Rather 
that new provision provides something EXTRA - NOT a net equal, differently distributed    

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  It should not mean the provision in the current early years 
schools deteriorate though    

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Why is at Edwards not on the list?   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Proposal should not affect the quality of education already provided. (The Lawns Nursery School) Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Neutral: Resource Base should be considered at this school. (St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

548



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208129119 
User ID: 208129119   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; The Queen Anne Royal Free CE First School; Not yet at school age)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

549



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208129409 
User ID: 208129409   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (St Edward's Catholic First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

550



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208130684 
User ID: 208130684   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Wessex Primary School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Furze Platt Senior School; Altwood Church of England School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  This is something that is needed but a lot of children have trouble achieve if the 
EHCPs that are needed or in a timely fashion.   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  A good nursery would prepare the children ready for 
school, they should also have already highlighted and started the process for support/EHCp for children that require 
it   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

551



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208131913 
User ID: 208131913   
PARENT: (Clewer Green CE School; The Lawns Nursery; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I work in CAMHS and there is a lack of resourced provision for children with 
special needs in the borough,    

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  Children in pre-school years would signficantly benefit 
from this prior to starting primary school..   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Would benefit pre-school children. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

552



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208137316 
User ID: 208137316   
PARENT: (St Edward's Catholic First School; None; None)   

GOVERNOR: (St Edward's Catholic First School; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    553



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208138627 
User ID: 208138627   
PARENT: (Other; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? No 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Not convinced that the proposals meet the individual needs of pupils well and 
concerns about how pupils can travel to some of them with the poor public transport in parts of the borough such 
as Wraysbury - ie its easier for my child to travel into London than to Maidenhead and further afield 

  

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  all seem to be located in parts of the borough that would be 
difficult for children from Wraysbury to reach via public transport and independent travel is an important part of 
education   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Resource Bases may not be addressing the right needs. Resource Bases 

Negative: Resource Bases may not be in the right places, and could be difficult to get to. Resource Bases 

    

554



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208139053 
User ID: 208139053   
PARENT: (Cox Green School; Other; Other)   

ORGANISATION: (I am a Trustee of Chattertots an organisation supporting children with Down’s syndrome )   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I think this is a positive move as there is not enough provision for children with 
Down syndrome in my local area. However I do have reservations about a hybrid model with mainstream schools. I 
worry as a parent of a typical child at cox green what impact it will have on learning / class disruption and on my SEN 
[child] side I worry about bullying - the divide is very big socially and mentally.  
 
My SEN [child] doesn’t fit in a high need special needs school nor a mainstream. More will [they] fit in a social 
emotional SEN school.  
 
I think a proposal needs to be considered that is a moderate learning difficulty school (akin to Alfriston in Penn or 
Carwarden in Camberly). These schools are moderate and specialise on able children with disabilities but they are 
with children similar to them and still pushed to achieve academically.  

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Proposal should not affect the quality of education already provided. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Needs to be more provision for SEMH needs. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Needs to be more provision for MLD needs. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Should be a new SEND school. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

555



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208142435 
User ID: 208142435   
PARENT: (The Lawns Nursery; St Edward's Catholic First School; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

556



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208144214 
User ID: 208144214   
PARENT: (Cheapside CE Primary School; Charters School; None)   

STAFF: (Holy Trinity CE Primary School, Sunningdale; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    557



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208145491 
User ID: 208145491   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Clewer Green CE School; Not yet at school age; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

558



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208147526 
User ID: 208147526   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Oakfield First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  There is a great need for extra support for children with special needs and more 
is needed to help support those education, social progression and growth    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

559



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208147544 
User ID: 208147544   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Oldfield Primary School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Cox Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  There are some chn with SEND in mainstream classes that are not coping with 
the curriculum/ expectations.  They often require a lot of additional support which disturbs other students and takes 
adults away from the rest of the class. However, in some lessons, the SEND chn benefit from positive behaviour 
modelled by their peers, making a mixed mainstream setting appropriate.     

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Some SEND children and young people will benefit from being in mainstream class Resource Bases 

Neutral: Proposal should not affect the quality of education already provided. Resource Bases 

    

560



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208149025 
User ID: 208149025   
RESIDENT   

GOVERNOR: (The Queen Anne Royal Free CE First School; Trevelyan Middle School; The Lawns Nursery)   

PARENT: (The Queen Anne Royal Free CE First School; Trevelyan Middle School; The Lawns Nursery)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    561



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208165457 
User ID: 208165457   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (St Edward's Catholic First School; St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

562



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208171320 
User ID: 208171320   
STAFF: (Alwyn Infant school; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

563



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208179360 
User ID: 208179360   
PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; St Edward's Catholic First School; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

564



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208180566 
User ID: 208180566   
PARENT: (Clewer Green CE School; Clewer Green CE School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

565



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208180797 
User ID: 208180797   
PARENT: (Braywick Court School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

566



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208197254 
User ID: 208197254   
STAFF: (Desborough College; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

567



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208207716 
User ID: 208207716   
PARENT: (Cox Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  These provisions are very much needed to enable more children to remain in 
mainstream schools if mutually beneficial   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    568



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208207856 
User ID: 208207856   
STAFF: (St Francis Catholic Primary School; None; None)   

ORGANISATION: (-)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Spread throughout the areas within the borough so all school could access   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases should be distributed across the borough. Resource Bases 

    

569



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208211277 
User ID: 208211277   
PARENT: (The Queen Anne Royal Free CE First School; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

570



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208221098 
User ID: 208221098   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Desborough College; Furze Platt Senior School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  These should be accessible for children without EHCPs as they are impossible to 
get for children with SEN   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: SEND provision should be wider than just for EHCP children and young people. Resource Bases 

    

571



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208223610 
User ID: 208223610   
PARENT: (Altwood Church of England School; Newlands Girls' School; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I am only disappointed that it would not be located at Altwood. I am lead to 
believe they have one of the highest amount of SEN students and I would be interested to know why it was not 
choose to provide this service.    

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  I think every school should have this opportunity.  
I am finding the support at our current school doesn't cover what is required on the EHCP and I think having a unit 
attavhed to the school would benefit both the staff, other pupils and those with SEN needs. But I would have liked 
to see Altwood as an option. Please could the counsel look into each schools SEN quota and see if Altwood would 
not be a better choice   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: All schools should have the opportunity to have a Resource Base. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Resource Base should be considered at this school. (Altwood Church of England School) Resource Bases 

Negative: School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. (Altwood Church of England School) Resource Bases 

    

572



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208224690 
User ID: 208224690   
PARENT: (Desborough College; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

573



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208232594 
User ID: 208232594   
STAFF: (Kings Court First School; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

PARENT: (St Peter's Church of England Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

574



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208232987 
User ID: 208232987   
RESIDENT   

ORGANISATION: (I am the manager of [a] Pre school in Windsor. I am also the parent of [an older child] with Autism. 
I have experience of both early years and experience as a parent )   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  This is going to be so valuable to the parents in the 
borough. This has been needed for a very long time    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

575



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208233043 
User ID: 208233043   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Desborough College; Desborough College; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

576



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208235442 
User ID: 208235442   
PARENT: (Desborough College; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

577



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208248417 
User ID: 208248417   
PARENT: (St Peter's Church of England Middle School; Eton Wick C of E First School; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  There are many children with special needs that are struggling in mainstream 
school as there are no places available in SEN settings   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

578



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208250139 
User ID: 208250139   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Manor Green School; Other; Other)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

579



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208251338 
User ID: 208251338   
PARENT: (Cox Green School; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

580



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208256580 
User ID: 208256580   
PARENT: (Wessex Primary School; Cox Green School; Other)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

581



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208291796 
User ID: 208291796   
GOVERNOR: (Holyport C of E Primary School & Foundation Unit; None; None)   

PARENT: (Desborough College; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

582



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208292795 
User ID: 208292795   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (St Luke's Church of England Primary School; None; None)   

GOVERNOR: (Newlands Girls' School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  These provisions are desperately needed! There is not enough local provision 
and children need support. Please open these resources    

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  Its desperately needed, please open them   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

583



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208339675 
User ID: 208339675   
ORGANISATION: (-)   

RESIDENT   

GOVERNOR: (Eton Porny C of E First School; Churchmead Church of England School; None)   

STAFF: (Churchmead Church of England School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Is consideration being given to expanding special school 
provision in the borough.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Should be a new SEND school. Resource Bases 

    

584



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208342829 
User ID: 208342829   
PARENT: (Alwyn Infant school; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

585



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208343082 
User ID: 208343082   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Other; Other; Other)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

586



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208352616 
User ID: 208352616   
PARENT: (Wessex Primary School; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

587



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208360133 
User ID: 208360133   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Clewer Green CE School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Yes they should open SEN units but not just for children with EHCP's.  Children 
with ASD diagnosis and IEP's get forgotten in the grand scheme of things with some having as many as 4 SEN's 
within their 5 year school life.  This is not acceptable.     

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Individual Education Plan (IEP) children need more support, particularly ASC. Resource Bases 

Neutral: SEND provision should be wider than just for EHCP children and young people. Resource Bases 

    

588



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208372778 
User ID: 208372778   
PARENT: (Clewer Green CE School; Windsor Girls' School; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

589



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208386919 
User ID: 208386919   
PARENT: (Wessex Primary School; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

590



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208403092 
User ID: 208403092   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? No 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  The provision should be provided at the children's school 
and not at a hub for some provision and then back at the children's school.  For a lot of children with SEN this will 
cause confusion and be unsettling.  If a child has an EHCP then they should be provided with the necessary support 
by their school.   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Provision should be provided by the child's school as per their 
EHCP.     

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: All support should be at their school, not require travel to another site. Resource Bases 

    

591



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208407128 
User ID: 208407128   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Waltham St Lawrence Primary School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  There is a desperate need for this locally at all levels of schooling.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    592



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208407747 
User ID: 208407747   
PARENT: (Oldfield Primary School; Not yet at school age; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Don't know 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  More provision for SEN children should be in place in each already existing 
school rather than having only specific ones, to make all school more easily accessible    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: All schools should have the opportunity to have a Resource Base. Resource Bases 

Negative: All support should be at their school, not require travel to another site. Resource Bases 

    

593



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208411112 
User ID: 208411112   
PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; Other; Other)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

594



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208414596 
User ID: 208414596   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Furze Platt Primary Federation; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

595



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208415089 
User ID: 208415089   
PARENT: (Dedworth Middle School; Manor Green School; Manor Green School)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I believe the borough needs many more places available than what they are 
currently proposing as the need outweighs the places available even with the additional spaces being proposed.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Will need more Resource Bases than currently proposed. Resource Bases 

Positive: Demand for SEND provision is increasing, and needs to be met. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

596



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208416990 
User ID: 208416990   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

597



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208417255 
User ID: 208417255   
ORGANISATION: (Work with young adults with complex needs)   

PARENT: (Holyport C of E Primary School & Foundation Unit; Holyport College; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  This will benefit all pupils at the schools   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  This will benefit all children    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Plans will benefit all children and young people. Resource Bases 

Positive: Plans will benefit all children and young people. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

    

598



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208428697 
User ID: 208428697   
RESIDENT   

ORGANISATION: (NHS Berkshire Health Foundation Trust working in special school and mainstream school 
previously in RBWM now in Wokingham. I am also a resident and a career for an adult with addition needs who has 
been previous through some of the schooling system in Maidenhead )   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  There is a significant shortage of places for children with slight or severe 
additional needs in RBWM    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

599



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208448125 
User ID: 208448125   
PARENT: (Cox Green School; Wessex Primary School; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I agree we need a lot more units for SEN children and also children who do not 
have an EHCP yet but are really struggling with school but don’t have a diagnosis yet.   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  I live in Maidenhead so only concerned about having more 
units in Maidenhead   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

Neutral: No connection with school, so no comment. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Neutral: No connection with school, so no comment. (Trevelyan Middle School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

600



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208473769 
User ID: 208473769   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Cox Green School; Wessex Primary School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

601



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208543982 
User ID: 208543982   
PARENT: (Other; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

602



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208557267 
User ID: 208557267   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Newlands Girls' School; Manor Green School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? No 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Feel this is aimed at getting children into mainstream schools. Clear from talking 
to parents of other children that have had bad experiences in mainstream that current system is trying too hard to 
fit children into mainstream schools when not really able to deliver. I feel more special needs shcools would be 
better use of resources.   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  Broadly favourable, might be useful. Nurseries struggle 
with this and would help diagnosis.   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Broadly against proposal. Won't affect my son.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Mainstream provision is not right for all SEND children and young people. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Should be a new SEND school. Resource Bases 

Negative: My child is unlikely to benefit from these plans. Resource Bases 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

    

603



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208579722 
User ID: 208579722   
PARENT: (Dedworth Middle School; Holyport College; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  As a parent of a child with an EHCP who is using the Rainbow Centre Autism 
Resource at Dedworth Middle School, I can't recommend these resource hubs highly enough. Without them our 
child would not be able to continue in mainstream education and yet her needs are not complex enough to require 
a school like Manor Green. 
However, when our [child] leaves the current setting aged 13, none of the proposed options would be suitable for 
[them]. Cox Green seems the only option but this is a resourced provision, rather than a SEN Unit, which means 
[they] would need to spend the majority of time in the mainstream class, which is not a suitable option. We need a 
SEN Unit for [children] aged 13 and over please. The new school proposed in West Windsor in 2025 may also meet 
this need. 

  

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  This would have been very helpful for us in the early days 
of starting school applying for EHCP, receiving a diagnosis and attending SALT etc.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Need Resource Base provision to provide continuity across all age groups. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Need ASD SEN Unit in Windsor Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases are having a positive impact. Resource Bases 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Negative: Mainstream provision is not right for all SEND children and young people. Resource Bases 

    

604



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208582106 
User ID: 208582106   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

605



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208582597 
User ID: 208582597   
STAFF: (Riverside Primary School and Nursery; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  New Resources required due to a shortage of specialised SEN provision in the 
borough   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    606



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208583841 
User ID: 208583841   
PARENT: (Riverside Primary School and Nursery; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  there are some in-between cases, not a special need case and not normal and 
we cannot put them in a special need program and they are not catching up with the normal education path, and if 
you put them in any of the previews two they will have difficulties. 
If you put them in the special needs, they will feel like someone are putting them in the madhouse and if you keep 
them in the normal schools, they will feel like stupids. most of them are very smart and they just have emotional 
problems to catch up with the right place. 
So its very important to create a place in the middle or we will repeat the story of Thomas Edison and Albert 
Einstein. you will never know. 

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Resource Bases may not be addressing the right needs. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

607



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208586681 
User ID: 208586681   
PARENT: (Riverside Primary School and Nursery; None; None)   

ORGANISATION: (Childminder)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  As a childminder I look after children in early years and 
making sure they are ready for reception. Some parents prefer to send children to my setting instead of nursery. 
This Hub would be very beneficial fir parents as well as childminders other childcare professionals as well   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Opening Hub or SEN unit in different areas of Maidenhead and 
surrounding areas would be beneficial for parents and carers who don't drive. Maybe a school with good public 
transport connections    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Childcare professionals already see the types of need to be met by the School Readiness Hub, and so 
support. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Positive: Consider opening new provision at schools with good public transport links. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases should be distributed across the borough. Resource Bases 

    

608



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208597224 
User ID: 208597224   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Furze Platt Primary Federation; Furze Platt Senior School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

609



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208612257 
User ID: 208612257   
PARENT: (Dedworth Green First School; Dedworth Green First School; Dedworth Green First School)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  It should be for all children that need support.  
Not all children are being accepted for an echo even though they need support. The child should be assessed and 
support should be given. As an Sen parent that is in the process of applying for a ehcp theirs not enough support. 
Funding cuts and no support for child in mainstream school as she does not have an ehcp.  
More support and guidance needs to be given for these parents. 
Any child with SEN diagnosis should recieve help not just those with ehcp. 

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Not enough support for parents/carers applying for an EHCP. Resource Bases 

Neutral: SEND provision should be wider than just for EHCP children and young people. Resource Bases 

    

610



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208700661 
User ID: 208700661   
GOVERNOR: (Charters School; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

611



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208731381 
User ID: 208731381   
PARENT: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

612



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208732832 
User ID: 208732832   
PARENT: (Other; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? No 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I do not think that new resource units should be opened up in the Royal 
Borough. I think the money should be saved and a specialist school should be build and fully trained teaching staff 
should manage this new school . 
The resource units are underfunded , understaffed and when the resource unit finally admits that they cannot meet 
the child’s needs the parents are left trying to find a specialist school and in the interim the child is left in limbo in a 
main stream school in a resource unit / provision where the staff cannot cope and the child’s needs are not being 
met. 

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Resource Bases are not meeting the needs of children attending, who then need to go on to special 
schools. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Should be a new SEND school. Resource Bases 

    

613



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208884663 
User ID: 208884663   
PARENT: (Other; Not yet at school age; None)   

ORGANISATION: (Minister of church involved in supporting schools in Windsor)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I am supportive of the proposal on the strict condition that it provides additional 
and/or more suitable provision for actual needs, rather than being used to provide cheaper options for children who 
need to be in more specialist provision. Sadly, due to past actions and decisions by the Royal Borough, SEN parents 
fear the latter, especially where the neccesary provision is out of area and so costs more in transport etc.  
This continuing of support for more specialist (and expensive) options must continue for children in all the below 
situations:  
1) those receiving a school place for the first time (aged 5 or moving into area)  
2) those already in a specialist school elsewhere - there must be no pressure for them to move schools 
3) those who are in a specialist school, but now need to move (primary to secondary etc.) - they must be provided 
continuing specialist (and if necessary, out of area) places, rather than pressured to move into a local SEN unit 

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Resource Bases must not be a substitute (on grounds of cost) for special school places where those are 
needed. Resource Bases 

    

614



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208892393 
User ID: 208892393   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Windsor Girls' School; Trevelyan Middle School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  The journey through the education system with my [child] has been a constant 
fight, and [they have] been hugely let down particularly since joining WGS. I wholeheartedly believe any upping of 
the provision for children with SEND in the borough can not come quickly enough, or be more desperately needed. I 
have had to step back from my official work hours to support and fight for my daughter in the last 3 years, and I 
have often been brought to tears thinking of the children who don't have anyone able or confident or simply 
bothered enough to put the hours and hours currently necessary as a parent to get equity in education for their 
children in the borough. There is currently from my own experience no doubt in my mind that a large number of 
children are currently falling through the gaps, this desperately needs to change.  

  

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  I do not doubt for a second that this would benefit children at 
each and every one of these settings.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

615



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208903737 
User ID: 208903737   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Wraysbury Primary School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

616



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208931396 
User ID: 208931396   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Newlands Girls' School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Cookham Dean CE Primary School; Cookham Dean CE Primary School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  There is a huge gap at the moment for children  who don't quite fit the 
mainstream model, so I think this would help!!    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Many SEND children and young people who can remain in mainstream, with support. Resource Bases 

    

617



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208992744 
User ID: 208992744   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Manor Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Additional SEN provision is clearly welcome . However, SEN schools in the 
Borough are significantly oversubscribed, causing pupils with EHCP’s to be locked out of the school system, so I do 
not believe that the new Resourced Provision and/or SEN units meet the extent of the demand. Academic research 
suggests that the prevalence of autism - whether attributable to better screening or a fundamental rise in autism - is 
growing markedly. Much more SEN provision is needed, over and beyond these limited proposals, particularly for 
pupils with a more severe diagnosis.  

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Likely to need more specialist provision, for children with greater needs, than proposed. Resource Bases 

Positive: Needs to be more provision for ASC needs. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

618



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 208995707 
User ID: 208995707   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Manor Green School; Wessex Primary School; Wessex Primary School)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? No 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

619



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209022584 
User ID: 209022584   
STAFF: (Furze Platt Primary Federation; None; None)   

PARENT: (None; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

620



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209037004 
User ID: 209037004   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Other; The Royal School (Crown Aided); St Peter's Church of England Middle School)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Don't know 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I feel that money could be better spent making immediate improvements to the 
existing provisions better.  Whilst a Resourced Provision etc might well be wonderful in the long term, it leaves the 
children requiring urgent assistance right now in something of a lurch.   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  See above.   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  I repeat my earlier concern.  Service the children who need 
that help NOW.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Should concentrate funding on improving existing provision. Resource Bases 

    

621



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209065819 
User ID: 209065819   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Other; Other; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  It feels like this is an excellent start, but no where near enough to address the 
huge problem that exists around secondary schools just being too large and overwhelming for many SEND pupils 
who have anxiety of any kind.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Secondary schools are too large for SEND pupils with anxiety issues. Resource Bases 

    

622



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209068050 
User ID: 209068050   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Hilltop First School; Trevelyan Middle School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  10 places does not seem very much for all of the cost and work 
involved .. very few children will end up benefitting unfortunaley ... Especially those who are "getting by" and whose 
needs as not as obvious or disruptive to others    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Plans will only benefit a small number of children, at significant cost and effort. Resource Bases 

    

623



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209094823 
User ID: 209094823   
PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  All schools where possible should have a Hub to meet the needs of the child at 
that school. My [child] has an EHCP but it is very difficult  to get the support they need due to lack of understanding 
from teachers and staff.    

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  It will be great to have the hub providing there is funding for 
the staff. The ratio at my [child's] school for Senco to SEND children is poor. This needs to be fully committed not 
just a tick box to show the Borough is doing something.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: All schools should have the opportunity to have a Resource Base. Resource Bases 

Neutral: All schools should have the opportunity to have a Resource Base. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Need to ensure that the revenue funding is in place to support the new provision. Resource Bases 

Negative: School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. (Trevelyan Middle School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

624



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209141853 
User ID: 209141853   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Desborough College; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Definitely-children with special educational needs require specialist support 
with appropriate resources and in a school setting.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Some SEND children and young people will benefit from being in mainstream class Resource Bases 

    

625



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209377252 
User ID: 209377252   
PARENT: (Cox Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  I do not know if the other schools have the necessary capacity 
to offer this provision. I do know that Cox Green are not equipped to offer support to children with Special 
Educational needs. We have been seeking support for my child throughout her time at the school and have still not 
had adequate support. Measures were put in place and ignored by staff. Staff have acted immaturely to antagonise 
and belittle my child and we were told that they are an educational setting not a facility to help with my child's 
mental health. 

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Should not be a Resource Base at this school. (Cox Green School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Negative: School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. (Cox Green School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

626



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209513519 
User ID: 209513519   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School; None; None)   

PARENT: (The Windsor Boys' School; St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    627



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209556544 
User ID: 209556544   
ORGANISATION: (-)   

RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

628



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209623904 
User ID: 209623904   
ORGANISATION: (-)   

STAFF: (Manor Green School; None; None)   

GOVERNOR: (Manor Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    629



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209668900 
User ID: 209668900   
PARENT: (Cox Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Cox Green school have no idea how to support children with 
SEN. They said they wouldn't provide my [child] with support without a diagnosis. [The child has] got an ADHD 
diagnosis and still won't provide support. We have talked about the lack of support and understanding from 
teachers and how this has affected her mental health. We have been told "we are and education setting not a 
mental health facility" and "if [they] can't be bothered why should we" they have failed not only my [child] but 
many others! 

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Should not be a Resource Base at this school. (Cox Green School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Negative: School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. (Cox Green School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

630



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209678979 
User ID: 209678979   
STAFF: (Manor Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

631



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209700529 
User ID: 209700529   
STAFF: (Riverside Primary School and Nursery; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  RBWM is in desperate need of more places for children with SEN   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  I think this would be really positive. These are children who 
are currently as risk of exclusion and there are very limited resources to support them    

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  I think it would be beneficial if Hilltop was able to open an ASD 
Unit as there are so many childrne in the LA with a daignosis or awaiting diagnosis. It would be good if we did nt 
have to wait for an official diagnosis   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: School Readiness Hub will help children at risk of school exclusion and longer-term difficulties. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

Positive: Needs to be more provision for ASC needs. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Resource Base should be considered at this school. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

632



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209780160 
User ID: 209780160   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Braywood C of E First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

633



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209783788 
User ID: 209783788   
STAFF: (Trevelyan Middle School; Trevelyan Middle School; Trevelyan Middle School)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Don't know 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

634



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209826951 
User ID: 209826951   
ORGANISATION: (Pioneer Educational Trust)   

STAFF: (Trevelyan Middle School; Desborough College; Other)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

635



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209876347 
User ID: 209876347   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; Other)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

636



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209891481 
User ID: 209891481   
PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

637



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209908800 
User ID: 209908800   
GOVERNOR: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Hilltop First School; St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

638



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209910498 
User ID: 209910498   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Hilltop First School; Dedworth Middle School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I believe making these issues more mainstream will enable better understanding 
and inclusion in day to day life. Less sigmas for the child and family.    

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  I believe the sooner a child is helped the better for not just 
the child but the parents.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases will benefit all children through greater inclusion. Resource Bases 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

    

639



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 209937751 
User ID: 209937751   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

640



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210158805 
User ID: 210158805   
STAFF: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Other; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

641



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210171163 
User ID: 210171163   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I have worked in special needs for many years. I started as a volunteer then a 
teaching assistant and finished as a Pastoral Leader (Head of Years 5&6) and safeguarding deputy for the entire 
school. I am PASSIONATE about inclusivity and have seen the success such bases bring within a mainstream school.     

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases will benefit all children through greater inclusion. Resource Bases 

    

642



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210172069 
User ID: 210172069   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Courthouse Junior School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

643



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210178970 
User ID: 210178970   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  My [child], attended the Resource at Charters School, Sunningdale, and I was 
parent governor at [their] primary school in Wokingham (to which [they] had long journeys, and was out of RBWM). 
This arrangement of a resource unit attached to a mainstream school is excellent for those with special needs, and 
led to our [child] (with cerebral palsy) attending university, getting a first class degree, and landing a job with a top 
bank. Oh, and [they are a] gold-medal winner at the Paralympics, thanks to [their] school adapting its PE programme 
for [them]! I have always been an advocate of such Resource Units rather than Special Schools. 

  

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  Our [child]attended one of these in Wokingham, 
(Whitelocke School, whose name has changed to All Saints) aged roughly 2 1/2- 33 years ago! [They] LOVED it, and it 
set [them] up for primary school very well.   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  I do not know these specific schools.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Many SEND children and young people who can remain in mainstream, with support. Resource Bases 

Positive: Child benefited from a similar School Readiness Hub in another area. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Neutral: No connection with school, so no comment. Resource Bases 

    

644



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210182574 
User ID: 210182574   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Not yet at school age; Not yet at school age; Not yet at school age)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

645



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210211826 
User ID: 210211826   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  My 30-year old [child] has ADHD and dyspraxia. [They] did attend mainstream 
school but it was a struggle. It can be difficult to gauge which children should be mainstreamed and which will do 
better in a special school. Borderline children definitely need backup and it's unfair on the general school staff to try 
and cope with them, large class sizes, fewer teaching assistants and all the other squeezes on staff resources. Better 
provision for all pupils will result in happier, more capable children, less staff burnout and happier schools.   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  If you suspect your child may need extra help or 
assessment it can be a nightmare trying to figure out what their particular issues are and where the best place(s) to 
ask for help are. An Early Years School REadiness Hub will, of necessity, have staff experienced with dealing with a 
range of special needs and hopefully be resourced to help parents and children plan strategies for improving 
readiness and signpost when a child should have further assessment and/or help.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Many SEND children and young people who can remain in mainstream, with support. Resource Bases 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

    

646



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210231195 
User ID: 210231195   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  How do I get my 17yr old to go to this    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: School Readiness Hub should help wider age range. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

    647



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210308540 
User ID: 210308540   
STAFF: (Hilltop First School; Hilltop First School; Hilltop First School)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

648



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210308734 
User ID: 210308734   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Hilltop First School; Dedworth Middle School; None)   

STAFF: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    649



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210312359 
User ID: 210312359   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

650



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210324041 
User ID: 210324041   
STAFF: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

651



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210326043 
User ID: 210326043   
STAFF: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

652



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210394723 
User ID: 210394723   
ORGANISATION: (I work at Hilltop First School as the EYFS leader and Assistant Headteacher. I strongly believe this 
would benefit so many children entering school life allowing them to be included and a member of our beloved 
school.)   

STAFF: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  A readiness for Early Years is a wonderful idea - very much 
needed so many years.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: School Readiness Hub is a good idea. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

    

653



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210719291 
User ID: 210719291   
PARENT: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I think that this a much needed resource in the community and will greatly help 
to support children with SEN to function and achieve so much more in their mainstream schools.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Many SEND children and young people who can remain in mainstream, with support. Resource Bases 

    654



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210720034 
User ID: 210720034   
PARENT: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Extra resources for children with communication and 
interaction needs would make a massive difference to children in this school. I'm certain my [child] would greatly 
benefit from a resource such as this if it were available.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

Positive: Should be a Resource Base at this school. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

655



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210727170 
User ID: 210727170   
ORGANISATION: (Member of staff)   

STAFF: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

656



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210825345 
User ID: 210825345   
STAFF: (Other; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

ORGANISATION: (I am the CEO of the Green Room Foundation which runs an SEND school in WIndsor (Years 9-13))   

PARENT: (Dedworth Middle School; The Windsor Boys' School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Yes, there is a great need for additional provision for SEND. I am unsure on the 
names of these provisions, especially an SEN Unit. Also fear for the success of a mixed timetable between 
mainstream classes and the RP/SU.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Concerned about mixed timetable between mainstream and SEND. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

657



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210828294 
User ID: 210828294   
PARENT: (Not yet at school age; Not yet at school age; Not yet at school age)   

STAFF: (Trevelyan Middle School; Desborough College; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

658



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210829234 
User ID: 210829234   
GOVERNOR: (The Queen Anne Royal Free CE First School; None; None)   

STAFF: (Windsor Girls' School; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; Windsor Girls' School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Not sure Trevelyan is a the correct school for SEN provision based on the current 
standard of care given to my [child].    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. (Trevelyan Middle School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Negative: Should not be a Resource Base at this school. (Trevelyan Middle School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

659



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210829335 
User ID: 210829335   
PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

660



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210874055 
User ID: 210874055   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (The Windsor Boys' School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Other; Other; Other)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Definitely, these centres are long overdue and would represent the vastly 
underrated demographic of children who require it.   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  None   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

661



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 210930735 
User ID: 210930735   
RESIDENT   

GOVERNOR: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

PARENT: (St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Hilltop First School has an excellent record of working with 
children with SEND, these proposals will allow the school to further develop this for the benefit of the local 
community.   

COMMENTS ON RESOURCED PROVISION OR SEN UNIT AT HILLTOP:  The SEN unit will allow the school to expand and 
provide better support for all children at Hilltop First School.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: This school is very good with SEND children and young people. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Provision at specific school(s) 

    

662



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211047792 
User ID: 211047792   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

663



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211210161 
User ID: 211210161   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I appreciate that the resource bases will need to be limited in numbers, but the 
borough needs to provide for the children/young people who struggle to be in the mainstream environment for a 
whole school day.  I personally feel there should be academic assessments for them before acceptance of a place as 
there are some very academic pupils and others who have large gaps in their learning due to Covid and struggling to 
go back into school after.  (These are naturally those who did not have EHCPs at the time and were unable to 
attend)    

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  There are far too many Early Years children either 
misunderstood, undiagnosed and generally struggling in busy environments with their cohorts.  A School Readiness 
Hub would be invaluable in the authority to give some of these little ones a good start and prepare them gradually 
for school.  Early prevention is vital for these children to give them a better chance of success in school.   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  The secondary school's expectations for the way they deliver 
the curriculum in any Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning provision needs very careful consideration.  
Staff delivering learning to this cohort need to have had training in ADHD and ASD as well as dyslexia, dyspraxia, 
dyscalculia etc., the expectation is possibly for young people to attend who have identified needs so professional 
assessment reports with specific recommendations to individuals need to be implemented.  Not all young people 
will be learning in the same way - individual inclusion is key.  Staff ideally would have additional SEN qualifications.  

  

COMMENTS ON RESOURCED PROVISION OR SEN UNIT AT HILLTOP:  I am assuming this would be similar 50% in 
mainstream for Literacy and Numeracy and 50% in the provision for additional support taught in a different way as 
well as social communication and interaction support e.g., learning basic skills, emotions and about 
friendships/relationships.  This cohort could have quite a mixed bag with some having identified diagnoses and 
some with EP recognition of Communication and Interaction deficits.  Staff providing the provision teaching and 
support will need to be trained by Speech and Language Therapists and possibly SHINE staff, ideally staff would have 
an SEN qualification.   

  

664



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Should consider provision for children without EHCPs who are struggling with school related attendance 
anxieties. Resource Bases 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Neutral: Staff will need to be fully trained. Resource Bases 

Negative: Potential for communication and interaction base to have a very wide range of needs, which may not be 
manageable. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

665



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211249781 
User ID: 211249781   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

666



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211251175 
User ID: 211251175   
RESIDENT   

GOVERNOR: (The Windsor Boys' School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Resources are also desperately needed for the senior school age as well as early 
years, eg at TWBS.    

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  Very important to provide as much resource as possible - 
prevents issues developing and becoming bigger problems in older children and adulthood   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Also at senior school.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: School Readiness Hub will help children at risk of school exclusion and longer-term difficulties. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Neutral: Need Resource Base provision to provide continuity across all age groups. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Need Resource Base provision to provide continuity across all age groups. Resource Bases 

    

667



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211253513 
User ID: 211253513   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  There appears to be nothing earmarked for the Ascot    

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  Nothing earmarked for the Ascot area   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  It would be beneficial for families living in the Ascot end of the 
borough to have access to at least a local SEN resource base   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases should be distributed across the borough. Resource Bases 

    

668



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211253852 
User ID: 211253852   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? No 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  The infrastructure CANNOT cope as it is!!!! 
I have lived sandwiched between HILLTOP/ Clewer geeen+WGS 17 years 
NIGHTMARE!!!!! 
Wardens NEVER monitor or random check parking etc??????   

COMMENTS ON RESOURCED PROVISION OR SEN UNIT AT HILLTOP:  NOTHING at hilltop!!????   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Will worsen access and traffic issues. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

    

669



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211264052 
User ID: 211264052   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Other; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? No 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  The school provision for [child] has been excellent since [they]left mainstream 
schooling.  It has provided [them] with a community and educational setting where [they] can now thrive.  [My 
child] is better there than ever before.  I do not want this taken away from [them] after such a long long time 
battling with normal school until year 7 when he got to go to a special school.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Negative: Resource Bases must not be a substitute (on grounds of cost) for special school places where those are 
needed. Resource Bases 

    

670



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211269501 
User ID: 211269501   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (All Saints Church of England Junior School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Other; Furze Platt Senior School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    671



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211281888 
User ID: 211281888   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Sufficient consideration should be given to the provision balance between 
primary and secondary education. Resourcing an increased rate of  development at a young age better supports 
later years development, and provides better value for money.   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  As above   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Increased provision for SEND is clearly required. Whether the 
balance between primary and secondary os correct can only be determined if you have the data.   

COMMENTS ON RESOURCED PROVISION OR SEN UNIT AT HILLTOP:  Cannot comment without the data on the level 
of need is known.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Decision should reflect needs at school and across the borough. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Need Resource Base provision to provide continuity across all age groups. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

672



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211312608 
User ID: 211312608   
RESIDENT   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

673



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211379207 
User ID: 211379207   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Clewer Green CE School; The Lawns Nursery; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  This is an absolutely brilliant step forward in safeguarding our children and 
young peoples mental well-being.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

674



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211400396 
User ID: 211400396   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (The Lawns Nursery; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

675



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211470423 
User ID: 211470423   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; Other; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  It is clear that many children are suffering from mental health/SEN issues and 
they need all the support that older generations can provide them with. I fully support this recommendation.   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Based on the facilities that currently exist I would suggest that 
Windsor should be a priority (although the windsor schools are currently at the bottom of the lists).   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Resource Bases should be prioritised for Windsor. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

676



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211479758 
User ID: 211479758   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

677



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211486926 
User ID: 211486926   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (-; Trevelyan Middle School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

678



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211511620 
User ID: 211511620   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Furze Platt Senior School; Other; Furze Platt Primary Federation)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

679



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211536406 
User ID: 211536406   
PARENT: (Trevelyan Middle School; St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Yes however all teachers within the school should be trained but just people in 
the units. So that when children have other lessons there is a consistent approach tailored to the child.   

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  Same comments apply.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Staff will need to be fully trained. Resource Bases 

    

680



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211648490 
User ID: 211648490   
ORGANISATION: (-)   

STAFF: (-; Newlands Girls' School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

681



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211654375 
User ID: 211654375   
RESIDENT   

GOVERNOR: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

PARENT: (Hilltop First School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

682



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211664707 
User ID: 211664707   
STAFF: (-; Newlands Girls' School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Don't know 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Don't know 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

    

683



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211737651 
User ID: 211737651   
PARENT: (Wraysbury Primary School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Absolutely yes. We only have two resourced provisions currently in RBWM (at 
Furze Platt & Dedworth First Schools). Both are fully subscribed and there is agony on behalf of parent/carers and 
young persons to access resourced provisions for SEND children. School's are under-facilitated with SEND expertise 
and they are not providing the required environment and provisions to be able to make reasonable adjustments and 
meet the needs of many EHCP's and SEND children.  
The benefits for providing further resourced provisions or SEND units is not only directly to the SEND children but 
also to alleviate pressure and adverse incidents at mainstream schools, so that neurotypical children can access 
learning uninterrupted and safely without being at risk. Having resourced centres or a unit on a school site is hugely 
beneficial because it allows expertise and SEND understanding to be shared with the school staff which in itself is 
required. Many mainstream schools are lacking in staff experience, understanding of SEND conditions, reasonable 
adjustments and the how to prevent certain scenarios, despite all the one day training or refresher courses teachers 
are taking. There is a huge need for higher level teaching assistants in schools as general anyway and this is a must 
at resourced provisions.  

  

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  Absolutely yes. I wish my child had access to such a hub 
prior to enrolling at school. The transition can be frightening and worry-some for any child, even more so for SEND 
children. Many of which are undiagnosed at that stage anyhow and I feel such a early years school readiness hub 
just makes a lot of sense. It would help reduce the burden on reception teachers with unprepared children, 
especially when there are undiagnosed conditions impacting their transition to school.    

684



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  I base my recommendations on the high level of demand in 
the borough for resource placements. Many parents/carers are not even aware of EHCP's and are caring for 
undiagnosed children potentially having SEND conditions due to the vast back-log in the time to get assessments for 
children. If you add up the currently diagnosed children requiring SEND provisions and all those yet to be diagnosed, 
we as a borough will really open our eyes to the gravity of the situation and lack of access to suitable provisions. Any 
delay for every child is impacting their wellbeing, mental health and development. It also burdens to under-
resourced and under-experienced schools. Having multiple specialist provisions will alleviate the burden on the 
entire school education system and gear up the SEND children for the best possible progress through the years of 
schooling.  

  

COMMENTS ON RESOURCED PROVISION OR SEN UNIT AT HILLTOP:  Given that there are multiple options being 
proposed for resourced base provisions, it only makes sense to opt for a SEN unit at Hilltop First School. My concern 
actually is not if we require a resource base or SEN unit, but what is the LA doing to train, provide subsidies/funding 
for SEN teachers/practitioners and to attract them to these posts. My understanding is that there is a hug shortage. 
The newer SEN resource provisions and units are the ones likely to have below par standards in my opinion and 
hence recruiting experience staff to each new provision is also vital together with newly qualified staff.  

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Resource Bases 

Positive: School Readiness Hubs could reduce burden on Reception class teachers Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Positive: Demand for SEND provision is increasing, and needs to be met. Resource Bases 

Positive: School Readiness Hub is a good idea. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Resource Bases 

Positive: Should be a SEN Unit at this school. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

685



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211741955 
User ID: 211741955   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (St Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School; Trinity St Stephen Church of England First School; 
None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? SEN Unit 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I think resource bases and SEN units attached to mainstream schools are 
essential for ensuring my children get the SEN support they need locally.   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  This is a no brainer for me -  I think the earlier support and 
guidance can be offered, the better it is for the child and the family.  My [child's] preschool teacher (and owner of 
Little Fingers Montessori) gave my [child] and us, as parents incredible support and guidance; seeking out 
information as well as attending meetings with clinicians.  It's been tough enough transitioning from preschool to 
school and from homeschool back to school, especially because of covid and I hate to imagine what it could've been 
like without that early support to really understand my [child's] needs. 

  

686



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  My s[child] has autism, so for me a resourced provision 
specifically for cognition and learning wouldn't feel like it could meet all this needs.  Although page 6 of the 
proposals categories autism as communication and interaction needs, [my child] also has needs in other areas that 
need to be met and are just as important.  His EHCP lists needs in communication and interaction, cognition and 
learning, social, emotional and mental health and sensory and physical; and I think that these areas are not black 
and white, but heavily linked eg. [my child] has told me that [they] hate the noise at school (sensory/physical) 
because it makes it very hard for to concentrate, therefore this impacts on [their] ability to learn (cognition and 
learning);  sensory overload (sensory/physical) can affect [my child's] anxiety (SEMH) and when [they are] anxious 
vice versa to give just a few examples.   [My child's] needs mean [they are] in a mainstream school and would 
probably continue to attend mainstream if [they] gets the right support, eg the environment is right, there are 
facilities for sensory breaks, suitable intervention is offered...  A resource base could help [them] hugely, but I feel 
that a resource base just for cognition and learning would not necessarily offer [them] the rounded support that 
[they] need. Even though I am saying yes to the Communication and Interaction resource base or SEN unit at Hilltop, 
I am still a bit hesitant as to whether this would also offer the support in all the other areas that my [child] needs.   
My other child has dyslexia, so has cognition and learning needs that the resourced bases in the proposal could 
potentially offer.  However, my child and all the children I know who are dyslexic, do not have an EHCP.  Though it is 
alluded that a resourced provision could benefit all the children with those sorts of needs, it is not specific enough 
and I don't want to assume it will be offered if it is not explicit.  In my experience there is insufficient support for 
dyslexics, especially at the age when difficulties start being identified (Year 3 for us); it often feels like support is 
offered to those who are the most behind first ie the worst spellers, but then those who need support but aren't as 
bad as the worst, fall behind.  So I am awfully pained in saying no to the proposals for resourced provision for 
cognition and learning, as it stands, I can't see how they would benefit either of my children.  I am however totally in 
agreement that we need more resourced provisions, but it has to be the right type of provision and these aren't the 
ones that would be right for my children's needs. 

  

COMMENTS ON RESOURCED PROVISION OR SEN UNIT AT HILLTOP:  I think that there should be more provisions for 
children with EHCPs at the local mainstream schools.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Resource Bases 

Positive: School Readiness Hub is a good idea. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Neutral: All schools should have the opportunity to have a Resource Base. Resource Bases 

Negative: My child is unlikely to benefit from these plans. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Negative: Resource Bases may not be addressing the right needs. (Hilltop First School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Neutral: Decision should reflect needs at school and across the borough. Resource Bases 

687



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211750934 
User ID: 211750934   
RESIDENT   

STAFF: (-; Hilltop First School; None)   

PARENT: (Hilltop First School; The Windsor Boys' School; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Resourced Provision 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  There are so many children within the borough that need support before 
attending mainstream schools. Having resourced provisions and SEN units would provide many children with access 
to greater learning and enhanced development.    

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Many SEND children and young people who can remain in mainstream, with support. Resource Bases 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

688



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211753576 
User ID: 211753576   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (None; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Don't know 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? Don't know 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  The council should also provide more support to children with SEN that are not 
ASD. For example, state schools are not providing much to kids with ADHD. Many of those children are suffering 
from physical and verbal bullying from schoolmates and sometimes even racial bullying. The council should also use 
funding to evaluate how each school is doing their statuary responsibilities to safeguard children with SEN because 
many of these schools are using even EHCP funding for ADHD children for other purposes. For example, we have to 
move our [child] out of Oldfield Primary School because of being bullied on a daily basis and teacher's unfair 
punishment rather than protection.  

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Need to evaluate how well schools are meeting SEND needs. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Needs to be more provision for ADHD needs. Resource Bases 

    

689



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211775587 
User ID: 211775587   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  To be honest I am staggered you even need to consult. Of course you should 
open new facilities as far as I am aware currently there are none or if there are any it is almost impossible for those 
with needs to get in to one. 
I whole heartedly support the proposal.   

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  (as above)   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

    

690



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211775919 
User ID: 211775919   
RESIDENT   

PARENT: (Other; Other; Other)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? No view 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  I wondered what you define as ‘special educational needs’? All children differ in 
their abilities and it is a concern if there is neglect of either end of the ability range. 
 
My [child] is not learning as well as [they] could. [The child] is bright and under-stimulated at [their] secondary 
school. We cannot afford to send [them] to private school where class sizes are smaller and perhaps the teachers 
are better able to cater for [them]. Other parents of bright children have moved them to private school already - my 
[child] is in Year 8. I need to work so home schooling is not an option. 
 
We flagged to the school that [my child] needs to be challenged more but instead [they are] told to ‘read slowly’ in 
class; repeat maths exercises [they have] already mastered; not allowed to take test papers home to investigate 
[their] mistakes etc etc. There are some teachers who give [them] encouragement but it is the minority. [My child] is 
often sat next to children with learning difficulties and ends up helping them with their work - my [chid] is kind so is 
not resentful but it isn’t helping [their] own education. 
 
It is unfair to expect bright children to ‘cope’ and figure out solutions on their own. It is demoralising for them. It is 
also a shame to see them under-perform. My [child] is a motivated learner but is repeatedly de-motivated by what 
happens at school. Imagine what must happen to bright, de-motivated children? Some bad behaviour such as 
disruptive behaviour must be linked to boredom and lack of attention/recognition amongst bright children. 
 
Please consider ALL abilities, including bright children.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Neutral: Need to provide for brighter children as well. Resource Bases 

Negative: School is not currently meeting the needs of my child. Resource Bases 

691



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211776284 
User ID: 211776284   
PARENT: (Cox Green School; None; None)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? No view 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? No view 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? No view 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? No view 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON PROVISION AT SPECIFIC SCHOOL(S):  have just read your proposal for a resource base at cox green, I 
think this would be a great benefit to the school and it will provide a much needed support to many children who 
already attended and for those wanting support coming into the school. 
 
I certainly will be following the process as I have worked with send for many years and have a [child] with additional 
needs at cox green  

  

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Should be a Resource Base at this school. (Cox Green School) Provision at specific school(s) 

Positive: Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support for children with SEND. Resource Bases 

    

692



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

Response from User ID: 211777108 
User ID: 211777108   
ORGANISATION: (Cookham Parish Council)   

Should we open more Resource Bases? Yes 

Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First? Yes 

Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns? Yes 

Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Trevelyan? Yes 

Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First? No view 

COMMENTS ON RESOURCE BASES:  Cookham Parish Council are pleased that the local authority is looking to open 
more provisions for 
children/young people with SEND within RBWM, the priority should always be keeping children/young 
people as close to home for their education as possible and providing an inclusive education. 
It may have been beneficial to feedback to residents in respect of how the already recently opened ASD 
resource bases have done since opening e.g., Furze Platt Infant and Junior and Dedworth First and Middle. 
There surely have been positive outcomes from these which should be celebrated. 
It would be positive if the schools involved decide to proceed and Cabinet decide to go ahead with all the 
proposals.  
It would be a travesty if planning permission would be a problem for any new buildings on school sites, 
when the benefits are for RBWM young people with specific needs. There has been so much development 
in the authority recently that there will be many more SEND children/young people needing places in 
schools. The D of E are very likely to approve. 
In our forever growing population school places especially for our more vulnerable children/young people 
must be a priority for the local authority, early intervention ultimately benefits individuals and families and 
saves money in the long run. Having resource provisions, special schools for those who need these, and 
alternative provisions are a must in any authority and RBWM is moving in the right direction to provide for 
these cohorts successfully. SEMH is now a huge factor in every authority and our children and young 
people who struggle need to have recognition and support. 
We really like the idea of using empty school premises for the use of Careers Advice for young people 
across the authority with SEND before the building possibly becomes another primary school, however we 
expect the SEND Careers Hub 11-25 will be a very popular venture for those preparing for adulthood, 
going into further education or training or leaving education completely, and feel this should have another 
base organised from 2025.   

693



Appendix I – individual responses to the consultation 

 
Cookham Parish Council agrees that Priority 5 of the SEND Strategy 22-27 is the most important priority 
“Development of the right range of specialist provision within the Royal Borough to ensure that as many 
children and young people as possible can be educated in a local educational setting is a priority. There 
needs to be a range of provision to support parental choice and this needs to include more specialist 
social, emotional, and mental health (SEMH) provision and a five-day week offer for post-16 young 
people”. 
We sincerely hope that all these provisions and the new special school come to fruition, as an authority 
that has an Inclusion Charter and gives an Inclusion Mark to schools that make the grade, we are pleased 
to see funding has been sourced for further projects for our children and young people with identified needs 
and EHCPs. 

COMMENTS ON EARLY YEARS SCHOOL READINESS HUB:  The Early Years School Readiness Hub will be a popular 
resource and family’s expectations 
with rising 5s with identified SEND will be high. The chances are this would be full quickly with waiting 
lists early on. Possibly being mirrored in the other provisions too.   

Summary of comments made: Comment on: 

Positive: Support the development of the SEND Careers Hub by Manor Green School. Resource Bases 

Neutral: Need to provide a based for the SEND Careers Hub after 2025. Resource Bases 

Positive: Support Priority 5 of the SEND Strategy. Resource Bases 

Positive: More early intervention is needed, especially where no diagnoses has yet been made. Early Years School Readiness Hub 

Positive: Resource Bases needed as not enough local provision. Resource Bases 

Positive: Demand for SEND provision is increasing, and needs to be met. Resource Bases 

    

 

694



 
Report Title: Customer Relationship Management 

procurement  
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I with Part II Appendix ‘Not for 
publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972.’  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Rayner, Deputy Leader of the 
Council & Cabinet Member for Business, 
Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & 
Heritage, & Windsor 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet - 30 March 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Nikki Craig, Head of HR, Corporate Projects 
and IT 

Wards affected:   All  
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report is to request that Cabinet delegates authority to the Chief Executive or 
appropriate Executive Director in consultation with the Deputy Leader of the Council & 
Cabinet Member for Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor to award the new Customer Relationship Management system to the 
successful tenderer following the conclusion of the procurement process.   
 
The Customer Relationship Management (CRM) and Content Management System 
(CMS) software contracts end in February 2024 and therefore the digital development 
team are initiating procurement processes to introduce solutions that best use 
available technology to meet the wider corporate goal of a council trusted to deliver its 
promises and ensure seamless service delivery.  
 
The CRM and CMS are critical to the Royal Borough in continuing to deliver an 
excellent set of services for residents. These systems underpin and facilitate hundreds 
of thousands of customer interactions for services across the council. Investing in the 
CRM and CMS creates direct improvements to the digital face of the Royal Borough 
and the experience of residents.  

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Delegates authority to the Chief Executive or relevant Executive 
Director in consultation with the Deputy Leader of the Council & 
Cabinet Member for Business, Corporate & Residents Services, 
Culture & Heritage, & Windsor to award the new Customer 
Relationship Management system to the successful tenderer 
following the conclusion of the procurement process.   
 

695

Agenda Item 14



2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
2.1 The Royal Borough currently uses a CRM and CMS built using an open-source 

software solution called Drupal. Both platforms have been developed by an 
external supplier, with the internal support, maintenance and management of 
content co-ordinated by the digital development team, part of corporate 
transformation. The platforms are critical to council operations and manage 
52,000 customer accounts, are used by over 340 staff in assisting members of 
the public, and process over 115,000 form submissions every year.  The use of 
a Drupal CMS allows the Royal Borough to align with the Local Gov Drupal 
project, which sees 34 councils share code, modules and future development 
concepts. The Local Gov Drupal project continues to grow as a co-operative 
and is a well-established and reliable option for the Royal Borough.  

2.2 When the Royal Borough made the decision to move the CRM and CMS to 
open-source software in 2020, it was understood that the versions of Drupal that 
were first used would need to be upgraded. Provision was made in the capital 
budget to support this work. Given the Royal Borough does not have its own 
internal Drupal development capacity and is reliant on an external supplier, the 
Head of Service agreed that an external 3rd party review of the platforms would 
help inform future upgrade and development work. A private contractor was 
selected, and the review completed in Autumn 2022.  

2.3 For the CMS a simple and anticipated upgrade process is needed. For the CRM, 
a more complex redevelopment or replacement project is now required.  

2.4 The digital development team investigated the review results and discussed with 
the current development supplier, and the review partner, what work would be 
needed.  The team also started soft market testing of available CRM options. 
From this exercise, a procurement process that included looking at other 
available options as well as remaining in Drupal would ensure the cost-
effectiveness of any decisions made.  

2.5 The team are now working with procurement colleagues regarding this direction 
of travel and to conclude soft-market testing of alternative CRM options, 
including proprietary software as well as open-source.   

2.6 The continuation of a Drupal CMS will ensure the Royal Borough remains 
working alongside the Local Gov Drupal co-operative, making best use of the 
combined knowledge of 34 other local authorities. Local Gov Drupal has quickly 
become the industry standard solution for Local Gov CMS and there are further 
developments coming to the network that will help the Royal Borough with future 
improvements to the website. The Drupal CMS has been successfully adopted 
and is well liked and supported by the staff that use it.   

2.7 Conversely for all the 34 councils using a Drupal CMS, only three or four are 
using a CRM built using Drupal. Speaking to staff at Local Gov Drupal and other 
councils involved in the co-operative, officers have learned that most councils 
are using a ‘tried and tested’ proprietary software provider for their CRM, whilst 
using Drupal for their CMS. Whilst there is appetite amongst the co-operative to 
develop a Drupal-based CRM for use alongside the CMS, this is broadly viewed 
as pioneering, risky and not guaranteed to be as cost-effective as the current 
CRMs in use.   

696



2.8 The Royal Borough should not operate an outgoing solution for any protracted 
length of time, owing to the associated data security risks that that may produce.  

2.9 On analysis of the options reviewed so far, it is evident that a Drupal CMS will 
continue to give the Royal Borough the tools it needs to publish a high-quality 
website and best support customer interactions. Aligning with other authorities 
using a Drupal CMS, the Royal Borough will look to procure a safe and reliable 
CRM, minimising the length of time that there is reliance on an end-of-life 
platform, and best supporting future digitalisation aspirations.  

2.10 The procurement exercise will include a specification developed by the Digital 
Development team to ensure the Borough’s needs are met by any new 
products. Furthermore, as part of the specification writing process, the Digital 
Development team will be assessing the team’s ability and capacity to 
administer, maintain and improve any digital solutions that are implemented. An 
initial project to set up and implement the systems will occupy the first part of 
this work, with longer term resource planning to take place in parallel. This will 
ensure that the team has the correct expertise and enough of it to make best 
use of any selected technology over time.  

2.11 Depending on the type of solution selected will alter the outcome of the long-
term planning exercise. For example, a low-code/ build-your-own style of 
system will require less initial project resource, but a greater need for more 
development specialists within the team in the mid to long-term. A proprietary 
CRM system requires less in-house development expertise but may require 
expensive additional requests for the supplier to install bespoke features. The 
ramifications of such decisions are being considering as part of procurement 
and change management processes. 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Do nothing.  
This is not the recommended option 

Both the current software version 
and contract expire in the next 12 
months 
 

Automatically rebuild the CRM in Drupal 
9 (and subsequently 10) 
This is not the recommended option 

All options need to be considered 
therefore a procurement exercise 
will ensure both open source and 
proprietary solutions are 
evaluated. 

Carry out appropriate procurement 
process with delegated authority give to 
appropriate officer in consultation with 
appropriate Cabinet Member to award 
the new Customer Relationship 
Management system to the successful 
tenderer following the conclusion of the 
procurement process. 
 

A new CRM will offer the Royal 
Borough both the future security 
reassurances that it needs to 
safely assist customers in 
accessing relevant services, 
whilst also making better use of 
available technologies to improve 
customer experience. 
 
Moving to a Drupal 9 (and then 
10) CMS will put the Royal 

697



Option Comments 
Upgrade current Drupal 8 CMS to a 
Drupal 9/10 CMS, in line with industry 
best practice. 
 
This is the recommended option.  

Borough in line with the 34 other 
Local Authority partners making 
use of the Local Gov Drupal co-
operative.  

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Full implications are detailed in table 2.   
 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantl

y Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

Procure new 
CRM 
solution  
 

1 July 
2023 

30 June 2023 31 May 
2023  

15 May 
2023 

30 June 2023  

Full 
implementati
on of CRM 
solution 
completed 

1 July 
2024 

1 April 2024 1 January 
2024 

1 November 
2023 
 

1 April 2024 

 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

 
4.1 Until the procurement exercise is concluded it is not possible to give full and 

detailed costs, however a capital bid has been approved in the 2023/24 budget 
of £500,000 to support the replacement CRM project. 
 

4.2 Borrowing is only undertaken when necessary and not on the date of approval 
of a scheme by the Council or Cabinet, but as the funding is required. Borrowing 
is generally taken over the economic useful life of the asset. The council will use 
available balances and capital receipts before undertaking borrowing to reduce 
any unnecessary revenue costs. If it is necessary to borrow to support the 
achievement of this proposal, then the estimated revenue implication of this 
would be approximately £33,350 annually over the life of the loan.   The cost of 
any potential borrowing has already been assessed as part of the budget setting 
process for 2023/24 as part of the overall capital programme. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 Given the estimated contract value, the contract is being tendered via a 
framework that will be agreed following the market testing phase. This ensures 
that the Council is acting in accordance with the Public Contract Regulations 
2015 and the Council’s Contract and Tendering Procedure Rules. Advice has 
been provided by the Council’s corporate Procurement Team. 
 

698



5.2 The Council will let a contract directly with the successful tenderer following the 
conclusion of the chosen framework process and subject to approval to award 
being given by the Chief Executive or relevant Executive Director in consultation 
with the Deputy Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member for Business, 
Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & Windsor.  

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 Table 3 gives full details of the identified risks and mitigations. 

(Please note this does not include a significant amount of information that cannot be shared 
under paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and 
therefore is placed in the Part II Appendix A). 

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or risk Impact with 

no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Inadequate 
resource is 
allocated to 
implementing 
any new 
CRM 
solution, 
which will 
delay the 
date by 
which the 
future CRM 
becomes 
fully 
operational  
 

Extreme 4  High  Additional 
external 
development 
capacity is 
currently 
being 
provided by 
an external 
supplier 
under the 
present 
contract 

Additional 
project 
management 
support, 
developer 
support 
(amount 
dependent 
on solution 
chosen) and 
supplier 
professional 
service to 
ensure rapid 
CRM 
deployment  

Moderate 2 Low  

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities:  
An equalities impact assessment is available in Appendix B. 
 

7.2 Climate change: 
No impact 
 

7.3 Data protection/GDPR: 
A data protection impact assessment is being completed as part of the 
procurement process and will be continually reviewed through implementation. 
no impact 

699



8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 Consultation has been held with providers as part of the soft market testing 
exercise.  Additionally, services that use the CRM and CMS have been informed 
and are involved in the review of current workflows and what is and isn’t working 
for them.  

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: 16 March 2023 The full implementation 
stages are set out in table 4. 
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
March and April 
2023  

Procurement process is undertaken with procurement 
and legal colleagues as appropriate 

By 30 June 2023  Award of contract 
15 July 2023 and 
onwards  

Implementation of CRM and update of CMS. 

By April 2024  Implementation to be concluded. 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by two appendices: 
 
• Appendix A –Part II – Financial and business information  
• Appendix B - Equality Impact Assessment  

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report isn’t supported by doesn’t have any background documents: 

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
02/03/23 02/03/23 

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

02/03/23 03/03/23 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
02/03/23 06/03/23 

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

02/03/23 06/03/23 

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 02/03/23  

700



 
Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 

decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Sam Wooten Data Protection Officer 02/03/23 06/03/23 
Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 

or agree an EQiA is not required 
  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 02/03/23  

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 02/03/23 06/03/23 
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 02/03/23  
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
02/03/23 03/03/23 

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Deputy Leader of the Council & 
Cabinet Member for Business, 
Corporate & Residents 
Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Key decision: First 
entered into the 
Cabinet Forward 
Plan: 1 February 
2023 
 

No 
 

No  

 
Report Author: Dave MacFarlane, Transformation and Digital Service Lead 

 

701



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 

 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Customer Relationship Management procurement 

Service area: 
 

HR, Corporate Projects and IT 

Directorate: 
 

Resources 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

 
The project aim is the procurement of a Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system.      
 
The project will be delivered by the Transformation and Digital team with involvement from IT, 
Library and Resident services and other CRM users. 
 

 

 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  
• If Yes, state ‘Yes’ and proceed to Section 3. 
• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming action 

plan) 
Yes 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 

Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

703

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


Residents with a ‘My RBWM’ account are likely to need to re-register in the event of a new 
provider winning the procurement, although there is a possibility that the accounts could be 
transferred over from the current CRM system to the new one if this were the case.  This will not 
be determined until the procurement exercise is concluded but in either case, our customers 
should notice no difference to the online offering other than a very slightly different look and feel 
of the forms and account pages. 
 
Staff who currently use the CRM to manage their cases will be provided with any relevant training 
needed prior to go live and their processes will be fully rebuilt in the event a new system is being 
implemented, in careful collaboration with them.     
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, disability, race, 
religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, marriage/civil 
partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
Accessibility of the site will be carefully monitored, and all regulations will be adhered to so 
nobody will be disproportionately affected.  

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  
• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
This cannot take place until a new provider has been chosen. 

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the EQIA Evidence Matrix for relevant data. Examples of other possible sources of 
information are in the Guidance document (Section 2.3). 
 
Not applicable at this stage 

 

 

 

 

 

 

704

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiMWZlNGI4YWYtZjk3Ni00Zjg2LTlkMTEtNmM4N2M2NTczZDU0IiwidCI6ImY1NGM5M2I3LTA4ODMtNDc4Zi1iZjNkLTU2ZTA5YjdjYTBiNyJ9&pageName=ReportSection


4. Equality Analysis 

Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences of 
individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state ‘Not 
Applicable’. 
More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the EQIA Guidance document 
(available on the intranet). 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative impact 

Age 
 

In some cases, age could be an barrier to 
accessing online tools.  There is support 
available in person and on the phone to help 
residents that request it and this will remain 
in place.   

 x 

Disability 
 

In some cases, disability could be an barrier to 
accessing online tools.  There is support 
available in person and on the phone to help 
residents that request it and this will remain n 
place.   
Accessibility will remain at the forefront of 
our requirements so should have no impact – 
not applicable.  

 x 

Sex 
 

Not applicable   

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

Not applicable   

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

Not applicable   

Pregnancy and maternity Not applicable   

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

Not applicable   

Armed forces community Not applicable   

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

Not applicable   

705



Children in care/Care 
leavers 

Not applicable   

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  

If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not applicable, 
leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics are able to 
benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
Not applicable at this stage, will be picked up as part of the procurement process 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in place to 
mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the target 
date for implementation. 

Not applicable at this stage, will be picked up as part of the procurement process 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 

This will be picked up as part of the procurement process 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 

Completed by: Eleanor Nicholson 
 

Date: 22/02/23 

Approved by: Nikki Craig 
 

Date: 08/03/23 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

706



Document is Restricted

707

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

717

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

721

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

723

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	5 Forward Plan
	Forward Plan Changes since 24.02.23

	6 Lower Mount Farm (Cannondown Road) Stakeholder Masterplan Document
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	The adopted Borough Local Plan (BLP) places great importance on ensuring that development is sustainable, and that it positively contributes towards the qualities and character of the Borough.  The Plan’s Spatial Vision states that: "...development will be expected to promote sustainability and add to the special qualities of the Borough through high quality design, effective and efficient use of land and protection of valued heritage, natural and other assets."
	2.2	To assist in implementing the Spatial Vision, BLP Policy QP1 (Sustainability and Placemaking) introduces a requirement for the preparation of ‘stakeholder masterplans’ for developments that will deliver 100 or more net new dwellings, or more than 5,000 sq. m of employment or mixed use floorspace. The supporting text to Policy QP1 explains that the stakeholder masterplanning process formalises good practice in relation to pre-application discussions, by requiring developers of larger sites to engage with the Council, local community, and other stakeholders at an early stage in the development process.
	2.3	The developer is responsible for preparing the Stakeholder Masterplan Document (SMD).  In summary, the process involves:
	2.4	The last stage in the process is for the final SMD to be presented to Cabinet, with a recommendation that the document be approved as an important material consideration for Development Management purposes.
	2.5	The remainder of this Cabinet report addresses the process of preparing the SMD for Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan Document, the content of the SMD, and the next steps.
	2.6	The site allocation proforma for Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan Document (allocation AL37 ‘Land north of Lower Mount Farm, Cookham’ in the BLP) outlines the uses to be accommodated on the site, alongside a number of site-specific design requirements and considerations, including approximately 200 residential units.
	2.7	The site-specific design requirements and considerations address matters including the provision of family housing with gardens, 40% affordable housing and the importance of providing a strong green and blue infrastructure network across the site.
	2.8	The requirements for site AL37, as set out in the BLP, were the starting point for determining the matters to discuss with the local community and other stakeholders through the stakeholder masterplanning process.
	2.9	Bellway Homes (developer) and Turley (planning agent) set up a Working Group after liaising with local groups and key stakeholders. The Working Group comprised members of the local community, interest groups, elected Councillors and Council officers, as well as an urban design advisor working for the Council.
	2.10	Working Group meetings took place online on 3 March 2022, 24 March 2022 and 25 May 2022, and Bellway/Turley organised an in-person resident workshop on 3 May 2022.Two leaflets were issued during this first phase of engagement and at different points, the project team were invited to attend specific meetings with stakeholders such as the Cookham Parish Council.
	2.11	Phase 2 of the engagement process involved a further Working Group meeting held online on 6 October 2022.
	2.12	A formal four-week community consultation on the draft SMD took place between 20 September and 19 October 2022. A dedicated project website (www.cannondownroad.co.uk) along with an email address and phoneline was set up to enable community members to engage with the project.
	2.13	The Bellway/Turley project team have also met with officers on several occasions over the course of the last 6 months, to discuss particular aspects of the project in more detail than could be accommodated at the Working Group sessions.
	2.14	The feedback at and following the Working Group meetings, the Borough Wide Design Guide and pre-application advice from officers and the Council’s urban design advisor all fed into the preparation of the draft SMD.
	2.15	The SMD produced provides a description of the site and a summary of the planning policy context; summarises the feedback received during the engagement phase; sets out a series of development objectives for the site; identifies the principal opportunities and constraints associated with the site; and outlines the development/design principles that will guide the future development of the site.
	2.16	Some of the main SMD principles and approaches to highlight, include:
		A commitment to deliver four street character types, delivering a mix of housing types and sizes.
		A commitment to provide a strong, high quality green and blue infrastructure network across the site that is highly connected to the surrounding area and capable of supporting enhanced biodiversity, recreation.
		A commitment to ensuring that a minimum of 10% Biodiversity Net Gain is achieved.
		Retention and enhancement of existing woodland with additional native planting incorporating a 10m buffer with wildflower grassland and scrub planting
		Newly created habitats, with species-rich native hedgerows and trees planted throughout the development.
		The creation of a biodiversity corridor and a central green spine running south through the development, including a trim trail incorporating a mix of natural timber themed children’s play elements and adult exercise equipment.
		A community orchard, and creation of a usable and interesting recreational space at the heart of the development.
		Active and informal open spaces to encourage active lifestyles and people’s enjoyment of nature.
		A network of pedestrian and cycle routes providing attractive routes to key facilities and links to the countryside.
		Enhanced surface water attenuation to reduce flood risk.
	2.17	Through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and section 106 contributions, Bellway will make financial contributions towards upgrading and improving the local infrastructure. Bellway have committed to working with utility providers to ensure sufficient electricity, gas, telecommunication, and broadband services are provided to serve the development.
	2.18	Bellway/Turley received 24 responses to the consultation. Those responses have been summarised in the SMD.
	2.19	Some of the comments received related to matters that had also been raised at the Working Group meetings. Bellway/Turley and Council officers had therefore already had the opportunity to consider many of the issues in preparing the draft SMD. Some of the concerns being raised were in relation to matters of principle, which have been dealt with through the BLP examination (for example, the issue of increased traffic movements within and around Cookham).  Other matters are points of detail (too detailed for the SMD) that can be further considered at the planning application stage.
	2.20	A copy of the final SMD, as recommended for approval for Development   Management purposes, is attached as Appendix B.
	2.21	The main changes made to the SMD, as a result of the consultation feedback, include:
	2.22	Overall, the Stakeholder Masterplanning process has been generally well received by local residents and other stakeholders. Whilst some remain opposed to the principle of development, many recognise that the process has enabled the local community and interested parties to be involved in the development process far earlier than would normally be the case.
	2.23	Moving forward, and subject to Cabinet approving the SMD for Development Management purposes, Bellway/Turley will prepare and submit a planning application later in 2023.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The hosting of the engagement sessions, publicity, drafting of the SMD, and organisation of the consultation, were all the responsibility of Bellway/Turley (albeit with guidance and input from Council officers and their advisors).
	4.2	A Planning Performance Agreement was agreed with Bellway at the start of the Stakeholder Masterplanning process. This Agreement provided funding to the Council to resource the input of specialist officers/ consultants including Stefan Kruczkowski (urban design advice).
	4.3	Funding for this work has therefore all been contained within existing resources and has not required additional funding from the Council.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The SMD for Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan Document will not form part of the Development Plan in the Royal Borough.  It would not have the same weight as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) produced in accordance with Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.
	5.2	SMDs are effectively the first stage in the development process on the larger housing sites within the Borough (in effect an expanded pre-application submission, but with added public engagement intended to allow residents to have an input into the development of the sites). We are therefore expecting the developer at Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan Document to come forward with a planning application(s) which would be based upon the SMD following the approval of the SMD by Cabinet.
	5.3	In light of the community engagement and consultation undertaken in relation to the SMD, some weight must already be attributed to the SMD, but in accordance with the process prescribed in the BLP, and to give the developer confidence that the Council is supportive of the design objectives and design principles in the SMD, Officers are recommending that Cabinet formally approves the SMD as an important material consideration for Development Management purposes.
	5.4	This is a process that will be repeated for other housing sites within the borough in order to comply with policy QP1. The Land West of Windsor site had its SMD adopted by Cabinet in October 2021, Spencer’s Farm in July 2022, and Land east of Woodlands Farm in January 2023.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. Officers consider that the SMD for Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan Document meets the Basic Conditions in relation to human rights requirements.
	The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council to ensure that when considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service, or procedure the impacts on particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups, have been considered.
	An EQIA screening form has been completed and signed by the relevant Head of Service. The recommendations in this report have no identified equality impacts. The EQIA screening form is available below in Appendix A.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. The SMD aligns with the policies and requirements of the BLP, which was subject to Sustainability Appraisal/ Strategic Environmental Assessment.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. The consultation on the draft SMD was undertaken by Bellway/Turley. Any sensitive information shared with Officers was handled in accordance with the GPDR regulations and the statement on the way the Planning Policy team handles personal data.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	The process of engagement and consultation on the draft SMD for Land west of Cannondown Road Stakeholder Masterplan Document is described above.  Officers believe that the form and amount of engagement is as envisaged by the BLP (in relation to the preparation of SMDs) and accords with the principles set out in the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by 3 appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by 2 background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	7 2022/23 Month 10 Budget Monitoring Report
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options

	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.0	The Council faces considerable financial risks that could have a significant and immediate impact on its finances. However, whilst reserves are currently above the minimum level that the S151 Officer has deemed are required to protect against financial and service risks, they remain low compared to the optimum level that should be held. The Medium-Term Financial Plan assumes that the Council will identify sustainable savings over the medium term and therefore remain above the minimum level of reserves identified by the S151 Officer (£6.700m).
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	2022/23 MONTH 10 REVENUE FORECAST OUTTURN
	4.1	The current forecast is an overspend on service budgets of £0.795m, a favourable movement of £0.139m from month 8. Including corporate & contingency budget, and changes to funding, this reduces to an underspend of £1.494m, a favourable movement of £0.165m from month 8.
	4.2	This largest movement this month is in Governance, Law, Strategy and Public Health where there has been a favourable variance of £0.230m. The main factor has been additional reimbursement of costs in relation to the Queen’s funeral.
	4.3	Resources is also showing a favourable movement of £0.165m. This is primarily due to savings achieved on the mobile phone contract and identification of costs within property services that can be recharged to capital.
	4.4	These underspends are offset by adverse movements in Adults & Housing and Place. In Adults the adverse movement of £0.114m is mainly due to increased costs from the Coroner’s joint arrangement, over which the Council does not have direct control. In Place the adverse movement of £0.112m is mainly due to increased recycling costs, though this has been partly mitigated by favourable variances in Infrastructure, Sustainability and Transport. Further details are provided in the paragraphs below.

	5.	ADULTS & HOUSING
	5.1	The Adults & Housing directorate is forecasting an overspend of £1.092m, an adverse variance from month 8 of £0.144m largely due to Director and Support services. It should be noted that the forecast outturn is assuming significant use of one-off funds. The forecast overspend is mainly due to pressures from support for an increased number of older people placed into residential care as a result of the pandemic. Measures have been put in place to try and manage this as outlined below, but this is a demand led budget and preventative measures take time to have an impact.
	5.2	The directorate is implementing a series of actions to address this overspend including:
		deployment of £0.397m of additional Winter Care funding to provide additional discharge capacity;
		acceleration of plans to automate internal management systems within Optalis provider services;
		additional checks and controls on the use of agency staff; and
		reviewing the use of accommodation by some residents with learning difficulties and seeking to relaunch a Shared Lives scheme locally.
	5.3	Of the £0.956m budgeted savings, £0.656m (69%) are currently forecast to be achieved. Savings in relation to staff costs remain challenging due to difficulties recruiting and retaining employees. The Shared Lives scheme is unlikely to significantly impact this financial year. Appendix B summarises the position on savings.
	Director & Support
	5.4	There has been an adverse £0.153m movement within Director & Support, mainly due to increased recharges for the joint Berkshire-wide Coroners Service. It should be noted that the Council exercises little direct control over this service. The pressure includes agency costs to cover staff sickness and increases in workloads that have necessitated increases to establishment. There has also been increases in mortuary and pathology costs and an increase in complex inquests.
	Adult Social Care
	5.5	Adult Social Care services are forecasting an outturn overspend of £1.077m, a favourable variance of £0.010m from month 8. An underlying pressure, relating to social care placements, is being partially offset by the use of £2.500m of one-off funds as well as £0.750m of contingency. Appendix G indicates that Adult Social Care client numbers currently supported are 122 more than the budget plan despite improvements to decision-making processes.
	Housing
	5.6	Housing services are forecasting an outturn underspend of £0.119m.  This is made up of various favourable and unfavourable variances across the service and utilising of   earmarked reserves. There are currently 226 households being supported in temporary accommodation.
	5.7	Hackney carriage license renewals are reporting a pressure of £0.122m. Street performing licenses renewals are also forecast to overspend by £0.010m, this has improved by £0.068m since month 6 due to other mitigations.
	5.8	Other Housing grants from last year have been rolled forward in earmarked reserves. The forecast assumes allow these will now be released in the current financial year, which contributes a further £0.071m to the underspend.

	6.	CHILDREN’S SERVICES
	Non-Dedicated Schools Grant
	6.1	Non-school Children’s Services show a net overspend of £0.255m; no overall change from month 8. The overspend mainly relates to the increased demand on Home to School Transport, Legal Services, and the impact of the National Transfer Scheme for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and high legal costs, due to complex cases.
	6.2	An AfC Leadership Management Recovery Plan has been implemented to reduce the overspend. The indicative in-year mitigations total £0.481m and are reflected in the reported overspend position. The key mitigations include:
		expanding the existing vacancy management process;
		matching grants to existing resources; and
		release of non-essential expenditure budgets.
	6.3	The primary reason for the net overspend relates to Home to School Transport which since the start of the academic year has evidenced an increased volume and complexity of the current and planned cohort of pupils including refugees, totalling £0.420m. Continued pressure on the Legal Services contract due to high volumes, increased complexity, and duration of the legal process results in a pressure of £0.320m. There is also a forecast overspend of £0.213m due to the net impact of the National Transfer Scheme for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. The Education School Improvement & Brokerage Service is reporting an overspend of £0.090m which is matched by additional grant within the Retained Children’s Services budget.
	6.4	Employee related pressures of £0.611m are being reported; these are being significantly matched by one-off controllable actions of £0.456m within the AfC Contract, resulting in a net pressure of £0.155m These actions include vacancy management, further matching of grant and restricting non-essential expenditure.
	6.5	These pressures have been partly offset by underspends relating to Social Care Placements. The forecast includes an underspend of £0.440m including an estimated future demand to the end of the financial year of £0.090m and the full year effect of the review of direct payment support packages of £0.186m.
	6.6	The underspend on Retained Children’s Services of £0.486m is primarily due to additional grants of £0.439m being utilised to match against increased costs within the AfC Contract and reduced central education support costs £0.047m.
	6.7	The academisation of All Saints Church of England Junior School was effective from January 2023. As this is a Secretary of State directed School Academy Order conversion routinely any related school deficit at the point of transfer becomes the financial responsibility of the local authority. However, in relation to this school’s unique circumstances and the improvements that have been led by the Council the expectation is for the financial responsibility to be met by the Secretary of State. The financial risk has not been reflected in the current reported position but would be between £0.200m and £0.300m.
	6.8	Of the £0.587m budgeted savings, £0.397m (68%) are currently forecast to be achieved. The savings not being achieved relate to Homes to School transport and legal costs. Appendix B summarises the position on budgeted savings.
	Dedicated Schools Grant
	6.9	The Dedicated Schools budget forecast underspend is £0.481m a net favourable variance of £0.284m from month 8. This underspend is transferred to a dedicated reserve, so does not impact on the general fund. However, it should be noted that the accumulated projected deficit as at 31 March 2023 now stands at £1.566m which is a small reduction on last year, representing 1.1% of the total gross budget allocation 2022/23.
	Table 7: Dedicated Schools Grant Forecast Outturn
	6.10	The Schools Block underspend of £0.496m relates to the release of an uncommitted pupil growth fund as no additional school places have been required this year. The Central School Services Block underspend of £0.112m relates to reduced management overheads and non-independent special school places.
	6.11	The Early Years Block underspend of £0.299m reflects historic funding levels compared to planned levels of provision (£0.135m) and the Maintained nursery settings' reduced level of demand of 31% in the autumn term compared to summer term 2022 (£0.164m). The nursery costs are a 21% reduction on the prior year and the increased reduction may be a result of cost-of-living pressures with fewer children attending nursery.
	6.12	The High Needs Block overspend of £0.426m is primarily due to provision of Independent Special or Non-Maintained Schools and other associated direct support. The forecast variance includes an estimate of future demand to the end of the financial year of £0.150m, but this is a reduction on the prior month (£0.133m).
	6.13	Examples of Deficit Management Plan themes being implemented which have contributed towards the improved forecast include:
		The robust challenge process for agreeing inflationary rate increases and stronger commissioning arrangements.
		The impact of the Social, Emotional & Mental Health programme reducing the volume of pupils at risk of exclusion. Additionally, interventions by coach monitors supporting pupils have in many cases resulted in no further Education and Health Care Plan support being required.
		A reduction in the Special School placement costs through adding new resource bases / units within RBWM schools resulting in increased cost avoidance of more costly placements.
		Education and Health Care Plan funding panels now have headteachers on the board which has resulted in a greater understanding of Special Educational Needs & Disabilities financial matrix.
		More schools have been awarded the Quality Inclusion Mark resulting in more pupils with an Education and Health Care Plan being educated within Borough Schools that are attached to these units reducing out of borough costs.
	6.14	Whilst the overall DSG in-year position has improved the grant conditions require that any authority with an overall deficit on its Dedicated Schools Grant account at the end of the financial year prepare a Deficit Management Plan, including a recovery period of three to five years. It will continue be challenging to clear the cumulative deficit with increased costs and rising demand for complex service provision, and the SEND reforms (2014) that increased support to include individuals up to 25 years of age.
	6.15	In conjunction with the Deficit Management Plan, AfC is participating with the DfE Delivering Better Value in SEND support programme. The programme will provide dedicated support and funding to help local authorities with substantial deficit issues to reform their high needs systems. In addition, the aim of the programme is to establish a more sustainable structure, so authorities are better placed to respond to the forthcoming SEND Review reforms. The Delivering Better Value programme commenced in the summer of 2022 and will operate for 30/36 months with a significant involvement of key officers from both Finance & SEND.

	7.	PLACE
	7.1	The Place directorate forecast outturn is an overspend of £0.734m an adverse variance of £0.112m from month 8. The directorate has started and continues to implement a series of actions which have contributed to this favourable movement. These actions include:
		financial performance is reviewed on a weekly basis as part of Directorate Leadership Team meetings, which focuses on key pressures and mitigations required to close the adverse variance;
		development of targeted actions to improve parking revenue and in particular season ticket sales, which continues to be a challenge;
		engagement with significant contractors (including Serco and Tivoli) so that opportunities for efficiencies can be identified;
		vacant staff positions reviewed and given careful consideration before being recruited to;
		review of consultancy spend to ensure it is achieving value for money; and
		review of s106 funds to ensure they have been properly applied and reflected in the forecast outturn.
	7.2	It should be noted that the significant risk in leisure services from the increased cost of utility bills as reported previously has reduced to £0.171m. This is not in the forecast. Further work is still to be done on potential mitigations before that is included in the forecast and the leisure contract re-procurement is in progress.
	7.3	Neighbourhood Services is forecasting an overspend of £1,198m, an adverse variance of £0.524m compared to month 8. This movement is primarily due to the recycling disposal reprocessing rates currently much higher than anticipated. A combination of global factors, including stockpiling of material in overseas markets and paper mills in Europe being shut due to the energy crisis. It is likely that this will be slow recover and that the buoyant market seen earlier in the year is unlikely to return.
	7.4	In addition, the parking income of pay and display car parks is averaging at 92% (compared to 96% as reported in month 8) of the profiled budget and includes an adjustment for Nicholsons car park closure, over achievement of short-term parking income over the Christmas period as well as the improved position of season ticket income at 42% compared to last month at 38%. The total parking income including permits, parking advertisement, etc is at 0.2% adverse variance versus £9.8m budget. The current level of income at 92% has been assumed for the remainder of the year. Appendix G gives further information on parking income performance.
	7.5	Planning is reporting an overspend of £0.227m, a minor favourable variance compared to month 8. The main pressure is still in the Arboricultural team as it has to respond to above average numbers of emergency tree works this year. Further mitigations are also being considered to reduce the pressure.
	7.6	Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport is reporting an underspend of £0.465m, a favourable variance of £0.379m compared to month 8. This is mainly due to an additional grant funding secured, temporary holding of vacancies, recharging staff costs to capital project development, and decisions to avoid consultancy spend to support the wider financial challenges across the Place Directorate.
	7.7	Communities is reporting an underspend of £0.122m, a favourable variance of £0.030m due to a vacancy.
	7.8	Of the £0.772m budgeted savings, £0.652m (84%) are currently forecast to be achieved. Several savings are highlighted as an amber risk including generating additional parking fines income through recruitment of two additional parking enforcement officers through the NSL contract. There is an on-going review of the issuance of PCN’s. Appendix B summarises the position on budgeted savings.

	8.	RESOURCES
	8.1	The Resources directorate forecast outturn is an underspend of £0.633m, a favourable movement of £0.165m from the prior month. The larger movements are outlined below.
	8.2	It is showing a favourable movement of £0.110m mainly due to savings on the mobile phone contract and software costs. There are also soe smaller savings within IT due to continued vacancies.
	8.3	Property is showing a favourable movement of £0.096m mainly due to identification of senior project manager costs that will be recharged to school capital projects.
	8.4	Of the £0.435m budgeted savings, £0.415m (95%) are currently forecast to be achieved. The saving unlikely to be achieved relates to utility costs at the Town Hall. Appendix B summarises the position on budgeted savings.

	9.	GOVERNANCE, LAW, STRATEGY & PUBLIC HEALTH
	9.1	The Governance, Law, Strategy and Public Health directorate forecast outturn is an underspend of £0.667m, a favourable movement of £0.230m from month 8. This is primarily due to £0.222m underspend in Governance, a change of £0.133m since month 8, which is due to reimbursements from DCMS for Queen’s funeral costs and an underspend in staffing costs within Legal Services. Note also that some budget realignment to reflect the management structure has been undertaken which is why some budgets in the table below appear with a nil value.
	9.2	Of the £0.288m budgeted savings, £0.213m (74%) are currently forecast to be achieved. The savings unlikely to be achieved relate to delays recruiting to the commercialisation post and sale of sponsorship on the website. Appendix B summarises the position on budgeted savings.

	10.	SUNDRY DEBT
	10.1	The current level of overdue sundry debt is £10.920m. There are significant increases in the bad debt provision for Adult Social Care and Housing. To an extent large amounts of debt in these areas is in line with national trends as well as reflective of the levels of income we are raising. However, further actions are in progress to raise the profile of debt within directorates and tackle the level of arrears including:
		charging the cost of the bad debt provision to directorates rather than funding centrally;
		developing more focused reports to directorates to highlight areas of concern; and
		establishing a debt panel to ensure overdue debt is discussed.
	10.2	The adult social care debt represents the contribution to care costs which the Council considers to be the responsibility of individuals in receipt of care above the current financial thresholds, and which has not yet been received despite the providers having been paid. There is a monthly review process underway to resolve the largest outstanding situations with families. There is further work to do with residents to improve early care planning so that we reduce the number of times there is a funding dispute.
	10.3	The increase in Housing debt is largely the result of how rent debt was raised on the system. For 2021/22 a single invoice was raised for a year’s worth of rent at the start of the financial year. Arrears in respect of this rent went over 12 months old on 1 April 2022 resulting in a large increase in the bad debt provision. From June 2022, housing rents have moved to a specialised rent accounting system (ARA) which should resolve this issue going forward. Despite this there remains a significant amount of Housing debt to be addressed.
	10.4	The increase in the bad debt provision for Commercial Property is mainly due to the regulations that were in place during the pandemic meaning that rent arrears could not be chased. Unsurprisingly, arrears have therefore increased. This debt is being actively managed by the Propco to maximise returns from this debt.

	11.	EARMARKED RESERVES
	11.1	Appendix H details the movements in earmarked reserves based on current forecasts.

	12.	BORROWING
	12.1	Borrowing is only undertaken to finance capital projects that have been approved by the Council and lead to clear future benefits. It is not used to support day to day operational expenditure. Throughout the year the Council’s borrowing levels are updated based on cash-flow and spending on the capital programme. Currently, the Council is borrowing temporarily pending anticipated capital receipts in future years.
	12.2	A further £11m of long-term PWLB borrowing has been arranged to be received in February.  This was to take advantage of a fall in the long-term borrowing rate below the level budgeted for in 2023/24.
	12.3	Table 12 details current borrowing offset against investment balances.

	13.	CAPITAL
	13.1	Capital expenditure is currently projected at £63.838 m. Appendix E details the capital budget movements and Appendix F provides more detail on variances.
	13.2	The £63.838m of 2022/23 projected capital expenditure will be funded by the income streams as set out below. At present the cost of borrowing at a short-term borrowing rate of 2.56% is estimated to cost £1.086m for current year projected expenditure; a significant increase compared to previously low interest rates. Further slippage is expected to be reported at year end which will reduce the projected cost of borrowing.

	14.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	14.1	In producing and reviewing this report the Council is meeting its legal obligations to monitor its financial position.

	15.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	15.1	Projected variances require mitigation to reduce them during the financial year.

	16.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	16.1	Equalities. There are no direct impacts.
	16.2	Climate change/sustainability. There are no direct impacts.
	16.3	Data Protection/GDPR. There are no direct impacts.

	17.	CONSULTATION
	17.1	None.

	18.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	Implementation date if not called in: ‘Immediately’.

	19.	APPENDICES
	19.1	This report is supported by nine appendices:

	20.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	20.1	This report is supported by one background document, the budget report to Council February 2022.

	21.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix A Revenue Monitoring Statement
	Appendix B Savings Tracker
	Appendix C Growth Tracker
	Appendix D Capital Budget Summary
	Appendix E Capital Programme Budget Movements
	Appendix F Capital monitoring report
	Appendix G Key Financial Information
	Appendix H Usable reserves

	8 Standards and Quality of Education in Royal Borough schools
	This report sets out the progress across the Borough’s schools during the academic years 2021-22, summarising the available qualitative and quantitative data that is contained in the Education Pack 2021-22 and other appendices.  It is of note that attainment data has not been published nationally for specific groups of pupils and the results are not comparable to pre-pandemic years due to the pandemic.
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
		Maintain school improvement focus on all schools.
		Continued focus on disadvantaged pupil plans and outcomes.
		Transform therapy services with health for additional needs.
		Designated Schools Grant finance management.
		Inclusion and Access for Pupils who may be vulnerable to missing education.
		SEND Ofsted Inspection.

	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Background
	2.1	This is the twentieth annual report on the quality of education in the borough. The last report was reviewed in March 2022 by Cabinet. The report presents an analysis of the performance of pupils in state funded schools located within the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead in the academic year 2021-22 against national and statistical neighbours. Several key education terms are described in Appendix 1 (The Education Data Pack 2021-22) along with the nationally published education data.
	2.2	This report highlights several areas:
		Current position of Ofsted inspection results for schools and other settings.
		Key stage 4 attainment (teacher-assessed).
		Pupil absence levels
		Elective Home Education
		Current exclusion statistics for schools.
		Progress in tracking the participation of 16- and 17-year-old students.
		NEET data (Young people not in education, employment, or training).
		Current status of our Education Inclusion Service.
		Current status of our SEND (Special Education Needs and Disability) Services.
		SEND Improvement.
		Current status of our SEMH (Social, Emotional and Mental Health) Service.
	Ofsted judgements of school quality
	2.3	The percentage of schools judged to be Good or Outstanding in RBWM was 97% in January 2021. Since January 2021, a further 10 schools have been inspected which has resulted in maintaining the percentage of schools judged to be Good or Outstanding as 97%, well above the national average 86%. 22 (33%) schools are Outstanding above the national average of 18% for Outstanding schools.
	2.4	Since January 2021, Ofsted have inspected 10 schools. Of the 10 schools inspected, three schools (Bisham Academy, Dedworth Middle Academy and Eton Wick First school) have increased their Ofsted judgement from Requires Improvement to Good, so 64 schools in the Royal Borough are currently judged to be Good or Outstanding.
	2.5	There is only one school in the Royal Borough that currently has a judgement of Requires Improvement.  This is a maintained school, and Riverside Primary School is expecting an Ofsted Inspection this academic year and we are confident in the improvements Riverside have made.
	2.6	All Saints Junior CofE School was judged to be Inadequate in February 2022 and a rapid improvement plan was put in place. All external assessments were showing positive impact on the areas for improvement up to December 2022. This school converted to an Academy on 1st January 2023 under the Department of Education sponsorship route and therefore is no longer a maintained school and is currently out of the Ofsted cycle of inspection.
	2.7	School link advisers continue to ensure that there are robust Ofsted action plans in place with all schools seeking to improve their judgement to at least good and school link advisers continue to monitor progress for those schools currently good or outstanding to maintain and improve standards.
	2.8	Since September 2019, all schools have been judged on the new Ofsted framework, which has a knowledge-based curriculum focus. The Link Advisors worked with schools prior to the new framework being released to ensure all schools have a broad-balanced curriculum. The curriculum provides all pupils with the skills, knowledge and understanding they need to develop into well-rounded, informed individuals. The new Ofsted framework means all Outstanding schools are no longer exempt from Ofsted Inspections. Some of these schools in the Borough have not had an Ofsted Inspection for twelve plus years. The risk is that leadership in most of the schools has changed and these schools were inspected under previous Ofsted Frameworks. School link advisers are working with maintained schools judged as Outstanding to ensure successful judgement outcomes.
	2.9	A recent Schools Week article published that four out five schools will be downgraded from outstanding and the current national statistic states that the majority, (62%) became good, but over 17% fell to Requires Improvement and 4% fell to inadequate. (https://schoolsweek.co.uk/four-in-five-outstanding-schools-lose-top-ofsted-grade/). Currently we have had two schools in RBWM keep the outstanding grade and one declined too good in recent inspections.

	Early Years
	2.10	Currently, we have 70 Independent Private and Voluntary Nurseries (PVIs) in RBWM. Ten of these are new providers and have not yet been inspected by Ofsted. With the exception of those ten, 57 (95%) PVIs are judged as Good or Outstanding.  Three PVI (5%) are judged as Requires Improvement.
	2.11	Nursery classes attached to schools are not inspected separately. The Ofsted judgements for the Borough’s three maintained nursery schools are not included in the figures in point 2.10. All three of our maintained nursery schools are currently judged as Outstanding and they contribute to our 97% of Good/Outstanding school Ofsted percentage.

	Disadvantaged pupils
	2.12	In November 2022, schools attended our first face-to-face Pupil Premium (PP) network meeting of this academic year. The focus was on ensuring that schools publish their updated strategies in the new Department for Education (DfE) format which needed to be on the school websites by the 31 December 2022. A key change is that this format requires schools to demonstrate they have considered evidence when developing their Pupil Premium Strategy.
	2.13	The focus for schools currently, therefore, is ensuring they: have identified their pupils’ needs; are using strong evidence to support their strategy; and have started the implementation of the revised strategy post pandemic.
	2.14	We will continue with termly PP Network Meetings, free of charge to our schools, to support Pupil Premium leads to: share good local practice; keep their three year plans up to date; inform them of any changes to guidance and, where possible, having speakers in with a range of expertise in this area.
	2.15	Research is showing that the pandemic has led to a growing gap nationally between our disadvantaged pupils and their non-disadvantaged peers according to a research piece by the Education Endowment Foundation (https://www.nfer.ac.uk/news-events/press-releases/disadvantage-attainment-gap-remains-wide-after-pandemic-reading-skills-particularly-affected/). Staff in RBWM schools are also reporting this. The PP Network will focus on the impact of recovery initiatives such as the use of tutoring during the current academic year.
	2.16	Given that our disadvantaged gap in RBWM is widening. Our Phonic results for disadvantaged have widened by 10 percentage points and this has followed through to Key stage 1 results. Research is showing that the drive towards Quality First Teaching is having a positive impact on disadvantaged pupils catching up from the pandemic, the School Improvement Team have been in discussions with Tom Sherrington (Walkthrus) to put together an exciting year long, teacher development package.
	2.17	The aim of the project is to support schools to develop their use of instructional coaching using Walkthrus as a tool for teacher development. The project is planned to run for a year starting with a launch for school leaders early in June 2023 to enable the project to align with School Development Plan objectives and Pupil Premium priorities for 2023-24. The project will then involve monthly training days with Tom Sherrington using a blended approach of face to face and virtual sessions. This will be open to school leaders, middle leaders, coaches/mentors, and teachers. This incurs a cost to each school and an expression of interest has so far resulted in 29 schools signing up to the programme.
	2.18	The Department for Work and Pensions announced the launch of a £170m COVID Winter Grant Scheme (CWGS) in November 2020. The CWGS aims to support children and families in need with food and household essentials over the winter period. RBWM has provided vouchers to all Free School Meal children and young people throughout each holiday period since this began. This was replaced by the Household Support Fund in October 2021 and those eligible for Free School Meals again received vouchers worth £40 per child for this winter break. These vouchers have been delivered via schools through a coordinated scheme operated by the Council’s Education Team. This funding will continue in 2023/24 as funding has been confirmed by Department for Work and Pensions.
	2.19	FUEL is a Department of Education funded free holiday activity and food programme. It offers participants the opportunity to take part in a range of fun activities and have a nutritious meal during school holiday periods. To be eligible to attend the programme, children and young people must receive benefits related to Free School Meals and be of school age. RBWM ran a summer and winter programme for our disadvantaged children and young people in 2022. The Fuel Summer 2022 programme had 4791attendances and feedback has been very positive.

	Key Stage 4 attainment
	2.20	This academic year saw the return of the summer exam series, after they had been cancelled in 2020 and 2021 due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, where alternative processes were set up to award grades (centre assessment grades, known as CAGs).
	2.21	Whilst year on year comparisons are unhelpful for estimating school                        improvement, they do provide a degree of context.
	2.22	The latest headlines are as follows, for 2021/22:
		Overall, 55% of pupils in RBWM achieved English and Maths GCSE at grade 5 or above. State funded schools nationally achieved 49.6%.
		RBWM is rated as the 35th Local Authority on this measure.
		The percentage of RBWM pupils attaining English and Maths GCSE at grade 4 or above is 76.2%. This is well above the state funded national figure of 68.8%.
		The average Attainment 8 score across RBWM was 51.1.  This compares to 48.7 for state-schools nationally.
		45.4% of RBWM pupils were entered for all elements of the English Baccalaureate (Ebacc) in 2022, above the national figure of 38.8%.
		The England state-maintained Average Pont Score for the Ebacc was 4.27, and for RBWM 4.57. RBWM was ranked 36th best Local Authority on this measure.

	School Centred Initial Teacher Training (SCITT)
	2.23	RBWM has been running a School-centred Initial Teacher Training (SCITT) Programme for many years to help with recruitment of teachers in RBWM (Grow our own). The school-led teacher training programme leads to Qualified Teacher Status (QTS). SCITT teacher training is one of the most popular ways to gain QTS, offering trainees a chance to get hands-on teaching experience in at least two schools within RBWM.
	2.24	Last academic year (2021-2022), RBWM SCITT successfully trained 30 teachers: 20 Primary and 10 Secondary. 100% went onto employment in teaching. In February 2022 RBWM (SCITT) was Ofsted Inspected and this resulted in a ‘Good’ judgement.
	2.25	Recruitment has been challenging this year both nationally and locally and the current cohort (2022-2023), is made up of 24 trainees, 13 primary and 11 secondaries.
	2.26	September 2022 is the second year of the Early Career Framework to support Early Career Teachers over the first 2 years of their career. This has replaced a one-year programme for Newly Qualified Teachers. RBWM currently have 132 Early Career Teachers with Nursery, Primary, Secondary and Special Schools split into two cohorts. Cohort one had 71 and Cohort two 61.
	2.27	The DfE has published its response to the initial teacher training (ITT) market review report in 2021. The central recommendation is that all ITT providers implement a new set of quality requirements and that a robust accreditation process should take place to ensure that all providers meet the requirements in full, both at the point of accreditation, and on a continuing basis. However, in September 2022, the Department for Education awarded the RBWM (SCITT) accreditation to deliver ITT from 2024-25 under the new quality requirement process. This is an outstanding achievement for this service.

	Absence data
	2.28	Overall absence is measured by the % of half day sessions missed. COVID restrictions were lifted on attendance from 8th March 2021 for all pupils, four school weeks prior to the end of term. Due to the disruption faced during the spring term, caution should be taken when comparing data to previous years (table 1).



	Table 1: Overall and persistent absence
	Source DfE SFR
		RBWM attendance continues to be better than national.
		RBWM Primary School attendance level has increased in line with national, resulting in a small ranking change from equal 24th Local Authority in 2019 to equal 18th LA in 2021.
		Secondary School attendance level increased slightly compared to 2018/19.  RBWM’s attendance ranking has increased from equal 28th Local Authority in 2019 to equal 21st Local Authority in 2021.
	Persistent Absenteeism
	2.29	A pupil enrolment is identified as a persistent absentee if they miss 10% or more of their possible sessions.

	Education Welfare
	2.30	The Education Welfare Team continue to support schools with persistent absence in schools through a traded service. The service conducts regular attendance/register checks with the allocated school. It provides the school with an allocated Education Welfare Officer who supports the young person, family and school. The service works closely with partner agencies to support and increase school attendance.
	2.31	Schools who do not buy into the service, can contact the Education Welfare Team for advice and guidance. All updated information and guidance is sent to all schools, regardless of buy in status. The Education Welfare Service processes Fixed Penalty Notices on cases from all schools and leads in rare cases where legal action is taken.
	2.32	All RBWM schools can contact the service for advice and guidance on attendance in general. Support from the Child Missing from Education Officer and Elective Home Education Coordinator and legal procedures is provided to all schools, regardless of buy-in into the traded offer.
	2.33	The New “Working Together to Improve School Attendance” was in place from September 2022 and is on target to become statutory from September 2023.  This will mean an end to the current Traded Service as every school in RBWM (including Independent and Special Schools) will have an allocated Education Welfare Officer as a named point of contact. They will support schools strategically regarding attendance and signpost to Local Authority support services for those children and young people with persistent absenteeism (<90%) and become directly involved with cases of severe absenteeism (<50%).
	2.34	The Education Welfare Service will also provide Attendance Support Meetings to all 88 schools (including Independent) in the Borough each full term. The service will provide networking opportunities to share effective practice through Attendance Network Meetings.
	2.35	The allocated EWO and Local Authority will provide legal support and process all Fixed Penalty Notices.
	2.36	Schools will be required to have a robust day to day process for recording, monitoring, and following up attendance. They will be required to share data electronically with the DfE and continue to inform the EWS of pupils not attending regularly or being added to or removed from the roll. Schools will be required to publish their Attendance Policy on their website and have a named Attendance Lead on the Senior Leadership Team.
	2.37	Schools will be required to inform a pupil’s social worker and Virtual School if they have an unexplained absence or leave the school roll. In 2021/22 the LA received funding to resource the Virtual School Head to work with early years settings, schools, colleges, and social care leaders to create a culture of high aspirations that helps all children with social workers to make educational progress
	2.38	Please see appendix 6 for a full breakdown and analysis of the Education and Welfare Service and next steps.

	Permanent exclusions
	2.39	National comparisons relate to 2020/21 academic year and come from the DfE Statistical First Release (SFR). National data for 2021/22 is expected to be published in August 2023.
	2.40	As with 2019/20, while suspensions and permanent exclusions were possible throughout the academic year, covid restrictions will have had an impact on the numbers presented and caution should be taken when comparing across years.
	2.41	The number of permanent exclusions in RBWM has decreased to 18 in 2020/21.
	2.42	The national exclusion rate in 2019/20 (the latest year for which data is available) was 0.05% (i.e. on average 5 students in every 10,000 were permanently excluded).
	2.43	In 2020/21 all RBWM permanent exclusions were in the Secondary phase.

	Next steps
		RBWM schools and Inclusion services to continue working together to support young people to remain in mainstream education where possible via early intervention support and measures.
		SEMH service to continue to support both primary and secondary pupils who are at risk of further suspension/permanent exclusion.
		Inclusion Manager to continue to support children to return to mainstream education following permanent exclusion from school by working closely with RISE alternative provision.
		Social Workers are now invited to attend exclusion hearing meetings. The service will ensure social care colleagues are aware of children at risk of suspension/permanent exclusion.
		As of 2022/23, the virtual school responsibilities are extended to children subject to a Child Protection and Child in Need plans. The inclusion service will join up with the virtual school, ensuring any child open to social care who has received a suspension/permanent exclusion is receiving multi-agency support and professionals are joined up with the support the child is receiving.
	2.44	Please see appendix 2 for a full breakdown and analysis of permanent exclusion for 2021-22 by the service and next steps.

	Elective Home Education
	2.45	In 2020/21 and 2022/23, the Education Welfare Service has seen a significant increase in children and young people being Electively Home Educated (EHE) in RBWM. In 2022/23, a total of 231 children have been recorded as EHE and currently, 193 pupils are on the register and 38 have returned to school. This significant increase in referrals has also been seen nationally with fears about the pandemic given as a factor in many cases.
	2.46	To ensure that all children and young people who are electively home educated are receiving a good level of education, we appointed an additional fixed term, full time position which is currently being funded by a one-off pandemic grant. This will need to be reviewed if the number of children and young people who are home educated does not fall back to pre-pandemic levels so that RBWM continues to fulfil its statutory duty.
	2.47	The local authority has a duty to be satisfied that all young people are receiving a reasonable education. This includes conducting home visits; making virtual calls; liaising with the school and family and involved professionals; chasing the Education Proposal Form; and analysing the returned form to ensure we are satisfied. The DfE have recently supported a local authority in a legal case which has confirmed that the level of assurance needed is higher than just knowing that a child or young person is registered for elective home education.
	2.48	It is important to highlight that the overall number of children and young people who are Electively Home Educated, does not reflect the amount in referrals on a monthly basis. For example, 10 children may return to education and 10 new referrals for home education are received. Whilst the overall number remains the same, a large amount of work is put in to supporting the children, young people and families making the transition to return to school and processing and supporting new notifications.

	Pupil destination
	2.49	The pupil Key Stage 4 (e.g. GCSE) and 5 (e.g. A Level) destinations for 2020/21 are taken from the DfE Statistical First Release.  The key points are:
		Education and employment – at the end of Key Stage 4.  The proportion of RBWM students (95%) that went on to, or remained in, education or employment was similar to national (94%) and South East (94%)
		Types of Institution – at the end of Key Stage 4.  The proportion of RBWM pupils in school sixth forms (56%) continues to be well above national and South East averages (38% and 39%).
		Disadvantaged pupils – at the end of Key Stage 4.  The proportion of disadvantaged students at KS4 in sustained education or employment in RBWM was 92%, above South East and national averages (both 88%).
		Education and employment – at the end of Key Stage 5.  The proportion of students from RBWM (school sixth forms) recorded in sustained education and/or employment in the year after A levels is 89%, three percentage points above the South East and national average.  Nationally and locally the sustained destination rate declined in 2020/21 with lower numbers going into apprenticeships and employment, likely due to the disruption caused by the coronavirus pandemic. The increase in the proportion of students progressing to further education is mainly due to a change in the underlying cohort.
		Disadvantaged pupils – at the end of Key Stage 5.  The proportion of KS5 students in RBWM schools and colleges who were disadvantaged and were in sustained education or employment/training is 68%, just below the national figure. The RBWM disadvantaged cohort at Key Stage 5 is very small, so each student contributes around ½% to the figures.

	Young people Not known to be in Education, Employment & Training (NEET)
	2.50	Figure 1 shows the numbers of RBWM 16–17-year-olds identified as NEET (not in Education, Employment and Training), EET (in Education, Employment and Training) and the number for which the information is unknown from September 2016.
	2.51	The percentage unknown was 9.1% for August 2022 up from 3.7% in August 2021. This is higher than the England average of 7.0% for the same period and places Windsor and Maidenhead in the bottom quintile. The percentage unknown was 3.7% for August 2021. This is higher than the England average of 2.3% for the same period. RBWM now uses the same processes as Richmond and Kingston since moving to Achieving for Children and the proportion of ‘unknown’ has fallen from 19.7% in 2017.
	2.52	There was a very high Not Known in year 2022 compared to year 2021. This is due to the data gaps in collecting the admissions data from Windsor & Maidenhead schools/colleges. It had a very big impact on Windsor & Maidenhead’s performance. We will be working with schools more closely in the future to the collect early admissions data. We have received a warning from the DfE requesting the need for a plan to improve.

	Social Emotional Mental Health Service (SEMH)
	2.53	The SEMH Intervention Service was established in September 2019 to reduce the risk of primary permanent exclusions and increase capacity within the Primary Schools across the Borough.
	2.54	In November 2018, it was agreed by Schools Forum, following a consultation with schools, to complete a 0.5% block transfer from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block to support the SEMH programme.
	2.55	Since then, the service has supported 53 pupils who were at risk of exclusion across all phases of school. Only three pupils who have received support from the service have subsequently been excluded. The coach/mentor has supported all three pupils through their transition to Alternative Provision.
	2.56	The SEMH Coordinator and Inclusion and Access Manager provides a reactive and relational approach to support leaders in schools, to reduce the risk of permanent exclusion for pupils with SEMH and increase capacity within schools.
	2.57	SEMH training has been attended by 863 school staff members and 191 have received follow up or bespoke training including the ITT cohort (Initial Teacher Training).
	2.58	The project has evolved to include a Middle/Secondary/Upper School model that is purchased through a Buy Back initiative.
	2.59	SEMH Network Meetings were launched in September 2021. This is a virtual network meeting for the 133 SEMH Leads across the Borough by providing information sharing, new initiatives of support, examples of good practice and networking opportunities in an easily accessible way. The meetings are well attended and recorded to provide training opportunities and cascading information where necessary.
	2.60	RBWM have purchased 65 Boxall licences for all school settings across the Borough. We are the first Borough to provide this in the country. Each setting has 300 subscriptions and can assess a child as many times as required throughout the academic year. This is tracking the impact of interventions, Education Health and Care Pans (EHCPs) and transition for those children with SEMH across RBWM. This provides a way of tracking SEMH progress throughout a child’s time in school, supports transitions between settings and aid consultation meetings see appendix 3 for service outcomes.

	Next steps
		Continued funding for the SEMH intervention Project concludes July 2025 There are a few other initiatives around SEMH across the Borough which includes an application for SEMH Special School and the SEMH Early Years Hub which will commence in academic Year 2023/24.
		Continued promotion of the Online Boxall Profile targeting secondary provision.
		Continued evaluation of impact of the SEMH Network Meetings through feedback and participation. In addition, the opportunity for two Virtual meetings to act as an SEMH surgery to discuss individual cases.
		Embed the Peer-on-Peer Toolkit with schools and early years settings
	2.61	Please see Appendix 3 for a full breakdown and analysis of the SEMH service.

	SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) Services
	2.62	The SEND Service is responsible for carrying out statutory Education, Health & Care Assessments of children and young people with significant special educational needs in our Borough, and managing a caseload of around 1,100 children and young people with SEN. Its main role is arranging SEN provision and placement for all Children and Young People (CYP) with Education, Health & Care Plans (EHCP) along with coordinating multi-agency EHC Assessments for those CYP who require significant additional educational support.
	Table 3: Primary EHCP need in the Royal Borough
	2.63	The highest frequency primary need in our Borough is Autism, followed by Speech & Language Needs and Social, Emotional and Mental Health Difficulties. See table 2 for full Borough breakdown of need for CYP with EHCPs.
	2.64	Table 3 shows an increase of 8% in EHCPs across the 2022 calendar year. While national statistics are not yet available for this period, the previous year showed an increase across the country of approximately 10% so locally this is not unexpected. This significant and ongoing pressure is most likely to be due to the following factors:
		Pressure on school budgets leading to more requests for EHCPs as a way to access high needs funding.
		An increase in Emotionally Related School Avoidance, in part due to post-pandemic factors
		Difficulties recruiting support staff in schools making it more challenging to effectively meet the needs of all children with additional needs.
		An increase in the complexity of children's needs.
		Ongoing difficulties in accessing key paediatric Health services such as CAMHS and Children's Occupational Therapy.
	2.65	The majority of CYP with EHCPs are placed in state-funded mainstream and special schools and Further Education colleges, with around 39% in mainstream schooling, 23% in state-funded special schools and 14% in Further Education colleges.
	2.66	Around 12% of CYP with EHCPs are educated in the independent sector, which represents the highest cost placements and accounts for 26% of the overall High Needs Block expenditure.
	2.67	The percentage of EHC assessments completed within the 20-week statutory timescale remains in the 80%-100% range across the year, compared to national averages of 60% within timeframes. This includes during the pandemic period. See figure 2 for timeline. We experienced high volume of EHCP submitted by schools during November/December 2022 which impacted our statutory return.
	2.68	Workforce capacity issues continue to be frequently reported by several Local Authorities, with reported impacts on meeting statutory timeframes. This includes Educational Psychology and SEN Team capacity as well as that of health professionals following residual impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic.
	2.69	We have appointed an Annual Review Officer to monitor and improve the completion rate of EHCP reviews and measure our compliance with statutory annual review timeframes.
	2.70	The service will continue to focus on minimising the number of children and young people with an EHCP who are not able to access all of the provision in their EHC Plan.  This typically occurs when schools struggle to provide the required services and relationships breakdown, resulting in the young person not accessing full-time education. The SEND Team challenge this through actions such as:
		Ensuring schools follow the statutory SEN process and arranging interim reviews to discuss placement concerns rather than moving to exclude pupils.
		Closer monitoring of annual reviews to more proactively identify where changes to placements or provision may be needed for SEN pupils.
		Regular monitoring of placements at risk / pupils out of education through fortnightly team discussions.
		Continuing to look for long term placement solutions for those children in interim/alternate placements.

	Resource Base Investments
	2.71	Two Resourced Provisions were opened in September 2021 to support primary and secondary aged pupils who have an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) with ASC as the primary need. One is at the Dedworth First/Middle School campus and the other on the Furze Platt Primary Federation campus.
	2.72	Pupils are expected to eventually spend at least 50% of their time in school in the mainstream classrooms alongside their peers. Additional, bespoke support is provided for the remainder of the time in the Resource Provision, in smaller groups or 1:1.
	2.73	South Ascot Village Primary School’s SEN Unit for pupils with slightly more complex ASC needs is scheduled to open in September 2023. In this base, pupils are likely to be spending more than 50% of their time in the Unit rather than the mainstream school. This provides the time to deliver the additional support that the pupils require.
	2.74	Cabinet has previously approved a new Resourced Provision at Wraysbury Primary School, which is now at the design stage.
	2.75	Proposals for additional new SEND and AP provision are the subject of a separate report to March Cabinet “Special Educational Needs and Alternative Provision Capital Strategy”, along with an update on the bid for a new Special School.
	2.76	The planned additional capacity will ensure that fewer pupils need to be placed in specialist or independent specialist settings, possibly out of Borough.
	2.77	Please see appendix 4 for a full breakdown and analysis of the SEND service and next steps.

	Update of Statement of Action (SEND)
	2.78	A Statement of action was written in response to the 2017 RBWM SEND inspection. After a successful revisit in October 2019, we had shown sufficient progress in 6 of the 8 areas for improvement. We are currently under the Department of Education (DFE) monitoring cycle.
	2.79	Waiting times for Occupational Therapies (OT) and Speech and Language Therapies (SALT) remain an issue both locally and East Berkshire wide. A transformative approach is being implemented in addition to one-off waiting list investments by the Integrated Care Board (ICB).
	2.80	The government is making an unprecedented level of investment in high needs funding with revenue funding increasing by more than 40% between 2019-20 and 2022-23. However, nationally spending is still outstripping funding. Two thirds of local authorities have deficits in their Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) budget because of high needs cost pressures. By the end of 2020- 21, the national deficit was over £1 billion. This would equate to an average deficit across 128 authorities of £7.813M, or an average across the two thirds that have a deficit of £11.765M. RBWM has a planned deficit of £2M by March 2023.
	2.81	RBWM has been invited to be part of the Delivering Better Value (DBV) programme that was announced by the Department for Education (DfE) in February last year. The DBV programme is designed to provide dedicated support and funding to help 55 local authorities with substantial deficit issues in their High Needs Block of the DSG. This aim is to reform their high needs systems, with the aim that more local authorities are on a sustainable footing. LAs are then better placed to respond to the official forthcoming special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND) reforms. There is currently £85m allocated to this programme. A further 14 authorities – with more severe deficits – are engaged in the Safety Valve project which involves contractual arrangements with the DfE.
	2.82	RBWM is currently on WAVE2 of the DBV programme and data collection started in December 2022. This intervention will last through to the Autumn Term. Regular meetings with the provider, Newton, are happening and we are on track with required progress. It is worth noting that this is also taking a great deal of officer time from several services.
	Area SENCo and SEND Strategy
	2.83	A new Five year SEND Strategy was created through consultation with key stakeholders, including parents and carers and has now been published. It will be launched at the Inclusion Summit February 2023.
	2.84	The SEND Steering Board continues to be a multi-agency Board with representation from parents and carers, schools, LA SEND and education services as well as social care and health. SEND Strategy Implementation work streams report directly to the board.
	2.85	The SEND data dashboard is regularly updated and monitored. The data gathered reflects information from a wide variety of services and external providers. Through these multi-agency meetings there is opportunity for support and challenge as well as analysis of trends and action planning as a result. This robust process will continue.
	2.86	After our Council Disability for Children training, it was identified the SEND data was focused on service evaluation. Alongside this, new outcome led approaches have been added to give intelligence on the lived experience of RBWM residents.
	2.87	The Area SENCo and our SEND Consultant are currently working on improving our SEND services by building a community of practice through initiatives to; support SENCos, share good practice and celebrate inclusion. (appendix: 5).
	These include:

	Summary of key priorities
	2.88	Based on the analysis above, the following items are the key priorities for the Council to continue to ensure that all pupils in the Borough get a Good education.

	Options

	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	Table 6: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The level of overspend in the High Needs services remains unaffordable for the Council, therefore, it is important that all local partners continue to work to bring the cost of high needs services back in line with the Government grant allocation.
	4.2	The budget relies on: promoting independence and use of the local education offer; managing increasing demand for services through increased early intervention; working with partners to ensure that everyone involved in a child’s education is confident in supporting children with additional needs; and increasing the amount of local provision, ensuring that provision is aligned to need.
	4.3	The financial trajectory will need to be carefully monitored in 2022/23 and 2023/24 to ensure that the level of spending on education services is affordable. Schools Forum and schools will have a clear role in monitoring the position and in implementing the plans in partnership
	4.4	The DSG conditions of grant requires that any Local Authority with an overall deficit on its DSG account, or whose DSG surplus has substantially reduced during the year, must be able to present a plan to the Department for Education (DfE) for managing their future DSG spend.
	4.5	As part of future budget setting 2024/25 historic cross charging between the DSG and General Fund will be considered with the expectation of services being realigned accordingly. This will ensure full compliance with regulations.
	4.6	Based on current demand, pricing and estimated future grant funding the current projected cumulative deficit for the DSG by 31st March 2023 is in the region of £2m.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this report.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Climate change/sustainability.  There are no climate change/sustainability risks arising from this report.
	7.2	Data Protection/GDPR.  There are no data protection or GDPR implications arising from this report.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	No consultation has been required for the completion of this report. Consultation will be carried out with stakeholders such as Youth Council and Parents for ongoing improvements.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1.1	No implementations arising from this report.

	APPENDICES
	9.1.2	This report is supported by 6 appendices:
	Contained in paper copies

	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	9.1.3	This report is supported by no background documents:

	10.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix E: Equality Impact Assessment
	For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk


	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	1.	Appendix 4: Education, Health and Care Plans
	Brief Description of Service
	1.1	Carrying out statutory Education, Health & Care Assessments of children and young people with significant special educational needs. Arranging the SEN provision and placement for all CYP with Education, Health & Care Plans. This involves a high level of communication with schools, families and partner services.

	Data Outputs
	1.2	The number of EHC Plans continues to increase significantly, although RBWM is helping to that ensure the rate of increase remains below the national trend.
	1.3	The highest frequency primary need by some distance is Autism, followed by Speech & Language Needs and Social, Emotional and Mental Health Difficulties.
	1.4	There continue to be many more EHCPs for boys than girls, this in line with national statistics.
	Chart showing breakdown of EHCPs by National Curriculum Year of pupil
	1.5	EHCP numbers increase through primary phase, remain more constant during secondary and reduce after age 16 as young people start to leave education.
	Table showing breakdown of EHCPs by type of placement
	1.6	The majority of CYP with EHCPs are placed in state-funded mainstream and special schools and Further Education colleges, with around 39% in mainstream schooling, 23% in state-funded special schools and 14% in FE college. Around 12% of CYP with EHCPs are educated in the independent sector, which tends to be higher cost.
	Chart showing number of EHCP assessment requests received, by month
	1.7	The LA continues to receive a high number of requests for EHC Assessments across the year.
	Chart showing % of EHCP assessments completed within statutory timeframe
	1.8	The LA continues to complete the vast majority of EHC Assessments within the statutory 20-week timeframe, compared to the national average of 60% within timeframes.

	Next steps
	1.9	With the employment of a SEN Data Officer and a dedicated Annual Review Officer, we have developed our recording, monitoring and reporting of a range of SEN data. This is necessary both for improving our services and for meeting statutory data obligations.
	1.10	We will continue to focus on minimising the number of CYP missing education across all age ranges.



	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6

	9 Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	The adopted Borough Local Plan (BLP) places great importance on ensuring that development is sustainable, and that it positively contributes towards the qualities and character of the Borough.  The Plan’s Spatial Vision states that: "...development will be expected to promote sustainability and add to the special qualities of the Borough through high quality design, effective and efficient use of land and protection of valued heritage, natural and other assets."
	2.2	To assist in implementing the Spatial Vision, BLP Policy QP1 (Sustainability and Placemaking) introduces a requirement for the preparation of ‘stakeholder masterplans’ for developments that will deliver 100 or more net new dwellings, or more than 5,000 sq. m of employment or mixed use floorspace. The supporting text to Policy QP1 explains that the stakeholder masterplanning process formalises good practice in relation to pre-application discussions, by requiring developers of larger sites to engage with the Council, local community, and other stakeholders at an early stage in the development process.
	2.3	The developer is responsible for preparing the Stakeholder Masterplan Document (SMD).  In summary, the process involves:
	2.4	The last stage in the process is for the final SMD to be presented to Cabinet, with a recommendation that the document be approved as an important material consideration for Development Management purposes.
	2.5	The remainder of this Cabinet report addresses the process of preparing the SMD for Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document, the content of the SMD, and the next steps.
	2.6	The Sawyers Close site is not a housing allocation site in the Borough Local Plan. It comprises four eight-storey towers, built in the 1960s, located about 2km to the west of Windsor town centre.  It currently consists of 192 flats.  However, as the developer of the site is proposing around 230 net new homes (around 421 in total), the development passes the threshold for the policy requirement for a Stakeholder Masterplan Document as described above.
	2.7	Abri (developer/housing association) propose to make all the homes on site affordable, including shared ownership. The approval of the SMD will therefore support the Corporate Plan priorities of creating a sustainable borough of opportunity and innovation, helping to create a ladder of housing opportunity and empowering and enabling our residents, communities, and businesses to maximise their potential.
	2.8	Extensive pre-application discussion and engagement has already taken place regarding the proposed development of the site. Abri and Savills (planning agent) began pre-application and initial concept discussions in May 2021. Stakeholder (local community, interest groups, elected Councillors and Council officers) and community consultation took place throughout the Summer of 2021 with a series of events encouraging feedback on development proposals.
	2.9	In March 2022, Abri conducted a Sawyers Close Future Homes Survey which asked residents a series of detailed questions about the homes they live in now, and the kinds of places that they would like to live in in the future. Almost half of all households responded to the Survey, providing information on their accommodation preferences, including bigger balconies, more storage space and private gardens.
	2.10	Following on from the Future Homes Survey, Abri held a further stakeholder and community consultation event in April and May of 2022 which focused on discussions with current residents of Sawyers Close. Across two days, 90 people attended in person sessions with the project team with 87% of respondents either strongly supporting or supporting the proposed new layout of the site.
	2.11	Another consultation event was held on 25 June 2022 at which the project team presented further refined proposal at a public exhibition. The event was split into three parts, one for Councillors, one for current residents and one for the wider community, with 144 attendees across the day. Feedback was again overwhelmingly positive.
	2.12	With the recommendations of Officers at RBWM, Abri then presented its evolving proposals to an independent Design Review Panel (DRP) of architects, landscapers, planners and sustainability consultants. The feedback received has been incorporated into the design of the proposed development on site.
	2.13	A draft SMD document was then prepared and submitted to the Council for review on 14 December 2022. Following feedback from Council Officers on the draft SMD, Abri began a formal four-week community consultation on 9 January 2023, which closed on 13 February 2023. A dedicated project website (https://www.sawyersclose.com/news/consultation-on-draft-stakeholder-masterplan/) was set up along with an email address and phoneline was set up to enable community members to engage with the project team.
	2.14	Three in person drop-in sessions relating to the SMD consultation were held on the Sawyers Close site on Thursday 19 January, Tuesday 24 January, and Tuesday 7 February.
	2.15	The Abri/Savills project team have also met with officers on several occasions over the course of the last 6 months, to discuss particular aspects of the project in more detail.
	2.16	The SMD produced provides a description of the site and a summary of the planning policy context; summarises the stakeholder and community engagement events that have been carried out, and the responses received during the engagement phase. It sets out a series of development objectives for the site; identifies the principal opportunities and constraints associated with the site; and outlines the development/design principles that will guide the future development of the site.
	2.17	Some of the main SMD objectives and principles to highlight, include:
		An increase in the level of biodiversity within the site via the creation of ecological corridors to complement the existing green infrastructure at the site.
		A commitment to ensuring that a minimum of 10% Biodiversity Net Gain is achieved. Retention and enhancement of as many existing trees on site as possible with new trees planted.
		A network of pedestrian and cycle routes provided through the site, accessible to and by all, and the creation of a clear street hierarchy that prioritises pedestrians and cyclists. Futureproofing of the cycle infrastructure by making sure it joins with a proposed cycle lane along Maidenhead Road.
		The creation of character areas in the scheme that will reflect the local context to support placemaking. Including the development of spaces at junctions of key routes within the masterplan to become nodal points, using key moves such as increased heights, changed landscaped features to create placemaking within the scheme.
		Ensuring that existing residents living at the site will only need to move once during the construction process.
		A new re-provided Community Centre with improved facilities making it available to the wider community. A re-established Community Garden and Community Orchard
		A comprehensive drainage strategy including a new drainage basin and the creation of shallow swales and rain gardens to create additional areas of water retention.
	2.18	Abri/Savills received 6 responses to the online survey and 17 emails during the consultation. Section 7 of the SMD includes a summary of those representations and a response to them.
	2.19	A copy of the final SMD, as recommended for approval for Development   Management purposes, is attached as Appendix C.
	2.20	The main changes made to the SMD, as a result of the consultation feedback, include:
	2.21	Overall, the Stakeholder Masterplanning process has been generally well received by residents and other stakeholders. There are two outstanding issues with the SMD that have not yet been fully resolved. These are as follows:
	These matters will need to be addressed at the planning application stage.
	2.22	Moving forward, and subject to Cabinet approving the SMD for Development Management purposes, Abri/Savills will prepare and submit a planning application later in 2023.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The hosting of the engagement sessions, publicity, drafting of the SMD, and organisation of the consultation, were all the responsibility of Abri/Savills (albeit with guidance and input from Council officers and their advisors).
	4.2	A Planning Performance Agreement was agreed with Abri which includes the financial resources needed to account for the Stakeholder Masterplanning process.
	4.3	Funding for this work has therefore all been contained within existing resources and has not required additional funding from the Council.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document will not form part of the Development Plan in the Royal Borough.  It would not have the same weight as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) produced in accordance with Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.
	5.2	SMDs are effectively the first stage in the development process on the larger housing sites within the Borough (in effect an expanded pre-application submission, but with added public engagement intended to allow residents to have an input into the development of the sites). We are therefore expecting the developer at Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document to come forward with a planning application(s) which would be based upon the SMD following the adoption of the SMD by Cabinet.
	5.3	In light of the community engagement and consultation undertaken in relation to the SMD, some weight must already be attributed to the SMD, but in accordance with the process prescribed in the BLP, and to Abri/Savills confidence that the Council is supportive of the design objectives and design principles in the SMD, Officers are recommending that Cabinet formally approves the SMD as an important material consideration for Development Management purposes.
	5.4	This is a process that will be repeated for other housing sites within the borough in order to comply with policy QP1. The Land West of Windsor site had its SMD adopted by Cabinet in October 2021, Spencer’s Farm in July 2022, and Land east of Woodlands Park Avenue in January 2023.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. Officers consider that the SMD for Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document meets the Basic Conditions in relation to human rights requirements.
	The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council to ensure that when considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service, or procedure the impacts on particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups, have been considered.
	An EQIA screening form has been completed and signed by the relevant Head of Service. An EQIA screening form has been completed and signed by the relevant Head of Service. The recommendations in this report have no identified equality impacts. The EQIA screening form is available below in Appendix A.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. The SMD aligns with the policies and requirements of the BLP, which was subject to Sustainability Appraisal/ Strategic Environmental Assessment.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. The consultation on the draft SMD was undertaken by Bellway/Turley. Any sensitive information shared with Officers was handled in accordance with the GPDR regulations and the statement on the way the Planning Policy team handles personal data.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	The process of engagement and consultation on the draft SMD for Sawyers Close Stakeholder Masterplan Document is described above.  Officers believe that the form and amount of engagement is as envisaged by the BLP (in relation to the preparation of SMDs) and accords with the principles set out in the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by 3 appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by 2 background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix B
	Structure Bookmarks
	SAWYERS CLOSE
	SAWYERS CLOSE
	SAWYERS CLOSE
	SAWYERS CLOSE

	STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT
	STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT
	STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT


	FOR ADOPTION
	FOR ADOPTION
	FOR ADOPTION


	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	24 FEBRUARY 2023
	24 FEBRUARY 2023
	24 FEBRUARY 2023


	Figure
	CONTENTS
	CONTENTS

	3 INTRODUCTION
	3 INTRODUCTION
	3 INTRODUCTION
	4 Purpose of this Document
	5 CONTEXT
	6 Site Description & Location
	7 Existing Site
	8 Planning Policy Context
	9 STAKEHOLDER & COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
	10 Approach to Community Engagement
	11 Responding to Wider Community Interest and feedback
	12 Project Timeline of Engagement
	13 Pre-App 01 - Initial Concept
	14.Pre-App.02.-.Refined.Masterplan
	15 Future Homes Survey
	16.April./.May.2022.on.site.Consultation.Event
	17.Pre-App.03.-.Masterplan
	18 June 25th 2022 Consultation Event
	19 Pre-App 04 - Architectural Design
	20 Design Review Panel (DRP) 
	21.Masterplan.History.Overview
	22 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES
	23.Defining.the.Objectives
	26.Access.And.Movement.Objectives
	27 Ecology & Drainage
	29.Placemaking.&.Built.Form.Objectives
	31.Social.Objectives
	35 CONSTRAINTS & OPPORTUNITIES
	36 Site Constraints
	37.Site.Opportunities
	38 STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN PRINCIPLES
	39 Ecology & Drainage Strategies
	40.Access.And.Movement.Strategies
	42.Placemaking.&.Massing.Strategies
	43 Placemaking & Built Form Strategies
	45 Social Strategies
	46.Sawyers.Close.Masterplan.-.January.2023.Design
	47 DESIGN UPDATED - PROPOSED MASTERPLAN FOR APPROVAL
	48 Consultation
	49 Design Updates
	55.Sawyers.Close.Masterplan.-.February.2023.Design
	58 The Flourish Wheel


	Figure
	01
	01

	INTRODUCTION
	INTRODUCTION

	PURPOSE OF THIS DOCUMENT
	PURPOSE OF THIS DOCUMENT

	INTRODUCTION
	INTRODUCTION

	This.Stakeholder.Masterplan.Document.(SMD).provides.information.on the Sawyers Close redevelopment proposals and provides a masterplan that development at the site should generally accord with. The completed community and public engagement, along with the site’s constraints, opportunities and design principles have informed the objectives for the masterplan and redevelopment of the site.
	This.Stakeholder.Masterplan.Document.(SMD).provides.information.on the Sawyers Close redevelopment proposals and provides a masterplan that development at the site should generally accord with. The completed community and public engagement, along with the site’s constraints, opportunities and design principles have informed the objectives for the masterplan and redevelopment of the site.
	This.Stakeholder.Masterplan.Document.has.been.prepared.to.present.the.final.masterplan.for.the.redevelopment.of.the.site..It.will.become an adopted document which the future redevelopment of the site shall seek to broadly accord with. The masterplan for the site has been informed by the development objectives, the site's.specific.constraints.and.opportunities,.feedback.received.through the comprehensive stakeholder engagement that Abri has undertaken with its customers and the wider community, plus feedback
	It is important to note that it may be necessary for design changes to be made to the scheme and the masterplan ahead of and during the planning application process. Abri remain committed to delivering the redevelopment of Sawyers Close to align broadly with the.masterplan.presented.in.the.SMD.which.will.form.the.basis.of.its.planning.application.that.will.be.submitted.to.RBWM.

	Figure
	02
	02

	CONTEXT
	CONTEXT

	SITE DESCRIPTION & LOCATION
	SITE DESCRIPTION & LOCATION

	CONTEXT
	CONTEXT

	Figure
	Sawyers Close (the site) is located within Windsor and the Royal Borough.of.Windsor.and.Maidenhead..The.site.is.bound.to.the.north.by.Maidenhead.Road.(A308).and.to.the.south.by.Thames.Mead.Road. The eastern boundary is bordered by open space, and the western boundary is formed by Smiths Lane. The area surrounding the site is predominately residential.
	Sawyers Close (the site) is located within Windsor and the Royal Borough.of.Windsor.and.Maidenhead..The.site.is.bound.to.the.north.by.Maidenhead.Road.(A308).and.to.the.south.by.Thames.Mead.Road. The eastern boundary is bordered by open space, and the western boundary is formed by Smiths Lane. The area surrounding the site is predominately residential.
	Sawyers Close is approximately 2km west of Windsor town centre which is served by two train stations. The site is immediately adjacent to bus stops on Smiths Lane which provide services to Windsor town centre, Slough town centre and Heathrow Airport T5. The.site.also.has.good.access.to.the.M4.(via.the.A332).

	KEY
	KEY

	Site 
	Site 
	Motorway.(M4)
	A Road
	B Road 
	Train line
	Train station
	Cycle routes
	Bus route
	Local Central
	Recreation ground
	Public.Open.Green.Space
	Green.space
	Allotments
	Hospital
	Education 
	Tourist attraction

	EXISTING SITE
	EXISTING SITE

	CONTEXT
	CONTEXT

	Sawyers.Close.consists.of.four.blocks;.Grasmere,.Winwood,.Broadleys and Hale. Each block is an eight-storey tower, built around.1962-66.and.containing.48.flats..There.is.a.total.of.192.residential.flats,.an.office,.community.rooms.and.83.garages.
	Sawyers.Close.consists.of.four.blocks;.Grasmere,.Winwood,.Broadleys and Hale. Each block is an eight-storey tower, built around.1962-66.and.containing.48.flats..There.is.a.total.of.192.residential.flats,.an.office,.community.rooms.and.83.garages.
	At present, the public views of Sawyers Close are dominated by car parking, the layout of the garages gives rise to anti-social behaviour and.homes.are.disconnected.from.the.street..Each.existing.flat.has.only a small external private amenity area and there is currently a lack of safe and secure communal amenity for residents.

	2
	2
	2


	1
	1
	1


	Figure
	Figure
	View from Smiths Lane
	View from Smiths Lane
	View from Smiths Lane


	View from Smiths Lane
	View from Smiths Lane
	View from Smiths Lane


	Figure
	Figure
	3
	3
	3


	4
	4
	4


	Figure
	A308.Maidenhead.Road
	A308.Maidenhead.Road

	Grasmere
	Grasmere

	Broadleys
	Broadleys

	3
	3
	3


	4
	4
	4


	6
	6
	6


	1
	1
	1


	Smiths Lane
	Smiths Lane

	View from East Site Entrance
	View from East Site Entrance
	View from East Site Entrance


	View from East Site Entrance
	View from East Site Entrance
	View from East Site Entrance


	Whiteley
	Whiteley

	Hale
	Hale

	2
	2
	2


	Figure
	Figure
	5
	5
	5


	6
	6
	6


	Dedworth.Manor.Park
	Dedworth.Manor.Park

	Aston.Mead
	Aston.Mead

	Winwood
	Winwood

	Burnetts Road
	Burnetts Road

	5
	5
	5


	Thames.Mead
	Thames.Mead

	Dedworth Manor
	Dedworth Manor

	New Windsor Community Centre
	New Windsor Community Centre

	Harcourt Road
	Harcourt Road

	View from East Site Entrance
	View from East Site Entrance
	View from East Site Entrance


	View from Dedworth Manor Open Space
	View from Dedworth Manor Open Space
	View from Dedworth Manor Open Space


	PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT
	PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT

	The.Royal.Borough.of.Windsor.and.Maidenhead.(RBWM).adopted.the Borough Local Plan in February 2022. The Borough Local Plan is to guide future development in the Borough. It sets out a spatial strategy and policies for managing development and infrastructure in the area up to 2033.
	The.Royal.Borough.of.Windsor.and.Maidenhead.(RBWM).adopted.the Borough Local Plan in February 2022. The Borough Local Plan is to guide future development in the Borough. It sets out a spatial strategy and policies for managing development and infrastructure in the area up to 2033.
	The.full.planning.application.will.be.submitted.to.RBWM..RBWM.is.the.local planning authority and will determine the planning application. 
	Policy.QP1:.Sustainability.and.Placemaking.requires.that.sites.bringing.forward developments of 100+ net new dwellings will be expected to be in conformity with the adopted stakeholder masterplan for the site.
	The stakeholder masterplanning process formalises good practice in.relation.to.pre-application.discussions,.by.requiring.developers.of.larger sites to engage with the Council, local community and other stakeholders at an early stage in the development process.
	As part of the planning process, the applicant is responsible for preparing the stakeholder masterplan document. The Council will work with applicant to agree the scope and form of the stakeholder masterplan document and help to ensure that the process adds value to placemaking.
	The.Borough.Local.Plan.identifies.the.main.stages.of.the.stakeholder.masterplanning process. This stakeholder masterplan document provides details of the different stages that Abri has completed and provides.details.of.how.Abri.will.meet.the.requirements.of.the.Borough.Local.Plan:
	- How Abri has engaged with the Council and other stakeholders on key issues, priorities for Abri's customers and development options
	- How Abri has prepared this stakeholder masterplan document
	- The way Abri will consult on the stakeholder masterplan document
	- How Abri will consider consultation responses
	Abri.consulted.on.a.draft.Stakeholder.Masterplan.Document.for.28.days in January – February 2023. Following this consultation, Abri has reviewed.the.consultation.feedback.in.order.to.prepare.this.final.stakeholder masterplan document. This document sets out in later sections how the consultation feedback has informed changes to the masterplan.layout.and.influenced.this.final.stakeholder.masterplan..
	This.final.stakeholder.masterplan.is.to.be.submitted.to.RBWM..It.will.be.presented.to.RBWM.cabinet.for.approval..Should.the.cabinet.approve this stakeholder masterplan, it will become an Approved Stakeholder.Masterplan.as.required.by.Policy.QP1..
	Abri’s proposal to re-develop the Sawyers Close site will broadly accord.with.the.Adopted.Stakeholder.Masterplan.

	03
	03

	STAKEHOLDER & COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
	STAKEHOLDER & COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

	APPROACH TO COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
	APPROACH TO COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.ENGAGEMENT
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.ENGAGEMENT

	Abri’s priority is to provide their customers at Sawyers Close with access.to.safe,.affordable,.quality.homes;.placing.the.customer.at.the heart of their consultation on the future of the estate has been key to their engagement strategy.
	Abri’s priority is to provide their customers at Sawyers Close with access.to.safe,.affordable,.quality.homes;.placing.the.customer.at.the heart of their consultation on the future of the estate has been key to their engagement strategy.
	Abri want their customers to own the outcome of this redevelopment, take pride in their new homes, feel that they have contributed to what will be delivered and, ultimately, to rebuild a resilient and sustainable community. During the engagement process, Abri have adopted a fully transparent and multi-stage consultation programme that started.with.the.fundamental.question.‘Do.you.want.to.see.Sawyers.Close redeveloped?’ and has since engaged with its customers on a range of topics, including the detailed des
	Each stage of consultation has been informed by feedback from the previous stage. Abri have taken care to explain how customers’ comments have been incorporated into the emerging designs.
	We.have:
	• Launched a project website
	• Conducted a Future Homes Survey amongst our customers
	• Run a series of Customer Information Sessions
	• Hosted a public exhibition for customers, stakeholders and    the wider community
	We updated our website in January 2023 to present the updated designs and to consult with the community on the Stakeholder Masterplan.for.Sawyers.Close..We.also.held.drop-in.sessions.for.those.who.have.difficulty.in.accessing.the.documents.online..This.formed.part.of.our.final.pre-application.engagement.with.customers.and.the.community prior to the submission of a planning application later in 2023.

	Figure
	RESPONDING TO WIDER COMMUNITY INTEREST AND FEEDBACK
	RESPONDING TO WIDER COMMUNITY INTEREST AND FEEDBACK

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.ENGAGEMENT
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.ENGAGEMENT

	Responding to wider community interest
	Responding to wider community interest

	Figure
	Abri recognise that the delivery of new homes at Sawyers Close could affect the wider community. As such, Abri has sought to regularly engage.with.both.the.leadership.and.Ward.Councillors.at.RBWM..This.engagement has included one-to-one meetings as well as invitations to attend all of the consultation and engagement meetings.
	Abri recognise that the delivery of new homes at Sawyers Close could affect the wider community. As such, Abri has sought to regularly engage.with.both.the.leadership.and.Ward.Councillors.at.RBWM..This.engagement has included one-to-one meetings as well as invitations to attend all of the consultation and engagement meetings.
	Abri invited those living in the vicinity of Sawyers Close and beyond to a public exhibition held in June 2022. The engagement was phased in this way so that Abri could initially work closely with customers on the design of their homes, the community spaces and facilities within Sawyers Close. With those discussions well-progressed, Abri was then in a position to meet the wider community to discuss the broader issues of interest. In this way, Abri have sought to ensure that everyone has.sufficient.access.to

	Responding to feedback
	Responding to feedback

	Feedback has been crucial to developing an emerging scheme that carries with it the support of our customers. To encourage participation and reassure people that their voice would be heard, Abri made key commitments to its customers at the outset. While redevelopment was the preferred option, no decisions would be taken without prior consultation.
	Feedback has been crucial to developing an emerging scheme that carries with it the support of our customers. To encourage participation and reassure people that their voice would be heard, Abri made key commitments to its customers at the outset. While redevelopment was the preferred option, no decisions would be taken without prior consultation.
	The.initial.consultation.questions.were.very.broad..For.example,.finding.out.what.people.liked.and.didn’t.like.about.living.on.the.estate..A.final.question.asked.people.how.they.would.feel.about.redevelopment of the entire estate to which 84% responded being ‘very.pleased’.
	Abri’s customer information sessions enabled attendees to view and feedback on a range of topics, from illustrative internal layouts of the new homes, to proposed residential amenity space and children’s play areas.
	Customers.told.us.that.they:
	• Supported the proposed layout of the development and the internal plans for the new homes; views were mixed on the proposed open plan living/kitchen spaces.
	•.Wanted.to.see.sufficient.space.for.storage.inside.their.homes.and.on the balconies.
	• Were keen to see more community space.
	We also gathered further information on household types and age of children.which.would.then.influence.the.future.housing.mix.
	At our public exhibition in June, we were able to respond to all of the above..We.showed:
	• A higher proportion of family homes, with all the houses being 3- and.4-bed,.reflecting.more.detail.received.on.household.types.and.age of children.
	• Locations for the reprovision of the community garden and orchard.
	• Detail on the proposed new community spaces.
	• Bigger apartments, with separate kitchens and living spaces.
	144 people attended on the 25th June 2022, with an even split between people living at Sawyers Close and neighbours/councillors. 73% of respondents were either strongly supportive or supportive of the proposals. A common theme from nearby residents was that there should be greater compromise in terms of how the redevelopment would minimise impacts on Smiths Lane.
	• Neighbours have expressed concern at the potential loss of parking spaces and access to the new estate from Smiths Lane.
	• The loss of the open space to the south of Sawyers Close and potential massing along Smiths Lane were also cited as concerns. 
	The project team has sought to address these concerns through its updated.design.which.has.been.refined.through.further.engagement.with.officers.at.RBWM..

	PROJECT TIMELINE OF ENGAGEMENT
	PROJECT TIMELINE OF ENGAGEMENT

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.ENGAGEMENT
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.ENGAGEMENT

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	October 2022
	October 2022

	May 2021
	May 2021

	January 2021
	January 2021

	July 2021
	July 2021

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	March 2022
	March 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	July 2022
	July 2022

	December 2022
	December 2022

	January 2023
	January 2023

	February 2023
	February 2023

	August 2022
	August 2022

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	On.site.Consultation Events
	On.site.Consultation Events

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	PRE-APP 01 - INITIAL CONCEPT
	PRE-APP 01 - INITIAL CONCEPT

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION

	January 2021
	January 2021

	July 2021
	July 2021

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	March 2022
	March 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	July 2022
	July 2022

	December 2022
	December 2022

	January 2023
	January 2023

	February 2023
	February 2023

	August 2022
	August 2022

	October 2022
	October 2022

	May 2021
	May 2021

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	On.site.Consultation Events
	On.site.Consultation Events

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Figure
	Project Summary (at this stage):
	Project Summary (at this stage):

	416
	416

	Total New Homes
	Total New Homes

	Total Houses
	Total Houses

	Total Apartments
	Total Apartments

	Tallest Building
	Tallest Building

	27
	27

	389
	389

	9
	9

	3B6P
	3B6P

	1B2P, 2B4P & 3B5P
	1B2P, 2B4P & 3B5P

	Storeys
	Storeys

	Notes:
	Notes:
	Notes:

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 
	1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 
	2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	3B5P = 3 bedrooms 5 persons home
	3B5P = 3 bedrooms 5 persons home


	• 
	• 
	• 

	3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home
	3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home




	Feedback received:
	Feedback received:

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Maidenhead.Road.interface.should.be.improved

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Reduce car parking on streets

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Extend the central green 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Preference for lower scale blocks

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Create more family homes



	Information completed following meeting:
	Information completed following meeting:

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Tree Survey



	PRE-APP 02 - REFINED MASTERPLAN
	PRE-APP 02 - REFINED MASTERPLAN

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	July 2021
	July 2021

	June 2022
	June 2022

	January 2021
	January 2021

	May 2021
	May 2021

	October 2022
	October 2022

	August 2022
	August 2022

	February 2023
	February 2023

	January 2023
	January 2023

	December 2022
	December 2022

	March 2022
	March 2022

	July 2022
	July 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	On.site.Consultation Events
	On.site.Consultation Events

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	Figure
	Project Summary (at this stage):
	Project Summary (at this stage):

	417
	417

	Total New Homes
	Total New Homes

	Total Houses
	Total Houses

	Tallest Building
	Tallest Building

	Total Apartments
	Total Apartments

	9
	9

	363
	363

	54
	54

	1B2P & 2B4P
	1B2P & 2B4P

	Storeys
	Storeys

	2B4P & 3B6P
	2B4P & 3B6P

	Notes:
	Notes:
	Notes:

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 
	1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 
	2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home
	3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home




	Feedback received:
	Feedback received:

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The principle of redevelopment is supported

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The.benefits.of.the.proposal.should.be.articulated.to.justify.the.loss.of.some.open.space

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Proposed building heights of up to 9 storeys could appear overly dominant and heights should be reconsidered

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Under-croft./.podium.parking.leads.to.poor.activation.of.street.scene.at.ground.floor.level.and.more.active.frontages.are.required

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Housing.mix.and.tenure.mix.required.justification

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Cycle parking should be increased and car parking numbers to be considered further

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Landscape.proposals.require.further.development.and.input.from.a.landscape.architect

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Overall.the.emerging.scheme.considered.acceptable.subject.to.looking.at.more.detail..



	Information completed following meeting:
	Information completed following meeting:

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Utilities Survey



	FUTURE HOMES SURVEY
	FUTURE HOMES SURVEY

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION

	June 2022
	June 2022

	July 2022
	July 2022

	December 2022
	December 2022

	January 2023
	January 2023

	February 2023
	February 2023

	August 2022
	August 2022

	October 2022
	October 2022

	May 2021
	May 2021

	January 2021
	January 2021

	July 2021
	July 2021

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	March 2022
	March 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	On.site.Consultation Events
	On.site.Consultation Events

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	Figure
	In.March.2022,.Abri’s.Future.Homes.Survey.asked.their.customers.a.series.of.detailed.questions.about.the.homes.they.live.in.now,.and.the kind of places that they would like to have in the future. Abri was keen to ensure that what was shown at the Customer Information Sessions.(the.first.in-person.event).would.resonate.with.customers.and.reflect.their.current.living.conditions.
	In.March.2022,.Abri’s.Future.Homes.Survey.asked.their.customers.a.series.of.detailed.questions.about.the.homes.they.live.in.now,.and.the kind of places that they would like to have in the future. Abri was keen to ensure that what was shown at the Customer Information Sessions.(the.first.in-person.event).would.resonate.with.customers.and.reflect.their.current.living.conditions.
	We.asked.about:
	•.The.home:.which.block.and.floor;.number.of.bedrooms;.number.of.occupants; type of bathroom; comments on home.
	•.The.household:.ownership.status;.mobility.needs;.vehicle.ownership;.remote working; pets; most used facilities; opinion on current home matching needs.
	•.Desired.future.home:.space.requirements;.likely.number.of.occupants and age groups; future bedrooms need; open plan living space or separate rooms; balcony; proximity to existing neighbours.
	•.Desired.future.features:.communal.facilities;.sustainability.
	Almost half (47%) of all households responded to the Future Homes Survey. Abri received a wealth of useful information on how their customers live now and more about how they would like to live in the future..In.terms.of.future.homes,.the.major.requests.were.for.bigger.balconies, more storage space, separate living spaces and private gardens.
	When asked what communal facilities people would like to see, there was a strong emphasis on communal space for activities and social events.

	APRIL / MAY 2022 ON SITE CONSULTATION EVENTS
	APRIL / MAY 2022 ON SITE CONSULTATION EVENTS

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION

	June 2022
	June 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	July 2022
	July 2022

	December 2022
	December 2022

	January 2023
	January 2023

	March 2022
	March 2022

	February 2023
	February 2023

	October 2022
	October 2022

	May 2021
	May 2021

	January 2021
	January 2021

	July 2021
	July 2021

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	August 2022
	August 2022

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	On site Consultation Events
	On site Consultation Events

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	The.late.April.early.May.stakeholder.and.community.consultation.events focused on discussions with current residents of Sawyers Close and.followed.on.from.the.Future.Homes.Survey.carried.out.in.March.2022. 
	The.late.April.early.May.stakeholder.and.community.consultation.events focused on discussions with current residents of Sawyers Close and.followed.on.from.the.Future.Homes.Survey.carried.out.in.March.2022. 
	The.first.event.was.held.at.the.Pump.Room.community.space.at.Sawyers.Close,.the.second.was.held.at.the.Manor.Youth.Centre.nearby. Abri customers were invited to book a session to speak with the project team. Across the two days, 90 people attended. 
	Details of the proposals were also made available on the Sawyers Close.website.(sawyersclose.com).and.by.post.on.request.for.anyone.who couldn’t attend the events. 
	People providing responses were divided over whether they liked the proposed open plan interiors. Nine respondents expressed preferences for separate kitchens and living spaces, whereas seven liked the open plan layouts shown. 
	Further.popular.requests.included.the.possibility.of.a.new.community.space.and.that.sufficient.storage.was.provided.to.replace.the.existing.garages.

	Figure
	Figure
	Quotes.from.the.residents'.feedback
	Quotes.from.the.residents'.feedback

	“Very nice internal plans.”
	“Very nice internal plans.”
	“Very nice internal plans.”
	“Very nice internal plans.”



	“A new community room, 
	“A new community room, 
	“A new community room, 
	“A new community room, 
	where would it go?”



	“More kitchen storage. Space for 
	“More kitchen storage. Space for 
	“More kitchen storage. Space for 
	“More kitchen storage. Space for 
	dishwasher/tumble dryer. More than 1 lift 
	in big block. Visitor parking. Children clubs/
	centre.”



	Figure
	Figure
	“Love the open plan.”
	“Love the open plan.”
	“Love the open plan.”
	“Love the open plan.”



	“Not keen on open kitchen 
	“Not keen on open kitchen 
	“Not keen on open kitchen 
	“Not keen on open kitchen 
	and living space.”



	87%
	87%

	“Appears to have plenty of 
	“Appears to have plenty of 
	“Appears to have plenty of 
	“Appears to have plenty of 
	storage space which is an 
	issue in old flats.”



	Positive Feedback
	Positive Feedback

	Attendees
	Attendees

	Responses
	Responses

	87% of respondents either 'strongly supported' or 'supported' the new layout
	87% of respondents either 'strongly supported' or 'supported' the new layout

	90
	90

	40
	40

	Sawyers Close Residents
	Sawyers Close Residents

	Feedback forms received
	Feedback forms received

	PRE-APP 03 - MASTERPLAN
	PRE-APP 03 - MASTERPLAN

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION

	July 2022
	July 2022

	December 2022
	December 2022

	January 2023
	January 2023

	February 2023
	February 2023

	August 2022
	August 2022

	October 2022
	October 2022

	May 2021
	May 2021

	January 2021
	January 2021

	July 2021
	July 2021

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	March 2022
	March 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	On.site.Consultation Events
	On.site.Consultation Events

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	Figure
	Project Summary (at this stage):
	Project Summary (at this stage):

	417
	417

	Total New Homes
	Total New Homes

	Total Apartments
	Total Apartments

	Tallest Building
	Tallest Building

	Total Houses
	Total Houses

	8
	8

	363
	363

	54
	54

	Storeys
	Storeys

	1B2P & 2B4P
	1B2P & 2B4P

	2B4P & 3B6P
	2B4P & 3B6P

	Notes:
	Notes:
	Notes:

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 
	1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 
	2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home
	3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home




	Changes to the masterplan since previous proposals include:
	Changes to the masterplan since previous proposals include:

	x8
	x8
	x8


	Increased Building Frontages
	Increased Building Frontages
	To allow for separated kitchens on most blocks

	Adjusted Cores
	Adjusted Cores
	To.meet.new.fire.regulations.&.MEP.(Mechanical,.Electrical and Plumbing)requirements

	2B4P change to 3B6P Houses
	2B4P change to 3B6P Houses
	More.family.homes.across the site

	New 4B6P Houses
	New 4B6P Houses
	Bigger family homes

	JUNE 25TH 2022 CONSULTATION EVENT
	JUNE 25TH 2022 CONSULTATION EVENT

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION

	March 2022
	March 2022

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	July 2021
	July 2021

	January 2021
	January 2021

	May 2021
	May 2021

	August 2022
	August 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	July 2022
	July 2022

	December 2022
	December 2022

	January 2023
	January 2023

	February 2023
	February 2023

	October 2022
	October 2022

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	On.site.Consultation Events
	On.site.Consultation Events

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation

	At the consultation event held on 25 June 2022, the project team presented.further.refined.proposals.to.both.existing.Sawyer’s.Close.residents and also the surrounding community at a public exhibition. Details presented included a revised layout for the interior of the new homes, a revised moving plan and proposals for a new community space. 
	At the consultation event held on 25 June 2022, the project team presented.further.refined.proposals.to.both.existing.Sawyer’s.Close.residents and also the surrounding community at a public exhibition. Details presented included a revised layout for the interior of the new homes, a revised moving plan and proposals for a new community space. 
	The.event.on.Saturday.25.June.was.split.into.three.parts:.10:00am.to.11:00am.for.councillors,.11:00am.to.1:00pm.for.current.residents.of.Sawyers.Close,.and.1:00pm.to.5:00pm.for.the.wider.community..
	Feedback.received.following.the.event.included:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Residents expressed support for the proposed community centre, landscape, retention of trees and play space proposal.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Residents were divided over open plan layouts or separated kitchen / living rooms.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Some neighbours to the site commented on the use of green space for new homes and the proposed additional entrance on Smiths Lane.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Comments on car parking provision were raised by existing residents and neighbours to the scheme.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Both residents and neighbours were curious about phasing and construction management. 



	Figure
	Figure
	Quotes.from.residents/neighbours' feedback
	Quotes.from.residents/neighbours' feedback

	“I think community space/
	“I think community space/
	“I think community space/
	“I think community space/
	café would be great for the 
	area.”



	“A new playground would 
	“A new playground would 
	“A new playground would 
	“A new playground would 
	be a great idea.”



	“Much less wasted space, much 
	“Much less wasted space, much 
	“Much less wasted space, much 
	“Much less wasted space, much 
	prefer the new layout with separate 
	kitchen and front room.”



	“Strongly oppose access road 
	“Strongly oppose access road 
	“Strongly oppose access road 
	“Strongly oppose access road 
	opposite properties on Smiths 
	Lane.”



	Figure
	Figure
	“I like the changes, support 
	“I like the changes, support 
	“I like the changes, support 
	“I like the changes, support 
	the new layouts.”



	73%
	73%

	“In the winter when the trees drop 
	“In the winter when the trees drop 
	“In the winter when the trees drop 
	“In the winter when the trees drop 
	their leaves we don’t want to be 
	overlooked by houses. We would still 
	look out onto some field space.”



	Attendees
	Attendees

	Responses
	Responses

	Positive Feedback
	Positive Feedback

	73% of respondents either 'strongly supported' or 'supported' the new layout
	73% of respondents either 'strongly supported' or 'supported' the new layout

	144
	144

	44
	44

	Feedback forms received
	Feedback forms received
	28 from residents, 16 from neighbours

	Sawyers Close Residents, Councillors & Neighbours 
	Sawyers Close Residents, Councillors & Neighbours 

	PRE-APP 04 - ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN
	PRE-APP 04 - ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION

	January 2023
	January 2023

	February 2023
	February 2023

	October 2022
	October 2022

	August 2022
	August 2022

	December 2022
	December 2022

	July 2022
	July 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	March 2022
	March 2022

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	July 2021
	July 2021

	January 2021
	January 2021

	May 2021
	May 2021

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	On.site.Consultation Events
	On.site.Consultation Events

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Figure
	Project Summary (at this stage):
	Project Summary (at this stage):

	421
	421

	A3
	A3

	B1
	B1

	A1
	A1

	Total New Homes
	Total New Homes

	Total Houses
	Total Houses

	Total Maisonettes
	Total Maisonettes

	Total Apartments
	Total Apartments

	A2
	A2

	B2
	B2

	54
	54

	22
	22

	345
	345

	2B4P & 3B6P
	2B4P & 3B6P

	1B2P & 2B4P
	1B2P & 2B4P

	1B2P & 2B4P
	1B2P & 2B4P

	Notes:
	Notes:
	Notes:

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 
	1B2P = 1 bedroom 2 persons home 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 
	2B4P = 2 bedrooms 4 persons home 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home
	3B6P = 3 bedrooms 6 persons home




	C2
	C2

	D2
	D2

	D3
	D3

	D1
	D1

	C3
	C3

	C1
	C1

	D7
	D7

	Changes to the masterplan since previous proposals include:
	Changes to the masterplan since previous proposals include:

	C4
	C4

	C5
	C5

	-1
	-1
	-1


	D6
	D6

	D5
	D5

	D4
	D4

	E2
	E2

	E3
	E3

	F2
	F2

	F1
	F1

	E1
	E1

	Block A3 Height Reduction
	Block A3 Height Reduction
	From 7 storeys to 6 storeys. 

	Generators Moved to Ground
	Generators Moved to Ground
	To reduce building bulk on roofs

	Maisonettes Added
	Maisonettes Added
	To increase visual control of ground floor.

	Tallest Building
	Tallest Building

	E4
	E4

	F3
	F3

	8
	8

	E5
	E5

	Storeys
	Storeys

	DESIGN REVIEW PANEL (DRP) 
	DESIGN REVIEW PANEL (DRP) 

	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION
	STAKEHOLDER.&.COMMUNITY.CONSULTATION

	January 2021
	January 2021

	July 2021
	July 2021

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	March 2022
	March 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	July 2022
	July 2022

	December 2022
	December 2022

	January 2023
	January 2023

	February 2023
	February 2023

	August 2022
	August 2022

	October 2022
	October 2022

	May 2021
	May 2021

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	On.site.Consultation Events
	On.site.Consultation Events

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Overview
	Overview
	With the recommendation of officers at RBWM, Abri presented its evolving proposals at Sawyers Close to an independent Design Review Panel (DRP) comprised of architects, landscapers, planners and sustainability consultants. This is a summary of the feedback that the DRP panellists provided on the scheme presented.

	Figure
	Context
	Context

	DRP.comment:
	DRP.comment:
	“Given the climate crisis we are facing and the cost of a new-build project, it would be preferable to retain the existing apartment blocks and infill the site with new buildings to achieve the same number of total dwellings. The existing blocks provide opportunities in terms of their structure, massing, area, volume, and height, and can be refurbished to be rendered fit for purpose.”

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The grid has been loosened in the new masterplan, and now responds to the historic and existing context, movement strategy and Dedworth.Manor..The.north-east.to.south-west.desire line is maintained.

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The retention and refurbishment of the existing buildings has been considered by Abri. Retention and refurbishment of the existing buildings has been.costed.and.it.would.be.significant..Whilst.it.would provide short-term improvements in internal accommodation, it would not extend the life of the buildings. The internal layouts of the current tower blocks.are.not.fit.for.modern.living.requirements..The construction of the proposed redevelopment scheme will re-use concrete of the dismantled tower blocks in th

	DRP.comment:
	DRP.comment:
	"Loosen the rigidity of the grid, particularly in the south of the site. Make more of the north-east to south-west desire lines to encourage movement through the development."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The scheme edge conditions have evolved to respond to the local streetscapes along Smiths Lane,.Dedworth.Manor,.Dedworth.Manor.Park.and.Maidenhead.Road..The.buildings.also.take.influence.from.the.urban.grain.in.the.wider.Windsor.area.

	DRP.comment:
	DRP.comment:
	"Further develop the distinct character of the edge conditions, responding sensitively to their wider context."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The.new.masterplan.allows.Dedworth.Manor.Park to grow into the spaces between buildings, creating a variety of pockets of greenery within the masterplan.

	DRP.comment:
	DRP.comment:
	" Take advantage of the proximity of Dedworth Manor Park and create more variety and spatial hierarchy within the external open spaces of the site."

	DRP.comments:.
	DRP.comments:.
	"Test alternative options to the podium car parking and explore how the scheme can become less car focused."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	A future greening strategy is being developed. Podium parking spaces can be converted into communal cycle stores, allowing their previous locations to be new communal spaces. Unused on-street parking can be absorbed into the landscape.

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The main pedestrian and cycle routes through the site connect into existing local routes, contributing to wider links into the centre of Windsor and other local.amenities..Multiple.new.routes.will.be.created.

	DRP.comment:
	DRP.comment:
	"Study how Sawyers Close fits into the wider movement strategy of Windsor. Prioritise the creation of new sustainable travel routes to create an exemplar for the area."

	MASTERPLAN HISTORY OVERVIEW
	MASTERPLAN HISTORY OVERVIEW

	SUMMARY.OF.MAIN.DESIGN.UPDATES
	SUMMARY.OF.MAIN.DESIGN.UPDATES

	January 2023
	January 2023

	February 2023
	February 2023

	May 2021
	May 2021

	July 2022
	July 2022

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	January 2023
	January 2023

	July 2022
	July 2022

	May 2021
	May 2021

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Key Design Changes to the Masterplan (January 2023)
	Key Design Changes to the Masterplan (January 2023)

	Historic Route
	Historic Route

	Streetscape.Influence
	Streetscape.Influence

	Growing.Park
	Growing.Park

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	There.was.a.historic.route.connecting.Dedworth.Manor.with.Dedworth.Manor.Lodge.at.Maidenhead.Road.which.passed.through the site. The layout has been amended to allow the historic route to be provided within the scheme. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Buildings move and rotate to align with the route.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Groups.of.historic.trees.are.retained.and.celebrated.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The north-east to south-west desire line is also maintained.



	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The.neighbouring.context.influences.the.character.of.buildings.on.the western and southern edges of the site.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The houses facing the streetscape on Smiths Lane and Thames Mead.are.rotated.and.reduced.in.length.to.relate.to.their.neighbours.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The.buildings.facing.Dedworth.Manor.are.organised.along.the.axis.of.the.manor.house,.creating.a.landscape.square.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The.buildings.facing.Maidenhead.Road.create.a.regular.frontage.to both the road, and east-west route within the site, whilst encouraging activation along the road.



	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Dedworth.Manor.Park.extends.into.the.site.from.the.western.edge, blurring the site boundary and creating pockets of greenery.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Celebrating the proximity of the park

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The Community Centre is moved to the north east of the site, near the park and the existing diagonal route through the park.



	04
	04

	DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES
	DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES

	DEFINING THE OBJECTIVES
	DEFINING THE OBJECTIVES

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Figure
	Taking into account Abri’s sustainability targets, the need to provide high-quality.new.homes,.create.a.thriving.sustainable.community,.work within the existing constraints at the site and consider the views provided at feedback sessions, we set a number of development objectives to shape the masterplan at Sawyers Close. These fall into six.categories:
	Taking into account Abri’s sustainability targets, the need to provide high-quality.new.homes,.create.a.thriving.sustainable.community,.work within the existing constraints at the site and consider the views provided at feedback sessions, we set a number of development objectives to shape the masterplan at Sawyers Close. These fall into six.categories:
	Ecology & Drainage Objectives:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Increase the level of biodiversity within the site by creating ecological corridors to complement the existing green infrastructure at the site. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Retain as many existing trees as possible and plant new native trees. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Provide sustainable drainage across the site.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Provide a 10% biodiversity net gain across the site. 


	Access & Movement Objectives: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Ensure that new pedestrian and cycle routes through the site can be accessible by all.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Create a place with a clear street hierarchy that prioritises pedestrians and cyclists. 



	2
	2
	2


	2
	2
	2


	3
	3
	3


	3
	3
	3


	1
	1
	1


	1
	1
	1


	2
	2
	2


	2
	2
	2


	2
	2
	2


	3
	3
	3


	6
	6
	6


	3
	3
	3


	3
	3
	3


	2
	2
	2


	1
	1
	1


	2
	2
	2


	3
	3
	3


	2
	2
	2


	2
	2
	2


	DEFINING THE OBJECTIVES
	DEFINING THE OBJECTIVES

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Figure
	Placemaking & Built Form Objectives:
	Placemaking & Built Form Objectives:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Identify central points across the site to form focus points to create a new sense of place. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Ensure the site boundaries respond to what is adjacent to them. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Create.character.areas.in.the.scheme.that.reflect.the.local.context to support placemaking.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Prepare.a.masterplan.that.will.define.zones.for.different.building.types and different densities of development. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Provide open spaces across the site.


	Social Objectives 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Ensure that existing residents living at the site will only need to move once during the construction process. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Prepare a construction phasing plan that commits to residents only moving once. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Include a new re-provided Community Centre with improved facilities making it available to the wider community.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Locate.the.re-established.Community.Garden.near.to.the.new.Community Centre to become a valuable community feature of the scheme. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Reposition.the.Community.Orchard.near.to.the.Community.Centre.and.Community.Garden..



	1
	1
	1


	2
	2
	2


	3
	3
	3


	5
	5
	5


	4
	4
	4


	5
	5
	5


	1
	1
	1


	3
	3
	3


	2
	2
	2


	2
	2
	2


	4
	4
	4


	1
	1
	1


	5
	5
	5


	2
	2
	2


	2
	2
	2


	DEFINING THE OBJECTIVES
	DEFINING THE OBJECTIVES

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Figure
	Access Locations:
	Access Locations:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Keep and re-use the existing vehicle access from Smiths Lane.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Provide an additional vehicle access point onto Smiths Lane.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Ensure the existing bus stop on Smiths Lane is not affected by the new development. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Include a new pedestrian access connecting to the existing pathway cutting diagonally through the site.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Futureproof the cycle infrastructure by making sure it joins with a proposed.cycle.lane.along.Maidenhead.Road.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Review informal walking routes people use across the site and provide new pedestrian and cycle routes along these local ‘desire.lines’.


	Street Hierarchy
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Design the streets to prioritise walking and cycling over driving. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Conceal parked cars where possible to allow for more landscaped areas.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Ensure pedestrian routes are clear, safe and legible throughout the site.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Where shared cyclists and pedestrians paths are provided, prioritise pedestrians over cyclists.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Support pedestrian safety by including well designed surfaces where there are pedestrian crossings with internal roads.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Use podium parking where possible to reduce the visibility of parked cars.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Prepare a scheme and strategy that allows for  surface car parking spaces to be replaced with green landscaping as car ownership levels decline and spaces are not needed. 



	1
	1
	1


	2
	2
	2


	3
	3
	3


	5
	5
	5


	4
	4
	4


	4
	4
	4


	5
	5
	5


	1
	1
	1


	4
	4
	4


	3
	3
	3


	4
	4
	4


	2
	2
	2


	5
	5
	5


	5
	5
	5


	4
	4
	4


	4
	4
	4


	5
	5
	5


	ACCESS AND MOVEMENT OBJECTIVES
	ACCESS AND MOVEMENT OBJECTIVES

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Access Locations
	Access Locations
	The.site.is.bounded.to.the.north.by.Maidenhead.Road,.to.the.east.by.Dedworth.Manor.Park,.to.the.south.by.Thames.Mead.road.and.Dedworth.Manor.and.to.the.west.by.Smiths.Lane.
	Currently there is one existing vehicle access point to the site. 
	The following elements will inform the access strategy.for.the.site:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Keep and re-use the existing vehicle access from Smiths Lane.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Provide an additional vehicle access point onto Smiths Lane.


	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Ensure the existing bus stop on Smiths Lane is not affected by the new development. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Include a new pedestrian access connecting to the existing pathway cutting diagonally through the site.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Futureproof the cycle infrastructure by making sure it joins with a proposed cycle lane along Maidenhead.Road.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Review informal walking routes people use across the site and provide new pedestrian and cycle.routes.along.these.local.‘desire.lines’



	Street Hierarchy 
	Street Hierarchy 
	The streets hierarchy should be designed to promote walking and cycling above driving. Parked cars are concealed, allowing for more space to be given to the landscape.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Ensure pedestrian routes are clear, safe and legible throughout the site.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Where shared cyclists and pedestrians paths are provided, prioritise pedestrians over cyclists.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Support pedestrian safety by including well designed surfaces where there are pedestrian crossings with internal roads.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Use podium parking where possible to reduce the visibility of parked cars.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Prepare a scheme and strategy that allows for  surface car parking spaces to be replaced with green landscaping as car ownership levels decline and spaces are not needed. 



	Figure
	A308.Maidenhead.Road
	A308.Maidenhead.Road

	2
	2
	2


	Grasmere
	Grasmere

	Broadleys
	Broadleys

	1
	1
	1


	Smiths Lane
	Smiths Lane

	Hale
	Hale

	Dedworth.Manor.Park
	Dedworth.Manor.Park

	Winwood
	Winwood

	3
	3
	3


	Thames.Mead
	Thames.Mead

	4
	4
	4


	Dedworth Manor
	Dedworth Manor

	Illustrative Examples
	Illustrative Examples

	Site Photos
	Site Photos

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	1
	1
	1


	2
	2
	2


	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	4
	4
	4


	3
	3
	3


	ECOLOGY & DRAINAGE
	ECOLOGY & DRAINAGE

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Existing Natural Features
	Existing Natural Features
	Enhance and embrace the arboricultural richness of.the.site,.due.to.the.site's.history.as.a.Manor.Park:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Retain and maintain as many of the existing trees as possible, to ensure they have a good chance of survival;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Develop a landscape strategy that enhances the historic character of the site, and plants tree species appropriate to the historic context and site location;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Relocate and maintain the existing orchard and community garden planted by residents.



	Ecology Corridors & Existing Vegetation
	Ecology Corridors & Existing Vegetation
	The development will improve ecology corridors for increased biodiversity, which double as recreational.areas.and.access.ways:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enhance and improve the existing hedgerow on the eastern site boundary, ensuring it is a dark, nocturnal corridor for the existing bats;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Improve the existing lawns by planting more diverse.grasslands.and.areas.of.wild.flowers.to.create more habitat;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Connect.Dedworth.Manor.Park.and.the.green space to the west of the site by a wider landscape corridor, utilising the easement over the Thames Water trunk main as an area to boost biodiversity;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Improving the existing grass monoculture of the site by encouraging a more diverse planting mix in communal areas, provision of bird and bat boxes.as.required.and.a.commitment.to.a.10%.biodiversity net gain across the site. 



	Figure
	A308.Maidenhead.Road
	A308.Maidenhead.Road

	Grasmere
	Grasmere

	Broadleys
	Broadleys

	1
	1
	1


	2
	2
	2


	Smiths Lane
	Smiths Lane

	3
	3
	3


	Hale
	Hale

	Dedworth.Manor.Park
	Dedworth.Manor.Park

	5
	5
	5


	Winwood
	Winwood

	4
	4
	4


	Thames.Mead
	Thames.Mead

	Dedworth Manor
	Dedworth Manor

	Site Photos
	Site Photos

	Historic Photo (1978)
	Historic Photo (1978)

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	2
	2
	2


	4
	4
	4


	1
	1
	1


	Figure
	5
	5
	5


	Figure
	3
	3
	3


	ECOLOGY & DRAINAGE
	ECOLOGY & DRAINAGE

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Surface Water Drainage
	Surface Water Drainage
	There is the potential for parts of the site to experience.surface.water.flooding..Therefore,.a.comprehensive strategy to ensure all proposed buildings.are.not.affected.by.flood.water.has.been prepared. 
	The comprehensive drainage strategy prepared for.the.site.proposes.the.following:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Creation of a new drainage basin in the south western corner of the site. This will provide new habitat for invertebrates and increased foraging resources for the bat species using the nearby hedgerow;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Utilising existing site levels to create water attenuation areas for wet periods;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Create shallow swales and rain gardens to create additional areas of water retention;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Give.dual.purpose.to.all.areas.for.water.retention by incorporating additional biodiversity and creating habitats for multiple species. 



	Figure
	Illustrative Examples
	Illustrative Examples

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM OBJECTIVES
	PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM OBJECTIVES

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Central Points
	Central Points
	Develop spaces at junctions of key routes within the masterplan to become nodal points, using key moves such as increased heights, changed landscaped features to create placemaking within the scheme.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Increased building height around nodal points to mark junctions of routes

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Changes in landscape surface to pedestrian routes, cycle route and roads to slow users and create a shared space.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Selected landscape species that mark nodal points

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Wayfinding.signage.where.appropriate



	Development of edges of the site
	Development of edges of the site
	The edges of the development should connect and be sympathetic to the surrounding context. Site edges should respect their neighbours in scale and.massing.to.ensure.the.masterplan.fits.within.its.context.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The.larger.scale.Maidenhead.Road.to.the.north.of.the.site,.and.the.massing.of.the.office.buildings allows calls for larger massing in this location;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Create.a.green.buffer.to.Maidenhead.Road.to.create separation between the site and busy road;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Lower scale neighbouring buildings along Smiths Lane.and.Thames.Mead.suggest.lower.scale.housing arranged in short terraces;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The existing park to the east of the site offers expansive views towards Windsor Castle. Houses on the opposite part of the park turn their back to the park. There is an opportunity for apartment buildings to have a better interface with the park.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Existing trees on the edges of the site should be retained where possible, with massing positioned away from them;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Pedestrian paths along the edges of the development create activation and natural surveillance;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Retain existing hedgerows along eastern site edge, with option to strategically remove sections to allow better connection between the site and the park.



	Illustrative Examples
	Illustrative Examples

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM OBJECTIVES
	PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM OBJECTIVES

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Character Establishment
	Character Establishment
	The local character and architectural vernacular should be analysed and decoded to inform the language of the proposed developed. This will establish an architecture that is contemporary yet sits comfortably within its surrounds
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Define.a.palette.of.materials.informed.by.prominent materials in the local context. Ensure all selected materials are low maintenance and long lasting eg. brick. Render, although prominent in the local area, does not age well and therefore shouldn't be used;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Select materials from the material palette across the scheme to create varyance whilst contributing to placemaking;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Back to back dwellings are designed appropriately with daylight / sunlight requirements;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Centre of development parcels working hard to conceal car parking in podiums, with private and communal gardens above;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Lobbies placed at building corners to create increased activation at junctions;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Front doors and front windows positioned to create natural surveillance;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Roof pitches informing the character of certain areas.of.the.masterplan..Dedworth.Manor.House has multiple sharp pitched roofs. Further afield,.the.historic.Clewer.Mill.provides.an.industrial aesthetic, appropriate for buildings along.Maidenhead.Road.



	Building Typology & Density
	Building Typology & Density
	Building typology and density will be informed by the scale and typology of the local context, as well as the need of existing residents on the site. 
	The Sawyers Close typology and density objects will.follow.these.principles:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Working together closely with the existing residents to assess their housing need, to develop building typologies suitable to them;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Assessing the existing context around the edges of the Sawyers Close estate to identify areas that could comfortably support larger scale apartment blocks and others that should have smaller scale houses.



	Illustrative Examples
	Illustrative Examples

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	SOCIAL OBJECTIVES
	SOCIAL OBJECTIVES

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Community Centre
	Community Centre
	By providing access to a range of facilities and spaces within development, we will help to create a thriving and sustainable communitiy. The current Sawyers Close estate contains an existing community centre named 'the Pump Room', which is well used by the community.
	At community consultation events held in 2022, customers told us that they would like to see provision made for new community spaces – a replacement.Pump.Room.was.a.popular.request,.as was a community café.
	The.development.proposes.the.following:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Provision of a new community centre, to replace the existing Pump Room.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The new community centre should be located towards the edge of the site, in a prominent location so it can serve the wider community as well as the Sawyers Close community and be easily accessible to all. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	A multi-use space should be provided within the community centre, to allow for skill building days, training activities and act as a neighbourhood hub.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	A community cafe is to be considered. It can be run by the local community, to help skills development, reduce social isolation and to provide a safe space directly within the Sawyers Close community.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The proposed community orchard and community garden should be located in close proximity to the community centre, to allow easy interaction between the two.



	Existing Customers & Phasing
	Existing Customers & Phasing
	Abri has made a commitment to its customers that they will only move once. The existing accommodation schedule of customers living at Sawyers Close has been reviewed and a reprovision and phasing strategy is being agreed. 
	As part of the strategy for existing residents and phasing,.the.following.applies:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Existing residents of Sawyers Close will only need to move once 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Residents will continue to live in their current homes, until new homes are built 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Assistance will be available to help residents move

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Phase 01 of the development needs to occur in the south west corner of the site, 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The number and type of proposed homes that.will.be.built.in.Phase.01.will.be.specifically..developed based on the needs of existing residents.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The remaining phases will be developed to ensure that the number, type and location of new homes suit the needs to existing customers.



	Consultation and Site Photos
	Consultation and Site Photos

	Illustrative Examples of Community Spaces and Activities
	Illustrative Examples of Community Spaces and Activities

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	SOCIAL OBJECTIVES
	SOCIAL OBJECTIVES

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Community Gardens & Orchard
	Community Gardens & Orchard
	By providing access to a range of facilities and spaces within the developments we build, we can help to create thriving and sustainable communities. The current Sawyers Close has both a well used community garden and an orchard which are both maintained by the community.
	The.development.proposes.the.following:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The community garden and orchard should be developed to replace the existing community garden and orchard.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Where possible, the existing orchard trees should be sensitively moved to their new location.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The community garden should be developed with input from the local residents to establish a brief for the space.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The proposed community orchard and community garden should be located in close proximity to the community centre, to allow easy interaction between the two.



	Play Space
	Play Space
	Currently there are two large play areas at Sawyers.Close:.a.large,.unfenced.play.area.aimed at younger children and a disused parking court that has been re-purposed into a ball games area for older children. There is also ample play provision.in.Dedworth.Manor.Park.close.by.
	As part of the new homes, the large play area at Sawyers Close will be removed to make way for Phase 1 of the development. We therefore propose to provide play space in another location:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Upgrade and add to the existing play equipment.on.the.eastern.side.of.Dedworth.Manor.Park

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Incorporate suggestions from the children living at Sawyers Close as to the type of play equipment.they.would.like.to.have.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Create areas of 'doorstep' play, closer to peoples homes, including in the main nodal points of the development 



	Illustrative Examples
	Illustrative Examples

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	SOCIAL OBJECTIVES
	SOCIAL OBJECTIVES

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Landscape Communal Podiums
	Landscape Communal Podiums
	Podiums are proposed to be at four locations plots allowing for private gardens and communal spaces to be enjoyed by residents.
	The communal landscape creates the opportunity for each house or apartment at the podium level to have private garden spaces but also access for all residents within that plot to the communal gardens and activities within them.
	Within the communal space there will be opportunities for 'doorstep' play but also the potential for homeworking pods.
	The.communal.landscape.creates.the:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Raised planters incorporating seating elements, planting and trees

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Private gardens with access into the communal space

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Raised beds for communal gardens / allotments

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Areas created where small groups of people can gather for social activities.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	'Doorstep' play areas created, closer to peoples homes.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Planting beds located to aid the privacy of the houses



	Illustrative Examples
	Illustrative Examples

	Podium Landscape Keyplan
	Podium Landscape Keyplan

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	SOCIAL OBJECTIVES
	SOCIAL OBJECTIVES

	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED
	DEVELOPMENT.OBJECTIVES.ACHIEVED

	Sustainable Transport
	Sustainable Transport
	Abri is committed to promoting and supporting their customers in their journey to using more sustainable methods of transport. Sustainable transport supports healthy place making. Abri has undertaken.significant.engagement.over.how.the emerging scheme can support sustainable transport initiatives and discussions have taken place with stakeholders on this important topic as the masterplan has evolved.
	Abri will continue to engage with residents at Sawyers Close in order to ascertain which sustainable transport options will be of most value to them.
	The sustainable transport measures which are included.in.the.masterplan.are:
	 
	1..Access.to.a.car.sharing.scheme.–.a.‘Car.Club’
	2. Secure and convenient cycle parking
	3. Cycle hub for use by the residents and wider community 
	4. Cycle routes within the site
	5..Future-proofing.the.masterplan.to.connect.into.RBWM’s.planned.cycling.route
	6. Pedestrian priority along shared surfaces within the site
	7. Electric vehicle charging points 
	8. Reduced parking spaces to promote a reduction in car ownership and support car sharing through the car club 
	9. Access to the existing public transport network

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	05
	05

	CONSTRAINTS & OPPORTUNITIES
	CONSTRAINTS & OPPORTUNITIES

	SITE CONSTRAINTS
	SITE CONSTRAINTS

	Site Boundary 
	Site Boundary 
	Existing adopted road that runs through the site
	Existing site entrance to be retained
	Existing trees
	Existing hedgerow
	Utilities that run under site and their easements
	Main.road.to.the.north
	Existing buildings and garages
	Existing community centre on the site needs to stay in operation during construction.
	Existing orchard to be relocated.
	Existing community garden to be re-provided.
	Existing pedestrian route
	Existing bus stop
	Existing substation
	Flood.zone.2

	KEY
	KEY

	Figure
	RAYS.AVENUE
	RAYS.AVENUE
	RAYS.AVENUE


	A308./.MAIDENHEAD.ROAD
	A308./.MAIDENHEAD.ROAD
	A308./.MAIDENHEAD.ROAD


	WHITELEY
	WHITELEY
	WHITELEY


	Sect
	Figure

	10M
	10M
	10M


	SMITHS.LANE
	SMITHS.LANE
	SMITHS.LANE


	ASTON.MEAD
	ASTON.MEAD
	ASTON.MEAD


	BURNETTS.ROAD
	BURNETTS.ROAD
	BURNETTS.ROAD


	5M
	5M
	5M


	DEDWORTH.
	DEDWORTH.
	DEDWORTH.
	MANOR.PARK


	THAMES.MEAD
	THAMES.MEAD
	THAMES.MEAD


	Extent.of.flood.zone.2
	Extent.of.flood.zone.2
	Extent.of.flood.zone.2


	DEDWORTH.
	DEDWORTH.
	DEDWORTH.
	MANOR


	NEW.WINDSOR.
	NEW.WINDSOR.
	NEW.WINDSOR.
	COMMUNITY.
	CENTRE


	HARCOURT.ROAD
	HARCOURT.ROAD
	HARCOURT.ROAD


	SITE OPPORTUNITIES
	SITE OPPORTUNITIES

	Site Boundary 
	Site Boundary 
	Existing trees
	Existing trees along site boundary
	Significant.groups.of.trees.to.retain.and make into a landscape feature
	Connections through the site
	Secondary connection
	Key views to Windsor Castle, and River Thames
	Landscape connected through the site
	Potential for 'central gardens' in the centre of the site, using existing groups of trees.
	New proposal to respond to existing context
	Sun path to ensure there are no single aspect, north facing dwellings
	Potential for lower scale connections to lower neighbouring context
	Opportunity.for.additional.height
	Opportunity.for.tall,.landmark.building in site centre
	Existing cycle route
	First phase location (single decant required)
	Playground location
	Dedworth.Manor.Park
	Opportunity.for.bicycle.hub
	Clewer.Mill.Stream.(link.to.the.Thames)
	Adjacent green areas

	KEY
	KEY

	Figure
	Opportunity.to.enhance.
	Opportunity.to.enhance.
	Opportunity.to.enhance.
	views to the River Thames.


	RAYS.AVENUE
	RAYS.AVENUE
	RAYS.AVENUE


	A308./.MAIDENHEAD.ROAD
	A308./.MAIDENHEAD.ROAD
	A308./.MAIDENHEAD.ROAD


	WHITELEY
	WHITELEY
	WHITELEY


	SMITHS.LANE
	SMITHS.LANE
	SMITHS.LANE


	Opportunity.to.enhance.views.to.
	Opportunity.to.enhance.views.to.
	Opportunity.to.enhance.views.to.
	Windsor Castle.


	BUCKLAND CRESCENT
	BUCKLAND CRESCENT
	BUCKLAND CRESCENT


	Sect
	Figure
	Figure

	ASTON.MEAD
	ASTON.MEAD
	ASTON.MEAD


	BURNETTS.ROAD
	BURNETTS.ROAD
	BURNETTS.ROAD


	DEDWORTH.
	DEDWORTH.
	DEDWORTH.
	MANOR.PARK


	Sect
	Figure
	Figure

	THAMES.MEAD
	THAMES.MEAD
	THAMES.MEAD


	DEDWORTH.
	DEDWORTH.
	DEDWORTH.
	MANOR


	NEW.WINDSOR.
	NEW.WINDSOR.
	NEW.WINDSOR.
	COMMUNITY.
	CENTRE


	HARCOURT.ROAD
	HARCOURT.ROAD
	HARCOURT.ROAD


	06
	06

	STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN PRINCIPLES
	STAKEHOLDER MASTERPLAN PRINCIPLES

	ECOLOGY & DRAINAGE STRATEGIES
	ECOLOGY & DRAINAGE STRATEGIES

	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES
	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES

	Ecology & Drainage across the Masterplan
	Ecology & Drainage across the Masterplan
	Central Points
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The ecology and drainage strategy has been develop taking in consideration the existing site constraints and opportunities.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	A new landscape corridor will run East to West to provide a welcoming.and.secure.access.to.the..Dedworth.Manor.Park.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Drainage basins have been located strategically where more appropriate,.working.efficiently.with.the.existing.site.levels.and.landscape.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Almost all existing trees will be retained and integrated into the proposed landscape design.



	Figure
	KEY
	KEY

	Mill.Stream.(connected.to.the.Thames.River)
	Mill.Stream.(connected.to.the.Thames.River)
	Low.areas.(prone.to.surface.flooding)
	Proposed drainage basin
	Grassed.areas
	Hedgerow
	Existing Trees
	Proposed landscape corridor

	ACCESS AND MOVEMENT STRATEGIES
	ACCESS AND MOVEMENT STRATEGIES

	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES
	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES

	Access to Sawyers Close
	Access to Sawyers Close
	Central Points
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enhanced.accesses.from.Smith.Lane.and.Dedworth.Manor.Park.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	New pedestrian and vehicular access from Smith Lane.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	New.pedestrain.accesses.and.connections.from.Dedworth.Manor.Park.



	Figure
	KEY
	KEY

	Existing Road
	Existing Road
	Proposed Future Cycle Route
	Existing Pedestrian Crossings
	Proposed Vehicle Access
	Proposed Cycle / Pedestrian Access
	Proposed Pedestrian Access
	Existing Informal Pedestrian Access
	Historic.Route.to.Dedworth.Manor

	ACCESS AND MOVEMENT STRATEGIES
	ACCESS AND MOVEMENT STRATEGIES

	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES
	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES

	Street Hierarchy
	Street Hierarchy
	Central Points
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Improve general site permeability.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Develop cycle / pedestrian routes to reconnect the site to the existing urban grain, pedestrian paths and natural assets.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Restructure site vehicular routes  across the site to improve accessibility and servicing.



	Figure
	Primary Access Road
	Primary Access Road
	Proposed Cycle / Pedestrian Route
	Proposed Pedestrian Route
	Existing Informal Pedestrian Access

	KEY
	KEY

	PLACEMAKING & MASSING STRATEGIES
	PLACEMAKING & MASSING STRATEGIES

	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES
	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES

	Central Points
	Central Points
	Central Points
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Extend the park into the site on the east edge to blend the proposed landscape with the existing natural context.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Define.two.main.nodal.areas,.creating.small.plazas.to.support.the.placemaking strategy and opportunities for socialising between residents.



	Figure
	Nodal points
	Nodal points
	Park extends into site
	Primary Access Road
	Proposed Cycle / Pedestrian Route
	Proposed Pedestrian Route
	Existing Informal Pedestrian Access

	KEY
	KEY

	PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM STRATEGIES
	PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM STRATEGIES

	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES
	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES

	Development of edges of the site
	Development of edges of the site
	Central Points
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Ensure that the more import frontages are active and have direct engagement with the public realm. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Minimise.the.amount.of.frontages.without.windows.to.provide.active frontages and natural surveillance across the site.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Locate key community spaces along main frontages.



	Figure
	Development Area
	Development Area
	Important Frontages

	KEY
	KEY

	PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM STRATEGIES
	PLACEMAKING & BUILT FORM STRATEGIES

	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES
	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES

	Building Types & Density
	Building Types & Density
	Central Points
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Locate tallest blocks to the north of the site to enhance direct light penetration.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Vary shapes and heights of the plots to create informal and playful spaces to meet and interact.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Locate lower blocks to the south to respond to the existing to the existing context around the site. 



	Figure
	Lower Scale Buildings - houses up to 3 storeys
	Lower Scale Buildings - houses up to 3 storeys
	Medium.Scale.Buildings.-.apartment.buildings.4.-.6.storeys
	Higher Scale Buildings - apartment buildings 7 - 8 storey buildings

	KEY
	KEY

	SOCIAL STRATEGIES
	SOCIAL STRATEGIES

	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES
	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES

	Community Facilities
	Community Facilities
	Central Points
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Place key community spaces around main gardens and pedestrian/cycle routes

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Community.gardens.and.Orchard.to.have.a.direct.relationship.with.Dedworth.Manor.Park.and.to.be.protected.from.busy.streets..



	Figure
	KEY
	KEY

	Area for Social Infrastructure
	Area for Social Infrastructure
	Additional area for Social Infrastructure
	Community Centre
	Community.Garden
	Community.Orchard
	Cycle Hub
	Primary Access Road
	Proposed Cycle / Pedestrian Route
	RBWM.Proposed.Cycle.Route
	Proposed Pedestrian Route
	Existing Informal Pedestrian Access

	Figure
	SAWYERS CLOSE MASTERPLAN
	SAWYERS CLOSE MASTERPLAN

	DRAFT.STAKEHOLDER.
	DRAFT.STAKEHOLDER.
	MASTERPLAN.
	(AS.CONSULTED.ON)

	JANUARY.2023.DESIGN
	JANUARY.2023.DESIGN
	JANUARY.2023.DESIGN


	This.draft.Stakeholder.Masterplan.was.consulted.
	This.draft.Stakeholder.Masterplan.was.consulted.
	This.draft.Stakeholder.Masterplan.was.consulted.
	on for 28 days to inform the final Stakeholder 
	 
	Masterplan.for.adoption.


	07
	07

	DESIGN UPDATES  
	DESIGN UPDATES  
	PROPOSED MASTERPLAN FOR APPROVAL

	CONSULTATION
	CONSULTATION

	JANUARY.2023
	JANUARY.2023

	January 2023
	January 2023

	December 2022
	December 2022

	July 2022
	July 2022

	May 2021
	May 2021

	January 2021
	January 2021

	July 2021
	July 2021

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	March 2022
	March 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	February 2023
	February 2023

	August 2022
	August 2022

	October 2022
	October 2022

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	On.site.Consultation Events
	On.site.Consultation Events

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan Consultation

	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master.Document Submission

	Figure
	Background
	Background
	The.Sawyers.Close.Draft.Stakeholder.Masterplan.public.consultation.event was held between Friday 13 January and Sunday 12 February 2023. 
	The.Stakeholder.Masterplan.Document.was.published.on.the.dedicated.Sawyers.Close.website.at.this.link:.https://www.sawyersclose.com/news/consultation-on-draft-stakeholder-masterplan/ 
	The.publication.of.the.Draft.Stakeholder.Masterplan.was.accompanied by a design update that was also published on the Sawyers.Close.website:.https://www.sawyersclose.com/news/latest-design-update/ 
	Hard.copies.of.the.Sawyers.Close.Draft.Stakeholder.Masterplan.were.made.available.and.could.be.requested.by..emailing.Hello@sawyersclose.com, calling Freephone 0800 169 6507 or by writing to Freepost.SEC.NEWGATE.UK.LOCAL..
	Consultation publicity
	Abri publicised the consultation by writing to 723 addresses at Sawyers Close.and.the.neighbouring.area..This.was.the.same.mailing.zone.that Abri contacted prior to its June 2022 consultation event. Abri also contacted the local ward and neighbouring ward councillors to inform them of the consultation. 
	Consultation events
	During the consultation, Abri held three drop in events at the Pump Room community space at Sawyers Close. At the events, attendees could.view.copies.of.the.Draft.Stakeholder.Masterplan.document.and.find.out.more.about.the.latest.proposals..These.were.held.at.the.following.dates.and.times:
	•Thursday.19.January,.2:00pm.to.5:00pm.–.18.people.attended
	•Tuesday.24.January,.2:00pm.to.5:00pm.–.6.people.attended.
	•Tuesday.7.February,.2:00pm.to.5:00pm.–.16.people.attended
	Responding to the consultation 
	Abri.collected.responses.in.writing.by.the.following.means:
	•An online survey available through the Sawyers Close website
	•The.project.email.–.Hello@sawyersclose.com.
	•By.post.to.Freepost.SEC.NEWGATE.UK.LOCAL
	Respondents were asked if they had any comments to make on the Draft.Stakeholder.Masterplan.document..The.responses.received.are.summarised in this document. 
	Abri received six responses to the online survey and 17 emails during the consultation. No responses were received through the Freepost option. 
	The.online.survey.also.included.questions.on.sustainable.transport.options to assist Abri in gaining insights into local preferences. In response.to.the.question.asking.if.they.lived.or.worked.locally,.four.respondents indicated that they lived in Windsor. 
	In total, 44% of respondents indicated that they used a car to travel during a typical week, 33% walked, 11% used a shared car or lifts and 11%.specified.other.without.detailing.what.that.was.
	In.response.to.the.question.on.which.transport.options.they.would.use.if.they.were.more.available,.there.were.three.responses..One.for.e-scooter, one for bicycle and one for other without specifying what that.‘other’.was..

	Figure
	DESIGN UPDATES
	DESIGN UPDATES

	RESPONSE.TO.CONSULTATION.FEEDBACK
	RESPONSE.TO.CONSULTATION.FEEDBACK

	Context
	Context

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The proposal is for buildings up to 8 storeys in height. A range of building heights is provided to reduce the bulk of the scheme.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	"We thought the idea was to have lower profile and less dense building layout but now you are suggesting that some of the buildings will be nine stories high and the density seems to be much heavier than it currently is."

	Comment:.
	Comment:.
	Where will I live, and for how long, while these buildings get knocked down and the new ones get built? Also what will happen about to the bathroom adaptations I have, during the intervening period."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	Sawyers Close residents will only need to move once, from their current home into their new one. We're proposing a phased approach that means that the new homes will be built on the land to the south.of.Sawyers.Close.first.
	Abri will work with its customers to create moving plans tailored to their needs. This will include financial.support.to.meet.the.cost.of.moving.and.consideration of any adaptations that may need to be made to homes. 

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	A water attenuation basin will be provided to support the sustainable drainage system on the site. This attenuation basin will not be constantly filled.with.water.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	"How are you going to protect children from the pond?"

	Comment:. 
	Comment:. 
	As a resident on Smiths Lane we object to the accommodation of a space going from 219 to 420 - this is an over population of social/affordable housing in an area of west Windsor where there is already much. It is an inefficient use of the space. We object to losing our green space that we currently have whilst this development will have a lovely look out on to the green space of the football pitches.”

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The site has been developed to maximise private green space. This has been done in line with sustainable principles.
	The.Royal.Borough.of.Windsor.and.Maidenhead.Council is supportive of the area being redeveloped to provide more Affordable Housing. The number of units proposed have been discussed with the Council who are agreeable to the level of development.
	We are providing a 10% biodiversity net gain across the site. 
	The.proposal.will.deliver.high.quality.landscape.design.

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	Solar panels are proposed to be included on the roofs.of.buildings.as.well.as.other.energy.efficient.features including air source heat pumps.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	"I can’t see any provision for solar panelling/solar windows or even a small wind generator all which would help the residents both directly and indirectly via reduced service charges for communal electrical use and to charge their cars with the electrical charging points I can’t see."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	Apartment buildings will range from 4 to 8 storeys in height. The proposed town houses are 3 storeys.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	"Are the flats going to be more than 3 levels high? "

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The layout of the proposal has been designed so as to limit the incidence of anti-social behaviour. This includes spaces that are well-surveyed.
	Many.existing.residents.have.expressed.that.they.would like to remain at Sawyers Close following the redevelopment of the site.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	" As a resident on Smiths Lane I am concerned about any anti social behaviours that this over population of the area will bring. If you look at your original survey results you will see that the majority of people were not bothered about living in the same area as the people that they currently live with as neighbours which tells you that people don't mind being dispersed. Therefore you should be building other social housing/affordable housing in smaller building sites and maintain the quality of the green

	Comment:.
	Comment:.
	"Will there be 3 bedroom houses facing onto Thames Mead?"

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The.draft.Stakeholder.Masterplan.layout.proposed.some 3 storey town houses facing towards Thames Mead..In.response.to.consultation.feedback,.the.Masterplan.layout.has.been.amended..A.new servicing route is now proposed between Thames.Mead.and.the.proposed.town.houses.as.a result the distance between existing dwellings on.Thames.Mead.and.proposed.townhouses.has.increased. 

	DESIGN UPDATES
	DESIGN UPDATES

	RESPONSE.TO.CONSULTATION.FEEDBACK
	RESPONSE.TO.CONSULTATION.FEEDBACK

	Context
	Context

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	This a 40mph Trunk Road and as such new access points.are.more.difficult.to.achieve.due.to.safety...The.visibility.requirements.necessary.for.a.40mph.road particularly from the north-east corner would be.difficult.to.achieve..The.existing.Sawyers.Close.access will be improved as part of the proposals.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	" I, along with others that live along smiths lane, are still opposed to the additional access road. You are clearly not listening to our concerns and ignoring a request to build a new access road directly from the A308 in the vicinity of the north east corner. Or at a minimum improve and keep to the existing access road. The only reason for the second access road, is to facilitate your need to build in 2 phases, over the proposed 4 years, and not disturb the Sawyers residents."

	Comment:.
	Comment:.
	"We each have private sheds now. I don't see garages or sheds on the plan."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	Car parking and storage space will be provided within the shared under-croft garages.
	We will be providing storage space within the new homes that meets or exceeds the Council's storage standards.

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	Each home will have its own private outdoor space, either a balcony or private garden space on a podium.meeting.or.exceeding.the.required.private.amenity space standards. In addition to this, there will also be shared outdoor spaces on the podiums and in the green spaces around the buildings.

	Comment:.
	Comment:.
	"I see nice balconies for above floor flats, but what about private outdoor areas for other accommodation types? So will each accommodation get their own outdoor space?"

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	Construction.traffic.will.be.controlled.via.a.“Construction.Management.Plan”.planning.condition..The.Construction.Management.Plan.will.be submitted to the Council for approval, once this document is found to be satisfactory and approved by the Council, the construction of the development.will.be.required.to.be.in.accordance.with this approved document. Included within the Construction.Management.Plan.will.be.the.times.and days that construction is permitted to take place.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	"Smiths lane is already busy enough with school runs, the addition of tippers, delivery trucks during the build etc, will put a strain on local life, especially those that live directly opposite.

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The.CGIs.are.showing.the.design.intent.but.colours.might change before the application is submitted. Using brick as the main material throughout the scheme.will.be.a.unifying.design.feature.influencing.the character of the development. 

	Comment:
	Comment:
	“What colour will be the buildings be?”

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The proposed 3-storey houses adjacent to Smiths Lane will be set back a generous distance from the site boundary, the new green swale with additional trees and landscaping will soften existing views and provide a green outlook. A 6-storey apartment building which would have been accessed from the new road onto Smiths Lane has been removed meaning fewer cars will use the new access, reducing car movements at this location on Smiths Lane. 

	Comment:
	Comment:
	" As a resident on Smiths Lane, we object to what looks like 4 storey (including roof cavity) buildings/townhouses being built when we are two storey and the over crowding that will exist in this space with cars and access on to the Maidenhead Rd and Smiths Lane from parked cars."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The garages currently within the site are not suitable.for.car.parking.due.to.their.size.and.the.size.of.modern.vehicles..At.present.the.parking.within Sawyers Close is unallocated, the proposal scheme will continue with the arrangement. Extensive parking surveys have been conducted within the site to access what the parking need is for the occupiers of Sawyers Close, the proposed parking provision is based on this need. It should also be noted that National Planning Policy seeks to prevent the over provisi

	Comment:
	Comment:
	"At the moment there are around 150 car parking spaces + garages, from what I can see you are proposing to double+ the occupancy and reduce parking spaces to around 120, is that currently 70% parking and you proposing to offer 40% parking once finished? At the moment cars are parking on the grass and have started parking on Smiths lane."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	Electric Vehicle (EV) charging will be made available to all car parking spaces within the development over time.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	"I can’t see any suggestion of electric charging points for cars - which must be a mistake if you are looking for a new build that will be expected to be in use after 2035."

	DESIGN UPDATES
	DESIGN UPDATES

	RESPONSE.TO.CONSULTATION.FEEDBACK
	RESPONSE.TO.CONSULTATION.FEEDBACK

	Context
	Context

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	A.Traffic.Management.Plan.has.not.yet.been.submitted, however one will be submitted to the Council for approval during the planning process. Once.the.Traffic.Management.Plan.has.been.submitted to the Council it will become publicly available on the Council's website.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	" I just know your traffic management plan is, for want of a better word, “poor” based on incompetence or deliberate and based on profit."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	Abri exclusively provides Affordable Homes, they.do.not.profit.from.their.developments..There is both a unmet national and local need for Affordable Homes such as those that are proposed. The proposed level of parking has been calculated using detailed car parking surveys.to.assess.what.the.required.parking.need is. There is a local and national drive to reduce the reliance of private motor vehicles and increase and improve sustainable forms of transport.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	"I am struggling to understand how you think people will not come to the conclusion that you are out to build as many homes as possible for maximum profit, and expect anyone who buys one, not to realise they will have to fight for a parking space, of which I will be one when the overspill will be outside my home."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The garages and sheds that are currently on site would be removed as part of the redevelopment and replaced by parking spaces within covered podiums as well as some on street parking. 
	Closer to the time of moving, Abri will work with its customers.to.prepare.a.moving.plan.that.reflects.their individual needs. The storage space that is currently provided by the sheds will be replaced by additional storage spaces within the new homes.
	Blue badge parking will be provided next to each block.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	" What's happening about garages and sheds? My car insurance gets a discount because I keep my car in a locked private garage at all times while not in use. It is close to my current flat. I can't walk far and especially not when I'm loaded down with shopping.
	I see parking spaces, but not in large amounts or particularly close to the buildings and it wont be viewed the same by my insurance, I shouldn't think. Will the maisonettes have parking spaces next to them?"

	Comment:
	Comment:
	“It looks like the parking is even less than our current parking, which is not sufficient as it is - a trip to the Estate any night would prove that.”

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	Extensive over-night surveys have been undertaken to count the existing number of vehicles on site and the.rounds.surrounding.the.development...Over-night parking surveys have also demonstrated that there is very little parking on  the roads surrounding the development, and it should be noted these roads are for public use.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	" I can't see any car parking on the plan, document talks of underground parking but no figures. Any property built in Windsor requires two parking spaces at least per property. Talk of future transport ideas is irrelevant, the current property hasn't enough parking at the moment, residents often use vehicles for work and trade, there are no serious local public transport spaces and few employers, schools or shops in walking distance. Bicycles are not an adult answer."

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	This project has been heavily designed to ensure that the proposed development is of the highest quality.design..The.car.parking.is.located.within.the.proposed podiums and located throughout the scheme.“on.street”..The.on.street.car.parking.has.been well landscaped to prevent the parked cars from becoming an eyesore.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	" My main concern about the plans is that there is enough car parking space for the increased number of residents and dwellings. The additional development on the other side of the Manor House Park on Hanover Way did not have sufficient car parking and parking on Vale Road and Hanover Road is now a nightmare especially if you need to go the GP Practice Dedworth Medical Centre. It is not acceptable for your plans to assume a transition to walking and more use of cycling as if people want to use cars they wil

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	The level of proposed car parking has been agreed with the Local Highways Authority. Technical Transport Consultants have carried out in depth parking surveys to assess the parking needs of the proposal. The parking level accords with the recommendations of these surveys.

	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	Unallocated parking will be provided on-site as research.confirms.that.this.is.the.most.efficient.use.of land.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	" Will it be allocated parking or will there be an open car park like now?"

	DESIGN UPDATES
	DESIGN UPDATES

	RESPONSE.TO.CONSULTATION.FEEDBACK
	RESPONSE.TO.CONSULTATION.FEEDBACK

	Context
	Context

	Figure
	Design.response:
	Design.response:
	As part of the sustainable urban drainage for the site a swale is proposed to run along the boundary of Smiths Lane to improve the overall drainage across the site.
	Suitable tree species will be chosen for the ground conditions.
	Planting with semi mature trees is proposed along Smiths Lane to help screen the development.  Proposed trees will vary in height and along this edge and it is intended to include 30-35cm girth trees with an approximate height of 6-6.5m.
	Trees will be maintained for 12 months to aid establishment and in accordance with the planning conditions any dead trees will be replaced.

	Comment:
	Comment:
	"As a resident of Smiths Lane there is no thought given to sustainable and environmental concerns that this area is saturated with water when there is rains and where will the water go if it is concreted over? Also concerning your ideas of planting. Please go and have a look at the new flats that have been built over on Hanover Way - there is planting of small trees which are all practically dead because no one is looking after them or maintaining them so any herbaceous planting, don't show me mature trees 

	Figure
	Figure
	DESIGN UPDATES
	DESIGN UPDATES

	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES
	STAKEHOLDER.MASTERPLAN.PRINCIPLES

	April/May 2022
	April/May 2022

	March 2022
	March 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	June 2022
	June 2022

	July 2022
	July 2022

	December 2022
	December 2022

	January 2023
	January 2023

	February 2023
	February 2023

	August 2022
	August 2022

	October 2022
	October 2022

	May 2021
	May 2021

	January 2021
	January 2021

	July 2021
	July 2021

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan

	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation
	Draft Stakeholder Masterplan.Consultation

	Stakeholder Master Document Submission
	Stakeholder Master Document Submission

	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept
	Pre-App 01 & Initial Concept

	Pre-App 02
	Pre-App 02

	Future Homes Survey
	Future Homes Survey

	Pre-App 03
	Pre-App 03

	Pre-App 04
	Pre-App 04

	Design Review Panel
	Design Review Panel

	Pre-App 05
	Pre-App 05

	Project Begins
	Project Begins

	Consultation Event
	Consultation Event

	On.site.Consultation Events
	On.site.Consultation Events

	Figure
	Revised objectives to address feedback on the draft stakeholder masterplan, design evolution and site constraints.
	Revised objectives to address feedback on the draft stakeholder masterplan, design evolution and site constraints.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Integration of water attenuation features into the scheme.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Primary access road to be adjusted to achieve access to Plot D south houses.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	North - Southeast pedestrian route path to be adjusted to follow Plot D new footprint.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Basin.to.be.adjusted.to.meet.flood.requirements.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Increase.active.frontages.at.ground.floor.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Homes to be relocated across the site following the removal of Plot E.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Increase the separation distance between existing Dedworth Manor.Lodge.and.the.proposed.buildings.by.removing.Plot.E.building.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Plot.B,C.and.D.orientation.to.be.amended.to.define.new.pedestrian routes across the site.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Re-orientate Plot D to increase the seperation distance between existing.dwellings.along.Thames.Mead.with.town.houses.within.Plot D.



	Plot A
	Plot A
	Plot A
	Plot A
	Plot A


	Plot B
	Plot B
	Plot B
	Plot B


	Plot C
	Plot C
	Plot C
	Plot C


	Plot D
	Plot D
	Plot D
	Plot D



	Plot E 
	Plot E 
	Plot E 
	Plot E 
	Removed
	Removed


	KEY
	KEY

	Additional Access Road
	Additional Access Road
	Proposed Pedestrian Route
	Existing Informal Pedestrian Access

	DESIGN UPDATES
	DESIGN UPDATES

	MASTERPLAN.UPDATES
	MASTERPLAN.UPDATES

	Figure
	Following the extensive public consultation and taking into account the comments and suggestions that have been received, the design of the masterplan has been updated in order to address the feedback that has been received.
	Following the extensive public consultation and taking into account the comments and suggestions that have been received, the design of the masterplan has been updated in order to address the feedback that has been received.

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Plot E has been removed to increase separation distance between.existing.Dedworth.Manor.and.built.form.at.Sawyers.Close

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Small.extension.northwards.to.the.size.of.the.buildings.along.Maidenhead.Road.(Plot.A).

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Plot B footprint has been adjusted to support new landscape design. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Plot D footprint has been adjusted to increase separation distance of built form between existing dwellings along Thames Mead.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Block C1 has been moved north.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Block C4 has been rotated to create sunking gardens.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Street layout around the south of Plot D updated to provide improved access to townhouses and permeability through the scheme. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	New swale along Smith Lane to provide water attenuation to proposed basin.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	On-site.drainage.attenuation.basin.included.to.support.sustainable urban drainage system.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Redesign.of.ground.floor.layouts.to.introduce.Ground.Floor.flats,.increase.ground.floor.actication.and.optimise.parking.spaces.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Buildings in Plot A increased in height to better address Maidenhead.Road.context.and.accommodate.the.loss.of.Plot.E.from the south of the site.



	1
	1
	1


	2
	2
	2


	+1
	+1
	+1


	+2
	+2
	+2


	+1
	+1
	+1


	Plot A
	Plot A
	Plot A
	Plot A
	Plot A


	Plot B
	Plot B
	Plot B
	Plot B


	Plot C
	Plot C
	Plot C
	Plot C


	Plot D
	Plot D
	Plot D
	Plot D



	2
	2
	2


	7 Storeys
	7 Storeys
	7 Storeys


	8 Storeys
	8 Storeys
	8 Storeys


	7 Storeys
	7 Storeys
	7 Storeys


	3
	3
	3


	4
	4
	4


	5
	5
	5


	5
	5
	5


	6 Storeys
	6 Storeys
	6 Storeys


	5 Storeys
	5 Storeys
	5 Storeys


	6
	6
	6


	8 Storeys
	8 Storeys
	8 Storeys


	7
	7
	7


	3
	3
	3


	6
	6
	6


	5 Storeys
	5 Storeys
	5 Storeys


	8
	8
	8


	6 Storeys
	6 Storeys
	6 Storeys


	9
	9
	9


	8
	8
	8


	8 Storeys
	8 Storeys
	8 Storeys


	1
	1
	1


	4
	4
	4


	9
	9
	9


	7
	7
	7


	KEY
	KEY

	XX
	XX
	XX


	Added number of storeys
	Added number of storeys
	Total number of storeys

	XX.Storeys
	XX.Storeys
	XX.Storeys


	Figure
	SAWYERS CLOSE MASTERPLAN
	SAWYERS CLOSE MASTERPLAN

	FINAL.STAKEHOLDER.
	FINAL.STAKEHOLDER.
	MASTERPLAN.
	(FOR.ADOPTION)

	FEBRUARY.2023.DESIGN
	FEBRUARY.2023.DESIGN
	FEBRUARY.2023.DESIGN


	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	THE FLOURISH WHEEL
	THE FLOURISH WHEEL

	An assessment tool for health and well-being
	An assessment tool for health and well-being
	An assessment tool for health and well-being


	SAWYERS CLOSE
	SAWYERS CLOSE
	SAWYERS CLOSE







	10 New Shared Service Agreement for the commissioning of Joint Legal Services (JLT)
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	Background to JLT


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	The following are the key implications of this report.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	There are no financial consequences arising from the new Shared Service Agreement itself.  Although the Partners are not required to procure the Shared Service, they are still required to assure themselves of the best value duties of efficiency, effectiveness and economy.  It is submitted that this is discharged by scrutiny of JLT in the Board in accordance with the governance structures set up after the 2019 review and developed since then.
	4.2	The proposed Heads of Terms will enable an arrangement with increased budget stability and sufficient monitoring to enable the early identification of any emerging variances and their cause.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	Following consultation with Berkshire Monitoring Officers, Reading BC commissioned legal advice from Browne Jacobson solicitors on behalf of all the Partners.  This was to provide independent reassurance on the legal implications of the new Shared Services Agreement.  This advice has been circulated to the Berkshire Monitoring Officers Group.
	5.2	The advice confirms that the Partners have power under the sections 1&3 of the Localism Act 2011 (known as the General Power of Competence) to put in place the proposed arrangement.
	5.3	The key difference between the proposed arrangement and the previous Shared Services Agreement was that the previous agreement only covered the relationship between six councils.  It was therefore appropriate to make the Agreement under those various local government powers traditionally used for supplying services and sharing staff between councils.  However, a number of councils have now delegated their powers relating to Children’s Services to companies using the delegations under the Children and Young Persons Act 2008.  This is the case in Reading, Slough and Windsor and Maidenhead.
	5.4	The legal advice confirms that the Partners can organise the service as envisaged in the Heads of Terms provided that it is undertaken on a cost recovery basis.  If the Partners wished to consider a commercial basis for the Service then it would need to be delivered through a company.
	5.5	As regards procurement, the advice considers that on the current cost recovery model, the Partners fall within the exemption for a public partnership outlined in the Regulation 12 (7) Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  This means that the Service is not caught by the requirements of the Regulations to be tendered.
	5.6	Contracts which are established for co-operation between contracting authorities, contain the following three elements:
	5.6.1	The Contract establishes or implements a co-operation between the participating contracting authorities with the aim of ensuring that public services they have to perform are provided with a view to achieving objectives they have in common.  Each partner has a statutory duty to provide Children’s Services and Adult Social Care.  Even if that duty is delegated to a company, that company is a “body governed by public law” in the definitions of the Regulations and is therefore counted as a contracting authority.  There is co-operation beyond the mere provision of a supply of a Service by Reading BC.  The Heads of Terms envisage a role for all Partners in the governance of JLT and the improvement of the Service for the overall benefit of all the Partners.  It is a Shared Service in the mutual interests of all Partners, and the pooling of specialist legal resource in one team allows all the Partners to better navigate the peaks and troughs of work.  These features mean that there is a dependency between all Partners not just between one Partner and JLT.
	5.6.2	The implementation of that co-operation is governed solely by considerations relating to the public interest.  The Heads of Terms confirm that JLT is not a commercial venture and that there is no intention to run it for surplus or profit.  The purposes are clearly stated to support the Partners in furtherance of their statutory functions.
	5.6.3	The participating contracting authorities perform on the open market less than 20% of the activities concerned by the co-operation.  This is not relevant since there is no work performed on the open market.  Some work is performed for Berkshire schools in the ASCE team, but this is incidental to the main purposes of the Agreement.
	5.7	The Partners are therefore able to enter into this Shared Service Agreement and it is not required to be procured via the Public Contracts Regulations.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	6.1	The proposed option is to enter into a shared services arrangement for legal services which support our social services.  The arrangement would be shared with the five other Berkshire local authorities. The potential risks arising from the operation of such an arrangement include:

	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. This report has no impact on sustainability or climate change, as it proposes to continue with the existing working relationship with a team based locally within Berkshire.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. There is no Data Protection / GDPR issues arising from this report.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	As covered in section 2 of this report, both the Berkshire Local Authority Monitoring Officers and Chief Executive groups have been involved in moving the proposal to this stage.
	8.2	The Executive Director of People Services has been engaged with the JLT Steering Group and has ensured that RBWM services which frequently use the JLT provisions are in agreement with the recommendations of this report.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: ‘Immediately’. The full implementation stages are set out in table 4.
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by four appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is not supported by background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION

	11 Borough Wide Heritage Strategy and Action Plan Update
	12 Household Support Fund, Tranche 4 allocation
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	Proposed approach to delivery of the DWP Household Support Fund
	2.2	The proposed allocation of the DWP Household Support Fund (2023/24) is through two separate streams, summarised below. This continues the approach taken for Tranche 4 of funding, and follows the published DWP guidance - 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024: Household Support Fund guidance for county councils and unitary authorities in England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
	2.3	Scheme 1: Free School Meals Support in the holidays
	2.4	This approach replicates that taken in previous tranches of the Household Support Fund, which targeted families with children. The approach uses receipt of Free School Meals to target vulnerable children and families directly, to support them with food costs during the school holidays.
	2.5	Families are encouraged to register for Free School meals.  If eligible there is additional benefit to the school (in terms of Pupil Premium). Families in receipt of Free School Meals will receive a £20 voucher per week, per child. These are allocated automatically to families, through schools, with no further application needed.
	2.6	In Tranche 4, the proposal is to allocate vouchers for nine weeks of school holidays. This covers two weeks of the school summer holidays, rather than the full six week period.
	2.7	In the summer holidays, the borough runs the FUEL programme for children on free school meals, and this provides free lunches, which helps to mitigate additional food costs during the holidays. If vouchers were provided for all weeks of the school holidays, then this would take over 80% of the funding. This would not be in line with DWP guidance, which recommends a flexible approach, which supports a wide range of vulnerable households, and allows households to put themselves forward and apply for support.
	2.8	Scheme 2: Financial support to households identified as being in severe financial hardship and at risk of escalation of problems (a partnership approach)
	2.9	RBWM’s proposes to continue working with a selection of delivery partners (DPs) to allocate the remainder of the Household Support Grant (£350-400k) to households identified as experiencing severe financial hardship and at risk of escalation of problems. These delivery partners include a range of local voluntary and community sector organisations, housing associations, and health partners, plus Achieving for Children and Optalis, who have joined as partners for Tranche 3 in recent weeks.  A full list of Distribution Partners (DPs) is included in the Household Support Fund Policy document at Appendix B.
	2.10	DPs have discretion to identify residents in severe financial hardship and at risk over the period of the scheme, using their own sources of data and information, using criteria agreed with the council, and in accordance with the DWP guidance.
	2.11	Residents identified by DPs, will be provided with a Unique Reference Number (URN) and encouraged to make an application to the council via a simple web-based application form. Subject to checks for identify and fraud, residents will receive a one-off cash payment of £145, which will be transferred into their bank account by BACS.
	2.12	DPs will take primary responsibility for identifying and assessing who is in greatest need.  The council will check for residency, duplicate applications, and potential fraud. The Council will promote the policy and list of DPs to residents and the wider community through its website, a range of targeted communications, and through working through a diverse group of community organisations, parishes, and stakeholders.
	2.13	Our delivery partners have a strong track record of working to support residents who are most in need and have the information and relationships that can help to target the fund effectively. Those working directly with our communities are best placed to identify these individuals and to assess who will benefit most from the support. In particular, they are better able to identify residents who have missed out on previous support, for example, because they do not fall into particular age ranges, or receive certain benefits.
	2.14	Working in partnership provides opportunities to embed the one-off cash payments to residents within a wider offer of support and advice. This approach enables applications to the fund to be made as part of a wider conversation about the resident’s needs and will complement advice, for example on budgeting, management of health conditions and / or wider sources of support. The cash payment can also help partners to engage new ‘harder to reach’ groups of residents and offers frontline staff, such as social workers, an opportunity to help their clients access payments to help at points of crisis, as part of their wider support to the household.
	2.15	Working together in this way also aims to build stronger collaboration between the council and its partners, and to facilitate the type of community-based, resilience-building, and preventative approach that we wish to develop further going forwards.


	3.	Update on Tranche 3 of the Partnership scheme and implications for Tranche 4
	3.1	The Tranche 3 partnership scheme has to date supported over 800 households, plus 120 care leavers; the demographic breakdown of applicants is as follows. Ethnicity: White British 79%; White Other 5%; Asian/Asian British 4.4%; Black/Black British 3%; Mixed 2.8%; Prefer not to say 2.8%; Other 2%. Gender: Female 70%; Male 29%; Prefer not to say <1%. Household description: Family with children 52%; Other 28%; Disabled 14%; Over pensionable age 6%. It is likely that the number of applicants over pensionable age is  higher than the figures suggest, as a high proportion of those with a disability are also likely to be over pensionable age. However, we recognise that this is a demographic we need to more specifically target moving forwards. We expect that the scheme will have supported around 1000 households by the end of the Tranche 3 funding period at the end of March. These numbers are lower than initially expected. Demand has taken some time to build up, but we are now receiving in the region of 70-100 applications per week.
	3.2	The amount of funding spent on the Free School Meal Holiday Voucher component (scheme 1) was higher than expected, due to increased numbers of children receiving Free School Meals and so has reduced the level of funding available for scheme 2. A small amount of budget initially allocated from tranche 3 to the partnership component (scheme 2), is being used to pay for food vouchers for scheme 1 during the Easter holidays (Holiday food vouchers are generally issued in the week before the school holidays, and therefore would be issued in the last week of March, which falls within the Tranche 3 spending period). Therefore the full amount of RBWM’s Household Support Fund allocation for 2022/23 will be allocated.
	3.3	All Delivery Partners have been asked to provide feedback on the approach to allocation of Tranche 3 funding, and this has been overwhelmingly positive. Partners have highlighted the benefits in terms of reaching new clients; and in strengthening their offer to existing clients, through having the ability to secure the £145 payments for those clients who are at a point of crisis or struggling to deal with rising costs, and challenging circumstances. A primary benefit of the approach is the ability to link the payments to wider support and advice, for example, helping clients to access additional benefits, or to make a purchase, such as an electric blanket, that helps to manage their health condition, or to put towards an unexpected cost, such as a new fridge.
	3.4	Most report finding that the online application system is working well, and we propose to continue using the Ascendant system for applications. Some residents have needed support to make their applications, which is provided by the delivery partners. However, there are concerns that this may be a particular barrier to older people and the most vulnerable. In response, we are exploring options to add greater flexibility to the application process for those applications made by partner organisations, on behalf of the resident, such as a ‘partner verification’ of address, where applications are made from the resident’s home. Optalis have also joined as a partner, so that their social workers and care staff are able to assist applications from those receiving care at home, and their carers.
	3.5	The approach of working with partners to identify households in need is working well. Initial take up of the scheme was lower than expected and so a wide range of targeted outreach and communications have been undertaken, including a targeted leaflet drop, communications to a wide range of community organisations, parishes, schools, and community venues, presentations at relevant meetings, and articles in the Residents Newsletter. Four new partners have also been included in the scheme, to ensure further reach. (These are Achieving for Children, Optalis, Maidenhead United FC Community Trust and Windsor Foodshare.) However, there is still a risk that some of the households most in need are not aware of the Fund, or do not feel comfortable putting themselves forward for support. Therefore, targeted outreach will continue.
	3.6	There is also a risk that households who are not in greatest need do put themselves forward to seek support, particularly to Citizens Advice, who are the first port of call for households not in touch with other delivery partners. Whilst we are confident that the assessment of our partners is effective in assessing need, and some residents have been turned down where they are not assessed to be in sufficient need, it is important to continue to review the process going forwards. Further detail on feedback from Tranche 3 is included at Appendix C.
	3.7	The launch of Tranche 3 of the fund was delayed until the start of December, due to delays in receiving the guidance from DWP and the need for consultation with partners to agree on the approach. Therefore, the collective view of partners is that we have not yet reached all of those households who are in need of support. Therefore, the proposal is to extend the current scheme until the end of June 2023, meaning that households are not able to apply for support again during that period.
	3.8	From July 2023 onwards, we propose to restart the applications process. We will review and amend the scheme, if appropriate, and from this point, households will be able to apply for a second payment, where this is deemed appropriate by the delivery partners.
	3.9	During Tranche 3, the Household Support Fund has been managed without additional staff resource, by drawing on the good will of officers across a range of services. Moving forwards a dedicated post will be recruited to, in order to ensure that the Fund can be managed effectively without placing additional burdens on existing staff. This post will be funded through the Household Support Fund, as part of permitted administration costs.

	4.	KEY IMPLICATONS
	4.1	The successful delivery of this policy will provide financial support, in the form of £20 food vouchers per child, for nine of the thirteen weeks of school holidays, for families in receipt of Free School Meals; and one-off cash transfers of £145, for residents in severe financial need over the period 2023-24. We expect to support 3400 families in receipt of Free School Meals, plus in the region of 2000 households in severe financial need, across a broad range of age groups and household types, and including disabled residents, and those with long term health conditions. (Some of these households will receive more than one payment.)
	4.2	In addition, the partnership approach will help to strengthen positive relationships with and between the range of agreed partners, and the HSF cash payment aims to help to support wider, more sustained, advice and support offered by our partners and frontline staff.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	5.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	5.1	This proposal utilises the full grant provided to RBWM through the DWP Household Support Fund, with a small proportion of the Fund used to cover the council and voluntary and community sector partners’ management costs. There are therefore no additional financial burdens from the council for the delivery of this scheme. Support provided to residents will be limited to the amount provided to the council by DWP.

	6.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	6.1	The attached proposal complies with the guidance issued by DWP, and as such there are no significant legal implications.

	7.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	8.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	8.1	Equalities. Partners have been selected on the basis of their collective reach across communities, and ability to target groups with different protected characteristics. The allocation of the fund will continue to be monitored to assess distribution by ethnicity, gender, disability, pensioners, and children in the household. Where proportions do not match those of the population and evidence of need in the borough, action will be taken to proactively target under-represented groups to ensure that they are able to benefit from the scheme, including through engaging with a range of organisations working with diverse communities to encourage residents in need to come forward. A priority for Tranche 4 of the Fund, will be to increase outreach and take up among older people and those for whom the online application process presents a barrier. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.
	8.2	Climate change/sustainability: there are minimal sustainability implications of this proposal.
	8.3	Data Protection/GDPR: Personal data collected as part of the Household Support Fund application and allocation process will only be used for the purposes of allocating the Household Support Fund and will adhere to the terms of the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). Guidance on the use of personal data is included within the resident application form, for their information. Anonymised data will be analysed for monitoring the allocation of the Fund, by protected characteristics, household type and geographical location, as appropriate.

	CONSULTATION
	8.4	The second stream of the Household Support Fund (Partnerships) has been developed in close consultation with a range of partners and wider stakeholders. These include voluntary and community sector organisations, Frimley ICB, and housing partners, in addition to engagement with services across the council. Stakeholders provided valuable input to shape the policy, through a series of individual meetings and workshops and a feedback survey. A summary of feedback received is set out at Appendix D of this report.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date: The full implementation stages are set out in table 4.
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by three appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by one background document:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix A: Allocation of Household Support Fund Policy
	Allocation of Household Support Fund Policy
	(Tranche 4, April 2023 – March 2024)
	The Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) has provided £842m to County Councils and Unitary Authorities in England to support those most in need to help with global inflationary challenges and the significantly rising cost of living. This funding covers the period 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 inclusive. Local Authorities (LAs) have discretion on exactly how this funding is used within the scope set out of the accompanying grant determination and guidance. 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024: Household Support Fund guidance for county councils and unitary authorities in England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).
	Scheme 1: Support to families in receipt of Free School Meals
	Eligibility Criteria
	The Award
	Managing the risk of Fraud
	Policy Review
	Appeals


	13 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Alternative Provision (AP) Capital Strategy
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
		each school agreeing and signing a Memorandum of Understanding with the local authority setting out the scope of the accommodation works.
		each school agreeing and signing a service level agreement setting out the expectations of both the school and the local authority in relation to the running of the Resource Base.
		(for the Early Years School Readiness Hub only) Heads of Terms being agreed on the lease of the bungalow.

	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Providing sufficient school places
	2.1	The Education Act 1996 sets out a statutory duty on local authorities to provide enough school places, including provision for children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) and alternative provision (AP).  The Children and Families Act 2014 places further important statutory responsibilities for supporting children and young people with SEND, including keeping the level and scope of educational provision for them under review.
	2.2	Appendix A shows the SEND provision already open in the Royal Borough.

	Developing a SEND and AP Capital Strategy
	2.3	Cabinet considered a report in August 2022 setting out a number of national policy changes, opportunities and capital grants affecting SEND and AP school places.  In summary, these were:
		The government’s SEND review: ‘Right support, Right place, Right time.’  Published as a green paper in March 2022, this consulted on creating a new national SEND and AP system with consistent standards for identifying and meeting need, together with immediate investment in new SEND and AP places� Pages 14 and 15, SEND review: right support, right place, right time, Department for Education, March 2022..  The government is expected to publish the resulting national SEND delivery plan early in 2023.
		The Royal Borough’s SEND strategy 2022-2027.  Priority 5 of the borough’s agreed SEND strategy� Special Education Needs or Disability (SEND) Strategy (2022-2027), RBWM, October 2023. commits the borough to developing the right range of specialist provision so that as many children and young people can be educated in a local educational setting as possible.
		New special and alternative free school waves.  The Department for Education (DfE) announced £2.6m of capital investment in new SEND and AP provision, including up to 60 new special and AP free schools.
		High Needs Provision Capital Allocation (HNPCA).  The Royal Borough has been allocated £3,721,222 in capital grant to meet the capital costs of providing new places and improving existing provision for children and young people with Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs); other children and young people with SEND; and children who require alternative provision.
	2.4	Although the government’s national SEND delivery plan has not yet been published, the priorities in the borough’s SEND Strategy align with the direction of travel laid out in the green paper.
	2.5	Cabinet approved public consultation, therefore, on a number of proposals for more SEND provision in the borough, and initial design works to establish costs.  Cabinet also approved the submission of a bid for a new special free school.
	2.6	HNPCA funding has already been committed to improvements at the Charters Resourced Provision for Physical Disability (completed); to the SEND Careers Hub at the Chiltern Road site in Maidenhead (September 2023) and to costs associated with the delivery of the SEND capital programme, including design works for the proposals referred to in this report.

	New special free school bid
	2.7	The Royal Borough submitted a bid for a new special free school, as part of the latest free school wave, in October 2022.  The bid was for a 100 place special school, for children and young people aged 7 to 16 with EHCPs for Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH).  The school would be located in a new development planned on the western edge of Windsor (identified in the Borough Local Plan as AL21 West of Windsor).
	2.8	The DfE announced on 2nd March 2023 that the Royal Borough had been successful in its bid for a new special free school.  The local authority will now need to run a free school competition to invite proposer groups to apply to open the new school.
	2.9	One requirement of a successful bid is a commitment from the local authority to fund any ‘abnormal’ works related to the new school arising from specific site conditions.  This report recommends, therefore, that £500,000 is set aside from the High Needs Provision Capital Allocation for this purpose.

	Proposals for new SEND provision in the Royal Borough
	2.10	The public consultation on new SEND provision focused on four new Resource Bases attached to mainstream schools, and an Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School in Windsor.
	2.11	The Resource Base proposals were for:
		Cox Green School, Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning.
		Desborough College, Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning.
		Hilltop First School, SEN Unit or Resourced Provision for Communication and Interaction.
		Trevelyan Middle School, Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning.

	Note on Resource Bases, Resourced Provision, SEN Units and Hubs
	2.12	Resource Base is a generic term for a facility attached to a school that provides additional support for children and young people with EHCPs.  Resource Bases usually focus on a specific need or range of needs, and come in two types:
		Resourced Provision.  Children and young people attending this will be able to spend most of their time in mainstream classes at the school.  They will spend some time receiving extra support in the provision itself.
		SEN Unit.  Children and young people attending a SEN Unit will spend more of their time in the unit, but will still attend some mainstream classes in the school.
	2.13	Three of the proposed bases are for Cognition and Learning, which covers Specific Learning Difficulties, such as dyslexia or dyspraxia, or Moderate Learning Difficulties.  There are not currently any Resource Bases for Cognition and Learning in the borough.
	2.14	The fourth proposed base (at Hilltop First School) is for Communication and Interaction, which covers Speech, Language and Communication Needs (SLCN) and Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC).  The borough has a Speech and Language Resourced Provision at Riverside Primary School, and two primary age ASC Resourced Provisions (Furze Platt Primary Federation, Dedworth Campus), and the planned SEN Unit at South Ascot Village Primary School.
	2.15	Hubs are different to Resource Bases, and provide short term, additional, support to children and young people who might attend only for a few hours each week.  They will continue to have most of their lessons at their ‘home’ school, and do not have to have an EHCP.  The purpose of hubs is to keep children at their current school, addressing issues as soon as possible through early intervention.

	Informal consultation
	2.16	Paragraph 5.1 in Section 5 sets out the details of the consultation and decision-making process required by legislation for this type of proposal.  The first step is ‘informal consultation’.  More details about the consultation process are given in Section 8; the consultation document is provided at Appendix B; the full details of the consultation outcome are given in Appendix C.
	2.17	In summary, the outcome of the consultation is very positive, as shown in Tables 1 and 2.
	2.18	Overall, 93% of 178 respondents were in favour of opening new Resource Bases, and 89% were in favour of an Early Years School Readiness Hub.
	2.19	Respondents were given the opportunity to comment on their answers, with the following main points being raised.  The numbers in brackets indicate the number of respondents who made this point in their comments:
		More Resource Bases are required as there is not enough local SEND provision (21).
		Resource Bases will help school(s) provide more support to children with SEND (21).
		More early intervention is needed to support families of children with SEND, particularly where a diagnosis hasn’t yet been made (3).
		My school is not currently meeting the SEND needs of my child (9).
		Many children and young people with SEND can remain in mainstream school, provided they have sufficient support (7).
		All schools should have the opportunity to have a Resource Base (5).
		Decisions about which provision should go ahead should be made on the basis of need across the borough and at individual schools (5).
	2.20	Of the 56 parents/carers of children with EHCPs who responded, 88% were in favour of opening more Resource Bases, and 85% in favour of the proposed Early Years School Readiness Hub.
	2.21	Many more comments were made in relation to this question, and these are summarised on pages 3 and 5 of Appendix C.  All of the individual comments can be read in Appendix I.
	2.22	The consultation then asked respondents to give their views on the individual site proposals, as summarised in Table 3.  Note that Hilltop First School appears in the table twice, as the borough consulted on both a Resourced Provision and a SEN Unit.
	2.23	There is a high level of uncertainty from respondents in relation to specific proposals, with many respondents unable or unwilling to comment on schools that they may have no direct experience of.  The level of responses against each specific option is, however, very low.  Table 4 sets out the percentages for and against each option, with ‘No view’ removed.
	2.24	Excluding ‘No view’ there is a very high level of support for all of the options.
	2.25	Appendix C also gives a breakdown of responses from each of the school communities (parents, staff and governors) at which new SEND provision is proposed.
	2.26	Although relatively few responses were received from each school, in all cases there were majorities in favour of the proposals.
	2.27	Respondents were given the opportunity to comment on their answers in relation to the specific proposals.  Not many specific issues raised, but these did include:
		Not wanting to open Resourced Provision at a single-sex school for boys, as there would be no equivalent provision for girls (1).
		Concern over whether the needs to be met by the proposed Communication and Interaction Resourced Provision at Hilltop would be too broad (1).
	2.28	The comments made in relation to these questions are summarised in Appendix C.  All of the individual comments can be read in Appendix I.
	2.29	The final question of the consultation related to whether the new provision at Hilltop First School should be a Resourced Provision or a SEN Unit.  Here, the response was:
		10% for Resourced Provision
		26% for SEN Unit
		19% Don’t know
		45% No view.
	2.30	Most respondents have no view, but of the two options, the SEN Unit is preferred.  This is replicated in the responses from the Hilltop community, where 12% were in favour of Resourced Provision, and 52% in favour of a SEN Unit.

	Initial design and feasibility works on new accommodation required
	2.31	Resource Bases and hubs have their own accommodation, where children and young people attending the facility can receive additional support.  There is no set guidance for hubs, but the DfE’s Building Bulletin 104 sets space standards for Resource Bases.
	2.32	Initial design works have been carried out by the borough, in partnership with HLM Architects, for the Resource Bases.  Thames Valley Surveying has worked with the borough on the design for the Early Years School Readiness Hub.  All the options have been developed in partnership with the schools.
	2.33	In summary, a range of deliverable options have been identified at all five sites, either through the remodelling of existing accommodation (including former caretaker bungalows), extensions to buildings or new standalone blocks.  Appendix D provides a summary of these options, together with recommendations.  The Part II version also provides estimated costings (Appendix E, Part II item).

	Options appraisal
	2.34	Appendix F provides an appraisal of the recommended proposals at each school, including consultation outcome, Ofsted ratings, location, local need, capital cost and practicality of deliverability.
	2.35	There are no concerns about the ability of any of the schools to deliver and run a Resource Base or Hub.  Affordability in both capital and revenue terms mean that all four Resource Bases and the Hubs can proceed.

	Recommending further investigations and a phased programme
	2.36	This report recommends that approval be given to:
		The Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns, to open in September 2023.
		Resourced Provision for Communication and Interaction at Hilltop First School, to open in September 2024.
		Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning at Trevelyan Middle School, to open in September 2024.
	2.37	Further discussions are needed in relation to the proposals for Cox Green School and Desborough College.  This will allow the schools and local authority to consider more fully the impact of a Resource Base at a single-sex school (Desborough College).  In addition, both proposals were for Cognition and Learning, which is more than is needed.  One of the bases could instead be for a different range of needs, if agreed by the schools.  A change in the type of need would require some additional consultation.
	2.38	Accordingly, it is proposed that the Royal Borough gives in principle agreement is given to the two secondary bases to open in September 2025, subject to further discussions with the schools and any necessary consultation.
	2.39	This will give a phased programme with new provision opening in 2023, 2024 and 2025.  This will ensure there is capacity to develop and deliver the new Resource Bases, reducing the risk to the revenue budgets (see paragraphs 4.8 to 4.19 in Section 3 for more details about revenue).

	Manor Green School
	2.40	A project to improve access to Manor Green School is proposed, to be funded by both S106 and HNPCA.  This project will replace the two single-carriageway gates on site with double-carriageway gates, allowing traffic to pass in both directions when open.  This should help improve traffic flow onsite, and reduce delays on Cannon Lane at the start and end of the school day.  If approved, the works should be carried out over the summer holiday period in 2023.

	Other proposals
	2.41	Occasionally, significant revenue savings can be made by making relatively minor adjustments to accommodation to meet the needs of a particular child or young person.  Such adjustments, made to local state schools or colleges, can avoid the need to send a child or young person with an EHCP to a more costly independent sector place.  It is proposed that £200k of HNPCA is set aside for this purpose.  This would replace the S106 pot that has previously been used for this purpose, which is now almost all spent.

	SEND and AP Capital Strategy
	2.42	The resulting SEND and AP Capital Strategy can be summarised, therefore, as in Table 5.
	2.43	Appendix G (Part II) provides the estimated costs to the capital programme for each element of this proposed programme.  This includes capital funding for the two ‘in-principle’ decisions for Resourced Provision at Cox Green School and Desborough College.
	2.44	Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council that the budgets set out in Appendix G are added to the 2023/24 capital programme.

	Next steps
	New special school
	2.45	The DfE will be providing the Royal Borough with key dates for carrying out a competition to find a proposer to run the new special free school.  It is likely that this will need to be run in Spring 2023, with decisions around the proposer by the Autumn.
	New Resource Bases and Early Years School Readiness Hub
	2.46	The Governing Bodies and Academy Trusts for the schools involved are still considering the outcome of the consultation.  This report proposes, therefore, that Cabinet approval of these schemes is subject to approval by the relevant Governing Bodies and Academy Trusts.
	2.47	This will allow formal consultation on the Hilltop First School proposal to proceed in the summer term 2023.  The Royal Borough will then need to formally consider whether the proposal should still go ahead.  It is proposed that this decision is delegated to the AfC Director for Children’s Services, in conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Education, Health, Mental Health and Transformation.  This will be subject to no substantive new issues being raised during the formal consultation period.  If any are, then the proposals will need to come back to Cabinet for approval.
	2.48	For Cox Green School, Desborough College and Trevelyan Middle School, the process is slightly different as the schools are academies.  Their academy trusts will need to submit a Business Case to the DfE, once planning permission for the new build has been secured.
	2.49	No further formal permissions from Cabinet are required in the case of the Early Years School Readiness Hub.
	2.50	However, for all five proposals, the main project contract will not be tendered until:
		All parties at each school, including the local authority, agree and sign a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) setting out the scope of the new accommodation to be provided.
		All parties at each school, including the local authority, agree and sign a Service Level Agreement setting out the expectations of both the school and local authority in relation to the provision to be offered.
		Heads of Terms have been agreed in relation to any leases (this affects the Early Years school Readiness Hub).
	2.51	Projects will then move through full design stage, planning permission (where relevant) and procurement before the construction phase begins.  During this time the borough will work with schools on setting up the new Resource Bases and Hub.

	Options

	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	Table 7: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	There is more detail about the revenue costs in paragraphs 4.13 to 4.19.  Resource Bases do have implications for revenue funding but, if correctly managed these should not have a negative impact.  All revenue costs will be met from within the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant, and not from within the local authority’s revenue.
	Capital funding
	4.2	The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead has been allocated capital funding from the DfE’s High Needs Provision Capital Allocation (HNPCA).  The allocations, by financial year, are as follows:
		2021/22	£500,000
		2022/23	£1,299,900
		2023/24	£1,921,232
		Total	£3,721,222
	4.3	There is currently no expectation of further allocations in subsequent financial years.  The purpose of the grant is to meet the capital cost of providing new places and improving existing provision for:
		children and young people with EHCPs and, where appropriate, other children and young people with SEND who do not have an EHCP.
		pupils who require alternative provision, including those in AP settings without an EHCP.
	4.4	The DfE is encouraging local authorities to invest in projects that help manage pressures on high needs revenue budgets.  In particular, the DfE wants local authorities to consider prioritising projects that increase the number of suitable places for children with EHCPs in mainstream settings, i.e. Resourced Provision and/or SEN Units.
	4.5	Other key points from the guidance are that:
		the funding is intended mainly for school aged children, but local authorities can spend it across the 0 to 25 age range (including at further education colleges).
		there is no deadline for spending the funding.
		the funding can be spent on provision that lies outside the local authority boundary, if that will improve the range and quality of provision for our children and young people.
		the funding is not intended for individual mobility equipment, or for maintenance work.  It also cannot be used for revenue expenditure of any kind.
		the later allocations also include a small element for improving the suitability and accessibility of school buildings.
	4.6	The full guidance is available on the DfE website� High Needs Provision Capital Allocations Guidance, DfE, April 2021..
	4.7	Appendix G (Part II) sets out the estimated costs of the proposed options and shows that these are expected to be affordable within the £3,721,222 grant.  There will be no impact on the council’s own capital resources.

	Revenue funding for new SEN Units and/or Resourced Provision
	Impact of the revenue funding on a school
	4.8	Schools with a SEN Unit or Resourced Provision receive additional revenue funding to reflect the higher costs of educating children and young people with EHCPs.  The funding for pupils attending a unit or provision is, therefore, comprised of a number of elements (the figures relate to one financial year):
		Element 1: This is the AWPU (Age Weighted Pupil Unit).  All schools get funding for each pupil at the school as part of the school’s delegated funding.  This is currently £3,584.54 for a primary school, £5,053.61 for the KS3 years in a middle school, and £5,695.74 for secondary schools.  Schools also receive other pupil led elements in the formula (e.g. funding for pupils with free school meals, deprivation, English as an Additional Language).
		Element 2: £6,000 for each pupil in the unit or provision, or £10,000 for each unfilled place in the unit or provision.
		Element 3: Since September 2019, top-up funding for all new EHCP children at any academy, aided, community, or controlled school in the borough has been based on a matrix that considers the child’s individual needs� Note, this change does not affect EHCP children currently attending Resourced Units, who will continue to be funded as per the existing top-up arrangements..  The top-up funding is between £2k and £21k per child, and will be reviewed annually as part of the child’s annual EHCP review.  It is assumed that, on average, the top-up for a child in Resourced Provision will be around £6,000.  For a child in an SEN Unit, the average top-up may be closer to £8,000.
	4.9	It is important to note that some of the pupils attending the unit or provision may be included within the usual number of children educated at the school.  This is because the School Admissions Code does not allow for places to be set aside specifically for pupils in the unit or provision.  At first entry to school (e.g. for a Reception school place), children with an EHCP naming a school are given places ahead of all other applicants.  For admissions outside the normal intake year, a child whose EHCP names the school will be admitted, even if the school is full in that specific year group.  If the year group is an infant year group, the child is treated as an ‘excepted’ child for the purposes of the infant class size legislation, so that the limit of 30 children per teacher is not breached.
	4.10	A (full) one form entry primary school with 210 pupils, therefore, could expect to have somewhere between 210 and 220 pupils after opening a Resource Base.  Up to ten of these would be attending the new facility.  Some year groups might have additional pupils, where a child with an EHCP naming the school has been admitted.
	4.11	The £10,000 funding for unfilled places in the unit or provision reflects the need to maintain the staffing of the facility even when it is not full.  Place funding levels are agreed annually for each financial year, for each unit or provision.
	4.12	The children attending a SEN Unit or Resourced Provision are excluded from the Targeted SEN in-year funding for schools.

	Impact on the borough’s revenue funding
	4.13	Funding for pupils with EHCPs comes from the government via the High Needs Block (HNB).  Providing new school places for children and young people with EHCPs does not, in itself, lead to additional funding from the government via the HNB.  This is because the HNB is allocated on a formulaic basis, taking account of the 2-18 population and the historic number of agreed places for children with EHCPs, as well as data on deprivation, health and other measures.
	4.14	Revenue for the new units or provision would, therefore, need to come from within the existing HNB, which is already under pressure.  The cost to the HNB of running a Resource Base will come from Elements 2 and 3 referred to in paragraph 4.8 above, as set out in Tables 9 (Resourced Provision) and 10 (SEN Unit).
	4.15	Based on the recommendations to proceed with four new Resource Bases, phased over two years, the nominal cost to the High Needs Budget would be as set out in Table 11.  In the first year of opening, the revenue costs of any new Resource Base will be 7/12ths of the annual cost, assuming an opening in September.  These figures assume each new facility is only partially full in its first year of opening (four empty places).
	4.16	Most, if not all, of the children attending the proposed Resource Bases will, however, either already be funded by, or be a future cost to, the High Needs Block.  For the most part, therefore, the costs identified in Table 11 are ones the borough would already expect.  Extra revenue costs will arise, however, if (i) places in Resource Bases are not filled; and/or (ii) places are filled by out-borough children.
	4.17	To address these risks it is proposed that the opening of new Resource Bases is phased over two years.  If take-up is less than projected, the second phase can then be delayed, reducing the risk of any empty places.  In addition, the long lead-in period until opening means there is an opportunity to plan how the places will be used, further minimising the risk of empty places.  If these proposals go forward, therefore, officers will need to work with families and schools to identify pupils who would benefit from the new provision as soon as possible.  This approach will also help ensure that places are prioritised for local residents.
	4.18	Over the longer term, it is also hoped that the proposals help manage future costs by:
		reducing the amount of top-up/element 3 funding paid, as, in future, borough residents who would otherwise attend more expensive placements (at Manor Green, Forest Bridge or at independent/out-borough places) could attend more appropriate local settings.
		reducing the associated home to school transport costs.
		freeing up future places at Manor Green and Forest Bridge for pupils with even more complex needs, who currently have to attend more expensive independent/out-borough schools (with the associated home to school transport costs).
		reducing tribunal costs, as the borough would be able to provide appropriate places in local mainstream schools, which is more likely to be in line with parental wishes.
	4.19	The candidates for spaces freed up at Manor Green and Forest Bridge will also need to be identified, in order to realise the maximum benefits for families (bringing pupils and young people closer to home) and for the revenue budget (less costly provision).


	Revenue funding for Early Years School Readiness Hub
	4.20	The revenue funding for the Early Years School Readiness Hub will come from the High Needs Block, and is expected to be £100,000 per annum. This will cover staffing costs and the running costs associated with the new accommodation.
	4.21	Over time, it is hoped that the proposal will help manage future costs by reducing the number of young children permanently excluded from school, who might then need to be placed in more expensive specialist provision.


	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	Community, Voluntary Controlled and Voluntary Aided schools
	5.1	The creation of Resource Base at a community, controlled or aided school requires that the local authority follows a statutory process, as set out in regulations and guidance� Making significant changes (‘prescribed alterations’) to maintained schools, DfE, January 2023. .  This process, which would apply to Hilltop First School, involves:
		informal consultation.  This has been carried out (see Section 8.  The informal consultation period is not statutory, although there is a strong expectation that it should be carried out.
		publication of proposals (the ‘statutory notice’).
		4 week formal representation period.
		decision by the local authority, to be made within two months of the end of the representation period.
		implementation.
	5.2	It is proposed that publication of proposals would happen in early summer 2023.
	5.3	There is no requirement to carry out a similar process for the creation of an Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School.

	Academy schools, including free schools
	5.4	Adding Resourced Provision at an academy requires that the trust submits a full Business Case to the ESFA for approval� Making significant changes to an open academy, DfE, January 2022..  The process involves:
		notifying the ESFA at least three months before the proposed change.
		carrying out public consultation.  This has been carried out as part of the borough consultation (see Section 8).
		completing the full Business Case and submitting it to the DfE.
		decision by the Regional Department for Education Directors.
	5.5	Submission of the Business Case to the DfE requires that planning permission for the new build has been obtained.  This introduces a potential delay into the process that will need to be managed.
	5.6	Planning Permission would be required for any extensions or new build.

	Procurement
	5.7	Capital schemes will be procured in line with the borough’s procurement processes.  This report recommends that, where Cabinet level authority is required to procure or enter into contracts, this is delegated to the AfC Director of Children’s Services and the Procurement Manager.


	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix H.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability.  The government is placing increasing importance on the sustainability of school buildings.  The borough already meets high carbon reduction targets in its new school buildings, and officers will be looking at how to minimise environmental impact with these building schemes.  Providing more local provision for children with social communication difficulties and related behaviours should also reduce home to school travel times and, therefore, transport related carbon emissions.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR.  Personal data was collected as part of the consultation process, for processing purposes only.  The appropriate privacy notices were included in the electronic and printed consultation documents.  Reporting on the outcome of the consultation only includes aggregated, anonymised data.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	Informal public consultation on the proposals for new Resource Bases in the borough was approved by Cabinet in August 2022.  Following work to refine the options, consultation started on Monday 9th January 2023 and finished on Friday 24th February 2023.  The consultation ran for just under seven weeks.
	8.2	A consultation document (Appendix B – New provision for children with special educational needs) was produced in consultation with the involved schools.  This was distributed, largely electronically, to parents, staff, governors and other interested parties as set out in Table 13 below.  All borough schools were asked to use their electronic parent messaging services to send the consultation weblink to their parents.  A small number of printed copies of the document were sent to schools who had parents with no access to the internet.  An email with the consultation link was also sent direct to 303 parents/carers of borough children with EHCPs on roll at non-RBWM schools.
	8.3	The consultation was available on the Achieving for Children website, linked from the Royal Borough website, together with an online (SmartSurvey) response form.
	8.4	The consultation was referred to in each weekly Resident Newsletter (circulated to 22,000 residents) during the consultation period, and was the top news story in the one dated 17th February 2023.  The consultation was also widely publicised on the borough website  and social media channels, and a press release was issued on Monday 9th January, resulting in articles in local newspapers.
	8.5	178 responses were received, mostly via the online survey form.  This represents a response rate of 1.1%.  This is below the 3% response rate sought, but still gives a robust indication of views on the proposals, particularly given the high level of support for each option.  Attempts were made to boost the response rate, e.g. by asking schools to email reminders to parents and by ‘retweeting’ the consultation link on borough and councillor twitter feeds.
	8.6	More details about the outcome of the consultation are given at Appendix C: Consultation analysis and comments made.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. The full implementation stages are set out in Table 14.
	Table 14: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by nine appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by four background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	APPENDIX A – SEND PROVISION IN THE ROYAL BOROUGH
	A.1	The Royal Borough has two schools specifically for children with Special Educational Needs.  It also has six Resource Bases and two further bases set to open in September 2023 and September 2024.  There are not currently any hubs.
	12.1	The SEN Unit at South Ascot Village Primary School will open on 1st September 2023.  The Resourced Provision at Wraysbury Primary School is at design stage,


	Appendix B
	New provision for children with special educational needs
	Public Consultation: January 2023
	What are we proposing?
	An Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School, Windsor
	A second wave of new Resource Bases at schools in Maidenhead and Windsor

	What you say matters…
	What happens after the consultation finishes?
	What has happened so far?
	Funding for new facilities for children and young people with special educational needs…
	A new special school?
	A SEND Careers Hub...
	The Special Educational Needs or Disability (SEND) Strategy 2022 – 2027

	Why do we need the new provision?
	Resource Bases and Hubs explained
	What are Resource Bases?
	Resourced Provision explained
	SEN Unit explained

	Who will go to the new Resource Bases?
	Moving on from the Resource Bases…
	What are Hubs?
	Current or planned Resource Bases and Hubs
	Proposed Wave 2 Resource Bases
	Proposed Hub

	School locations
	Cox Green School Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning
	Key information about the school
	View of the Headteacher and Governing Body of Cox Green School:

	“We are excited about the possibility of expanding our school capacity; as a school we are passionate about providing a high-quality inclusive experience to all our families. Thus, the opportunity to expand our core offer of 'Life in all its fullness'...
	Key information about the school
	View of the Headteacher and Governing Body of Desborough College:

	Hilltop First School Resourced Provision or SEN Unit for Communication and Interaction
	Key information about the school
	View of the Headteacher and Governing Body of Hilltop First School:

	The Lawns Nursery School Early Years School Readiness Hub
	Key information about the school
	View of the Headteacher and Governing Body of The Lawns Nursery School:

	Trevelyan Middle School Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning
	Key information about the school
	View of the Headteacher and Governing Body of Trevelyan Middle School:



	Appendix C
	1. Should we open more Resource Bases?
	All responses
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open new Resourced Provision and/or SEN Units for children with EHCPs?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Responses from parents/carers of RBWM EHCP children and young people
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open new Resourced Provision and/or SEN Units for children with EHCPs?
	Comments made in relation to opening more Resource Bases

	2. Should we open an Early Years School Readiness Hub?
	All responses
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open an Early Years School Readiness Hub?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Responses from parents/carers of RBWM EHCP children and young people
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open an Early Years School Readiness Hub?
	Comments made in relation to opening an Early Years School Readiness Hub

	3.  Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Cox Green School?
	All responses
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning at Cox Green School?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Responses from the Cox Green School community
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning at Cox Green School?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Comments made in relation to opening a Resourced Provision at Cox Green School

	4. Resourced Provision for Cognition & Learning at Desborough College?
	All responses
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning at Desborough College?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Responses from the Desborough College community
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning at Desborough College?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Comments made in relation to opening a Resourced Provision at Desborough College

	5. Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First School?
	All responses
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First School?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Responses from the Hilltop First School community
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First School?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).

	6. SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First School?
	All responses
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First School?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Responses from the Hilltop First School community
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a SEN Unit for Communication & Interaction at Hilltop First School?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).

	7. Resourced Provision or SEN Unit at Hilltop First School?
	All responses
	There are two options for a Resource Base at Hilltop.  Please indicate whether you have a preference for either?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Responses from the Hilltop First School community
	There are two options for a Resource Base at Hilltop.  Please indicate whether you have a preference for either?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Comments made in relation to opening a Resource Base at Hilltop First School

	8. Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School?
	All responses
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open an Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Responses from The Lawns Nursery School community
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open an Early Years School Readiness Hub at The Lawns Nursery School?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).

	9. Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning at Trevelyan Middle School?
	All responses
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning at Trevelyan Middle School?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Responses from the Trevelyan Middle School community
	Do you agree that the Royal Borough should open a Resourced Provision for Cognition and Learning at Trevelyan Middle School?
	Views of all respondents, excluding those who have answered ‘I have no view’ to this question (many respondents choose not to give any views):
	Breakdown of views by category of respondent (percentage breakdowns exclude ‘no view’).
	Comments made in relation to opening Resourced Provision at Trevelyan Middle School


	Appendix D
	Appendix F
	Appendix F: Options appraisal
	Appendix F: Options appraisal (continued 1)
	Appendix F: Options appraisal (continued 2)

	Appendix H
	Appendix H: Equality Impact Assessment
	For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk


	Appendix I
	Appendix I – Individual responses to the consultation (anonymised)
	Response from User ID: 208007192
	Response from User ID: 208018712
	Response from User ID: 208027304
	Response from User ID: 208027992
	Response from User ID: 208028373
	Response from User ID: 208029085
	Response from User ID: 208030041
	Response from User ID: 208030803
	Response from User ID: 208031561
	Response from User ID: 208032958
	Response from User ID: 208034983
	Response from User ID: 208035214
	Response from User ID: 208038889
	Response from User ID: 208042192
	Response from User ID: 208043690
	Response from User ID: 208044588
	Response from User ID: 208046664
	Response from User ID: 208053146
	Response from User ID: 208054529
	Response from User ID: 208054940
	Response from User ID: 208055662
	Response from User ID: 208059053
	Response from User ID: 208064064
	Response from User ID: 208076606
	Response from User ID: 208079249
	Response from User ID: 208081131
	Response from User ID: 208081301
	Response from User ID: 208089603
	Response from User ID: 208091827
	Response from User ID: 208095416
	Response from User ID: 208097395
	Response from User ID: 208100081
	Response from User ID: 208108552
	Response from User ID: 208116744
	Response from User ID: 208122658
	Response from User ID: 208126548
	Response from User ID: 208129119
	Response from User ID: 208129409
	Response from User ID: 208130684
	Response from User ID: 208131913
	Response from User ID: 208137316
	Response from User ID: 208138627
	Response from User ID: 208139053
	Response from User ID: 208142435
	Response from User ID: 208144214
	Response from User ID: 208145491
	Response from User ID: 208147526
	Response from User ID: 208147544
	Response from User ID: 208149025
	Response from User ID: 208165457
	Response from User ID: 208171320
	Response from User ID: 208179360
	Response from User ID: 208180566
	Response from User ID: 208180797
	Response from User ID: 208197254
	Response from User ID: 208207716
	Response from User ID: 208207856
	Response from User ID: 208211277
	Response from User ID: 208221098
	Response from User ID: 208223610
	Response from User ID: 208224690
	Response from User ID: 208232594
	Response from User ID: 208232987
	Response from User ID: 208233043
	Response from User ID: 208235442
	Response from User ID: 208248417
	Response from User ID: 208250139
	Response from User ID: 208251338
	Response from User ID: 208256580
	Response from User ID: 208291796
	Response from User ID: 208292795
	Response from User ID: 208339675
	Response from User ID: 208342829
	Response from User ID: 208343082
	Response from User ID: 208352616
	Response from User ID: 208360133
	Response from User ID: 208372778
	Response from User ID: 208386919
	Response from User ID: 208403092
	Response from User ID: 208407128
	Response from User ID: 208407747
	Response from User ID: 208411112
	Response from User ID: 208414596
	Response from User ID: 208415089
	Response from User ID: 208416990
	Response from User ID: 208417255
	Response from User ID: 208428697
	Response from User ID: 208448125
	Response from User ID: 208473769
	Response from User ID: 208543982
	Response from User ID: 208557267
	Response from User ID: 208579722
	Response from User ID: 208582106
	Response from User ID: 208582597
	Response from User ID: 208583841
	Response from User ID: 208586681
	Response from User ID: 208597224
	Response from User ID: 208612257
	Response from User ID: 208700661
	Response from User ID: 208731381
	Response from User ID: 208732832
	Response from User ID: 208884663
	Response from User ID: 208892393
	Response from User ID: 208903737
	Response from User ID: 208931396
	Response from User ID: 208992744
	Response from User ID: 208995707
	Response from User ID: 209022584
	Response from User ID: 209037004
	Response from User ID: 209065819
	Response from User ID: 209068050
	Response from User ID: 209094823
	Response from User ID: 209141853
	Response from User ID: 209377252
	Response from User ID: 209513519
	Response from User ID: 209556544
	Response from User ID: 209623904
	Response from User ID: 209668900
	Response from User ID: 209678979
	Response from User ID: 209700529
	Response from User ID: 209780160
	Response from User ID: 209783788
	Response from User ID: 209826951
	Response from User ID: 209876347
	Response from User ID: 209891481
	Response from User ID: 209908800
	Response from User ID: 209910498
	Response from User ID: 209937751
	Response from User ID: 210158805
	Response from User ID: 210171163
	Response from User ID: 210172069
	Response from User ID: 210178970
	Response from User ID: 210182574
	Response from User ID: 210211826
	Response from User ID: 210231195
	Response from User ID: 210308540
	Response from User ID: 210308734
	Response from User ID: 210312359
	Response from User ID: 210324041
	Response from User ID: 210326043
	Response from User ID: 210394723
	Response from User ID: 210719291
	Response from User ID: 210720034
	Response from User ID: 210727170
	Response from User ID: 210825345
	Response from User ID: 210828294
	Response from User ID: 210829234
	Response from User ID: 210829335
	Response from User ID: 210874055
	Response from User ID: 210930735
	Response from User ID: 211047792
	Response from User ID: 211210161
	Response from User ID: 211249781
	Response from User ID: 211251175
	Response from User ID: 211253513
	Response from User ID: 211253852
	Response from User ID: 211264052
	Response from User ID: 211269501
	Response from User ID: 211281888
	Response from User ID: 211312608
	Response from User ID: 211379207
	Response from User ID: 211400396
	Response from User ID: 211470423
	Response from User ID: 211479758
	Response from User ID: 211486926
	Response from User ID: 211511620
	Response from User ID: 211536406
	Response from User ID: 211648490
	Response from User ID: 211654375
	Response from User ID: 211664707
	Response from User ID: 211737651
	Response from User ID: 211741955
	Response from User ID: 211750934
	Response from User ID: 211753576
	Response from User ID: 211775587
	Response from User ID: 211775919
	Response from User ID: 211776284
	Response from User ID: 211777108



	14 Customer Relationship Management procurement
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	2.1	The Royal Borough currently uses a CRM and CMS built using an open-source software solution called Drupal. Both platforms have been developed by an external supplier, with the internal support, maintenance and management of content co-ordinated by the digital development team, part of corporate transformation. The platforms are critical to council operations and manage 52,000 customer accounts, are used by over 340 staff in assisting members of the public, and process over 115,000 form submissions every year.  The use of a Drupal CMS allows the Royal Borough to align with the Local Gov Drupal project, which sees 34 councils share code, modules and future development concepts. The Local Gov Drupal project continues to grow as a co-operative and is a well-established and reliable option for the Royal Borough.
	2.2	When the Royal Borough made the decision to move the CRM and CMS to open-source software in 2020, it was understood that the versions of Drupal that were first used would need to be upgraded. Provision was made in the capital budget to support this work. Given the Royal Borough does not have its own internal Drupal development capacity and is reliant on an external supplier, the Head of Service agreed that an external 3rd party review of the platforms would help inform future upgrade and development work. A private contractor was selected, and the review completed in Autumn 2022.
	2.3	For the CMS a simple and anticipated upgrade process is needed. For the CRM, a more complex redevelopment or replacement project is now required.
	2.4	The digital development team investigated the review results and discussed with the current development supplier, and the review partner, what work would be needed.  The team also started soft market testing of available CRM options. From this exercise, a procurement process that included looking at other available options as well as remaining in Drupal would ensure the cost-effectiveness of any decisions made.
	2.5	The team are now working with procurement colleagues regarding this direction of travel and to conclude soft-market testing of alternative CRM options, including proprietary software as well as open-source.
	2.6	The continuation of a Drupal CMS will ensure the Royal Borough remains working alongside the Local Gov Drupal co-operative, making best use of the combined knowledge of 34 other local authorities. Local Gov Drupal has quickly become the industry standard solution for Local Gov CMS and there are further developments coming to the network that will help the Royal Borough with future improvements to the website. The Drupal CMS has been successfully adopted and is well liked and supported by the staff that use it.
	2.7	Conversely for all the 34 councils using a Drupal CMS, only three or four are using a CRM built using Drupal. Speaking to staff at Local Gov Drupal and other councils involved in the co-operative, officers have learned that most councils are using a ‘tried and tested’ proprietary software provider for their CRM, whilst using Drupal for their CMS. Whilst there is appetite amongst the co-operative to develop a Drupal-based CRM for use alongside the CMS, this is broadly viewed as pioneering, risky and not guaranteed to be as cost-effective as the current CRMs in use.
	2.8	The Royal Borough should not operate an outgoing solution for any protracted length of time, owing to the associated data security risks that that may produce.
	2.9	On analysis of the options reviewed so far, it is evident that a Drupal CMS will continue to give the Royal Borough the tools it needs to publish a high-quality website and best support customer interactions. Aligning with other authorities using a Drupal CMS, the Royal Borough will look to procure a safe and reliable CRM, minimising the length of time that there is reliance on an end-of-life platform, and best supporting future digitalisation aspirations.
	2.10	The procurement exercise will include a specification developed by the Digital Development team to ensure the Borough’s needs are met by any new products. Furthermore, as part of the specification writing process, the Digital Development team will be assessing the team’s ability and capacity to administer, maintain and improve any digital solutions that are implemented. An initial project to set up and implement the systems will occupy the first part of this work, with longer term resource planning to take place in parallel. This will ensure that the team has the correct expertise and enough of it to make best use of any selected technology over time.
	2.11	Depending on the type of solution selected will alter the outcome of the long-term planning exercise. For example, a low-code/ build-your-own style of system will require less initial project resource, but a greater need for more development specialists within the team in the mid to long-term. A proprietary CRM system requires less in-house development expertise but may require expensive additional requests for the supplier to install bespoke features. The ramifications of such decisions are being considering as part of procurement and change management processes.
	Options

	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	Full implications are detailed in table 2.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	Until the procurement exercise is concluded it is not possible to give full and detailed costs, however a capital bid has been approved in the 2023/24 budget of £500,000 to support the replacement CRM project.
	4.2	Borrowing is only undertaken when necessary and not on the date of approval of a scheme by the Council or Cabinet, but as the funding is required. Borrowing is generally taken over the economic useful life of the asset. The council will use available balances and capital receipts before undertaking borrowing to reduce any unnecessary revenue costs. If it is necessary to borrow to support the achievement of this proposal, then the estimated revenue implication of this would be approximately £33,350 annually over the life of the loan.   The cost of any potential borrowing has already been assessed as part of the budget setting process for 2023/24 as part of the overall capital programme.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	Given the estimated contract value, the contract is being tendered via a framework that will be agreed following the market testing phase. This ensures that the Council is acting in accordance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the Council’s Contract and Tendering Procedure Rules. Advice has been provided by the Council’s corporate Procurement Team.
	5.2	The Council will let a contract directly with the successful tenderer following the conclusion of the chosen framework process and subject to approval to award being given by the Chief Executive or relevant Executive Director in consultation with the Deputy Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member for Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & Windsor.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	6.1	Table 3 gives full details of the identified risks and mitigations.
	(Please note this does not include a significant amount of information that cannot be shared under paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and therefore is placed in the Part II Appendix A).

	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities:
	An equalities impact assessment is available in Appendix B.
	7.2	Climate change:
	No impact
	7.3	Data protection/GDPR:
	A data protection impact assessment is being completed as part of the procurement process and will be continually reviewed through implementation. no impact

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	Consultation has been held with providers as part of the soft market testing exercise.  Additionally, services that use the CRM and CMS have been informed and are involved in the review of current workflows and what is and isn’t working for them.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: 16 March 2023 The full implementation stages are set out in table 4.
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by two appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report isn’t supported by doesn’t have any background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix B

	16 Business Rate Write Off
	17 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Alternative Provision (AP) Capital Strategy
	Appendix G Part II

	18 Customer Relationship Management Procurement



